




DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, MAY 12, 2014 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 

VI. Consent Agenda: 
A. Approval of minutes from April 14, 2014 DRB Panel A 

meeting 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 1 of 29  

Wilsonville City Hall 
29799 SW Town Center Loop East 
Wilsonville, Oregon 
 
Development Review Board – Panel A 
Minutes–April 14, 2014   6:30 PM 
 
I. Call to Order 
Chair Mary Fierros Bower called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 
 
II. Chair’s Remarks 
The Conduct of Hearing and Statement of Public Notice were read into the record. 
 
III. Roll Call 
Present for roll call were:   Mary Fierros Bower, Lenka Keith, Ken Ruud, Simon Springall, Kristin 

Akervall, and Councilor Liaison Julie Fitzgerald.  
 
Staff present:   Blaise Edmonds, Chris Neamtzu, Barbara Jacobson, Nancy Kraushaar, Kerry Rappold, 

Steve Adams, Daniel Pauly, and Mike Ward. 
 
VI. Citizens’ Input This is an opportunity for visitors to address the Development Review Board on 
items not on the agenda.  There were no comments. 
 
V. City Council Liaison Report 
 
Councilor Fitzgerald stated that in light of the long agenda, she would only report on the City Council’s 
action regarding the Human Bean application that the DRB Panel A had reviewed. She noted that City 
Council appreciated the complex set of facts that the Human Bean, Carl’s Jr. and Chevron presented to 
the Board and the time spent discussing and reviewing the voluminous record. The Board’s hard work 
made it easier for Council, who agreed that the onsite circulation pattern designed to accommodate a 40-ft 
truck as proposed to the DRB Panel was not acceptable.  The backing of such a large truck on the 
constrained site would not have been safe. The DRB had found the applicant had not met code 
requirements with respect to this issue.  

• Based on the DRB finding on this issue, however, the applicant subsequently contacted and 
obtained agreements from vendors no delivery truck larger than a 30-ft length truck would be 
allowed to service the Human Bean location. The applicant also retained Kittleson & Associates 
to perform computer generated turn simulations, also called auto turn, to show that the operation 
of the 30-ft truck required much more limited backing maneuvering and could be contained 
completely within the Wilsonville Devco land without going over curb cuts. This new 
information about the truck and study performed by Kittleson was not offered to the DRB 
hearing.  

• Based on the new evidence, City Council imposed a condition to limit vehicles servicing the site 
to 30-ft or less as a condition for approval. City Council did not find that the Code language was 
not broad enough to allow the application to be denied based on impacts to neighboring property, 
drivers driving in the wrong direction, or pedestrians who fail to use sidewalks paths to access the 
site. Council found that the applicant had done everything possible to ensure safe passage of 
vehicles and pedestrians within the site itself. Although Council agreed with the DRB that site is 
constrained and not ideal, the proposal use was within the allowed zoning and did not violate 
Code requirements given the new circulation pattern and smaller trucks use not previously 
presented to the DRB. 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 2 of 29  

• The Council also added additional conditions with regard to safety and site circulation, requiring 
an additional “Do Not Block” marking on the pavement to prevent conflicts within the drive thru 
circulation between Carl’s Jr. and the Human Bean. The third condition clarified that the 
applicant cannot use the neighboring Chevron property for delivery, parking or turnaround 
without express Chevron approval pending resolution of the ongoing easement dispute.  

• She also announced that the library passed its new Strategic Plan, which included an even stronger 
emphasis on engaging and empowering the young reader and to spark, nourish and foster reading in 
residents of all ages. Several programs would work to enhance community access through more 
technology and advance the library as a community focal point and resource hub.  

 
VI. Consent Agenda: 

A. Approval of minutes of March 10, 2014 DRB Panel A meeting 
Lenka Keith moved to approve the March 10, 2014 DRB Panel A meeting minutes as presented. 
The motion was seconded by Simon Springall and passed 4 to 0 to 1 with Ken Ruud abstaining. 

 
B. Resolution No. 273.  Grace Chapel Five (5) Year Temporary Use Permit: Inland Empire 

Investments/Grace Chapel - Applicant. The applicant is requesting approval of a five (5) 
year temporary use permit to allow Grace Chapel Church to continue to occupy the 
administrative office area of an industrial building.  The site is located at 9600 SW Boeckman 
Road on Tax Lot 202 of Section 14B, T3S-R1W, Clackamas County, Oregon.    Staff:  Blaise 
Edmonds 

 
Case Files:   DB14-0008 – Five (5) Year Temporary Use Permit 

 
Ken Ruud declared that he was a member of Grace Chapel and recused himself from the vote. He 
stepped down from the dais. 
 
Simon Springall moved to approve Resolution No. 273. Lenka Keith seconded the motion, which 
passed 4 to 0. 
 
Ken Ruud returned to the dais at this time. 
 
VII. Public Hearing: 

A. Resolution No. 274.   Brenchley Estates North Subdivision: Brenchley Estates 
Partners, LP – Owner.  The applicant is requesting approval of a Tentative Subdivision 
Plat, Stage II Final Plan, Site Design Review, Waivers and Type ‘C’ Tree Plan for 
Brenchley Estates North – Single Family Subdivision.  The subject property is located on 
Tax Lot 103 and a portion of Tax Lot 202 of Section 14A, T3S, R1W, Clackamas County, 
Oregon.  Staff:  Blaise Edmonds 
 
Case Files: DB14-0021 – Stage II Final Plan 
   DB14-0022 – Waivers 
   DB14-0023 – Tentative Subdivision Plat 
   DB14-0024 – Site Design Review 
   DB14-0025 – Type ‘C’ Tree Plan 

 
Chair Fierros Bower called the public hearing to order at 6:42 p.m. and read the conduct of hearing 
format into the record. All Board members declared for the record that they had visited the site. No board 
member, however, declared a conflict of interest, bias, or conclusion from a site visit. No board member 
participation was challenged by any member of the audience. 
 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 3 of 29  

Blaise Edmonds, Manager of Current Planning, announced that the criteria applicable to the 
application were stated on page 3 of the Staff report, which was entered into the record. Copies of the 
report were made available to the side of the room.  
 
Mr. Edmonds presented the Staff report via PowerPoint, noting the location of the proposed 27-lot 
Brenchley Estates subdivision and its surrounding features. He reviewed the application requests with the 
following additional comments: 
• He reviewed the housing unit details of each of the Brenchley Estates development phases, which 

included the Jory Trail Apartments, Terrene Apartments, Active Adults at the Grove Apartments, and 
a 30-lot, single-family subdivision where homes were currently being sold. The development also 
included a recreational center and swimming pool. The subject 27-lot proposal would complete the 
master plan. 

• The cumulative open space of the project, shown in green on Slide 6, met the 25% percent required 
under a master plan.  

• The Applicant intended to keep the footbridge, which existed since the prior Thunderbird Mobile 
Home Park. The 30-lot subdivision to the south has walkways up to bridge that are currently boarded 
off to keep people from entering the area that would be under construction.   

• Recently, the developer built a bus turnout with a bus shelter on SW Parkway Ave, which was a nice 
amenity along with the community center. 

• Stage II Final Plan. The subject property had a split zone with PDR 5 to the south and PDR 4 to the 
north, which should not affect lot size or density because the Brenchley Estates Master Plan was 
figured over the entire 59 acres and the balance of the density of 27 lots matches what was approved 
by City Council.  

• Tentative Subdivision Plat. Sheet P4.1 indicated the proposed streets, which would be public with 
sidewalks on both sides, as well as some old easements that would be vacated.  

• Waivers. Two waivers were requested with regard to side yard setbacks and minimum road frontages. 
• The first waiver would allow 4-ft internal side yard setbacks, rather than the 7-ft required by the 

Development Code for the detached, two-story, single-family homes, as well as 8-ft corner lot 
side yard setbacks, rather than the 10-ft side yard setbacks required by Code. 

• The second waiver would to allow minimum road frontages of 15 ft and 29 ft for five lots 
whereas the Code typically required a minimum of 35 ft and 30 ft road frontages for lots in the 
PDR4 and PDR5 districts, respectfully. 
• An example of the southeast corner of the project was displayed, showing Lots 11, 12, and 13 

as flag-like lots that did not have the minimum 35-ft of road frontage. Reducing the road 
frontages enabled the Applicant to get access to the three lots dovetailed lots in the corner; 
otherwise, possibly only two lots could be developed, and you a waiver might still be needed. 

• Site Design Review. The homes’ sites were right on the fringe of the 25 ft Significant Resource 
Overlay Zone (SROZ), which includes the drainage system heading east to the Mentor Graphics 
property, but the Applicant intended to respect that edge and construct the homes outside the SROZ 
Impact Area.  
• Displaying Sheet L2.1, he noted the fitness stations proposed south of Lot 9 that were part of the 

amenities to enhance the open space. Because homes cannot be built on top of the existing 15-ft 
wide storm drainage easement, the Applicant was also constructing a pathway heading west to 
east heading over to SW Parkway Ave.  

• He also indicated two large Oak trees, noting the Oak tree closest to SW Parkway Ave was in 
poor shape and would be removed, but the Applicant wanted to preserve the good condition Oak 
tree, which would be a focal point for those walking on the 10-ft wide path that would connect to 
the 10-ft multi modal path built along SW Parkway Ave for the Jory Trail and Terrene 
Apartments.  

• The Preliminary Landscape Plan showed a fence along SW Parkway Ave with brick pilasters, 
similar to the fence design for Brenchley Estate South. While a different brick color or stain could 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 4 of 29  

be used to differentiate this subdivision from the subdivision to the south, the design and spacing 
of the posts should be the same and the fence’s construction should be similar. 

• Landscaping would also provide a buffer for the homes adjacent to SW Parkway Ave. 
• Sheet L2.0, the Preliminary Landscape Plan for the west portion of the subdivision, showed the 

pathway continuing and connecting to footbridge as well as sidewalks west of the project.  
• A storm detention swale would handle some of the storm drainage before it went into the 

intermittent stream to the south.  
• The Preliminary Landscape Plan for the north portion of the subdivision, Sheet L.2.2, included a 

landscape buffer with a similar wood post fence with brick pilasters. He noted the area crosswalks 
and that Ash Meadows Ln was a public street shown with a center median.   
• All residents in the Brenchley Estates would have access to the half oval park located just 

north of the Active Adults Apartments.  
• Type C Tree Removal. Most of the trees were planted when the Thunderbird Mobile Home Club Park 

was built in early 1960’s, so most trees on the property were not native significant trees. In order to 
build the project, most of the trees would need to be removed. He wanted to preserve the Oregon 
White Oak, which are truly significant trees in Wilsonville. 
• The trees in the SROZ, located on the southeast and southwest corners of the site, would be 

preserved. Most of that tract belonged to Brenchley Estates South, not North, so those were trees 
were conditioned to be retained with the subdivision currently under construction. 

• Lighting Plan proposed low level bollard lighting to illuminate the pathway at night, as well as PGE 
street lights.  He was unclear about whether traditional or more acorn-type lighting with reflective 
hoods would be used.  

• Pictures of the amenities and fitness stations proposed next to the pathway were displayed. Such 
features are gaining popularity in residential developments. 

• A rendering of the fence proposed along Parkway Ave was displayed. He noted he had proposed a 
condition of approval requiring that the brick posts on the fence have the same spacing as the fence 
for Brenchley Estates South. 

 
Ken Ruud asked if emergency services or the public utilities had any concerns about the side yard 
waivers.  
 
Mr. Edmonds replied the public utilities have easements and most of the homes’ utilities were in the 
front of the lots; however, a 15-ft easement would separate the lots and was wide enough should City 
crews need access with their equipment to repair drainage pipes, etc. Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue 
reviewed the project and did not indicate that the reduced setbacks would create any issues. Fire plugs 
would be appropriately located throughout the subdivision so there would be full fire emergency access in 
front of all the homes.   
 
Kristin Akervall asked if the smaller side yard waiver was also used for the Brenchley South 
neighborhood. 
 
Mr. Edmonds stated he had not reviewed that particular project, but the Applicant could confirm if it was 
a similar lotting pattern. The subject lots, which range from 4,500 sq ft to 6,500 sq ft, were much larger 
than Villebois’ lots, which were as small as 1,900 sq ft in size. The marketplace seemed to demand larger 
homes on larger lots. The side yard setback waivers also enabled the Applicant to achieve the 27 lots 
approved in the Master Plan, which also prompted the lot arrangements shown at the corners of the site. 
The 4-ft waivers would allow the Applicant to maximize the space; otherwise it would be a 24 or 25 lot 
subdivision.   
 
Simon Springall asked if any photo existed of the big cedar proposed for removal, Tree No.182. 
 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 5 of 29  

Mr. Edmonds said a picture of the tree was included in the arborist’s report which was in the packet. He 
understood the tree must be remove due to the grading, proximity of the tree to public utilities, street and 
driveway to the house, and because the tree had a large girth, the branches would be up next to the plate 
glass window of the house. The arborist believed if that big tree was aggressively pruned to provide light 
to the house and accommodate the utilities, it would not survive. 
 
Mr. Springall confirmed the significant tree was located on one of the flag lots for which the Applicant 
was requesting a waiver for the road frontage. He noted the footbridge was in very poor repair. 
 
Mr. Edmonds stated there had been no repair on the bridge itself when he was out there a month ago. He 
had asked if the Applicant would have that connection to the bridge, which was represented as an 
important part of the internal pathway system in the Brenchley Estates Master Plan. He was not sure who 
maintains the bridge; right now, he believed it was part of the Brenchley Estates South homeowners 
association (HOA) since it was on their tract. 
 
Mr. Springall noted the development to south had the cobra-style lights, which might not be appropriate 
for this kind of development. He asked if cobra-style lights were proposed. 
 
Mr. Edmonds believed that was the Applicant’s intent. Villebois had more European design details to 
make it a planned community. This was more of traditional subdivision, and those kinds of light fixtures 
were typically seen in subdivisions throughout Wilsonville. 
 
Mr. Edmonds He clarified that the Development Code did not specify which style of light fixture to use.  
PGE had a list of light fixtures from which the developer could pick. The City did not have a street 
lighting plan as part of the Code.  
 
Mr. Springall inquired about health concerns given the algae in the drainage pond to the west and asked 
if it would be cleaned up somehow or was this part of the natural process. 
 
Mr. Edmonds replied he did not know the condition of the pond; he believed it was a storm detention 
pond and part of the drainage system to the north. The Applicant or the City’s engineering staff could 
testify to the full function of the pond. He did not recall if there was a landscape treatment for that 
detention area.  
 
Mike Ward, Civil Engineer, City of Wilsonville, stated he had not seen the pond since it was initially 
built, so he could not speak to its current condition. He hypothesized that it was created to handle the 
storm water for the northern part of the site, which was only about half built out and so the pond probably 
had a lot more capacity than the water flowing through it. As the rest of the site gets built out, more water 
would flow through that pond, which was more of a detention pond than a water quality pond. He 
anticipated that the pond would get better as time passed and the site was built out, but he would need to 
look into that. He confirmed the pond was the developer’s responsibility; he believed it was the 
apartments in north part of the site. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower asked if bike paths would be included along the sidewalks. 
 
Mr. Edmonds answered no; the sidewalks were 5-ft wide. The bicycle route ran north and south along 
Parkway Ave with connections to local residential streets where anyone could ride down the street. It was 
not a designated bike route in the Transportation Systems Plan (TSP).  
 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 6 of 29  

Lenka Keith said she also wanted to keep the large white oak tree along Parkway Ave. She noted 
Condition PDD3 discussed protecting the tree from over irrigation and asked if the weed suppressing 
fabric actually kept water out or only light. Was there an effective way to keep water out?  
 
Mr. Edmond stated he had borrowed that condition from Villebois where another arborist incorporated 
the weed suppressing fabric. The oak had survived a considerable time with just normal rainfall, and the 
intent was to not over irrigate the tree when more irrigation was introduced. The area under the drip line 
should be kept as natural as possible. He said he was open to amending the condition.  
 
Mr. Springall noted there were not too many street trees in the development and asked if that was 
because of the curb cuts and density. 
 
Mr. Edmonds replied that with a driveway for every house, and driveways being close together given 
narrower lots, the number of street trees decrease due to lack of space. The Tree Ordinance required that 
every six-inch tree that is removed must be replaced with a two-inch caliper tree or applicants must pay 
into the Tree Fund; however, street trees could not count towards that mitigation.  
 
Mr. Springall recalled something in the report about the Board being able to condition that trees be 
planted in the front yards in lieu of street trees. 
 
Mr. Edmond replied that has involved problems with enforcement. The City has done a lot of work with 
neighborhood street trees and front yards. When a change of ownership occurs, people remove such trees 
thinking it was their tree and not a street tree. The City could better police trees in the public right-of-way 
than in people’s front yards.  It was very difficult to control home ownership, especially as trees start to 
mature. The City now receives many applications to replace many of the street trees throughout 
Wilsonville because the wrong type of tree was planted. When placed in front yards, the trees just get cut 
down because people do not know it is a street tree. 
 
Mr. Springall replied that was unfortunate. Wilsonville had a pattern of urban forest, so it would be 
beneficial to develop more street trees.   
 
Mr. Edmonds described how after requiring two street trees for every lot in his subdivision, Canyon 
Creek, that a master street tree plan was created to thin them out after only 17 years. The trees were way 
over crowded. Trying to squeeze in trees was not a good thing over time.  
 
Ms. Akervall asked if the landscaping planned along Parkway Ave had an appropriate mix of deciduous 
and evergreen trees since it bordered a somewhat busy street. 
  
Mr. Edmonds responded the landscape plans provided for Brenchley Estates were typically very generic 
and a very detailed landscaping plan would be provided when Holland was ready to build and the 
landscape architect had more time to consider the plantings. The Code did not require specific plantings; 
the area could be all lawn. A mix of conifers, which would grow big and fast over time, were proposed 
against the fence as well as some shrubbery. He noted the Applicant had done very good landscaping 
throughout the project and the anticipated landscape plan would be much more detailed, right down to the 
shrub count and where the trees and plantings would be, so he was confident the area would be nicely 
landscaped.    
 
Ms. Keith confirmed there would be street parking in the subdivision when no driveway existed. She 
inquired if there would be any visitor parking nearby. 
 
Mr. Ward replied there would on street parking.  



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 7 of 29  

 
Mr. Edmond stated Development Code required a 20-ft setback for two-car garages, so technically four 
cars could park at the house. With regard to street parking, the challenge might be when residents move 
into the Active Adults with their older classic cars and try to find a close enough parking space. However, 
the overall parking should work out all right.  
 
Mr. Ruud noted the recent request the Board received for parking revisions because parking was a 
challenge for the apartments next door. He questioned if the nearby access would open the opportunity for 
people to park in the neighborhood and use the footbridge and other things which might be a concern in 
the future.  
 
Mr. Edmonds replied it was a public street, and people could park where they want on public streets. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower called for the Applicant’s presentation. 
 
Brenner Daniels, Holland Development, Brenchley Estates, thanked Staff for their work, adding the 
Applicant was excited about the last project within The Grove master planned community. He provided a 
brief update on the existing projects of the Brenchley Estate development and the number of units and 
single-family lots, noting the project currently under construction was the Active Adult project with 112 
units. The parking ratio at the Active Adult project was significantly increased to about 1.9 parking spaces 
per unit because more cars were anticipated at that project. In addition, there was on-street parking to the 
north along Ash Meadow Circle. Between the onsite parking at the Active Adult project, street parking, 
and the additional four parking spaces at each proposed home, the parking mix would work well between 
all the projects at the north end. 
• He acknowledged the Applicant did return for additional parking on Jory Trail due to more roommate 

situations than anticipated, so 36 open parking spaces were being added and 23 open parking spaces 
were being converted to carports. 

• He described the benefits of the subject proposal, noting it would bring additional for sale product to 
the Grove Master Community, of which a significant portion was for rent. The project was consistent 
with the Comprehensive Plan and would generate less traffic than initially envisioned in the 
Brenchley North Traffic Impact Study. 
• The proposed project would create significant open green space both on Parkway Ave and on the 

south end of the site just north of the SROZ. 
• As noted, pedestrian opportunities would be provided from within the subdivision out onto 

Parkway Ave allowing people to access the walkway north and south on Parkway Ave, as well as 
the bus shelter and city center the south. In addition, the walkway to the south of the project and 
north of the SROZ would provide access to the bridge and to Brenchley Estates South.  

• The outdoor fitness locations would be at the south end of the project.  
 
Don Hanson, OTAK, Principal Planner, stated that he liked the composition of Brenchley Estates, 
noting that when driving along Parkway Ave from the south, drivers see a huge grove of trees with 
multifamily behind it, then a single-family neighborhood with open space along the drainage way, and 
now single-family homes were proposed again. He liked that only one thing was not being seen or 
experienced and the proposed 27-lot subdivision fit the character of the plan quite well. 
• He confirmed that the waiver for the side yard setbacks would match what was proposed with the 30 

lots on the south, adding the desire was to continue the same feeling on the north. 
• The waiver regarding the lot frontage was being requested to do modified flag lots on the southeast 

and northeast corners of the property. The benefit was it eliminated the need for flare outs or partial 
cul-de-sac, which involved a lot of unnecessary pavement. This approach would be successful 
because the flag portion of the flag lots would not be very long; the house could still be seen from the 
road. The waiver was driven by the configuration of the site. 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 8 of 29  

• The name of the new loop, titled Street A on the slides, would be Vale St, as it made sense to have 
that name continue around the loop.  

• With regard to tree preservation and open space, he first considered the broader context of the entire 
site and there was a lot of open space on the property, not only with the park on the north end of the 
development, but a huge grove of fir trees in Phase 1 as well as the big open space corridor. Although 
there were not many street trees, enough street trees existed and site wide there were a lot of trees. 
• The applicant’s decision on open space and tree preservation began in the larger context and 

considered where the most important place was to provide open space, which was between the 
subdivision and the drainage way, the SROZ. Extra buffer space was included and a trail and 
exercise stations added. The Applicant was considering adding a network of the exercise stations 
site wide.  The buffer was also increased along Parkway Ave, not only for the residents, but for 
the motorists and bicyclists on Parkway Ave. These were believed to be the best places to 
prioritize open space. 

• On the proposed site plan, he noted three lots in the center block would have double frontage 
where more street trees would be planted along the western edge due to no driveway 
interruptions. More street trees would also be planted along the northern edge at the main entry 
into the site. 

• Many trees have matured in neighborhoods he had designed and were being thinned, so he 
believed the proposed tree planting plan was the right approach.  

• While the two Oak trees along Parkway Ave were landmarks that he wanted to keep, his arborist 
convinced him that the one hanging out over Parkway Ave was dangerous and needed to be removed. 
By removing the one; the other Oak tree could be better preserved. The area would be well 
landscaped and would not be over irrigated. The Applicant had done well with Oak tree preservation 
work given the park that was done north of the Active Adult building. 

 
Clyde Holland, Chairman/CEO, Holland Partner Group, added the tree was also dangerous, because 
an open cavity was found at the base of the tree and it had lost a significant part of its crown which 
pointed to disease. Even with no development, the tree would only survive a few years in its natural life 
span, so it did not make sense to try to preserve it. 
 
Mr. Hanson stated the arborist was also present and could answer any specific questions. He continued, 
stating that the Applicant was flexible on street lighting and would negotiate with Staff as they did not 
want the cobra style either. Several street lighting fixtures approved by the City and PGE could be 
chosen.  
• The Applicant had been very focused on parking and adjustments have been made where needed. 

Parking on Vale Court just south of the Active Adult Center that extends west had parking on two 
sides. On the northern side of the street, there was a continuous row of parking because there were no 
driveways into the Active Adult Apartments. The loop part of Vale Street going through the single-
family subdivision would have parking on the one-side. 
• Parking would be allowed on two sides of Ash Meadows that borders the western side of the 

subdivision. In addition, each home would have a double garage and two spaces in the driveway. 
• The footbridge would be repaired and reopened as it was always a key part of master plan and 

pedestrian circulation linking the north and south. The Applicant did not want to reopen the bridge 
when the homes were being constructed just north of the trail due to safety concerns. The sidewalk 
would be built extending down to the renovated footbridge and lighting would be installed.  

 
Mr. Holland expressed appreciation to the Board, noting work on the Master Plan had been going on for 
four or five years. He believed the decision to have the 60-ft setback on Parkway Ave in Phase I and 
preserving the large stands of existing fir trees was the right thing to do. The amount of mature 
landscaping that had been preserved was not likely rivaled in many other projects. When grading for 
Phases I and II, and the first phase of single-family, every plant specimen that could be moved or 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 9 of 29  

transported was preserved, including three, 50-year old thread leaf maples, and all the White Oaks were 
preserved in the park on the north end of the Active Adult project.  
• The Applicant’s financial partners have approved adding in several firs to provide mini grove to 

harken back and balance the whole project. The project was being reviewed for additional 
enhancements as well.  

• Regarding parking at Jory Trail, he explained two families were renting some two-bedroom units 
early in the process because there were not enough units and at the time, it was really a significant 
challenge from a financial standpoint. Holland had never had that happen before. So, the Applicant 
recalculated that even with the additional parking load, the additional 36 spaces t being added would 
provide even an enhanced level of parking from that standpoint. As Holland has worked to manage 
the situation and as the economy has improved, several families have uncoupled which has naturally 
addressed a lot of the parking issues.  

• The budget for the footbridge was in Phase II, and it was a very important link in the trail system that 
runs throughout the project. One condition was that until there was some place safe for pedestrians to 
go, the footbridge would remain closed. Construction on the last five homes on the south side was 
now occurring and would be completed in the next 90 to 120 days. The Applicant’s goal was to 
approve this resolution so the homes could be built this summer, and as soon as those homes were 
getting done, the bridge would be completed.  

• Another enhancement was a bit of a par course, with exercise stations, an interpretive center, etc. 
spaced periodically to really create the walkways and jog and exercise elements for the overall master 
plan. 

• A key element of the side yards was that when configuring a lot, the goal was to make the lot space 
the most useable. By having a 4-ft setback, as opposed to 5 ft, the front and backyard actually grow, 
lengthening the lot as opposed to widening the lot. Growing the front yard, results in getting four true 
parking spaces per home, and increasing the back yard provides more space for barbeques, kids, etc. 
Designing and configuring larger lots that are most usable for the residents had been very successful.  

• He concluded that building and developing in the City of Wilsonville had been very positive and the 
success of the project was directly attributable to working to hold a high standard, while considering 
the different ways to meet and exceed that standard. He was committed to finishing the project with 
the quality that the Board had come to expect from the Master Plan. 

 
Mr. Hanson stated one reason for the pond algae was because the pond had not been challenged; there 
had not been much water flowing through it yet, but with more transference of water, the water quality 
would improve. The pond had a stronger water quality swale leading to it, shown as the arm extending 
east and north. 
 
Mr. Holland added that as soon as the irrigation and run off for the Active Adult and the subject 27 units 
was connected to the pond, it would have the same quality seen on the south side which had the flow. The 
pond would be maintained and serviced by Holland as part of the development of the 27 lots. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower asked if the homeowners association (HOA) would be responsible for maintaining 
the footbridge and storm detention pond. 
 
Mr. Hanson answered, yes, noting the pond did not treat any public right-of-way water, only that from 
the private development sites.  
 
Mr. Edmonds asked the Applicant’s arborist to talk about the weed suppressant fabric discussed in 
Condition PDD3. 
 
Todd Prager, Certified Arborist, Tarragon and Associates, recalled the question was whether the 
fabric should be permeable to air and water and he clarified it should allow for that exchange. He did not 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 10 of 29  

personally like the fabric too much. Although the fabric suppressed weeds, as the mulch typically placed 
on top of the fabric broke down, it could provide another place for weeds to grow. 
• He explained that mulch would be a beneficial treatment to use in the drip line area under the tree. No 

fabric was needed and he would not want irrigation underneath it. Any plantings under the tree should 
be native plants or have low water or similar water requirements as the oak. 

 
Mr. Holland noted that a larger bark and mulch material had been used along Ash Meadows Circle at 
Jory Trail under the trees’ drip lines which activated the air and minimized weed growth. He anticipated 
having that treatment be consistent throughout the development, noting no White Oaks were lost on the 
Jory Trail project.   
 
Mr. Edmonds said most of the oak tree was in the public right-of-way and City crews were sensitive 
about maintaining more trees and shrubs in the public right-of-way. 
 
Mr. Holland replied the Applicant anticipated that all the maintenance from the sidewalk back would be 
handled by the HOA. The footbridge would also be maintained by the HOA. The trail system involved 
mutual easements so all residents of The Grove could use the trails, so the HOA was responsible for 
maintaining and sharing it and this was linked in the overall Master Plan.  
 
Mr. Springall said that while he was also interested in saving the other White Oak, he understood that 
removing it would improve the chances for keeping the other oak. He was concerned about the cedar tree 
on Lot 19. The flag lot was configured to reduce the amount of asphalt, but he asked if a more traditional 
turnout would leave enough space to provide the driveway and not have to cut the tree down. 
 
Mr. Hanson replied he had considered about four or five options, but came back to the proposed option.  
• When the flare out was considered, the required grading alone would kill the tree. The project had 

infrastructure in three streets on three sides, which was a constraint because the grades must be 
matched to the existing streets on all three sides. The grading could not be greatly modified and then 
transitioned into a large field. 

• He carefully considered the options available. Saving the tree would compromise two accesses into 
homes and the tree would sit up about four feet on a mound and several roots would have to be cut. 
Fortunately, the arborist provided supervision as the options were considered, but the tree could not 
be saved, which was why mitigation was emphasized and good landscaping provided along the 
perimeter.  

• Preserving trees has been a high priority of the Applicant as trees have been moved, saved, and 
protected. 

 
Mr. Holland added that the open green spaces placed along Ash Meadows and the entire loop were 
around all of the significant trees. Holland would love to save early single tree in the overall Master Plan 
and very few large or significant trees had been disturbed for this type of development. As discussed with 
Mr. Daniels and Mr. Prager, even if the grading stayed outside the drip line, the tree would die anyway 
due to the tree’s age and the sensitive nature of red cedars. 
• He noted the replanting would be significantly above the minimum. The mixing and matching of the 

trees to be planted, including White Dogwood, Pink Dogwood, Thread Leaf Maple, and Red Maple, 
in addition to the fir back drop, had been carefully considered in the Master Plan.  

 
Ms. Akervall asked what type of fence would run behind Lots 1 through 12 which border the open space. 
 
Mr. Hanson replied the Applicant did not want to have a fence there because it looked south into open 
space. The intent was to have the fencing along Parkway Ave turn the corner so the rear yards facing 
north were screened and more private. Some uniform fencing would probably be placed along the western 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 11 of 29  

portion of the central block where the flag lots were for consistency. The Applicant liked the open feeling 
of the homes along the open space to the south. 
 
Mr. Holland said the Applicant did not anticipate building a fence behind anything that backed up to the 
SROZ, as long as it could be shielded from the public ways.    
 
Mr. Edmonds asked if that could be included in HOA agreement; otherwise the homeowners might build 
their own fence. He suggested providing an option that would be consistent through the back of those lots 
for those who might want a dog and a fence; perhaps, allow a transparent fence as done in Villebois when 
facing open space. 
 
Mr. Holland agreed Holland could restrict the homeowners with regard to rear fencing along the SROZ.  
 
Mr. Hanson added as long as it was not a grey, chain-link fence. 
 
Mr. Holland noted the agreement could specify what was approved for the lots and have them choose. 
 
Mr. Springall asked for clarification about the street lights and whether a condition was needed. 
 
Mr. Hanson suggested that since options were available, the Applicant could work with Staff. He did not 
think a specific condition was required. 
 
Mr. Holland stated that Holland had several different builders looking at several different styles of 
homes, so the Applicant would want the lights to tie in with the style of the home for the whole project to 
be consistent. The Applicant knew the City held a high standard. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower called for public testimony in favor of, opposed, or neutral to the application. 
Seeing none, she called for questions for Staff. 
 
Mr. Ruud asked about including a possible condition for the lighting and to ensure completion of the 
footbridge because different people might be involved over the next six months to a year. 
 
Mr. Ward did not believe an additional condition was needed as street lighting was required as part of 
the Public Works Standard. Staff was happy to work with the Applicant to find a street light style that was 
PGE approved and that would work well with the development.  
• He confirmed Condition PFA 37 was written with the belief that the footbridge would be opened 

upon the path connecting to it. If that was not the case, he encouraged adding language to specify 
when the Board wanted the footbridge to be restored and opened. Currently, a condition required the 
footbridge to be open when the path from the north connected to the footbridge. It did not include 
comments as to when the plywood would be removed from it.  

• He suggested adding language to Condition PFA 37 stating, “The footbridge shall be improved and 
open to the public prior to occupancy of the homes on the south side of Vale Court between Ash 
Meadows Circle and Ash Meadow Circle with the condition that those homes are constructed first in 
the development.”   

 
Mr. Holland stated the new language was acceptable and agreed that occupancy was the right standard 
because up until then, construction would be occurring. Money for the footbridge was in the budget, but 
the Applicant did not want to open the footbridge until it was safe and the trail was also constructed in a 
safe manner. 
 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 12 of 29  

Chair Fierros Bower confirmed there were no further questions from the Board and closed the public 
hearing at 8:00 pm. 
 
Mr. Springall suggested the Board confirm its decision regarding the restriction for the rear fence along 
the SROZ boundary. He had only noted that no chain-link fences would be allowed. 
 
Mr. Edmonds clarified that the fence on the rear property lines of Lots 1 through 12, if constructed, must 
be transparent in nature, but not chain-link, to allow the potential for a fence without requiring a fence. He 
described the fence types used in Villebois, which had fence details. The intent was not to have a chain-
link or wire fence. 
 
Ms. Akervall expressed concern about there being several different types of fencing along the lots.  
 
Ms. Keith said her impression was that no fence would be between the south boundary of the 
development and the SROZ. 
 
Mr. Edmond said that was up to the Board. He mentioned the fence because homeowners might want to 
keep pets within the yards that were next to a sidewalk. 
 
Mr. Springall believed the intent was to provide visibility to the SROZ and the implementation would be 
in the HOA’s Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions (CC&Rs).  While he was confident the developer 
did not want chain-link fences either, he inquired whether that intent would come from the Board’s 
discussion or was more elaboration needed.  
 
Mr. Edmonds stated the discussion that a chain-link fence was not the preferable option was in the 
record and that a transparent fence uniform in design would be allowed between Lots 1 and 12.  
 
Mr. Springall confirmed the language added to Condition PFA 37 ensured that the footbridge would be 
improved. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower suggested incorporating the fence option into the HOA CC&Rs as it might not 
have the same language as the condition. 
 
Ms. Jacobson understood a condition would be added to the CC&Rs to restrict fencing material along the 
SROZ to materials that were aesthetically complementary to the natural setting and transparent or 
something to that effect. 
 
Mr. Edmonds noted that in light of the discussion on the weed suppressing fabric, he suggested striking 
the last two sentences of Condition PDD3 on Page 15 of 52 of the Staff report so the condition stated, 
“The Applicant shall prevent over irrigation that will harm the Oregon White Oak No. 222” 
 
Simon Springall moved to approve the Staff report with the following amendments: 
• Add, as a condition of approval, that the homeowner association’s covenants, conditions and 

restrictions (CC&Rs) restrict rear fencing on Lots 1 through 12 on the south side of Vale Court 
along the SROZ to provide visibility of the SROZ and that any potential fencing be made of 
transparent materials. 

• Modify Condition PFA 37 to add, “The footbridge shall be improved and open to the public 
prior to occupancy of the homes on the south side of Vale Court between Ash Meadows Circle 
and Ash Meadow Circle.” 

• Modify Condition PDD 3 by striking the last two sentences referencing weed suppressing fabric. 
 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 13 of 29  

Ken Ruud seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 
 
Lenka Keith moved to approve Resolution No. 274. Kristin Akervall seconded the motion. 
 
Mr. Springall stated he was happy to see the build out of The Grove development, which was a great 
improvement to Wilsonville. 
 
The motion passed unanimously. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower read the rules of appeal into the record. 
 
The Board took a brief recess and the meeting was reconvened at 8:17 pm. 
 

B. Resolution No. 275.   Grande Pointe at Villebois:  Stacy Connery, AICP, Pacific 
Community Design, Inc. – representative for Fred Gast, Polygon NW Company- 
applicant.  The applicant is requesting approval of a Zone Map Amendment from Public 
Facilities (PF) to Village (V) and adopting findings and conditions approving an 
amendment to SAP South to add Plan Area 2, Preliminary Development Plan for SAP-
South PDP-7, Tentative Subdivision Plat, Type C Tree Plan, Final Development Plan for 
parks and open space, SROZ Map Refinement, SRIR review and SROZ Boundary 
Verification for a 100-lot single family subdivision in Villebois and associated 
improvements. The subject site is located at 29500 SW Grahams Ferry Road on Tax Lots 
2800 and 2890 of Section 15, Township 3 South, Range 1 West, Willamette Meridian, City 
of Wilsonville, Clackamas County, Oregon.  Staff:  Daniel Pauly 
 
Case Files:   DB14-0002 – SAP South Amendment for Plan Area 2 
   DB14-0003 – SAP South PDP 7 South, Preliminary Development Plan 

    DB14-0004 – Zone Map Amendment 
    DB14-0005 – Tentative Subdivision Plat 
    DB14-0006 – Type C Tree Plan 
    DB14-0007 – Final Development Plan for parks and open space 
    SI14-0002   – SROZ Map Refinement, SRIR Review, SROZ Boundary  
               Verification 
 

The DRB action on the Zone Map Amendment is a recommendation to the City Council. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower called the public hearing to order at 8:18 p.m. and read the conduct of hearing 
format into the record. All Board members declared for the record that they had visited the site. No board 
member, however, declared a conflict of interest, bias, or conclusion from a site visit. No board member 
participation was challenged by any member of the audience. 
 
Kristin Akervall declared that she did live in Villebois, but she did not believe that would bias her 
participation. 
 
Daniel Pauly, Associate Planner, announced that the criteria applicable to the application were stated on 
page 2 of the Staff report, which was entered into the record. Copies of the report were made available to 
the side of the room.  
 
The following exhibits were entered into the record: 
• Exhibit A3:  Planning Division Memorandum from Daniel Pauly dated April 14, 2014 identifying 

recommended corrections and changes to the Staff report. 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 14 of 29  

• Exhibit B11:  Lot 91 Preliminary Utility Layout dated April 7, 2014. 
 
Mr. Pauly presented the Staff report via PowerPoint, noting the subject property’s location and briefly 
reviewing the planning history related to the subject site, and reviewed the requested applications as 
follows:  
• Specific Area Plan (SAP) South Amendment to add Plan Area 2. The amended Villebois Master Plan 

included the subject area as part of SAP South, so a number of Villebois planning tools would be 
adopted as part of this SAP amendment and applied to this area, including the SAP South 
Architectural Pattern Book, Community Elements Book,  Master Sign and Wayfinding Program, and 
Rainwater Management Program. He described the purpose for each of these tools with these 
additional comments: 

• A lotting pattern similar to other areas of SAP South was proposed around the edges of the 
development, especially along Grahams Ferry Rd, with a denser pattern in the immediate 
interior, which reflected the master plan amendment requirement.  

• Entry monuments, similar to that required on Surrey St and Grenoble St, would be used, and 
the fencing on Grahams Ferry Rd would be consistent with that approved along the rest of the 
Grahams Ferry Rd frontage.  

• Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) fencing would be located around the edges 
where lots interface with the SROZ zone. 

• At the SAP level, each block is typical given a range of homes. In this case, a SAP was being 
completed concurrently with the Preliminary Development Plan (PDP). Although The Master 
Plan did not identify a specific number, the number contemplated at the time of the Master Plan 
amendment was 113 lots. As the design was refined, the number was reduced to 100 proposed 
lots. (Slide 11) 

• The SAP process allows for Master Plan refinements to specific parameters that were not 
significant as set in the Development Code. These refinements included:  
• Moving some park amenities out of resource areas including a play area and some picnic 

tables. For this portion of the development, more of a focus was put on the central park, 
called Pocket Park 16, where a shelter was also added after further discussion and design 
work.  

• Input from the neighborhood and public hearing process for the Master Plan included a desire 
for more curvilinear features and interest to the street alignments, in addition to SROZ 
refinements. A slight wave was added on SW Athens Ln and SW Naples St, which allowed 
for more linear green space in front of alley-loaded homes facing the main entry street on SW 
Athens Ln.  

• Preliminary Development Plan (PDP) for PDP 7 South. He reviewed the acreages for open space, 
public streets, lots and alleys, in addition to the number of proposed housing types, noting two 
aggregate land use categories exist in the Development Code for Villebois. Medium and larger lots 
made up one category and small single-family, including all condos and apartments, was the second. 
(Slide 14) 

• Alley-loaded projects on the interior portions of the site were in the medium category with 
large and standard front-loaded lots on the edges, as was consistent with the Master Plan and 
elsewhere in Villebois.   

• The Applicant proposed two phases of development with Phase I being the western portion closer 
to Grahams Ferry Rd, Pocket Park 16, and a majority of the open space including the trails. 
Development of Phase I would begin this summer and Phase II would follow, likely next year.  
• A sewer pump station and some other utilities for Phase II needed to be built as part of Phase 

I. A condition required that temporary pedestrian path be built to provide connectivity to and 
from the school and other amenities in Villebois throughout construction of Phase I.  

• Several elevations were displayed showing the home designs proposed. (Slides 16-25) 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 15 of 29  

• With regard to circulation, pedestrian connectivity existed through the open space and to 
Grahams Ferry Rd, which was limited to one due to spacing and natural resource preservation.  
• The street connection into Villebois via a multi-lane road was shown in the Master Plan and 

was consistent with both the Development Code and Transportation System Plan (TSP) 
which required connection to a subdivision when a street existed to encourage connectivity. 

 
Steve Adams, Deputy City Engineer, discussed traffic related to the proposed development, which had 
been studied with the Planning Commission application last fall. The study estimated that about 30 to 40 
percent of the traffic would go up Villebois Dr and the other 60 to 70 percent would access Grahams 
Ferry Rd. He believed the estimates were fairly accurate considering homes in the upper northeast corner 
would likely exit onto Villebois Dr. The other homes, unless one was going to the elementary school, 
were facing 25 mile per hour streets in Villebois versus 40 mile per hour streets on Grahams Ferry Rd, so 
he believed people going to work or shop would probably exit onto Grahams Ferry Rd and head north or 
south.  
• A baseline study was completed on Villebois Dr two weeks ago to determine traffic levels between 

Grenoble St and Lausanne St, and the average daily traffic was 450 vehicles. An additional 30 to 40 
percent of traffic would increase that by 300 to 400 vehicles per day, resulting in 800 to 900 vehicles.  

• The traffic engineer informed him that in the national standards, concern was only raised on 
residential streets when traffic loading reached more than 1,600 vehicles per day. The subject traffic 
levels were only about 50 percent of what national standards consider a serious concern, so he 
believed the City was fine.  

• Quite a bit of contact had come from citizens concerned about traffic. He believed connectivity, 
Council goal and TSP were the best way of having connections both on Grahams Ferry Rd and at 
Amalfi Ln and Villebois Dr.  

 
Simon Springall asked Staff to highlight the pedestrian connections through the SROZ and onto Graham 
Oaks Nature Park. 
 
Mr. Pauly indicated some trails that went behind homes south of San Remo Ct; a trail that connected 
through the forest to the north and trails that also connected to Villebois Dr and Graham Oaks Nature 
Park. Metro owned Graham Oaks Nature Park and specific information was not available about the 
Applicant working with them, the final design, or what Metro would allow there. Metro certainly favored 
connectivity, but also had concerns regarding wildlife impacts and such. A condition of approval under 
the SAP required the Applicant to provide evidence of working with Metro to provide that gateway and 
connectivity to the extent that Metro allowed. 

Additionally, the Master Plan specifically required that additional pedestrian connectivity be provided 
onto Normandy Ln, the street that essentially fronted the Graham Oaks Nature Park, to provide 
further connectivity east into the rest of the Villebois development.  

Mr. Adams added the existing 10-ft wide pathway located on the east side of Grahams Ferry Rd would 
be extended to Athens Ln, so if people would have room to take their children for a bike ride, etc. South 
of Athens Ln, a 5-ft wide sidewalk was required, as most people would likely enter the subdivision at 
Athens Ln.  
 
Ms. Akervall noted the Grahams Ferry Rd entrance was to be reconstructed by the Applicant and asked 
when that would occur in relation to the completion of housing in Phase I. 
 
Mr. Adams replied the reconstruction would occur with Phase I, so Grahams Ferry Rd would be rebuilt 
when the internal streets were built. In previous studies, the City discovered that Grahams Ferry Rd was 
very inconsistent, so with each phase of Villebois, the entire road section pertaining to that phase was torn 
out and rebuilt as a minor arterial, as designated in the TSP. That portion of Grahams Ferry Rd was 
designated as a rural look and would have no curbs, 11-ft travel lanes, a 3-ft paved shoulder to allow 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 16 of 29  

cyclists to ride outside of the travel lane, a gravel shoulder and a swale along either side. Grahams Ferry 
Rd would be reconstructed at the time of development, as well as a full intersection at Athens Ln, but 
without left turns. The traffic study indicated not enough demand existed for a left turn lane, so both 
Grahams Ferry Rd and Athens Ln would have two-lane traffic. He confirmed this work would be 
completed prior to occupancy.      
 
Ms. Akervall noted that DKS & Associates discussed possibly recommending traffic calming features 
along Grahams Ferry Rd. She asked whether any of those were being considered.  
 
Mr. Adams believed the traffic calming features were more directed towards Villebois Dr and Normandy 
Ln. If a problem developed with cars driving too fast to get to Barber St, a condition was included that the 
City would consider traffic calming devices, such as bulb outs. Normandy Ln had no curb extension, so it 
was a straight, 28-ft wide street that appeared big and vast. So if people started driving too fast, the City 
could add a curb extension, crosswalk and signage, etc. to calm traffic speeds which was what the 
condition entailed.  
 
Mr. Springall confirmed that medium size lots were rear-loaded and that all large and standard lots were 
front-loaded. He asked why all standard lots had to be front-loaded. The alleyway behind Athens Ln 
could also be used to serve the four standard lots between Estonia Way and Naples St. 
 
Mr. Pauly replied that looking through Villebois, standard lots were typically front-loaded. He was not 
aware of any rear-loaded standards, although a few might exist here and there. He noted it depended on 
the size of the home and that the existing Pattern Book allowed standards to be front-loaded. Neither the 
Pattern Book nor Master Plan had any requirement that would push them to be rear alley-loaded products. 
 
Mr. Edmonds added so many small and medium lots had been done; other projects in Villebois were 
mostly alley-loaded. There were a much lower percentage of standard and large lots had been built 
throughout Villebois. 
 
Mr. Pauly said the Applicant considered many configurations and encouraged the Board to ask the 
Applicant for more insight.  
 
Mr. Springall asked what happened to the estate-sized lots and how that decision process went.  
 
Mr. Pauly stated in the original Master Plan, residences at the end of San Remo Ct were shown as estate 
lots. He explained that flexibility existed within the larger aggregate land use category, as defined by the 
Development Code. As noted in the Master Plan, this large and standard pattern around the edges was 
consistent with the rest of Villebois, including the most closely neighboring areas of Arbor Villebois. The 
only estate lots left on the Master Plan were located in a portion of SAP North, where there were many 
trees and some slope which might drive those lots to be estate lots, but that area of planning was a ways 
off. There was discussion about doing a Street of Dreams, but this was the product the Applicant had 
elected to pursue, and it was consistent with similar areas of Villebois, as noted in the findings. 
 
Mr. Pauly continued presenting the Staff report with these key comments: 
• The Zone Map Amendment. Like the rest of Villebois, the subject area had a Comprehensive Plan 

designation of Residential – Village and the option for that was the Village Zone, which was 
proposed.  

• The Tentative Subdivision Plat on (Slide 31) reflected the PDP. He noted an extra tract of land in 
front of Lot 91 that surrounded one of the preserved, Important Oregon White Oak Trees.  
• All of the proposed lot sizes were consistent with allowances in the Pattern Book and provided 

the right-of-way and tracts for the open space, water quality swales, alleys, linear greens, etc.  



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 17 of 29  

• Type C Tree Plan. When considering the numbers and percentage of trees being removed, it was 
Important to realize the number only represented those trees inventoried at the core and some edges 
of the development that were being impacted. The vast majority of trees on the site, which were 
within the conservation easement, were being preserved and not even inventoried because they were 
all being kept. If a hazardous tree were found over a trail it might be removed and used in the natural 
area for habitat. He discussed how trees are rated and reviewed the trees being removed with these 
key comments. (Slides 35-45)  
• Overall, the 24 Important trees being retained were Oregon White Oak. Of the 154 Good trees, 

101 were proposed for removal. The predominant species for removal was Douglas fir and of the 
Good trees being removed, only five were Oregon White Oak. Many poor condition trees were 
being removed. He noted the mixture of many natural and planted trees existed from prior 
development.  

• He discussed the tree removal plan for each of the yellowed areas on Slide 35 as follows: 
• Area 1. These trees along Grahams Ferry Rd included many conifer trees, and with grading 

and improvements to Grahams Ferry Rd, it was not practical to retain them.  
• Area 2 had been previously developed and required a lot of tree removal including some of 

the Important Oregon White Oaks. Staff worked with the Applicant to maintain the hilled, 
forested area outside of the SROZ and add it into the SROZ. A fair amount of trees were 
being taken out, but a lot were either in poor condition or Douglas Firs. 

• Areas 3 and 4 consisted of a mixture of planted trees with some natural trees.  
• Considering the grading and many development alternatives, Staff saw the removal of so many 

trees as a reasonable approach for making the site developable, while maintaining a lot of natural 
area. More than 50 percent of the site was being kept as a forested natural area, and the majority 
of the Important and Good Oregon White Oaks were being retained as well.  
• Oregon White Oak was a species of importance in Wilsonville, as a natural tree and for 

habitat value. The Villebois Master Plan emphasized the maintenance of Important and Good 
trees.  

• He reviewed several slides describing the condition and location of Important and Good Oregon 
White Oak trees that would be removed because of grading issues, the preservation of natural 
areas, and to accommodate lotting and street patterns. Two Oregon White Oaks might be retained 
(Slide 39), but were listed as likely to be removed. Staff would work with the Applicant as 
development occurred to encourage preservation of the trees, especially Tree No. 799, if at all 
practicable. The tree at the edge of the right-of-way might need to be removed, depending on the 
needs for right-of-way development and utilities.  

• Slide 40 showed the Oregon White Oaks within the conservation easement, which was indicated 
with dotted black line. Other Oregon White Oaks were within parks or areas maintained by the 
homeowners association (HOA), and as long as the initial design was done well in those areas, 
the trees should be pretty successful. 

• Areas of concern were where Good and Important Oregon White Oaks were either partially or 
entirely in private rear or front yards. During construction, the City needed to make sure the 
utilities were properly installed to avoid utility impacts. After construction, backyard 
improvements that might put turf grass and irrigation into the root zone of the trees must be 
avoided.  

• Staff added a number of conditions specific to the preservation of Oregon White Oaks in private 
yards, which included a tree preservation easement that gave the HOA and City access to the 
portion of a property within the tree’s root zone to observe conditions, ensure inappropriate 
landscaping or irrigation did not exist, and assign the tree’s maintenance to the HOA as a 
community amenity.  
• Staff had talked with homeowners who had preserved Oregon White Oaks in their private 

yards and learned that maintaining Oregon White Oaks is quite expensive.  



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 18 of 29  

• A number of the trees located along the back of Lots 96 to 100 had root zones that crossed 
from HOA land into private yards, so having the trees under a common responsibility would 
improve good stewardship of the trees.  

• Other conditions limited irrigation and landscaping to native plants congruent with Oregon 
White Oaks.    

• He reviewed specific details provided by the Applicant regarding Important Oregon White Oaks 
not located within the conservation easement, noting their locations and how design adjustments 
were made to limit impacts and preserve the trees.  
• Although Tree No. 1023 (Slide 44) was located in a linear green, the root zone and canopy 

went into Lot 100 so an additional setback was required to prevent the foundation and such 
from entering the tree’s root zone.  

• Staff worked with the Applicant on ideas for Tree No. 856 (Slide 45) and placing the public 
utility easement at the edge of the root zone. There were conditions requiring that any utility 
work within the root zone of preserved trees to be bored to avoid trenching through the root 
zones. 
• The Architectural Pattern Book allowed the maximum setback to be waived 

automatically if a significant tree were present, so Lot 91 would have a greater front 
setback in order to preserve the tree. A condition provided in the memo required 
development of Lot 91 to be substantially similar to what was shown in the Preliminary 
Utility Layout for Lot 91 dated April 7, 2014, which was entered into the record as 
Exhibit B11.  

 
Ms. Akervall asked what homebuyers with Important trees would be told about tree steward ship and the 
relationship between the City and the HOA. 
 
Mr. Pauly explained some work could be done as Staff worked on developing the Covenant, Conditions 
and Restrictions (CC&Rs), with the developer to ensure education and outreach were available. One 
advantage was that the easement would show up on the title report which would hopefully bring some 
attention to it. The community’s amenities were great so as active stewards, he hoped the HOA would be 
part of the education process. The easement enabled a greater partnership, rather than making a 
homeowner carry the burden of ensuring that the trees were successful as long as possible. He noted the 
trees had already been studied in detail and had a good chance of being around for a very long time.  
 
Ms. Akervall noted the materials mentioned having signs placed by the trees and asked if that had been 
used before in Villebois or another neighborhood and if it was successful.  
 
Mr. Pauly replied it was a new idea. Staff believed increasing awareness about the value of the Oregon 
White Oaks was of the utmost importance. Rather than just trenching through root zones, developers 
should have an arborist on site when working with the trees or face a hefty fine. The idea was supported 
by Code and Staff believed it could have an impact because there was a history of trees being 
inappropriately impacted by utility work during development in Villebois. For these particularly special 
trees, Staff wanted to take every measure to ensure the trees were dealt with properly. He imagined many 
more Staff inspections of the trees would take place during the development process. He continued 
presenting the Staff report with these key comments: 
• Final Development Plan for Parks and Open Space. As mentioned Pocket Park 16, located in the 

northern portion of development, would be the central gathering place for the neighborhood and 
featured a couple play areas, a lawn area, shelter with seating, a network of hardscape trails and a path 
leading to and through a wetland area. The park was interesting in that it transitioned from the more 
formally developed portion to the natural area of the development.  

• He noted Tree No. 1023 was incorporated into a smaller park area and landscaped linear 
greens were on many of the edges. Efforts had been made to preserve trees on the northern 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 19 of 29  

edge of the site; although not the most significant trees on the site, they provided a backdrop 
to many of the homes in Arbor Villebois and were a visual amenity, as testified of previously.  

• Displaying Slide 49, he noted Athens Ln had a series of sidewalks and linear greens that created a 
nice greenway entering into the project and on which homes fronted. An interesting pattern 
existed where all the sidewalks intersected and additional paths, pocket areas, linear greens and 
green spaces were incorporated. The project would involve a lot of landscaping and should be 
very special upon development.  

• Slide 50 identified where passive and active natural trail activity areas were proposed that would 
provide activities for all ages, from seating to bug inspection.  

 
Kerry Rappold, Natural Resources Program Manager, reviewed the applications regarding the SROZ 
Map Refinement, Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) Review and SROZ Boundary Verification 
via PowerPoint. The applications was rather complex, not only in terms of site resources but also some of 
the elements being proposed, so he hoped last month’s training helped in understanding the application.  
• The SRIR included four elements: 

• A Map Verification looked at the City’s existing mapping and inventory, and some minor 
adjustments were made based on the drip line of some of the trees.  

• The Map Refinement included three areas, totaling six-tenths of an acre, that were primarily 
being refined based on the fact that most of the trees were row planted, the understory was 
relatively disturbed, and little complexity existed in the relationship between the understory 
and overstory.  

• The Applicant’s proposed exemption, with regard to the natural trails and nature trail activity 
areas, was handled separately from the proposed impacts.  

• The proposed impacts included six distinct areas on the site, totaling eight-tenths of an acre, 
for the purpose of providing street connections, some impact due to residential lots and the 
trail connection leading out to Grahams Ferry Rd.  

• The gray area on Slide 52 indicated where existing disturbance was located previously on the site, 
which included the Callahan Center, parking lots, cottages and maintenance facility. A pretty well 
established pattern of impacts to the native habitat existed over the past 30 years.  

• The slide also outlined the resource areas of the site, which included a mix of deciduous and 
coniferous trees, as well as forested and emergent wetlands. On the east side of the site, a 
potentially nice oak woodland area would provide connectivity to the oak woodland Metro was 
restoring on the Graham Oaks property.  

• He described the four wetland areas identified on the site (Slide 53), noting Wetlands A, B and C 
were identified as part of the City’s local inventory. The little piece located on the south end of 
Wetland B that was included as part of Pocket Park 16 had not been included in the inventory. A 
new wetland area, Wetland D, was delineated as part of the Applicant’s submittal. The table 
showed the four wetland areas, breaking Wetland B into northern and southern parts, the different 
types of wetlands, such as forested emergent, and their sizes.  
• According to Statewide Planning Goal 5, wetlands had to be a minimum of a half-acre when 

considering local significance and wetlands a half acre or larger had to meet functional 
criteria requirements to be locally significant. The only wetland that met that definition was 
Wetland B. This distinction was important because that wetland would have a 50-ft Title 3 
buffer applied to it, which limited any impacts that could be done on site as far as pushing 
development farther west.  

• The other three wetlands were not large enough to meet the half-acre requirement, but were 
still protected as jurisdictional wetlands and any impacts to them would have to be approved 
by the Oregon Department of State Lands (DSL) and Army Corps of Engineers. The 
Applicant was impacting about 1,200 sq ft of Wetland C, so approvals would need to be 
received from those agencies to proceed, but it was not locally regulated.  



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 20 of 29  

• Slide 54 highlighted the proposed mitigation for the wetlands and forested areas. The Applicant 
proposed impacting eight-tenths of an acre and mitigating twice that amount at about 190,000 sq 
ft. The Applicant was also adding some created areas that totaled about 60,000 sq ft, which meant 
about six acres would be enhanced or restored as part of their work. About 4,300 trees and shrubs 
would be planted as part of that mitigation, so it was a rather significant addition to the site.  

• He described the impacts to the SROZ from development, as indicated on Slides 55 to 61, with these 
key additional comments: 
• The trail connection linking an off-street trail section to Grahams Ferry Rd was a minor impact 

and impacted no trees. 
• A large percentage of the trees, such as Red Alder and Scouler’s Willow, were short-lived and 

tended to have problems over time, so potential existed for hazard trees over time. Some Douglas 
firs and a handful of White Oaks were down in the minus 15-inch DBH  range, with one possibly 
larger than that.  

• The Applicant was trying to avoid the 50-ft buffer for Wetland B, which was indicated as a 
dashed line. The Development Code did not allow any impacts to the wetland or buffer if it was 
locally significant, so alternatives had to be considered for locating the street network and lots, 
while ensuring compliance with density requirements and other items. Amalfi Ln and Beaumont 
Ave would encroach that buffer (Slides 56 and 57) where larger Douglas Firs could be found.  
• The yellow areas on Slides 58 and 59 noted a combined section in Area 4 that primarily 

consisted of Red Alder and Scouler’s Willow trees.  
• In the Willamette Valley, Douglas firs could almost be considered an invasive species in 

some respects. They were located in areas they would not have been historically 
especially when Pine/Oak Savanna were primarily in Wilsonville. Douglas firs were 
located in a much more extensive area than would have been seen 150 years ago.  

• When looking to restore native habitat, Oaks were a very important species and benefits 
could be gained from removing Douglas fir trees. While he was not advocating their 
removal, a benefit definitely existed when considering wildlife habitat.  

• The three small areas along the southern edge were primarily due to lot development. 
• Slide 61 indicated the areas the Applicant was refining on site with impacted areas shown in red 

and areas being created in blue. As part of the creation, the Applicant planned to remove and 
restore a portion of the access road that existed on site.  
• In addition to the 4,300 trees and shrubs planted as part of creation or enhancement areas, 

releasing some of the Oaks would be considered, which meant removing some of the Douglas 
firs that were competing with the Oaks. Staff wanted the Oaks to form a full crown and have 
the most room to grow and attain the greatest height possible in terms of maturity.   

 
Mr. Springall said he walked the service road on the south end of the property and wandered into the 
property by the wetlands. He discovered a bunch of former buildings, old foundations, construction holes 
and hazards and asked what the plan was for dealing with those things and other damage within the 
SROZ. 
 
Mr. Rappold replied some of the hazards might be within the SROZ, but most were outside of the SROZ 
boundaries where the old cottages were located. He clarified no development had occurred in Wetland D, 
but could have in Wetland C. 
 
Mr. Springall explained the area was probably three-quarters of the way up towards the transmission 
mast and then cutting up towards the property.     
 
Mr. Rappold added Wetland C was interesting because it was constructed on site with regard to the 
channel and was definitely not of the same quality, in some respects, as Wetland B, which was a very 
important wetland area as forested wetlands were much rarer.  



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 21 of 29  

 
Mr. Springall asked if the Applicant planned to completely remove the buildings, foundations, etc. as 
part of the application. 
 
Mr. Pauly answered yes, noting much of that work had been ongoing. City Building Official Martin 
Brown confirmed that all the tunnels that used to run under the property were properly decommissioned 
by being collapsed and filled in; the tunnel to the State hospital no longer existed.   
 
Ms. Akervall noted that from some of the diagrams, it appeared the channel portion of Wetland C 
covered two of the lots or perhaps, they shared the same space.  
 
Mr. Rappold believed the Applicant had showed that part of the wetland would be filled. 
 
Ms. Akervall asked if filling the wetland would hurt the wetland and if having a house on what used to 
be a wetland would be problematic. 
 
Mr. Rappold deferred to the Applicant, but noted the necessary subgrade would need to be provided to 
build a house on the wetland. Wetlands like Wetland C had been removed and structures built on them.  
 
Mr. Pauly reviewed the corrections and changes noted in his memorandum dated April 14, 2014, which 
was entered into the record as Exhibit A3.  
 
Mr. Adams noted an additional correction on Page 145 of 183 and amended the last sentence of 
Condition PFC 52 as follows, “Attachment X Exhibit C6.”  
 
Chair Fierros Bower confirmed that driveway shown off Alta Ct in the southern portion of Phase II was 
a fire truck turnaround. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower called for the Applicant’s testimony. 
 
Fred Gast, Polygon Northwest, 109 E 13th St, Vancouver, WA, 98660, appreciated the opportunity to 
bring the proposal before the Board and commended Staff for their excellent job of informing the City’s 
Boards, Commissions and Council to provide them an opportunity to make an informed and well thought 
out decision. He thanked his consultant team, who put a great deal of effort and work into the 
development proposal over the past year plus. He also thanked the neighborhood, who provided some of 
the best detailed information and helpful points-of-view for creating the very best development proposal 
possible. An extensive amount of time was spent meeting and having discussions with the community, in 
both small and large groups; and while they did not always agree, the Applicant always found that the 
feedback enhanced the proposal. He presented the Applicant’s proposal via PowerPoint with these key 
comments: 
• The proposed plan was very commensurate with the Master Plan, which provided the roadmap for 

how the area should develop. He indicated the colors, which indicated density/lot sizes, told a lot of 
tales and the table provided information about what had changed somewhat from the Master Plan.  
• He believed the plan had been improved in all areas and many of the changes had been based on 

neighborhood input. While more specifics would be covered, a modification from the number of 
homes to be built had been contemplated which resulted in an overall reduction. There was also 
an increase in the larger and standard lot categories and a reduction in the medium lots, which 
grew in width because the Applicant was trying to get a larger home.  

• The overall view of the development proposal was good. This unique property allowed the 
Applicant to do things in Villebois that had not been done before because few opportunities 
existed in the metro area to develop a site at 2.4 units per acre on a gross basis. 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 22 of 29  

• He reviewed how the economic and development climate had changed over the last three or four 
years when Polygon started its relationship with Villebois, which had grown and matured in 
important ways. 
• Polygon took a chance and had faith in Villebois and the City of Wilsonville and that the 

community would support a proposition with diversity, sustainability and a different take on 
development. Their first residential development was built closer to the core of the Villebois 
community and had smaller lots because that was the market. Polygon went with a home style 
that had the broadest base of potential homebuyers, making it both a good faith-based and 
business-based bet.   

• The market was coming back and much stronger, and now, Polygon was betting on something 
different; that added, which was the model they had been following. The basic premise for 
Villebois was that there should be many opportunities and varieties of home styles. They were not 
just providing more home opportunities for town homes or lower price points, but Grande Pointe 
was an opportunity for much higher price points. This was not necessarily a Code issue, but it 
was important for the Board to know that much greater opportunity existed. With this unique 
property, Polygon was able to create a special part of the neighborhood in a special neighborhood 
and provide many different options or opportunities while advancing the notion of diversity 
within Villebois, which was the reason for the extensive amount of planning. 

• The parks were one of the more specific planning pieces. Villebois was based on the notion of 
compact urban development. The main part of Villebois had a bunch of development surrounding 
parks which was a great concept and part of what made the compact urban development concept 
work. However, Polygon was turning that around somewhat by using the amazing resources to have 
the park surround the development and provide opportunities the rest of Villebois was not necessarily 
providing, such as the concept of nature play as discussed by Staff.  
• It was important to note that this site was providing 15 percent of all parks and open spaces in 

Villebois, which was disproportionately weighted given this was only 100 homes of the entire 
2,300 to 2,500-unit community, but that was the amenity and home style Polygon wanted to bring 
to the marketplace.  

• Polygon was trying to enhance an already good Master Plan where possible. He noted the 
significant amounts of trails, increased size of the pocket park, added shelter and play structures. 
It was not just informal nature play where you could go for walks in the woods or play on wood 
structures, but also a more formal central park for the community.  

• The neighbors pointed out that every great neighborhood should have a good entry road, which was 
not in the Master Plan. Strong entries usually only lasted about the first 100 ft into a community, but 
Polygon was bringing the strong street from the entry all the way into the community, with a strong 
focal point at the terminus, the T intersection, while maintaining the boulevard feel with wide green 
spaces and a lot of street trees. The nodes at the far end near the terminus provided a more formal 
flavor for neighborhood gathering spaces, which was very good input from the neighborhood.  

• Fewer lots were present on the street than the Master Plan contemplated. The lots were widened to 
increase square footage, so the square footage of the alley homes was an average of about 2,500 or 
2,600 ft. The width was the same as a standard lot, so opportunities were being provided for some 
backyards with an alley-loaded solution. It was difficult from the alley configuration to provide big 
backyards, but the Applicant was looking to do that.  

• Architecturally, it was fairly easy to see what the Applicant was trying to achieve. The City’s 
consulting architect signed off that the conceptual elevations met the Pattern Book, the same one 
currently being used in this part of Villebois.  
• The Applicant was not looking to make modifications, but to take this unique opportunity to bring 

a more expensive product into the community and help with diversity. The designs featured more 
stone, more width, more brick, and taller front doors, which were requested by the community. 
The larger homes featured more width and square footage and were clearly over 3,000 ft, 
approaching 3,500 or more. He noted these were just samples of what could be done.  



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 23 of 29  

• He believed Polygon had demonstrated that they met or exceeded the base Master Plan standard and 
was trying to do something really special and adding another dimension to Villebois. With the 
improving market conditions, the project was a good bet. The timing for this proposal was not right 
four years ago, but he believed it was right today, and by taking advantage of the unique site 
amenities, they could create a special place within a special place.   

  
Chair Fierros Bower asked what the nature play creative features consisted of, adding she believed they 
were scattered about the street nodes. 
 
Mr. Gast explained the creative play and street nodes had been used in Villebois already, where kids 
could climb on features shaped as animals. The strategy was to put these in a gathering place where adults 
could talk while toddlers occupied themselves so they did not have to be constantly chased around. When 
used in other developments, Polygon found them to be a central place for people to gather. It was not like 
a massive park should be created out of these features, but they did serve the street nodes very well.  
 
Mr. Springall asked that the location of Tree Nos. 799 and 1045 be identified. He understood they were 
considered questionable and asked whether the trees would stay or not.   
 
Mr. Gast did not recall the numbers and actual locations of the trees, but when referring to trees as ones 
that might stay or go, philosophically, the Applicant tried to take such trees into context with other 
competing things being addressed in the site plan and consider them in a totality. In other words, what 
their overall strategy was with the trees. Where the trees fit in the overall strategy demonstrated that the 
Applicant saw value in the trees and considered them real amenities. They worked very close with their 
customers in considering how to maximize these amenities, not just for their value, but for the value of 
the neighborhood on a long-term basis. If trees that were somewhat on the edge could be identified, they 
believed with their team and experience that there was a good chance of preserving those trees and 
keeping them as an amenity within the site plan. 
• As an example 15 years ago, they developed a site in Lake Oswego with an old English walnut tree 

that had been planted by the original family. Polygon was able to save that tree even though they were 
building very close to it. Through good care and good pruning, they were able to preserve the tree as 
an amenity to the homes very close to it. It was still there today and thriving better now than before 
because it was now getting the care it needed and was not receiving. Many trees on the subject site fit 
that same situation, where they had not been receiving any care and probably were not cared for very 
much when construction occurred in and around them. That did not mean every opportunity should 
not be taken to preserve them and make them an amenity.  

 
Mr. Springall stated that answered his question in a general sense, but perhaps Mr. Pauly could identify 
the trees’ location and a more specific answer could be provided about whether or not they would stay.  
 
Mr. Gast stated Morgan Hollen might be able to provide those answers. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower recalled an earlier question regarding Wetland C and the home foundations. 
 
Ms. Akervall noted Lots 82 and 83 looked like they would be sharing that space. She asked how that 
would look and how the house and wetlands might be affected. She asked what process was required to 
do that build a home on a wetland.  
 
Mr. Gast responded that similar to the trees, resources were categorized in terms of importance, 
functional classification, etc. Wetland C was a leftover landscaping feature that created the basic 
definition of a wetland; so it was not a very high quality wetland. From a mitigation point-of-view, 
Polygon would file applications with DSL, and if the federal government believed Wetland C was within 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 24 of 29  

their jurisdiction, the Applicant would have to seek permits from them. It was a pretty regular course of 
business to preserve and enhance significant wetlands on one hand, while filling less significant, lower 
quality wetlands and use mitigation efforts to enhance or create something that would fill more of the 
functions desired in other cases. The process was fairly straightforward and DSL was the State regulator 
and the Corps of Engineers was the federal regulator. Polygon submitted wetland impact applications 
with them many times on an annual basis.  
• Structurally, a typical cut and fill is used that occurred in development all the time. The loose material 

would be removed and replaced with structural material that would be compacted to ensure all soft 
spots were removed, similar to building roads. Grahams Ferry Rd was a perfect example where they 
would remove all the incorrect building material and put in new material to make sure it met the 
standards and the process on the wetland was very similar. There were no negative consequences to a 
customer. 

 
Mr. Springall asked for the Applicant’s perspective regarding Tree Nos. 799 and 1045. 
 
Jim Lange, Pacific Community Design, displayed Slide 39 of 63 from Staff’s PowerPoint presentation, 
which showed Trees 799 and 1045.  
 
Morgan Hollen, Arborist, Morgan Hollen and Associates, 3 Monroe Pkwy, Ste P220, Lake Oswego, 
OR, 97035, clarified that trees #799 and #1045 were classified as likely to be removed. Both Oregon 
White Oaks were in good condition, but because of their proximity to development, they were not 
classified strictly as being retained so they were called likely to be retained. Tree No. 799 was located in 
the rear of a lot and had a very good opportunity for preservation, depending on the size of the building, 
when home construction and the required grading occurred. Tree No. 1045 was located right behind the 
curb line of the street and utilities were likely to go through that area, so the chances of that tree being 
preserved were a bit less. 
• When construction began, trees classified as likely to be removed would have tree protection fencing 

installed around them and they would be treated like any other tree to be protected. As building 
progressed and tree protection fencing needed to be adjusted, contractors would contact her. Her 
company had a very good track record with Polygon’s contractors who made those calls prior to 
removing or adjusting the protection fencing. She would visit the site to make decisions on the 
ground and provide contractors with recommendations on the ground to do everything possible to 
protect the trees.  

• If it was ultimately determined that removal was the only option and that any impacts would be 
detrimental, construction would stop and they would coordinate with the City to ensure they had 
authorization to remove and mitigate for the trees before any impacts occurred.  

 
Mr. Pauly noted Staff was requiring directional boring within the preserved root zone of Tree No 1045 
and asked if that would increase the probability that Tree No. 1045 would be preserved.  
 
Ms. Hollen answered yes; if boring was feasible at a minimum depth of 5 ft or more, it would certainly 
help in the preservation of the tree.  
 
Ms. Akervall asked how deep the driveways would be of the medium-sized houses on alleys. She knew it 
varied in Villebois, sometimes they were quire short.  
 
Mr. Gast replied the driveways would be the shorter typical variety in Villebois and confirmed any 
additional parking would have to occur on the street out front. 
 
Lenka Keith thanked the Applicant for their efforts to preserve the natural resources. It was a challenging 
site, but it was good to see something good happening, and the old dilapidated buildings removed. It was 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 25 of 29  

also good to see a good variety of product, with both larger and smaller lots. The plan seemed like a 
thoughtful plan. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower agreed it was very refreshing to see such a beautiful design.  
 
Ms. Akervall was excited to use some of the nature trails.  
 
Chair Fierros Bower called for public testimony in favor of, opposed, or neutral to the application. 
 
Everett Lapp, 11192 SW Barber St, Wilsonville, OR, 97070, appreciated the great job Polygon was 
doing in Villebois as well the beautiful job they had done creating the plan. He asked if the Board had 
read Exhibits D1 and D2, which did an excellent job describing his concerns about the extension of the 
street into SW Villebois Dr from Grande Pointe. He emphasized that SW Villebois Dr, at that point, was a 
narrow street. He respected City Staff, the studies they had done and the traffic going on there now. 
However, going from 500 cars to about 900 per day would be a significant impact on a very narrow street, 
a street where cars approaching each other already had to be very careful. Adding an additional 400 cars 
per day to SW Villebois Dr and Normandy Ln, would result in a traffic issue. He spoke from experience, 
as he had lived in Villebois since 2006. When he moved in, the speed limit the City assigned to Barber St, 
which was located in a residential area designed as a pedestrian and bicycle friendly community, was 45 
miles per hour. When he approached the City about reducing the speed limit, he understood the 
developer, Costa Pacific, was forced to place the speed limit by the City. The City said they could not 
reduce the speed limit because it was a connector street. The speed limit has since been reduced to 25 
miles per hour on both Barber St and Costa Circle, but now enforcement problems exist. The situation 
was ongoing and he had met recently with City Staff on the issue and they were trying to enforce the 
speed limit. He believed all the Board’s approval would do was add an extra complex.  
• He recommended that the Applicant extend Como Dr to make it another entrance off Grahams Ferry 

Rd. One lot would be sacrificed, but that lot could be made up by not extending the street into SW 
Villebois Dr, so nothing would be lost economically. In fact, the Applicant might possibly gain a lot. 
He asked the Applicant to consider making that modification and the DRB to require that 
modification as a condition of approval.  

 
Ms. Akervall confirmed Mr. Lapp’s proposed modification would result in no motor vehicle connection 
to the rest of Villebois except by exiting via Grahams Ferry Rd and then reentering the neighborhood.  
 
Mr. Lapp believed allowing an additional 400 vehicles was a dangerous situation. He understood that 
was an estimate and no one really knew what would happen or how many of the 100 homes would exit 
onto Grahams Ferry Rd. As expressed in Exhibits D1 and D2, Grahams Ferry Rd was not an easy access 
to get onto because people were driving 45 miles per hour and even faster, so people would take an easier 
route. The route was shorter if they went through Villebois, down to Brown Rd and onto Wilsonville Rd. 
He reiterated there were many reasons not to go forward with it and very few reasons to bring that street 
into SW Villebois Dr, in fact zero reasons to really do that. He believed access could be gained off 
Grahams Ferry Rd quite easily.  
 
Mr. Springall asked if Mr. Lapp considered the development compatible with other parts of Villebois. It 
was farther from the center which was why there were larger lots, but it seemed like it could be a very 
integral part of Villebois.  
 
Mr. Lapp believed it was and should be an integral part of the Villebois community, but he did not 
believe it needed to have vehicular traffic from the addition into Villebois.  
 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 26 of 29  

Mr. Springall replied without that connectivity, people would not be able to reach the Village Center 
without heading out onto Grahams Ferry Rd, and other businesses were in the village center.   
 
Mr. Lapp reiterated it was a pedestrian bicycle friendly community and emphasis should be on 
pedestrians and bicycles, not vehicles. People wanting to go to events in Villebois could walk or bicycle 
otherwise, they would have to go around taking Grahams Ferry Rd to Surrey St or Grenoble St. He did 
not say it was the easiest or only option, but it was the best thing to do. 
 
Andrew James, 11976 SW Lausanne St, Wilsonville, OR, 97070, stated his property bordered the 
subject site and he was very excited that the area was finally being developed. The Applicant held a 
couple meetings with the neighborhood, he watched the plan go through a couple revisions and the 
Applicant had been receptive to feedback. Many of the changes requested by the community had come 
about throughout the process.  
• As the project went through the Planning Commission to the DRB, he had learned a lot about how the 

Villebois Master Plan and approval process took place. He had a few things he wanted to call out to 
ensure they were considered and documented as part of the approval process. Up until this point, the 
number of lots had not been solidified. He wanted to make sure that approval of the resolution would 
lock in the number of lots so it would not be modified substantially after the process went forward.  

Mr. Pauly confirmed the approval would lock in the number of lots at 100.  
 
Mr. James said he did see the neighborhood as part of Villebois and SAP South and wanted to make sure 
connectedness and consistency existed between the neighborhoods. He liked that the Applicant provided 
the front elevations as part of the proposal, which were consistent with the rest of Villebois. However, he 
did not see courtyards represented in the images. A large number of courtyards were used throughout 
SAP South, especially on rear-loaded lots. Living in the neighborhood for almost seven years, the 
courtyards were social areas and brought the neighborhood out. When walking around the neighborhood, 
it was very easy to see people in the courtyards and connect with them. It would be really great to see the 
same consistency in Grande Pointe going forward, since it was part of SAP South. 
 
Mr. Pauly noted that a condition of approval required 30 percent courtyards and the Applicant stated they 
were really looking at courtyards on alley-loaded products, specifically on the medium lots along the 
entry road. 
  
Mr. Edmonds added courtyards were more conducive for the French and English style homes, as 
American homes had porches.  
 
Mr. Pauly noted the two American elevations had very strong front porches.  
 
Mr. James stated he had an American-style and spent a lot of time on his front porch. He wanted to make 
sure it had that socially connected feel because the last thing the neighborhood wanted was to push people 
to their backyards.  
• With regard to the connected street, he believed it was important for bringing people together. He was 

also concerned about traffic and reiterated that Villebois Dr was a very narrow street. When taking 
one’s kids to Lowrie Primary School, it was important to know your car width very well if another car 
was coming because cars parked on both sides of the street. Some cars pull over, so he could see that 
increased traffic on the road might force people to use other routes to get to Lowrie. He believed it 
was important to have the street to connect people to drive through the neighborhood. Because he 
lived near that area, if he was trying to exit the neighborhood quickly he cut out to Grahams Ferry Rd. 
He did not think many people would try to access Brown Rd or go through the neighborhood, but 
would likely exit via Grahams Ferry Rd to Wilsonville Rd. 

 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 27 of 29  

Chair Fierros Bowers called for the Applicant’s rebuttal.  
 
Mr. Gast replied the Applicant had no rebuttal. 
 
Mr. Springall confirmed that the Master Plan showed the street connecting through to Villebois Dr.  
 
Mr. Pauly added a significant discussion about that connection had taken place during the Master Plan 
and a number of findings in the Master Plan and in this approval supported that connection.  
 
Chair Fierros Bower confirmed mitigation ideas existed about how to address speeding traffic.  
 
Mr. Pauly added conversations had taken place with Engineering Staff and DKS & Associates about 
those options, which included bulb outs, crosswalks, and additional signage. For example, some 
additional signage might help to calm the traffic on Normandy Ln where one of the marked paths came 
out from Graham Oaks Nature Park. The City’s Engineering Staff was supportive of ensuring the 
environment was safe. It would be an ongoing thing to observe, as seen with the Safe Routes to School 
Program in Villebois where the Engineering Staff continually interacted with the neighborhood to get 
feedback and make it as safe as possible.  
 
Mr. Springall agreed Normandy Ln was a street where connectivity could be improved, as access to the 
Graham Oaks Trail had no marked sidewalk and the street seemed kind of straight and fast. He asked if 
traffic calming devices would be addressed now, as part of the application, or left for Engineering and 
City Staff to address later.  
 
Mr. Adams reiterated that traffic calming was covered in the Planning Commission traffic report last fall 
in that the City would observe the flow of traffic and if it became a problem, he and Community 
Development Director Nancy Kraushaar would offer traffic calming at the City’s expense, because it was 
not part of the development and on a separate street that was already completed. Staff’s view was not to 
throw it out there right away, but see how things developed. The street that connects to Villebois Dr was 
part of Phase II and was still one to two years away from completion when the traffic would actually 
access that back area. 
 
Mr. Springall asked how traffic calming was still a City responsibility if the developer was providing the 
additional traffic. The concerns heard and included in the report related to the application and the 
additional traffic coming through the two streets. Villebois Dr was probably handled because it was 
narrow, whereas Normandy Ln might be the primary concern for traffic calming.  
 
Mr. Adams replied that any time there was an off site improvement, typically, the City never went back 
and charged the developer for something that was a block or two off their site. If it were contingent or 
part of the Applicant’s development, they would be responsible for that. Street System Development 
Charges (SDCs) were collected and used for such things in areas outside of a development, which must be 
done as part of a City financed project. Law related to the supreme courts Dolan ruling prohibited the City 
from exacting on a developer for off-site improvements.  
 
Mr. Pauly said if it were the will of the Board, Mr. Gast wanted to offer additional comments on the 
topic.  
 
Mr. Gast believed Mr. Adams was accurate in the sense that the City would have to consider how all 
these streets functioned and try to enhance and/or mitigate. From the Polygon’s perspective, the 
connection would be made in Phase II and he did not mind setting aside some financial contributions to 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 28 of 29  

address this issue or another. In order to deal with the Dolan issue, he agreed, as a condition, to target 
$20,000 for traffic mitigation in Phase II.  
 
Barbara Jacobson, Assistant City Attorney, believed that could be addressed in Amendment 2 of 
Exhibit A3  which discussed the developer working with City Staff to come up with a development 
agreement. She appreciated the Applicant’s offer which would be taken into account when putting the 
agreement together. 
 
Mr. Gast stated if Polygon were having some impact, they did not shy away from taking responsibility to 
mitigate that impact. He agreed that was a good place to put it.  
 
Ms. Akervall sought clarification about determining when a calming device would be added. She asked 
how the City would know when it was a problem; was a predetermined measure used to determine when a 
problem existed or was it dictated by complaints.  
 
Mr. Adams explained that a traffic study was performed on Villebois Dr that showed 85 percent of the 
450 total cars per day were traveling below 23 or 24 miles per hour, depending on their direction, so the 
City had a base measurement with the existing homes. Before the connecting road opened, other traffic 
studies would be performed on Normandy Ln and St Tropez Ave to determine the base speed level. If the 
development opened and there was a jump in traffic and speeds, then the City would look at traffic 
calming measures. He added it was a wiser way of investing City funds and, rather than guessing where to 
throw $20,000 or $30,000 to fix up a possible problem, it was better to wait to see if a problem developed 
and then go back to modify it.  
 
Ms. Akervall confirmed baselines would be taken of the surrounding streets and the City would know 
what the streets were handling now and after the development opened.  
 
Chair Fierros Bower closed the public hearing at 10:15 p.m. 
 
Ken Ruud move to accept the Staff report dated April 7, 2014 as amended by Exhibit A3, with the 
addition of Exhibit B11, and with the last sentence of Condition PFC 52 on Page 145 of 183 also 
corrected to state, “Attachment X Exhibit C6.” Simon Springall seconded the motion. The motion 
passed unanimously. 

 
Chair Fierros Bower confirmed no additional language was needed for Item 2 of Exhibit A3. 
 
The motion passed unanimously. 
 
Lenka Keith moved to approve Resolution No. 275. Ken Ruud seconded the motion, which passed 
unanimously. 
 
Chair Fierros Bower read the rules of appeal into the record for the appropriate applications. 
 
VIII. Board Member Communications 

A. Results of the March 24, 2014 DRB Panel B Meeting 
 
Simon Springall asked about the enforcement of the temporary Sign Code. It was political season and the 
City had quite a restrictive Sign Code, but not all political signs were adhering to the Sign Code, as far as 
when they could and could not be up. He asked if the Sign Code was being enforced.  
 



Development Review Board Panel A  April 14, 2014 
Minutes  Page 29 of 29  

Chris Neamtzu, Planning Director, replied yes, the City was enforcing the Sign Code. If a violation was 
observed, City Staff should be notified and it would be taken care of. The City needed to enforce the Sign 
Code at all times. There were no timeframes when it was not applicable; the City could not have that kind 
of flexibility in applying the standards.  
 
IX. Staff Communications 
 
Mr. Neamtzu announced that City website was being revamped with a brand new look and all kinds of 
really neat features. The soft launch went up this week and he invited everyone’s feedback, adding Staff 
had been working on new website for over a year. He thanked the DRB for their great work tonight, 
adding the panel was doing outstanding work. He appreciated their thoughtful review of the extremely 
difficult applications, and believed they were doing an outstanding job.  
• He reported that after everyone graciously agreed to meet on a special night, the Fun Center agreed to 

voluntarily limit their zip line operations until midnight this year, so no special meeting was needed. 
The City had issued a permit for 12:00 am and would see how it went. Holland Partner Group and the 
apartment community were fairly pleased with the fact that it would not be running all night again. 
Staff worked very hard with Ms. Jacobson and the owners of the Fun Center to find a compromise 
and keep the matter out of a public hearing venue. He thanked everyone for their willingness to meet 
on a special request, which meant a lot to him.  

 
X. Adjournment 
The meeting adjourned at 10:22 p.m. 
 

 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
 

 
Paula Pinyerd, ABC Transcription Services, Inc. for  
Shelley White, Planning Administrative Assistant 

 



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 
RESOLUTION NO. 277 

 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING FINDINGS RECOMMENDING APPROVAL TO CITY COUNCIL 
OF AN ANNEXATION AND ZONE MAP AMENDMENT FROM RURAL RESIDENTIAL FARM 
FOREST 5-ACRE (RRFF-5) TO VILLAGE (V) AND ADOPTING FINDINGS AND CONDITIONS 
APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO SAP-NORTH, PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR 
SAP-NORTH PDP-3, TENTATIVE SUBDIVISION PLAT, TYPE C TREE PLAN, FINAL 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR LINEAR GREENS AND PARKS AND SRIR REVIEW FOR AN 84-
LOT SINGLE FAMILY SUBDIVISION IN VILLEBOIS AND ASSOCIATED IMPROVEMENTS.  
THE SUBJECT SITE IS LOCATED ON TAX LOTS 1200, 1202, 1205 AND 2995, OF SECTION 15, 
TOWNSHIP 3 SOUTH, RANGE 1 WEST, WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, CITY OF WILSONVILLE, 
CLACKAMAS COUNTY, OREGON.  STACY CONNERY, AICP, PACIFIC COMMUNITY 
DESIGN, INC. – REPRESENTATIVE FOR FRED GAST, POLYGON NW COMPANY- 
APPLICANT. 
 

 WHEREAS, an application, together with planning exhibits for the above-captioned development, 
has been submitted in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 4.008 of the Wilsonville Code, and 
 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Staff has prepared staff report on the above-captioned subject dated May 5, 
2014, and 
 

 WHEREAS, said planning exhibits and staff report were duly considered by the Development 
Review Board Panel A at a scheduled meeting conducted on May 12, 2014, at which time exhibits, together 
with findings and public testimony were entered into the public record, and  
 

 WHEREAS, the Development Review Board considered the subject and the recommendations 
contained in the staff report, and 
 

 WHEREAS, interested parties, if any, have had an opportunity to be heard on the subject. 
 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Development Review Board of the City of 
Wilsonville does hereby adopt the staff report dated May 5, 2014, attached hereto as Exhibit A1, with 
findings and recommendations contained therein, and authorizes the Planning Director to issue permits 
consistent with said recommendations, subject to, as applicable, City Council approval of the Annexation and 
Zone Map Amendment Requests (DB14-0009 and DB14-0010) for:  
 

DB14-00011, DB14-0013 through DB14-0016, and SI14-0003 Preliminary Development Plan, SAP 
Refinements, SAP Amendment, Tentative Subdivision Plat, Type C Tree Plan, Final Development Plan, and 
Significant Resource Impact Report for a 84-lot residential subdivision, and associated parks and open space 
and other improvements. 
 

ADOPTED by the Development Review Board of the City of Wilsonville at a regular meeting thereof 
this 12h day of May, 2014 and filed with the Planning Administrative Assistant on _______________.  This 
resolution is final on the l5th calendar day after the postmarked date of the written notice of decision per WC 
Sec 4.022(.09) unless appealed per WC Sec 4.022(.02) or called up for review by the council in accordance 
with WC Sec 4.022(.03). 
       
          ______,  
      Mary Fierros Bower Chair, Panel A 
      Wilsonville Development Review Board 
 
Attest: 
 
       
Shelley White, Planning Administrative Assistant 

RESOLUTION NO.  277 PAGE 1 



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North & SAP North Amendment Page 1 of 135 

Exhibit A1 
STAFF REPORT 

WILSONVILLE PLANNING DIVISION 
 

Polygon Homes- Calais at Villebois  
 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL ‘A’ 
QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING 

STAFF REPORT 
HEARING DATE May 12, 2014 
DATE OF REPORT: May 5, 2014 
 
APPLICATION NOS.: DB14-0009Annexation 
 DB14-0010 Zone Map Amendment 
 DB14-0013 SAP-North Amendment 
 DB14-0011 SAP-North PDP 3, Preliminary Development Plan 
 DB14-0014 Tentative Subdivision Plat 
 DB14-0016 Type C Tree Plan 
 DB14-0015 Final Development Plan for Parks and Open Space 
 SI14-0003 SRIR Review 
 
REQUEST/SUMMARY: The Development Review Board is being asked to review a Quasi-
judicial Annexation, Zone Map Amendment, Villebois Specific Area Plan North Amendment, 
Preliminary Development Plan, Tentative Subdivision Plat, Type C Tree Plan, Final 
Development Plan, and SRIR Review for an 84-lot residential subdivision, and associated parks 
and open space and other associated improvements. 
 
LOCATION: Southeast corner of SW Grahams Ferry Road and SW Tooze Road. The properties 
are specifically known as Tax Lots 1200, 1202, and 1205, Section 15, Township 3 South, Range 
1 West, Willamette Meridian, City of Wilsonville, Clackamas County, Oregon. 
 

OWNERS: Wayne Rembold, Rembold Co., Polygon at Villebois III LLC, and 
Charles & Carolyn Taber  

 

APPLICANT:  Fred Gast, Polygon NW Company 
 
APPLICANT’S REP.: Stacy Connery, AICP 

Pacific Community Design, Inc. 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP DESIGNATION: Residential-Village 
 
ZONE MAP CLASSIFICATION:  RRFF5 (Clackamas County Rural Residential Farm Forest 
5) 
 
STAFF REVIEWERS: Daniel Pauly AICP, Associate Planner 
                                        Steve Adams PE, Development Engineering Manager 
                                        Kerry Rappold, Natural Resource Program Manager 
 

Page 1 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North & SAP North Amendment Page 2 of 135 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS:  Approve with conditions the requested SAP Amendment, 
Preliminary Development Plan, Tentative Subdivision Plat, Tree Removal Plan, Final 
Development Plan for Parks and Open Space, and SRIR Review. Recommend approval of the 
requested Annexation and Zone Map Amendment to City Council. 
 
APPLICABLE REVIEW CRITERIA 
 

DEVELOPMENT CODE  
Section 4.008 Application Procedures-In General 
Section 4.009 Who May Initiate Application 
Section 4.010 How to Apply 
Section 4.011 How Applications are Processed 
Section 4.014 Burden of Proof 
Section 4.031 Authority of the Development Review Board 
Section 4.033 Authority of City Council 
Subsection 4.035 (.04) Site Development Permit Application 
Subsection 4.035 (.05) Complete Submittal Requirement 
Section 4.110 Zones 
Section 4.113 Residential Development in Any Zone 
Section 4.125 V-Village Zone 
Sections 4.139.00 through 4.139.11 as 
applicable 

Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) 

Section 4.154 Bicycle, Pedestrian, and Transit Facilities 
Section 4.155 Parking, Loading, and Bicycle Parking 
Section 4.167 Access, Ingress, and Egress 
Section 4.169 General Regulations-Double Frontage Lots 
Section 4.171 Protection of Natural Features and Other Resources 
Section 4.175 Public Safety and Crime Prevention 
Section 4.176 Landscaping, Screening, and Buffering 
Section 4.177 Street Improvement Standards 
Section 4.197 Zone Changes and Amendments to Development Code-

Procedures 
Sections 4.200 through 4.220 Land Divisions 
Sections 4.236 through 4.270 Land Division Standards 
Sections 4.300 through 4.320 Underground Utilities 
Sections 4.400 through 4.440 as 
applicable 

Site Design Review 

Sections 4.600 through 4.640.20 as 
applicable 

Tree Preservation and Protection 

Section 4.700 Annexation 
OTHER CITY PLANNING 
DOCUMENTS 

 

Comprehensive Plan  
Villebois Village Master Plan  
SAP North Approval Documents  
REGIONAL AND STATE 
PLANNING DOCUMENTS 

 

Metro Code Chapter 3.09 Local Government Boundary Changes 

Page 2 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North & SAP North Amendment Page 3 of 135 

Metro Function Plan Titles 1,2,3,6 and 7  
ORS 222.111 Authority and Procedures for Annexation 
ORS 222.120 Procedure without Election by City Electors 
ORS 222.125 Annexation by Consent of All Land Owners and 

Majority of Electors 
ORS 22.170 Effect of Consent to Annexation by Territory 
Statewide Planning Goals  

 

Vicinity Map 
 

 
 
BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 
 
Annexation (DB14-0009) 
 
Of the land covered by the Villebois Village Master Plan only the properties just south of Tooze 
Road between Grahams Ferry Road and 110th Avenue remain outside the City. The City’s 
Comprehensive Plan already designates these properties as “Residential-Village” in anticipation 
of annexation concurrent with other applications to develop the property. The requested 
annexation brings the properties near the corner of Tooze Road and Grahams Ferry Road into the 
City concurrent with a request to develop the property. As all owners of property and all electors 
within the area being annexed have consented in writing to annexation the City is able to process 
the request through the DRB and City Council as defined in the Development Code without any 
election. 
 
Zone Map Amendment (DB14-0010) 
 
The applicant requests to change the current Clackamas County zoning designation of Rural 
Residential Farm Forest 5 (RRFF5) to the City of Wilsonville zoning designation of Village (V) 

Page 3 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North & SAP North Amendment Page 4 of 135 

zone. The proposed residential and park uses are permitted in the Village zone. The Village zone 
has been applied to all of Villebois as it has developed. 
 
SAP North Amendment (DB14-0013) 
 
As shown in the table below, Specific Area Plans (SAP’s) in Villebois are made up of many 
elements. The initial approval of SAP North in 2007 (DB07-0054 et. seq.) was during the review 
of Phase 1 North when little was known about the timeline in which the remainder of the SAP 
would develop. To enable development of Phase 1 the approval divided the SAP into two 
“Areas”. Area 1 being Phase 1 North, and Area 2 being the remaining phases of SAP North. All 
SAP elements where approved for Area 1, but only certain elements where clearly approved for 
Area 2 leaving the remainder not approved or with a lack of certainty of whether they were 
approved. 
 

SAP Elements “Area 2” of SAP North Approval in 2007 (DB07-0054 et. seq.) 
Approved Not Approved or Uncertain 
 Site Circulation 
 Preliminary Lot Layout 
 Parks and Open Space 
 Utility Plan 
 Proposed Contours 
Sequencing/Phasing (being modified)  
 Tree Removal 
 Traffic Impact Analysis 
Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan  
Rainwater Management Program  
Architectural Pattern Book  
Community Elements Book  
 

 
Plan Sheet from 2007 Approval with the Reviewing Planner’s Annotations delineating Area 1 

and Area 2 
 

Page 4 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North & SAP North Amendment Page 5 of 135 

 
SAP North Phasing as Shown in 2013 Approval of Phase 2 

 
After purchasing all of Area 2 within the City limits Polygon sought development approvals for 
what was labeled Phase 2 of SAP North. In the 2013 approvals of Phase 2 North (DB13-0020 et. 
seq.) the area was considered Area 1B in relation to the 2007 labeling of Area 1 and Area 2. The 
rationale being no reason existed, beyond the 2007 focus of the developer, why the areas of SAP 
North within the City weren’t included in Area 1 during the 2007 approval. Phase 2 North was 
not affected by uncertainties surrounding the potential school on Tooze Road cited in 2007 as the 
primary uncertainty regarding Area 2. As part of the 2013 approval all SAP elements either not 
previously approved or with uncertainty about their approval status where approved for Phase 2 
North, leaving addressing those SAP elements for the additional phases outside the City to a 
future review. 
 
Polygon now has the option to purchase the subject properties which are contiguous to the 
western part of Phase 2 North. In their proposal they are labeling the subject properties as Phase 
3 North and request all SAP elements be adopted for the phase. While many of the same 
rationale exists to only review additional SAP elements for Phase 3 North similar to Phase 2 
North, the applicant and the City have agreed to a broader SAP Amendment to clearly establish 
as many SAP elements as possible for the entire SAP. 
 
However, for the future phases beyond Phase 3, the SAP Amendment is limited to adopting a 
general lot layout, unit count, site circulation, parks and open space, and utility plan reflective of 
the Villebois Village Master Plan. These elements were in the uncertain category during the 
previous approvals and the action simply formally establishes them. For the future phases the 

Page 5 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North & SAP North Amendment Page 6 of 135 

current SAP Amendment is not approval of any land use on the property, but rather clarifies past 
SAP approval. Additional SAP amendments, including Master Plan refinements, or SAP 
refinements will be submitted concurrently with future development applications for the future 
phases. These applications will need to include elements including the Historic and Cultural 
Resource Inventory and Tree Inventory as site access was not available to include these with the 
current SAP Amendment. 
 

 
SAP North Phasing as Proposed with Current Application 

 
In addition to ensuring the appropriate SAP elements are approved for Phase 3, the SAP 
Amendment requests a number of Master Plan refinements for Phase 3 as allowed in Subsection 
4.125 (.18) F. of the Development Code. The applicant provides a thorough list and explanation 
of the refinements on pages 39 through 43 of their supporting compliance report for the SAP 
Amendment (Section IIA of Exhibit B1). The following is a brief summary of the requested 
refinements, all of which have been found to meet the refinement criteria of the Development 
Code: 
 
Street Network 
 
 Removal of the extension of SW Firenze (now SW Palermo Street) to Grahams Ferry Road 

due to retention of a treed wetland and replace the connection with an extension of SW Oslo 
Street to SW Grahams Ferry Road. 

 Realignment of internal streets due to layout of residential lots 

Page 6 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North & SAP North Amendment Page 7 of 135 

        
Villebois Village Master Plan Figure 7  Proposed Refined Street Network 
 
Parks, Trails, and Open Space 
 

 Addition of Pocket Park at the southwest corner of Tooze Road and Grahams Ferry Road 
 Addition of an open space with a retained wetland 
 Additional linear greens and shared landscape areas  
 
Utilities and Stormwater Facilities 
 
 Realignment of utilities to match proposed street network 
 Revision of location of stormwater facilities based on site conditions 
 
Land Use and Density 
 

 Increase of the number of Large Lots 
 Addition of Medium Lots 
 Decrease of the number of Standard and Small Lots 
 Overall reduction of 17 units 
 
PDP 3N Preliminary Development Plan (DB14-0011) 
 
The proposed Preliminary Development Plan 3 of Specific Area Plan North (also known as 
Calais at Villebois) comprises 15.16 acres. The applicant proposes a variety of single-family 
housing types totaling 84 units, 2.03 acres of parks and open space, 4.49 acres of public streets, 
and associated infrastructure improvements. The front of all the houses will face tree lined 
streets, parks and green spaces.  

Page 7 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North & SAP North Amendment Page 8 of 135 

  
 

Proposed Housing Type Number of Units 
Large Size Single Family 23 
Standard Size Single Family 3 
Medium Size Single Family 26 
Small Size Single Family 32 
Total 84 

 
Tentative Subdivision Plat (DB14-0014) 
 
The applicant is proposing the subdivision of the properties into 84 residential lots, along with 
alleys, park areas, and street rights-of-way. The name of the proposed subdivision approved by 
Clackamas County is “Calais at Villebois.” 
 
Type C Tree Plan (DB14-0016) 
 
The majority of the trees being retained are on the one (1) acre Taber property or just south, with 
most the remainder of the properties being open pasture. A number of trees not inventoried are 
being preserved in the wetland at the southwest corner of the development area. Of the forty-one 
(41) trees inventoried, seven (7) are designated to be retained. Only one Oregon White Oak 

Page 8 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North & SAP North Amendment Page 9 of 135 

exists on the site, but has split and fallen since the arborist report was written and will be 
removed. Of the twenty-six (26) trees being removed, seventeen (17) are being removed due to 
the condition of the trees. Nine (9), including five (5) in good condition, are being removed due 
to construction. Staff has reviewed the site plan and has not identified any reasonable design 
alternatives to retain the “Good” trees being removed for construction. Notably, a 61-inch 
diameter Giant Sequoia (Tree 10478) in excellent health sits in the middle of a planned street that 
can’t be realigned sufficiently to avoid the tree without significantly changing the layout of the 
development. 
 

 
 
Final Development Plan for Parks and Open Space (DB14-0015) 
 
Details have been provided for all the parks and open space matching the requirements of the 
Community Elements Book. Street trees, curb extensions, street lights, and mail kiosks are also 
shown conforming to the Community Elements Book.  
 
SRIR Review (SI14-0003) 
 
The SRIR Review for Open Space 2 approved with Phase 2 North is being updated to reflect the 
revised impacts as the final programming of the child play area and other amenities on the 
northern edge of Open Space 2 proposed with Phase 3 North. 
 
DISCUSSION TOPICS: 
 
Preservation and Maintenance of Tree 10499 (27” Douglas-fir in Excellent Health) 
 
A notable tree designated for retention is a 27-inch Douglas-fir (Tree 10499) in excellent health. 
In consideration of the health and value of the tree and its location Conditions of Approval PDF 
4 and PDF 5 impose reasonable conditions to encourage proper long-term preservation and 
maintenance as well as clearly identify maintenance responsibility. Condition of Approval PDF 4 
requires a tree preservation and maintenance easement and associated easement agreement 
allowing for inspection of the tree condition and assigning tree maintenance responsibility to the 
homeowners association as well as limiting plantings and irrigation that could damage the health 
of the tree. As a practical matter Condition of Approval PDF 5 requires an access easement to 
allow necessary access by the City and HOA for inspection and maintenance activities.  
 
Sidewalk/Tree Conflicts along SW Tooze Road 
 
Three trees designated for retention along SW Tooze Road are shown in the vicinity of the 
planned sidewalk. The trees are a 26-inch Douglas-fir, a 20-inch Ponderosa Pine, and a 28-inch 

Page 9 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North & SAP North Amendment Page 10 of 135 

Western Redcedar. Condition of Approval PDF 12 requires the sidewalk to meander to minimize 
placement within the root zone and when it is within the root zone requires a specific profile to 
protect roots. A public sidewalk easement may be required within the adjacent linear green to 
allow for the meandering. The revised street tree plan in Exhibit B6 shows how the meandering 
could look. 
 

  
Tree Removal Plan     Revised Street Tree Plan (Exhibit B6) 
 
Triangular Piece of Property along SW Grahams Ferry Road 
 
Tax Lot 31W15 01591, an approximate 7,150 square foot triangular piece of property on the 
southwest of the project along SW Grahams Ferry Road is shown as a “Future Phase.” This piece 
of property was not included in the current requests due to inability to identify the property 
owner and secure their necessary consents and permissions. As explained by Steve Adams in 
Exhibit C6, the Development Agreement between Polygon NW and the City is anticipated to 
assign the responsibility to the City to acquire of this property for planned improvements. No 
homes or other buildings are anticipated to be constructed on the property. Improvements shown 
in the Master Plan and SAP documents, including Grahams Ferry Road, sidewalks, and fencing 
can be completed under the current zoning. Staff anticipates this piece of property will be 
coupled with future applications for SAP North phases east of Phase 3 North for annexation and 
any other necessary approvals. 
 

 
Offsite Street Improvements 
 
Condition of Approval PFD 33 requires construction of Paris Avenue/Ravenna Loop and 
Palermo Street in PDP 2 North prior to or concurrently with PDP 3 North to provide internal 
circulation within Villebois. However, a gap still remains between the terminus of Ravenna Loop 

Page 10 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North & SAP North Amendment Page 11 of 135 

in PDP 2 North and street connections in PDP 3 North. The City and Polygon are working on a 
development agreement that will enable construction of Paris Avenue/Ravenna Loop in the 
future phase to the east of PDP 3 North with Phase 3 North. The offsite Paris Avenue/Ravenna 
Loop improvements will include intersections with Palermo Street, Oslo Street, and an alley 
north of Oslo Street. The proposed offsite street improvements are on property currently owned 
by the City planned to be sold for development. The proposed area of the offsite improvement 
will be dedicated as right-of-way. Public utilities to serve Phase 3 North will also be located in 
the offsite improvement area. 
 
While a majority of these offsite improvements are typical of what will is in the City right-of-
way, a tract of land between the sidewalk and the front of Lots 30 through 32 would typically be 
a private linear green maintained by the homeowners association and include pathways to 
provide pedestrian connectivity to the front of the adjoining lots. Consistent with Condition of 
Approval PDG 8 and PDG 10, landscape and hardscape within the tract in front of Lots 30 
through 32 will need to be completed prior to issuance of building permit plans for homes on the 
lots. While the tract will be in City right-of-way the Operations and Maintenance Agreement will 
require maintenance by the homeowners association similar to other linear green areas 
throughout Villebois. 
 

 
 

Future Development Tracts/Lots Overlapping PDP Boundary 
 
In this and previous applications PDP boundaries have been adjusted to reflect property 
ownership. In a number of cases this led to remnant areas between the PDP’s developable with 
homes using land from multiple PDP’s. The proposed tentative subdivision plat includes a future 
development tract north of and across the alley from Lots 26 and 27. This tract is anticipated to 
be combined with land from a future phase to create a buildable lot. 
 

Page 11 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North & SAP North Amendment Page 12 of 135 

 
 
 

Page 12 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 13 of 135 

 
CONCLUSION AND CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL: 
 
Staff has reviewed the applicant’s analysis of compliance with the applicable criteria.  This Staff 
report adopts the applicant’s responses as Findings of Fact except as noted in the Findings. Based 
on the Findings of Fact and information included in this Staff Report, and information received 
from a duly advertised public hearing, staff recommends that the Development Review Board 
approve the proposed applications (DB14-0013, DB14-0011, DB14-0014, DB14-0016, DB14-
00015, and SI14-0003) and recommend approval of the annexation and zone map amendment to 
City Council (DB14-0009 and DB14-0010) with the following conditions: 
 
The Developer is working with the City to reach agreement on the apportionment of fair 
and equitable exactions for the subject applications through a Development Agreement. 
Such agreement is subject to approval by the City Council by resolution. 
 
Planning Division Conditions: 
 
REQUEST A: DB14-0009ANNEXATION 
This action recommends Annexation to the City Council for the subject properties. The Zone 
Map Amendment (DB14-0010) and all approvals contingent on it are contingent on annexation. 
The SAP Amendment (DB14-0013) is also contingent upon annexation for those areas requested 
to be annexed.    
REQUEST B: DB14-0010 ZONE MAP AMENDMENT 
This action recommends adoption of the Zone Map Amendment to the City Council for the 
subject properties. This action is contingent upon annexation of the subject properties to the City 
of Wilsonville (DB14-0009). Case files DB14-0011, DB14-0014, DB14-0015, and DB14-0016 
are contingent upon City Council’s action on the Zone Map Amendment request.    
REQUEST C: DB14-0013 SAP-NORTH AMENDMENT 
PDC 1. For the properties proposed to be annexed under Request A (DB14-0009) approval of 

DB14-0013, SAP North Amendment, is contingent upon annexation.  
PDC 2. For areas of SAP North designated as Future Phases this action reflects the plans for 

these areas adopted as part of the legislative Villebois Village Master Plan and does 
not constitute quasi-judicial land use action for these properties. It is understood the 
Specific Area Plan North will be amended or refined for these Future Phases 
concurrent with future annexation and quasi-judicial development applications. 

REQUEST D: DB14-0011 SAP-NORTH PDP 3, PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
PDD 1. Approval of DB14-0011 SAP-North PDP 3, Preliminary Development Plan is 

contingent upon annexation of the subject properties to the City of Wilsonville (Case 
File DB14-0009) and City Council approval of the Zone Map Amendment from 
Clackamas County Rural Residential Farm Forest 5 (RRFF5) to Village (V) (Case 
File DB14-0010). 

PDD 2. Street lighting types and spacing shall be as shown in the Community Elements Book 
and as approved by the Engineering Division during the Public Works permitting 
process. See Finding D28. 

PDD 3. All park and open space improvements approved by the Development Review Board, 
including associated improvements in Open Space 2, shall be completed prior the 
issuance of the forty-second (42nd) house permit for PDP 3 North. If weather or other 

Page 13 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 14 of 135 

special circumstances prohibit completion, bonding for the improvements will be 
permitted. See Finding D55.  

PDD 4. The applicant/owner shall enter into an Operations and Maintenance Agreement for 
the subdivision that clearly identifies ownership and maintenance for parks, open 
space, and paths. Such agreement shall ensure maintenance in perpetuity and shall be 
recorded with the subdivision for ‘Calais at Villebois.’ Such agreement shall be 
reviewed and approved by the City Attorney prior to recordation. See also Finding 
G4. 

PDD 5. The applicant/owner shall install courtyard fencing in the front yard of no less than 
thirty percent (30%) of the houses, which is rounded down to twenty-five (25) of the 
eighty-four (84) houses. The applicant/owner is especially encouraged to place the 
courtyards in the front yard of homes facing the open space or linear greens and that 
do not have a porch as well as alley loaded homes. The design and placement of the 
required courtyard fencing shall be consistent with the Architectural Pattern Book and 
the architectural style of the house. The courtyard area enclosed by the fence shall not 
exceed a five (5) percent slope from front building line of the house to the point of the 
courtyard closest to the front lot line or between the points of the courtyard closest to 
opposite side lot lines. Where necessary, the applicant shall install dry stack rock or 
brick wall along the front or side of the lot to ensure a five (5) percent or less slope is 
maintained. See Finding D25. 

PDD 6. Where a building foundation is exposed in the public view shed more than would be 
typical on a level lot, the foundation shall have a brick or stone façade matching the 
design of the house.  

REQUEST E DB14-0014 TENTATIVE SUBDIVISION PLAT 
PDE 1. Approval of DB14-0014 Tentative Subdivision Plat is contingent upon annexation of 

the subject properties to the City of Wilsonville (Case File DB14-0009) and City 
Council approval of the Zone Map Amendment from Clackamas County Rural 
Residential Farm Forest 5 (RRFF5) to Village (V) (Case File DB14-0010). 

PDE 2. Any necessary easements or dedications shall be identified on the Final Subdivision 
Plat. 

PDE 3. If one or more of the park/open space tracts are to be dedicated to the City or other 
public entity, this dedication(s) shall also be executed and recorded with the Final 
Plat.   

PDE 4. Alleyways shall remain in private ownership and be maintained by the Homeowner’s 
Association established by the subdivision’s CC&Rs.  The CC&Rs shall be reviewed 
and approved by the City Attorney prior to recordation.  

PDE 5. The Final Subdivision Plat shall indicate dimensions of all lots, lot area, minimum lot 
size, easements, proposed lot and block numbers, parks/open space by name and/or 
type, and any other information that may be required as a result of the hearing process 
for PDP-3N or the Tentative Plat. 

PDE 6. A non-access reservation strip shall be applied on the final plat to those lots with 
access to a public street and an alley.  All lots with access to a public street and an 
alley must take vehicular access from the alley to a garage or parking area.  A plat 
note effectuating that same result can be used in the alternative.  The applicant shall 
work with the County Surveyor and City Staff regarding appropriate language. See 
Finding E3. 

Page 14 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 15 of 135 

PDE 7. All reserve strips and street plugs shall be detailed on the Final Subdivision Plat. See 
Finding E3. 

PDE 8. All tracts shall, except those indicated for future home development, shall include a 
public access easement across their entirety. 

PDE 9. The applicant/owner shall submit subdivision bylaws, covenants, and agreements to 
the City Attorney prior to recordation. See Finding E6. 

REQUEST F: DB14-0016 TYPE C TREE PLAN 
PDF 1. Approval of DB14-0016 Type C Tree Plan is contingent upon annexation of the 

subject properties to the City of Wilsonville (Case File DB14-0009) and City Council 
approval of the Zone Map Amendment from Clackamas County Rural Residential 
Farm Forest 5 (RRFF5) to Village (V) (Case File DB14-0010). 

PDF 2. The property owner/applicant or their successors in interest shall grant access to the 
property for authorized City representatives as needed to verify the tree related 
information provided, to observe tree related site conditions, and to verify, once a 
removal permit is granted, that the terms and conditions of the permit are followed.  

PDF 3. Pursuant to note 6 of Table V-1 in Section 4.125 WC Lot 13 can be exempt from the 
maximum front setback to enable tree preservation. If it is necessary to place 
foundations or other hardscape improvements within the root zone of preserved trees 
construction shall be coordinated with and follow recommendations of the project 
arborist to minimize impacts.  

PDF 4. In order to ensure proper preservation and clear responsibility for maintenance and 
due to its excellent condition, the applicant/owner shall grant a tree protection and 
maintenance easement to the City over the area of Lot 50 within the drip line of Tree 
10499. The easement shall be shown on the Final Plat. The applicant/owner shall 
enter into an easement agreement regarding this tree preservation easement which, 
among other provisions typical of such agreements, shall include the following 
provisions: 
 City and HOA access to inspect health of trees and condition of area within 

easement and perform any necessary activity to preserve the tree and maintain 
appropriate landscaping within the easement area. 

 Limit landscaping within the tree protection easement to understory plantings 
compatible with Douglas-fir. 

 Require temporary and permanent drainage and irrigation be designed around 
easement area to optimize the amount of water in the root zone of the tree to 
support its health. 

 Establish that if the tree dies or structurally fails beyond preservation, that an 
additional Douglas-fir is planted in its place. 

 Establish HOA responsibility for tree maintenance within the easement area and 
replacement, if needed. 

See Finding F3. 
PDF 5. A five foot (5’) access easement shall be provided along the south property line of 

Lot 50 to the tree preservation and maintenance easement required by Condition of 
Approval PDF 4. Such easement shall allow for access by the authorized 
representatives and contractors for the HOA or City to reach the tree preservation and 
maintenance easement area. Such easement shall be shown on the final plat with a 
plat note defining the scope of the easement. No other obstructions other than a fence 

Page 15 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 16 of 135 

with an unlocked gate shall be allowed within the easement area. See Finding F3. 
PDF 6. Trees planted as replacement of removed trees shall be, state Department of 

Agriculture Nursery Grade No. 1. or better, shall meet the requirements of the 
American Association of Nursery Men (AAN) American Standards for Nursery Stock 
(ANSI Z60.1) for top grade, shall be staked, fertilized and mulched, and shall be 
guaranteed by the permit grantee or the grantee’s successors-in-interest for two (2) 
years after the planting date. A “guaranteed” tree that dies or becomes diseased 
during that time shall be replaced. See Findings F21 and F22. 

PDF 7. Solvents, building material, construction equipment, soil, or irrigated landscaping, 
shall not be placed within the drip line of any preserved tree, unless a plan for such 
construction activity has been approved by the Planning Director or Development 
Review Board based upon the recommendations of an arborist. See Finding F24. 

PDF 8. Before and during development, land clearing, filling or any land alteration the 
applicant shall erect and maintain suitable tree protective barriers which shall include 
the following: 
 6’ high fence set at tree drip lines. 
 Fence materials shall consist of 2 inch mesh chain links secured to a minimum of 1 

½ inch diameter steel or aluminum line posts. 
 Posts shall be set to a depth of no less than 2 feet in native soil. 
 Protective barriers shall remain in place until the City authorizes their removal or 

issues a final certificate of occupancy, whichever occurs first.  
 Tree protection fences shall be maintained in a full upright position. 
See Findings F24. 

PDF 9. Fence posts placement within drip lines and root zones of preserved trees shall be 
hand dug and supervised by the project arborist. If roots are encountered alternative 
fence post placement is required as determined by the project arborist.  See Finding 
F3. 

PDF 10. Utilities, including franchise utilities, public utilities, and private utilities and service 
lines shall be directionally bored as necessary to avoid the root zone of preserved 
trees. This includes trees designated “likely to be removed” unless the trees are 
authorized to be removed by the City through the process described in pages 3 to 4 of 
the Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan Memo in Section VIB) of the applicant’s 
notebook, Exhibit B3. All work within the root zone of preserved trees shall be 
supervised by and follow the recommendation of the project arborist. See Finding F3. 

PDF 11. Of the trees indicated “Likely to be Removed” the following trees shall only be 
removed upon finding by Planning staff, based on the recommendation of the project 
arborist, that no practical design alternative exists that would enable their 
preservation: 
Tree 10471 (32” Douglas-fir) or Tree 10474 (24” Ponderosa Pine) 
Tree 10475 (28” Western Redcedar) 
Tree 10480 (14” Red Maple) 
Tree 10481 (24” Douglas-fir) 
Tree 10482 (28” Douglas-fir) 
Tree 10483 (22” Douglas-fir) 

PDF 12. The sidewalk along SW Tooze Road shall meander as necessary to minimize 
placement within the root zone of Trees 10464, 10465, and 10466. Any sidewalk 

Page 16 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 17 of 135 

placed within the root zone of these trees shall follow Figure 1, Sample Surfacing 
Profile, on page 5 of the Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan Memo in Section 
VIB) of the applicant’s notebook, Exhibit B3. All work for utilities, sidewalks, or 
other improvements within the root zones of these trees shall be supervised and 
follow the recommendations of the project arborist. See Finding F3. 

REQUEST G: DB14-0015 FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR PARKS AND OPEN 
SPACE 
PDG 1. Except for those improvements shown in OS-2 previously rezoned and annexed with 

PDP 2 North, approval of DB14-0015 Final Development Plan is contingent upon 
annexation of the subject properties to the City of Wilsonville (Case File DB14-0009) 
and City Council approval of the Zone Map Amendment from Clackamas County 
Rural Residential Farm Forest 5 (RRFF5) to Village (V) (Case File DB14-0010). 

PDG 2. All plant materials shall be installed consistent with current industry standards.  
PDG 3. All construction, site development, and landscaping of the parks shall be carried out 

in substantial accord with the Development Review Board approved plans, drawings, 
sketches, and other documents. Minor alterations may be approved by the Planning 
Division through the Class I Administrative Review process. See Finding G32. 

PDG 4. All retaining walls within the public view shed shall be a decorative stone or brick 
construction or veneer. Final color and material for the retaining walls shall be 
approved by the Planning Division through the Class I Administrative Review 
Process. See Finding G37. 

PDG 5. All hand rails within the parks and open space shall be of a design similar to the 
approved courtyard fencing shown in the Architectural Pattern Book. Final design of 
any hand rails in parks and open space shall be approved by the Planning Division 
through the Class I Administrative Review Process. See Finding G37. 

PDG 6. All landscaping shall be continually maintained, including necessary watering, 
weeding, pruning, and replacing, in a substantially similar manner as originally 
approved by the Development Review Board. See Finding G41 through G43.  

PDG 7. The applicant shall submit final parks, landscaping and irrigation plans to the City 
prior to construction of parks. The irrigation plan must be consistent with the 
requirements of Section 4.176(.07)C.   

PDG 8. Prior to occupancy of each house the Applicant/Owner shall install landscaping along 
the public view-sheds of each house, unless otherwise approved by the Community 
Development Director. Homeowners association shall contract with a professional 
landscape service to maintain the landscaping. 

PDG 9. No street trees shall be planted where there growth would interfere with preserved 
trees. Street trees shall be appropriately placed between curb cuts. See Finding G23. 

PDG 10. Street trees shall be planted as each house or park is built. 
PDG 11. Final construction plans for playground equipment and other elements shall 

demonstrate compliance with the requirements of the Community Elements Book 
which have not been verified for compliance at the current level of design. See 
Findings G9 and G17. 

PDG 12. Consistent with Parks and Open Spaces Policy 1 in the Villebois Village Master Plan 
a large shade tree of 3”-5” caliper shall be planted in the pocket park as a focal point 
at the intersection of Grahams Ferry Road and Tooze Road. 

 

Page 17 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 18 of 135 

REQUEST H: SI14-0003 SRIR REVIEW 
NONE 
 
The following Conditions of Approval are provided by the Engineering, Natural Resources, or 
Building Divisions of the City’s Community Development Department or Tualatin Valley Fire 
and Rescue, all of which have authority over development approval. A number of these 
Conditions of Approval are not related to land use regulations under the authority of the 
Development Review Board or Planning Director. Only those Conditions of Approval related to 
criteria in Chapter 4 of Wilsonville Code and the Comprehensive Plan, including but not limited 
to those related to traffic level of service, site vision clearance, recording of plats, and 
concurrency, are subject to the Land Use review and appeal process defined in Wilsonville Code 
and Oregon Revised Statutes and Administrative Rules. Other Conditions of Approval are based 
on City Code chapters other than Chapter 4, state law, federal law, or other agency rules and 
regulations. Questions or requests about the applicability, appeal, exemption or non-compliance 
related to these other Conditions of Approval should be directed to the City Department, 
Division, or non-City agency with authority over the relevant portion of the development 
approval.  
 
Engineering Division Conditions: 
 
REQUEST D: DB14-0011 SAP-NORTH PDP 3, PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
Standard Comments: 
PFD 1 All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in conformance 

to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards. 
PFD 2 Applicant shall submit insurance requirements to the City of Wilsonville in the 

following amounts: 
 
Coverage (Aggregate, accept where noted)                            Limit 
Commercial General Liability 
            General Aggregate (per project)                             $ 2,000,000 
            Fire Damage (any one fire)                                     $      50,000 
            Medical Expense (any one person)                         $      10,000 
Business Automobile Liability Insurance 
            Each Occurrence                                                     $ 1,000,000 
            Aggregate                                                                $ 2,000,000 
Workers Compensation Insurance                                       $    500,000 

PFD 3 No construction of, or connection to, any existing or proposed public 
utility/improvements will be permitted until all plans are approved by Staff, all fees 
have been paid, all necessary permits, right-of-way and easements have been obtained 
and Staff is notified a minimum of 24 hours in advance. 

PFD 4 All public utility/improvement plans submitted for review shall be based upon a 22”x 
34” format and shall be prepared in accordance with the City of Wilsonville Public 
Work’s Standards. 

PFD 5 Plans submitted for review shall meet the following general criteria: 
 

a. Utility improvements that shall be maintained by the public and are not contained 
within a public right-of-way shall be provided a maintenance access acceptable to 

Page 18 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 19 of 135 

the City. The public utility improvements shall be centered in a minimum 15-ft. 
wide public easement for single utilities and a minimum 20-ft wide public 
easement for two parallel utilities and shall be conveyed to the City on its 
dedication forms. 

b. Design of any public utility improvements shall be approved at the time of the 
issuance of a Public Works Permit.  Private utility improvements are subject to 
review and approval by the City Building Department. 

c. In the plan set for the PW Permit, existing utilities and features, and proposed new 
private utilities shall be shown in a lighter, grey print.  Proposed public 
improvements shall be shown in bolder, black print. 

d. All elevations on design plans and record drawings shall be based on NAVD 88 
Datum.   

e. All proposed on and off-site public/private utility improvements shall comply 
with the State of Oregon and the City of Wilsonville requirements and any other 
applicable codes. 

f. Design plans shall identify locations for street lighting, gas service, power lines, 
telephone poles, cable television, mailboxes and any other public or private utility 
within the general construction area. 

g. As per City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 615, all new gas, telephone, cable, 
fiber-optic and electric improvements etc. shall be installed underground.  
Existing overhead utilities shall be undergrounded wherever reasonably possible. 

h. Any final site landscaping and signing shall not impede any proposed or existing 
driveway or interior maneuvering sight distance. 

i. Erosion Control Plan that conforms to City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 482. 
j. Existing/proposed right-of-way, easements and adjacent driveways shall be 

identified. 
k. All engineering plans shall be stamped by a Professional Engineer registered in 

the State of Oregon.  
PFD 6 Submit plans in the following general format and order for all public works 

construction to be maintained by the City: 
 

a. Cover sheet 
b. City of Wilsonville construction note sheet 
c. General construction note sheet 
d. Existing conditions plan. 
e. Erosion control and tree protection plan. 
f. Site plan.  Include property line boundaries, water quality pond boundaries, 

sidewalk improvements, right-of-way (existing/proposed), easements 
(existing/proposed), and sidewalk and road connections to adjoining properties. 

g. Grading plan, with 1-foot contours. 
h. Composite utility plan; identify storm, sanitary, and water lines; identify storm 

and sanitary manholes. 
i. Detailed plans; show plan view and either profile view or provide i.e.’s at all 

utility crossings; include laterals in profile view or provide table with i.e.’s at 
crossings; vertical scale 1”= 5’, horizontal scale 1”= 20’ or 1”= 30’. 

j. Street plans. 
k. Storm sewer/drainage plans; number all lines, manholes, catch basins, and 

Page 19 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 20 of 135 

cleanouts for easier reference 
l. Water and sanitary sewer plans; plan; number all lines, manholes, and cleanouts 

for easier reference. 
m. Detailed plan for storm water detention facility (both plan and profile views), 

including water quality orifice diameter and manhole rim elevations.  Provide 
detail of inlet structure and energy dissipation device. Provide details of drain 
inlets, structures, and piping for outfall structure.  Note that although storm water 
detention facilities are typically privately maintained they will be inspected by 
engineering, and the plans must be part of the Public Works Permit set. 

n. Detailed plan for water quality facility (both plan and profile views).  Note that 
although storm water quality facilities are typically privately maintained they will 
be inspected by Natural Resources, and the plans must be part of the Public 
Works Permit set. 

o. Composite franchise utility plan. 
p. City of Wilsonville detail drawings. 
q. Illumination plan. 
r. Striping and signage plan. 
s. Landscape plan. 

PFD 7 Prior to manhole and sewer line testing, design engineer shall coordinate with the 
City and update the sanitary and stormwater sewer systems to reflect the City’s 
numbering system.  Video testing and sanitary manhole testing will refer to the 
updated numbering system.  Design engineer shall also show the updated numbering 
system on As-Built drawings submitted to the City. 

PFD 8 The applicant shall install, operate and maintain adequate erosion control measures in 
conformance with the standards adopted by the City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 
482 during the construction of any public/private utility and building improvements 
until such time as approved permanent vegetative materials have been installed. 

PFD 9 Applicant shall work with City’s Natural Resources office before disturbing any soil 
on the respective site.  If 5 or more acres of the site will be disturbed applicant shall 
obtain a 1200-C permit from the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.  If 1 
to less than 5 acres of the site will be disturbed a 1200-CN permit from the City of 
Wilsonville is required. 

PFD 10 To lessen the impact of the proposed project on the downstream storm drain system, 
and adjacent properties, project run-off from that portion of the site within the Mill 
Creek Basin shall be detained and limited to the difference between a developed 25-
year storm and an undeveloped 25-year storm. The detention and outfall facilities 
shall be designed and constructed in conformance with the Public Works Standards. 

PFD 11 A storm water analysis prepared by a Professional Engineer registered in the State of 
Oregon shall be submitted for review and approval by the City to address appropriate 
pipe and detention facility sizing. 

PFD 12 The applicant shall be in conformance with all water quality requirements for the 
proposed development per the Public Works Standards.  If a mechanical water quality 
system is used, prior to City acceptance of the project the applicant shall provide a 
letter from the system manufacturer stating that the system was installed per 
specifications and is functioning as designed. 

PFD 13 Storm water quality facilities shall have approved landscape planted and/or some 

Page 20 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 21 of 135 

other erosion control method installed and approved by the City of Wilsonville prior 
to streets and/or alleys being paved. 

PFD 14 Fire hydrants shall be located in compliance with TVF&R fire prevention ordinance 
and approval of TVF&R. 

PFD 15 The applicant shall contact the Oregon Water Resources Department and inform them 
of any existing wells located on the subject site. Any existing well shall be limited to 
irrigation purposes only.  Proper separation, in conformance with applicable State 
standards, shall be maintained between irrigation systems, public water systems, and 
public sanitary systems.  Should the project abandon any existing wells, they shall be 
properly abandoned in conformance with State standards. 

PFD 16 All survey monuments on the subject site, or that may be subject to disturbance 
within the construction area, or the construction of any off-site improvements shall be 
adequately referenced and protected prior to commencement of any construction 
activity.  If the survey monuments are disturbed, moved, relocated or destroyed as a 
result of any construction, the project shall, at its cost, retain the services of a 
registered professional land surveyor in the State of Oregon to restore the monument 
to its original condition and file the necessary surveys as required by Oregon State 
law.  A copy of any recorded survey shall be submitted to Staff. 

PFD 17 Sidewalks, crosswalks and pedestrian linkages in the public right-of-way shall be in 
compliance with the requirements of the U.S. Access Board. 

PFD 18 No surcharging of sanitary or storm water manholes is allowed. 
PFD 19 The project shall connect to an existing manhole or install a manhole at each 

connection point to the public storm system and sanitary sewer system.  
PFD 20 A City approved energy dissipation device shall be installed at all proposed storm 

system outfalls.  Storm outfall facilities shall be designed and constructed in 
conformance with the Public Works Standards. 

PFD 21 The applicant shall provide a ‘stamped’ engineering plan and supporting information 
that shows the proposed street light locations meet the appropriate AASHTO lighting 
standards for all proposed streets and pedestrian alleyways. 

PFD 22 All required pavement markings, in conformance with the Transportation Systems 
Plan and the Bike and Pedestrian Master Plan, shall be completed in conjunction with 
any conditioned street improvements. 

PFD 23 Street and traffic signs shall have a hi-intensity prismatic finish meeting ASTM 4956 
Spec Type 4 standards. 

PFD 24 The applicant shall provide adequate sight distance at all project driveways by 
driveway placement or vegetation control. Specific designs to be submitted and 
approved by the City Engineer. Coordinate and align proposed driveways with 
driveways on the opposite side of the proposed project site. 

PFD 25 Access requirements, including sight distance, shall conform to the City's 
Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) or as approved by the City Engineer. Landscaping 
plantings shall be low enough to provide adequate sight distance at all street 
intersections and alley/street intersections. 

PFD 26 Applicant shall design interior streets and alleys to meet specifications of Tualatin 
Valley Fire & Rescue and Allied Waste Management (United Disposal) for access 
and use of their vehicles. 

PFD 27 The applicant shall provide the City with a Stormwater Maintenance and Access 

Page 21 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 22 of 135 

Easement (on City approved forms) for City inspection of those portions of the storm 
system to be privately maintained.  Stormwater or rainwater LID facilities may be 
located within the public right-of-way upon approval of the City Engineer.  Applicant 
shall maintain all LID storm water components and private conventional storm water 
facilities; maintenance shall transfer to the respective homeowners association when 
it is formed.  

PFD 28 The applicant shall “loop” proposed waterlines by connecting to the existing City 
waterlines where applicable. 

PFD 29 All water lines that are to be temporary dead-end lines due to the phasing of 
construction shall have a valved tee with fire-hydrant assembly installed at the end of 
the line. 

PFD 30 For any new public easements created with the project the Applicant shall be required 
to produce the specific survey exhibits establishing the easement and shall provide the 
City with the appropriate  Easement document (on City approved forms). 

PFD 31 Mylar Record Drawings:  
 
At the completion of the installation of any required public improvements, and before 
a 'punch list' inspection is scheduled, the Engineer shall perform a record survey. Said 
survey shall be the basis for the preparation of 'record drawings' which will serve as 
the physical record of those changes made to the plans and/or specifications, 
originally approved by Staff, that occurred during construction. Using the record 
survey as a guide, the appropriate changes will be made to the construction plans 
and/or specifications and a complete revised 'set' shall be submitted. The 'set' shall 
consist of drawings on 3 mil. Mylar and an electronic copy in AutoCAD, current 
version, and a digitally signed PDF. 

Specific Comments:  
PFD 32 Applicant shall enter into a Development Agreement with the City that clarifies the 

responsibilities and/or estimated costs for construction of Tooze Road, Grahams 
Ferry Road, Paris Avenue, Palermo Street (south of proposed subdivision), and water, 
sanitary and storm infrastructure to service this proposed subdivision. 

PFD 33 To provide internal circulation within Villebois the Applicant shall complete the 
construction of both Palermo Street and Paris Avenue/Ravenna Loop in the adjacent 
Villebois SAP North PDP 2 subdivision either prior to, or concurrent with, 
construction of Villebois SAP North PDP 3. 

PFD 34 At the request of Staff, DKS Associates completed a Transportation Review dated 
March 14, 2014.  The project is hereby limited to no more than the following impacts. 

 
Estimated New PM Peak Hour Trips 85 

Estimated Weekday PM Peak Hour Trips 27 
Through Wilsonville Road Interchange Area 

PFD 35 Recent traffic analysis reports done for Villebois have indicates that the intersection 
of Grahams Ferry Road and Tooze Road would operate at LOS F with the build-out 
of this and other approved Villebois subdivisions.  Improvements to this intersection 
are planned and funded by the City and construction work is anticipated to be 
completed by spring 2016. 

Page 22 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 23 of 135 

PFD 36 Connections to the public right-of-way shall occur at Oslo Street and Grahams Ferry 
Road and via Palermo Street and Paris Street to streets previously approved with 
Villebois SAP North PDP 2. 

PFD 37 Alley Tract “H” stops short of the Oslo Street right-of-way; Applicant shall provide a 
hard surface pedestrian connection between this alley tract and the public sidewalk on 
north side of Oslo Street. 

PFD 38 All construction traffic shall access the site via Grahams Ferry Road.   
PFD 39 In the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan Tooze Road is identified as a Minor 

Arterial.  Applicant shall dedicate sufficient right-of-way to accommodate Tooze 
Road as a Minor Arterial; this will require an additional 17.5 feet of right-of-way 
dedication to the City to accommodate a half-street width of 37.5-ft (total right-of-
way width of 75 feet). 

PFD 40 In the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan Grahams Ferry Road is identified as a Minor 
Arterial.  Applicant shall dedicate sufficient right-of-way to accommodate Grahams 
Ferry Road as a Minor Arterial; this will require an additional 7.5 feet of right-of-way 
dedication to the City to accommodate a half-street width of 37.5-ft (total right-of-
way width of 77 feet). 

PFD 41 With the improvements to Grahams Ferry Road applicant shall cause to have all 
overhead utilities along the east side of the road installed underground along the 
entire property frontage and install a new underground to overhead transition pole at 
the southeast corner of the Tooze Road / Grahams Ferry Road intersection. 

PFD 42 On Grahams Ferry Road adjacent to the Villebois Village development the standard 
street light is a 35-ft black fiberglass direct bury pole (30-ft mounting height) with 6-
ft black arm and black full-cutoff cobra head luminaire.  

PFD 43 All internal streets shall be lighted with approved Westbrooke style street lights per 
the Villebois street lighting master plan. 

PFD 44 On westbound Oslo Street at Grahams Ferry Road applicant shall provide a left-turn 
pocket to accommodate turn movements onto Grahams Ferry Road as recommended 
in the Villebois Urban Village SAP North Area 1B Transportation Study, completed 
by DKS, July 31, 2013. 

PFD 45 On Grahams Ferry Road, stormwater will be collected via curb inlets north of Oslo 
Street and via storm swales south of Oslo; however the Applicant shall be required to 
provide detention and water quality requirements for impervious surfaces created 
with the reconstruction of Grahams Ferry Road. 

PFD 46 The proposed subdivision lies within two storm drainage basins – Coffee Lake and 
Mill Creek.  Those portions of the subdivision lying within the Coffee Lake basin are 
exempt from stormwater detention requirements as established per City Ordinance 
No. 608.  Those portions of the subdivision lying within Mill Creek basin and 
improvements done with Grahams Ferry Road shall be required to conform to the 
storm detention requirements of PFD 10.  No net interbasin transfer of stormwater is 
allowed. 

PFD 47 The applicant shall provide ‘stamped’ engineering details with dimensions for 
intersection sight distance verification and AutoTURN layouts for all proposed 
intersections, including alley/street connections.  Adequate clearance shall be 
provided at all intersections and alleyways.  The sight distance point for exiting 
vehicles shall be located 14.4 feet from the edge of the traveled way. 

Page 23 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 24 of 135 

 
At a minimum, the applicant shall provide 'stamped' engineering AutoTURN layouts 
for fire trucks and buses (WB-60) that show the overhang and/or mirrors of the 
vehicle as opposed to the wheel paths. Turning vehicles may use the width of the 
minor street to start the appropriate turn. The vehicle must however, stay within the 
appropriate receiving (inside) lane of the major street. Additionally, the turning 
vehicle must not intrude onto the wheel chair ramp on the inside of the turning 
movement. 

PFD 48 Alleys that are identified by Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue (TVF&R) as possible 
routes for medical and/or fire emergencies shall meet TVF&R’s design requirements. 

PFD 49 At the time of plan submittal for a Public Works Permit, the applicant shall provide to 
the City a copy of correspondence showing that the plans have also been distributed 
to the franchise utilities.  Prior to issuance of a Public Works Permit, the applicant 
shall have coordinated the proposed locations and associated infrastructure design for 
the franchise utilities. Should permanent/construction easements or right-of-way be 
required to construct the public improvements or to relocate a franchised utility, the 
applicant shall provide a copy of the recorded documents. Should the construction of 
public improvements impact existing utilities within the general area, the applicant 
shall obtain written approval from the appropriate utility prior to commencing any 
construction. 

PFD 50 Applicant shall provide sufficient mail box units for the proposed phasing plan; 
applicant shall construct mail kiosk at locations coordinated with City staff and the 
Wilsonville U.S. Postmaster. In previous discussions between City staff and the 
Wilsonville U.S. Postmaster mail kiosk locations were preferred to be located along 
Oslo Street. 

PFD 51 Rainwater management components will be allowed to be located in the public right-
of-way, however such components shall be maintained by the Applicant, or 
subsequent HOA, and this shall be included in the Ownership and Maintenance 
agreement as required in PFD 27. 

PFD 52 Existing abandoned water, sanitary, or storm water lines shall either be completely 
removed, grouted in place, or abandoned per a City approved recommendation from a 
Registered Geotechnical Engineer. 

PFD 53 SAP North PDP 3 consists of 84 lots.  All construction work in association with the 
Public Works Permit and Project Corrections List shall be completed prior to the City 
Building Division issuing a certificate of occupancy, or a building permit for the 
housing unit(s) in excess of 50% of total (43rd lot). 

PFD 54 Much of the site is located within a sanitary sewer reimbursement district adopted 
with Resolution No. 2350 and is subject to the requirements established by this 
resolution. 

REQUEST E DB14-0014 TENTATIVE SUBDIVISION PLAT 
PFE 1. Applicant shall provide a minimum 6-foot Public Utility Easement on lot frontages to 

all public right-of-ways. An 8-foot PUE shall be provided along Collectors. A 10-ft 
PUE shall be provided along Minor and Major Arterials. 

PFE 2. Subdivision or Partition Plats: 
 
Paper copies of all proposed subdivision/partition plats shall be provided to the City 

Page 24 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 25 of 135 

for review.  Once the subdivision/partition plat is approved, applicant shall have the 
documents recorded at the appropriate County office.  Once recording is completed 
by the County, the applicant shall be required to provide the City with a 3 mil Mylar 
copy of the recorded subdivision/partition plat.  

PFE 3. Subdivision or Partition Plats: 
 
All newly created easements shown on a subdivision or partition plat shall also be 
accompanied by the City’s appropriate Easement document (on City approved forms) 
with accompanying survey exhibits that shall be recorded immediately after the 
subdivision or partition plat. 

PFE 4. Applicant shall provide a public sidewalk easement for those portions of the 10-ft 
sidewalk adjacent to Grahams Ferry Road that are not within the public right-of-way. 

 
Natural Resources Division Conditions: 
 
REQUEST D: DB14-0011 SAP-NORTH PDP 3, PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
& REQUEST G: DB14-0015 FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR PARKS AND OPEN 
SPACE 
Rainwater Management Plan: 
NRDG 1. The applicant shall submit a detailed operations and maintenance manual for the 

rainwater management components that has been reviewed and approved by city 
staff before 50% of the units are occupied in PDP 3, SAP North. 

NRDG 2. Pursuant to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards, access should be 
provided for the entire perimeter of the rainwater management components. At a 
minimum, at least one access shall be provided for maintenance and inspection. 

NRDG 3. All Rainwater Management Components and associated infrastructure located in 
public areas shall be designed to the Public Works Standards. Rainwater 
Management Components in private areas shall comply with the plumbing code. 

NRDG 4. Plantings in Rainwater Management Components located in public areas shall 
comply with the Public Works Standards. Plantings in Rainwater Management 
Components located in private areas shall comply with the Plant List in the 
Rainwater Management Program or Community Elements Plan. 

NRDG 5. The rainwater management components shall comply with the requirements of the 
Oregon DEQ UIC (Underground Injection Control) Program. 

Stormwater Management: 
NRDG 6. Provide profiles, plan views and specifications for the proposed water quality 

treatment facilities consistent with the requirements of the City of Wilsonville’s 
Public Works Standards. 

NRDG 7. Pursuant to the Public Works Standards, the applicant shall submit a maintenance 
plan (including the City’s stormwater maintenance covenant) for the proposed 
stormwater facilities, inclusive of the rainwater management components, prior to 
approval for occupancy of the associated development. 

NRDG 8. Pursuant to the City of Wilsonville’s Public Works Standards, access shall be 
provided to all areas of the proposed water quality treatment facilities. At a 
minimum, at least one access shall be provided for maintenance and inspection. 

Other: 

Page 25 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 26 of 135 

NRDG 9. The applicant shall comply with all applicable state and federal requirements for the 
proposed construction activities and proposed facilities (e.g. DEQ NPDES #1200–C 
permit). 

REQUEST H: SI14-0003 SRIR REVIEW 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone: 
NRH 1. All landscaping, including herbicides used to eradicate invasive plant species and 

existing vegetation, in the SROZ shall be reviewed and approved by the Natural 
Resources Program Manager. Native plants are required for landscaping in the 
SROZ. 

NRH 2. Prior to any site grading or ground disturbance, the applicant is required to delineate 
the boundary of the SROZ.  Six-foot (6’) tall cyclone fences with metal posts 
pounded into the ground at 6’-8’ centers shall be used to protect the significant 
natural resource area where development encroaches into the 25-foot Impact Area. 
 Protective fences shall be maintained in a full upright position.  

NRH 3. Pursuant to Section 4.139.04, the applicant shall demonstrate proposed exempt 
development (i.e., soft surface pedestrian trail and nature trail activity area) within 
the 25-foot Impact Area and the Significant Resource Overlay Zone has been 
designed to avoid, minimize and mitigate impact to the significant natural resources. 

NRH 4. Mitigation actions shall be implemented prior to or at the same time as the impact 
activity is conducted. 

NRH 5. Pursuant to Section 4.139.03 (.05) of the Wilsonville Code, the applicant is required 
to use habitat-friendly development practices (Table NR-2) to the extent practicable 
for any encroachment into the Significant Resource Overlay Zone and the 25-foot 
Impact Area. 

NRH 6. The Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) and mitigation area depicted on the 
SRIR mapping for the site shall be identified in a conservation easement. The 
applicant shall record the conservation easement with Clackamas Court Clerk’s 
office. The conservation easement shall include language prohibiting any 
disturbance of natural vegetation without first obtaining approval from the City 
Planning Division and the Natural Resources Program Manager. The conservation 
easement shall be reviewed by the City Attorney prior to recording. 

 
Building Division Conditions: 
 
ALL REQUESTS 
None 
 
Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue Conditions: 
 
ALL REQUESTS 
None 
 
  

Page 26 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 27 of 135 

MASTER EXHIBIT LIST: 
 
The following exhibits are hereby entered into the public record by the Development Review 
Board as confirmation of its consideration of the application as submitted. This is the exhibit list 
that includes exhibits for Planning Case Files DB14-0009 through DB14-0016. 
 
A1. Staff report and findings (this document) 
A2. Slides and notes for Staff’s Public Hearing Presentation (available at Public Hearing) 
B1. Applicant’s Notebook for SAP Amendment and SRIR Review: Under separate cover 
 Section I: General Information 
 IA) Introductory Narrative 
 IB) Form/Ownership Documentation 
 IC) Copy of Certification of Assessment & Liens 
 ID) Fee Calculation  
 IE) Mailing List This information has been revised 
 Section II: SAP Amendment 
 IIA) Supporting Compliance Report  
 IIB) Reduced Drawings  
 IIC) Utility & Drainage Report 
 IID) Traffic Analysis 
 IIE) Historic/Cultural Resource Inventory 
 IIF) Significant Resource Impact Report Addendum 
 IIG) Tree Report 
 IIH) Architectural Pattern Book for SAP North-No Changes 
 III) Community Elements Book for SPA North-No Changes 
 IIJ) Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan for SAP North-No Changes 
 IIK) Rainwater Management Book for SAP North-No Changes 
 IIL) Compliance with SAP North Conditions of Approval 
B2. Applicant’s SAP Large Format Plans (Smaller 11x17 plans included in Sections IIB of 

the applicant’s notebook Exhibit B1.) Under separate cover. 
 Sheet 1 Cover Sheet 
 Sheet 2 Phasing Plan 
 Sheet 3 Existing Conditions 
 Sheet 4 Aerial Photograph 
 Sheet 5 Land Use Key 
 Sheet 6 Land Use Plan 
 Sheet 7 Circulation Plan 
 Sheet 8 Street Sections 
 Sheet 9 Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan  
 Sheet 10 SROZ Plan 
 Sheet 11 Street Tree Plan  
 Sheet 12 Tree Preservation Plan 
 Sheet 13 Grading Plan 
 Sheet 14 Utility Plan 
B3. Applicant’s Notebook for PDP/Tentative Plat/Zone Change/Tree Removal Plan/Final 

Development Plan: Under separate cover 

Page 27 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 28 of 135 

 Section I: General Information 
 IA) Introductory Narrative 
 IB) Form/Ownership Documentation 
 IC) Fee Calculation  
 ID) Mailing List This information has been revised 
 Section II: Annexation 
 IIA) Supporting Compliance Report 
 IIB) Copy of Petition & Ownership/Elector Info 
 IIC) Legal Description & Sketch 
 Section III: Preliminary Development Plan 
 IIIA) Supporting Compliance Report  
 IIIB) Reduced Drawings 
 IIIC) Utility & Drainage Reports 
 IIID) Traffic Analysis 
 IIIE) Tree Report 
 IIIF) Conceptual House Elevations 
 IIIG) SRIR Addendum & Wetland Delineation Report 
 Section IV: Tentative Subdivision Plat  
 IVA) Supporting Compliance Report  
 IVB) Tentative Plat Revised: See Exhibit B6 
 IVC) Draft CC&R’s 
 IVD) Copy of Certification of Assessments and Liens 
 IVE) Subdivision Name Approval 
 Section V: Zone Change 
 VA) Supporting Compliance Report  
 VB) Zone Change Map 
 VC) Legal Description & Sketch 
 Section VI: Tree Removal Plan 
 VIA) Supporting Compliance Report  
 VIB) Tree Report 
 VIC) Tree Preservation Plan 
 Section VII: Final Development Plan 
 VIIA) Supporting Compliance Report  
 VIIB) Reduced Plans  
 VIIC) Sample Elevations of Mailbox Kiosks 
B4. Applicant’s Large Format Plans PDP/Tentative Plat/Tree Plan (Smaller 11x17 plans 

included in Sections IIIB and IVB of the applicant’s notebook Exhibit B3.) Under 
separate cover. 

 Sheet 1 Cover Sheet 
 Sheet 2 Existing Conditions 
 Sheet 3 Aerial Photograph 
 Sheet 4 Preliminary Plat Revised. See Exhibit B6. 
 Sheet 5 Grading Plan 
 Sheet 6 Composite Utility Plan 
 Sheet 7 Circulation Plan  

Page 28 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 29 of 135 

 Sheet 8 Site/Land Use Plan 
 Sheet 9 Typical Lot Pattern 
 Sheet 10 Tree Preservation Plan  
 Sheet 11 Street Tree/Lighting Plan Revised. See Exhibit B6 
 Sheet 12 SROZ Plan 
B5. Large Format Plans for Final Development Plan(Smaller 11x17 plans included in Section 

VIIB of the applicant’s notebook, Exhibit B1.) Under separate cover. 
 Sheet 1 Cover Sheet  
 Sheet L1.0 Landscape Plan 
 Sheet L2.0 Landscape Plan 
 Sheet L3.0 Landscape Plan 
 Sheet L4.0 Landscape Plan 
 Sheet L5.0 Landscape Details & Specifications 
B6. Revised Sheets Submitted April 29, 2014 
 Sheet 4 from Exhibit B4/Section IVB) of Exhibit B3 Preliminary/Tentative Plat 
 Sheet 11 from Exhibit B4 Street Tree Plan 
B7. Email correspondence regarding SHPO (State Historic Preservation Office) findings on 

Foundation and Well found on site 
C1. Comments and Conditions from Engineering Division 
C2. Comments, Findings, and Conditions from Natural Resources  
C3. Comments and Conditions from TVF&R 
C4. Comments from Public Works 
C5. Comments from NW Natural 
C6. Email from Steve Adams concerning changes to Engineering Conditions of Approval and 

Tax Lot 31W15 01591 
D1. Email from Tanya Stricker dated April 25, 2014 
 
FINDINGS OF FACT: 
 
1. The statutory 120-day time limit applies to this application. The application was received on 

January 31, 2014.  On February 28, 2014, staff conducted a completeness review within the 
statutorily allowed 30-day review period, and, on March 31, 2014, the Applicant submitted 
new materials.  On April 22, 2014 the application was deemed complete. The City must 
render a final decision for the request, including any appeals, by August 20, 2014 

. 
2. Surrounding land uses are as follows: 
 

Compass Direction Zone: Existing Use: 

North:  Clackamas 
County RRFF5 

Tooze Road/ Rural Residential 

East:  Clackamas Count
RRFF5 

Vacant 

South:  V Open Space 

West:  Clackamas 
County RRFF5 

Grahams Ferry Road/ Rural Residential 

 

Page 29 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 30 of 135 

3. Prior land use actions include: 
 

Legislative: 
02PC06 - Villebois Village Concept Plan 
02PC07A - Villebois Comprehensive Plan Text 
02PC07C - Villebois Comprehensive Plan Map 
02PC07B - Villebois Village Master Plan 
02PC08 - Village Zone Text 
04PC02 – Adopted Villebois Village Master Plan 
LP-2005-02-00006 – Revised Villebois Village Master Plan 
LP-2005-12-00012 – Revised Villebois Village Master Plan (Parks and Recreation) 
LP10-0001 – Amendment to Villebois Village Master Plan (School Relocation from SAP 
North to SAP East) 
LP13-0005 – Amendment to Villebois Village Master Plan (Future Study Area) 

 
Quasi Judicial: 
DB07-0054 et seq – SAP-North 
DB07-0087 et seq – PDP-1N, Arbor at Villebois 
DB11-0024 et seq – PDP-1N Modification, SAP North Amendment Polygon NW 
DB12-0066 et seq – PDP-1N Modification, SAP North Amendment Polygon NW 
DB13-0020 et seq – PDP-2N, SAP North Amendment Polygon NW 

 
4. The applicant has complied with Sections 4.013-4.031 of the Wilsonville Code, said sections 

pertaining to review procedures and submittal requirements. The required public notices have 
been sent and all proper notification procedures have been satisfied. 

 
  

Page 30 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 31 of 135 

CONCLUSIONARY FINDINGS:  
 
NOTE: Pursuant to Section 4.014 the burden of proving that the necessary findings of fact can be 
made for approval of any land use or development application rests with the applicant in the 
case. 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Section 4.008 Application Procedures-In General 
 
Review Criteria: This section lists general application procedures applicable to a number of types of land 
use applications and also lists unique features of Wilsonville’s development review process. 
Finding: These criteria are met.  
Explanation of Finding: The application is being processed in accordance with the applicable 
general procedures of this Section. 
 
Section 4.009 Who May Initiate Application 
 
Review Criterion: “Except for a Specific Area Plan (SAP), applications involving specific sites may be 
filed only by the owner of the subject property, by a unit of government that is in the process of acquiring 
the property, or by an agent who has been authorized by the owner, in writing, to apply.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applications have been submitted on behalf of contract purchaser 
Polygon Homes, and is signed by the property owners, Wayne Rembold of Villebois LLC (TL’s 
1200 and 1205) and both Charles and Carolyn Taber (TL 1202). 
 
Subsection 4.010 (.02) Pre-Application Conference 
 
Review Criteria: This section lists the pre-application process 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A pre-application conference was held on November 21, 2013 in 
accordance with this subsection. 
 
Subsection 4.011 (.02) B. Lien Payment before Application Approval 
 
Review Criterion: “City Council Resolution No. 796 precludes the approval of any development 
application without the prior payment of all applicable City liens for the subject property. Applicants shall 
be encouraged to contact the City Finance Department to verify that there are no outstanding liens. If the 
Planning Director is advised of outstanding liens while an application is under consideration, the Director 
shall advise the applicant that payments must be made current or the existence of liens will necessitate 
denial of the application.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No applicable liens exist for the subject property. The application can 
thus move forward.  
 
Subsection 4.035 (.04) A. General Site Development Permit Submission Requirements 
 
Review Criteria: “An application for a Site Development Permit shall consist of the materials specified 
as follows, plus any other materials required by this Code.” Listed 1. through 6. j. 

Page 31 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 32 of 135 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant has provided all of the applicable general submission 
requirements contained in this subsection. 
 
Section 4.110 Zoning-Generally 
 
Review Criteria: “The use of any building or premises or the construction of any development shall be in 
conformity with the regulations set forth in this Code for each Zoning District in which it is located, 
except as provided in Sections 4.189 through 4.192.” “The General Regulations listed in Sections 4.150 
through 4.199 shall apply to all zones unless the text indicates otherwise.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: This proposed development is in conformity with the Village zoning 
district and general development regulations listed in Sections 4.150 through 4.199 have been 
applied in accordance with this Section. 

Page 32 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 33 of 135 

REQUEST A: DB14-0009ANNEXATION 
 
The applicant’s findings in Section IIA of their PDP notebook, Exhibit B3, respond to the 
majority of the applicable criteria.   
 
Comprehensive Plan 
 
Annexation and Boundary Changes 
 
Implementation Measure 2.2.1.a. 
 
A1. Review Criteria: “Allow annexation when it is consistent with future planned public services and 

when a need is clearly demonstrated for immediate urban growth.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As further explained by the applicant on page 2 of their narrative 
and supporting compliance report for their petition for annexation (Section IIA of Exhibit 
B3) the required consistency is fulfilled by being consistent with the Villebois Village 
Master Plan. 

 
Implementation Measure 2.2.1.e. 
 
A2. Review Criteria: “Changes in the City boundary will require adherence to the annexation 

procedures prescribed by State law and Metro standards.   Amendments to the City limits shall be 
based on consideration of:” Listed 1 through 5. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As further explained by the applicant on page 3 of their narrative 
and supporting compliance report for their petition for annexation (Section IIA of Exhibit 
B3) the requirements are fulfilled by being consistent with the Villebois Village Master 
Plan or by compliance with state and regional policies as found elsewhere the findings 
supporting this request. 

 
Compact Urban Development Implementation Measures 
 
Implementation Measure 4.1.6.a. and c. 
 
A3. Review Criteria: “Development in the “Residential-Village” Map area shall be directed by the 

Villebois Village Concept Plan (depicting the general character of proposed land uses, 
transportation, natural resources, public facilities, and infrastructure strategies), and subject to 
relevant Policies and Implementation Measures in the Comprehensive Plan; and implemented in 
accordance with the Villebois Village Master Plan, the “Village” Zone District, and any other 
provisions of the Wilsonville Planning and Land Development Ordinance that may be applicable.” 
 
“The “Village” Zone District shall be applied in all areas that carry the Residential – Village Plan 
Map Designation.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The subject site is included in the “Residential-Village” 
Comprehensive Plan Map Designation (Area B). This Implementation Measure establishes 
precedence for the “Village” Zone to be applied to the subject property area. An 
application for a Zone Map Amendment to apply the V Zone to the site has been included 

Page 33 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 34 of 135 

with a concurrent Preliminary Development Plan application for Phase 3 of SAP North. 
The site must be brought into City limits before the V zone can be applied. 

 
Development Code 
 
Subsections 4.030 (.01) A. 11, 4.031 (.01) K, and 4.033 (.01) F. Authority to Review 
Annexation 
 
A4. Review Criteria: These subsections prescribe the authority of the Planning Director to determine 

whether an annexation request is legislative or quasi-judicial, the DRB does the initial review of 
quasi-judicial annexation, and the City Council takes final local action of quasi-judicial annexation. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The subject annexation request has been determined to be quasi-
judicial and is being reviewed by the DRB and City Council consistent with these 
subsections. 
 

Section 4.700 Annexation 
 
A5. Review Criteria: This section defines the criteria and process for annexation review within the 

City. The full text of the criteria is on pages 5-6 of the applicant’s narrative and supporting 
compliance report for their petition for annexation (Section IIA of Exhibit B3). 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As further explained by the applicant on page 6 of their narrative 
and supporting compliance report for their petition for annexation (Section IIA of Exhibit 
B3) the request is within the UGB, contiguous with current City boundaries, and is in 
compliance with state, regional, and local policies as found elsewhere the findings 
supporting this request. 

 
Metro Code 
 
Chapter 3.09 Local Government Boundary Changes 
 
A6. Review Criteria: This chapter establishes hearing, notice, and decision requirements as well as 

review criteria for local government boundary changes in the Metro region. The full text of the 
criteria is on pages 7-10 of the applicant’s narrative and supporting compliance report for their 
petition for annexation (Section IIA of Exhibit B3). 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As further explained by the applicant on pages 7-10 of their 
narrative and supporting compliance report for their petition for annexation (Section IIA of 
Exhibit B3) the request is within the UGB, meets the definition of a minor boundary 
change, satisfies the requirements for boundary change petitions, is consistent with the 
Comprehensive Plan, Villebois Village Concept Plan, and Villebois Village Master Plan. 

 
  

Page 34 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 35 of 135 

Oregon Revised Statutes 
 
ORS 222.111 Authority and Procedure for Annexation 
 
A7. Review Criteria: ORS 222.111 establishes the authority and procedures for annexation by City’s 

within the state of Oregon. The full text of the criteria is on pages 10-11 of the applicant’s narrative 
and supporting compliance report for their petition for annexation (Section IIA of Exhibit B3).  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As further explained by the applicant on pages 10-11of their 
narrative and supporting compliance report for their petition for annexation (Section IIA of 
Exhibit B3) the applicable requirements in state statute are met including the facts that 
subject property is within the UGB, is contiguous to the City, the request has been initiated 
by the property owners of the land being annexed, and all property owners and 100% of 
electors within the annexed area have provided their consent in writing.  

 
ORS 222.120 Procedure Without Election by City Electors 
 
A8. Review Criteria: ORS 222.111 establishes the authority and procedures for annexation by City’s 

within the state of Oregon. The full text of the criteria is on pages 11-12 of the applicant’s narrative 
and supporting compliance report for their petition for annexation (Section IIA of Exhibit B3).  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As further explained by the applicant on pages 13 of their 
narrative and supporting compliance report for their petition for annexation (Section IIA of 
Exhibit B3) there is no City charter requirement for election for annexation, a public 
hearing process is being followed as defined in the Development Code, and the applicable 
requirements in state statute are met including the facts that all property owners and 100% 
of electors within the annexed area have provided their consent in writing.  
 

ORS 222.125 Annexation by Consent of All Owners of Land and Majority of Electors 
 
A9. Review Criteria: “The legislative body of a city need not call or hold an election in the city or in 

any contiguous territory proposed to be annexed or hold the hearing otherwise required under ORS 
222.120 (Procedure without election by city electors) when all of the owners of land in that 
territory and not less than 50 percent of the electors, if any, residing in the territory consent in 
writing to the annexation of the land in the territory and file a statement of their consent with the 
legislative body. Upon receiving written consent to annexation by owners and electors under this 
section, the legislative body of the city, by resolution or ordinance, may set the final boundaries of 
the area to be annexed by a legal description and proclaim the annexation.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All property owners and 100% of electors within the annexed 
area have provided their consent in writing. However, a public hearing process is being 
followed as prescribed in the City’s Development Code concurrent with a Zone Map 
Amendment request and other quasi-judicial land use applications. 

 
  

Page 35 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 36 of 135 

Oregon Statewide Planning Goals 
 
Goals 1, 2, 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13 
 
A10. Review Criteria: The goals include: citizen involvement, land use planning, natural resources and 

open spaces, air water and land resource quality, recreational needs, economic development, 
housing, public facilities and services, transportation, and energy conservation. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The area requested to be annexed will be developed consistent 
with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and the Villebois Village Master Plan, both which 
have been found to meet the statewide planning goals. The applicant has provided 
additional findings related to statewide planning goals on pages 13-14 of their narrative 
and supporting compliance report for their petition for annexation (Section IIA of Exhibit 
B3). 

  

Page 36 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 37 of 135 

REQUEST B: DB14-0010 ZONE MAP AMENDMENT  
 
The applicant’s findings in Section IVA of their PDP notebook, Exhibit B3, respond to the 
majority of the applicable criteria.   
 
Comprehensive Plan 
 
Compact Urban Development-Implementation Measures 
 
Implementation Measure 4.1.6.a 
 
B1. Review Criteria: “Development in the “Residential-Village” Map area shall be directed by the 

Villebois Village Concept Plan (depicting the general character of proposed land uses, 
transportation, natural resources, public facilities, and infrastructure strategies), and subject to 
relevant Policies and Implementation Measures in the Comprehensive Plan; and implemented in 
accordance with the Villebois Village Master Plan, the “Village” Zone District, and any other 
provisions of the Wilsonville Planning and Land Development Ordinance that may be applicable.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Development in this area is being guided by all the listed plans 
and codes.   

 
Implementation Measure 4.1.6.b. 
 
B2. Review Criteria: This implementation measure identifies the elements the Villebois Village 

Master Plan must contain. 
Finding: These criteria are not applicable 
Explanation of Finding: The concurrent proposal for a preliminary development plan 
implements the procedures as outlined by the Villebois Village Master Plan, as previously 
approved.   

 
Implementation Measure 4.1.6.c. 
 
B3. Review Criterion: “The “Village” Zone District shall be applied in all areas that carry the 

Residential-Village Plan Map Designation.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Village Zone zoning district is being applied to an area 
designated as Residential-Village in the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
Implementation Measure 4.1.6.d. 
 
B4. Review Criterion: “The “Village” Zone District shall allow a wide range of uses that befit and 

support an “urban village,” including conversion of existing structures in the core area to provide 
flexibility for changing needs of service, institutional, governmental and employment uses.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The area covered by the proposed zone change is proposed for 
residential uses, and parks and open space as shown in the Villebois Village Master Plan. 

 
  

Page 37 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 38 of 135 

Planning and Land Development Ordinance 
 
Section 4.029 Zoning to be Consistent with Comprehensive Plan 
 
B5. Review Criterion: “If a development, other than a short-term temporary use, is proposed on a 

parcel or lot which is not zoned in accordance with the Comprehensive Plan, the applicant must 
receive approval of a zone change prior to, or concurrently with the approval of an application for a 
Planned Development.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant is applying for a zone change concurrently with a 
Preliminary Development Plan, which is equivalent to a Stage II Final Plan for a planned 
development. 

 
Subsection 4.110 (.01) Base Zones 
 
B6. Review Criterion: This subsection identifies the base zones established for the City, including the 

Village Zone. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The requested zoning designation of Village “V” is among the 
base zones identified in this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.01) Village Zone Purpose 
 
B7. Review Criteria: “The Village (V) zone is applied to lands within the Residential Village 

Comprehensive Plan Map designation. The Village zone is the principal implementing tool for the 
Residential Village Comprehensive Plan designation. It is applied in accordance with the Villebois 
Village Master Plan and the Residential Village Comprehensive Plan Map designation as described 
in the Comprehensive Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The subject lands are designated Residential-Village on the 
Comprehensive Plan map and are within the Villebois Village Master Plan area and the 
zoning designation thus being applied is the Village “V”. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.02) Village Zone Permitted Uses 
 
B8. Review Criteria: This subsection lists the uses permitted in the Village Zone.   

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed residential and park and open space uses are 
consistent with the Village Zone designation and Villebois Village Master Plan. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) B. 2. Zone Change Concurrent with PDP Approval 
 
B9. Review Criterion: “… Application for a zone change shall be made concurrently with an 

application for PDP approval…” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A zone map amendment is being requested concurrently with a 
request for PDP approval. See Request D. 

 
  

Page 38 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 39 of 135 

Subsection 4.197 (.02) Zone Change Review 
 
Subsection 4.197 (.02) A. Zone Change Procedures 
 
B10. Review Criteria: “That the application before the Commission or Board was submitted in 

accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 4.008, Section 4.125(.18)(B)(2), or, in the case 
of a Planned Development, Section 4.140;” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The request for a zone map amendment has been submitted as 
set forth in the applicable code sections. 

 
Subsection 4.197 (.02) B. Zone Change: Conformance with Comprehensive Plan Map, etc. 
 
B11. Review Criteria: “That the proposed amendment is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan map 

designation and substantially complies with the applicable goals, policies and objectives, set forth 
in the Comprehensive Plan text;” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed zone map amendment is consistent with the 
Comprehensive Map designation of Residential-Village and as shown in Findings B1 
through B4 comply with applicable Comprehensive Plan text. 

 
Subsection 4.197 (.02) C. Zone Change: Specific Findings Regarding Residential Designated 

Lands 
 
B12. Review Criteria: “In the event that the subject property, or any portion thereof, is designated as 

“Residential” on the City’s Comprehensive Plan Map; specific findings shall be made addressing 
substantial compliance with Implementation Measure 4.1.4.b, d, e, q, and x of Wilsonville’s 
Comprehensive Plan text;” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Implementation Measure 4.1.6.c. states the “Village” Zone 
District shall be applied in all areas that carry the Residential-Village Plan Map 
Designation. Since the Village Zone must be applied to areas designated “Residential 
Village” on the Comprehensive Plan Map and is the only zone that may be applied to these 
areas, its application is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
Subsection 4.197 (.02) D. Zone Change: Public Facility Concurrency  
 
B13. Review Criteria: “That the existing primary public facilities, i.e., roads and sidewalks, water, 

sewer and storm sewer are available and are of adequate size to serve the proposed development; 
or, that adequate facilities can be provided in conjunction with project development. The Planning 
Commission and Development Review Board shall utilize any and all means to insure that all 
primary facilities are available and are adequately sized.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Preliminary Development Plan compliance report and the 
plan sheets demonstrate that the existing primary public facilities are available or can be 
provided in conjunction with the project.  Section IIIC of the applicant’s notebook, Exhibit 
B3, includes supporting utility and drainage reports. In addition, the applicant has provided 
a Traffic Impact Analysis, which is in Section IIID of the applicant’s notebook, Exhibit 
B3. 

Page 39 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 40 of 135 

 
Subsection 4.197 (.02) E. Zone Change: Impact on SROZ Areas 
 
B14. Review Criteria: “That the proposed development does not have a significant adverse effect upon 

Significant Resource Overlay Zone areas, an identified natural hazard, or an identified geologic 
hazard.  When Significant Resource Overlay Zone areas or natural hazard, and/ or geologic hazard 
are located on or about the proposed development, the Planning Commission or Development 
Review Board shall use appropriate measures to mitigate and significantly reduce conflicts 
between the development and identified hazard or Significant Resource Overlay Zone;” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: There is a small amount of SROZ on the southern edge of the 
property being rezoned. Request H is a Significant Resource Impact Report, which has 
found no significant adverse effect on the SROZ area. 

 
Subsection 4.197 (.02) F. Zone Change: Development within 2 Years 
 
B15. Review Criterion: “That the applicant is committed to a development schedule demonstrating that 

the development of the property is reasonably expected to commence within two (2) years of the 
initial approval of the zone change.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Related land use approvals for PDP 3 North expire after 2 years, 
so requesting the land use approvals assumes development would commence within two 
(2) years. However, in the scenario where the applicant or their successors due not 
commence development within two (2) years allowing related land use approvals to expire, 
the zone change shall remain in effect. 

 
Subsection 4.197 (.02) G. Zone Change: Development Standards and Conditions of Approval 
 
B16. Review Criteria: “That the proposed development and use(s) can be developed in compliance with 

the applicable development standards or appropriate conditions are attached to insure that the 
project development substantially conforms to the applicable development standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As can be found in the findings for the accompanying requests, 
the applicable development standards will be met either as proposed or as a condition of 
approval. 

  

Page 40 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 41 of 135 

REQUEST C: DB14-0013 SAP-NORTH AMENDMENT 
 
The applicant’s findings in Section IIA of their notebook, Exhibit B1, respond to the 
majority of the applicable criteria. 
 
Wilsonville Comprehensive Plan 
 
Implementation Measure 4.1.6.a. Development in the “Residential-Village” Map Area 
 
C1. Review Criteria: “Development in the “Residential-Village” Map area shall be directed by 

the Villebois Village Concept Plan (depicting the general character of proposed land uses, 
transportation, natural resources, public facilities, and infrastructure strategies), and subject 
to relevant Policies and Implementation Measures in the Comprehensive Plan; and 
implemented in accordance with the Villebois Village Master Plan, the “Village” Zone 
District, and any other provisions of the Wilsonville Planning and Land Development 
Ordinance that may be applicable.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As found in this report, development is being proposed 
consistent with the Villebois Village Master Plan and the “Village” Zone District. See 
Findings C3 through C69. 

 
Implementation Measure 4.1.6.c. Application of the “Village” Zone District 
 
C2. Review Criteria: “The “Village” Zone District shall be applied in all areas that carry the 

Residential-Village Plan Map Designation.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The “Village” Zone is proposed to be applied. See Request B. 

 
Villebois Village Master Plan 
 
General- Land Use Plan 
 
Goal: Villebois Village shall be a complete community that integrates land use, transportation, 
and natural resource elements to foster a unique sense of place and cohesiveness. 
 
General-Land Use Plan Policy 1 Range of Choices 
 
C3. Review Criteria: “The Villebois Village shall be a complete community with a wide range of 

living choices, transportation choices, and working and shopping choices.  Housing shall be 
provided in a mix of types and densities resulting in a minimum of 2,300 dwelling units within the 
Villebois Village Master Plan area.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed SAP amendment continues the provision of a mix 
of types and densities resulting in a minimum of 2,300 dwelling units within the Villebois 
area. The proposed SAP amendment also facilitates mode choice in transportation with 
facilities for bicycles and pedestrians in addition to vehicles. Commercial areas continue to 
be concentrated around the Village Center. 

 

Page 41 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 42 of 135 

General-Land Use Plan Policy 2 Compliance with Figure 1 – Land Use Plan 
 
C4. Review Criteria: “Future development applications within the Villebois Village area shall provide 

land uses and other major components of the Plan such as roadways and parks and open space in 
general compliance with their configuration as illustrated on Figure 1 – Land Use Plan or as 
refined by Specific Area Plans.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed SAP Amendment further defines the residential 
uses in the subject area and other components are in the general configuration shown in the 
Master Plan. As can be seen on Sheet 6 Land Use Plan of the applicant’s submitted plan 
set, Exhibit B2, the residential uses include large, standard, medium, and small detached 
single-family. They are arranged as a similar pattern as other areas in Villebois with large 
lots on the edges with a mix of lot sizes on the interior of the site. See Findings C119 
through C124 regarding Master Plan land use mix and density refinements as part of the 
SAP Amendment request. 

 
General-Land Use Plan Policy 3 Civic, Recreational, Educational, and Open Space 
Opportunities 
 
C5. Review Criteria: “The Villebois Village shall provide civic, recreational, educational and open 

space opportunities.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed SAP Amendment shows recreational opportunities 
shown in the Master Plan for the subject area.  

 
General-Land Use Plan Policy 4 Full Public Services 
 
C6. Review Criteria: “The Villebois Village shall have full public services including: transportation; 

rainwater management; water; sanitary sewer; fire and police services; recreation, parks and open 
spaces; education; and transit.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All the listed public services are proposed to be provided 
consistent with the Master Plan. 

 
General-Land Use Plan Policy 5 Development Guided by Finance Plan and CIP 
 
C7. Review Criteria: “Development of Villebois shall be guided by a Finance Plan and the City’s 

Capital Improvement Plan, ensuring that the availability of services and development occur in 
accordance with the City’s concurrency requirements (see Implementation Measure 4, below).” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All city requirements for concurrency and Development 
Agreements remain in effect and will be applied, including concurrency requirements with 
the PDP approval. See Request D. 

 
General-Land Use Plan Implementation Measure 1 Unique Planning and Regulatory Tools 
 
C8. Review Criteria: “Allow for unique planning and regulatory tools that are needed to realize the 

Villebois Village Master Plan. These tools shall include, but are not limited to: Specific Area Plans; 
Pattern Books; and Community Elements Books.” 

Page 42 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 43 of 135 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All the listed tools previously approved for SAP North are being 
utilized for the subject area. 

 
General-Land Use Plan Implementation Measure 3 Master Plan Refinements 
 
C9. Review Criteria: “Refinements to the Villebois Village Master Plan are anticipated as more 

detailed plans are developed for the Specific Area Plans.  Specific Area Plans may propose 
refinements to the Villebois Village Master Plan without requiring an amendment to the Villebois 
Village Master Plan provided the refinement is not significant.  Non-significant refinements shall 
be defined in the Village ("V") Zone text and may include, but are not limited to:  minor alterations 
to street alignments or minor changes in area or uses.  Disagreement about whether a refinement is 
significant shall be resolved by a process provided in the Village ("V") Zone text.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Refinements are proposed consistent with this allowance.  

 
General-Land Use Plan Implementation Measure 4 Coordinating Finance Plan and 
Development Agreements 
 
C10. Review Criteria: “The Master Planner shall coordinate with the City on the development of a 

Finance Plan for necessary urban services and public infrastructure. Each developer within 
Villebois Village will sign their own Development Agreement that will address the necessary urban 
services and public infrastructure as appropriate.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All city requirements for concurrency and Development 
Agreements remain in effect and will be applied, including concurrency requirements with 
the PDP approval. See Request D. 

 
Residential Neighborhood Housing 
 
Goal: The Villebois Village shall provide neighborhoods consisting of a mix of homes for sale, 
apartments for rent, row homes, and single-family homes on a variety of lot sizes, as well as 
providing housing for individuals with special needs.  The Villebois Village shall provide 
housing choices for people of a wide range of economic levels and stages of life through 
diversity in product type. 
 
Residential Neighborhood Housing Policy 1 Variety of Housing Options 
 
C11. Review Criteria: “Each of the Villebois Village’s neighborhoods shall include a wide variety of 

housing options and shall provide home ownership options ranging from affordable housing to 
estate lots.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed mix of housing for the subject area is provided 
consistent with the Villebois Village Master Plan and allowed refinements. 

 
Residential Neighborhood Housing Policy 2 Affordable Rental and Ownership Opportunities 
 
C12. Review Criteria: “Affordable housing within Villebois shall include rental and home ownership 

opportunities.” 

Page 43 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 44 of 135 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Affordable rental and home ownership opportunities at the level 
shown in the adopted Master Plan remain.  
 

Residential Neighborhood Housing Policy 3 Average Density Requirement 
 
C13. Review Criteria: “The mix of housing shall be such that the Village development provides an 

overall average density of at least 10 dwelling units per net residential acre.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed development helps maintain an overall average 
density in Villebois of more than 10 dwellings units per net residential acre with the type 
of residential development shown in Figure 1 of the Villebois Village Master Plan. 

 
Residential Neighborhood Housing Policy 4 Minimum Total Dwelling Units 
 
C14. Review Criteria: “The Villebois Village shall accommodate a total of at least 2,300 dwelling units 

within the boundary of the Villebois Village Master Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: This dwelling unit minimum for Villebois continues to be 
exceeded. 

 
Residential Neighborhood Housing Policy 5 Mix of Housing Types in Neighborhoods 
 
C15. Review Criteria: “The Villebois Village shall provide a mix of housing types within each 

neighborhood and on each street to the greatest extent practicable.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A variety of housing types are proposed in the subject area 
consistent with Figure 1 of the Villebois Village Master Plan and allowed refinements. 

 
Residential Neighborhood Housing Policy 6 Community Housing Requirements 
 
C16. Review Criteria: “The Villebois Village shall include community housing types consistent with 

Oregon Revised Statute 426.508(4), which requires that no more than 10 acres be retained from the 
sale of the former Dammasch State Hospital property for development of community housing for 
chronically mentally ill persons.  The City of Wilsonville, the Oregon Department of 
Administrative Services, and the Mental Health and Developmental Disability Services Division 
shall jointly coordinate the identification of the acreage to be retained.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: None of the designated 10 acres are within the subject area. 

 
Residential Neighborhood Housing Policy 7 Governor’s Quality Development Objectives and 
Governor’s Livability Initiative 
 
C17. Review Criteria: “The development standards and Specific Area Plans required by the Village 

zone shall be consistent with the Governor’s Quality Development Objectives and the Governor’s 
Livability Initiative.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As further explained by the applicant on page 6 of their 
supporting compliance report for amendment to Specific Area Plan-North (Section IIA of 

Page 44 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 45 of 135 

Exhibit B1) the Specific Area Plan is consistent with the objectives and initiative 
referenced in this subsection. 

 
Residential Neighborhood Housing Policy 8 Increasing Transportation Options 
 
C18. Review Criteria: “Each neighborhood shall be designed to increase transportation options. 

Neighborhoods shall be bike and pedestrian friendly.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed SAP amendment continues to show paths, bike 
facilities, block lengths, etc. consistent with the Master Plan to be pedestrian friendly and 
increase transportation options.  

 
Residential Neighborhood Housing Policy 10 Incorporating Natural Features 
 
C19. Review Criteria: “Natural features shall be incorporated into the design of each neighborhood to 

maximize their aesthetic character while minimizing impacts to said natural features.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Wetlands and forested areas are incorporated into the design of 
SAP North. 

 
Residential Neighborhood Housing Implementation Measure 1 Compact, Pedestrian Oriented 
Character 
 
C20. Review Criteria: “Ensure, through the development standards and Pattern Book(s) required by the 

Village zone, that the design and scale of dwellings are compatible with the compact, pedestrian-
oriented character of the concepts contained in the Villebois Village Concept Plan and the contents 
of this Villebois Village Master Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Development standards and a Pattern Book for SAP North have 
been adopted to ensure the required design and scale of dwellings. 

 
Residential Neighborhood Housing Implementation Measure 2 Pattern Books 
 
C21. Review Criteria: “Create a set of design guidelines for the development of Pattern Books with the 

Village zone requirements. Pattern Books shall address, at a minimum, architectural styles and 
elements, scale and proportions, and land use patterns with lot diagrams.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Architectural Pattern Book for the entirety of SAP North has 
previously been approved. 

 
Chapter 3 Parks & Open Space/Off-Street Trails & Pathways 
 
Goal The Parks system within Villebois Village shall create a range of experiences for its 
residents and visitors through an interconnected network of pathways, parks, trails, open 
space and other public spaces that protect and enhance the site’s natural resources and 
connect Villebois to the larger regional park/open space system. 
 
  

Page 45 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 46 of 135 

Parks and Open Spaces Policy 1 Incorporating Existing Trees, Planting Shade Trees 
 
C22. Review Criteria: “Parks and open space areas shall incorporate existing trees where feasible and 

large shade trees shall be planted in appropriate locations in parks and open spaces.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Existing trees have been inventoried for Phase 3 North, are being 
incorporated where feasible, and planted where appropriate. See Request F, Type C Tree 
Plan, and Request G, Final Development Plan for Parks and Open Space. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Policy 2 Interconnected Trail System 
 
C23. Review Criteria: “An interconnected trail system shall be created linking the park and open spaces 

and key destination points within Villebois and to the surrounding neighborhoods.  The trails 
system shall also provide loops of varying length to accommodate various activities such as 
walking, running and rollerblading.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A trail system continues to be provided consistent with the 
Villebois Village Master Plan. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Policy 3 Variety of Facilities and Activities 
 
C24. Review Criteria: “Parks shall encourage the juxtaposition of various age-oriented facilities and 

activities, while maintaining adequate areas of calm.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: SAP North provides a variety of age-oriented facilities, ranging 
from child play structures to more active, hard surface sport courts. Opportunities for quiet 
reflection and passive interaction are provided within the forested area of OS-2. SAP North 
provides numerous other age-oriented facilities, passive and active activities, and areas of 
calm, as depicted on the Parks/Open Space/Pathways Plan, Sheet 9 of Exhibit B2. This 
SAP Amendment adds both active and passive recreational opportunities within Phase 3. 
The pocket park in the northwest site corner will provide a child play structure, 
pedestrian/bicycle connection to the intersection of Grahams Ferry Road and Tooze Road, 
and a lawn area. Preservation of the treed wetland in the southwest site corner and the 
adjacent pedestrian connection will provide an opportunity for quiet reflection and passive 
recreational use. Therefore, the planned park and open space areas provide activities for a 
range of ages and activity levels. 
 

Parks and Open Spaces Policy 4 Wildlife Habitat 
 
C25. Review Criteria: “Park designs shall encourage opportunities for wildlife habitat, such as 

plantings for wildlife foraging and/or habitat, bird and/or bat boxes and other like elements.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: SAP North encourages opportunities for wildlife habitat by 
minimizing impacts to natural resources and incorporating forested and wetland areas into 
the site design. Nature trails, benches, and nature trail activity areas within OS-2 will be 
established in ways that preserve opportunities for wildlife habitat. Additionally, with the 
proposed amendment, the existing treed wetland in the southwestern site corner of Phase 3 

Page 46 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 47 of 135 

is retained in an open space tract. Landscaping and a bioretention cell are planned within 
this open space area to minimize wetland impacts. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Policy 5 Power of Ten 
 
C26. Review Criteria: “Gathering spaces in parks shall generate social interaction by adding layers of 

activity (Power of Ten).” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: SAP North includes a range of passive and active activities and 
facilities within gathering spaces of parks and open spaces, as depicted on the Parks/Open 
Space/Pathways Plan, Sheet 9 of Exhibit B2. 
 
Improvements within Open Space 2 (OS-2) will occur in conjunction with PDP 3N. Note 
that previous development agreements identified the OS-2 improvements as an obligation 
of the subject property (PDP 3N). Improvements provided with PDP 3N include a creative 
child play area on the north side of OS-2, which includes nature play features. The creative 
child play area is located along a nature trail that is part of a larger nature trail system 
within OS-2. This nature trail system connects to residential areas along the north, south, 
and east sides of OS-2, to Regional Park 4 to the east, and to the Tonquin trail that 
continues to the south and northeast of OS-2.  
 
Additionally, Phase 3 of SAP North includes a pocket park in the northwestern site corner, 
which provides an active child play structure, lawn area for active or passive use, and a 
minor pathway for pedestrians and bicycles. Fencing of a more transparent style will be 
provided along Grahams Ferry Road and Tooze Road in order to enhance the visibility of 
the park space and increase the perception of accessibility to and from the park with the 
intersection and residential neighborhood. Furthermore, a large shade tree within the 
pocket park will provide visual interest for the neighborhood and traveling public, a greater 
sense of green space, as well as protection from the sun. In addition, a sidewalk with 
combined pedestrian/bicycle access is provided along park frontage on Grahams Ferry 
Road and Tooze Road, which will encourage pedestrian and bicycle activity to and through 
the pocket park.  
 
Finally, Phase 3 includes an open space tract in the southwestern site corner that preserves 
a treed wetland. A pedestrian/bicycle connection is provided from SW Oslo Street to SW 
Palermo Street adjacent to the wetland, allowing for passive recreational use of the open 
space. Furthermore, adjacent residential lots will front onto the open space area, which 
creates the potential for residents to congregate in front yards and encourages social space 
next to the path and wetland.   

 
Parks and Open Spaces Policy 6 Compliance with SROZ Regulations 
 
C27. Review Criteria: “Build-out of the Villebois Village Master Plan shall comply with the City of 

Wilsonville SROZ regulations.  Any encroachment into the SROZ will be reviewed for compliance 
or exemption as more detailed information is provided that will affect the SROZ areas.  
Adjustments in plan, street alignments, and intersections as well as rainwater facilities and 
pathways shall be made to comply with SROZ regulations.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 47 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 48 of 135 

Explanation of Finding: SROZ regulations are being reviewed, see Request H. 
 
Parks and Open Spaces Policy 9 Parks Flexibility Over Time 
 
C28. Review Criteria: “Parks and recreation spaces shall provide for flexibility over time to allow for 

adaptation to the future community’s park, recreation and open space needs.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No park programming is such as to preclude future flexibility. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Policy 11 Parking along Park Frontages 
 
C29. Review Criteria: “On-street parking will not be allowed along the frontages of parks and open 

spaces where views into and out of the park spaces should be protected.  Parking will be allowed 
along parks and open spaces in circumstances where it is necessary for the function of the park and 
will not obstruct the views into and out of the park area.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: On-street parking along parks is not proposed, consistent with 
this Policy. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Implementation Measure 1 Compliance with Parks Figures 
 
C30. Review Criteria: “Future and pending development applications within Villebois (Specific Area 

Plans, Preliminary Development Plans and Final Development Plans) shall comply with the park, 
trail, open space system proposed in Figure 5 – Parks and Open Space Plan, Figure 5A – 
Recreational Experiences Plan, and Table 1: Parks Programming.  Refinements may be approved in 
accordance with Village Zone section 4.125(.18)(F).” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As shown on Sheet 9, Parks/Open Space/Pathways Plan, of the 
applicant’s SAP Plan Set, Exhibit B2, Parks in SAP North continue to be shown consistent 
with the Master Plan or as refined through subsequent applications. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Implementation Measure 3 Native Vegetation, Landforms, and 
Hydrology 
 
C31. Review Criteria: “Parks and open spaces shall be designed to incorporate native vegetation, 

landforms and hydrology to the fullest extent possible.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As shown on the Park/Trail/Open Space Plan , Sheet 9 of Exhibit 
B2 parks and open space areas including the wetland in open space at the southwest corner 
of Phase 3 North. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Implementation Measure 4 Community Elements Book 
 
C32. Review Criteria: “Each Specific Area Plan shall include a Community Elements Book that (1) 

meets the requirements of Master Plan Chapter 3; (2) specifies the value system and methodology 
for tree preservation, protection and tree planting; and (3) provides a proposed plant list.  The 
Community Elements Book also includes specifications for site furnishings and play structures.  
Proposed parks shall closely comply with the specifications of the applicable Community Elements 
Book.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 48 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 49 of 135 

Explanation of Finding: A Community Elements Book has previously been adopted for 
the entirety of SAP North. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Implementation Measure 5 Artwork is Encouraged 
 
C33. Review Criteria: “Artwork is encouraged to be incorporated into parks.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Space has been reserved for placement of artwork in parks closer 
to the Village Center and within neighborhood and community gathering spaces. While no 
park artwork is currently proposed in SAP North the design of parks would allow 
appropriate artwork if desired in the future. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Implementation Measure 7 Year Round Recreation 
 
C34. Review Criteria: “The ability to recreate year round shall be preserved through measures such as: 

the provision of some hard surfaces that function in the wet season; areas shaded from the sun; 
areas protected from the rain; safely lit areas and indoor recreation opportunities.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Specific Area Plan North includes a variety of year-round 
recreation and open space opportunities, including multi-use trails, hard surface sports 
areas, and play and park structures. The Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan, Sheet 9 of 
Exhibit B2, illustrates how Phase 3 will contribute additional parks and open space areas 
that contribute to the ability to recreate year round.  Through the preservation of existing 
trees within parks and open space areas, shade from the sun and rain is provided adjacent 
to the retained wetland and within OS-2. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Implementation Measure 9 Tree Retention 
 
C35. Review Criteria: “The design of Villebois shall retain the maximum number of existing trees 

practicable that are six inches or more DBH in the “Important” and “Good” tree rating categories, 
which are defined in the Community Elements Books.  Trees rated “Moderate” shall be evaluated 
on an individual basis as regards retention.  Native species of trees and trees with historical 
importance shall be given special consideration for retention.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Tree retention is being reviewed in concert with other design 
alternatives. See Request F for additional review of tree retention and removal. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Implementation Measure 10 Tree Preservation and Planting Plans 
 
C36. Review Criteria: “Each Specific Area Plan, Preliminary Development Plan and Final 

Development Plan shall include tree preservation plans and planting plans to indicate proposed tree 
planting within parks and along streets and descriptions of the size of trees when planted and upon 
maturity.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Tree Preservation and Planting Plans are being reviewed 
concurrently with PDP 3 North. See Request F. PDP’s for future phases of SAP North will 
similarly require concurrent review of Tree Preservation and Planting Plans 

 
  

Page 49 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 50 of 135 

Parks and Open Spaces Implementation Measure 11 Cultural and Historic Resources 
 
C37. Review Criteria: “Provide for review of cultural and historic resources on portions of Villebois 

that are to be annexed into the City of Wilsonville with the Specific Area Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A cultural resources inventory has been completed and is 
available in Exhibit B1, notebook, Section IIE. No resources have been identified for 
preservation. See also Finding C134 and Exhibit B7. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Implementation Measure 13 SROZ Compliance 
 
C38. Review Criteria: “The Villebois Master Plan shall comply with the Significant Resource Overlay 

Zone (SROZ) regulations.  Proposed encroachments into the SROZ for exempt or non-exempt 
development shall be reviewed for compliance with the requirements of Section 4.139 of the 
Wilsonville Code.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Request H reviews compliance with the SROZ regulations. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Implementation Measure 14 Park Lighting 
 
C39. Review Criteria: “A conceptual plan for the lighting of park spaces throughout Villebois is 

provided on the plan included in Appendix H.  Future development applications shall comply with 
the lighting system proposed in Appendix H.  Refinements may be approved in accordance with 
Village Zone Section 4.125(.18)(F).” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The conceptual plan for lighting of park spaces addresses major 
parks and open spaces within SAP North, such as the Tonquin Trail and the Neighborhood 
Commons. Phase 3 does not include a Neighborhood Commons or the Tonquin Trail.  
Appendix H does not require lighting in SAP North Phase 3 open space or park areas. 
 

Parks and Open Spaces Implementation Measure 15 Variety of Child Play Areas 
 
C40. Review Criteria: “Each child play area shall include uses suitable for a range of age groups.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan, Sheet 9 of Exhibit B2, 
illustrates the child play areas approved with Phase 1 and Phase 2 and proposed for Phase 
3. Phase 3 provides a pocket park, including a play structure and lawn area. Additionally, 
the child play area within OS-2 to be developed with Phase 3 is designed for both younger 
and older children. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Implementation Measure 18 Completion of Parks and Home 
Occupancy 
 
C41. Review Criteria: “The park spaces included within each phase of development will be completed 

prior to occupancy of 50% of the housing units in that particular phase unless weather or other 
special circumstances prohibit completion, in which case bonding for the improvements shall be 
permitted.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 50 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 51 of 135 

Explanation of Finding: A Condition of Approval PDD 3 under the Request D, 
Preliminary Development Plan, ensures compliance with this implementation measure. 

 
Parks and Open Spaces Implementation Measure 20 ADA Park Access 
 
C42. Review Criteria: “The adequacy, amount and location of the proposed parking (including ADA 

parking) necessary to serve the proposed park uses shall be evaluated in detail at the SAP and PDP 
level.  Off-street parking may be required to serve the various park users.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding:  The parks and open space areas and on-street parking within 
Phase 1 and Phase 2 have been approved. Parks and open spaces within Phase 3, including 
a pocket park and open space area, are anticipated to serve the immediate neighborhood 
and adjacent neighbors.  The proposed park/open space uses within Phase 3 are not 
anticipated to require parking, as most users are anticipated to access these areas by 
walking or biking. Future Phases will be required to submit additional information 
regarding parks and open spaces and proposed parking through a SAP Amendment or 
Refinement. 
 

Sanitary Sewer Goal, Policy, and Implementation Measures 
 
C43. Review Criteria: “Goal: The Villebois Village shall include adequate sanitary sewer service. 

 
Policy 
 
1. The sanitary sewer system for Villebois Village shall meet the necessary requirements for 
the City of Wilsonville Wastewater Master Plan. 
 
Various project specific implementation measures 
 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Utility Plan, Sheet 14 of Exhibit B2, shows the approved 
sanitary system within Phase 1 and Phase 2, and the proposed sanitary system within Phase 
3. The sanitary system within Phase 3 of SAP North will comply with Policies 1 through 7 
of the City of Wilsonville Wastewater Master Plan, as demonstrated by the Utility Plan and 
the attached Utility & Drainage Report, applicant’s notebook, Exhibit B1, Section IIC. No 
refinements to sanitary sewer are proposed. 

 
Water System Goal, Policy, and Implementation Measures 
 
C44. Review Criteria:  
 

“Goal 
 
The Villebois Village shall include adequate water service. 
 
Policy 
 
The water system for Villebois Village shall meet the necessary requirements of the City of 
Wilsonville Water System Master Plan. 

Page 51 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 52 of 135 

 
Implementation Measures 
1. Implement the following list of Water System Master Plan policies and projects with 
development of Villebois Village: 
 

 Policies: 1-7 
 Projects:  

1) 18-inch main in Barber Street from Kinsman Road to Brown Road 
2) 48-inch main in Kinsman Road from Barber Street to Boeckman Road 
3) 24-inch main in Boeckman Road from Kinsman Road to Villebois Drive 
4) 18-inch main in Villebois Drive from Boeckman Road to Barber Street 
5) 18-inch main in Barber Street from Brown Road to Grahams Ferry Road 
6) 18-inch main in Grahams Ferry Road from Barber Street to Tooze Road. 
7) 12-inch main in Grahams Ferry Road from the Future Study Area to Barber Street 
8) 30-inch main in Tooze Road from Villebois Drive to Grahams Ferry Road 
9) 12-inch main in extension of Villebois Drive from Barber Street to the Future Study 

Area 
10) 12-inch main connections from Barber Street to Evergreen Road 

 
2. Incorporate the construction of the above referenced projects into the Finance Plan.” 

 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Utility Plan, Sheet 14 of Exhibit B2, shows the water system 
for SAP North, reflecting Phase 1 and Phase 2 approvals, and the proposed water system 
for Phase 3. The proposed water system will comply with Policies 1 through 7 of the Water 
System Master Plan. The 18-inch main in Grahams Ferry Road from Barber Street Road to 
Tooze Road has been constructed. Additionally, the City has already installed the 18-inch 
main from Barber Street from Brown Road to Grahams Ferry. 

 
Storm Water Goal 
 
The Villebois Village shall include adequate storm water systems to prevent unacceptable levels of 
flooding, protect receiving streams and water bodies from pollution and increased runoff rates due to 
development, and create a connection between people and the environment. 
 
Storm Water Policy 1 Meeting Stormwater Master Plan and Public Works Standards 
 
C45. Review Criteria: “The onsite storm water system for Villebois shall meet the necessary 

requirements of the City of Wilsonville Stormwater Master Plan and Public Works Standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Utility Plan, Sheet 14 of Exhibit B2, shows the stormwater 
system for SAP North, reflecting Phase 1 and Phase 2 approvals, and the proposed 
stormwater system for Phase 3. A supporting Utility and Drainage Report is included in 
Notebook (Exhibit B1) Section IIC, which demonstrates that the stormwater system will 
meet the necessary requirements of the City of Wilsonville Stormwater Master Plan and 
Public Works Standards. 

 
  

Page 52 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 53 of 135 

Storm Water Policy 2 and 3 Minimizing Development “Footprint” on Hydrological Cycle, 
Rainwater Management 
 
C46. Review Criteria: “Villebois Village shall strive to minimize the development “footprint” on the 

hydrological cycle through the combination of stormwater management and rainwater 
management.” 
“Villebois Village shall integrate rainwater management systems into parks and open space areas.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Rainwater Management Systems are integrated into parks and 
open space areas as shown on the Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan, Sheet 9 of Exhibit B2. 
A copy of the approved Rainwater Management Program for SAP North is provided in 
Notebook (Exhibit B1) Section IIK. A minor refinement is proposed to on-site water 
quality/stormwater/rainwater facilities within Phase 3 along Grahams Ferry Road and 
Tooze Road. See Findings C113 through C118.  

 
Storm Water Implementation Measure 11 Stormwater Facility Maintenance 
 
C47. Review Criteria: “Pursuant to the City’s Stormwater Master Plan Policies 9.2.4 and 9.2.5, 

maintenance of stormwater conveyance facilities, including detention/retention facilities, will be 
planned as part of the Specific Area Plans for the Villebois Village.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Ownership and maintenance of stormwater conveyance facilities 
in SAP North Phase 3 and other future phases will be addressed through the future 
Ownership & Maintenance Agreement to be prepared with Final Plat Review. 
 

Circulation System Goal 
 
The Villebois Village shall provide for a circulation system that is designed to reflect the principles of 
smart growth. 
 
Circulation System Policy 1 Encourage Alternative Modes, Accommodate All Modes 
 
C48. Review Criteria: “The Villebois Village shall encourage alternatives to the automobile, while 

accommodating all travel modes, including passenger cars, trucks, buses, bicycles and 
pedestrians.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Transportation facilities including streets, sidewalks, and trails 
are proposed consistent with the Master Plan accommodating different travel modes. 

 
Circulation System Implementation Measure 5 Curb Extensions 
 
C49. Review Criteria: “Curb extensions may be utilized within the Villebois Village area under the 

following basic principles for their placement and design: 
 A minimum of 20-foot face-of-curb to face-of-curb street width shall be provided at all 

Residential street intersections, even where curb extensions are located.  In the Village 
Center (inside the Village Loop), the minimum curb-to-curb public street width should be 22 
feet, in order to accommodate delivery and garbage truck movements. 

 Fire trucks, buses, and single-unit trucks (i.e., garbage trucks) shall be able to negotiate from 
Collector/Arterial streets without crossing the Collector/Arterial street centerline.  Fire trucks 

Page 53 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 54 of 135 

shall be able to negotiate through Residential streets, although it is acceptable for them to 
cross the street centerline on Residential streets. 

 Passenger car turning movements shall be able to stay within the street centerline on all 
streets. 

 Bike lanes shall not be forced into vehicle travel lanes. 
Placement of curb extensions shall be reviewed through the City’s minor alteration process with 
Specific Area Plans.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Circulation Plan, Sheet 7 of Exhibit B2, includes the 
approved placement of curb extensions within Phase 1 and Phase 2 and the proposed 
placement of curb extensions within Phase 3. The placement of the curb extensions within 
Phase 3 is consistent with the Curb Extension Concept Plan in the SAP North Community 
Elements Book. 
 

Circulation System Implementation Measure 6 Alignment Compliant with SROZ 
 
C50. Review Criteria: “Street and pathway alignments shall be demonstrated to be in compliance with 

Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) regulations with Specific Area Plans.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: SROZ compliance is reviewed in Request H. 

 
Circulation System Implementation Measure 7 Connectivity Between Street Termination 
Points and Adjacent Trails/Pathways 
 
C51. Review Criteria: “Pedestrian and bicycle connectivity shall be provided between public and 

private street termination points and adjacent trails/pathways at the discretion of the City 
Engineer.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Circulation Plan and the Street Sections, Sheets 7 and 8 of 
Exhibit B2, illustrate the street system within SAP North, including shared roadways for 
bicyclists and sidewalks. The Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan, Sheet 9 of Exhibit B2, 
shows pedestrian/bicycle connections to adjacent streets or parks and open spaces 
throughout SAP North. Amendments to add specific information for Phase 3 continue this 
approach. 

 
Statewide Planning Goals 
 
Goal 1 Citizen Involvement 
 
C52. Review Criterion: “To develop a citizen involvement program that insures the 

opportunity for citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning process.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The adoption process for the proposed SAP amendment includes 
duly noticed public hearings before the Development Review Board. The current process 
was preceded by a Master Plan adoption and SAP North review processes found compliant 
with Goal 1.  

 
  

Page 54 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 55 of 135 

Goal 2 Land Use Planning 
 
C53. Review Criterion: “To establish a land use planning process and policy framework as a 

basis for all decision and actions related to use of land and to assure an adequate factual 
base for such decisions and actions.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The City is currently in compliance with Goal 2 because it has 
an acknowledged Comprehensive Plan and regulations implementing the plan.  The 
Villebois Village Master Plan was adopted consistent with the planning policies in the 
Comprehensive Plan.  The Villebois Village Master Plan was found to be consistent with 
Goal 2 because it creates a more specific plan for a portion of the City that provides 
additional guidance for future regulations. The proposed SAP amendment does not alter 
these circumstances. No additional needed connections beyond what is proposed by the 
applicant in Phase 3 North have been identified. 

 
Goal 5 Natural Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open Spaces 
 
C54. Review Criterion: “To protect natural resources and conserve scenic and historic areas 

and open spaces.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed SAP amendment complies with local and regional 
policies and requirements to implement this goal.  

 
Goal 6 Air, Water and Land Resource Quality 
 
C55. Review Criteria: “To maintain and improve the quality of the air, water and land 

resources of the state.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Villebois Village Master Plan is consistent with the air, 
water and land resources policies of the Comprehensive Plan.  The Villebois Village 
Master Plan protects water and land resources by providing protection for natural resource 
areas and limiting development to areas that have less impact on natural resources.  The 
Master Plan does not propose any residential structures within the 100-year floodplain.  
The Plan also calls for measures to use environmentally sensitive techniques for storm 
drainage.  The Plan provides for a mixed-use, compact, interconnected Village that will 
provide transportation benefits by reducing the need for lengthy vehicle trips and increase 
the opportunity for bicycle and pedestrian transportation.  The proposed SAP amendment 
does not alter these conditions as it remains consistent with the Master Plan in this regard. 

 
Goal 7 Areas Prone to Natural Disasters and Hazards 
 
C56. Review Criteria: “To protect life and property from natural disasters and hazards.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No areas prone to floods, erosion, landslides, wildfire, etc. have 
been identified in SAP North. 

 

Page 55 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 56 of 135 

Goal 8 Recreational Needs 
 
C57. Review Criteria: “To satisfy the recreational needs of the citizens of the state and visitors 

and, where appropriate, to provide for the siting of necessary recreational facilities 
including destination resorts.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Recreational amenities are shown throughout SAP North, 
including Phase 3. The amenities include a variety of play areas, trails, and gathering spots. 
In addition, connections are provided to the regional Ice Age Tonquin Trail. 

 
Goal 10 Housing 
 
C58. Review Criteria: “To provide for the housing needs of citizens of the state.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Villebois Village Master Plan complies with local and 
regional policies and requirements to implement this goal. The housing density and 
number goals for Villebois continue to be met with the number units and type of housing 
proposed for SAP North, including Phase 3. 

 
Goal 11 Public Facilities and Services 
 
C59. Review Criteria: “To plan and develop a timely, orderly and efficient arrangement of 

public facilities and services to serve as a framework for urban and rural development.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Villebois Village Master Plan is consistent with the 
applicable provisions of the City’s various utility plans (see Chapter 4 – Utilities of the 
Master Plan).  It proposes to coordinate future development with the provision of the 
public facility infrastructure in the area (Figure 6 – Conceptual Composite Utilities Plan).  
The proposed SAP amendment does not change the planned utilities as shown in the 
Master Plan. 

 
Goal 12 Transportation 
 
C60. Review Criteria: “To provide and encourage a safe, convenient and economic 

transportation system.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Villebois Village Master Plan provides plans (Figure 7 – 
Street Plan and Figure 8 – Proposed Arterial/Collectors Street System) for a transportation 
system that is integrated with the transportation system existing and proposed for the City 
and surrounding areas of Clackamas County. Street sections (Figures 9A and 9B – Street 
and Trail Sections) are designed to slow traffic, encourage walking and bicycling, and 
create a pleasant environment. The proposed SAP amendment remains consistent with the 
transportation components of the Villebois Village Master Plan, and thus this goal. 

 
  

Page 56 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 57 of 135 

Goal 13 Energy Conservation 
 
C61. Review Criteria: “Land and uses developed on the land shall be managed and controlled 

so as to maximize the conservation of all forms of energy, based upon sound economic 
principles.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Comprehensive Plan has been acknowledged to be 
consistent with Goal 13, and the Villebois Village Master Plan is consistent with 
Comprehensive Plan energy conservation policies. The Villebois Village Master Plan 
provides for a compact mixed-use development that will conserve energy by reducing the 
amount of and length of vehicle trips by making bicycle and pedestrian transportation 
viable alternatives for many trips. The proposed SAP amendment remains consistent with 
the Villebois Village Master Plan in this regard, and thus Goal 13. 

 
Goal 14 Urbanization 
 
C62. Review Criteria: “To provide for an orderly and efficient transition from rural to urban 

land use.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Villebois Village Master Plan is consistent with 
Comprehensive Plan urbanization policies and the Residential – Village Land Use 
designation. The proposed SAP amendment for SAP North continues to comply with and 
further the intent of Goal 14 by providing a coordinated plan for urbanization of the Master 
Plan area that coordinates development of the area with development of public facilities, 
including the transportation system, and protects natural resources.  The SAP amendment 
continues to provide more detailed plans for the urbanization of an area already determined 
to be within the City’s urban growth boundary. 

 
Village Zone 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.01) Purpose 
 
The Village (V) zone is applied to lands within the Residential Village Comprehensive Plan 
Map designation. The Village zone is the principal implementing tool for the Residential 
Village Comprehensive Plan designation. It is applied in accordance with the Villebois Village 
Master Plan and the Residential Village Comprehensive Plan Map designation as described in 
the Comprehensive Plan.   
 
Subsection 4.125 (.02) Permitted Uses in Village Zone 
 
C63. Review Criteria: This subsection lists the uses typically permitted in the Village Zone, including 

single-family detached dwellings, row houses, and non-commercial parks, playgrounds, and 
recreational facilities. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The uses proposed includes single-family homes, parks and 
playgrounds, and open space which are permitted in the Village Zone. 

 
  

Page 57 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 58 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.05) Development Standards Applying to All Development in the Village 
Zone 
 
“All development in this zone shall be subject to the V Zone and the applicable provisions of the 
Wilsonville Planning and Land Development Ordinance.  If there is a conflict, then the standards of 
this section shall apply.  The following standards shall apply to all development in the V zone:” 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.05) A. 1.-2 Block, Alley, Pedestrian and Bicycle Standards: Maximum 
Block Perimeter and Spacing Between Streets for Local Access 
 
C64. Review Criteria: “Maximums Block Perimeter: 1,800 feet, unless the Development Review Board 

makes a finding that barriers such as existing buildings, topographic variations, or designated 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone areas will prevent a block perimeter from meeting this 
standard.” 
“If the maximum spacing for streets for local access exceeds 530 feet, intervening pedestrian and 
bicycle access shall be provided, with a maximum spacing of 330 feet from those local streets, 
unless the Development Review Board makes a finding that barriers such as existing buildings, 
topographic variations, or designated Significant Resource Overlay Zone areas will prevent 
pedestrian and bicycle facility extensions from meeting this standard.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Circulation patterns within Phase 1 and Phase 2, and within a 
portion of Future Phases, are shown on the SAP Drawings, Exhibit B2. Phase 1 has been 
constructed and Phase 2 is in construction. Additional information for Future Phases will 
be required through a SAP Amendment. 
 
Circulation patterns within Phase 3 of SAP North are dictated by the 600-foot access 
spacing standard on SW Grahams Ferry Road, located along the western site boundary, 
and SW Tooze Road, located along the northern site boundary (City of Wilsonville 
Transportation System Plan requirement for a minor arterial). The presence of SROZ along 
the southern property line and development patterns within PDP 2N to the south also 
influence circulation patterns within SAP North Phase 3. Blocks within the proposed PDP 
plan meet the maximum 1,800-foot block perimeter, except as follows. 
 
• The block bounded by SW Oslo Street, SW Belfast Lane, SW Barcelona Street, the 
eastern site boundary, Tooze Road, and SW Grahams Ferry Road can only be developed to 
the eastern property line. In addition, circulation within these streets along the western and 
north portions of the site is dictated by the 600 foot access spacing standard for minor 
arterials, which applies to both Grahams Ferry Road and Tooze Road. A pedestrian/bicycle 
connection to Tooze Road is provided between Lots 14 and 15 and to the intersection of 
Grahams Ferry Road and Tooze Road between Lots 8 and 9 within the pocket park. 
 
• The block bounded by Palermo Street, SW Rome Avenue, SW Oslo Street, and the 
western site boundary can only be developed to the western and southern property lines. 
The alignment of SW Palermo Street is limited by the presence of upland forest preserve in 
the southwestern corner of the site and along the southern portion of the site, and by the 
existing portion of SW Palermo Street within Phase 2. In addition, circulation within these 
streets along the western portion of the site is dictated by the 600 foot Grahams Ferry Road 

Page 58 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 59 of 135 

spacing standard. A pedestrian/bicycle connection is provided along the eastern edge of the 
open space tract (adjacent to the retained wetland). 
 
• The block bounded by SW Barcelona Street, SW Iceland Lane, and SW Oslo Street, and 
the block bounded by SW Oslo Street, SW Rome Avenue, and SW Palermo Street, can 
only be developed to the eastern property line. The extension of SW Barcelona Street and 
SW Oslo Street and construction of SW Ravenna Loop/Paris Avenue is anticipated to 
occur with future development of parcels to the east. Compliance with the block perimeter 
and street spacing standards will be addressed at such a time as these streets are extended.  
Other blocks within Phase 3 not mentioned above meet the maximum 1,800 foot block 
perimeter and maximum 530 street spacing requirements. 
 

Subsection 4.125 (.05) A. 3. Block, Alley, Pedestrian and Bicycle Standards: Intervening 
Pedestrian and Bicycle Access 
 
C65. Review Criteria: “If the maximum spacing for streets for local access exceeds 530 feet, 

intervening pedestrian and bicycle access shall be provided, with a maximum spacing of 330 feet 
from those local streets, unless the Development Review Board makes a finding that barriers such 
as existing buildings, topographic variations, or designated Significant Resource Overlay Zone 
areas will prevent pedestrian and bicycle facility extensions from meeting this standard.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No SROZ area, existing buildings, or topographic variations 
prevent the spacing standard from being met. 

0 
Subsection 4.125 (.05) B. Access 
 
C66. Review Criterion: “All lots with access to a public street, and an alley, shall take vehicular access 

from the alley to a garage or parking area, except as determined by the City Engineer.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The design of the subdivision shown in the SAP allows this 
criterion to be met during the review of the subdivision plat.   

 
Subsection 4.125 (.05) D. Fences 
 
C67. Review Criterion: This subsection establishes provisions for fences in the Village Zone, including 

being consistent with the Master Fencing Program and the Architectural Pattern Book. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A Master Fencing Plan for the SAP has previously been 
approved. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.08) Parks & Open Space 
 
C68. Review Criteria: This subsection prescribes the open space requirement for development in the 

Village Zone. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Figure 5 – Parks & Open Space Plan of the Villebois Village 
Master Plan indicates that approximately 33% of Villebois is in Parks and Open Space.  
This SAP amendment continue to meet the open space requirements for Villebois. 

 

Page 59 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 60 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.09) Street Alignment and Access Improvements 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 1. a. Street Alignment and Access Improvements Conformity with 
Master Plan, etc. 
 
C69. Review Criterion: “All street alignment and access improvements shall conform to the Villebois 

Village Master Plan, or as refined in the Specific Area Plan, Preliminary Development Plan, or 
Final Development Plan . . .” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The street alignments are generally consistent with those shown 
in the Villebois Village Master Plan. Some minor refinements are proposed. See Findings 
C101 through C106.  

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 1. a. i. Street Improvement: Conformity with Public Works 
Standards and Continuation of Streets 
 
C70. Review Criteria: “All street improvements shall conform to the Public Works Standards and shall 

provide for the continuation of streets through proposed developments to adjoining properties or 
subdivisions, according to the Master Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed street network will enable conformance with the 
Public Work Standards.  The street system is designed to provide for the continuation of 
streets within Villebois and to adjoining properties or subdivisions according to the Master 
Plan.   

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 1. a. ii. Streets Developed According to Master Plan 
 
C71. Review Criterion: “All streets shall be developed according to the Master Plan.” 

Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All streets are proposed to be developed with cross sections 
shown in the Master Plan. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 2. a. & b. Intersections of Streets: Angles and Intersections 
 
C72. Review Criteria:  

 “Angles: Streets shall intersect one another at angles not less than 90 degrees, unless existing 
development or topography makes it impractical. 

 Intersections:  If the intersection cannot be designed to form a right angle, then the right-of-way 
and paving within the acute angle shall have a minimum of thirty (30) foot centerline radius and 
said angle shall not be less than sixty (60) degrees.  Any angle less than ninety (90) degrees 
shall require approval by the City Engineer after consultation with the Fire District.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant’s drawings in Exhibit B2 show all proposed streets 
are developed consistent with these standards. 

 
Subsection 4.15 (.09) A. 2. c. Intersection of Streets: Offsets 
 
C73. Review Criterion: “Offsets: Opposing intersections shall be designed so that no offset dangerous 

to the traveling public is created. Intersections shall be separated by at least: 

Page 60 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 61 of 135 

 1000 ft. for major arterials 
 600 ft. for minor arterials 
 100 ft. for major collector 
 50 ft. for minor collector” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No intersections violating the defined offsets are proposed. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 2. d. Curb Extensions 
 
C74. Review Criteria: “Curb extensions at intersections shall be shown on the Specific Area Plans 

required in subsection 4.125(.18)(C) through (F) below, and shall: 
 Not obstruct bicycle lanes on collector streets. 
 Provide a minimum 20 foot wide clear distance between curb extensions at all local 

residential street intersections shall have, shall meet minimum turning radius requirements 
of the Public Works Standards, and shall facilitate fire truck turning movements as 
required by the Fire District.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Proposed curb extensions are shown on the Circulation Plan 
(Sheet 7 of Exhibit B2), none of which are located on collector streets.  The submitted 
drawings illustrate that all street intersections will have a minimum 20 foot wide clear 
distance between curb extensions. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 3. Street Grades 
 
C75. Review Criteria: “Street grades shall be a maximum of 6% on arterials and 8% for collector and 

local streets. Where topographic conditions dictate, grades in excess of 8%, but not more than 12%, 
may be permitted for short distances, as approved by the City Engineer, where topographic 
conditions or existing improvements warrant modification of these standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No street grades approaching these maximums are proposed. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 4. Centerline Radius Street Curves 
 
C76. Review Criterion: “The minimum centerline radius street curves shall be as follows: 

 Arterial streets: 600 feet, but may be reduced to 400 feet in commercial areas, as approved 
by City Engineer. 

 Collector streets:  600 feet, but may be reduced to conform with the Public Works 
Standards, as approved by the City Engineer. 

 Local streets:  75 feet” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The submitted plan sheets, see Exhibit B2, show all street curves 
meet these standards. 
 

Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 5. Rights-of-way 
 
C77. Review Criteria: Pursuant to subsection (.09) A. above, the provisions of 4.177 apply for 

rights-of-way as no other provisions are noted. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 61 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 62 of 135 

Explanation of Finding: Proposed rights-of-way are shown on the applicant’s plan sheets, 
Exhibit B2. Rights-of-way will also be reviewed as part of the Preliminary Development 
Plan and Tentative Plat to ensure compliance.  Rights-of-way will be dedicated and a 
waiver of remonstrance against the formation of a local improvement district will be 
recorded with recordation of a final plat in accordance with Section 4.177. 
 

Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 6. Access Drives 
 
C78. Review Criteria: Access drives are required to be 16 feet for two-way traffic. Otherwise, pursuant 

to subsection (.09) A. above, the provisions of 4.177 apply for access drives as no other provisions 
are noted. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant states in the narrative in Exhibit B1, “Access 
drives (alleys) will be paved at least 16-feet in width within a 20-foot tract, as shown on 
the Circulation Plan.   In accordance with Section 4.177, all access drives will be 
constructed with a hard surface capable of carrying a 23-ton load.  Easements for fire 
access will be dedicated as required by the fire department.  All access drives will be 
designed to provide a clear travel lane free from any obstructions.” 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 7. Clear Vision Areas 
 
C79. Review Criteria: Pursuant to subsection (.09) A. above, the provisions of 4.177 apply for clear 

vision areas as no other provisions are noted. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant states that clear vision areas will be provided and 
maintained in compliance with the Section 4.177. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 8. Vertical Clearance 
 
C80. Review Criteria: Pursuant to subsection (.09) A. above, the provisions of 4.177 apply for vertical 

clearance as no other provisions are noted. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant states that Vertical clearance will be provided and 
maintained in compliance with the Section 4.177. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.10) Sidewalk and Pathway Improvement Standards 
 
C81. Review Criteria: “The provisions of Section 4.178 shall apply within the Village zone.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant states, “All sidewalks and pathways within SAP 
SAP North Phase 3 will be constructed in accordance with the standards of Section 4.178 
and the Villebois Village Master Plan.”  Sidewalks and pathways are shown in the 
circulation plan and street cross-sections (Sheets 7 and 8, Exhibit B2). 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.11) Landscaping, Screening and Buffering 
 
C82. Review Criteria: “Except as noted below, the provisions of Section 4.176 shall apply in the 

Village zone: 

Page 62 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 63 of 135 

 Streets in the Village Zone shall be developed with street trees as described in the 
Community Elements Book.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The appropriate landscaping is provided. The proposed street 
trees are among the choices provided in the Community Elements Book, or allowed in the 
Villebois Village Master Plan where wet conditions warrant. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.12) Signage and Wayfinding 
 
C83. Review Criteria: “Except as this subsection may otherwise be amended, or until such time as a 

Signage and Wayfinding Plan is approved as required by Section 4.125(.18)(D)(2)(f), signs within 
the Village zone shall be subject to provisions of Section 4.156.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A Master Signage and Wayfinding Program has previously been 
adopted for SAP North.   

 
Subsection 4.125 (.13) Design Principles Applying to the Village Zone 
 
C84. Review Criteria: “The following design principles reflect the fundamental concepts, and support 

the objectives of the Villebois Village Master Plan, and guide the fundamental qualities of the built 
environment within the Village zone. 

 The design of landscape, streets, public places and buildings shall create a place of distinct 
character. 

 The landscape, streets, public places and buildings within individual development projects 
shall be considered related and connected components of the Villebois Village Master 
Plan. 

 The design of streets and public spaces shall provide for and promote pedestrian safety, 
connectivity and activity. 

 The design of exterior lighting shall minimize off-site impacts, yet enable functionality.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The SAP Drawings, Exhibit B2, the Architectural Pattern Book, 
and the Community Elements Book are intended to guide the Preliminary Development 
Plan and Final Development Plan applications to achieve a built environment that reflects 
the fundamental concepts and objectives of the Master Plan.  The Design Principles of 
Section (.13) have driven the development of the SAP Drawings, the Architectural Pattern 
Book and the Community Elements Book, which have previously been approved for SAP 
North and will work in concert to assure that the vision of Villebois is Phase 3 of SAP 
North as well as future phases of SAP North. 
 

Subsection 4.125 (.14) A. 1. a. Design Standards: Flag Lots 
 
C85. Review Criterion: “Flag lots are not permitted.” 

Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No flag lots are proposed. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.14) A. 2. a. - e. and h. – k. Building and Site Design Requirements 
 
C86. Review Criteria: “Building and site design shall include: 

Page 63 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 64 of 135 

 Proportions and massing of architectural elements consistent with those established in an 
approved Architectural Pattern Book or Village Center Architectural Standards. 

 Materials, colors and architectural details executed in a manner consistent with the 
methods included in an approved Architectural Pattern Book, Community Elements Book 
or approved Village Center Architectural Standards. 

 Protective overhangs or recesses at windows and doors. 
 Raised stoops, terraces or porches at single-family dwellings. 
 Exposed gutters, scuppers, and downspouts, or approved equivalent. 
 Building elevations of block complexes shall not repeat an elevation found on an adjacent 

block. 
 Building elevations of detached buildings shall not repeat an elevation found on buildings 

on adjacent lots. 
 A porch shall have no more than three walls. 
 A garage shall provide enclosure for the storage of no more than three motor vehicles, as 

described in the definition of Parking Space.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Architectural Pattern Book and Community Elements Book 
previously approved for SAP North ensure compliance with these standards and 
consistency with surrounding development. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.14) A. 3. Lighting and Site Furnishings 
 
C87. Review Criteria: “Lighting and site furnishings shall be in compliance with the approved 

Architectural Pattern Book, Community Elements Book, or approved Village Center Architectural 
Standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The SAP North Architectural Pattern Book and Community 
Elements Books have previously been approved ensuring compliance with these criteria. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.14) A. 4. Building Systems 
 
C88. Review Criteria: “Building systems, as noted in Tables V-3 and V-4 (Permitted Materials and 

Configurations), below, shall comply with the materials, applications and configurations required 
therein.  Design creativity is encouraged.  The LEED Building Certification Program of the U.S. 
Green Building Council may be used as a guide in this regard.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Subsequent Building Permit applications will review proposed 
buildings for consistency with the criteria of Table V-3 and the Architectural Pattern Book 
previously approved for SAP North. 
 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) C. Specific Area Plan (SAP) Approval Process 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) C. 1. Specific Area Plan Purpose 
 
C89. Review Criterion: “Purpose – A SAP is intended to advance the design of the Villebois Village 

Master Plan.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As shown in Findings C3 through C51 above, the proposed SAP 
amendment is advancing the design of the Villebois Village Master Plan.     

Page 64 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 65 of 135 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) C. 2.-3. Who Can Initiate a SAP Application 
 
C90. Review Criterion: “If not initiated by the City Council, Planning Commission or Development 

Review Board, an application for SAP approval shall be submitted by the Master Planner, or by 
landowners pursuant to subsection C.3 below.  The application shall be accompanied by payment 
of a fee established in accordance with the City’s fee schedule.  
The owners of property representing at least 80 percent of a SAP area may request in writing that 
the Master Planner submit a SAP application.  The Master Planner must provide a written response 
within thirty days.  If the Master Planner agrees to submit a request, the Master Planner shall have 
180 days to submit the SAP application.  If the Master Planner denies the request, fails to respond 
within 30 days, or fails as determined by the Planning Director to diligently pursue the application 
after agreeing to submit it, by providing drafts of a pattern book and all other SAP elements within 
60 days and thereafter pursuing approval in good faith, the property owners may submit a SAP 
application for review and approval.  A copy of a SAP application submitted by property owners 
must be provided to the Master Planner.  Once the application has been deemed complete by the 
City, the Master Planner shall have 30 days to review and comment in writing before the proposed 
SAP is scheduled for public hearing by the DRB.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Master Planner previously submitted SAP North, which 
included the approval of many SAP elements. Some elements where not defined because 
they were not yet known. A subsequent SAP amendment defined the additional 
components for Phase 2. This request provides the required details for Phase 3, and has 
been signed by the property owners of Phase 3. For future phases the information has been 
provided that does not require access to the properties, including definition of street 
alignment and land uses consistent with the Master Plan. Future SAP Amendments or 
Refinements signed by the necessary property owners or initiated by the Master Planner 
will be submitted to finish providing all elements for the future phases before or 
concurrently with PDP requests. 
 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) D 1. SAP Submittal Requirements: Existing Conditions 
 
C91. Review Criterion: “Existing Conditions – An application for SAP approval shall specifically and 

clearly show the following features and information on maps, drawings, application form or 
attachments. The SAP shall be drawn at a scale of 1" = 100' (unless otherwise indicated) and may 
include multiple sheets depicting the entire SAP area, as follows:” Listed a. through h. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All the required existing condition drawings have been 
submitted. See Sheet 3 of Exhibit B2. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) D. 2. SAP Submittal Requirements: Development Information 
 
C92. Review Criterion: “SAP Development Information – The following information shall also be 

shown at a scale of 1" = 100' and may include multiple sheets depicting the entire SAP area:” 
Listed a. through n. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All the required information has been submitted. See Exhibit B2. 

 
  

Page 65 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 66 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) D. 3. SAP Submittal Requirements: Architectural Pattern Book 
 
C93. Review Criterion: “Architectural Pattern Book – An Architectural Pattern Book shall be 

submitted with a SAP application.  The Architectural Pattern Book shall apply to all development 
outside of the Village Center Boundary, as shown on Figure 1 of the currently adopted Villebois 
Village Master Plan.  An Architectural Pattern Book shall address the following:” Listed a. through 
h. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The SAP North Architectural Pattern Book has previously been 
approved for the entirety of SAP North, including Phase 3 and future phases. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) D. 4. SAP Submittal Requirements: Community Elements Book 
 
C94. Review Criterion: “Community Elements Book – A Community Elements Book shall be 

submitted, including the following:” Listed a. through n. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The SAP North Community Elements Book has previously been 
approved for the entirety of SAP North, including Phase 3 and future phases. 
 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) D. 5. SAP Submittal Requirements: Rainwater Management Program 
 
C95. Review Criterion: “Rainwater Management Program – A Rainwater Management Program shall 

be submitted, addressing the following:” Listed a. through c. vii. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval NR 1. 
Explanation of Finding: The SAP North Rainwater Management Program has previously 
been approved for the entirety of SAP North, including Phase 3 and future phases. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) D. 6. SAP Submittal Requirements: Master Signage and Wayfinding 
 
C96. Review Criterion: “Master Signage and Wayfinding – A Master Signage and Wayfinding 

Plan shall be submitted with an SAP application and shall address the following:” Listed a. 
through e. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The SAP North Master Signage and Wayfinding program has 
previously been approved for the entirety of SAP North, including Phase 3 and future 
phases. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) D. 8. SAP Submittal Requirements: SAP Narrative Statement 
 
C97. Review Criterion: “SAP Narrative Statement – A narrative statement shall be submitted, 

addressing the following:” Listed a. through f. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The required narrative has been submitted. See Exhibit B1. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) E. 1. b. i. SAP Elements Consistent with Villebois Village Master Plan 
 
C98. Review Criteria: “Is consistent with the Villebois Village Master Plan.  Those elements of the 

Village Master Plan with which the SAP must be consistent are the Plan’s Goals, Policies, and 
Implementation Measures, and, except as the text otherwise provides, Figures 1, 5, 6A, 7, 8, 9A, 
and 9B.” 

Page 66 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 67 of 135 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Findings C3 through C51 above demonstrate compliance of 
proposed SAP amendment with the Villebois Village Master Plan. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) E. 1. b. ii. SAP Phasing Reasonable 
 
C99. Review Criteria: “If the SAP is to be phased, as enabled by Sections 4.125(.18)(D)(2)(g) and (h), 

that the phasing sequence is reasonable.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Proposed Phase 3 is contiguous with the previously approved 
Phase 2 is reasonable to be the next phase developed of SAP North. Other future Phases 
will be contiguous to approved or built phases which allows flexibility for these phases to 
be built a various factors dictate. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) E. 1. b. iii. DRB Modification of SAP 
 
C100. Review Criteria: “The Development Review Board may require modifications to the SAP, or 

otherwise impose such conditions, as it may deem necessary to ensure conformance with the 
Villebois Village Master Plan, and compliance with applicable requirements and standards of the 
Planning and Land Development Ordinance, and the standards of this section.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No specific findings are recommended pursuant to this 
subsection.  

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. SAP Refinements to Villebois Village Master Plan 
 
Refinement 1 Street Network 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 1. a. i. Refinements to the Master Plan: Streets 
C101. Review Criteria: “Changes to the street network or functional classification of streets that do not 

significantly reduce circulation system function or connectivity for vehicles, bicycles or 
pedestrians.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The only street network refinements in this SAP Amendment 
request relate to Phase 3, the street network within future phases remain as shown in the 
Master Plan subject to refinements as part of future PDP requests. The proposed street 
system within SAP North is generally consistent with the Villebois Village Master Plan. 
The Master Plan shows SW Iceland Lane with a southwest to northeast orientation with 
alignment towards the child play feature in Open Space 2. With the proposed refinement, 
SW Iceland Lane is proposed to have a straight north-south orientation with alignment 
towards residential lots, with the location adjusted slightly to the east. Circulation towards 
the child play area is maintained with the provision of SW Rome Avenue to maintain an 
“eyes on the street” effect for park safety. The purpose of the refinement to SW Iceland 
Lane allows for smaller residential blocks, which provides better pedestrian connectivity. 
This street refinement also allows lots to be oriented directly towards the west for greater 
sun exposure.  
 
Additionally, the Master Plan shows access from Grahams Ferry Road taken from SW 
Firenze Street (Palermo Street) and a continuous street with north-south alignment along 

Page 67 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 68 of 135 

the western portion of Phase 3 (Amsterdam Avenue/Belfast Lane). However, in order to 
retain the existing treed wetland in the southwest site corner, access to/from Grahams Ferry 
Road will occur with SW Oslo Street, and a portion of Amsterdam Avenue/Belfast Lane 
adjacent to the wetland is removed. With the proposed refinement, access from Grahams 
Ferry Road is taken from SW Oslo Street. Site circulation along the western portion of 
Phase 3 is maintained with the provision of SW Belfast Lane in the originally intended 
location, the continuation of SW Palermo Street along the northern edge of OS-2 in the 
planned location of Firenze Street, and a pedestrian path adjacent to the wetland to replace 
the removed portion of Belfast Lane, which connects SW Oslo Street and SW Palermo 
Street.   
 
These refinements do not affect the function of the circulation system or connectivity for 
vehicles, bicycles or pedestrians. 
 

  
 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 1. b. i. Refinements: Definition of Significant-Quantitative 
 
C102. Review Criteria: “As used herein, “significant” means: 

i. More than ten percent of any quantifiable matter, requirement, or performance measure, as 
specified in (.18)(F)(1)(a), above, or, 
ii. That which negatively affects an important, qualitative feature of the subject, as specified 
in (.18)(F)(1)(a), above.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Quantifiable measures related to this refinement request include 
circulation system function and connectivity. Level of Service (LOS) is the quantifiable 
performance measure related to circulation system function for motor vehicles. No data is 
available nor practical to obtain regarding the circulation system function for bicycles and 
pedestrians. Pedestrian and bicycle connections will be maintained where shown in the 
master plan with only slightly different alignments. While the traffic study did not compare 
LOS as various intersections with and without the proposed refinements, LOS of service 
continues to be met with the proposed changes. The quantifiable measure of connectivity is 
number of connecting routes. Connectivity is maintained to Grahams Ferry Road via SW 
Oslo Street, and the same level of connectivity exists within the site. 
 

  

Page 68 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 69 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 1. B. ii. Refinements: Definition of Significant-Qualitative 
 
C103. Review Criteria: “As used herein, “significant” means: 

ii. That which negatively affects an important, qualitative feature of the subject, as specified 
in (.18)(F)(1)(a), above.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: This subsection does not provide clear definition of what an 
important qualitative feature might be. Absent details in this subsection, staff interprets the 
primary qualitative factors to consider being the three guiding design principles of the 
Villebois Village Master Plan: Connectivity, Diversity, and Sustainability. The three 
guiding design principles are further defined by the goals, policies, and implementation 
measures of the Master Plan. By virtue of better or equally implementing the goals, 
policies, and implementation measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan, as described 
in Finding C104 below, the proposed refinements do not negatively affect qualitative 
features of the street network. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 2. a. Refinements: Equally or Better Meeting Master Plan 
 
C104. Review Criteria: “The refinements will equally or better meet the Goals, Policies and 

Implementation Measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The following are the relevant goals and policies from the 
Villebois Village Master Plan followed by discussion of how the refinements better or 
equally meet them: 
 
Circulation System Goal: The Villebois Village shall provide for a circulation system that 
is designed to reflect the principles of smart growth. 
 
While some vehicle connectivity choices are being removed, retaining of the wetland 
furthers the smart growth principle of a thriving natural environment. The enlargement and 
addition of pocket parks add more green space within the development. 
 
Circulations System Policy 1: The Villebois Village shall encourage alternatives to the 
automobile, while accommodating all travel modes, including passenger cars, trucks, 
buses, bicycles and pedestrians. 
 
There will continue to be access to all homes and destinations from a variety of travel 
modes. The design of homes facing green spaces encourages more pedestrian mode 
choices. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 2. b. Refinements: Impact on Resources 
 
C105. Review Criteria: “The refinement will not result in significant detrimental impacts to the 

environment or natural or scenic resources of the SAP and Village area, and” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed refinements retain a wetland having a positive 
impact on the natural and scenic resources and amenities in the development. 

 

Page 69 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 70 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 2. c. Refinements: Relation to Adjoining Areas 
 
C106. Review Criteria: “The refinement will not preclude an adjoining or subsequent SAP area from 

development consistent with the Master Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The connections to adjoining future PDP to the east remains 
consistent with the Villebois Village Master Plan. 

 
Refinement 2 Parks, Trails, and Open Spaces 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 1. a. ii. Refinements to the Master Plan: Parks, Trails, and Open 
Space 
 
C107. Review Criteria: “Changes to the nature or location of park types, trails or open space that do not 

significantly reduce function, usability, connectivity, or overall distribution or availability of these 
uses in the Specific Area Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The only parks, trails, and open space refinements proposed with 
this SAP Amendment relate to Phase 3, the parks within the future phases remain as shown 
in the Master Plan subject to refinements as part of future PDP or FDP requests. As further 
explained by the applicant on page 40 of their supporting compliance report for the SAP 
Amendment (Exhibit B1), the refinements include adding a pocket park at the southwest 
corner of Tooze Road and Grahams Ferry Road and various linear greens and landscape 
tracts. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 1. b. i. Refinements: Definition of Significant-Quantitative 
 
C108. Review Criteria: “As used herein, “significant” means: 

i. More than ten percent of any quantifiable matter, requirement, or performance measure, as 
specified in (.18)(F)(1)(a), above, or, 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The performance measures, etc. being measured for the purpose 
of this refinement are the reduction of function, usability, connectivity, or overall 
distribution or availability of park uses in the Preliminary Development Plan. The addition 
of park and open space areas do not reduce these performance measures. 
 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 1. B. ii. Refinements: Definition of Significant-Qualitative 
 
C109. Review Criteria: “As used herein, “significant” means: 

ii. That which negatively affects an important, qualitative feature of the subject, as specified 
in (.18)(F)(1)(a), above.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: This subsection does not provide clear definition of what an 
important qualitative feature might be. Absent details in this subsection, staff interprets the 
primary qualitative factors to consider being the three guiding design principles of the 
Villebois Village Master Plan: Connectivity, Diversity, and Sustainability. The three 
guiding design principles are further defined by the goals, policies, and implementation 
measures of the Master Plan. By virtue of better or equally implementing the goals, 

Page 70 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 71 of 135 

policies, and implementation measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan, as described 
in Finding C110 below, the proposed refinements do not negatively affect qualitative 
features of the parks, trails, and open space. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 2. a. Refinements: Equally or Better Meeting Master Plan 
 
C110. Review Criteria: “The refinements will equally or better meet the Goals, Policies and 

Implementation Measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Adding additional park and open space amenities help to better 
provide access to and variety to parks and open spaces within the Villebois Village Master 
Plan. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 2. b. Refinements: Impact on Resources 
 
C111. Review Criteria: “The refinement will not result in significant detrimental impacts to the 

environment or natural or scenic resources of the SAP and Village area, and” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Addition the open space around the wetland helps protect a 
natural resource. No proposed additional park and open space amenities have a detrimental 
impact on the environment or natural or scenic resources. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 2. c. Refinements: Relation to Adjoining Areas 
 
C112. Review Criteria: “The refinement will not preclude an adjoining or subsequent SAP area from 

development consistent with the Master Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed refinements do not impact the surrounding areas.  

 
Refinement 3 Utilities and Storm Water Facilities 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 1. a. iii. Refinements to Utilities and Storm Water Facilities 
 
C113. Review Criteria: “Changes to the nature or location of utilities or storm water facilities that do not 

significantly reduce the service or function of the utility or facility.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The only refinements in this SAP Amendment request relate to 
Phase 3, the utilities and storm water facilities within future phases remain as shown in the 
Master Plan subject to refinements as part of future PDP requests. Refinements are in 
relation to the on-site water quality/rainwater facilities shown on the northern edge of 
Phase 3 along Tooze Road and on the western edge of Phase 3 along Grahams Ferry Road 
(except for the southwest site corner). In the southwest site corner, a bioretention cell is 
provided adjacent to the retained wetland and site entrance from Grahams Ferry Road. Due 
to site topography/elevation, it is not possible to provide stormwater/rainwater 
management facilities in the aforementioned locations. However, bioretention swales are 
added along SW Oslo Street and within the open space area along the southern site edge. 
The provision of bioretention cells within these areas of the site will ensure that this 
refinement does not cause reduction to the service or function of rainwater management. 

 

Page 71 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 72 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 1. b. i. Refinements: Definition of Significant-Quantitative 
 
C114. Review Criteria: “As used herein, “significant” means: 

i. More than ten percent of any quantifiable matter, requirement, or performance measure, as 
specified in (.18)(F)(1)(a), above, or, 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The performance measures, etc. being measured for the purpose 
of this refinement are the reduction of service and function of the utility or facility. As 
explained in Finding C113, the service or function is not being reduced. 
 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 1. B. ii. Refinements: Definition of Significant-Qualitative 
 
C115. Review Criteria: “As used herein, “significant” means: 

ii. That which negatively affects an important, qualitative feature of the subject, as specified 
in (.18)(F)(1)(a), above.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: This subsection does not provide clear definition of what an 
important qualitative feature might be. Absent details in this subsection, staff interprets the 
primary qualitative factors to consider being the three guiding design principles of the 
Villebois Village Master Plan: Connectivity, Diversity, and Sustainability. The three 
guiding design principles are further defined by the goals, policies, and implementation 
measures of the Master Plan. By virtue of better or equally implementing the goals, 
policies, and implementation measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan, as described 
in Finding C110 below, the proposed refinements do not negatively affect qualitative 
features of the parks, trails, and open space. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 2. a. Refinements: Equally or Better Meeting Master Plan 
 
C116. Review Criteria: “The refinements will equally or better meet the Goals, Policies and 

Implementation Measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Keeping the same level of service and function as described in 
Finding C113 will equally meet the Master Plan. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 2. b. Refinements: Impact on Resources 
 
C117. Review Criteria: “The refinement will not result in significant detrimental impacts to the 

environment or natural or scenic resources of the SAP and Village area, and” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: By changing the rainwater facilities to maintain a wetland the 
refinement will not have a negative impact on the environment or natural or scenic 
resources. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 2. c. Refinements: Relation to Adjoining Areas 
 
C118. Review Criteria: “The refinement will not preclude an adjoining or subsequent SAP area from 

development consistent with the Master Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed refinements do not impact the surrounding areas.  

Page 72 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 73 of 135 

 
 
Refinement 4 Land Use and Density 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 1. a. iv. and v. Refinements to the Master Plan: Parks, Trails, and 
Open Space 
 
C119. Review Criteria: “Changes to the location or mix of land uses that do not significantly alter the 

overall distribution or availability of uses in the affected SAP.” 
“A change in density that does not exceed ten percent, provided such density change does not result 
in fewer than 2,300 dwelling units in the Village.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The only refinements in this SAP Amendment request relate to 
Phase 3, the land uses and densities within future phases remain as shown in the Master 
Plan subject to refinements as part of future PDP requests. As further explained on pages 
41-42 of the applicant’s supporting compliance report for the SAP Amendment (Exhibit 
B1) refinements to the mix and locations of land uses include fewer smalls and standards, 
and the addition of mediums, in the central portion of the site. Large lots are concentrated 
towards the edge of Phase 3, with more mediums and smalls approaching the Village 
Center, consistent with the land use pattern throughout Villebois. The changes in Phase 3 
result in a cumulative increase of 12 units within the medium size and above aggregate 
land use category, or an increase of 7.4%, and a cumulative decrease of 29 units with the 
small size and attached aggregate land use category, or a decrease of 9.6%. These changes 
are within the 10% allowed when looking at both the Villebois Village Master Plan as a 
whole and SAP North. Through this request the density in SAP North, as measured by the 
number of units is reduced by 17 units or 3.6%, which again is much less than a 10% 
change for the Master Plan or the SAP. The Villebois Village Master Plan remains on track 
to provide well in excess of 2300 units within the Master Plan area.  
 

 
SAP North Unit 

Count within MP 
Proposed SAP 

North Unit Count % Change 

Medium/Standard/ 
Large/Estate 162 174 +7.4% 

Small/Small 
Cottage/Row 

Houses/Neighborhood 
Apts. 

302 273 -9.6% 

TOTAL 464 447 -3.6% 

 

Page 73 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 74 of 135 

  
 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 1. b. i. Refinements: Definition of Significant-Quantitative 
 
C120. Review Criteria: “As used herein, “significant” means: 

i. More than ten percent of any quantifiable matter, requirement, or performance measure, as 
specified in (.18)(F)(1)(a), above, or, 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Quantifiable measures related to this refinement include number 
of units within the aggregate land use category, which is being reduced within the 
allowable 10% limit and maintains more than 2300 units in the Villebois Village. See 
Finding C119 above. 
 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 1. B. ii. Refinements: Definition of Significant-Qualitative 
 
C121. Review Criteria: “As used herein, “significant” means: 

ii. That which negatively affects an important, qualitative feature of the subject, as specified 
in (.18)(F)(1)(a), above.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: This subsection does not provide clear definition of what an 
important qualitative feature might be. Absent details in this subsection, staff interprets the 
primary qualitative factors to consider being the three guiding design principles of the 
Villebois Village Master Plan: Connectivity, Diversity, and Sustainability. The three 
guiding design principles are further defined by the goals, policies, and implementation 
measures of the Master Plan. By virtue of better or equally implementing the goals, 
policies, and implementation measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan, as described 
in Finding C122 below, the proposed refinements do not negatively affect qualitative 
features of the street network. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 2. a. Refinements: Equally or Better Meeting Master Plan 
 
C122. Review Criteria: “The refinements will equally or better meet the Goals, Policies and 

Implementation Measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As further explained by the applicant on pages 42-43 of their 
supporting compliance report for the SAP Amendment (Exhibit B1),.increasing the variety 

Page 74 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 75 of 135 

of housing products in Phase 3 and slightly reducing the density equally or better meets the 
Villebois Village Master Plan  

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 2. b. Refinements: Impact on Resources 
 
C123. Review Criteria: “The refinement will not result in significant detrimental impacts to the 

environment or natural or scenic resources of the SAP and Village area, and” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The change in housing mix and reduction in overall density does 
not have any detrimental impacts on the environment or natural or scenic resources. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 2. c. Refinements: Relation to Adjoining Areas 
 
C124. Review Criteria: “The refinement will not preclude an adjoining or subsequent SAP area from 

development consistent with the Master Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The changes in housing mix and reduction in overall density for 
Phase 3 will not preclude adjacent future phases from developing with the housing mix and 
density shown in the Villebois Village Master Plan. 

 
Section 4.139.01 SROZ Purpose 
 
C125. Review Criteria: “The Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) is intended to be used with any 

underlying base zone as shown on the City of Wilsonville Zoning Map.  The purpose of the 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone is to implement the goals and policies of the Comprehensive 
Plan relating to natural resources, open space, environment, flood hazard, and the Willamette River 
Greenway.  In addition, the purposes of these regulations are to achieve compliance with the 
requirements of the Metro Urban Growth Management Functional Plan (UGMFP) relating to Title 
3 Water Quality Resource Areas, and Title 13 Habitat Conservation Areas, and that portion of 
Statewide Planning Goal 5 relating to significant natural resources.  It is not the intent of this 
ordinance to prevent development where the impacts to significant resources can be minimized or 
mitigated.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A small amount of SROZ at the southern edge of Phase 3. The 
SROZ regulations are being reviewed in Request H. 

 
Section 4.139.02 Where the SROZ Regulations Apply 
 
C126. Review Criteria: “The regulations of this Section apply to the portion of any lot or development 

site, which is within a Significant Resource Overlay Zone and its associated “Impact Areas”. The 
text provisions of the Significant Resource Overlay Zone ordinance take precedence over the 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone maps.   The Significant Resource Overlay Zone is described by 
boundary lines shown on the City of Wilsonville Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map. For the 
purpose of implementing the provisions of this Section, the Wilsonville Significant Resource 
Overlay Zone Map is used to determine whether a Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) is 
required.  Through the development of an SRIR, a more specific determination can be made of 
possible impacts on the significant resources. 
 
Unless otherwise exempted by these regulations, any development proposed to be located within 
the Significant Resource Overlay Zone and/or Impact Area must comply with these regulations.  

Page 75 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 76 of 135 

Where the provisions of this Section conflict with other provisions of the City of Wilsonville 
Planning and Land Development Ordinance, the more restrictive shall apply. 
 
The SROZ represents the area within the outer boundary of all inventoried significant natural 
resources.  The Significant Resource Overlay Zone includes all land identified and protected under 
Metro’s UGMFP Title 3 Water Quality Resource Areas and Title 13 Habitat Conservation Areas, 
as currently configured, significant wetlands, riparian corridors, and significant wildlife habitat that 
is inventoried and mapped on the Wilsonville Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A small amount of SROZ at the southern edge of Phase 3. The 
SROZ regulations are being reviewed in Request H. 

 
Section 4.171 Protection of Natural Features & Other Resources 
 
Subsection 4.171 (.02) General Terrain Preparation 
 
C127. Review Criteria:  

 “All developments shall be planned designed, constructed and maintained with maximum 
regard to natural terrain features and topography, especially hillside areas, floodplains, and 
other significant land forms. 

 All grading, filling and excavating done in connection with any development shall be in 
accordance with the Uniform Building Code, all development shall be planned, designed, 
constructed and maintained so as to: 

o Limit the extent of disturbance of soils and site by grading, excavation and other 
land alterations. 

o Avoid substantial probabilities of: (1) accelerated erosion; (2) pollution, 
contamination or siltation of lakes, rivers, streams and wetlands; (3) damage to 
vegetation; (4) injury to wildlife and fish habitats. 

o Minimize the removal of trees and other native vegetation that stabilize hillsides, 
retain moisture, reduce erosion, siltation and nutrient runoff, and preserve the 
natural scenic character. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The subject area is relatively flat without the features listed. 
Grading will be required to follow the Uniform Building Code, as will be reviewed for 
grading permits for the site. 

 
Subsection 4.171 (.03) Hillsides 
 
C128. Review Criterion: “Hillsides:  All developments proposed on slopes greater than 25% shall be 

limited to the extent that:” 
Finding: This criterion does not apply. 
Explanation of Finding: The subject Preliminary Development Plan does not include any 
areas of slopes in excess of 25%.  Therefore, this standard does not apply to this 
application. 

 
Subsection 4.171 (.04) Trees and Wooded Area 
 
C129. Review Criteria:  

 “All developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained so that: 

Page 76 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 77 of 135 

o Existing vegetation is not disturbed, injured, or removed prior to site development 
and prior to an approved plan for circulation, parking and structure location. 

o Existing wooded areas, significant clumps/groves of trees and vegetation, and all 
trees with a diameter at breast height of six inches or greater shall be incorporated 
into the development plan and protected wherever feasible. 

o Existing trees are preserved within any right-of-way when such trees are suitably 
located, healthy, and when approved grading allows. 

 Trees and woodland areas to be retained shall be protected during site preparation and 
construction according to City Public Works design specifications, by:  

o Avoiding disturbance of the roots by grading and/or compacting activity. 
o Providing for drainage and water and air filtration to the roots of trees which will 

be covered with impermeable surfaces. 
o Requiring, if necessary, the advisory expertise of a registered arborist/horticulturist 

both during and after site preparation. 
o Requiring, if necessary, a special maintenance, management program to insure 

survival of specific woodland areas of specimen trees or individual heritage status 
trees. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No wooded areas exist within Phase 3. Individual trees of been 
inventoried and reviewed for preservation consistent with the Villebois Village Master 
Plan and the City’s Tree Ordinance. See Request F. Future phases will also have tree plans 
reviewed concurrent with PDP requests. 
 

Subsection 4.171 (.05) High Voltage Power Lines 
 
C130. Review Criteria: “High Voltage Power line Easements and Rights of Way and Petroleum Pipeline 

Easements: 
 Due to the restrictions placed on these lands, no residential structures shall be allowed 

within high voltage power line easements and rights of way and petroleum pipeline 
easements, and any development, particularly residential, adjacent to high voltage power 
line easements and rights of way and petroleum pipeline easement shall be carefully 
reviewed. 

 Any proposed non-residential development within high voltage power line easements and 
rights of way and petroleum pipeline easements shall be coordinated with and approved by 
the Bonneville Power Administration, Portland General Electric Company or other 
appropriate utility, depending on the easement or right of way ownership. 

Finding: These criteria do not apply. 
Explanation of Finding: The development area and surrounding area are not around high 
voltage power lines.  

 
Subsection 4.171 (.06) Safety Hazards  
 
C131. Review Criteria: “ 

 To protect lives and property from natural or human-induced geologic or hydrologic 
hazards and disasters. 

 To protect lives and property from damage due to soil hazards. 
 To protect lives and property from forest and brush fires. 
 To avoid financial loss resulting from development in hazard areas. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 77 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 78 of 135 

Explanation of Finding: The applicant states that development of the subject area will 
occur in a manner that minimizes potential hazards to safety. 

 
Subsection 4.171 (.07) Earth Movement Hazard Areas 
 
C132. Review Criterion: “No development or grading shall be allowed in areas of land movement, 

slump or earth flow, and mud or debris flow, except under one of the following conditions.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No areas of land movement, slump, earth flow, or mud or debris 
flow have been identified in the project area. 

 
Subsection 4.171 (.08) Standards for Soil Hazard Areas 
 
C133. Review Criteria: 

 “Appropriate siting and design safeguards shall insure structural stability and proper 
drainage of foundation and crawl space areas for development on land with any of the 
following soil conditions:  wet or high water table; high shrink-swell capability; 
compressible or organic; and shallow depth-to-bedrock. 

 The principal source of information for determining soil hazards is the State DOGAMI 
Bulletin 99 and any subsequent bulleting and accompanying maps.  Approved site-specific 
soil studies shall be used to identify the extent and severity of the hazardous conditions on 
the site, and to update the soil hazards database accordingly. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No soil hazard areas have been identified within the subject area. 

 
Subsection 4.171 (.09) Historic Protection 
 
C134. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes requirements for protection of historic resources. 

Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A Cultural Resources Inventory for SAP North Phase 3 (see 
Exhibit B1, notebook, Section IIE) describes methods, conditions, findings, and 
recommendations related to historic, cultural, and archeological resources on the subject 
site in detail.  A foundation and well have been identified as Site KBS1. As stated in the 
inventory report “it is unlikely that site KBS1 has the potential to yield important 
information about the area’s history. SWCA (consultant) recommends that site KBS1 is 
not eligible for listing in the NRHP and, should SHPO concur with this recommendation, 
construction activities in the APE may proceed as planned.” Exhibit B7 shows SHPO 
concurrency. 

 
Section 4.178 Sidewalk and Pathway Standards 
 
C135. Review Criteria:  

 “Sidewalks.  All sidewalks shall be concrete and a minimum of five (5) feet in width, 
except where the walk is adjacent to commercial storefronts.  In such cases, they shall be 
increased to a minimum of ten (10) feet in width. 

 Pathways 
o Bicycle facilities shall be provided using a bicycle lane as the preferred facility 

design.  The other facility designs listed will only be used if the bike lane standard 

Page 78 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 79 of 135 

cannot be constructed due to physical or financial constraints.  The alternative 
standards are listed in order of preference. 

o Bike lane.  This design includes 12-foot minimum travel lanes for autos and paved 
shoulders, 5-6 feet wide for bikes that are striped and marked as bicycle lanes.  
This shall be the basic standard applied to bike lanes on all arterial and collector 
streets in the City, with the exception of minor residential collectors with less than 
1,500 (existing or anticipated) vehicle trips per day.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Sheet 8 of the applicant’s plan sheets, Exhibit B2, depict cross-
sections of the proposed sidewalks and pathways in compliance with the above standards 
and Master Plan figures 

  

Page 79 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 80 of 135 

REQUEST D: DB14-0011 SAP-NORTH PDP 3, PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 
The applicant’s findings in Section IIA of their PDP notebook, Exhibit B3, respond to the 
majority of the applicable criteria. 
 
Village Zone 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.02) Permitted Uses in Village Zone 
 
D1. Review Criteria: This subsection lists the uses typically permitted in the Village Zone, including 

single-family detached dwellings, row houses, and non-commercial parks, playgrounds, and 
recreational facilities. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The uses proposed includes single-family homes, parks and 
playgrounds, and open space which are permitted in the Village Zone. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.05) Development Standards Applying to All Development in the Village 
Zone 
 
“All development in this zone shall be subject to the V Zone and the applicable provisions of the 
Wilsonville Planning and Land Development Ordinance.  If there is a conflict, then the standards of 
this section shall apply.  The following standards shall apply to all development in the V zone:” 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.05) A. Block, Alley, Pedestrian, and Bicycle Standards  
 
D2. Review Criteria: This subsection lists the block, alley, pedestrian, and bicycle standards 

applicable in the Village Zone. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Preliminary Development Plan drawings, Exhibit B4, shows 
blocks, alleys, pedestrian, and bicycle paths consistent with this subsection and the SAP, as 
proposed to be amended.  
 

Subsection 4.125 (.05) B. Access 
 
D3. Review Criterion: “All lots with access to a public street, and an alley, shall take vehicular access 

from the alley to a garage or parking area, except as determined by the City Engineer.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A condition of approval for the Tentative Subdivision Plat will 
ensure compliance with this standard.  See Request E. 

 
  

Page 80 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 81 of 135 

Table V-1, Development Standards 
 
D4. Review Criteria:  

 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: In previous PDP’s it has consistently been interpreted to allow 
the lot width and lot sizes to be governed by the Pattern Book. All lot dimensions and sizes 
meet the standards established in the SAP North Pattern Book.  

 
  

Page 81 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 82 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.07) Table V-2 Off-Street Parking, Loading & Bicycle Parking 
 
D5. Review Criteria:  

 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: At least two (2) parking spaces are provided for each home, 
exceeding the minimum of one (1). On street parking will also be provided throughout the 
development 

  

Page 82 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 83 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.08) Parks & Open Space 
 
D6. Review Criteria: This subsection prescribes the open space requirement for development in the 

Village Zone. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Figure 5 Parks & Open Space Plan of the Villebois Village 
Master Plan states that there are a total of 159.73 acres within Villebois, which is 
approximately 33% of Villebois. As described in the Parks, Trails, and Open Space 
refinement as part of the SAP Amendment, Request C, a pocket park along with linear 
greens and landscape areas are being added increasing the overall amount of open space 
within Villebois.  

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) Street Alignment and Access Improvements 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 1. a. Street Alignment and Access Improvements Conformity with 
Master Plan, etc. 
 
D7. Review Criterion: “All street alignment and access improvements shall conform to the Villebois 

Village Master Plan, or as refined in the Specific Area Plan, Preliminary Development Plan, or 
Final Development Plan . . .” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The street alignments and access improvements conform with 
SAP North plans which have been found to be in compliance with the Villebois Village 
Master Plans with some minor refinements regarding alignment of the streets. See Request 
C Findings C69 and Findings C101 through C106. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 1. a. i. Street Improvement: Conformity with Public Works 
Standards and Continuation of Streets 
 
D8. Review Criteria: “All street improvements shall conform to the Public Works Standards and shall 

provide for the continuation of streets through proposed developments to adjoining properties or 
subdivisions, according to the Master Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All street improvements within this PDP will comply with the 
applicable Public Works Standards and make the connections to adjoining properties and 
phases as shown in the Villebois Village Master Plan, as refined in Request C. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 1. a. ii. Streets Developed According to Master Plan 
 
D9. Review Criterion: “All streets shall be developed according to the Master Plan.” 

Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All streets within this PDP will be developed with curbs, 
landscape strips, sidewalks, and bikeways or pedestrian pathways as depicted on the 
Circulation Plan and Street Sections, Sheet 7 of Exhibit B4, , which are consistent with the 
cross sections shown in the Master Plan and as approved by the City Engineer for Grahams 
Ferry Road and Tooze Road. 

 
  

Page 83 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 84 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 2. a. & b. Intersections of Streets: Angles and Intersections 
 
D10. Review Criteria:  

 “Angles: Streets shall intersect one another at angles not less than 90 degrees, unless existing 
development or topography makes it impractical. 

 Intersections:  If the intersection cannot be designed to form a right angle, then the right-of-way 
and paving within the acute angle shall have a minimum of thirty (30) foot centerline radius and 
said angle shall not be less than sixty (60) degrees.  Any angle less than ninety (90) degrees 
shall require approval by the City Engineer after consultation with the Fire District.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Circulation Plan, Sheet 7 of Exhibit B4, demonstrates that 
all proposed streets will intersect at angles consistent with the above standards.  

 
Subsection 4.15 (.09) A. 2. c. Intersection of Streets: Offsets 
 
D11. Review Criterion: “Offsets: Opposing intersections shall be designed so that no offset dangerous 

to the traveling public is created. Intersections shall be separated by at least: 
 1000 ft. for major arterials 
 600 ft. for minor arterials 
 100 ft. for major collector 
 50 ft. for minor collector” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Circulation Plan, Sheet 7 of Exhibit B4, demonstrate that 
opposing intersections on public streets are offset, as appropriate, so that no danger to the 
traveling public is created.  

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 2. d. Curb Extensions 
 
D12. Review Criteria: “Curb extensions at intersections shall be shown on the Specific Area Plans 

required in subsection 4.125(.18)(C) through (F) below, and shall: 
 Not obstruct bicycle lanes on collector streets. 
 Provide a minimum 20 foot wide clear distance between curb extensions at all local 

residential street intersections shall have, shall meet minimum turning radius requirements 
of the Public Works Standards, and shall facilitate fire truck turning movements as 
required by the Fire District.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Curb extensions are shown on the Circulation Plan, Sheet 7 of 
Exhibit B4. Curb extensions will not obstruct bicycle lanes on collector streets. The plan 
sheets illustrate that all local street intersections will have a minimum 20 foot wide clear 
distance between curb extensions. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 3. Street Grades 
 
D13. Review Criteria: “Street grades shall be a maximum of 6% on arterials and 8% for collector and 

local streets. Where topographic conditions dictate, grades in excess of 8%, but not more than 12%, 
may be permitted for short distances, as approved by the City Engineer, where topographic 
conditions or existing improvements warrant modification of these standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No streets are proposed that exceed or approach the maximum 

Page 84 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 85 of 135 

grade. 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 4. Centerline Radius Street Curves 
 
D14. Review Criterion: “The minimum centerline radius street curves shall be as follows: 

 Arterial streets: 600 feet, but may be reduced to 400 feet in commercial areas, as approved 
by City Engineer. 

 Collector streets:  600 feet, but may be reduced to conform with the Public Works 
Standards, as approved by the City Engineer. 

 Local streets:  75 feet” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Compliance is shown on the Circulation Plan, Sheet 7 of Exhibit 
B4. 
 

Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 5. Rights-of-way 
 
D15. Review Criteria: Pursuant to subsection (.09) A. above, the provisions of 4.177 apply for 

rights-of-way as no other provisions are noted. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Proposed rights-of-way are shown on the applicant’s plan sheets, 
including Sheet 4, Preliminary Plat, in Exhibit B4 as revised in Exhibit B6.  Rights-of-way 
will be dedicated and a waiver of remonstrance against the formation of a local 
improvement district will be recorded with recordation of a final plat in accordance with 
Section 4.177. 
 

Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 6. Access Drives 
 
D16. Review Criteria: Access drives are required to be 16 feet for two-way traffic. Otherwise, pursuant 

to subsection (.09) A. above, the provisions of 4.177 apply for access drives as no other provisions 
are noted. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant states, “Access drives (alleys) will be paved at 
least 16-feet in width within a 20-foot tract, as shown on the Circulation Plan.   In 
accordance with Section 4.177, all access drives will be constructed with a hard surface 
capable of carrying a 23-ton load.  Easements for fire access will be dedicated as required 
by the fire department.  All access drives will be designed to provide a clear travel lane 
free from any obstructions.” 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 7. Clear Vision Areas 
 

D17. Review Criteria: Pursuant to subsection (.09) A. above, the provisions of 4.177 apply for clear 
vision areas as no other provisions are noted. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant states that clear vision areas will be provided and 
maintained in compliance with the Section 4.177. 

 
  

Page 85 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 86 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 8. Vertical Clearance 
 
D18. Review Criteria: Pursuant to subsection (.09) A. above, the provisions of 4.177 apply for vertical 

clearance as no other provisions are noted. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant states that Vertical clearance will be provided and 
maintained in compliance with the Section 4.177. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 9. Interim Improvement Standards 
 
D19. Review Criteria: Pursuant to subsection (.09) A. above, the provisions of 4.177 apply for interim 

improvement standards as no other provisions are noted. 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No interim street improvements are proposed pursuant to this 
subjection. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.10) Sidewalk and Pathway Improvement Standards 
 
D20. Review Criteria: “The provisions of Section 4.178 shall apply within the Village zone.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All sidewalks and pathways within PDP 3 North will be 
constructed in accordance with the standards of Section 4.178 and the Villebois Village 
Master Plan. Sidewalks and pathways are shown in the Circulation Plan and Street Cross-
sections, Sheet 7 of Exhibit B4. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.11) Landscaping, Screening and Buffering 
 
D21. Review Criteria: “Except as noted below, the provisions of Section 4.176 shall apply in the 

Village zone: 
 Streets in the Village Zone shall be developed with street trees as described in the 

Community Elements Book.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The appropriate landscaping is provided. The proposed street 
trees are among the choices provided in the Community Elements Book. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.12) Signage and Wayfinding 
 
D22. Review Criteria: “Except as this subsection may otherwise be amended, or until such time as a 

Signage and Wayfinding Plan is approved as required by Section 4.125(.18)(D)(2)(f), signs within 
the Village zone shall be subject to provisions of Section 4.156.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Signage will be provided consistent with the SAP North Signage 
& Wayfinding Plan. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.13) Design Principles Applying to the Village Zone 
 
D23. Review Criteria: “The following design principles reflect the fundamental concepts, and support 

the objectives of the Villebois Village Master Plan, and guide the fundamental qualities of the built 
environment within the Village zone. 

Page 86 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 87 of 135 

 The design of landscape, streets, public places and buildings shall create a place of distinct 
character. 

 The landscape, streets, public places and buildings within individual development projects 
shall be considered related and connected components of the Villebois Village Master 
Plan. 

 The design of streets and public spaces shall provide for and promote pedestrian safety, 
connectivity and activity. 

 The design of exterior lighting shall minimize off-site impacts, yet enable functionality.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Architectural Pattern Book and Community Elements Book 
ensure the design meets the fundamental design concepts and support the objectives of the 
Villebois Village Master Plan. By complying with an approved Architectural Pattern Book 
and Community Elements Book, the design of the PDP will satisfy these criteria. See also 
Final Development Plan, Request G. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.14) A. 1. a. Design Standards: Flag Lots 
 
D24. Review Criterion: “Flag lots are not permitted.” 

Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No flag lots are proposed. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.14) A. 2. a. - e. and h. – k. Building and Site Design Requirements 
 
D25. Review Criteria: “Building and site design shall include: 

 Proportions and massing of architectural elements consistent with those established in an 
approved Architectural Pattern Book or Village Center Architectural Standards. 

 Materials, colors and architectural details executed in a manner consistent with the 
methods included in an approved Architectural Pattern Book, Community Elements Book 
or approved Village Center Architectural Standards. 

 Protective overhangs or recesses at windows and doors. 
 Raised stoops, terraces or porches at single-family dwellings. 
 Exposed gutters, scuppers, and downspouts, or approved equivalent. 
 Building elevations of block complexes shall not repeat an elevation found on an adjacent 

block. 
 Building elevations of detached buildings shall not repeat an elevation found on buildings 

on adjacent lots. 
 A porch shall have no more than three walls. 
 A garage shall provide enclosure for the storage of no more than three motor vehicles, as 

described in the definition of Parking Space.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Conditions of Approval. 
Explanation of Finding: The application requests PDP approval for single family 
detached houses. Conformance with the Pattern Book and Community Elements Book will 
assure consistency with the Design Standards of subsection (.14). Conformance with the 
Architectural Pattern Book will be reviewed at the issuance of each building permit. 
Conceptual front elevations of the planned homes are provided. See Section IIF) of Exhibit 
B3. Compliance with the Community Elements Book is being reviewed as part of Request 
F Final Development Plan. In order to increase consistency with the Architectural Pattern 
Book and other development elsewhere in Villebois Condition of Approval PDD 5 

Page 87 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 88 of 135 

requires courtyard fencing consistent with the pattern book and the architectural style of 
the home for at least 30% of the homes with usable courtyards not exceeding a 5% slope.  

 
Subsection 4.125 (.14) A. 2. g. Landscape Plans 
 
D26. Review Criterion: “Building and site design shall include: 

 A landscape plan in compliance with Sections 4.125(.07) and (.11), above.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The appropriate landscape plans have been provided. See FDP 
Plans, Exhibit B5. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.14) A. 2. f. Protection of Significant Trees 
 
D27. Review Criterion: “Building and site design shall include: 

 The protection of existing significant trees as identified in an approved Community 
Elements Book.” 

Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Tree protection information is provided. See also Request F. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.14) A. 3. Lighting and Site Furnishings 
 
D28. Review Criteria: “Lighting and site furnishings shall be in compliance with the approved 

Architectural Pattern Book, Community Elements Book, or approved Village Center Architectural 
Standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be required to do so by Condition of Approval 
PDD 2. 
Explanation of Finding: Park plans show furnishings consistent with the Community 
Elements Book. A condition of approval ensure the final street lighting installation is 
consistent with the Community Elements Book. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.14) A. 4. Building Systems 
 
D29. Review Criteria: “Building systems, as noted in Tables V-3 and V-4 (Permitted Materials and 

Configurations), below, shall comply with the materials, applications and configurations required 
therein.  Design creativity is encouraged.  The LEED Building Certification Program of the U.S. 
Green Building Council may be used as a guide in this regard.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Subsequent Building Permit applications will review proposed 
buildings for consistency with the criteria of Table V-3 and the Architectural Pattern Book.   
 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. Preliminary Development Plan Approval Process 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 1. a. Preliminary Development Plan: Submission Timing 
 
D30. Review Criterion: “An application for approval of a Preliminary Development Plan for a 

development in an approved SAP shall be filed with the City Planning Division for the entire SAP, 
or when submission of the SAP in phases has been authorized by the Development Review Board, 
for a phase in the approved sequence.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 

Page 88 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 89 of 135 

Explanation of Finding: This PDP addresses Phase 3 on the SAP North Phasing Plan as 
amended with Request C. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 1. b. Preliminary Development Plan: Owners’ Consent 
 
D31. Review Criterion: “An application for approval of a Preliminary Development Plan for a 

development in an approved SAP shall be made by the owner of all affected property or the 
owner’s authorized agent;” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: This application is made by Fred Gast of Polygon Homes. The 
PDP application has been signed by owners Wayne Rembold of Villebois LLC as well as 
Charles and Carolyn Taber. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 1. c. Preliminary Development Plan Permit Process: Proper Form & 
Fees 
 
D32. Review Criterion: “An application for approval of a Preliminary Development Plan for a 

development in an approved SAP shall be filed on a form prescribed by the City Planning Division 
and filed with said division and accompanied by such fee as the City Council may prescribe by 
resolution;” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant has used the prescribed form and paid the required 
application fees. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 1. d. Preliminary Development Plan Permit Process: Professional 
Coordinator 
 
D33. Review Criterion: “An application for approval of a Preliminary Development Plan for a 

development in an approved SAP shall set forth the professional coordinator and professional 
design team for the project;” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A professional design team is working on the project with Stacy 
Connery AICP from Pacific Community Design as the professional coordinator. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 1. e. Preliminary Development Plan Permit Process: Mixed Uses 
 
D34. Review Criterion: “An application for approval of a Preliminary Development Plan for a 

development in an approved SAP shall state whether the development will include mixed land 
uses, and if so, what uses and in what proportions and locations.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed PDP includes only residential uses with supporting 
recreational amenities and utilities. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 1. f. Preliminary Development Plan Permit Process: Land Division 
 
D35. Review Criterion: “An application for approval of a Preliminary Development Plan for a 

development in an approved SAP shall include a preliminary land division (concurrently) per 
Section 4.400, as applicable.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 

Page 89 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 90 of 135 

Explanation of Finding: A preliminary subdivision plat has been submitted concurrently 
with this request. See Request E. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 1. g. Preliminary Development Plan Permit Process: Zone Map 
Amendment 
 
D36. Review Criterion: “An application for approval of a Preliminary Development Plan for a 

development in an approved SAP shall include a concurrent application for a Zone Map 
Amendment (i.e., Zone Change) for the subject phase.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A zone map amendment request has been submitted concurrently 
with this request. See Request B. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 2. a. – c. Preliminary Development Plan Permit Process: 
Information Required 
 
D37. Review Criteria: “The application for Preliminary Development Plan approval shall include 

conceptual and quantitatively accurate representations of the entire development sufficient to 
demonstrate conformance with the approved SAP and to judge the scope, size and impact of the 
development on the community and shall be accompanied by the following information: 

 A boundary survey or a certified boundary description by a surveyor licensed in the State 
of Oregon. 

 Topographic information sufficient to determine direction and percentage of slopes, 
drainage patterns, and in environmentally sensitive areas, (e.g., flood plain, wetlands, 
forested areas, steep slopes or adjacent to stream banks).  Contour lines shall relate to 
North American Vertical Datum of 1988 and be at minimum intervals as follows: 

o One (1) foot contours for slopes of up to five percent (5%); 
o Two (2) foot contours for slopes from six percent (6%) to twelve (12%); 
o Five (5) foot contours for slopes from twelve percent (12%) to twenty percent 

(20%).  These slopes shall be clearly identified, and 
o Ten (10) foot contours for slopes exceeding twenty percent (20%). 

 The location of areas designated Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ), and 
associated 25-foot Impact Areas, within the PDP and within 50 feet of the PDP boundary, 
as required by Section 4.139. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All of the listed information has been provided. See Exhibits B3 
and B4. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 2. d. Preliminary Development Plan Permit Process: Land Area 
Tabulation 
 
D38. Review Criteria: “A tabulation of the land area to be devoted to various uses, and a calculation of 

the average residential density per net acre.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Following is a tabulation of land area devoted to the various uses 
and a calculation of net residential density: 
 
Approx. Gross Acreage  15.16 Acres 
Parks and Open Space  2.03 Acres 

Page 90 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 91 of 135 

Public Streets   4.49 Acres 
Lots and Alleys   8.64 Acres 
   
Net Residential Density:  84 lots / 8.64 Acres = 9.72 units per net acre 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 2. e. Preliminary Development Plan Permit Process: Streets, Alleys, 
and Trees 
 
D39. Review Criteria: “The location, dimensions and names, as appropriate, of existing and platted 

streets and alleys on and within 50 feet of the perimeter of the PDP, together with the location of 
existing and planned easements, sidewalks, bike routes and bikeways, trails, and the location of 
other important features such as section lines, section corners, and City boundary lines. The plan 
shall also identify all trees 6 inches and greater d.b.h. on the project site only.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Information on planned alleys and streets are provided or the 
information is readily available. Easements, sidewalks, bike routes and bikeways, trails, 
and other relevant features are shown. The required trees are shown. See Exhibit B4. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 2. f. Preliminary Development Plan Permit Process: Building 
Drawings 
 
D40. Review Criteria: “Conceptual drawings, illustrations and building elevations for each of the listed 

housing products and typical non-residential and mixed-use buildings to be constructed within the 
Preliminary Development Plan boundary, as identified in the approved SAP, and where required, 
the approved Village Center Design.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed PDP includes Large, Standard, Medium, and 
Small detached single-family housing products. Conceptual elevations have been provided. 
See Section IIF) of applicant’s notebook, Exhibit B3. The elevations have been reviewed 
by the City’s consultant architect for consistency with the Architectural Pattern Book or 
will be prior to issuance of building permits. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 2. g. Preliminary Development Plan Permit Process: Utility Plan 
 
D41. Review Criterion: “A composite utility plan illustrating existing and proposed water, sanitary 

sewer, and storm drainage facilities necessary to serve the SAP.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A composite utility plan has been provided. See applicant’s 
Sheet 6, Exhibit B4. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 2. h. Preliminary Development Plan Permit Process: Phasing 
Sequence 
 
D42. Review Criterion: “If it is proposed that the Preliminary Development Plan will be executed in 

Phases, the sequence thereof shall be provided.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The PDP is proposed to be executed in a single phase. 

 
  

Page 91 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 92 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 2. i. Preliminary Development Plan Permit Process: Security for 
Capital Improvements 
 
D43. Review Criterion: “A commitment by the applicant to provide a performance bond or other 

acceptable security for the capital improvements required by the project.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant states “the applicant will provide a performance 
bond or other acceptable security for the capital improvements required by the project.” 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) G. 2. j. Preliminary Development Plan Permit Process: Traffic Report 
 
D44. Review Criterion: “At the applicant’s expense, the City shall have a Traffic Impact Analysis 

prepared, as required by Section 4.030(.02)(B), to review the anticipated traffic impacts of the 
proposed development.  This traffic report shall include an analysis of the impact of the SAP on the 
local street and road network, and shall specify the maximum projected average daily trips and 
maximum parking demand associated with buildout of the entire SAP, and it shall meet Subsection 
4.140(.09)(J)(2).” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The required traffic report has been provided, and can be found 
in Section IID of the applicant’s notebook, Exhibit B3.  

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) H. PDP Application Submittal Requirements 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) H. 1. PDP Application Submittal Requirements: General 
 
D45. Review Criteria: “The Preliminary Development Plan shall conform with the approved Specific 

Area Plan, and shall include all information required by (.18)(D)(1) and (2), plus the following: 
 The location of water, sewerage and drainage facilities; 
 Conceptual building and landscape plans and elevations, sufficient to indicate the general 

character of the development; 
 The general type and location of signs; 
 Topographic information as set forth in Section 4.035; 
 A map indicating the types and locations of all proposed uses; and 
 A grading and erosion control plan illustrating existing and proposed contours as 

prescribed previously in this section.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The PDP matches the requested approval of the SAP North, as 
requested to be amended in Request C, and the application includes all of the requested 
information.   

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) H. 2. PDP Application Submittal Requirements: Traffic Report 
 
D46. Review Criteria: “In addition to this information, and unless waived by the City’s Community 

Development Director as enabled by Section 4.008(.02)(B), at the applicant’s expense, the City 
shall have a Traffic Impact Analysis prepared, as required by Section 4.030(.02)(B), to review the 
anticipated traffic impacts of the proposed development.  This traffic report shall include an 
analysis of the impact of the PDP on the local street and road network, and shall specify the 
maximum projected average daily trips and maximum parking demand associated with buildout of 

Page 92 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 93 of 135 

the entire PDP, and it shall meet Subsection 4.140(.09)(J)(2) for the full development of all five 
SAPs.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The required traffic report is included in Section IID of the 
applicant’s notebook, Exhibit B3.  

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) H. 3. PDP Application Submittal Requirements: Level of Detail 
 
D47. Review Criterion: “The Preliminary Development Plan shall be sufficiently detailed to indicate 

fully the ultimate operation and appearance of the phase of development.  However, approval of a 
Final Development Plan is a separate and more detailed review of proposed design features, subject 
to the standards of Section 4.125(.18)(L) through (P), and Section 4.400 through Section 4.450.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The required level of detail has been shown, similar to other 
PDP’s approved throughout Villebois. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) H. 4. PDP Application Submittal Requirements: Copies of Legal 
Documents 
 
D48. Review Criterion: “Copies of legal documents required by the Development Review Board for 

dedication or reservation of public facilities, or for the creation of a non-profit homeowner’s 
association, shall also be submitted.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The required legal documents for review have been provided. 
See Section IVC in the applicant’s notebook, Exhibit B3. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) I. PDP Approval Procedures 
 
D49. Review Criteria: “An application for PDP approval shall be reviewed using the following 

procedures: 
 Notice of a public hearing before the Development Review Board regarding a proposed 

PDP shall be made in accordance with the procedures contained in Section 4.012. 
 A public hearing shall be held on each such application as provided in Section 4.013. 
 After such hearing, the Development Review Board shall determine whether the proposal 

conforms to the permit criteria set forth in this Code, and shall approve, conditionally 
approve, or disapprove the application.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The request is being reviewed according to this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) K. PDP Approval Criteria 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) K. 1. a. PDP Approval Criteria: Consistent with Standards of Section 
4.125 
 
D50. Review Criteria: “Is consistent with the standards identified in this section.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As shown elsewhere in this request, the proposed Preliminary 
Development Plan is consistent with the standards of Section 4.125. 

 

Page 93 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 94 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) K. 1. b. PDP Approval Criteria: Complies with the Planning and Land 
Development Ordinance 
 

D51. Review Criterion: “Complies with the applicable standards of the Planning and Land 
Development Ordinance, including Section 4.140(.09)(J)(1)-(3).” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Findings are provided showing compliance with applicable 
standards of the Planning and Land Development Ordinance. Specifically Findings D57 
through D59 address Subsections 4.140 (.09) J. 1. through 3. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) K. 1. c. PDP Approval Criteria: Consistent with Approved SAP 
 
D52. Review Criterion: “Is consistent with the approved Specific Area Plan in which it is located.” 

Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The requested PDP approval is consistent with the SAP, as 
requested to be amended by Request C. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) K. 1. d. PDP Approval Criteria: Consistent with Approved Pattern Book 
 
D53. Review Criterion: “Is consistent with the approved Pattern Book and, where required, the 

approved Village Center Architectural Standards.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As stated by the applicant, “No buildings are proposed with this 
Preliminary Development Plan.  Subsequent Building Permit applications for residential 
buildings in this Preliminary Development Plan will document compliance with the 
Architectural Pattern Book.  However, proposed lots are sized to accommodate proposed 
uses in a manner consistent with Table V-1 and the Architectural Pattern Book.”  

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) K. 2. PDP Approval Criteria: Reasonable Phasing Schedule 
 
D54. Review Criterion: “If the PDP is to be phased, that the phasing schedule is reasonable and does 

not exceed two years between commencement of development of the first, and completion of the 
last phase, unless otherwise authorized by the Development Review Board.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The PDP will be completed in a single phase. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) K. 3. PDP Approval Criteria: Parks Concurrency 
 
D55. Review Criterion: “Parks within each PDP or PDP Phase shall be constructed prior to occupancy 

of 50% of the dwelling units in the PDP or PDP phase, unless weather or other special 
circumstances prohibit completion, in which case bonding for such improvements shall be 
permitted.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDD 3. 
Explanation of Finding: A condition of approval ensures the parks within PDP 3 North 
completed prior to occupancy of 50% of the housing units of the phase or bonding will be 
provided if special circumstances prevent completion. Specifically, park improvement 
shown must be completed prior to the granting of the building permit for the 42nd house in 
the PDP.  

 

Page 94 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 95 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.18) K. 5. PDP Approval Criteria: DRB Conditions 
 
D56. Review Criterion: “The Development Review Board may require modifications to the PDP, or 

otherwise impose such conditions as it may deem necessary to ensure conformance with the 
approved SAP, the Villebois Village Master Plan, and compliance with applicable requirements 
and standards of the Planning and Land Development Ordinance, and the standards of this section.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No additional conditions of approval are recommended. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. Planned Development Permit Review Criteria 
 
“A planned development permit may be granted by the Development Review Board only if it is 
found that the development conforms to all the following criteria, as well as to the Planned 
Development Regulations in Section 4.140:” 
 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 1. Consistency with Comprehensive Plan and Other Plans, 
Ordinances 
 
D57. Review Criteria: “The location, design, size and uses, both separately and as a whole, are 

consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, and with any other applicable plan, development map or 
Ordinance adopted by the City Council.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant’s findings demonstrate the location, design, size, 
and uses proposed with the PDP are both separately and as a whole consistent with SAP 
North as proposed to be amended in Request C, and thus the Villebois Village Master Plan, 
the City’s Comprehensive Plan designation of Residential – Village for the area, and any 
other applicable ordinance of which staff is aware. 

 
Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 2. Meeting Traffic Level of Service D 
 
D58. Review Criteria: That the location, design, size and uses are such that traffic generated by the 

development at the most probable used intersection(s) can be accommodated safely and without 
congestion in excess of Level of Service D, as defined in the Highway Capacity manual published 
by the National Highway Research Board, on existing or immediately planned arterial or collector 
streets and will, in the case of commercial or industrial developments, avoid traversing local 
streets. Immediately planned arterial and collector streets are those listed in the City’s adopted 
Capital Improvement Program, for which funding has been approved or committed, and that are 
scheduled for completion within two years of occupancy of the development or four year if they 
are an associated crossing, interchange, or approach street improvement to Interstate 5. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The location, design, size and uses are such that traffic generated 
within the PDP at the most heavily used intersection(s) can be accommodated safely and 
without congestion in excess of Level of Service D.  The proposed uses and the circulation 
system are consistent with SAP North, as requested to be amended in Request C.  A copy 
of the Traffic Impact Analysis is included in Section IID of the applicant’s notebook, 
Exhibit B3.   

 
  

Page 95 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 96 of 135 

Subsection 4.140 (.09) J. 3. Concurrency for Other Facilities and Services 
 
D59. Review Criteria: “That the location, design, size and uses are such that the residents or 

establishments to be accommodated will be adequately served by existing or immediately planned 
facilities and services.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As shown in the Utility and Drainage Report, Section IIIC of the 
applicant’s notebook, Exhibit B3, and the applicant’s Composite Utility Plan, Sheet 6 of 
Exhibit B4, adequate or immediately planned facilities and services are sufficient to serve 
the planned development.  

 
Section 4.171 Protection of Natural Features & Other Resources 
 
Subsection 4.171 (.02) General Terrain Preparation 
 
D60. Review Criteria:  

 “All developments shall be planned designed, constructed and maintained with maximum 
regard to natural terrain features and topography, especially hillside areas, floodplains, and 
other significant land forms. 

 All grading, filling and excavating done in connection with any development shall be in 
accordance with the Uniform Building Code, all development shall be planned, designed, 
constructed and maintained so as to: 

o Limit the extent of disturbance of soils and site by grading, excavation and other 
land alterations. 

o Avoid substantial probabilities of: (1) accelerated erosion; (2) pollution, 
contamination or siltation of lakes, rivers, streams and wetlands; (3) damage to 
vegetation; (4) injury to wildlife and fish habitats. 

o Minimize the removal of trees and other native vegetation that stabilize hillsides, 
retain moisture, reduce erosion, siltation and nutrient runoff, and preserve the 
natural scenic character. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The PDP matches the SAP North approvals, as requested to be 
amended in Request C and found to meet the requirements of this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.171 (.03) Hillsides 
 
D61. Review Criterion: “Hillsides:  All developments proposed on slopes greater than 25% shall be 

limited to the extent that:” 
Finding: This criterion does not apply. 
Explanation of Finding: No development is proposed on such slopes. 

 
Subsection 4.171 (.04) Trees and Wooded Area 
 
D62. Review Criteria:  

 “All developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained so that: 
o Existing vegetation is not disturbed, injured, or removed prior to site development 

and prior to an approved plan for circulation, parking and structure location. 
o Existing wooded areas, significant clumps/groves of trees and vegetation, and all 

trees with a diameter at breast height of six inches or greater shall be incorporated 
into the development plan and protected wherever feasible. 

Page 96 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 97 of 135 

o Existing trees are preserved within any right-of-way when such trees are suitably 
located, healthy, and when approved grading allows. 

 Trees and woodland areas to be retained shall be protected during site preparation and 
construction according to City Public Works design specifications, by:  

o Avoiding disturbance of the roots by grading and/or compacting activity. 
o Providing for drainage and water and air filtration to the roots of trees which will 

be covered with impermeable surfaces. 
o Requiring, if necessary, the advisory expertise of a registered arborist/horticulturist 

both during and after site preparation. 
o Requiring, if necessary, a special maintenance, management program to insure 

survival of specific woodland areas of specimen trees or individual heritage status 
trees. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Tree Preservation Plan, Section VI of Exhibit B3 and Sheet 
10 of Exhibit B4, depicts existing trees within the subject area and identifies trees to be 
retained and to be removed. This application includes a request for approval of a Type “C” 
Tree Removal Plan. See Request F.   
 

Subsection 4.171 (.05) High Voltage Power Lines 
 
D63. Review Criteria: “High Voltage Power line Easements and Rights of Way and Petroleum Pipeline 

Easements: 
 Due to the restrictions placed on these lands, no residential structures shall be allowed 

within high voltage power line easements and rights of way and petroleum pipeline 
easements, and any development, particularly residential, adjacent to high voltage power 
line easements and rights of way and petroleum pipeline easement shall be carefully 
reviewed. 

 Any proposed non-residential development within high voltage power line easements and 
rights of way and petroleum pipeline easements shall be coordinated with and approved by 
the Bonneville Power Administration, Portland General Electric Company or other 
appropriate utility, depending on the easement or right of way ownership. 

Finding: These criteria do not apply. 
Explanation of Finding: The development area and surrounding area are not around high 
voltage power lines.  

 
Subsection 4.171 (.06) Safety Hazards  
 
D64. Review Criteria: “ 

 To protect lives and property from natural or human-induced geologic or hydrologic 
hazards and disasters. 

 To protect lives and property from damage due to soil hazards. 
 To protect lives and property from forest and brush fires. 
 To avoid financial loss resulting from development in hazard areas. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant states that development of the subject area will 
occur in a manner that minimizes potential hazards to safety. 

 
  

Page 97 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 98 of 135 

Subsection 4.171 (.07) Earth Movement Hazard Areas 
 
D65. Review Criterion: “No development or grading shall be allowed in areas of land movement, 

slump or earth flow, and mud or debris flow, except under one of the following conditions.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No areas of land movement, slump, earth flow, or mud or debris 
flow have been identified in the project area. 

 
Subsection 4.171 (.08) Standards for Soil Hazard Areas 
 
D66. Review Criteria: 

 “Appropriate siting and design safeguards shall insure structural stability and proper 
drainage of foundation and crawl space areas for development on land with any of the 
following soil conditions:  wet or high water table; high shrink-swell capability; 
compressible or organic; and shallow depth-to-bedrock. 

 The principal source of information for determining soil hazards is the State DOGAMI 
Bulletin 99 and any subsequent bulleting and accompanying maps.  Approved site-specific 
soil studies shall be used to identify the extent and severity of the hazardous conditions on 
the site, and to update the soil hazards database accordingly. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No soil hazard areas have been identified within the subject area. 

 
Subsection 4.171 (.09) Historic Protection 
 
D67. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes requirements for protection of historic resources. 

Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The PDP matches the SAP North approvals, as requested to be 
amended in Request C and found to meet the requirements of this subsection. 

 
Section 4.176 Landscaping, Screening, and Buffering 
 
D68. Review Criteria: This section establishes landscape, screening, and buffering requirements for 

development within the City. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Landscaping will be provided in accordance with the standards 
in Section 4.176.  The Street Tree/Lighting Plan depicts street trees along rights-of-way 
within the subject Preliminary Development Plan area.  The plan has been developed in 
conformance with the Community Elements Book and the applicable standards of Section 
4.176. Landscaping in the parks and linear green areas will be reviewed with Request G, 
Final Development Plan. 

 
Section 4.177 Street Improvement Standards 
 
D69. Review Criteria: This section establishes street improvements standards for development within 

the City. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The PDP matches the SAP North approvals, as requested to be 
amended in Request C and found to meet the requirements of this subsection. 

 

Page 98 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 99 of 135 

Section 4.178 Sidewalk and Pathway Standards 
 
D70. Review Criteria:  

 “Sidewalks.  All sidewalks shall be concrete and a minimum of five (5) feet in width, 
except where the walk is adjacent to commercial storefronts.  In such cases, they shall be 
increased to a minimum of ten (10) feet in width. 

 Pathways 
o Bicycle facilities shall be provided using a bicycle lane as the preferred facility 

design.  The other facility designs listed will only be used if the bike lane standard 
cannot be constructed due to physical or financial constraints.  The alternative 
standards are listed in order of preference. 

o Bike lane.  This design includes 12-foot minimum travel lanes for autos and paved 
shoulders, 5-6 feet wide for bikes that are striped and marked as bicycle lanes.  
This shall be the basic standard applied to bike lanes on all arterial and collector 
streets in the City, with the exception of minor residential collectors with less than 
1,500 (existing or anticipated) vehicle trips per day.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied.  
Explanation of Finding: The PDP matches the SAP North approvals, as requested to be 
amended in Request C and found to meet the requirements of this subsection. 

  

Page 99 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 100 of 135 

 

REQUEST E: DB14-0014 TENTATIVE SUBDIVISION PLAT 

The applicant’s findings in Section IIIA of their PDP notebook, Exhibit B3, respond to the 
majority of the applicable criteria.   
 
Subsection 4.125 (.02) Permitted Uses in the Village Zone 
 
E1. Review Criteria: This subsection lists the permitted uses in the Village Zone. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed subdivision is for uses including single family 
homes and parks and open space are permitted in the Village Zone. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.05) Development Standards Applying to All Development in Village Zone 
 
Subsection 4.125 (.05) A. Block, Alley, Pedestrian, and Bicycle Standards  
 
E2. Review Criteria: This subsection lists the block, alley, pedestrian, and bicycle standards 

applicable in the Village Zone. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat shows blocks, alleys, pedestrian, 
and bicycle paths consistent with this subsection and the proposed PDP.  

 
Subsection 4.125 (.05) B. Access Standards  
 
E3. Review Criterion: “All lots with access to a public street, and an alley, shall take vehicular access 

from the alley to a garage or parking area, except as determined by the City Engineer.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDE 6. 
Explanation of Finding: Condition of Approval PDE 6 requires a non-access reservation 
strip on the street side of lots with street access helping to ensure this criterion is met. 

 
Table V-1: Development Standards in the Village Zone 
 
E4. Review Criteria: This table shows the development standards, including setback for different uses 

in the Village Zone.  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As been consistently interpreted for PDP approvals in Villebois, 
lot dimensions in the Architectural Pattern Book can govern such things as lot width and 
size even when it is not consistent with the table. The proposed lots facilitate the 
construction that meets relevant standards of the table. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.07) Off-Street Parking, Loading and Bicycle Parking 
 
E5. Review Criteria: “Except as required by Subsections (A) through (D), below, the requirements of 

Section 4.155 shall apply within the Village zone.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Nothing concerning the tentative subdivision would prevent the 
required parking from being built. 

 
  

Page 100 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 101 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.08) Open Space Requirements 
 
E6. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes the open space requirements for the Village Zone. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDE 9. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat shows open space consistent with 
the requirements of the Village Zone and the proposed PDP. Consistent with the 
requirements of (.08) C. the condition of approval require the City Attorney to review and 
approve pertinent bylaws, covenants, or agreements prior to recordation.  

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 1. Street and Improvement Standards: General Provisions 
 
E7. Review Criteria: “Except as noted below, the provisions of Section 4.177 shall apply within the 

Village zone: 
 General Provisions: 

o All street alignment and access improvements shall conform to Figures 7, 8, 9A, 
and 9B of the Villebois Village Master Plan, or as refined in an approved Specific 
Area Plan, Preliminary Development Plan, or Final Development Plan, and the 
following standards: 

o All street improvements shall conform to the Public Works Standards and the 
Transportation Systems Plan, and shall provide for the continuation of streets 
through proposed developments to adjoining properties or subdivisions, according 
to the Master Plan. 

o All streets shall be developed according to the Master Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat shows street alignments, 
improvements, and access improvements consistent with the approved PDP and SAP 
found to be consistent with the Master Plan and Transportation Systems Plan. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 2. Street and Improvement Standards: Intersection of Streets 
 
E8. Review Criteria: “Intersections of streets: 

 Angles: Streets shall intersect one another at angles not less than 90 degrees, unless 
existing development or topography makes it impractical. 

 Intersections: If the intersection cannot be designed to form a right angle, then the right-of-
way and paving within the acute angle shall have a minimum of a thirty (30) foot 
centerline radius and said angle shall not be less than sixty (60) degrees. Any angle less 
than ninety 90 degrees shall require approval by the City Engineer after consultation with 
the Fire District.  

 Offsets: Opposing intersections shall be designed so that no offset dangerous to the 
traveling public is created. Intersections shall be separated by at least:  

o 1000 ft. for major arterials 
o 600 ft. for minor arterials 
o 100 ft. for major collector 
o 50 ft. for minor collector 

 Curb Extensions: 
o Curb extensions at intersections shall be shown on the Specific Area Plans required 

in Subsection 4.125(.18)(C) through (F), below, and shall: 
 Not obstruct bicycle lanes on collector streets. 
 Provide a minimum 20 foot wide clear distance between curb extensions at 

all local residential street intersections, meet minimum turning radius 

Page 101 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 102 of 135 

requirements of the Public Works Standards, and shall facilitate fire truck 
turning movements as required by the Fire District.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat shows street intersections as 
proposed in the proposed PDP consistent with these standards. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) A. 4. Street and Improvement Standards: Centerline Radius Street 
Curves 
 
E9. Review Criteria: “The minimum centerline radius street curves shall be as follows: 

 Arterial streets: 600 feet, but may be reduced to 400 feet in commercial areas, as approved 
by the City Engineer. 

 Collector streets: 600 feet, but may be reduced to conform with the Public Works 
Standards, as approved by the City Engineer. 

 Local streets: 75 feet” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat shows streets found to meet these 
standards under Requests C and D. 

 
Subsections 4.125 (.09) A. 5. and 4.177 (.01) C. Street and Improvement Standards: Rights-of-
way 
 
E10. Review Criteria:  

 “Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy Building permits or as a part of the 
recordation of a final plat, the City shall require dedication of rights-of-way in accordance 
with the Street System Master Transportation Systems Plan. All dedications shall be 
recorded with the County Assessor's Office.  

 The City shall also require a waiver of remonstrance against formation of a local 
improvement district, and all non-remonstrances shall be recorded in the County 
Recorder’s Office as well as the City's Lien Docket, prior to issuance of a Certificate of 
Occupancy Building Permit or as a part of the recordation of a final plat. 

 In order to allow for potential future widening, a special setback requirement shall be 
maintained adjacent to all arterial streets. The minimum setback shall be 55 feet from the 
centerline or 25 feet from the right-of-way designated on the Master Plan, whichever is 
greater.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As stated by the applicant, “rights-of-way will be dedicated and 
a waiver of remonstrance against the formation of a local improvement district will be 
recorded with recordation of a final plat in accordance with Section 4.177.” 

 
Subsections 4.125 (.09) A. 6.and 4.177 (.01) E. Street and Improvement Standards: Access 
Drives 
 
E11. Review Criteria:  

 Access drives are required to be 16 feet for two-way traffic. 
 An access drive to any proposed development shall be designed to provide a clear travel 

lane free from any obstructions.  
 Access drive travel lanes shall be constructed with a hard surface capable of carrying a 23-

ton load. 

Page 102 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 103 of 135 

 Secondary or emergency access lanes may be improved to a minimum 12 feet with an all-
weather surface as approved by the Fire District.  All fire lanes shall be dedicated 
easements. 

 Minimum access requirements shall be adjusted commensurate with the intended function 
of the site based on vehicle types and traffic generation. 

 Where access drives connect to the public right-of-way, construction within the right-of-
way shall be in conformance to the Public Works Standards. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat shows alleys of sufficient width to 
meet the width standards. The applicant states easements for fire access will be dedicated 
as required. 

 
Subsections 4.125 (.09) A. 7. and 4.177 (.01) F. Street and Improvement Standards: Clear 
Vision Areas 
 
E12. Review Criteria: “A clear vision area which meets the Public Works Standards shall be 

maintained on each corner of property at the intersection of any two streets, a street and a railroad 
or a street and a driveway.  However, the following items shall be exempt from meeting this 
requirement:” Listed 1. a.-f. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat shows streets found to meet these 
standards under Requests C and D. 

 
Subsections 4.125 (.09) A. 8.and 4.177 (.01) G. Street and Improvement Standards: Vertical 
Clearance 
 
E13. Review Criterion: “a minimum clearance of 12 feet above the pavement surface shall be 

maintained over all streets and access drives.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Nothing shown on the tentative subdivision plat would preclude 
the required clearance from being provided. 

 
Subsections 4.125 (.09) A. 9.and 4.177 (.01) H. Street and Improvement Standards: Interim 
Improvement Standards 
 
E14. Review Criteria: “It is anticipated that all existing streets, except those in new subdivisions, will 

require complete reconstruction to support urban level traffic volumes.  However, in most cases, 
existing and short-term projected traffic volumes do not warrant improvements to full Master Plan 
standards.  Therefore, unless otherwise specified by the Planning Commission, the following 
interim standards shall apply. 

 Arterials - 24 foot paved, with standard sub-base.  Asphalt overlays are generally 
considered unacceptable, but may be considered as an interim improvement based on the 
recommendations of the City Engineer, regarding adequate structural quality to support an 
overlay. 

 Half-streets are generally considered unacceptable.  However, where the Development 
Review Board finds it essential to allow for reasonable development, a half-street may be 
approved.  Whenever a half-street improvement is approved, it shall conform to the 
requirements in the Public Works Standards: 

Page 103 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 104 of 135 

 When considered appropriate in conjunction with other anticipated or scheduled street 
improvements, the City Engineer may approve street improvements with a single asphalt 
lift.  However, adequate provision must be made for interim storm drainage, pavement 
transitions at seams and the scheduling of the second lift through the Capital Improvements 
Plan.   

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The area covered by the tentative subdivision plat does not 
include any interim improvements addressed by this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.202 (.01) through (.03) Plats Reviewed by Planning Director or DRB 
 
E15. Review Criteria: “Pursuant to ORS Chapter 92, plans and plats must be approved by the Planning 

Director or Development Review Board (Board), as specified in Sections 4.030 and 4.031, before a 
plat for any land division may be filed in the county recording office for any land within the 
boundaries of the City, except that the Planning Director shall have authority to approve a final plat 
that is found to be substantially consistent with the tentative plat approved by the Board. 
The Development Review Board and Planning Director shall be given all the powers and duties 
with respect to procedures and action on tentative and final plans, plats and maps of land divisions 
specified in Oregon Revised Statutes and by this Code. 
Approval by the Development Review Board or Planning Director of divisions of land within the 
boundaries of the City, other than statutory subdivisions, is hereby required by virtue of the 
authority granted to the City in ORS 92.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat is being reviewed by the 
Development Review Board according to this subsection. The final plat will be reviewed 
by the Planning Division under the authority of the Planning Director to ensure compliance 
with the DRB review of the tentative subdivision plat. 

 
Subsection 4.202 (.04) A. Lots must be Legally Created for Issuing Development Permit 
 
E16. Review Criterion: “No person shall sell any lot or parcel in any condominium, subdivision, or 

land partition until a final condominium, subdivision or partition plat has been approved by the 
Planning Director as set forth in this Code and properly recorded with the appropriate county.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: It is understood that no lots will be sold until the final plat has 
been approved by the Planning Director and recorded. 

 
Subsection 4.202 (.04) B. Prohibition of Creating Undersized Lots 
 
E17. Review Criterion: “It shall be a violation of this Code to divide a tract of land into a parcel smaller 

than the lot size required in the Zoning Sections of this Code unless specifically approved by the 
Development Review Board or City Council.  No conveyance of any portion of a lot, for other than 
a public use, shall leave a structure on the remainder of the lot with less than the minimum lot size, 
width, depth, frontage, yard or setback requirements, unless specifically authorized through the 
Variance procedures of Section 4.196 or the waiver provisions of the Planned Development 
procedures of Section 4.118.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No lots will be divided into a size smaller than allowed by the 
proposed Village “V” zoning designation.  

 

Page 104 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 105 of 135 

Subsection 4.210 (.01) Pre-Application Conference 
 
E18. Review Criterion: “Prior to submission of a tentative condominium, partition, or subdivision plat, 

a person proposing to divide land in the City shall contact the Planning Department to arrange a 
pre-application conference as set forth in Section 4.010.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: A pre-application conference was held on November 21, 2013 in 
accordance with this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.210 (.01) A. Preparation of Tentative Plat 
 
E19. Review Criterion: “The applicant shall cause to be prepared a tentative plat, together with 

improvement plans and other supplementary material as specified in this Section.  The Tentative 
Plat shall be prepared by an Oregon licensed professional land surveyor or engineer.  An affidavit 
of the services of such surveyor or engineer shall be furnished as part of the submittal.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Sheet 4 of Exhibit B4, as shown revised in Exhibit B6, is a 
tentative subdivision plat prepared in accordance with this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.210 (.01) B. Tentative Plat Submission 
 
E20. Review Criteria: “The design and layout of this plan plat shall meet the guidelines and 

requirements set forth in this Code.  The Tentative Plat shall be submitted to the Planning 
Department with the following information:” Listed 1. through 26. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat has been submitted with the 
required information. 

 
Subsection 4.210 (.01) D. Land Division Phases to Be Shown 
 
E21. Review Criteria: “Where the applicant intends to develop the land in phases, the schedule of such 

phasing shall be presented for review at the time of the tentative plat.  In acting on an application 
for tentative plat approval, the Planning Director or Development Review Board may set time 
limits for the completion of the phasing schedule which, if not met, shall result in an expiration of 
the tentative plat approval.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The land is intended to be developed in a single phase. 

 
Subsection 4.210 (.01) E. Remainder Tracts 
 
E22. Review Criteria: “Remainder tracts to be shown as lots or parcels.  Tentative plats shall clearly 

show all affected property as part of the application for land division.  All remainder tracts, 
regardless of size, shall be shown and counted among the parcels or lots of the division.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All affected property has been incorporated into the tentative 
subdivision plat. 

 
  

Page 105 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 106 of 135 

Subsection 4.236 (.01) Conformity to the Master Plan or Map 
 
E23. Review Criteria: “Land divisions shall conform to and be in harmony with the Transportation 

Master Plan (Transportation Systems Plan), the Bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan, the Parks and 
Recreation Master Plan, the Official Plan or Map and especially to the Master Street Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat is consistent with applicable plans 
including the Transportation Systems Plan and Villebois Village Master Plan. 

 
Subsection 4.236 (.02) Relation to Adjoining Street System 
 
E24. Review Criteria: 

 A land division shall provide for the continuation of the principal streets existing in the 
adjoining area, or of their proper projection when adjoining property is not developed, and 
shall be of a width not less than the minimum requirements for streets set forth in these 
regulations.  Where, in the opinion of the Planning Director or Development Review 
Board, topographic conditions make such continuation or conformity impractical, an 
exception may be made.  In cases where the Board or Planning Commission has adopted a 
plan or plat of a neighborhood or area of which the proposed land division is a part, the 
subdivision shall conform to such adopted neighborhood or area plan. 

 Where the plat submitted covers only a part of the applicant's tract, a sketch of the 
prospective future street system of the unsubmitted part shall be furnished and the street 
system of the part submitted shall be considered in the light of adjustments and 
connections with the street system of the part not submitted. 

 At any time when an applicant proposes a land division and the Comprehensive Plan 
would allow for the proposed lots to be further divided, the city may require an 
arrangement of lots and streets such as to permit a later resubdivision in conformity to the 
street plans and other requirements specified in these regulations. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat shows streets meeting these 
standards consistent with the proposed PDP. See Request D. 

 
Subsection 4.236 (.03) Streets: Conformity to Standards Elsewhere in the Code 
 
E25. Review Criteria: “All streets shall conform to the standards set forth in Section 4.177 and the 

block size requirements of the zone.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat shows streets consistent with the 
proposed SAP Amendment and PDP under Requests C and D which meets Section 4.177 
and the block requirements of the zone.  

 
Subsection 4.236 (.04) Creation of Easements 
 
E26. Review Criteria: “The Planning Director or Development Review Board may approve an 

easement to be established without full compliance with these regulations, provided such an 
easement is the only reasonable method by which a portion of a lot large enough to allow 
partitioning into two (2) parcels may be provided with vehicular access and adequate utilities.  If 
the proposed lot is large enough to divide into more than two (2) parcels, a street dedication may be 
required.”   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 106 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 107 of 135 

Explanation of Finding: No specific easements are requested pursuant to this subsection. 
 
Subsection 4.236 (.05) Topography 
 
E27. Review Criterion: “The layout of streets shall give suitable recognition to surrounding 

topographical conditions in accordance with the purpose of these regulations.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat shows street alignments 
recognizing topographic conditions consistent with the requested PDP. 

 
Subsection 4.236 (.06) Reserve Strips 
 
E28. Review Criteria: “The Planning Director or Development Review Board may require the 

applicant  to create a reserve strip controlling the access to a street.  Said strip is to be placed under 
the jurisdiction of the City Council, when the Director or Board determine that a strip is 
necessary:” Reasons listed A. through D. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No reserve strips are being required for the reasons listed in this 
subsection. However, reserve strips are being required by Condition of Approval PDD 6 to 
prevent access to the front side of lots served by an alley. See also Findings E3. 

 
Subsection 4.236 (.07) Future Expansion of Street 
 
E29. Review Criteria: When necessary to give access to, or permit a satisfactory future division of, 

adjoining land, streets shall be extended to the boundary of the land division and the resulting dead-
end street may be approved without a turn-around.  Reserve strips and street plugs shall be required 
to preserve the objective of street extension. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Streets are being extended consistent with this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.236 (.08) Additional Right-of-Way for Existing Streets 
 
E30. Review Criteria: “Whenever existing streets adjacent to or within a tract are of inadequate width, 

additional right-of-way shall conform to the designated width in this Code or in the Transportation 
Systems Plan.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The necessary rights-of-way for Grahams Ferry Road and Tooze 
Road are being dedicated. 

 
Subsection 4.236 (.09) Street Names 
 
E31. Review Criteria: “No street names will be used which will duplicate or be confused with the 

names of existing streets, except for extensions of existing streets.  Street names and numbers shall 
conform to the established name system in the City, and shall be subject to the approval of the City 
Engineer.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Street names will be reviewed by Engineering staff and be 
subject to approval by the City Engineer consistent with this subsection.  

 

Page 107 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 108 of 135 

Subsection 4.237 (.01) Blocks 
 
E32. Review Criteria:  

 The length, width, and shape of blocks shall be designed with due regard to providing 
adequate building sites for the use contemplated, consideration of needs for convenient 
access, circulation, control, and safety of pedestrian, bicycle, and motor vehicle traffic, and 
recognition of limitations and opportunities of topography. 

 Sizes:  Blocks shall not exceed the sizes and lengths specified for the zone in which they 
are located unless topographical conditions or other physical constraints necessitate larger 
blocks.  Larger blocks shall only be approved where specific findings are made justifying 
the size, shape, and configuration. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tentative subdivision plat shows blocks consistent with those 
proposed Preliminary Development Plan. See Request D. 

 
Subsection 4.237 (.02) Easements 
 
E33. Review Criteria:  

 Utility lines.  Easements for sanitary or storm sewers, drainage, water mains, electrical 
lines or other public utilities shall be dedicated wherever necessary.  Easements shall be 
provided consistent with the City's Public Works Standards, as specified by the City 
Engineer or Planning Director.  All of the public utility lines within and adjacent to the site 
shall be installed within the public right-of-way or easement; with underground services 
extending to the private parcel constructed in conformance to the City’s Public Works 
Standards.  All franchise utilities shall be installed within a public utility easement.  All 
utilities shall have appropriate easements for construction and maintenance purposes.   

 Water courses.  Where a land division is traversed by a water course, drainage way, 
channel or stream, there shall be provided a storm water easement or drainage right-of-way 
conforming substantially with the lines of the water course, and such further width as will 
be adequate for the purposes of conveying storm water and allowing for maintenance of the 
facility or channel.  Streets or parkways parallel to water courses may be required. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Conditions of Approval. 
Explanation of Finding: As shown on preliminary plat, Sheet 4of Exhibit B4 as revised in 
Exhibit B6, the required easements have been provided. Condition of Approvals ensures 
all easements dealing with utilities are on the final plat.  

 
Subsection 4.237 (.03) Mid-block Pedestrian and Bicycle Pathways 
 
E34. Review Criteria: “An improved public pathway shall be required to transverse the block near its 

middle if that block exceeds the length standards of the zone in which it is located.   
 Pathways shall be required to connect to cul-de-sacs or to pass through unusually shaped 

blocks. 
 Pathways required by this subsection shall have a minimum width of ten (10) feet unless 

they are found to be unnecessary for bicycle traffic, in which case they are to have a 
minimum width of six (6) feet. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Pathways are being provided consistent with the Village Zone 
requirements and the Villebois Village Master Plan.  

 

Page 108 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 109 of 135 

Subsection 4.237 (.04) Tree Planting & Tree Access Easements 
 
E35. Review Criteria: “Tree planting plans for a land division must be submitted to the Planning 

Director and receive the approval of the Director or Development Review Board before the 
planting is begun.  Easements or other documents shall be provided, guaranteeing the City the right 
to enter the site and plant, remove, or maintain approved street trees that are located on private 
property.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed street trees are within the proposed public right-of-
way. 

 
Subsection 4.237 (.05) Lot Size and Shape 
 
E36. Review Criteria: “The lot size, width, shape and orientation shall be appropriate for the location of 

the land division and for the type of development and use contemplated.  Lots shall meet the 
requirements of the zone where they are located.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Proposed lot sizes, widths, shapes and orientations are 
appropriate for the proposed development and are in conformance with the Village Zone 
requirements as discussed under Requests C and D. 

 
Subsection 4.237 (.06) Access 
 
E37. Review Criteria: “The division of land shall be such that each lot shall have a minimum   frontage 

on a street or private drive, as specified in the standards of the relative zoning districts.  This 
minimum frontage requirement shall apply with the following exceptions:” Listed A. and B.  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Each lot has the minimum frontage on a street or greenbelt, as 
allowed in the Architectural Pattern Book. 

 
Subsection 4.237 (.07) Through Lots 
 
E38. Review Criteria: “Through lots shall be avoided except where essential to provide separation of 

residential development from major traffic arteries or adjacent non-residential activity or to 
overcome specific disadvantages of topography and orientation.”  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No through lots are proposed. The lots on Belfast Lane and 
Barcelona Street backing up to Grahams Ferry Road and Tooze Road have a linear green 
between the rear lot lines and the Grahams Ferry Road and Tooze Road rights-of-way. 

 
Subsection 4.237 (.08) Lot Side Lines 
 
E39. Review Criteria: “The side lines of lots, as far as practicable for the purpose of the proposed 

development, shall run at right angles to the street or tract with a private drive upon which the lots 
face.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Generally side lot lines are at right angles with the front lot line. 
Where they do not, they run at the closest possible angle to 90 degrees as allowed by block 
shape, adjacent lot shape, and required alley orientation. 

Page 109 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 110 of 135 

 
Subsection 4.237 (.09) Large Lot Land Divisions 
 
E40. Review Criteria: “In dividing tracts which at some future time are likely to be re-divided, the 

location of lot lines and other details of the layout shall be such that re-division may readily take 
place without violating the requirements of these regulations and without interfering with the 
orderly development of streets.  Restriction of buildings within future street locations shall be made 
a matter of record if the Development Review Board considers it necessary.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No future divisions of the lots included in the tentative 
subdivision plat. 

 
Subsection 4.237 (.10) and (.11) Building Line and Built-to Line 
 
E41. Review Criteria: The Planning Director or Development Review Board may establish special: 

 building setbacks to allow for the future redivision or other development of the property or 
for other reasons specified in the findings supporting the decision.  If special building 
setback lines are established for the land division, they shall be shown on the final plat. 

 build-to lines for the development, as specified in the findings and conditions of approval 
for the decision.  If special build-to lines are established for the land division, they shall be 
shown on the final plat. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No building lines or built-to lines are proposed or recommended. 

 
Subsection 4.237 (.12) Land for Public Purposes 
 
E42. Review Criterion: “The Planning Director or Development Review Board may require property to 

be reserved for public acquisition, or irrevocably offered for dedication, for a specified period of 
time.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No property reservation is recommended as described in this 
subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.237 (.13) Corner Lots 
 
E43. Review Criterion: “Lots on street intersections shall have a corner radius of not less than ten (10) 

feet.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: All proposed corner lots meet the minimum corner radius of ten 
(10) feet. 

 
Section 4.250 Lots of Record 
 
E44. Review Criteria: “All lots of record that have been legally created prior to the adoption of this 

ordinance shall be considered to be legal lots.  Tax lots created by the County Assessor are not 
necessarily legal lots of record.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The parcels being divided are of record, and the resulting 
subdivision lots will be lots of record. 

 

Page 110 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 111 of 135 

Section 4.260 Improvements-Procedures 
 
E45. Review Criteria: “In addition to other requirements, improvements installed by the developer, 

either as a requirement of these regulations or at the developer's own option, shall conform to the 
requirements of this Code and improvement standards and specifications of the City.  The 
improvements shall be installed in accordance with the City's Public Works Standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The rights-of-way shown on the tentative subdivision plat are 
sufficient for installation of improvements to City standards. Conformance of the 
improvements with the City’s Public Works Standards and other applicable standards will 
be ensured through the Engineering Division’s permit and inspection process. 

 
Section 4.262 Improvements-Requirements 
 
E46. Review Criteria: This section establishes requirements for a number of different improvements 

including curbs, sidewalks, sanitary sewers, drainage, underground utility and service facilities, 
streetlight standards, street signs, monuments, and water. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant has stated their intent to meet the requirements for 
all the types of improvements indicated in this subsection. Conformance with these 
requirements will be ensured through the Engineering Division’s, and Building Division’s 
where applicable, permit and inspection process. 
 

  

Page 111 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 112 of 135 

 

REQUEST F: DB14-0016 TYPE C TREE PLAN 

The applicant’s findings in Section VA of their PDP notebook, Exhibit B3, respond to the 
majority of the applicable criteria.   
 
Subsection 4.600.50 (.03) A. Access to Site for Tree Related Observation 
 
F1. Review Criterion: “By submission of an application, the applicant shall be deemed to have 

authorized City representatives to have access to applicant’s property as may be needed to verify 
the information provided, to observe site conditions, and if a permit is granted, to verify that terms 
and conditions of the permit are followed.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDF 2. 
Explanation of Finding: Condition of Approval PDF 2 ensures the required access is 
allowed. 

 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.03) B. Type C Tree Removal Review Authority 
 
F2. Review Criterion: “Type C.  Where the site is proposed for development necessitating site plan 

review or plat approval by the Development Review Board, the Development Review Board shall 
be responsible for granting or denying the application for a Tree Removal Permit, and that decision 
may be subject to affirmance, reversal or modification by the City Council, if subsequently 
reviewed by the Council.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The requested tree removal is connected to site plan review by 
the Development Review Board for the proposed development. The tree removal is thus 
being reviewed by the DRB. 

 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.06) A. Conditions Attached to Type C Tree Permits 
 
F3. Review Criterion: “Conditions.  Attach to the granting of the permit any reasonable conditions 

considered necessary by the reviewing authority including, but not limited to, the recording of any 
plan or agreement approved under this subchapter, to ensure that the intent of this Chapter will be 
fulfilled and to minimize damage to, encroachment on or interference with natural resources and 
processes within wooded areas;” 
Finding: This criterion is met or will be met by conditions of approval. 
Explanation of Finding: A number of additional conditions are recommended pursuant to 
this subsection. Tree 10499 is a twenty-seven inch (27”) Douglas-fir in excellent condition, 
rated as Good by the project arborist and indicated for retention during development. In 
consideration of the health and value of the tree Conditions of Approval PDF 4 and PDF 5 
impose reasonable conditions to encourage proper long-term preservation and maintenance 
as well as clearly identify maintenance responsibility. Condition of Approval PDF 4 
requires a tree preservation and maintenance easement and associated easement agreement 
allowing for inspection of the tree condition and assigning tree maintenance responsibility 
to the homeowners association as well as limiting plantings and irrigation that could 
damage the health of the tree. As a practical matter Condition of Approval PDF 5 requires 
an access easement on Lot 50 to allow necessary access for inspection and maintenance 
activities.  
 

Page 112 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 113 of 135 

Condition of Approval PDF 12 addresses concern that the alignment of the sidewalk along 
SW Tooze Rd. looks to impact three trees shown as retained. The condition requires the 
sidewalk to meander to minimize placement within the root zone and when it is within the 
root zone requires a specific profile to protect roots. A public sidewalk easement may be 
required within the linear green to allow for the meandering. 
 
Lastly, Conditions of Approval PDF 9 and 10 require special care be taken to limit impacts 
when installing fencing and utilities in the root zone of preserved trees. 

 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.06) B. Completion of Operation 
 
F4. Review Criterion: “Whenever an application for a Type B, C or D Tree Removal Permit is 

granted, the reviewing authority shall:” “Fix a reasonable time to complete tree removal 
operations;” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: It is understood the tree removal will be completed by the time 
construction of all homes, parks, and other improvements in the PDP are completed, which 
is a reasonable time frame for tree removal. 

 
Subsection 4.610.00 (.06) C. Security 
 
F5. Review Criterion: “Whenever an application for a Type B, C or D Tree Removal Permit is 

granted, the reviewing authority shall:” “Require the Type C permit grantee to file with the City a 
cash or corporate surety bond or irrevocable bank letter of credit in an amount determined 
necessary by the City to ensure compliance with Tree Removal Permit conditions and this Chapter. 
1. This requirement may be waived by the Planning Director if the tree removal must be 
completed before a plat is recorded, and the applicant has complied with WC 4.264(1) of this 
Code.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As allowed by Subsection 1 the bonding requirement is being 
waived as the application is required to comply with WC 4.264(1). 

 
Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) Standards for Tree Removal, Relocation or Replacement 
 
Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) A. Standards for the Significant Resource Overlay Zone 
 
F6. Review Criteria: “Standard for the Significant Resource Overlay Zone.  The standard for tree 

removal in the Significant Resource Overlay Zone shall be that removal or transplanting of any tree 
is not inconsistent with the purposes of this chapter.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Request H fully reviews any impact to the Significant Resource 
Overlay Zone, including any tree removal. 

 
Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) B. Standards for Preservation and Conservation 
 
F7. Review Criteria: “No development application shall be denied solely because trees grow on the 

site.  Nevertheless, tree preservation and conservation as a principle shall be equal in concern and 
importance as other design principles.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 113 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 114 of 135 

Explanation of Finding: As shown on the Existing Conditions Plan, Sheet 2 of Exhibit 
B4, the majority of the site is pasture with trees concentrated around existing residential 
dwellings, the northwestern site corner, and the retained wetland located in the 
southwestern site corner. Existing trees within these areas are preserved to the extent 
feasible while the locations of residential lots, street improvements, alleys, and utilities 
were generally planned within existing pasture areas. Trees located within the wetland area 
to be retained and within the SROZ area will be preserved within open space tracts. The 
majority of trees proposed for removal are in “Poor” condition or “Moderate” condition. 
Trees with a “Good” rating are retained to the extent feasible. No trees with a rating of 
“Important” are present within the subject site. 
 

Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) C. Standards for Development Alternatives 
 
F8. Review Criteria: “Preservation and conservation of wooded areas and trees shall be given careful 

consideration when there are feasible and reasonable location alternatives and design options on-
site for proposed buildings, structures or other site improvements.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The majority of the site is pasture with trees located around 
existing residential dwellings, within the retained wetland in the southwestern site corner, 
and the northwestern site corner. Existing trees within these areas are preserved to the 
extent feasible while the locations of residential lots, street improvements, alleys, and 
utilities were generally planned within existing pasture areas.   
 

Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) D. Standards for Land Clearing 
 
F9. Review Criteria: “Where the proposed activity requires land clearing, the clearing shall be limited 

to designated street rights-of-way and areas necessary for the construction of buildings, structures 
or other site improvements.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: This standard is being followed as shown in the applicant’s plan 
set, Exhibit B4. 
 

Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) E. Standards for Residential Development 
 
F10. Review Criteria: “Where the proposed activity involves residential development, residential units 

shall, to the extent reasonably feasible, be designed and constructed to blend into the natural setting 
of the landscape.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The subject site is relatively flat and is being development with a 
pattern similar to other areas of Villebois. 
 

Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) F. Standards for Compliance with Statutes and Ordinances 
 
F11. Review Criteria: “The proposed activity shall comply with all applicable statutes and ordinances.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: This standard is broad and duplicative. As found elsewhere in 
this report, the applicable standards are being applied. 
 

Page 114 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 115 of 135 

Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) G. Standards for Relocation and Replacement 
 
F12. Review Criteria: “The proposed activity shall include necessary provisions for tree relocation or 

replacement, in accordance with WC 4.620.00, and the protection of those trees that are not 
removed, in accordance with WC 4.620.10. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed tree activity is being reviewed in accordance to the 
referenced sections related to replacement and protection. 

 
Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) H. Limitation on Tree Removal 
 
F13. Review Criteria: “Tree removal or transplanting shall be limited to instances where the applicant 

has provided completed information as required by this chapter and the reviewing authority 
determines that removal or transplanting is necessary based on the criteria of this subsection.” 
Listed 1. through 4. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed tree removal is either necessary for construction or 
is due to the health and condition of the trees. 

 
Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) I. 1. Additional Standards for Type C Permits: Tree Survey 
 
F14. Review Criteria: “For all site development applications reviewed under the provisions of Chapter 

4 Planning and Zoning, the developer shall provide a Tree Survey before site development as 
required by WC 4.610.40 , and provide a Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan, unless specifically 
exempted by the Planning Director or DRB, prior to initiating site development.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The required Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan has been 
submitted. See Section VIC) of Exhibit B3. 

 
Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) I. 2. Additional Standards for Type C Permits: Platted Subdivision 
 
F15. Review Criteria: “The recording of a final subdivision plat whose preliminary plat has been 

reviewed and approved after the effective date of Ordinance 464 by the City and that conforms 
with this subchapter shall include a Tree Survey and Maintenance and Protection Plan, as required 
by this subchapter, along with all other conditions of approval.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The required plan has been submitted. See Section VIC) of 
Exhibit B3. 

 
Subsection 4.610.10 (.01) I. 3. Additional Standards for Type C Permits: Utilities 
 
F16. Review Criteria: “The City Engineer shall cause utilities to be located and placed wherever 

reasonably possible to avoid adverse environmental consequences given the circumstances of 
existing locations, costs of placement and extensions, the public welfare, terrain, and preservation 
of natural resources.  Mitigation and/or replacement of any removed trees shall be in accordance 
with the standards of this subchapter.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The Composite Utility Plan, Sheet 6 of Exhibit B4, shows the 
site has been designed to minimize the impact upon the environment to the extent feasible 

Page 115 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 116 of 135 

given existing conditions.  Utility placement in relation to trees will be further reviewed 
during review of construction drawings and utility easement placement on the final plat.  

  
Subsection 4.610.40 (.01) Type C Tree Plan Reviewed with Stage II Final Plan 
 
F17. Review Criteria: “Approval to remove any trees on property as part of a site development 

application may be granted in a Type C permit.  A Type C permit application shall be reviewed by 
the standards of this subchapter and all applicable review criteria of Chapter 4.  Application of the 
standards of this section shall not result in a reduction of square footage or loss of density, but may 
require an applicant to modify plans to allow for buildings of greater height.  If an applicant 
proposes to remove trees and submits a landscaping plan as part of a site development application, 
an application for a Tree Removal Permit shall be included.  The Tree Removal Permit application 
will be reviewed in the Stage II development review process, and any plan changes made that 
affect trees after Stage II review of a development application shall be subject to review by DRB.  
Where mitigation is required for tree removal, such mitigation may be considered as part of the 
landscaping requirements as set forth in this Chapter.  Tree removal shall not commence until 
approval of the required Stage II application and the expiration of the appeal period following that 
decision.  If a decision approving a Type C permit is appealed, no trees shall be removed until the 
appeal has been settled.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed Type C Tree Plan is being reviewed concurrently 
with the Preliminary Development Plan, which is the equivalent of a Stage II Final Plan in 
the Village Zone. 

 
Section 4.610.40 (.02) Submission of Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
 
F18. Review Criteria: “The applicant must provide ten copies of a Tree Maintenance and Protection 

Plan completed by an arborist that contains the following information:” Listed A. 1. through A. 7. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant has submitted the necessary copies of a Tree 
Maintenance and Protection Plan. See Section VIC of the applicants notebook, Exhibit B3 
and Sheet 10 of the applicant’s plan set, Exhibit B4. 

 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.01) Tree Replacement Requirement 
 
F19. Review Criterion: “A Type B or C Tree Removal Permit grantee shall replace or relocate each 

removed tree having six (6) inches or greater d.b.h. within one year of removal.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The tree mitigation requirements will be more than exceeded by 
the planned street tree and trees in parks and linear greens. 

 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.02) Basis for Determining Replacement 
 
F20. Review Criteria: “The permit grantee shall replace removed trees on a basis of one (1) tree 

replanted for each tree removed.  All replacement trees must measure two inches (2”) or more in 
diameter.”  
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 116 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 117 of 135 

Explanation of Finding: More trees are planned to be planted that proposed to be 
removed. Each tree, including street trees and trees in parks and linear greens will meet the 
minimum diameter requirement. 

 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.03) Replacement Tree Requirements 
 
F21. Review Criteria: “A mitigation or replacement tree plan shall be reviewed by the City prior to 

planting and according to the standards of this subsection. 
A. Replacement trees shall have shade potential or other characteristics comparable to the 
removed trees, shall be appropriately chosen for the site from an approved tree species list supplied 
by the City, and shall be state Department of Agriculture Nursery Grade No. 1 or better.  
B. Replacement trees must be staked, fertilized and mulched, and shall be guaranteed by the 
permit grantee or the grantee’s successors-in-interest for two (2) years after the planting date. 
C. A “guaranteed” tree that dies or becomes diseased during that time shall be replaced. 
D. Diversity of tree species shall be encouraged where trees will be replaced, and diversity 
of species shall also be maintained where essential to preserving a wooded area or habitat.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDF 6. 
Explanation of Finding: The condition of approval will ensure the relevant requirements 
of this subsection are met. 

 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.04) Replacement Tree Stock Requirements 
 
F22. Review Criteria: “All trees to be planted shall consist of nursery stock that meets requirements of 

the American Association of Nurserymen (AAN) American Standards for Nursery Stock (ANSI 
Z60.1) for top grade.” 
Finding: These criteria will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDF 6. 
Explanation of Finding: Condition of Approval PDF 6 assures this is met. 

 
Subsection 4.620.00 (.05) Replacement Trees Locations 
 
F23. Review Criteria: “The City shall review tree relocation or replacement plans in order to provide 

optimum enhancement, preservation and protection of wooded areas.  To the extent feasible and 
desirable, trees shall be relocated or replaced on-site and within the same general area as trees 
removed.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant proposes to mitigate for all removed trees on site 
and in the appropriate locations for the proposed development.  

 
Section 4.620.10 Tree Protection During Construction 
 
F24. Review Criteria: “Where tree protection is required by a condition of development under Chapter 

4 or by a Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan approved under this subchapter, the following 
standards apply:” Listed A. through D. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approvals PDF 7 
and PDF 8. 
Explanation of Finding: The conditions of approval assure the applicable requirements of 
this Section will be met. 

 
 

Page 117 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 118 of 135 

REQUEST G: DB14-0015 FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR PARKS AND OPEN 
SPACE 

 
The applicant’s findings in Section VIA of their PDP notebook, Exhibit B3, respond to the 
majority of the applicable criteria.   
 
Subsection 4.125 (.02) Permitted Uses in the Village Zone 
 
G1. Review Criteria: This subsection lists the uses typically permitted in the Village Zone including 

“Non-commercial parks, plazas, playgrounds, recreational facilities, community buildings and 
grounds, tennis courts, and other similar recreational and community uses owned and operated 
either publicly or by an owners association.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The requested Final Development Plan is for parks and open 
space allowed within the Village Zone. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.08) A. Parks and Open Space in the Village Zone-Amount Required 
 
G2. Review Criteria: “In all residential developments and in mixed-use developments where the 

majority of the developed square footage is to be in residential use, at least twenty-five percent 
(25%) of the area shall be open space, excluding street pavement and surface parking. In multi-
phased developments, individual phases are not required to meet the 25% standard as long as an 
approved Specific Area Plan demonstrates that the overall development shall provide a minimum 
of 25% open space. Required yard areas shall not be counted towards the required open space 
area.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Park and Open Space is being provided consistent with the PDP 
found to meet these criteria. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.08) B. Parks and Open Space in the Village Zone-Ownership 
 
G3. Review Criteria: “Open space area required by this Section may, at the discretion of the 

Development Review Board, be protected by a conservation easement or dedicated to the City, 
either rights in fee or easement, without altering the density or other development standards of the 
proposed development. Provided that, if the dedication is for public park purposes, the size and 
amount of the proposed dedication shall meet the criteria of the City of Wilsonville standards. The 
square footage of any land, whether dedicated or not, which is used for open space shall be deemed 
a part of the development site for the purpose of computing density or allowable lot coverage.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: This discretion of the DRB is understood. Ownership will be 
according to agreements reached between the developer and the City.  

 
Subsection 4.125 (.08) C. Parks and Open Space in the Village Zone-Protection and 
Maintenance 
 
G4. Review Criteria: “The Development Review Board may specify the method of assuring the long-

term protection and maintenance of open space and/or recreational areas. Where such protection or 
maintenance are the responsibility of a private party or homeowners’ association, the City Attorney 
shall review and approve any pertinent bylaws, covenants, or agreements prior to recordation.” 

Page 118 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 119 of 135 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Protection and maintenance of the open space and recreational 
areas are covered in the CCR’s being reviewed by the City, and Operation and 
Maintenance Agreements between the developer and the City.  

 
Subsection 4.125 (.09) Street and Access Improvement Standards 
 
G5. Review Criteria: This section lists street and access improvement standards for the Village Zone 

including vision clearance standards. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: This code section does not apply to the proposed parks and open 
space, except for vision clearance for vegetation which is met. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.10) Sidewalk and Pathway Improvement Standards 
 
G6. Review Criteria: “The provisions of Section 4.178 shall apply within the Village zone.” 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Sidewalk and pathway improvements within the park areas are 
provided consistent with the PDP which was found to meet these criteria. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.11) Landscaping Screening and Buffering 
 
G7. Review Criteria: “Except as noted below, the provisions of Section 4.176 shall apply in the 

Village zone:” “Streets in the Village zone shall be developed with street trees as described in the 
Community Elements Book.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Findings G18 through G29 pertain to Section 4.176. Street trees 
are proposed consistent with the Community Elements Book. 

 
Section 4.125 (.12) A. Signs Compliance with Master Sign and Wayfinding Plan for SAP 
 
G8. Review Criterion: “All signage and wayfinding elements within the Village Zone shall be in 

compliance with the adopted Signage and wayfinding Master Plan for the appropriate SAP.” 
Finding: This criterion does not apply. 
Explanation of Finding: The SAP North Signage & Wayfinding Plan indicates the 
provision of Secondary Site Identifier at the site entrance from Grahams Ferry Road.  The 
FDP set, Exhibit B5, show provision of the ‘Secondary Site Identifier’ with the 
construction of the site entrance.   

 
Subsection 4.125 (.14) Design Standards Applying to the Village Zone 
 
The following Design Standards implement the Design Principles found in Section 4.125(.13), 
above, and enumerate the architectural details and design requirements applicable to 
buildings and other features within the Village (V) zone. The Design Standards are based 
primarily on the features, types, and details of the residential traditions in the Northwest, but 
are not intended to mandate a particular style or fashion.  All development within the Village 
zone shall incorporate the following: 
 
  

Page 119 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 120 of 135 

Subsection 4.125 (.14) A. 2. b. Details to Match Architectural Pattern Book and Community 
Elements Book 
 
G9. Review Criteria: “Materials, colors and architectural details executed in a manner consistent with 

the methods included in an approved Architectural Pattern Book, Community Elements Book or 
approved Village Center Architectural Standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Conditions of Approval. 
Explanation of Finding: The Architectural Pattern Book is not applicable to the parks 
except that any retaining walls within the public view shed must be consistent with the 
materials in the Architectural Pattern Book and the Master Fencing shown in the pattern 
book. Condition of Approval PDG 11 ensures park elements are consistent with the 
Community Elements Book including playground equipment, nature path directional 
bollards, benches, tables, and trash cans. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.14) A. 2. f. Protection of Significant Trees 
 
G10. Review Criterion: “The protection of existing significant trees as identified in an approved 

Community Elements Book.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Significant trees are being protected. See Request F. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.14) A. 2. g. Landscape Plan 
 
G11. Review Criterion: “A landscape plan in compliance with Sections 4.125(.07) and (.11), above.” 

Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Landscape plans have been provided in compliance with the 
referenced sections. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.14) C. Lighting and Site Furnishings 
 
G12. Review Criteria: “Lighting and site furnishings shall be in compliance with the approved 

Architectural Pattern Book, Community Elements Book, or approved Village Center Architectural 
Standards.” 
Finding: These criteria will be satisfied by a condition of approval. 
Explanation of Finding: The condition of approval requires the lighting and site 
furnishings to be consistent with the Community Elements Book. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) L. Final Development Plan Approval Procedures 
 
G13. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes the approval procedures for Final Development 

Plans. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant has followed the applicable procedures set out in 
this subsection for approval of a FDP. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) M. Final Development Plan Submittal Requirements 
 
G14. Review Criteria: “An application for approval of a FDP shall be subject to the provisions of 

Section 4.034.” 

Page 120 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 121 of 135 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The necessary materials have been submitted for review of the 
FDP. 

 
Subsections 4.125 (.18) N. and P. 1. Final Development Plans Subject to Site Design Review 
Criteria 
 
G15. Review Criteria: “An application for approval of a FDP shall be subject to the provisions of 

Section 4.421” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The provisions of Section 4.421 are being used as criteria in the 
review of the FDP. See Findings G30 through G37. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) O. Refinements to Preliminary Development Plan as part of Final 
Development Plan 
 
G16. Review Criteria: This subsection identifies the process and requirements for refinements to a 

preliminary development plan as party of a final development plan. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No refinements are proposed as part of the requested FDP. 

 
Subsection 4.125 (.18) P.2. Final Development Plan Compliance with Architectural Pattern 
Book, Community Elements Book, and PDP Conditions of Approval 
 
G17. Review Criteria: “An application for an FDP shall demonstrate that the proposal conforms to the 

applicable Architectural Pattern Book, Community Elements Book, Village Center Architectural 
Standards and any conditions of a previously approved PDP.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by a Conditions of Approval PDG 
11 and PDG 12. 
Explanation of Finding: Overall, as demonstrated by Finding G9 above, the FDP 
demonstrates compliance with the SAP North Community Elements Book. The applicant 
has provided sufficient information to show that playground equipment meeting the 
Community Elements Book can be provided. However, Condition of Approval PDG 11 
ensures the detailed requirements of the Community Elements Book are met. There are no 
relevant portions of the Architectural Pattern Book, or Conditions of Approval for a 
previously approved PDP to which to demonstrate compliance. To further consistency with 
the Villebois Village Master Plan Parks and Open Spaces Policy 1, Condition of Approval 
PDG 12 requires a large shade tree be planted in the pocket park as a focal point at the 
intersection of Grahams Ferry Road and Tooze Road. 

 
Landscape Standards Section 4.176 
 
Subsection 4.176 (.02) B. Landscape Standards and Compliance with Code 
 
G18. Review Criterion: “All landscaping and screening required by this Code must comply with all of 

the provisions of this Section, unless specifically waived or granted a Variance as otherwise 
provided in the Code.  The landscaping standards are minimum requirements; higher standards can 
be substituted as long as fence and vegetation-height limitations are met.  Where the standards set a 

Page 121 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 122 of 135 

minimum based on square footage or linear footage, they shall be interpreted as applying to each 
complete or partial increment of area or length” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No waivers or variances to landscape standards have been 
requested. Thus all landscaping and screening must comply with standards of this section. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.03) Landscape Area and Locations 
 
G19. Review Criteria: “Not less than fifteen percent (15%) of the total lot area, shall be landscaped 

with vegetative plant materials.  The ten percent (10%) parking area landscaping required by 
section 4.155.03(B)(1) is included in the fifteen percent (15%) total lot landscaping requirement.  
Landscaping shall be located in at least three separate and distinct areas of the lot, one of which 
must be in the contiguous frontage area.  Planting areas shall be encouraged adjacent to structures.  
Landscaping shall be used to define, soften or screen the appearance of buildings and off-street 
parking areas.  Materials to be installed shall achieve a balance between various plant forms, 
textures, and heights. The installation of native plant materials shall be used whenever practicable.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The proposed parks are predominantly covered with vegetative 
plant materials other than areas for walkways, play structures, benches, tables, etc. The 
plantings are in a variety of areas. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.04) Buffering and Screening 
 
G20. Review Criteria: “Additional to the standards of this subsection, the requirements of the Section 

4.137.5 (Screening and Buffering Overlay Zone) shall also be applied, where applicable. 
C. All exterior, roof and ground mounted, mechanical and utility equipment shall be 
screened from ground level off-site view from adjacent streets or properties. 
D. All outdoor storage areas shall be screened from public view, unless visible storage has 
been approved for the site by the Development Review Board or Planning Director acting on a 
development permit.  
E. In all cases other than for industrial uses in industrial zones, landscaping shall be 
designed to screen loading areas and docks, and truck parking. 
F. In any zone any fence over six (6) feet high measured from soil surface at the outside of 
fenceline shall require Development Review Board approval.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No conditions requiring buffering and screening are within the 
area covered by the subject FDP request. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) A. Plant Materials-Shrubs and Groundcover 
 
G21. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes plant material and planting requirements for shrubs 

and ground cover. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Applicant’s Sheet L5.0 in their plan set, Exhibit B5, indicates the 
requirements established by this subsection will be met by the proposed plantings. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) B. Plant Materials-Trees 
 
G22. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes plant material requirements for trees. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 

Page 122 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 123 of 135 

Explanation of Finding: Applicant’s Sheet L5.0 in their plan set, Exhibit B5, indicates the 
requirements established by this subsection will be met by the proposed plantings. 
 

Subsection 4.176 (.06) D. Plant Materials-Street Trees 
 
G23. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes plant material requirements for street trees. 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied  
Explanation of Finding: Applicant’s Sheets L2.0 through L4.0 of their plan set, Exhibit 
B5, indicate the requirements established by this subsection as well as the Community 
Elements Book are generally met. However, the plans show street trees both were they can 
interfere with preserved trees and within areas designated as curb cuts. Exhibit B6 includes 
a revised street tree plan to address the preserved tree and curb cut conflicts. Additional 
street trees may be omitted to avoid interference with “Likely to be removed” trees end up 
being preserved. 
 

Subsection 4.176 (.06) E. Types of Plant Species 
 
G24. Review Criteria: This subsection discusses use of existing landscaping or native vegetation, 

selection of plant materials, and prohibited plant materials. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The allowed plant materials are governed by the Community 
Elements Book. All proposed plant materials will be consistent with the SAP North 
Community Elements Book.  

 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) F. Tree Credit 
 
G25. Review Criteria: “Existing trees that are in good health as certified by an arborist and are not 

disturbed during construction may count for landscaping tree credit as follows: Existing trunk 
diameter   Number of Tree Credits 
18 to 24  inches in diameter    3 tree credits  
25 to 31 inches in diameter   4 tree credits 
32 inches or greater    5 tree credits:” 
Maintenance requirements listed 1. through 2. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant is not requesting any of the preserved trees be 
counted as tree credits pursuant to this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.06) G. Exceeding Plant Material Standards 
 
G26. Review Criterion: “Landscape materials that exceed the minimum standards of this Section are 

encouraged, provided that height and vision clearance requirements are met.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The selected landscape materials do not violate any height or 
visions clearance requirements. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.07) Installation and Maintenance of Landscaping 
 
G27. Review Criteria: This subsection establishes installation and maintenance standards for 

landscaping. 

Page 123 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 124 of 135 

Finding: These criteria are satisfied or will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDG 2. 
Explanation of Finding: The installation and maintenance standards are or will be met as 
follows: 
 Plant materials are required to be installed to current industry standards and be properly 

staked to ensure survival 
 Plants that die are required to be replaced in kind, within one growing season, unless 

appropriate substitute species are approved by the City. 
 A note on the applicant’s Sheet L5.0 in their plan set, Exhibit B5, indicates “coordinate 

landscape installation with installation of underground sprinkler and drainage 
systems.” 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.09) Landscape Plans 
 
G28. Review Criterion: “Landscape plans shall be submitted showing all existing and proposed 

landscape areas.  Plans must be drawn to scale and show the type, installation size, number and 
placement of materials.  Plans shall include a plant material list. Plants are to be identified by both 
their scientific and common names.  The condition of any existing plants and the proposed method 
of irrigation are also to be indicated.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Landscape plans have been submitted with the required 
information. See Exhibit B5. 

 
Subsection 4.176 (.10) Completion of Landscaping 
 
G29. Review Criterion: “The installation of plant materials may be deferred for a period of time 

specified by the Board or Planning Director acting on an application, in order to avoid hot summer 
or cold winter periods, or in response to water shortages.  In these cases, a temporary permit shall 
be issued, following the same procedures specified in subsection (.07)(C)(3), above, regarding 
temporary irrigation systems.  No final Certificate of Occupancy shall be granted until an adequate 
bond or other security is posted for the completion of the landscaping, and the City is given written 
authorization to enter the property and install the required landscaping, in the event that the 
required landscaping has not been installed. The form of such written authorization shall be 
submitted to the City Attorney for review.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As a condition of PDP approval the parks for the PDP or PDP 
phase must be completed prior to fifty percent (50%) of the house permits are issued unless 
certain conditions exist, similar to what is described in this subsection, in which case a 
bond can be posted. See finding D55 and Condition of Approval PDD 3. 

 
Site Design Review 
 
Subsection 4.400 (.01) Excessive Uniformity, Inappropriateness of Design, Etc. 
 
G30. Review Criteria: “Excessive uniformity, inappropriateness or poor design of the exterior 

appearance of structures and signs and the lack of proper attention to site development and 
landscaping in the business, commercial, industrial and certain residential areas of the City hinders 
the harmonious development of the City, impairs the desirability of residence, investment or 
occupation in the City, limits the opportunity to attain the optimum use in value and improvements, 
adversely affects the stability and value of property, produces degeneration of property in such 

Page 124 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 125 of 135 

areas and with attendant deterioration of conditions affecting the peace, health and welfare, and 
destroys a proper relationship between the taxable value of property and the cost of municipal 
services therefor.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding:  
Excessive Uniformity: A variety of parks with a variety of features and amenities are 
provided consistent with the diversity of park uses described in the Villebois Village 
Master Plan avoiding excessive uniformity in park and open space design.  
Inappropriate or Poor Design of the Exterior Appearance of Structures: Park structures 
are being required to conform to the Community Elements Book ensuring quality design 
appropriate for the Villebois context. 
Inappropriate or Poor Design of Signs: Signs within parks and open spaces are required to 
be consistent with the Master Sign and Wayfinding program which is a comprehensive 
signage package that ensures signs in parks and open spaces, like elsewhere in Villebois, 
are of a quality design and appropriate for the Villebois context. 
Lack of Proper Attention to Site Development: The appropriate professional services have 
been used to design the park and open spaces incorporating unique features of the site 
including natural features, demonstrating appropriate attention being given to site 
development.  
Lack of Proper Attention to Landscaping: Landscaping has been professionally designed 
by a landscape architect, and includes a variety of plant materials, all demonstrating 
appropriate attention being given to landscaping.  

 
Subsection 4.400 (.02) Purposes of Objectives of Site Design Review 
 
G31. Review Criterion: “The City Council declares that the purposes and objectives of site 

development requirements and the site design review procedure are to:” Listed A through J. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: It is staff’s professional opinion that the applicant has provided 
sufficient information demonstrating compliance with the purposes and objectives of site 
design review. This includes designing the site to keep more formal improvements focused 
on areas of the site that were previously impacted by development, and preserving and 
enhancing the abundant natural areas of the site. In addition, site structures and features are 
consistent with the Community Element Book, which has previously been reviewed to 
ensure consistency with the Villebois Village Master Plan which has similar purposes and 
objectives as site design review. 

 
Section 4.420 Site Design Review-Jurisdiction and Power of the Board 
 
G32. Review Criteria: The section states the jurisdiction and power of the Development Review Board 

in relation to site design review including the application of the section, that development is 
required in accord with plans, and variance information. 
Finding: These criteria will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDG 3. 
Explanation of Finding: A condition of approval has been included to ensure 
construction, site development, and landscaping are carried out in substantial accord with 
the Development Review Board approved plans, drawings, sketches, and other documents. 
No grading or other permits will be granted prior to development review board approval. 
No variances are requested from site development requirements. 

Page 125 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 126 of 135 

 
Subsection 4.421 (.01) Site Design Review-Design Standards 
 
G33. Review Criteria: “The following standards shall be utilized by the Board in reviewing the plans, 

drawings, sketches and other documents required for Site Design Review.  These standards are 
intended to provide a frame of reference for the applicant in the development of site and building 
plans as well as a method of review for the Board.  These standards shall not be regarded as 
inflexible requirements.  They are not intended to discourage creativity, invention and innovation.  
The specifications of one or more particular architectural styles is not included in these standards.” 
Listed A through G.   
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The scope of design standards refers only to the parks and open 
spaces, as the single-family homes are not subject to site design review. The park elements 
within Open Space 2 have appropriately been set among the natural area, and other park 
elements are appropriate for a relatively flat site. Surface water drainage has been 
thoroughly reviewed consistent with the Villebois Village Master Plan and the Rainwater 
Master Plan for SAP North.  

 
Subsection 4.421 (.02) Applicability of Design Standards to Various Site Features 
 
G34. Review Criteria: “The standards of review outlined in Sections (a) through (g) above shall also 

apply to all accessory buildings, structures, exterior signs and other site features, however related to 
the major buildings or structures.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: Design standards have been applied to all applicable site 
features, which does not include single-family homes.  

 
Subsection 4.421 (.03) Objectives of Section 4.400 Serve as Additional Criteria and Standards 
 
G35. Review Criteria: “The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 

objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards.” 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The purposes and objectives in Section 4.400 are being used as 
additional criteria and standards. See Finding G31 above. 

 
Subsection 4.421 (.05) Site Design Review-Conditions of Approval 
 
G36. Review Criterion: “The Board may attach certain development or use conditions in granting an 

approval that are determined necessary to insure the proper and efficient functioning of the 
development, consistent with the intent of the Comprehensive Plan, allowed densities and the 
requirements of this Code.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: No additional conditions of approval are recommended. 

 
Subsection 4.421 (.06) Color or Materials Requirements 
 
G37. Review Criterion: “The Board or Planning Director may require that certain paints or colors of 

materials be used in approving applications.  Such requirements shall only be applied when site 
development or other land use applications are being reviewed by the City.”   

Page 126 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 127 of 135 

Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approvals PDG 4 and PDG 5. 
Explanation of Finding: The Conditions of Approval requires specific materials for any 
retaining walls or hand rails to ensure a quality of design consistent with the Architectural 
Pattern Book. 

 
Section 4.440 Site Design Review-Procedures 
 
G38. Review Criteria: “A prospective applicant for a building or other permit who is subject to site 

design review shall submit to the Planning Department, in addition to the requirements of Section 
4.035, the following:” Listed A through F. 
Finding: These criteria are satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: The applicant has submitted the required additional materials, as 
applicable. 

 
Section 4.442 Time Limit on Approval 
 
G39. Review Criterion: “Site design review approval shall be void after two (2) years unless a building 

permit has been issued and substantial development pursuant thereto has taken place; or an 
extension is granted by motion of the Board. 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: It is understood that the approval will expire after 2 years if a 
building permit hasn’t been issued unless an extension has been granted by the board. 

 
Subsection 4.450 (.01) Landscape Installation or Bonding 
 
G40. Review Criterion: “All landscaping required by this section and approved by the Board shall be 

installed prior to issuance of occupancy permits, unless security equal to one hundred and ten 
percent (110%) of the cost of the landscaping as determined by the Planning Director is filed with 
the City assuring such installation within six (6) months of occupancy.  "Security" is cash, certified 
check, time certificates of deposit, assignment of a savings account or such other assurance of 
completion as shall meet with the approval of the City Attorney.  In such cases the developer shall 
also provide written authorization, to the satisfaction of the City Attorney, for the City or its 
designees to enter the property and complete the landscaping as approved.  If the installation of the 
landscaping is not completed within the six-month period, or within an extension of time 
authorized by the Board, the security may be used by the City to complete the installation.  Upon 
completion of the installation, any portion of the remaining security deposited with the City shall 
be returned to the applicant.” 
Finding: This criterion is satisfied. 
Explanation of Finding: As a condition of PDP approval the parks for the PDP or PDP 
phase must be completed prior to fifty percent (50%) of the house permits being issued. 
See Finding D55 in Request D and Condition of Approval PDD 3. 

 
Subsection 4.450 (.02) Approved Landscape Plan Binding 
 
G41. Review Criterion: “Action by the City approving a proposed landscape plan shall be binding upon 

the applicant.  Substitution of plant materials, irrigation systems, or other aspects of an approved 
landscape plan shall not be made without official action of the Planning Director or Development 
Review Board, as specified in this Code.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDG 6. 

Page 127 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 128 of 135 

Explanation of Finding: The condition of approval shall provide ongoing assurance this 
criterion is met. 

 
Subsection 4.450 (.03) Landscape Maintenance and Watering 
 
G42. Review Criterion: “All landscaping shall be continually maintained, including necessary watering, 

weeding, pruning, and replacing, in a substantially similar manner as originally approved by the 
Board, unless altered with Board approval.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDG 6. 
Explanation of Finding: The condition of approval will ensure landscaping is continually 
maintained in accordance with this subsection. 

 
Subsection 4.450 (.04) Addition and Modifications of Landscaping 
 
G43. Review Criterion: “If a property owner wishes to add landscaping for an existing development, in 

an effort to beautify the property, the Landscape Standards set forth in Section 4.176 shall not 
apply and no Plan approval or permit shall be required.  If the owner wishes to modify or remove 
landscaping that has been accepted or approved through the City’s development review process, 
that removal or modification must first be approved through the procedures of Section 4.010.” 
Finding: This criterion will be satisfied by Condition of Approval PDG 6. 
Explanation of Finding: The condition of approval shall provide ongoing assurance that 
this criterion is met by preventing modification or removal without the appropriate City 
review. 

  

Page 128 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 129 of 135 

REQUEST H: SI14-0003 SRIR REVIEW 
 
Findings of Fact: 
 
1. The area designated Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) within Phase 3 North is 

upland wildlife habitat (Site ID Number URA#41). The delineated wetlands (i.e., wetland A 
and wetland B) were not included in the City’s Natural Resources Inventory, and are not 
considered locally significant. However, any impacts to these wetlands are regulated by the 
Oregon Department of State Lands and the Army Corps of Engineers.  

 
2. The upland wildlife habitat (i.e., mixed coniferous/deciduous forest) is 9.89 acres, and has a 

mature Douglas fir/Oregon white oak canopy. The understory has been disturbed in the past, 
and the shrub and herbaceous layers have been impacted by non-native invasive plant 
species. Native tree species include Oregon white oak, Douglas fir, vine maple, and Indian 
plum. Non-native invasive plant species include Himalayan blackberry, English ivy, and 
domestic cheery trees. The forest provides habitat for birds, but due to the lack of 
connectivity to other habitat, it does not provide many opportunities for other species, such as 
mammals. 

 
3. The Significant Resource Overlay Zone ordinance prescribes regulations for development 

within the SROZ and its associated 25 foot Impact Area. Setbacks from significant natural 
resources implement the requirements of Metro Title 3 Water Quality Resource Areas, Metro 
Title 13 Nature in Neighborhoods, and Statewide Planning Goal 5. Wetlands, streams and 
riparian corridors shall have at least a minimum 50-foot buffer, but buffers may extend to the 
top of the slope for riparian corridors. All significant natural resources have a 25 foot Impact 
Area. Development or other alteration activities may be permitted within the SROZ and its 
associated 25 foot Impact Area through the review of a Significant Resource Impact Report 
(SRIR). 

 
4. Pursuant to the city’s SROZ ordinance, development is only allowed within the Area of 

Limited Conflicting Use (ALCU). The ALCU is located between the riparian corridor 
boundary, riparian impact area or the Metro Title 3 Water Quality Resource Area boundary, 
whichever is furthest from the wetland or stream, and the outside edge of the SROZ, or an 
isolated significant wildlife habitat (upland forest) resource site. 

 
5. The applicant’s Significant Resource Impact Report delineated specific resource boundaries 

and analyzed the impacts of development within the SROZ. The applicant’s SRIR contained 
the required information, including an analysis and development recommendations for 
mitigating impacts. The approved mitigation plan was submitted with Phase 2. 

 
Description of Request: 
The applicant is requesting approval of a Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) for non-
exempt development that is located within the Significant Resource Overlay Zone and its 
associated 25 foot Impact Area in Phase 3.  
 
Summary of Issues/Background: 
The proposed non-exempt development will encroach into the Significant Resource Overlay 
Zone and its associated 25 foot Impact Area. All non-exempt development will occur within the 

Page 129 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 130 of 135 

Area of Limited Conflicting Use of the isolated significant wildlife habitat (i.e., upland forest). 
The applicant is proposing to add 2,101 square feet of impact to the impacts previously approved 
with Phase 2. With this revision, the impacted area totals 18,356 square feet and is situated 
within and along the edge of the upland forest. The impact to the SROZ is necessary for the 
construction of a bioretention cell along the northern edge of the forest.  
 
Proposed exempt development in the SROZ and its associated 25 foot Impact Area includes the 
following: 
 

1) Soft surface pedestrian pathway and nature trail activity area within the upland forest.  
 
Section 4.139.04 Use and Activities Exempt from These Regulations 
 
Proposed exempt development in the SROZ and its associated 25 foot Impact Area comply 
with the following exemptions: 
 
(.08) The construction of new roads, pedestrian or bike paths into the SROZ in order to 

provide access to the sensitive area or across the sensitive area, provided the 
location of the crossing is consistent with the intent of the Wilsonville 
Comprehensive Plan. Roads and paths shall be constructed so as minimize and 
repair disturbance to existing vegetation and slope stability.  

 
H1. The construction of the nature trail and nature trail activity area will have minimal impacts 

to the resource area, and is consistent with the requirements of this exemption. 
 
Section 4.139.06.03 SRIR Review Criteria: 
 
In addition to the normal Site Development Permit Application requirements as stated in 
the Planning and Land Development Ordinance, the following standards shall apply to the 
issuance of permits requiring an SRIR. The SRIR must demonstrate how these standards 
are met in a manner that meets the purposes of this Section. 
 
A.  Except as specifically authorized by this code, development shall be permitted only 

within the Area of Limited Conflicting Use (see definition) found within the SROZ; 
 
H2. The proposed non-exempt development is located within the Area of Limited Conflicting 

Use found within the SROZ. The total area of all other encroachments within the SROZ or 
its associated Impact Area has been deemed exempt or proposed only within the Impact 
Area.  

 
B.  Except as specifically authorized by this code, no development is permitted within 

Metro’s Urban Growth Management Functional Plan Title 3 Water Quality Resource 
Areas boundary; 

 
H3. The proposed development for Phase 3 will not be located within Metro’s Title 3 Water 

Quality Resource Areas boundary.  
 
C.  No more than five (5) percent of the Area of Limited Conflicting Use (see definition) 

located on a property may be impacted by a development proposal. On properties that 

Page 130 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 131 of 135 

are large enough to include Areas of Limited Conflicting Use on both sides of a 
waterway, no more than five (5) percent of the Area of Limited Conflicting Use on each 
side of the riparian corridor may be impacted by a development proposal. This 
condition is cumulative to any successive development proposals on the subject 
property such that the total impact on the property shall not exceed five (5) percent; 

 
H4. The applicant has identified the proposed development within the Area of Limited 

Conflicting Use, and calculated the percentage for this development. The total includes 
impacts associated with phases 2 and 3 of SAP-North. The following information has been 
provided on the Area of Limited Conflicting Use (ALCU): 

 
Total ALCU  = 430,988 square feet 
Allowed Impact (5%) = 21,549 square feet 
Proposed Impact  = 18,356 square feet (4.3%) 

 
D. Mitigation of the area to be impacted shall be consistent with Section 4.139.06 of this 

code and shall occur in accordance with the provisions of this Section; 
 
H5. The applicant has identified the mitigation area necessary to offset impacts to the SROZ, 

and proposed to enhance 46,212 square feet. Based on the required mitigation ratio of 
2.5:1, only 45,890 square feet is required. The mitigation plan was approved with Phase 2. 

 
E.  The impact on the Significant Resource is minimized by limiting the degree or 

magnitude of the action, by using appropriate technology or by taking affirmative steps 
to avoid, reduce or mitigate impacts; 

 
H6. The impact to the SROZ will be from the construction of a bioretention cell along the 

northern edge of the forest. The applicant has minimized permanent impacts to very mature 
trees, and other native vegetation. The grading and erosion control plan will ensure areas 
within the SROZ are protected during construction activities. No stormwater runoff will 
discharge into the SROZ.  

 
F. The impacts to the Significant Resources will be rectified by restoring, rehabilitating, or 

creating enhanced resource values within the “replacement area” (see definitions) on 
the site or, where mitigation is not practical on-site, mitigation may occur in another 
location approved by the City; 

 
H7. Impacts to the SROZ will be mitigated for on-site and will satisfy the mitigation ratios and 

other requirements of Section 4.139.07. 
 
G. Non-structural fill used within the SROZ area shall primarily consist of natural 

materials similar to the soil types found on the site; 
 
H8. Non-structural fill will consist of natural materials similar to the soil types found on the 

site.  
 
H.  The amount of fill used shall be the minimum required to practically achieve the 

project purpose; 

Page 131 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 132 of 135 

 
H9. No fill is proposed to be placed within the SROZ.  
 
I.  Other than measures taken to minimize turbidity during construction, stream turbidity 

shall not be significantly increased by any proposed development or alteration of the 
site; 

 
H10. All proposed grading activities on-site will be managed pursuant to guidelines established 

and identified in the applicant’s approved erosion control plan and a 1200-C Erosion 
Control Permit issued by the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality. Stream 
turbidity is regulated under the City’s Grading and Erosion Control Permit and the DEQ’s 
1200-C Erosion Control Permit.  

 
J.  Appropriate federal and state permits shall be obtained prior to the initiation of any 

activities regulated by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and the Oregon Division 
[Department] of State Lands in any jurisdictional wetlands or water of the United 
States or State of Oregon, respectively. 

 
H11. The applicant has submitted a joint permit application for the filling of wetland A, which 

will require permit approval from the Oregon Department of State Lands and the Army 
Corps of Engineers.  

 
Section 4.139.07  Mitigation Standards 
 

(.01) The applicant shall review the appropriate Goal 5 Inventory Summary Sheets 
for wildlife habitat (i.e. upland) contained in the City of Wilsonville Natural 
Resource Inventory and Goal 5/Title 3/ESA Compliance and Protection Plan 
(“Compliance and Protection Plan”- May 2000) to determine the resource 
function ratings at the time the inventory was conducted. 

 
H12. The applicant has reviewed the appropriate Upland Summary Sheet (Site ID Number 

2.14U) to determine the resource function ratings at the time the inventory was conducted.  
 

(.02) The applicant shall prepare a Mitigation Plan document containing the 
following elements: 

 
A. The Mitigation Plan shall contain an assessment of the existing natural 

resource function ratings at the time of the proposed encroachment for the 
site compared to the function ratings recorded in the Compliance and 
Protection Plan. 

 
H13. The applicant has addressed the resource function ratings for the impact area and also 

correctly documented the resource function ratings in the Compliance and Protection Plan. 
The impact area has a low to medium function rating due to non-native invasive plant 
species, and the lack of habitat connectivity.  

 
B. The Mitigation Plan shall contain an assessment of the anticipated adverse 

impacts to significant wildlife habitat resources. The impact assessment shall 

Page 132 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 133 of 135 

discuss impacts by resource functions (as listed in the Compliance and 
Protection Plan, May 2000) for each resource type, and shall map the area of 
impact (square feet or acres) for each function.  

 
H14. The applicant has determined the impact to the significant resource area based on the 

resource functions. The applicant has calculated the square feet of the impact to the 
Significant Resource. The applicant’s site plan in the SRIR depicts the area of impact. 

 
C. The Mitigation Plan shall present a proposed mitigation action designed to 

replace the lost or impacted resource functions described in Subsection B, 
above. The mitigation plan shall be designed to replace lost or impacted 
functions by enhancement of existing resources on, or off the impact site, or 
creation of new resource areas. 

 
H15. For Phase 2, the applicant received approval of a mitigation plan consistent with the 

requirements in Section 4.139.07. The mitigation will occur on-site, and within close 
proximity to the areas of impact.  

 
D. For mitigation projects based on resource function enhancement, the area 

ratios presented in Table NR - 2 shall be applied. These ratios are based on 
the resource function ratings at the time of the proposed action, as described 
in Subsection A, above. The mitigation action shall be conducted on the 
appropriate size area as determined by the ratios in Table NR - 2.  

 
H16. The applicant has estimated the resource function ratings for the “existing rating at 

mitigation site” and “proposed rating at mitigation site.”  
 

(.03) Proposals for mitigation action where new natural resource functions and values 
are created (i.e. creating wetland or wildlife habitat where it does not presently 
exist) will be reviewed and may be approved by the Development Review Board 
or Planning Director if it is determined that the proposed action will create 
natural resource functions and values that are equal to or greater than those lost 
by the proposed impact activity.  

 
H17. No new habitat will be created as part of the mitigation plan. The proposed mitigation will 

enhance existing habitat. 
 

(.04) Mitigation actions shall be implemented prior to or at the same time as the 
impact activity is conducted.  

 
H18. A condition of approval requires the mitigation actions to be implemented prior to or at the 

same time as the impact activity is conducted. 
 

(.05) Mitigation plans shall have clearly stated goals and measurable performance 
standards. 

 
H19. The applicant has submitted a mitigation plan with goals and measurable performance 

standards. 

Page 133 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 134 of 135 

 
(.06) All mitigation plans shall contain a monitoring and maintenance plan to be 

conducted for a period of five years following mitigation implementation. The 
applicant shall be responsible for ongoing maintenance and management 
activities, and shall submit an annual report to the Planning Director 
documenting such activities, and reporting progress towards the mitigation 
goals. The report shall contain, at a minimum, photographs from established 
photo points, quantitative measure of success criteria, including plant survival 
and vigor if these are appropriate data. The Year 1 annual report shall be 
submitted one year following mitigation action implementation. The final annual 
report (Year 5 report) shall document successful satisfaction of mitigation goals, 
as per the stated performance standards. If the ownership of the mitigation site 
property changes, the new owners will have the continued responsibilities 
established by this section. 

 
H20. The applicant has submitted information regarding monitoring and maintenance of the 

proposed mitigation.  
 

(.07) The Mitigation Plan document shall be prepared by a natural resource 
professional. 

 
H21. The applicant’s team has the necessary credentials to implement a mitigation plan for the 

proposed impacts.  
 

(.08) Prior to any site clearing, grading or construction, the SROZ area shall be 
staked, and fenced per approved plan.  During construction, the SROZ area 
shall remain fenced and undisturbed except as allowed by an approved 
development permit. 

 
H22. A condition of approval requires the SROZ to be fenced and undisturbed.  
 

(.09) For any development which creates multiple parcels intended for separate 
ownership, the City shall require that the SROZ areas on the site be encumbered 
with a conservation easement or tract. 

 
H23. A conservation easement is required for the SROZ areas on the site. A condition of 

approval requires a conservation easement to be recorded.  
 

(.10) The City may require a conservation easement over the SROZ that would 
prevent the owner from activities and uses inconsistent with the purpose of this 
Section and any easements therein.  The purpose of the conservation easement is 
to conserve and protect resources as well as to prohibit certain activities that are 
inconsistent with the purposes of this section.  Such conservation easements do 
not exclude the installation of utilities. 

 
H24. A conservation easement is required for the SROZ areas on the site. A condition of 

approval requires a conservation easement to be recorded. 
 

Page 134 of 158



 

Development Review Board Panel ‘A’Staff Report May 5, 2014 Exhibit A1 
Polygon Homes-Villebois Phase 3 North Calais at Villebois Page 135 of 135 

(.11) At the Planning Directors discretion, mitigation requirements may be modified 
based on minimization of impacts at the impact activity site.  Where such 
modifications are granted by the Planning Director, the Director shall clearly 
indicate the reasons for doing so in the record, citing the relevant information 
relied upon in reaching the decision. 

 
H25. The applicant has not requested a modification of mitigation requirements.  
 

(.12) The Director may study the possibility of a payment-in-lieu-of system for natural 
resource impact mitigation. This process would involve the public acquisition 
and management of natural resource properties partially funded by these 
payments.  

 
H26. The applicant has not requested a payment-in-lieu. 
 

 

Page 135 of 158



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

15.00'
EASEMENT

6.00'
PUE

3.00'
PUE

55.00'

55.00'

55.00'

55.00'

55.00'

40.50'

55.00'

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

(
F

U
T

U
R

E
 
D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
)

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG LG

LG

LG

STD

STD STD

LG

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M
M

M

M

M

M

M
M

M

M

M

M M

M

M

M M

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM
SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

OS

L/G

L/G

FUTURE

DEVELOPMENT

OPEN SPACE 2

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM
SM

LG

L/G

PP

L/G

10
5,747 SF

8
6,171 SF

77
2,400 SF

26
3,358 SF

5
6,000 SF

55
7,056 SF

76
2,400 SF

78
2,400 SF

79
2,791 SF

80
2,539 SF

81
3,075 SF

82
2,400 SF

83
3,075 SF

84
2,736 SF

28
3,186 SF

29
2,934 SF

30
3,102 SF

31
3,085 SF

32
3,158 SF

37
2,400 SF

36
3,075 SF

35
2,400 SF

34
3,075 SF

33
2,539 SF

38
3,411 SF

42
2,400 SF

43
3,075 SF

44
2,539 SF

39
3,411 SF

40
2,400 SF

41
3,075 SF

20
3,321 SF

25
3,358 SF

27
3,635 SF

24
3,675 SF

23
3,609 SF

22
3,268 SF

21
3,294 SF

18
3,373 SF

19
3,347 SF

17
3,837 SF

48
3,921 SF

46
3,690 SF

45
3,921 SF

69
3,589 SF

65
3,675 SF

66
3,675 SF

67
3,675 SF

68
3,675 SF

64
3,583 SF

63
3,702 SF

62
3,675 SF

61
3,675 SF

60
3,675 SF

59
3,589 SF

47
3,690 SF

51
6,261 SF

50
5,640 SF

58
5,000 SF

54
7,366 SF

56
5,000 SF

53
6,000 SF

57
5,000 SF

52
6,000 SF

16
6,071 SF

11
6,000 SF

12
6,000 SF

13
6,000 SF

14
6,000 SF

7
6,000 SF

6
6,000 SF

2
6,000 SF

4
6,000 SF

3
6,000 SF

71
3,075 SF

70
2,736 SF

75
2,775 SF

74
2,539 SF

73
3,075 SF

72
2,400 SF

1
6,481 SF

TRACT "H"
8,651 SF

TRACT "L"
9,133 SF

TRACT "G"
8,112 SFTRACT "M"

42,711 SF

TRACT "N"
3,559 SF

TRACT "F"
3,091 SF

TRACT "E"
1,177 SF

TRACT "D"
11,123 SF

TRACT "J"
1,126 SF

TRACT "B"
6,018 SF

TRACT "K"
7,292 SF

108.7'

10
5.

1'

45
.8

'
15

.7
'

15
.9

'

75
3.

5'

558.8'

17
.5

'
12

.5
'

10
0.

0'
55

.0
'

29
8.

8'

0.9'

88.9'

13
.9

'
20

.0
'

75
.0

'
3.

7'
82

.0
'

21
.3

'
32

.0
'

34
.0

'
34

.0
'

34
.6

'
40

.9
'

13
.4

'

695.0'

58.4'

29
.7

'

83
.7

'

21.2' 11.5'

16
6.

4'

77.2'

60.7' 21.2' 75.0' 20.0' 35.0' 41.0' 32.0' 41.0' 23.5' 21.2'

61
.5

'
20

.0
'

61
.5

'

21
.2'

23.5'41.0'32.0'41.0'20.0'51.9'23.2'

82.8'

15
.7

' 48.4'

39
.1

'
32

.0
'

32
.0

'
32

.0
'

37
.0

'

75.0'

75.0'

75.0'

75.0'

37
.0

'
32

.0
'

32
.0

'
32

.0
'

37
.0

'

55
.0

'

31.4'

15.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

32.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

37.0'

37.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

32.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

15.0'

31
.4'

55
.0

'

86.7'20.0'35.0'41.0'32.0'41.0'32.0'32.5'

21.2'

61
.5

'
20

.0
'

61
.5

'

21
.2'

32.5' 32.0' 41.0' 32.0' 41.0' 35.0' 20.0' 78.7' 21.4'

35
.0

'

90.5'

34
.0

'

91.0'

34
.0

'

91.5'

32
.0

'

91.9'

35
.0

'

55
.0

'

31
.4

'

15.0'

75
.0

'

55
.0

'

31.4'

15.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'
46.0'

32.0' 41.0'

32.0' 41.0'

41.0'32.0'

41.0'32.0'

46.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

649.3'

526.8'

52.2'

54
1.

7'

21.2'

11.0'

87.5'

22.4'

15
.5

'
2.

8'

32
.1

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

17
.7

'
7.

4'

60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0'

10
0.

0'

L/G

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

90
.1

'75
.7

'

39.1'

91.3'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

65
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

65
.0

'

90
.6

'

38.7' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 61.4'

21
.2

'

72
.0

'

7.
5'1

0.2' 11.9'

15.5'

12.1' 49.0' 49.0' 49.0' 49.0' 20.0' 76.5'

21.2'

30
.5

'
41

.0
'

41
.0

'
30

.5
'

21
.2

'

76.5'20.0'49.0'49.0'49.0'49.0'49.0'43.1'

25.8'

60
.5

'

35.5'

28.4'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0' 49.0'

49.0'

29.0'

29.0'
31.4'

41
.0

'
41

.0
'

31
.4

'
55

.0
'

44
.0

'

90.0'

90.0'

90.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'
73

.8
'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

25.8'

87
.0

'

96
.6

'

16.6' 46.5' 60.0' 60.0' 76.5'

21.2'

56
.5

'
60

.0
'

56
.5

'

21
.2'

84.5'50.0'50.0'50.0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

30
.0

'

98.0'

70
.0

'
70

.0
'

90.0'

70
.0

'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

38.0'53.6'

23.0'66.0'

21
.2

'

35
.5

'
43

.0
'

43
.0

'
43

.0
'

43
.0

'
43

.0
'

49
.0

'
20

.0
'

75
.0

'
3.

5'

21.2'

159.4' 21
.0

'

47.9'44.8'44.8'49.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

49.0'44.8'44.8'49.0'

69.5'25.6'

55.3' 31
.1

'
29

.3
'

75.7'

76.3'

43
.0

'
43

.0
'

76.9'

43
.0

'

77.5'

43
.0

'

78.1'

43
.0

'

78.8'

49
.0

'

TRACT "C"
1,500 SF

15
6,000 SF

9
5,571 SF

49
6,821 SF

70
.0

'
30

.0
'

8.0'

70.1'

50.0'2.0'48.0'12.0'

15.0'

15.0'
20.7'

7.4'

33.8'37.2'

14
.9

'

41
.9

'

5.00'
TREE

EASEMENT

30'x15'
TREE

EASEMENT

TRACT "A"
20,901 SF

TRACT "O"
460 SF

L/G

23
.0

'

23
.0

'

20.0' 21
.0

'

32
.0

'

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

4/29/14

Preliminary
Plat

Page 136 of 158

swhite
Stamp



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

//

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

4/29/14

Street Tree
Plan

Page 137 of 158



1

From: Stacy Connery <stacy@pacific-community.com>
Sent: Thursday, May 01, 2014 9:32 AM
To: Pauly, Daniel
Subject: FW: Oregon Archaeological Site Form Approval (for Rumpf)

Dan, 

FYI – see email below regarding status of SHPO concurrence. 

Thanks, 
Stacy Connery, AICP 
(503) 828-5052 

12564 SW Main Street 
Tigard, OR  97223 

 Please consider the environment before printing this e-mail  

From: C. Mirth Walker [mailto:cmwalker@swca.com]  
Sent: Thursday, May 01, 2014 9:14 AM 
To: Stacy Connery; Amber Shasky‐Bell 
Subject: FW: Oregon Archaeological Site Form Approval (for Rumpf) 

For your files 
Mirth 

From: Zach Windler  
Sent: Thursday, May 01, 2014 9:11 AM 
To: C. Mirth Walker 
Cc: Mini Sharma 
Subject: FW: Oregon Archaeological Site Form Approval (for Rumpf) 

FYI. The wheels are in motion… 

___________________________________________________ 
Zach Windler, MLitt, RPA | Archaeologist │Project Manager 
SWCA Portland | P 503.224.0333 | C 512.422.7398 

From: Hub.HeritagePrograms@prd.state.or.us [mailto:Hub.HeritagePrograms@prd.state.or.us]  
Sent: Thursday, May 01, 2014 9:01 AM 
To: Zach Windler 
Subject: Oregon Archaeological Site Form Approval 

Your site Form Submission #12693 has been approved.  
A smithsonian number of 35CL401 has been assigned.  
The submission was given a SHPO national register eligibility status of Not Eligible  
Comments: Eligibility determination will be finalized when SHPO receives formal Finding of Effect and 
Determination of Eligibility from USACE  

Page 138 of 158

swhite
Stamp



2

 
No further action is required.  

Page 139 of 158



EXHIBIT A 
PLANNING DIVISION  

STAFF REPORT 
 

VILLEBOIS SAP NORTH PDP 3 - CALAIS 
 

DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD PANEL ‘___’ 
QUASI JUDICIAL HEARING 

 
 

Public Hearing Date:   
Date of Report:   
Application Numbers:  Request A: DB14-____  

Request B: DB14-____ 
Request C: DB14-____  
 

Property 
Owners/Applicants:  
 

 

 
PD = Planning Division conditions 
BD – Building Division Conditions 
PF = Engineering Conditions. 
NR = Natural Resources Conditions 
TR = SMART/Transit Conditions 
FD = Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue Conditions  
 
 

Page 140 of 158

swhite
Stamp



Preliminary Development Plan 

Standard Comments: 

PFC 1. All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in 
conformance to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards. 

PFC 2. Applicant shall submit insurance requirements to the City of Wilsonville in 
the following amounts: 

Coverage (Aggregate, accept where noted)                            Limit 
Commercial General Liability 
            General Aggregate (per project)                             $ 2,000,000 
            Fire Damage (any one fire)                                     $      50,000 
            Medical Expense (any one person)                         $      10,000 
Business Automobile Liability Insurance 
            Each Occurrence                                                     $ 1,000,000 
            Aggregate                                                                $ 2,000,000 
Workers Compensation Insurance                                       $    500,000 

PFC 3. No construction of, or connection to, any existing or proposed public 
utility/improvements will be permitted until all plans are approved by Staff, 
all fees have been paid, all necessary permits, right-of-way and easements 
have been obtained and Staff is notified a minimum of 24 hours in advance. 

PFC 4. All public utility/improvement plans submitted for review shall be based 
upon a 22”x 34” format and shall be prepared in accordance with the City of 
Wilsonville Public Work’s Standards. 

PFC 5. Plans submitted for review shall meet the following general criteria: 
 

a. Utility improvements that shall be maintained by the public and are not contained 
within a public right-of-way shall be provided a maintenance access acceptable to 
the City. The public utility improvements shall be centered in a minimum 15-ft. 
wide public easement for single utilities and a minimum 20-ft wide public 
easement for two parallel utilities and shall be conveyed to the City on its 
dedication forms. 

b. Design of any public utility improvements shall be approved at the time of the 
issuance of a Public Works Permit.  Private utility improvements are subject to 
review and approval by the City Building Department. 

c. In the plan set for the PW Permit, existing utilities and features, and proposed new 
private utilities shall be shown in a lighter, grey print.  Proposed public 
improvements shall be shown in bolder, black print. 

d. All elevations on design plans and record drawings shall be based on NAVD 88 
Datum.   

e. All proposed on and off-site public/private utility improvements shall comply 
with the State of Oregon and the City of Wilsonville requirements and any other 
applicable codes. 

f. Design plans shall identify locations for street lighting, gas service, power lines, 
telephone poles, cable television, mailboxes and any other public or private utility 
within the general construction area. 

Page 141 of 158



g. As per City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 615, all new gas, telephone, cable, 
fiber-optic and electric improvements etc. shall be installed underground.  
Existing overhead utilities shall be undergrounded wherever reasonably possible. 

h. Any final site landscaping and signing shall not impede any proposed or existing 
driveway or interior maneuvering sight distance. 

i. Erosion Control Plan that conforms to City of Wilsonville Ordinance No. 482. 
j. Existing/proposed right-of-way, easements and adjacent driveways shall be 

identified. 
k. All engineering plans shall be stamped by a Professional Engineer registered in 

the State of Oregon.  

Page 142 of 158



PFC 6. Submit plans in the following general format and order for all public works 
construction to be maintained by the City: 

 

a. Cover sheet 
b. City of Wilsonville construction note sheet 
c. General construction note sheet 
d. Existing conditions plan. 
e. Erosion control and tree protection plan. 
f. Site plan.  Include property line boundaries, water quality pond boundaries, 

sidewalk improvements, right-of-way (existing/proposed), easements 
(existing/proposed), and sidewalk and road connections to adjoining properties. 

g. Grading plan, with 1-foot contours. 
h. Composite utility plan; identify storm, sanitary, and water lines; identify storm 

and sanitary manholes. 
i. Detailed plans; show plan view and either profile view or provide i.e.’s at all 

utility crossings; include laterals in profile view or provide table with i.e.’s at 
crossings; vertical scale 1”= 5’, horizontal scale 1”= 20’ or 1”= 30’. 

j. Street plans. 
k. Storm sewer/drainage plans; number all lines, manholes, catch basins, and 

cleanouts for easier reference 
l. Water and sanitary sewer plans; plan; number all lines, manholes, and cleanouts 

for easier reference. 
m. Detailed plan for storm water detention facility (both plan and profile views), 

including water quality orifice diameter and manhole rim elevations.  Provide 
detail of inlet structure and energy dissipation device. Provide details of drain 
inlets, structures, and piping for outfall structure.  Note that although storm water 
detention facilities are typically privately maintained they will be inspected by 
engineering, and the plans must be part of the Public Works Permit set. 

n. Detailed plan for water quality facility (both plan and profile views).  Note that 
although storm water quality facilities are typically privately maintained they will 
be inspected by Natural Resources, and the plans must be part of the Public 
Works Permit set. 

o. Composite franchise utility plan. 
p. City of Wilsonville detail drawings. 
q. Illumination plan. 
r. Striping and signage plan. 
s. Landscape plan. 

PFC 7. Prior to manhole and sewer line testing, design engineer shall coordinate 
with the City and update the sanitary and stormwater sewer systems to 
reflect the City’s numbering system.  Video testing and sanitary manhole 
testing will refer to the updated numbering system.  Design engineer shall 
also show the updated numbering system on As-Built drawings submitted to 
the City. 

PFC 8. The applicant shall install, operate and maintain adequate erosion control 
measures in conformance with the standards adopted by the City of 
Wilsonville Ordinance No. 482 during the construction of any public/private 

Page 143 of 158



utility and building improvements until such time as approved permanent 
vegetative materials have been installed. 

PFC 9. Applicant shall work with City’s Natural Resources office before disturbing 
any soil on the respective site.  If 5 or more acres of the site will be disturbed 
applicant shall obtain a 1200-C permit from the Oregon Department of 
Environmental Quality.  If 1 to less than 5 acres of the site will be disturbed 
a 1200-CN permit from the City of Wilsonville is required. 

PFC 10. To lessen the impact of the proposed project on the downstream storm drain 
system, and adjacent properties, project run-off from that portion of the site 
within the Mill Creek Basin shall be detained and limited to the difference 
between a developed 25-year storm and an undeveloped 25-year storm. The 
detention and outfall facilities shall be designed and constructed in 
conformance with the Public Works Standards. 

PFC 11. A storm water analysis prepared by a Professional Engineer registered in the 
State of Oregon shall be submitted for review and approval by the City to 
address appropriate pipe and detention facility sizing. 

PFC 12. The applicant shall be in conformance with all water quality requirements 
for the proposed development per the Public Works Standards.  If a 
mechanical water quality system is used, prior to City acceptance of the 
project the applicant shall provide a letter from the system manufacturer 
stating that the system was installed per specifications and is functioning as 
designed. 

PFC 13. Storm water quality facilities shall have approved landscape planted and/or 
some other erosion control method installed and approved by the City of 
Wilsonville prior to streets and/or alleys being paved. 

PFC 14. Fire hydrants shall be located in compliance with TVF&R fire prevention 
ordinance and approval of TVF&R. 

PFC 15. The applicant shall contact the Oregon Water Resources Department and 
inform them of any existing wells located on the subject site. Any existing 
well shall be limited to irrigation purposes only.  Proper separation, in 
conformance with applicable State standards, shall be maintained between 
irrigation systems, public water systems, and public sanitary systems.  
Should the project abandon any existing wells, they shall be properly 
abandoned in conformance with State standards. 

PFC 16. All survey monuments on the subject site, or that may be subject to 
disturbance within the construction area, or the construction of any off-site 
improvements shall be adequately referenced and protected prior to 
commencement of any construction activity.  If the survey monuments are 
disturbed, moved, relocated or destroyed as a result of any construction, the 
project shall, at its cost, retain the services of a registered professional land 
surveyor in the State of Oregon to restore the monument to its original 
condition and file the necessary surveys as required by Oregon State law.  A 
copy of any recorded survey shall be submitted to Staff. 

PFC 17. Sidewalks, crosswalks and pedestrian linkages in the public right-of-way 

Page 144 of 158



shall be in compliance with the requirements of the U.S. Access Board. 

PFC 18. No surcharging of sanitary or storm water manholes is allowed. 

PFC 19. The project shall connect to an existing manhole or install a manhole at each 
connection point to the public storm system and sanitary sewer system.  

PFC 20. A City approved energy dissipation device shall be installed at all proposed 
storm system outfalls.  Storm outfall facilities shall be designed and 
constructed in conformance with the Public Works Standards. 

PFC 21. The applicant shall provide a ‘stamped’ engineering plan and supporting 
information that shows the proposed street light locations meet the 
appropriate AASHTO lighting standards for all proposed streets and 
pedestrian alleyways. 

PFC 22. All required pavement markings, in conformance with the Transportation 
Systems Plan and the Bike and Pedestrian Master Plan, shall be completed in 
conjunction with any conditioned street improvements. 

PFC 23. Street and traffic signs shall have a hi-intensity prismatic finish meeting 
ASTM 4956 Spec Type 4 standards. 

PFC 24. The applicant shall provide adequate sight distance at all project driveways 
by driveway placement or vegetation control. Specific designs to be 
submitted and approved by the City Engineer. Coordinate and align 
proposed driveways with driveways on the opposite side of the proposed 
project site. 

PFC 25. Access requirements, including sight distance, shall conform to the City's 
Transportation Systems Plan (TSP) or as approved by the City Engineer. 
Landscaping plantings shall be low enough to provide adequate sight 
distance at all street intersections and alley/street intersections. 

PFC 26. Applicant shall design interior streets and alleys to meet specifications of 
Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue and Allied Waste Management (United 
Disposal) for access and use of their vehicles. 

PFC 27. The applicant shall provide the City with a Stormwater Maintenance and 
Access Easement (on City approved forms) for City inspection of those 
portions of the storm system to be privately maintained.  Stormwater or 
rainwater LID facilities may be located within the public right-of-way upon 
approval of the City Engineer.  Applicant shall maintain all LID storm water 
components and private conventional storm water facilities; maintenance 
shall transfer to the respective homeowners association when it is formed.  

PFC 28. The applicant shall “loop” proposed waterlines by connecting to the existing 
City waterlines where applicable. 

PFC 29. All water lines that are to be temporary dead-end lines due to the phasing of 
construction shall have a valved tee with fire-hydrant assembly installed at 
the end of the line. 

PFC 30. For any new public easements created with the project the Applicant shall be 
required to produce the specific survey exhibits establishing the easement 
and shall provide the City with the appropriate  Easement document (on City 

Page 145 of 158



approved forms). 

PFC 31. Mylar Record Drawings:  

At the completion of the installation of any required public improvements, 
and before a 'punch list' inspection is scheduled, the Engineer shall perform a 
record survey. Said survey shall be the basis for the preparation of 'record 
drawings' which will serve as the physical record of those changes made to 
the plans and/or specifications, originally approved by Staff, that occurred 
during construction. Using the record survey as a guide, the appropriate 
changes will be made to the construction plans and/or specifications and a 
complete revised 'set' shall be submitted. The 'set' shall consist of drawings 
on 3 mil. Mylar and an electronic copy in AutoCAD, current version, and a 
digitally signed PDF. 

Specific Comments:  

PFC 32. Applicant shall enter into a Development Agreement with the City that 
clarifies the responsibilities and/or estimated costs for construction of Tooze 
Road, Grahams Ferry Road, Paris Avenue, Palermo Street (south of 
proposed subdivision), and water, sanitary and storm infrastructure to 
service this proposed subdivision. 

PFC 33. To provide internal circulation within Villebois the Applicant shall complete 
the construction of both Palermo Street and Paris Avenue/Ravenna Loop in 
the adjacent Villebois SAP North PDP 2 subdivision either prior to, or 
concurrent with, construction of Villebois SAP North PDP 3. 

PFC 34. At the request of Staff, DKS Associates completed a Transportation Review 
dated March 14, 2014.  The project is hereby limited to no more than the 
following impacts. 

 
Estimated New PM Peak Hour Trips 85 

Estimated Weekday PM Peak Hour Trips 27 
Through Wilsonville Road Interchange Area 

 
PFC 35. Recent traffic analysis reports done for Villebois have indicates that the 

intersection of Grahams Ferry Road and Tooze Road would operate at LOS 
F with the build-out of this and other approved Villebois subdivisions.  
Improvements to this intersection are planned and funded by the City and 
construction work is anticipated to be completed by spring 2016. 

PFC 36. Connections to the public right-of-way shall occur at Oslo Street and 
Grahams Ferry Road and via Palermo Street and Paris Street to streets 
previously approved with Villebois SAP North PDP 2. 

PFC 37. Shift the proposed Rome Avenue eastward to better align with the alley in 
Tract “H”. 

PFC 38. All construction traffic shall access the site via Grahams Ferry Road.   

PFC 39. In the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan Tooze Road is identified as a 
Minor Arterial.  Applicant shall dedicate sufficient right-of-way to 

Page 146 of 158



accommodate Tooze Road as a Minor Arterial; this will require an additional 
17.5 feet of right-of-way dedication to the City to accommodate a half-street 
width of 37.5-ft (total right-of-way width of 75 feet). 

PFC 40. In the 2013 Transportation Systems Plan Grahams Ferry Road is identified 
as a Minor Arterial.  Applicant shall dedicate sufficient right-of-way to 
accommodate Grahams Ferry Road as a Minor Arterial; this will require an 
additional 8.5 feet of right-of-way dedication to the City to accommodate a 
half-street width of 38.5-ft (total right-of-way width of 77 feet). 

PFC 41. With the improvements to Grahams Ferry Road applicant shall cause to have 
all overhead utilities along the east side of the road installed underground 
along the entire property frontage and install a new underground to overhead 
transition pole at the southeast corner of the Tooze Road / Grahams Ferry 
Road intersection. 

PFC 42. On Grahams Ferry Road adjacent to the Villebois Village development the 
standard street light is a 35-ft black fiberglass direct bury pole (30-ft 
mounting height) with 6-ft black arm and black full-cutoff cobra head 
luminaire.  

PFC 43. All internal streets shall be lighted with approved Westbrooke style street 
lights per the Villebois street lighting master plan. 

PFC 44. On westbound Oslo Street at Grahams Ferry Road applicant shall provide a 
left-turn pocket to accommodate turn movements onto Grahams Ferry Road 
as recommended in the Villebois Urban Village SAP North Area 1B 
Transportation Study, completed by DKS, July 31, 2013. 

PFC 45. On Grahams Ferry Road, stormwater will be collected via curb inlets north 
of Oslo Street and via storm swales south of Oslo; however the Applicant 
shall be required to provide detention and water quality requirements for 
impervious surfaces created with the reconstruction of Grahams Ferry Road. 

PFC 46. The proposed subdivision lies within two storm drainage basins – Coffee 
Lake and Mill Creek.  Those portions of the subdivision lying within the 
Coffee Lake basin are exempt from stormwater detention requirements as 
established per City Ordinance No. 608.  Those portions of the subdivision 
lying within Mill Creek basin and improvements done with Grahams Ferry 
Road shall be required to conform to the storm detention requirements of 
PFC 10.  No net interbasin transfer of stormwater is allowed. 

PFC 47. The applicant shall provide ‘stamped’ engineering details with dimensions 
for intersection sight distance verification and AutoTURN layouts for all 
proposed intersections, including alley/street connections.  Adequate 
clearance shall be provided at all intersections and alleyways.  The sight 
distance point for exiting vehicles shall be located 14.4 feet from the edge of 
the traveled way. 

At a minimum, the applicant shall provide 'stamped' engineering 
AutoTURN layouts for fire trucks and buses (WB-60) that show the 

Page 147 of 158



overhang and/or mirrors of the vehicle as opposed to the wheel paths. 
Turning vehicles may use the width of the minor street to start the 
appropriate turn. The vehicle must however, stay within the appropriate 
receiving (inside) lane of the major street. Additionally, the turning vehicle 
must not intrude onto the wheel chair ramp on the inside of the turning 
movement. 

PFC 48. Alleys that are identified by Tualatin Valley Fire and Rescue (TVF&R) as 
possible routes for medical and/or fire emergencies shall meet TVF&R’s 
design requirements. 

PFC 49. At the time of plan submittal for a Public Works Permit, the applicant shall 
provide to the City a copy of correspondence showing that the plans have 
also been distributed to the franchise utilities.  Prior to issuance of a Public 
Works Permit, the applicant shall have coordinated the proposed locations 
and associated infrastructure design for the franchise utilities. Should 
permanent/construction easements or right-of-way be required to construct 
the public improvements or to relocate a franchised utility, the applicant 
shall provide a copy of the recorded documents. Should the construction of 
public improvements impact existing utilities within the general area, the 
applicant shall obtain written approval from the appropriate utility prior to 
commencing any construction. 

PFC 50. Applicant shall provide sufficient mail box units for the proposed phasing 
plan; applicant shall construct mail kiosk at locations coordinated with City 
staff and the Wilsonville U.S. Postmaster. In previous discussions between 
City staff and the Wilsonville U.S. Postmaster mail kiosk locations were 
preferred to be located along Oslo Street. 

PFC 51. Rainwater management components will be allowed to be located in the 
public right-of-way, however such components shall be maintained by the 
Applicant, or subsequent HOA, and this shall be included in the Ownership 
and Maintenance agreement as required in PFC 27. 

PFC 52. Existing abandoned water, sanitary, or storm water lines shall either be 
completely removed, grouted in place, or abandoned per a City approved 
recommendation from a Registered Geotechnical Engineer. 

PFC 53. SAP North PDP 3 consists of 84 lots.  All construction work in association 
with the Public Works Permit and Project Corrections List shall be 
completed prior to the City Building Division issuing a certificate of 
occupancy, or a building permit for the housing unit(s) in excess of 50% of 
total (43rd lot). 

PFC 54. Much of the site is located within a sanitary sewer reimbursement district 
adopted with Resolution No. 2350 and is subject to the requirements 
established by this resolution. 

 
 

Tentative Plat 

Page 148 of 158



Engineering Division Conditions: 

PFC 1. Applicant shall provide a minimum 6-foot Public Utility Easement on lot 
frontages to all public right-of-ways. An 8-foot PUE shall be provided along 
Collectors. A 10-ft PUE shall be provided along Minor and Major Arterials. 

PFC 2. Subdivision or Partition Plats: 

Paper copies of all proposed subdivision/partition plats shall be provided to the 
City for review.  Once the subdivision/partition plat is approved, applicant shall 
have the documents recorded at the appropriate County office.  Once recording 
is completed by the County, the applicant shall be required to provide the City 
with a 3 mil Mylar copy of the recorded subdivision/partition plat.  

PFC 3. Subdivision or Partition Plats: 

All newly created easements shown on a subdivision or partition plat shall also 
be accompanied by the City’s appropriate Easement document (on City 
approved forms) with accompanying survey exhibits that shall be recorded 
immediately after the subdivision or partition plat. 

 

Page 149 of 158



 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT MEMORANDUM 

 
 

To: Daniel Pauly, Associate Planner 
 
From: Kerry Rappold, Natural Resources Program Manager 
 
Date:   April 29, 2014 
 
RE: Villebois Village SAP North, PDP 3 (DB14-0011/0015 and SI14-0003) 
 
This memorandum includes staff conditions of approval. The conditions are based on the 
preliminary and final development plans for PDP 3, and the SRIR review. The conditions of 
approval apply to the applicant’s submittal of construction plans (i.e. engineering drawings). 
 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone 
 
NR1. All landscaping, including herbicides used to eradicate invasive plant species and existing 

vegetation, in the SROZ shall be reviewed and approved by the Natural Resources 
Program Manager. Native plants are required for landscaping in the SROZ. 

 
NR2. Prior to any site grading or ground disturbance, the applicant is required to delineate the 

boundary of the SROZ.  Six-foot (6’) tall cyclone fences with metal posts pounded into 
the ground at 6’-8’ centers shall be used to protect the significant natural resource area 
where development encroaches into the 25-foot Impact Area.  

 
NR3. Pursuant to Section 4.139.04, the applicant shall demonstrate proposed exempt 

development (i.e., soft surface pedestrian trail and nature trail activity area) within the 25-
foot Impact Area and the Significant Resource Overlay Zone has been designed to avoid, 
minimize and mitigate impact to the significant natural resources. 

 
NR4. Mitigation actions shall be implemented prior to or at the same time as the impact activity 

is conducted. 
 
NR5. Pursuant to Section 4.139.03 (.05) of the Wilsonville Code, the applicant is required to 

use habitat-friendly development practices (Table NR-2) to the extent practicable for any 
encroachment into the Significant Resource Overlay Zone and the 25-foot Impact Area.  

 
NR6. The Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) and mitigation area depicted on the 

SRIR mapping for the site shall be identified in a conservation easement. The applicant 
shall record the conservation easement with Clackamas Court Clerk’s office. The 
conservation easement shall include language prohibiting any disturbance of natural 
vegetation without first obtaining approval from the City Planning Division and the 
Natural Resources Program Manager. The conservation easement shall be reviewed by 
the City Attorney prior to recording. 

Conditions of Approval (DB14-0011 – Villebois SAP North PDP 3).doc April 29, 2014 

 
Page 150 of 158

swhite
Stamp



Rainwater Management Plan: 
 
NR10. The applicant shall submit a detailed operations and maintenance manual for the 

rainwater management components that has been reviewed and approved by city staff 
before 50% of the units are occupied in PDP 3, SAP North.  

 
NR11. Pursuant to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards, access should be provided 

for the entire perimeter of the rainwater management components. At a minimum, at least 
one access shall be provided for maintenance and inspection. 

 
NR12. All Rainwater Management Components and associated infrastructure located in public 

areas shall be designed to the Public Works Standards. Rainwater Management 
Components in private areas shall comply with the plumbing code. 

 
NR13. Plantings in Rainwater Management Components located in public areas shall comply 

with the Public Works Standards. Plantings in Rainwater Management Components 
located in private areas shall comply with the Plant List in the Rainwater Management 
Program or Community Elements Plan. 

 
NR14. The rainwater management components shall comply with the requirements of the 

Oregon DEQ UIC (Underground Injection Control) Program.  
 
Stormwater Management: 
 
NR15. Provide profiles, plan views and specifications for the proposed water quality treatment 

facilities consistent with the requirements of the City of Wilsonville’s Public Works 
Standards. 

 
NR16. Pursuant to the Public Works Standards, the applicant shall submit a maintenance plan 

(including the City’s stormwater maintenance covenant) for the proposed stormwater 
facilities, inclusive of the rainwater management components, prior to approval for 
occupancy of the associated development. 

  
NR17. Pursuant to the City of Wilsonville’s Public Works Standards, access shall be provided to 

all areas of the proposed water quality treatment facilities. At a minimum, at least one 
access shall be provided for maintenance and inspection. 

 
Other: 
 
NR18. The applicant shall comply with all applicable state and federal requirements for the 

proposed construction activities and proposed facilities (e.g. DEQ NPDES #1200–C 
permit). 

 

Conditions of Approval (DB14-0011 – Villebois SAP North PDP 3).doc April 29, 2014  

 
2 

Page 151 of 158



1

 

 

From: Arn, Jason S. [mailto:Jason.Arn@tvfr.com]  
Sent: Monday, April 21, 2014 9:51 AM 
To: Edmonds, Blaise 
Cc: Walters, Don 
Subject: Re: PDP 3 Calais at Villebois 

Blaise, 

After reviewing the proposed plans for Calais at Villebois, Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue has no comments on the single 
family subdivision. If you have questions or need further information, please feel free to contact me. 
Thanks, 

Jason Arn | Deputy Fire Marshal 
Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue 
Direct: 503‐259‐1510 
www.tvfr.com 

Page 152 of 158

swhite
Stamp



Pu
bl
ic
 W

or
ks

 P
la
n 

Re
vi
ew

 C
om

m
en

t 
Fo

rm
 

Pl
an

s 
fo

r 
Re

vi
ew

: 
 

Ca
la
is
 a

t 
Vi

lle
bo

is
 

Re
tu

rn
 A

ll 
Co

m
m
en

ts
 T

o:
 

D
an

 P
au

ly
 

D
ue

 D
at

e:
 

 
 

A
pr

il 
29

, 
20

14
 

 N
am

e 
Pa

ge
 N

o.
 

Co
m
m
en

ts
 

En
gi
ne

er
in
g’
s 

Re
sp

on
se

 
Ra

nd
y 

W
at

so
n 

 
N

o 
Co

m
m

en
ts

 
 

M
at

t 
Ba

ke
r 

 
N

o 
Co

m
m

en
ts

 
 

Sh
er

er
/S

M
/ 

Re
ed

er
 

 
W

ha
t 

is
 p

la
nn

ed
 f

or
 t

he
 o

pe
n 

sp
ac

e 
on

 t
he

 s
ou

th
 e

dg
e 

of
 t

he
 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t?

 
W

ha
t 

is
 p

la
nn

ed
 f

or
 T

ra
ct

 “W
”?

 

 

A
rn

ie
 G

ra
y 

 
N

o 
Co

m
m

en
ts

 
 

Ra
lp

h 
Th

or
p 

 
 

 
Ja

so
n 

La
br

ie
 

 
N

o 
Co

m
m

en
ts

 
 

H
ou

se
/G

er
in

g 
 

 
 

Fo
lz

/H
av

en
s 

 
 

 
 

Page 153 of 158

swhite
Stamp



1

From: Young, Andrew F. <Andrew.Young@nwnatural.com>
Sent: Friday, April 18, 2014 7:09 AM
To: Pauly, Daniel
Cc: Keller, Robert
Subject: RE: Development Review Team Mailing (DB14-0009 et seq - Calais at Villebois)
Attachments: Grahams Ferry Tooze NWN.pdf

Good morning Daniel: 

Our records show that we have 4” polyethylene mains in both Grahams Ferry Rd and Tooze Rd; 
however, they should be on the opposite sides of both roads from this proposed project.  Please 
see the attached. 

Thank you. 

Respectfully, 
Andrew F. Young, P.E. 
Resource Center Engineer - Sherwood 
NW Natural | 20285 SW Cipole Rd. | Sherwood, Oregon 97140  
office: 503.226.4211 ext. 2980|cell: 360.281.6169  |email: Andrew.Young@nwnatural.com 

From: White, Shelley [mailto:swhite@ci.wilsonville.or.us]  
Sent: Thursday, April 17, 2014 3:52 PM 
To: Young, Andrew F.; Gray, Arnie; Jacobson, Barbara; Ben Baldwin (DevelopmentReview@trimet.org); Bill Rhoades 
(rhoadesw@wlwv.k12.or.us); Edmonds, Blaise; Bob Ebeling (Robert.W.EBELING@odot.state.or.us); Brian Harper 
(Brian.Harper@oregonmetro.gov); Kelley, Brian; Stevenson, Brian; Cosgrove, Bryan; Neamtzu, Chris; Stark, Dan; Pauly, 
Daniel; Kerber, Delora; Walters, Don; Parent, Gail; Heather Peck (heather.peck@aviation.state.or.us); Miller, Holly; James 
Rhodes (JRhodes@clackamas.us); Labrie, Jason; Massa Smith, Jen; John Malowney (john.malowney@pgn.com); Gail, 
Jon; (Karen.mohling@tvfr.com); Kenneth Parris (kenneth_parris@cable.comcast.com); Rappold, Kerry; Cheeley, Lance; 
Bushman, Luke; Ottenad, Mark; Brown, Martin; Baker, Matt; Ward, Mike; Wheeler, Mike; Kraushaar, Nancy; Duke, Pat; 
Region 1 Development Review Applications (Region1DEVREVApplications@odot.state.or.us); Keller, Robert; Simonton, 
Scott; Lashbrook, Stephan; Adams, Steve; Allen, Steve; Munsterman, Steve; Tiffany Ritchey (tiffany.ritchey@pgn.com); 
Tom Maier (Thomas.Maier@awin.com); Ty Darby (Ty.Darby@tvfr.com) 
Subject: Development Review Team Mailing (DB14-0009 et seq - Calais at Villebois) 

Development Review Team Members, 

Please find the attached DRT mailing for your review: 

DB14‐0009 et seq:    Calais at Villebois (PDP‐3 North) 

Please note that comments and/or conditions of approval are due to Daniel Pauly by 4:00 pm on April 29, 2014 for a 
May 12, 2014 public hearing. 

Thank you, 

Shelley White 
Administrative Assistant 

Page 154 of 158

swhite
Stamp



2

City of Wilsonville  
Ph:  503 570-1575 
swhite@ci.wilsonville.or.us 
  
DISCLOSURE NOTICE:  Messages to and from this E-mail address may be subject to the Oregon Public Records Law. 
  

Page 155 of 158



Page 156 of 158



1

From: Adams, Steve
Sent: Wednesday, April 30, 2014 7:31 AM
To: Stacy Connery; Pauly, Daniel
Cc: Jessie King; Amber Shasky-Bell
Subject: RE: Calais Questions/Comments

  

Based on the revised configuration of Tract "H" you can delete PFC 37.  However, a new PFC condition needs to be 
added, "Alley Tract "H" stops short of the Oslo Street right-of-way; Applicant shall provide a hard surface pedestrian 
connection between this alley tract and the public sidewalk on north side of Oslo Street." 

Also, please modify PFC 40 to the applicant dedicating 7.5 feet of ROW for a total half street ROW of 37.5.  It will be 
slightly different from all of the other VB subdivisions along GFR that have an additional 8.5 feet of ROW, but in reality it 
doesn't really matter since the street has a linear green on the east side and the Applicant (or HOA) maintains all of the 
landscaping anyway. 

As for acquiring Tax Lot #1591 it is covered in the Development Agreement and is the responsibility of the City. 

Also, we need to add another condition to the Plat Conditions: "Applicant shall provide a public sidewalk easement for 
those portions of the 10-ft sidewalk adjacent to Grahams Ferry Road that are not within the public right-of-way." 

Thanks, Steve 

 

Page 157 of 158

swhite
Stamp



1

From: Tanya Stricker <Tanya.Stricker@sammedical.com>
Sent: Friday, April 25, 2014 11:08 AM
To: Pauly, Daniel
Subject: Calais at Villebois PDP 3 North: 84 -Lot Single-Family Subdivision Comments

Hi, 
I wanted to note my comments for the proposed subdivision. 
This area is currently unincorporated Clackamas County and is not part of Wilsonville. It is also outside the UGB. 
I strongly oppose this development. First, Villebois is not sold out nor built up in entirety. This area will impose more 
traffic on roads that are not designed to handle additional traffic flow. 
In addition, this is counter to current land laws and does not benefit the residents of this area. 
Wilsonville should not be able to annex this land to build more houses. It is a ploy for the city to earn more money 
through tax dollars.There are already too many new residents, due to the huge amount of apartments built. The 
roads, schools, etc. cannot handle the growth. Wilsonville is on the way to becoming the next Sherwood – with the 
associated traffic woes. 

Tanya Stricker 

Page 158 of 158

swhite
Stamp



swhite
Stamp





Section I

General Information



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IA 

Introductory Narrative 



AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  Page 1 
Introductory Narrative  March 31, 2014 

 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN - NORTH 

INTRODUCTORY NARRATIVE (SECTION IA) 

 

 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

I. GENERAL INFORMATION .................................................... 2 

II. PROPOSAL SUMMARY & HISTORICAL CONTEXT ............................. 3 

HISTORY OF SAP NORTH .................................................................................................. 4 

DESCRIPTION OF SAP NORTH AMENDMENT ......................................................................... 5 

III. DESCRIPTION OF PHASE 3 & PROPOSED REFINEMENTS ..................... 6 

LAND USES ..................................................................................................................... 6 

PARKS & OPEN SPACE ...................................................................................................... 9 

UTILITIES  ................................................................................................................... 10 

CIRCULATION ................................................................................................................. 11 

PHASING  ................................................................................................................... 11 

IV. SRIR ADDENDUM (OPEN SPACE 2) ...................................... 12 

V. CONCLUSION   ...................................... 13 

 
 



AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  Page 2 
Introductory Narrative  March 31, 2014 

I. GENERAL INFORMATION 

 
Applicant:    Villebois, LLC 

     1022 SW Salmon Street, Suite 450 
     Portland, OR 97205 
     Tel: (503) 222-7258 
     Contact: Wayne Rembold 
 

Polygon Northwest Company 
     109 E. 13th Street 
     Vancouver, WA 98660 
     Tel:  (360) 695-7700 
     Fax:   (425) 455-0462 
     Contact:   Fred Gast 
 

Property Owners:   Villebois, LLC  
     1022 SW Salmon Street, Ste 450 
     Portland, Oregon 97205 
     Contact: Wayne Rembold 

(Tax Lots 1200 & 1205) 
 

Charles & Carolyn Taber 
     11800 SW Tooze Road 
     Wilsonville, Oregon 97070 

(Tax Lots 1202) 

 
Consultant Team: 
 
Primary Contact: Stacy Connery  

Pacific Community Design, Inc. 
 Tel: (503) 941-9484 
 Fax:  (503) 941-9485 
 Email:  stacy@pacific-community.com 
 
Process Planner/Civil  Pacific Community Design, Inc. 
Engineer/Surveyor: 12564 SW Main Street 
 Tigard, Oregon 97223 
 Tel: (503) 941-9484 
 Fax: (503) 941-9485 
 Contact: Stacy Connery, AICP 
  Jim Lange, PE 

  Patrick Espinosa, PE 
  Travis Jansen, PLS/PE



AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  Page 3 
Introductory Narrative  March 31, 2014 

 
 
Landscape Architect:  Otten Landscape Architects, Inc. 
 3933 SW Kelly Ave., Suite B 
 Portland, Oregon 97239 
 Tel: (503) 972-0311 
 Contact: Janet Otten, ASLA 
   Kristina Durant 
 
Arborist: Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC 
 3 Monroe Parkway, Suite P 220 

Lake Oswego, Oregon 97035 
Tel: (971) 409-9354 
Contact: Morgan Holen 

        
Environmental Consultant: SWCA 
 1220 SW Morrison Street, Ste. 700 

Portland, OR  97205 
Tel: (503) 224-0333 
Contact: Stacy Benjamin 

       C. Mirth Walker 

 
Site and Proposal Information: 
 
Site Location: SAP North of Villebois Village  
 
Tax Lots: Tax Lots 1200, 1202 & 1205 
 Township 3 South, Range 1 West, Section 15 
 
Size: 103.7 acres (15.16 acres in Phase 3) 
 
Comprehensive Plan 
Designation: Residential – Village (R-V) 
 
Existing Zoning: Clackamas County Rural Residential Farm Forest 5-

Acre (RRFF-5) 
 
Proposed Zoning: Village (V) 
 
Proposal: SAP – North Amendment  
 SRIR Addendum Review 
 
 

II. PROPOSAL SUMMARY & HISTORICAL CONTEXT 

This application is a request to amend Specific Area Plan (SAP) – North to reflect 
previous approvals for Phase 1 and Phase 2, add information for Phase 3, and identify 
the area containing future phases. This application also requests approval of an SRIR 
Review for updated impacts to the Area of Limited Conflicted Use (ALCU). 



AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  Page 4 
Introductory Narrative  March 31, 2014 

 

HISTORY OF SAP NORTH 

SAP North has a complex history, as it has evolved through a number of planning 
approvals over the last several years. The timeline below summarizes SAP North 
approvals.  

2007 

An application for SAP North was first submitted and approved in 2007 as Casefile No. 
DB07—0054. At the time of the 2007 submittal, the applicant (West Hills/Arbor Homes) 
did not have access to parcels within later phases of SAP North, and was unable to 
obtain access to conduct detailed evaluations required for a SAP application. 
Additionally, certain information was not yet available about the elementary school 
site, including a specific site plan, an analysis of traffic and circulation, and specific 
architecture. The original approval of SAP North was divided into two areas, Plan Area 
1 and Plan Area 2, to address this lack of detail available for later SAP North phases. 
Plan Area 1 was characterized as the area now identified as Phase 1 of SAP North. Plan 
Area 2 included subsequent phases of SAP North, including the proposed area of Phase 
3. SAP North was approved for Plan Area 1, and certain components of SAP North were 
approved for Plan Area 2. With Plan Area 1, a Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan and 
Fence Plan, Architectural Pattern Book and Master Fencing Plan, Community Elements 
Book, and Rainwater Program and Plan were approved for the entirety of SAP North.  

2008 

A Preliminary Development Plan, Zone Map Amendment, Tentative Subdivision Plat, 
Final Development Plan, and Type C Tree Removal Plan for Phase 1 were submitted 
and approved in 2008 as Case Files DB07-0087 through DB07-0090 and DB08-0004. 
However, PDP 1N was not constructed and the property sat vacant for several years 
until Polygon Northwest Company purchased the property.  

2010 

The Villebois Village Master Plan was amended in 2010 to move the location of the 
elementary school from SAP North to SAP East. Land uses and residential unit counts 
were updated on Figure 1 of the Master Plan to reflect this amendment. The amended 
Villebois Village Master Plan was adopted through Ordinance 681.  



AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  Page 5 
Introductory Narrative  March 31, 2014 

2011 

In 2011, a SAP Modification, Preliminary Development Plan, Tentative Subdivision Plat, 
and Final Development Plan were submitted and approved for Phase 1 of SAP North 
(aka “Tonquin Woods No. 2 and No. 3”) as Case Files DB11-0024 through DB11-0027. 
The 2011 SAP Modification altered the location/mix and density/distribution of 
residential land uses for Phase 1. Site improvements and residential dwellings within 
Phase 1 have since been constructed. 

2012 

In 2012, a modification for Phase 1 of SAP North was approved to replace Row Houses 
with Small Cottages for Lots 28-39 to meet market needs. The SAP Modification for 
small cottages in Phase 1 was approved as Case File No. DB12-0066. An amendment to 
the SAP North Architectural Pattern Book was submitted to add information for Small 
Cottages, which was approved as Case File DB12-0067. Copies of the final adopted 
Pattern Book were submitted to the City in May 2013. The amended pattern book 
applies to the entirety of SAP North and a copy is provided in Notebook Section IIH.   

2013 

In 2013, Phase 2 of SAP North received PDP planning approval in June 2013 as Case File 
No. DB13-0020 et al. PDP 2N was accompanied by SAP North Refinements (DB13-0021), 
and by a SAP North Amendment (DB13-0022) to update phasing for Phase 2. Master 
Plan and SAP refinements were also submitted and approved to realign streets within 
future phases of SAP North, as reflected on the attached SAP drawings (see Notebook 
Section IIB).  

DESCRIPTION OF SAP NORTH AMENDMENT  

As described above, Phase 1 and Phase 2 have already been approved. These approved 
plans are reflected in the enclosed SAP Drawings (see Notebook Section IIB).  

A phasing amendment is included with this application to amend the area of Phase 3 
and identify the area of future phases, as shown on the attached Phasing Plan (see 
Notebook Section IIB). Future phases of development within SAP North will be required 
to submit a SAP Amendment(s) to add specific information not included with previous 
SAP North approvals.  

In 2007, certain components of SAP North were approved with Phase 1 for the entirety 
of the SAP. These components include the Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan, 
Architectural Pattern Book and Master Fencing Plan, Community Elements Book, and 
Rainwater Program. Copies of these items approved in 2007 are included in this 
Notebook for reference. 

The following components are provided with this application: 

 SAP Drawings (including phasing amendment) for entirety of SAP North 

 Utility and Drainage Reports for entirety of SAP North 

 Traffic Analysis for Phase 3 

 Historic & Cultural Resource Inventory for Phase 3 

 SRIR Addendum for Phase 3 

 Tree Report for Phase 3 



AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  Page 6 
Introductory Narrative  March 31, 2014 

This application also requests minor refinements to the alignment and location of 
streets, mix of residential lots and residential density, parks and open spaces, and 
water quality/rainwater facilities shown on the Villebois Village Master Plan for the 
proposed area of Phase 3. These refinements are further described in Section III of this 
Narrative and within the Supporting Compliance Report (see Notebook Section IIA).  

Section I of this Application Notebook includes general information regarding the 
request, including this ‘Introductory Narrative’ and copies of the application form, 
review fees and notification mailing list.  Section II of this Application Notebook 
includes more specific and detailed components of the proposal, which are listed as 
follows. Those items that are specific to Phase 3 are noted below with a reference to 
Phase 3.  

 Section IIA – Supporting Compliance Report 

 Section IIB – Reduced SAP Plan Set 

 Section IIC – Utility & Drainage Reports 

 Section IID – Traffic Analysis (Phase 3) 

 Section IIE – Historic / Cultural Resource Inventory (Phase 3) 

 Section IIF – Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) Addendum 

 Section IIG – Tree Report (Phase 3) 

 Section IIH – Architectural Pattern Book (No Amendments) 

 Section III – Community Elements Book (No Amendments) 

 Section IIJ – Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan (No Amendments) 

 Section IIK – Rainwater Management Book (No Amendments) 

 Section IIL – Compliance with SAP North Conditions of Approval 

A separate notebook that includes applications for the Phase 3 North Preliminary 
Development Plan (PDP), Tentative Plat, Zone Change, Tree Removal Plan, and Final 
Development Plan (FDP) has been submitted concurrently and will be reviewed 
sequentially with this SAP Amendment. The PDP submittal introduces additional names 
for the proposed development appropriate to each review stage.  These names include 
‘PDP 3N’ and “Calais at Villebois,” which is the proposed plat name for recording 
purposes. 

 

III. DESCRIPTION OF PHASE 3 & PROPOSED REFINEMENTS 

LAND USES 

The land uses and density proposed with Phase 3 of SAP – North are generally 
consistent with the land uses and density shown in the Villebois Village Master Plan.  
Figure 1 – Land Use Plan of the Master Plan shows a mix of smalls, standards and 
larges within the subject area, with larges around the edges of the development and 
smaller lots concentrated in the internal blocks. Refinements to the mix of land uses 
in Phase 3 include fewer smalls and standards, and the addition of mediums, in the 
central portion of the site. A standard lot has been removed in the northwestern site 
corner in order to provide a pocket park. Additionally, residential lots shown in the 
southwest site corner are not provided in order to retain the treed wetland through 
the provision of open space area. Large lots are concentrated towards the edge of 
Phase 3, with more mediums and smalls approaching the Village Center. The 
addition of mediums adds to the range of dwelling units within the subject site while 



AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  Page 7 
Introductory Narrative  March 31, 2014 

maintaining the general land use pattern consisting of larger lots along the edges of 
Villebois.  

A Land Use Plan is provided for Phase 3 (see Notebook Section IIB), which shows the 
distribution of residential land use types as ranges of potential units by block. Phase 
3 of SAP North proposes a total of 84 residential units, including 32 smalls, 26 
mediums, 3 standards, and 23 larges. Table A compares the total number of units 
currently shown in the Master Plan Figure 1 – Land Use Table with the number of 
units resulting from the proposed refinement, per the applicable land use 
categories. Lots within Phase 3 fall within the two land use categories: 
medium/standard/large/estate and small/small cottage/row houses/neighborhood 
apartments. As shown in Table A, the proposed refinements do not exceed the 10% 
standard. Therefore, the proposed refinements do not significantly alter the overall 
distribution or availability of land uses within Phase 3 of SAP North.   

In addition, this proposal results in a total of 2,615 units within Villebois, which 
remains above the minimum density of 2,300 units required to be obtained across 
Villebois. The total unit count for Villebois Village is shown in Table B. 

 



AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  Page 8 
Introductory Narrative  March 31, 2014 

 

Table A: Unit Count Comparison 

 
SAP North Unit 

Count within MP 
Proposed SAP 

North Unit Count 
% Change 

Medium/Standard/ 
Large/Estate 

162 174 +7.4% 

Small/Small 
Cottage/Row 

Houses/Neighborhood 
Apts. 

302 273 -9.6% 

TOTAL 464 447 -3.6% 

  
Table B: Villebois Village Units Count  

LAND USE    SAP NORTH SAP SOUTH SAP EAST 
SAP 

CENTRAL 
TOTAL 

Estate 22 0 0 0 22 

Large 43 104 0 0 145 

Standard 20 68 49 0 139 

Medium 89 127 112 0 328 

subtotal 174 299 161 0 634 

Small Detached 214 158 226 8 606 

Small Attached / 
Cottage 

49 0 147 9 205 

Rowhouse 0 103 42 138 283 

Nbhd Apartments 10 21 0 0 31 

Village Apartments 0 0 0 411 411 

Condos 0 0 0 124 124 

Urban Apartments 0 0 0 90 90 

Mixed Use Condos 0 0 0 104 104 

Specialty Condos 0 0 0 127 127 

subtotal 273 282 415 1,011 1,981 

TOTAL UNITS 447 581 576 1,011 2,615 

 



AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  Page 9 
Introductory Narrative  March 31, 2014 

The refinements described above improve the overall aesthetic and functional use of 
the proposed plan by continuing the land use pattern of Villebois, in which larger 
lots are located along the edges of Villebois and in areas further away from the 
Village Center.   

 

PARKS & OPEN SPACE 

Description of the parks and open spaces in Phase 3, as shown in the Master Plan and 
proposed with this application (reflecting minor refinements), is provided below. 
Parks and open space areas added through minor refinements are shown in 
underline. 

Master Plan  

The parks, trails and open space within Phase 3 of SAP North are generally consistent 
with the parks, trails and open spaces shown in the Villebois Village Master Plan, 
when considering the proposed minor refinements.  The Villebois Village Master Plan 
only shows a narrow portion of Open Space 2 along the southern edge of Phase 3, 
which is approximately 0.21 acres in size. Except for this narrow portion of OS-2, the 
Master Plan does not show any additional parks and open spaces within Phase 3. The 
proposed minor refinements to parks and open spaces add a pocket park, an open 
space area, and various landscape tracts/linear greens to Phase 3.  

Additions to Parks and Open Spaces in Phase 3 

The pocket park within Phase 3 provides a bicycle and pedestrian connection to 
adjacent streets and recreational opportunities through the provision of a child play 
structure and an active lawn area. The approximate size of the pocket park is 0.14 
acres. 

An existing forested wetland is present in the southwest site corner, which was not 
included in the City’s Natural Resource Inventory and that does not meet the criteria 
for adding wetlands into the SROZ. However, the wetland is heavily treed and is an 
attractive natural amenity that can be incorporated into the design of Phase 3. An 
open space area has been added to the southwest site corner to retain this existing 
forested wetland. The open space area added to the southwest site corner is 
approximately 0.98 acres in size. 

Linear greens/landscape tracts have been added throughout Phase 3, in areas 
between residential lots and the adjacent streets or in areas providing pedestrian 
connections. A total of 0.70 acres of linear greens/landscape tracts are provided 
with Phase 3 of SAP – North. The provision of landscaping tracts provides a sense of 
open space, as well as functional connectivity to streets and open space areas 
adjacent to the subject site.  

The proposed refinements significantly increase the overall area of parks and open 
spaces within Phase 3. As previously mentioned, the Master Plan shows a total of 
approximately 0.21 acres of parks and open space in Phase 3. With the addition of 
linear greens/landscape tracts, a pocket park, and an open space area, 
approximately 1.82 acres are added to Phase 3, for a total of approximately 2.03 
acres of parks and open spaces. 
 



AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  Page 10 
Introductory Narrative  March 31, 2014 

Furthermore, the refinements described above enhance aesthetic and functional 
uses of parks and open spaces, while retaining on-site natural features. The open 
space area in the southwest site corner adds opportunity for passive recreation with 
area for quiet contemplation and viewing of the natural area. The pocket park adds 
opportunity for more active recreation with a play structure, pedestrian/bicycle 
connection, and lawn area. The provision of additional open space in the southwest 
site corner also retains the existing tree wetland, better protecting natural features 
and incorporating them into the site design. In addition, linear greens create a sense 
of green space throughout the subject site.  

 

UTILITIES 

Sanitary Sewer 

The Utility Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) shows the proposed sanitary system for 
Phase 3 of SAP North. A copy of the supporting utility report for SAP North is 
included in Notebook Section IIC. Sanitary service can be adequately provided to 
Phase 3 in compliance with the Villebois Village Master Plan and the City of 
Wilsonville Wastewater Master Plan.  No refinements to the Master Plan for sanitary 
sewer are proposed. 
 
Water 

The Utility Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) shows the proposed water system for 
Phase 3 of SAP North. Water service can be adequately provided to the subject area 
in compliance with the Villebois Village Master Plan and the City’s Water System 
Master Plan, as shown on the attached Utility Plan (see Notebook Section IIB). The 
18-inch main in Grahams Ferry Road from Barber Street Road to Tooze Road has 
been constructed. Additionally, the City has already installed the 18-inch main from 
Barber Street from Brown Road to Grahams Ferry. No refinements to the Master Plan 
for water are proposed. 
 

Stormwater 

The Utility Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) shows the proposed stormwater system 
for Phase 3 of SAP North. A copy of the supporting utility and drainage report for SAP 
North is included in Notebook Section IIC, which demonstrates that the stormwater 
system will meet the necessary requirements of the City of Wilsonville Stormwater 
Master Plan and Public Works Standards.  Onsite stormwater/water 
quality/rainwater facilities are shown along Grahams Ferry Road. Due to site 
elevation, it is not possible to provide these facilities between Grahams Ferry Road 
and residential lots. A bioretention cell is provided in the southwestern site corner, 
adjacent to the retained wetland and site entrance from Grahams Ferry Road. 
 
Rainwater  

Rainwater Management Systems are integrated into parks and open space areas as 
shown on the Utility Plan and the Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan (see Notebook 
Section IIB). The Rainwater Management Plan for SAP North is provided in Notebook 
Section IIK. The Villebois Village Master Plan shows a water quality feature along the 
north edge of Phase 3 along Tooze Road and Grahams Ferry Road. However, due to 
site topography, it is not possible to provide rainwater management facilities in 



AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  Page 11 
Introductory Narrative  March 31, 2014 

these locations, except for in the southwestern site corner where a bioretention cell 
is provided adjacent to the retained wetland. With the proposed Master Plan 
refinements, bioretention swales are added along SW Oslo Street and within OS-2 
along SW Palermo Street, where it is feasible to provide these features. Provision of 
these bioretention cells will ensure that this refinement does not cause reduction to 
the service or function of rainwater management.  
 
 

CIRCULATION 

The Circulation Plan and Street Sections (see Notebook Section IIB) show the 
circulation system proposed for Phase 3.  The plan includes pedestrian/bicycle 
connections and a trail connection, as depicted on the Park/Open Space/Pathways 
Plan (see also Notebook Section IIB).  The street network within Phase 3 of SAP – 
North is generally consistent with the street network shown in the amended Villebois 
Village Master Plan.  No change in the functional classification of streets is 
proposed. The only refinements proposed are in relation to SW Iceland Lane, SW Oslo 
Street, and SW Belfast Lane. The Master Plan shows SW Iceland Lane with a 
southwest to northeast orientation with alignment towards the child play feature in 
Open Space 2. With the proposed refinement, SW Iceland Lane is proposed to have a 
straight north-south orientation with alignment towards residential lots, with the 
location adjusted slightly to the east. Circulation towards the child play area is 
maintained with SW Rome Avenue to provide an “eyes on the street” effect for park 
safety. The purpose of the refinement to SW Iceland Lane allows for smaller 
residential blocks, which provides better pedestrian connectivity. This street 
refinement also allows lots to have a north-south orientation for better sun 
exposure. 

Additionally, the Master Plan shows access to/from Grahams Ferry Road from SW 
Firenze Street (Palermo Street) and shows a continuous street with general north-
south alignment along the western portion of Phase 3 (Amsterdam Avenue/Belfast 
Lane). However, in order to retain the existing treed wetland in the southwest site 
corner, a portion of Amsterdam Avenue/Belfast Lane located adjacent to the 
wetland is removed and access to/from Grahams Ferry Road is taken from SW Oslo 
Street. Site circulation along the western portion of Phase 3 is maintained with the 
provision of SW Belfast Lane in the originally intended location, the continuation of 
SW Palermo Street along the north edge of OS-2 (in the planned location of Firenze 
Street), and a pedestrian path adjacent to the wetland in place of the removed 
street section, which provides connection between SW Oslo Street and SW Palermo 
Street.   

The approved Community Elements Book (see Notebook Section III) identifies 
proposed locations of curb extensions within SAP – North. The proposed placement of 
curb extensions is consistent with the Community Elements Book. Therefore, a minor 
alteration is not needed or requested for curb extensions with this application.  

 

PHASING 

As depicted on the attached Phasing Plan (see Notebook Section IIB), an amendment 
to the boundary of Phase 3 is proposed. Table C reflects approved unit counts for 
Phase 1 and Phase 2, which have been constructed or are in construction. Table C 
also lists the unit counts proposed with Phase 3 and the unit counts anticipated for 



AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  Page 12 
Introductory Narrative  March 31, 2014 

future phases as accounted for in the Land Use Table on Figure 1 of the Villebois 
Village Master Plan. The proposed amendment to SAP North identifies the area of 
future phases. 
  
Table C: Specific Area Plan – North Proposed Unit Counts 

Product Type PDP 1N PDP 2N PDP 3N 
Future 
Phases Total 

Estate 0 0 0 22 22 

Large 0 0 23 20 43 

Standard 2 10 3 5 20 

Medium 30 6 26 27 89 

Small 98 37 32 47 214 

Small Cottage 12 37 0 0 49 

Row House 0 0 0 0 0 

Nbhd 
Apartment 0 0 0 10 10 

Total 142 90 84 131 447 

 
* Approved on February 14, 2008 with DB07-0054 et al 
** Approved on June 10, 2013 with DB11-0020 et al 
*** Proposed with this application 
**** Anticipated for Future Phases as accounted for in the Land Use Table 

on Figure 1 of the Master Plan 

 
 

IV. SRIR ADDENDUM (OPEN SPACE 2) 

A SRIR Report describing SROZ impacts and mitigation within OS-2 was submitted and 
approved in 2013 with PDP 2N (DB13-0020 et al). The attached SRIR Addendum has 
been prepared to evaluate updated impacts to SROZ (see Notebook Section IIF) with 
Phase 3 and to review compliance with the approved mitigation plan. This 
application requests approval of the SRIR Addendum.  

A narrow portion of Open Space 2 (OS-2) identified as SROZ area is located along the 
southern edge of Phase 3, with the majority of OS-2 and associated SROZ area in 
Phase 2. In Phase 3, the SROZ area along the southern site edge is retained in an 
open space tract. The majority of Phase 3 is pasture land, with two (2) wetlands that 
were not included in the City’s Natural Resource Inventory and that do not meet the 
criteria for inclusion in the SROZ.  

OS-2 includes nature trails meandering through the forest, benches, and a child play 
area. Development of the child play area located in Phase 2 was deferred to Phase 
3, given that the area to the north of the child play area (i.e. Phase 3) was vacant 
pasture land at the time of PDP 2N approval and was not supportive of a safe and 
monitored park area for children. Nature trails, benches, and the child play area at 
the north edge of OS-2 will be established with Phase 3, as previously identified with 
the approved SRIR.  



AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  Page 13 
Introductory Narrative  March 31, 2014 

With PDP 2N (DB13-0020 et al), an impact area of 4,610 square feet for the child 
play area and an impact area of 325 square feet for grading and street improvements 
in Phase 3 was approved. Per Section 4.139.04 and as reflected in the approved SRIR 
Report, nature trails and benches in OS-2 are exempt from SROZ regulations. This 
amendment, as described in the attached SRIR Addendum, includes two additional 
impact areas (1,988 SF and 113 SF in size, respectively) for Phase 3 site 
improvements not previously accounted for in the approved SRIR Report. The 
approved and additional impact areas are depicted on the SROZ Plan (see Notebook 
Section IIB).  

Proposed activities will only occur within the Area of Limited Conflicting Use within 
the SROZ.  No wetlands within the site are a Title 3 Water Quality Resource Area.  
The Area of Limited Conflicting Use within the site totals 430,988 square feet.  
Within the attached SRIR Addendum (see Notebook Section IIF), Table 1 – Summary 
of Proposed SROZ Encroachments shows Phase 3 impact areas, including site grading 
for the construction of the child play area, bioretention cell, and street 
improvements. Proposed impacts have been limited to the extent feasible to allow 
development of the site while also protecting natural resources, allowing access to 
the natural resources through soft surface trails and the provision of a child play 
area, and providing the bioretention cell for rainwater management. Even with the 
additional impacts, the proposed impacts within the Area of Limited Conflicting Use 
total 4.3%, less than the allowable maximum of 5%. 

The SRIR approved with PDP 2N included mitigation for construction impacts to the 
SROZ, including removal of invasive vegetation and mitigation plantings as described 
in the attached SRIR Addendum (see Notebook Section IIF).  These elements are 
exempt from the SROZ regulations as described by LDO Section 4.139.04.  To 
compensate for the above-described impacts to the SROZ, mitigation areas meeting 
a ratio of 2.5:1 (mitigation to encroachment) are required.  The mitigation plan 
included a mitigation area of 46,212 square feet, which is more than the required 
amount of mitigation.   

Proposed encroachments into the SROZ fall within allowable standards and are 
minimized to the extent feasible while still allowing development to occur.  The 
encroachments will be rectified with mitigation previously approved with PDP 2N, 
which exceeds the amount required.  The Applicant’s proposal will result in a better 
plan and program for the natural resources on the site than could be achieved 
through strict application of the Code. 
 

 

V. CONCLUSION 

This Narrative, the Compliance Report in Section IIA of this Notebook, and the 
attached exhibits in Sections I and II of this Notebook describe the proposal and 
demonstrate compliance with the applicable provisions and standards of the Villebois 
Village Master Plan, the Village (V) Zone and other applicable sections of the 
Wilsonville Planning and Development Ordinance.  The Applicant respectfully requests 
approval of the proposed amendments to SAP – North and approval of the SRIR 
Addendum Review. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IB 

Documentation of Ownership 



amber
Typewriter











 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IC 

Certification of Assessments 
And Liens 







 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
ID 

Fee Calculation 





 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IE 

Mailing List 

















Section II

SAP Amendment



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IIA 

Supporting Compliance Report 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 1 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

 

AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT 

(SECTION IIA) 
 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

I. VILLEBOIS VILLAGE MASTER PLAN ................................................................................ 2 

LAND USE  ..................................................................................................................... 2 

PARKS & OPEN SPACE / OFF-STREET TRAILS & PATHWAYS ................................................ 8 

UTILITIES  ................................................................................................................... 14 

CIRCULATION ................................................................................................................. 17 

II. VILLAGE (V) ZONE ..................................................................................................... 19 

(.02) PERMITTED USES ............................................................................................. 19 

(.05)  DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS APPLYING TO ALL DEVELOPMENTS IN THE VILLAGE ZONE

................................................................................................................... 20 
(.06)  STANDARDS APPLYING TO COMMERCIAL USES .................................................... 22 

(.07)  GENERAL REGULATIONS – OFF-STREET PARKING, LOADING & BICYCLE PARKING .. 23 

(.08)  OPEN SPACE ................................................................................................... 24 

(.09)  STREET & ACCESS IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS .................................................... 24 

 (.10)  SIDEWALK AND PATHWAY IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS .......................................... 27 

(.11)  LANDSCAPING, SCREENING AND BUFFERING ....................................................... 27 

(.12)  MASTER SIGNAGE AND WAYFINDING .................................................................. 27 

(.13)  DESIGN PRINCIPLES APPLYING TO THE VILLAGE ZONE ......................................... 29 

(.14)  DESIGN STANDARDS APPLYING TO THE VILLAGE ZONE ........................................ 29 

(.18)  VILLAGE ZONE DEVELOPMENT PERMIT PROCESS ................................................. 31 

III. WILSONVILLE PLANNING & LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE ......................... 43 
SECTION 4.139 SIGNIFICANT RESOURCE OVERLAY ZONE ................................................ 43 

SECTION 4.156 SIGN REGULATIONS .............................................................................. 47 

SECTION 4.171 GENERAL REGULATIONS – PROTECTION OF NATURAL FEATURES & OTHER 

RESOURCES .................................................................................................. 47 

SECTION 4.172 FLOOD PLAIN REGULATIONS ................................................................. 50 

SECTION 4.176 LANDSCAPING, SCREENING & BUFFERING .............................................. 50 

SECTION 4.178 SIDEWALK & PATHWAY STANDARDS ...................................................... 51 

SECTION 4.179 MIXED SOLID WASTE & RECYCLABLES STORAGE IN NEW MULTI-UNIT 

RESIDENTIAL & NON-RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS ................................................. 51 

SECTION 4.600 TREE PRESERVATION AND PROTECTION ................................. 51 
IV. CONCLUSION .......................................................................................................... 54 

 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 2 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

I. VILLEBOIS VILLAGE MASTER PLAN 

LAND USE 

GENERAL – LAND USE PLAN 

Goal 

Villebois Village shall be a complete community that integrates land use, transportation, 
and natural resource elements to foster a unique sense of place and cohesiveness. 

 
Policies 

1. The Villebois Village Master Plan shall provide a complete community with a wide 
range of living choices, transportation choices, and working and shopping choices. 
Housing shall be provided in a mix of types and densities resulting in a minimum of 
2,300 dwelling units within the Villebois Village Master Plan area. 

Response: Specific Area Plan – North has been designed to be consistent with the 
Villebois Village Master Plan. Amendments to SAP North do not alter the vision of the 
Villebois Village Master Plan for a complete community with a wide range of living 
choices, transportation choices, and working and shopping choices. Phase 3 
contributes to the mix of housing types and densities identified in the amended 
Villebois Village Master Plan through the provision of smalls, mediums, standards, and 
larges. The number of dwelling units shown exceeds the minimum requirement of 
2,300 dwelling units within the Master Plan area. The applicable Village zone criteria 
for refinements are addressed below in Section II of this report.  
 
2. Future development applications within the Villebois Village area shall provide land 

uses and other major components of the plan such as roadways and parks and open 
space in general compliance with their configuration as illustrated on Figure 1 – 
Land Use Plan and as refined by Specific Area Plans.  The proposed uses for the 
Future Study Area Specific Area Plan Amendment to  SAP South shall be those 
identified in Figure 1 – Land Use Plan, which includes residential uses being limited 
to single-family lots in the medium to estate land use category identified in 
Wilsonville Code Subsection 4.125 (.18) F. 1. a. iv. arranged in a similar pattern as 
other areas on the edges of Villebois. Due to its location outside the general 
trapezoidal shape of Villebois and distance from the Village Center and 
neighborhood commons as well as its relatively small size, the Future Study Area 
Specific Area Plan Amendment to SAP South shall not be considered a neighborhood 
plan as defined in Section 2.1 of the Villebois Village Master Plan. 

Response: Specific Area Plan – North has been designed to be consistent with the 
concepts of Villebois Village Master Plan for the site area. SAP North, as depicted on 
the attached SAP drawings (see Notebook Section II), provides land uses, roadways, 
and parks and open space in general compliance with the configuration shown on the 
proposed Figure 1- Land Use Plan of the Villebois Village Master Plan. Within Phase 3, 
minor refinements to the Master Plan have been made to the mix of land uses and 
residential density, parks and open spaces, stormwater/rainwater facilities, and 
street alignment and location, as described in subsequent sections. Proposed 
residential uses continue to be within the Medium to Estate land use category and the 
Small to Neighborhood Apartment land use category. Additionally, land uses are 
arranged in a pattern similar to other areas on the edges of Villebois. Compliance with 
Section 4.125 (.18) is addressed in Section II of this Report. 
 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 3 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

3. The Villebois Village shall provide civic, recreational, educational and open space 
opportunities. 

Response: Specific Area Plan - North provides civic, recreational, educational and 
open space opportunities that are generally consistent with those identified in the 
Villebois Village Master Plan for the subject area. Phase 3 will provide additional open 
space and recreation opportunities in Specific Area Plan – North than anticipated with 
the Master Plan. 
 
4. The Villebois Village shall have full public services including: transportation; 

rainwater management; water; sanitary sewer; fire and police services; recreation, 
parks and open spaces; education; and transit. 

Response: Specific Area Plan - North currently provides public services, including:  
transportation, rainwater management; water; sanitary sewer; fire and police 
services; recreation, parks and open spaces; education; and transit. The attached 
Drawings (see Notebook Section IIB) demonstrate that Specific Area Plan – North will 
continue to provide public services, including:  transportation, rainwater 
management; water; sanitary sewer; recreation, and parks and open spaces. 
Therefore, SAP North, including Phase 3, will continue to have full public services.  
 
5.  Development of Villebois shall be guided by a Finance Plan and the City’s Capital 

Improvement Plan, ensuring that the availability of services and development occur 
in accordance with the City’s concurrency requirements (see Implementation 
Measure 4, below).  

Response: The Finance Plan has already been adopted for Villebois. Development 
within Specific Area Plan – North will comply with guiding measures of the Finance 
Plan. Specific Area Plan – North will not alter the assumptions within the City’s Capital 
Improvement Plan for SW Grahams Ferry Road. 
 
Implementation Measures 

1. Allow for unique planning and regulatory tools that are needed to realize the 
Villebois Village Master Plan. These tools shall include, but are not limited to: 
Specific Area Plans; Pattern Books; and Community Elements Books. 

Response: The proposed SAP North amendment includes Drawings (see Notebook 
Section IIB) and a Utility and Drainage Report (see Notebook Section IIC) for SAP North, 
and a Traffic Analysis (see Notebook Section IID), Historic/Cultural Resource Inventory 
(see Notebook Section IIE), SRIR Addendum (see Notebook Section IIF), and Tree 
Report (see Notebook Section IIG) for Phase 3. An Architectural Pattern Book, 
Community Elements Book, Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan, and Rainwater 
Management Program were originally created and approved with Specific Area Plan – 
North. Copies of the approved SAP North books are provided in Notebook Sections IIH 
through IIK for reference. These applicable SAP North books that will be utilized with 
Phase 3. No amendments are proposed to the SAP North books. 
 
2. Adopt the newly created Village zone district, which may be applied to the 

Villebois Village Master Plan area designated Residential-Village on the 
Comprehensive Plan Map. The new Village zone shall be based on the Villebois 
Village Master Plan Goals, Policies and Implementation Measures contained within 
this document. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 4 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

Response: The subject area is currently outside city limits within Clackamas 
County area zoned Rural Residential Farm Forest 5-Acre (RRFF-5). Concurrent 
applications for annexation to the city and for a zone change to apply the Village zone 
have been submitted with an application for PDP 3N.  
 
3. Refinements to the Villebois Village Master Plan are anticipated as more detailed 

plans are developed for the Specific Area Plans.  Specific Area Plans may propose 
refinements to the Villebois Village Master Plan without requiring an amendment 
to the Villebois Village Master Plan provided the refinement is not significant.  
Non-significant refinements shall be defined in the Village (“V”) zone text and may 
include, but are not limited to:  minor alterations to street alignments or minor 
changes in area or uses.  Disagreement about whether a refinement is significant 
shall be resolved by a process provided in the Village (“V”) Zone text. 

Response: SAP North (see Notebook Section IIB – Reduced Drawings) provides land 
uses, roadways, and parks and open space in general compliance with the 
configuration shown on the proposed Figure 1- Land Use Plan of the Villebois Village 
Master Plan. Within Phase 3, minor refinements to the Master Plan have been made 
to the mix of land uses and residential density, parks and open spaces, 
stormwater/rainwater facilities, and street alignment and location, as described in 
subsequent sections.  Compliance with Section 4.125 (.18) is addressed in Section II of 
this Report. 
 
4. The Master Planner shall coordinate with the City on the development of a Finance 

Plan for necessary urban services and public infrastructure. Each developer within 
Villebois Village will sign their own Development Agreement that will address the 
necessary urban services and public infrastructure as appropriate. 

Response: The applicant has existing Development Agreements with the City that 
address necessary urban services and public infrastructure. The applicant will obtain 
additional Development Agreement(s) as needed.  
 
5.  The Specific Area Plan (SAP) Amendment to SAP South for the Future Study Area 

shall demonstrate compliance with the Villebois Village Master Plan, the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan and its sub-elements, the City’s Planning and Land 
Development Ordinance, and all other applicable regulatory requirements.  The 
developer of the Future Study Area shall be responsible for obtaining any master 
plan or ordinance amendment(s) that may be necessitated by their proposal.   

Response: This is a request to amend SAP North. Therefore, this policy is not 
applicable.  

 
RESIDENTIAL NEIGHBORHOOD HOUSING 

Goal 

The Villebois Village shall provide neighborhoods consisting of a mix of homes for sale, 
apartments for rent, row homes, and single-family homes on a variety of lot sizes, as well 
as providing housing for individuals with special needs.  The Villebois Village shall provide 
housing choices for people of a wide range of economic levels and stages of life through 
diversity in product type. 
 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 5 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

Policies 

1. Each of the Villebois Village’s neighborhoods shall include a wide variety of housing 
options and shall provide home ownership options ranging from affordable housing 
to estate lots. 

Response: The Land Use Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) illustrates that Specific 
Area Plan – North will continue to provide for the wide variety of housing options and 
home ownership options identified in the Villebois Village Master Plan. Phase 3 will 
contribute to the availability of housing options in Specific Area Plan - North with the 
provision of small, medium, standard, and large residential lots. The Master Plan 
shows smalls, standards, and larges within Phase 3; this proposed amendment adds to 
housing options within Phase 3 with the addition of mediums through minor 
refinement, as described in subsequent report sections.  
 
2. Affordable housing within Villebois shall include rental and home ownership 
opportunities. 

Response: Rental and home ownership opportunities will continue to be available 
within Specific Area Plan – North. Phase 3 of SAP North includes rental and ownership 
opportunities through the provision of single-family dwellings of varying sizes. 
 
3. The mix of housing shall be such that the Village development provides an overall 

average density of at least 10 dwelling units per net residential acre. 

Response: With the proposed amendment, Villebois Village will continue to 
maintain an overall average density of at least 10 dwelling units per net residential 
acre. The density within Phase 1 and Phase 2 has been approved. The number of units 
within Phase 3 of SAP North is 84 within 8.64 net acres (approximately 9.72 units per 
net acre). The residential density of SAP North Phase 3 is consistent with other areas 
of Villebois Village in which larger lots are located along the edges of development. 
Furthermore, Phase 3 is located further from higher residential density associated with 
areas closer to the Village Center.  
 
4. The Villebois Village shall accommodate a total of at least 2,300 dwelling units 

within the boundary of the Villebois Village Master Plan. 

Response: This SAP North amendment will result in a total of 2,615 dwelling units 
within Villebois Village. Therefore, this request will not alter the ability of the overall 
project to meet the minimum requirement of 2,300 minimum dwelling units. 
 
5. The Villebois Village shall provide a mix of housing types within each neighborhood 

and on each street to the greatest extent practicable. 

Response: The attached plans (see Notebook Section IIB) illustrate that SAP North 

provides a mix of housing types generally consistent with the Master Plan. Phase 3 
provides a mix of housing types to the greatest extent possible, ranging from small to 
large, while also providing a similar land use pattern to the other edges of Villebois. 
Additionally, this request adds mediums to the range of housing options in Phase 3 
through minor refinement to the Master Plan. 
 
6. The Villebois Village shall include community housing types consistent with Oregon 

Revised Statute 426.508(4), which requires no more than 10 acres be retained from 
the sale of the former Dammasch State Hospital property for development of 
community housing for chronically mentally ill persons. The City of Wilsonville, the 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 6 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

Oregon Department of Administrative Services, and the Mental Health and 
Developmental Disability Services Division shall jointly coordinate the 
identification of the acreage to be retained. 

Response: The proposed amendments to Specific Area Plan – North will not impact 
the provision of community housing consistent with ORS 426.508 and contractual 
agreements between the State and the Master Planner.  
 
7. The development standards and Specific Area Plans required by the Village zone 

shall be consistent with the Governor’s Quality Development Objectives and the 
Governor’s Livability Initiative. 

Response: The Governor’s Quality Development Objectives (QDO’s), part of the 
Oregon Livability Initiative adopted in 1997, have guided the design and development 
of Villebois.  The Development Objectives promote the building of strong livable 
communities, economic growth and the efficient use of public resources, and are listed 
as follows. 

 Promote compact development within urban growth boundaries. 

 Give priority to a quality mix of development that addresses the economic and 
community goals of a community and region. 

 Encourage mixed-use, energy efficient development.   

 Support development that is compatible with community and regional 
environmental concerns and available natural resources. 

 Support development for a balance of jobs and affordable housing within a 
community. 

 Promote sustainable local and regional economies. 

The Villebois Village Concept Plan, the Villebois Village Master Plan, and the Village 
zone were developed to help guide the creation of a community that is consistent with 
these objectives. As demonstrated by compliance with the Goals, Policies and 
Implementation Measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan (see Section I of this 
report) and compliance with the Village zone (see Section II of this report), SAP North 
has been designed to be consistent with the Governor’s Quality Development 
Objectives and the Governor’s Livability Initiative. SAP North is part of a compact 
development within an urban growth boundary that gives priority to a quality mix of 
residential and mixed uses. SAP North was designed to address economic and 
community goals of the community and region by providing an energy efficient 
development pattern that offers multi-modal opportunities, maintaining compatibility 
with community and regional environmental concerns and available natural resources 
through wetland and tree preservation, providing housing within a community 
concerned about increasing housing options, including affordable housing 
opportunities, and promoting a sustainable community through neighborhood 
character that encourages residents to interact with their community.  As 
demonstrated by this report, Specific Area Plan – North is consistent with the Villebois 
Village Master Plan, and is thereby consistent with the Governor’s Quality 
Development Objectives.   
 
8. Each neighborhood shall be designed to increase transportation options. 

Neighborhoods shall be bike and pedestrian friendly. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 7 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

Response: The Circulation Plan and the Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan (see 
Notebook Section IIB) illustrate how SAP North is designed to increase transportation 
options for residents. This area is designed to be bike and pedestrian friendly. 
 
9. Higher density residential uses shall be of a scale and design in keeping with the 

desired vision for Villebois as expressed in the Villebois Village Concept Plan and 
in the Policies and Implementation Measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan. 

Response: Phase 1 has been approved and constructed, and Phase 2 has been 
approved and is the first phase of construction. Phase 3 of SAP North does not include 
the higher density residential uses associated with the Village Center. Phase 3 includes 
small, medium, standard, and large lots that will provide for detached residential 
units. Future phases of SAP North will be required to submit specific information and 
address compliance with this policy. Residential units will be of a scale and design 
consistent with the desired vision for Villebois as expressed in the Villebois Village 
Concept Plan and Policies and Implementation Measure of the Villebois Village Master 
Plan.  This will be assured through compliance with the Architectural Pattern Book 
and the Design Standards of the Village zone. 
 
10. Natural features shall be incorporated into the design of each neighborhood to 

maximize their aesthetic character while minimizing impacts to said natural 
features. 

Response: The Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) shows 
how the design of SAP North incorporates natural features to maximize their aesthetic 
character and minimize impacts to natural features. The SROZ Plan (see Notebook 
Section IIB) depicts the boundaries of the City’s SROZ and shows proposed and 
approved impacts to the SROZ and approved mitigation. An addendum to the SRIR 
approved with PDP 2N (DB13-0020 et al) has been prepared to reflect updated SROZ 
impacts for Phase 3. The SRIR addendum is provided in Notebook Section IIF. 

Phase 3 of SAP North predominantly consists of pasture area, with two wetland 
features and a portion of a upland forest preserve area/SROZ area along the southern 
site edge. To minimize the impacts to natural features, the existing treed wetland 
within the southwest corner of Phase 3 is retained in an open space tract. Landscaping 
and a bioretention cell have been designed within this area to limit impacts to the 
wetland while integrating natural features into site design. Additionally, the SROZ 
area along the southern site boundary is planned to be retained within an open space 
tract. Landscaping along the southern site edge and a trail extending to the south 
provide visual and physical connection to OS-2, a large upland forest preserve within 
Phase 2.  
 

Implementation Measures 

1. Ensure, through the development standards and Pattern Book(s) required by the 
Village zone, that the design and scale of dwellings are compatible with the 
compact, pedestrian-oriented character of the concepts contained in the Villebois 
Village Concept Plan and the contents of this Villebois Village Master Plan. 

Response: The design and scale of dwellings will be compatible with the compact, 
pedestrian-oriented character of the concepts contained in the Villebois Village 
Concept Plan and the contents of this Villebois Village Master Plan through compliance 
with the Village zone Design Standards and the approved Architectural Pattern Book 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 8 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

(see Notebook Section IIH).  These tools provide guidelines for evaluating the design 
and scale of dwellings within the subject area.  Compliance with these tools will assure 
compatibility with the compact, pedestrian-oriented character of the project.   
 
2. Create a set of design guidelines for the development of Pattern Books with the 

Village zone requirements. Pattern Books shall address, at a minimum, 
architectural styles and elements, scale and proportions, and land use patterns 
with lot diagrams. 

Response: The Architectural Pattern Book adopted in 2005 and updated in 2013 
includes architectural styles and elements, scale and proportions, and land use 
patterns with lot diagrams, and has been developed in accordance with the 
appropriate Village zone standards. A copy of the approved SAP North Architectural 
Pattern Book is provided in Notebook Section IIH. No amendments are proposed to the 
SAP North Architectural Pattern Book with this request.   
 
3. Develop Affordable Housing objectives for Villebois.  Develop strategies to 

accomplish desired variety of mixes and densities, and indicate how buildout of the 
Specific Area Plan implements those strategies and contributes to the overall Goals 
and Policies of the Villebois Village Master Plan. The affordable housing objectives 
and plan is to be submitted before, or together with the application for SAP Central.  

Response: Strategies to accomplish the desired variety of mixes and densities have 
been submitted and approved with earlier phases of Villebois Village. Villebois is 
expected to exceed the minimum 2,300 residential units specified by DATELUP, with 
a total of 2,615 dwelling units resulting from this SAP North amendment. Villebois 
offers a range of housing types and estimated prices as well as some unique housing 
opportunities through the provision of community housing in accordance with ORS 
426.508 and the inclusion of accessory dwellings. SAP North includes a mix of housing 
options with the provision of residential units ranging from neighborhood apartment 
to estate. Phase 3 contributes to the mix of housing options within SAP North with the 
provision of smalls, mediums, standards, and larges. 

 
PARKS & OPEN SPACE / OFF-STREET TRAILS & PATHWAYS 

Goal 

The Parks system within Villebois Village shall create a range of experiences for its 
residents and visitors through an interconnected network of pathways, parks, trails, open 
space and other public spaces that protect and enhance the site’s natural resources and 
connect Villebois to the larger regional park/open space system. 

Policies 

1. Parks and open space areas shall incorporate existing trees where feasible and large 
shade trees shall be planted in appropriate locations in parks and open spaces. 

Response:  Phase 3 predominantly consists of farm pasture area. Existing trees are 
concentrated within the northwest and southwest site corners and surrounding the 
existing dwellings. Trees within the southwestern site corner are retained within an 
open space tract. As feasible with the site design, other existing trees will be retained 
and trees will be planted where appropriate.  
 
2. An interconnected trail system shall be created linking the park and open spaces 

and key destination points within Villebois and to the surrounding neighborhoods. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 9 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

The trails system shall also provide loops of varying length to accommodate various 
activities such as walking, running and rollerblading. 

Response:  The Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) show a 
system of interconnected trails and pathways that connect SAP North and parks and 
open spaces to surrounding neighborhoods and key destinations. Destination points 
include the parks and open space areas within SAP North and other areas of Villebois, 
the Village Center, and the elementary school within Villebois.  The trail system within 
Phase 2 of SAP North, approved with PDP 2N (DB13—0020 et al), includes loops of 
varying length that will accommodate various types of activities. Future phases of SAP 
North will continue the major pathway system and provide connection to the trail 
system in OS-2. The Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) also 
shows the provision of a trail connection to OS-2 and pedestrian/bike connections to 
Tooze Road and Grahams Ferry Road within Phase 3. Additionally, a trail is provided 
along residential lots and the retained wetland in the southwest site corner of Phase 
3, providing connection from SW Oslo Street and SW Palermo Street.  
 
3. Parks shall encourage the juxtaposition of various age-oriented facilities and 

activities, while maintaining adequate areas of calm.  

Response:  SAP North provides a variety of age-oriented facilities, ranging from 
child play structures to more active, hard surface sport courts. Opportunities for quiet 
reflection and passive interaction are provided within the forested area of OS-2. SAP 
North provides numerous other age-oriented facilities, passive and active activities, 
and areas of calm, as depicted on the Parks/Open Space/Pathways Plan in Notebook 
Section IIB.  

This SAP Amendment adds both active and passive recreational opportunities within 
Phase 3. The pocket park in the northwest site corner will provide a child play 
structure, pedestrian/bicycle connection to the intersection of Grahams Ferry Road 
and Tooze Road, and a lawn area. Preservation of the treed wetland in the southwest 
site corner and the adjacent pedestrian connection will provide an opportunity for 
quiet reflection and passive recreational use. Therefore, the planned park and open 
space areas provide activities for a range of ages and activity levels. 
 
4. Park designs shall encourage opportunities for wildlife habitat, such as plantings 

for wildlife foraging and/or habitat, bird, and/or bat boxes and other like elements. 

Response: SAP North encourages opportunities for wildlife habitat by minimizing 
impacts to natural resources and incorporating forested and wetland areas into the 
site design. Nature trails, benches, and nature trail activity areas within OS-2 will be 
established in ways that preserve opportunities for wildlife habitat. Additionally, with 
the proposed amendment, the existing treed wetland in the southwestern site corner 
of Phase 3 is retained in an open space tract. Landscaping and a bioretention cell are 
planned within this open space area to minimize wetland impacts.  
 
5. Gathering spaces in parks shall generate social interaction by adding layers of 

activity (Power of Ten).  

Response: SAP North includes a range of activities and facilities within gathering 
spaces of parks and open spaces, as described above and depicted on the Parks/Open 
Space/Pathways Plan in Notebook Section IIB.  

 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 10 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

6. Build-out of the Villebois Village Master Plan shall comply with the City of 
Wilsonville SROZ regulations. Any encroachment into the SROZ will be reviewed for 
compliance or exemption as more detailed information is provided that will affect 
the SROZ areas. Adjustments in plan, street alignments, an intersections as well as 
rainwater facilities and pathways shall be made to comply with SROZ regulations.  

Response: The SROZ Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) shows previously approved 
SROZ impacts in OS-2 and the updated impacts within Phase 3. PDP 1N impacts were 
approved with 2007 SAP Approval (DB07-0054 et al) and reflected in subsequent 
approvals. A Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) evaluating SROZ impacts and 
mitigation for Phase 2 and Phase 3 was approved with PDP 2N. A SRIR addendum is 
provided for updated SROZ impacts within Phase 3 (see Notebook Section IIF).  
Compliance with SROZ requirements is demonstrated in the attached SRIR addendum 
and in Section III of this report. 
 
9. Parks and recreation spaces shall provide for flexibility over time to allow for 

adaptation to future community’s park, recreation and open space needs. 

Response: The parks and recreation spaces depicted on the Park/Open 
Space/Pathways Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) include designs that will be flexible 
overtime allowing for adaptation to future needs.  
 
10. Integrated pest management practices, and other similar measures, shall be 

specified for the operation and maintenance of sports fields and other park uses in 
and adjacent to the floodplain. 

Response: The floodplain is located in the eastern portion of Villebois and is 
associated with the Coffee Lake wetland complex.  Therefore, this requirement does 
not apply to SAP North.  
 
11. On-street parking will not be allowed along the frontages of parks and open spaces 

where views into and out of park spaces should be protected. Parking will be 
allowed along parks and open spaces in circumstances where it is necessary for the 
function of the park and will not obstruct the views into and out of the park area.  

Response: On-street parking is not allowed along the frontages of the parks and 
open spaces in order to provide for views into and out of park spaces.  This is 
documented with the Circulation Plan and Street Sections (see Notebook Section IIB), 
which identify where parking is planned.  
 
Implementation Measures 

1. Future and pending development applications within Villebois (Specific Area Plans, 
Preliminary Development Plans and Final Development Plans) shall comply with the 
park, trail, open space system proposed in Figure 5 – Parks and Open Space Plan, 
Figure 5A – Recreational Experiences Plan, and Table 1: Parks Programming. 
Refinements may be approved in accordance with Village Zone section 
4.125(.18)(F). 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 11 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

Response:  Phase 3 of SAP North is generally consistent with Figure 5, Figure 5A and 
Table 1 of the Master Plan.  Minor refinements are proposed to the parks and open 
space areas within Phase 3 of SAP North, which are described within subsequent 
sections of this report.  Compliance with Section 4.125(.18)(F) is addressed in this 
Narrative. 
 
2. The Master Planner shall submit the necessary application materials for a legislative 

plan amendment to Chapter 3 – Parks and Open Space of the Villebois Village Master 
Plan related to the detailed indoor and outdoor parks and recreation programming, 
and amenity package no later than January 1, 2006. Application materials shall 
include updated Villebois Village Master Plan findings, text, maps and figures as 
appropriate, and supporting technical data and analysis to address this issue as 
appropriate. Such amendments shall apply to pending and future Specific Area Plan 
(SAP) and Preliminary Plan (PDP) approvals. 

Response: The amendment to Chapter 3 referenced in Implementation Measure 2, 
above, occurred in 2006.  As demonstrated by this Supporting Compliance Report, the 
proposed plan complies with the applicable provisions of Chapter 3 – Parks and Open 
Space of the Villebois Village Master Plan.  
 
3. Parks and open spaces shall be designed to incorporate native vegetation, 

landforms, and hydrology to the fullest extent possible. 

Response: As shown on the Park/Trail/Open Space Plan (see Notebook Section IIB), 
native vegetation, landforms, and hydrology are incorporated in parks and open spaces 
to the extent feasible. Parks and open space areas are designed to incorporate native 
vegetation by retaining existing trees in park and open space areas where feasible. 
Landforms are incorporated through minimal grading within parks and no grading 
within SROZ open space areas (except for identified impact areas). Hydrology is 
incorporated in parks and open space tracts through the retention of the existing 
wetland in the southwest site corner. 
 
4. Each Specific Area Plan shall include a Community Elements Book that (1) meets 

the requirements of Master Plan Chapter 3; (2) specifies the value system and 
methodology for tree preservation, protection and tree planting; and (3) provides 
a proposed plant list. The Community Elements Book also includes specifications 
for site furnishings and play structures. Proposed parks shall closely comply with 
the specifications of the applicable Community Elements Book. 

Response: A Community Elements Book was submitted and approved with the 2007 
application for Specific Area Plan – North (DB07-0054 et al). This application includes 
a copy of the approved SAP North Community Elements Book (see Notebook Section 
III). No amendments to the SAP North Community Elements Book are proposed. 
 
5. Artwork is encouraged to be incorporated into parks. 

Response: Space has been reserved for placement of artwork in parks closer to the 
Village Center and within neighborhood and community gathering spaces. This SAP 
amendment does not alter this approach.   
 
6. The interface with Graham Oaks Natural Areas should contain enhancements such 

as trail connections, landscaping, gateway features, seating and overlook 
opportunities. 

 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 12 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

Response: The Graham Oaks Natural Area is located to the south of Villebois 
Village, abutting areas of SAP South. Therefore, this policy is not applicable to SAP 
North.  

7. The ability to recreate year round shall be preserved through measures such as: 
the provision of some hard surfaces that function in the wet season; areas shaded 
from the sun; areas protected from the rain; safely lit areas and indoor recreation 
opportunities.  

Response: Specific Area Plan – North includes a variety of year-round recreation 
and open space opportunities, including multi-use trails, hard surface sports areas, 
and play and park structures. The Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan (see Notebook 
Section IIB) illustrates how Phase 3 will contribute additional parks and open space 
areas that contribute to the ability to recreate year round.  Through the preservation 
of existing trees within parks and open space areas, shade from the sun and rain is 
provided adjacent to the retained wetland and within OS-2.  
 
9. The design of Villebois shall retain the maximum number of existing trees 

practicable that are six inches or more DBH in the “Important” or “Good” tree 
rating categories, which are defined in the Community Elements Books. Trees rated 
“Moderate” shall be evaluated on an individual basis as regards retention. Native 
species of trees and trees with historical importance shall be given consideration 
for retention.  

Response: The attached Tree Preservation Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) depicts 
the approved tree preservation and removal for Phase 1 and Phase 2 and information 
added for Phase 3. The Tree Preservation Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) identifies 
the inventoried existing trees, their classification and their whether they will be/were 
retained or removed. For Phase 3, specific methodology used to determine DBH and 
tree ratings is described in the Tree Report (see Notebook Section IIG). Future Phases 
will be required to submit tree preservation information through a SAP Amendment. 
SAP North complies with this policy by retaining trees that are six inches or more in 
DBH and rated “Important” and “Good” to the extent feasible.  

The majority of Phase 3 is pasture area, with trees concentrated in the southwest site 
corner and adjacent to existing dwellings.  To minimize the impacts to existing trees 
within Phase 3, trees within the southwest site corner are retained within an open 
space tract. Trees throughout the site are retained within residential lots and 
landscape tracts where feasible. No trees with an “Important” rating are present 
within the site. Efforts have been undertaken in the site layout to retain as many 
“Good” trees as practicable. Of the trees proposed for removal, trees are primarily 
proposed for removal because of poor or hazardous tree condition (65%) or 
construction (35%). Additional description of the proposed Tree Preservation Plan for 
Phase 3 is provided in subsequent sections of this report and in the Tree Report 
prepared by the project Arborist. 
 
10. Each Specific Area Plan, Preliminary Development Plan and Final Development Plan 

shall include tree preservation plans and planting plans to indicate proposed tree 
planting within parks and along streets and descriptions of the size of trees when 
planted and upon maturity.  

Response: The attached SAP Drawings (see Notebook Section IIB) include specific 
information on tree preservation and street tree plans for Phase 3 and reflect Phase  



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 13 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

1 and Phase 2 approvals. Future Phases will be required to submit additional 
information regarding tree preservation and plantings through a SAP Amendment. 
Street Tree Master Plan and Specs are included in the approved SAP North Community 
Elements Book, a copy of which is provided in Notebook Section III.  
 
12. Through time, the Developers shall have a responsibility to participate in planning, 

implementing and securing funding sources for a wetland naturalization and 
enhancement plan for the Coffee Lake wetland complex. These wetlands are 
adjacent to Coffee Creek and within the boundary of Villebois. The wetland 
naturalization and enhancement plan shall be initiated and completed with the 
phased development of the Village. 

Response: The Coffee Lake wetland area is adjacent to the eastern portion of 
Villebois. Therefore, this policy measure is not applicable to Specific Area Plan – 
North.  
 
13. The Villebois Master Plan shall comply with the Significant Resource Overlay Zone 

(SROZ) regulations. Proposed encroachments into the SROZ for exempt and non-
exempt development shall be reviewed for compliance with the requirements of 
Section 4.139 of the Wilsonville Code. 

Response: Compliance with SROZ requirements for Phase 1, Phase 2, and approved 
impacts within Phase 3 has been demonstrated with previous approvals. An SRIR 
evaluating the SROZ impacts and mitigation in OS-2 was approved with PDP 2N. A SRIR 
addendum is provided for updated SROZ impacts within Phase 3 (see Notebook Section 
IIF). This application includes a request for a SRIR Addendum Review for the updated 
impacts submitted for Phase 3. The SROZ Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) shows the 
updated impacts to the SROZ within Phase 3, as well as previously approved impacts 
and mitigation area in OS-2. 
 
14. A conceptual plan for lighting of park spaces throughout Villebois is provided on 

the plan included in Appendix H. Future development applications shall comply 
with the lighting system proposed in Appendix H. Refinements may be approved in 
accordance with Village Zone Section 4.125(.18)(F).  

Response: The conceptual plan for lighting of park spaces addresses major parks 
and open spaces within SAP North, such as the Tonquin Trail and the Neighborhood 
Commons. Phase 3 does not include a Neighborhood Commons or the Tonquin Trail.  
Appendix H does not require lighting in SAP North Phase 3 open space or park areas.  
 
15. Each child play area shall include uses suitable for a range of age groups. 

Response: The attached Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan (see Notebook Section 
IIB) illustrates the child play areas approved with Phase 1 and Phase 2 and proposed 
for Phase 3. Phase 3 provides a pocket park, including a play structure and lawn area. 
Additionally, the child play area within OS-2 to be developed with Phase 3 is designed 
for both younger and older children.  
 
18. The park spaces included within each phase of development will be completed prior 

to occupancy of 50% of the housing units in that particular phase unless weather 
or other special circumstances prohibit completion, in which case bonding for the 
improvements shall be permitted.  

Response: The Applicant/Developer will provide for completion of parks prior to 
occupancy of 50% of the housing units.  



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 14 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

 
20. The adequacy, amount and location of the proposed parking (including ADA 

parking) necessary to serve the proposed park uses shall be evaluated in detail at 
the SAP and PDP level. Off-street parking may be required to serve the various park 
users. 

Response: The parks and open space areas and on-street parking within Phase 1 
and Phase 2 have been approved. Parks and open spaces within Phase 3, including a 
pocket park and open space area, are anticipated to serve the immediate 
neighborhood and adjacent neighbors.  The proposed park/open space uses within 
Phase 3 are not anticipated to require parking, as most users are anticipated to access 
these areas by walking or biking. Future Phases will be required to submit additional 
information regarding parks and open spaces and proposed parking through a SAP 
Amendment.  

 

UTILITIES 

Sanitary Sewer 

Goal 

The Villebois Village shall include adequate sanitary sewer service. 

Policy 

1. The sanitary sewer system for Villebois Village shall meet the necessary 
requirements for the City of Wilsonville Wastewater Master Plan. 

Implementation Measures 

1. Implement the following list of policies and projects of the City of Wilsonville 
Wastewater Master Plan: 

 Policies:  1-7; and 

 Projects:  CIP-UD2. 

2.  Incorporate the construction of CIP-UD2 into the Finance Plan. 

3. Insure the 537 gpm capacity of the Evergreen Road sewer line is not exceeded with 
Specific Area Plan – South application. 

4. Insure the 340 gpm capacity of the Park at Merryfield sewer line is not exceeded 
with Specific Area Plan – South application. 

5. At the time of development of the Future Study Area, replace private pump station 
with Public Sanitary Sewer Lift Station build consistent with Technical Appendix I. 

Response: The Utility Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) shows the approved sanitary 
system within Phase 1 and Phase 2, and the proposed sanitary system within Phase 3. 
The sanitary system within Phase 3 of SAP North will comply with Policies 1 through 7 
of the City of Wilsonville Wastewater Master Plan, as demonstrated by the Utility Plan 
(see Notebook Section IIB) and the attached Utility & Drainage Report (see Notebook 
Section IIC). No refinements to sanitary sewer are proposed. 
 
Water 

Goal 

The Villebois Village shall include adequate water service. 

Policy 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 15 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

The water system for Villebois Village shall meet the necessary requirements of the City of 
Wilsonville Water System Master Plan. 

Implementation Measures 

1. Implement the following list of Water System Master Plan policies and projects with 
development of Villebois Village: 

 Policies: 1-7 

 Projects:  
1) 18-inch main in Barber Street from Kinsman Road to Brown Road 
2) 48-inch main in Kinsman Road from Barber Street to Boeckman Road  
3) 24-inch main in Boeckman Road from Kinsman Road to Villebois Drive 
4) 18-inch main in Villebois Drive from Boeckman Road to Barber Street 
5) 18-inch main from Barber Street from Brown Road to Grahams Ferry  
6) 18-inch main in Grahams Ferry Road from Barber Street to Tooze Road 
7) 12-inch main in Grahams Ferry Road from the Future Study Area to Barber 

Street 
8) 30-inch main in Tooze Road from Villebois Drive to Grahams Ferry Road 
9) 12-inch main in extension of Villebois Drive from Barber to the Future Study 

Area 
10) 12-inch main connections from Barber Street to Evergreen 

Response: The Utility Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) shows the water system for 
SAP North, reflecting Phase 1 and Phase 2 approvals, and the proposed water system 
for Phase 3. The proposed water system will comply with Policies 1 through 7 of the 
Water System Master Plan. The 18-inch main in Grahams Ferry Road from Barber Street 
Road to Tooze Road has been constructed. Additionally, the City has already installed 
the 18-inch main from Barber Street from Brown Road to Grahams Ferry.  
 
2. Incorporate the construction of the above referenced projects into the Finance 

Plan.  

Response: Construction of water systems projects was incorporated into the 
Finance Plan in previous phases of Villebois.  

 
 
Storm Drainage 

Goal 

The Villebois Village shall include adequate storm water systems to prevent unacceptable 
levels of flooding, protect receiving streams and water bodies from pollution and increased 
runoff rates due to development, and create a connection between people and the 
environment. 

Policy 

1. The onsite stormwater system for Villebois shall meet the necessary requirements 
of the City of Wilsonville Stormwater Master Plan and Public Works Standards. 

Response: The Utility Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) shows the stormwater 
system for SAP North, reflecting Phase 1 and Phase 2 approvals, and the proposed 
stormwater system for Phase 3. A supporting Utility and Drainage Report is included 
in Notebook Section IIC, which demonstrates that the stormwater system will meet 
the necessary requirements of the City of Wilsonville Stormwater Master Plan and 
Public Works Standards. 
 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 16 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

2. Villebois Village shall strive to minimize the development “footprint” on the 
hydrological cycle through the combination of stormwater management and 
rainwater management. 

3. Villebois Village shall integrate rainwater management systems into parks and open 
space areas. 

Response: Rainwater Management Systems are integrated into parks and open 
space areas as shown on the Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan (see Notebook Section 
IIB).  A copy of the approved Rainwater Management Program for SAP North is provided 
in Notebook Section IIK. A minor refinement is proposed to on-site water 
quality/stormwater/rainwater facilities within Phase 3 along Grahams Ferry Road and 
Tooze Road, as further described in Section 4.125(.18)(F).  
 
Implementation Measures 

3. Implement the following list of City Stormwater Master Plan policies and facilities: 

 Policies: 9.1-9.6 

 Projects: CLC-10 

At a minimum CIP Project CLC-10 shall be complied with.  Alternatives to CLC-
10 shall be explored to additional restoration of historic flows.  These 
alternatives, Options A and B, seek to restore historic flows to Arrowhead Creek 
thereby correcting the out of basin transfer that occurred with the construction 
of the Dammasch State Hospital.  Analysis of these alternatives will be 
coordinated with the City, METRO, and affected property owners.   

Response: The Utility Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) shows the stormwater 
system for Specific Area Plan – North, reflecting Phase 1 and Phase 2 approvals, and 
the proposed stormwater system for Phase 3.  A supporting utility report in Notebook 
Section IIC demonstrates that the stormwater system will meet the necessary 
requirements of the City of Wilsonville Stormwater Master Plan and Public Works 
Standards. CLC-10 was completed several years ago with phasing of Specific Area Plan 
– South. This proposed amendment does not alter this Implementation Measure.  
 
4. Develop a Rainwater Management Program with the first Specific Area Plan that 

will provide opportunities for integrating water quality and detention into the site’s 
natural features and the proposed urban form, thus developing a green, natural, 
aesthetically pleasing rainwater management system.  This program will provide 
the specific goal of reducing the increase in runoff from the 90th percentile of all 
rain events, mimicking pre-development hydrology and keeping Villebois Village 
true to its development goal of minimal negative impacts to the existing system.  In 
addition to this standard, the program will provide guidelines and standards for the 
design of all stormwater systems challenging them to be creative and unique while 
meeting necessary requirements. 

Response: A copy of the approved Rainwater Management Program is provided in 
Notebook Section IIK. No changes are proposed to the Rainwater Management 
Program.  
 
5. Construct CLC-10 as defined or implement Option A or B as proposed.  Construction 

of CLC-10, or selection of an option to modify CLC-10, is to occur in accordance 
with the terms specific in the memorandum of understanding between the 
City/Villebois and Metro (Metro contract #926225).   



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 17 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

6. Incorporate the construction of CLC-10 or as modified by Option A or B into the 
Finance Plan. 

Response: CLC-10 was completed several years ago with phasing of Specific Area 
Plan – South. This is a request for amendment to SAP North. Therefore, this proposed 
amendment does not alter this Implementation Measure.  
 
7. Insure that on-going costs to maintain rainwater systems in public right-of-way are 

included in the Finance Plan.  

11. Pursuant to the City’s Stormwater Master Plan Policies 9.2.4 and 9.2.5, 
maintenance of stormwater conveyance facilities, including detention/retention 
facilities will be planned as part of the Specific Area Plans for the Villebois Village. 

Response: Ownership and maintenance of stormwater conveyance facilities for 
Phase 1 and Phase 2 has been addressed through the Ownership & Maintenance 
Agreement prepared with PDP 1N and PDP 2N. An Ownership & Maintenance 
Agreement addressing ownership and maintenance of stormwater conveyance 
facilities in Phase 3 and future phases will be prepared at the final plat review stage. 
 
12. Complete the study of Options A and B with regard to CIP Project CLC-10 in 

accordance with the terms specified in the memorandum of understanding 
between the City/Villebois and Metro (Metro contract #926225). The study shall 
consider at least the following actions, which are required to obtain approval of 
the City Engineer: 

 Coordinate with and obtain approval of Metro and the City of Wilsonville for 
integration of a potential detention facility into the design of the Graham 
Oaks Natural Area. Obtain appropriate easements as required for said 
facility.  

13.  The City shall include the Villebois Village Master Plan, including the finalized 
concept of CLC-10, in future updates of the City of Wilsonville Stormwater Master 
Plan.  

Response: CLC-10 was completed several years ago with phasing of Specific Area 
Plan – South. Amendments are proposed to SAP North to reflect previous approvals and 
add information for Phase 3. Therefore, this proposed amendment does not alter this 
Implementation Measure. 

 
 
CIRCULATION 

Goal 

The Villebois Village shall provide for a circulation system that is designed to reflect the 
principles of smart growth. 
 
Policy 

1. The Villebois Village shall encourage alternatives to the automobile, while 
accommodating all travel modes, including passenger cars, trucks, buses, bicycles 
and pedestrians. 

Implementing Measures 

2. The Villebois Village Master Plan includes the following alternative street sections. 
Any proposed alterative street sections not included in the list below shall follow 
the review of procedure established in the 2003 TSP. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 18 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

 On-street parking on Major Collector (VVMP street section D) and Minor Collector 
(VVMP street section E). 

 Increase planter to 8’ and median to 15’ on Major Collector (VVMP section D), which 
increase right-of-way to 65’ and curb-to-curb to 92’. 

 Increase planter to 7.5’ and stripe parking and bike lane on Residential Street 
(VVMP street section G), which increases curb-to-curb and right-of-way widths. 

 Increase sidewalk widths on Residential Streets (VVMP street sections H, I, J and K) 
and increase planter strip widths on Residential Streets (VVMP street sections I, J, 
K, and L). 

 Reduce curb-to-curb widths to 20’ and not allowing parking on Residential Streets 
(VVMP street sections J, K, and M). 

Response: SAP – North implements the street sections approved with the Villebois 
Village Master Plan. Phase 3 includes minor refinements to the alignment and location 
of Iceland Lane, to the location of access from Grahams Ferry Road, to remove a 
portion of the continuous street (Amsterdam Avenue/Belfast Lane) along the western 
site edge in order to retain the on-site wetland. 
 
3. Roundabout options at intersections not already identified on Figure 7 – Street Plan 

of the Villebois Village Master Plan shall be reviewed through the major 
alternative process. 

Response: Phase 1 has been constructed and Phase 2 is in construction. No 
roundabouts are included with Phase 3 of SAP North.  
 
4. Requests for major alternatives for access spacing less than 600 feet on Grahams 

Ferry Road will follow the process outlined in Wilsonville TSP Implementation 
Measure 4.1.1.b(3). If this major alternative request is approved, access standards 
shall be resolved. For publicly constructed streets, these standards may be waived 
for major alternatives by the City Council and for minor alternatives by the City 
Engineer.  A major alternative is one that involves a significant change from the 
standards impacting capacity and speed, that changes pedestrian safety and 
convenience, or that alters large areas of required landscaping.  Examples include 
but are not limited to changing the number of lanes, moving a sidewalk from the 
property-line to the curb-line, using alternatives to standard curb, gutter, and 
median systems for managing stormwater, or eliminating the landscaped strip.  A 
minor alternative is one that involves a small change from the standards that does 
not affect capacity or speed and does not diminish safety or aesthetics for the 
project as a whole.  Examples include but are not limited to moving a sidewalk to 
go around landscape features, or a small narrowing of lanes to fit tight right-of-
way. 

Response: SAP – North provides more than the required 600 foot access spacing on 
Grahams Ferry Road (see Notebook Section IIB). This SAP amendment does not include 
a request for a major alternative for access spacing. 
 
5. Curb extensions may be utilized within the Villebois Village area under the 

following basic principles for their placement and design: 

 A minimum of 20-foot face-of-curb- to face-of-curb street width shall be 
provided at all residential street intersections, even where curb extensions are 
located.  In the Village Center (inside the Village Loop), the minimum curb-to-
curb street width should be 22 feet, in order to accommodate delivery and 
garbage truck movements. 

 Fire trucks, buses, and single-unit trucks (i.e., garbage trucks) shall be able to 
negotiate from collector/arterial streets without crossing the collector/arterial 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 19 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

street centerline. Fire trucks shall be able to negotiate through residential 
streets, although it is acceptable for them to cross the street centerline on 
residential streets. 

 Passenger car turning movements shall be able to stay within the street 
centerline on all streets. 

 Bike lanes shall not be forced into vehicle travel lanes. 

Placement of curb extensions shall be reviewed through the City’s minor alteration 
process with Specific Area Plans. 

Response: The Circulation Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) includes the approved 
placement of curb extensions within Phase 1 and Phase 2 and the proposed placement 
of curb extensions within Phase 3. The placement of the curb extensions within Phase 
3 is consistent with the Curb Extension Concept Plan in the SAP North Community 
Elements Book.  
 
6. Street and pathway alignments shall be demonstrated to be in compliance with 

Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) regulations with Specific Area Plans. 

Response: Street and pathway alignments within SAP North comply with SROZ 
requirements, as described in Section III of this report and in the SRIR Addendum (see 
Notebook Section IIF).  The SROZ Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) shows the approved 
impacts and mitigation within OS-2, as well as the updated impacts in Phase 3, which 
are further described in the SRIR Addendum (see Notebook Section IIF). 
 
7. Pedestrian and bicycle connectivity shall be provided between public and private 

street termination points and adjacent trails/pathways at the discretion of the City 
Engineer. 

Response: The Circulation Plan and the Street Sections (see Notebook Section IIB) 
illustrate the street system within SAP North, including shared roadways for bicyclists 
and sidewalks. The Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) shows 
pedestrian/bicycle connections to adjacent streets or parks and open spaces 
throughout SAP North. Amendments to add specific information for Phase 3 continue 
this approach.  

 

II. VILLAGE (V) ZONE 

(.02) PERMITTED USES 

Examples of principle uses that typically permitted: 

A. Single Family Detached Dwellings 

H. Non-commercial parks, plazas, playgrounds, recreational facilities, 
community buildings and grounds, tennis courts, and other similar 
recreational and community uses owned and operated either publicly or by 
an owners association. 

Response: Land uses within Phase 1 and Phase 2 have been approved. Proposed 
uses within SAP North that are permitted pursuant to subsection (.02) are generally 
shown on the Land Use Key and Land Use Plan (see Notebook Section IIB). SAP North 
includes a range of single-family detached dwellings and park and open space areas.  

 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 20 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

(.05)  DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS APPLYING TO ALL DEVELOPMENTS IN THE VILLAGE ZONE 

In addition to other applicable provisions of the Wilsonville Planning and Land 
Development Ordinance, all development in the Village zone shall be subject to 
Tables V-1 through V-4, and to the following. If there is conflict between the 
provisions of the Village zone and other portions of the Code, then the provisions 
of this section shall apply.  

A. Block, Alley, Pedestrian and Bicycle Standards: 

1. Maximums Block Perimeter:  1,800 feet, unless the Development Review 
Board makes a finding that barriers such as existing buildings, topographic 
variations, or designated Significant Resource Overlay Zone areas will 
prevent a block perimeter from meeting this standard. 

2. Maximum spacing between streets for local access:  530 feet, unless the 
Development Review Board makes a finding that barriers such as existing 
buildings, topographic variations, or designated Significant Resource 
Overlay Zone areas will prevent street extensions from meeting this 
standard. Under such circumstances, intervening pedestrian and bicycle 
access shall be provided, with a maximum spacing of 330 feet from those 
local streets, unless the Development Review Board makes a finding that 
barriers such as existing buildings, topographic variations, or designated 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone areas will prevent pedestrian and bicycle 
facility extensions from meeting this standard.  

Response: Circulation patterns within Phase 1 and Phase 2, and within a portion 
of Future Phases, are shown on the attached SAP Drawings (see Notebook Section IIB). 
Phase 1 has been constructed and Phase 2 is in construction. Additional information 
for Future Phases will be required through a SAP Amendment. 

Circulation patterns within Phase 3 of SAP North are dictated by the 600-foot access 
spacing standard on SW Grahams Ferry Road, located along the western site boundary, 
and SW Tooze Road, located along the northern site boundary (City of Wilsonville 
Transportation System Plan requirement for a minor arterial). The presence of SROZ 
along the southern property line and development patterns within PDP 2N to the south 
also influence circulation patterns within SAP North Phase 3. Blocks within the 
proposed PDP plan meet the maximum 1,800-foot block perimeter, except as follows. 

 The block bounded by SW Oslo Street, SW Belfast Lane, SW Barcelona Street, 
the eastern site boundary, Tooze Road, and SW Grahams Ferry Road can only 
be developed to the eastern property line. In addition, circulation within these 
streets along the western and north portions of the site is dictated by the 600 
foot access spacing standard for minor arterials, which applies to both Grahams 
Ferry Road and Tooze Road. A pedestrian/bicycle connection to Tooze Road is 
provided between Lots 14 and 15 and to the intersection of Grahams Ferry Road 
and Tooze Road between Lots 8 and 9 within the pocket park. 

 The block bounded by Palermo Street, SW Rome Avenue, SW Oslo Street, and 
the western site boundary can only be developed to the western and southern 
property lines. The alignment of SW Palermo Street is limited by the presence 
of upland forest preserve in the southwestern corner of the site and along the 
southern portion of the site, and by the existing portion of SW Palermo Street 
within Phase 2. In addition, circulation within these streets along the western 
portion of the site is dictated by the 600 foot Grahams Ferry Road spacing 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 21 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

standard. A pedestrian/bicycle connection is provided along the eastern edge 
of the open space tract (adjacent to the retained wetland). 

 The block bounded by SW Barcelona Street, SW Iceland Lane, and SW Oslo 
Street, and the block bounded by SW Oslo Street, SW Rome Avenue, and SW 
Palermo Street, can only be developed to the eastern property line. The 
extension of SW Barcelona Street and SW Oslo Street and construction of SW 
Ravenna Loop/Paris Avenue is anticipated to occur with future development of 
parcels to the east. Compliance with the block perimeter and street spacing 
standards will be addressed at such a time as these streets are extended.  

Other blocks within Phase 3 not mentioned above meet the maximum 1,800 foot block 
perimeter and maximum 530 street spacing requirements.  

B. Access:  All lots with access to a public street, and an alley, shall take vehicular 
access from the alley to a garage or parking area, except as determined by the City 
Engineer. 

Response: As shown on the attached drawings (see Notebook Section IIB), all lots 
in Phase 3 with access to a public street and an alley shall take vehicular access from 
the alley to a garage or parking area. Compliance with this standard for Phase 1 and 
Phase 2 was addressed with previous approvals. Future Phases will be required to 
address this standard.  
 

C. Trailers, travel trailers, mobile coaches, or any altered variation thereof 
shall not be used for the purpose of conducting a trade or calling, or for 
storage of material, unless approved for such purpose as a temporary use. 

Response: No trailers, travel trailers, mobile coaches, or such vehicles will be used 
for the purpose of conducting a trade or calling or for the storage of material unless 
approved as a temporary use. 
 
D. Fences: 

i. General Provisions: 

a. Fencing in the Village Zone shall be in compliance with the 
Master Fencing Program in the Adopted Architectural Pattern 
Book for the appropriate SAP. 

b. When two or more properties with different properties abut, 
the property with the largest front yard setback requirement 
shall be used to determine the length and height of the shared 
side yard fence, as required by Section 4.125(0.05)(D)(1)(a).  

c. The Development Review Board may, in their discretion, 
require such fencing as deemed necessary to promote and 
provide traffic safety, noise mitigation, and nuisance 
abatement, and the compatibility of different uses permitted on 
adjacent lots of the same zone and on adjacent lots of different 
zones.  

2. Residential: 

a. The maximum height of any fence located in the required front yard 
of a residential development shall not exceed three (3) feet. 

b. Fences on residential lots shall not include chain link, barbed wire, 
razor wire, electrically charged wire, or be constructed of 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 22 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

sheathing material such as plywood or flake board.  Fences in 
residential areas that protect wetlands, or other sensitive areas, 
may be chain link. 

Response: The SAP North Master Fencing Plan is part of the SAP – North 
Architectural Pattern Book. A copy of the approved SAP North Pattern Book, which 
will be utilized with SAP North Phase 3, is provided in Notebook Section IIH.  No 
amendments to the SAP North Master Fencing Plan are proposed.  

Residential lot fencing occurs when each home is constructed, details of which are 
provided with Building Permit review.  Residential lot fencing will occur in compliance 
with the fencing specified for the specific lot type and style in accordance with the 
SAP North Master Fencing Plan (see Notebook Section IIH).  
 

E.  Recreational Area in Multi-Family Residential and Mixed Use Developments 

Response: Phase 1 through Phase 3 of SAP North include lots for the single family 
residential homes; therefore this standard does not apply. Future phases of SAP North 
will be required to demonstrate compliance with these standard(s). 

 
F.  Fire Protection: 

1. All structures shall include a rated fire suppression system (i.e., 
sprinklers), as approved by the Fire Marshal 

Response: All of the homes within the proposed SAP – North Phase 3 will include 
appropriate fire suppression systems.  This will be verified with review of future 
building permit applications. 
 

Table V-1 Development Standards 

Response: All of the lots will be developed with single family detached dwelling 
units that meet minimum lot size specifications as defined in the SAP – North 
Architectural Pattern Book.  No buildings are proposed with this application.  
Compliance with these standards will be reviewed with the Tentative Plat in 
conjunction with the PDP application and the subsequent Final Plat.  

Single-Family Dwellings 

Minimum lot size:  2,250 square feet 

Minimum lot width:  35 feet 

Minimum lot depth:  50 feet 

Response: Lots will be designed to meet the applicable minimum lot size 
requirement and meet the applicable minimum lot width and depth specified for 
Small, Medium, Standard, and Large lots in the SAP – North Architectural Pattern Book, 
with allowed variations for site features, e.g. road alignment and site topography. The 
Tentative Plat depicting proposed lot sizes and dimensions will be reviewed in 
conjunction with the PDP.   
 
(.06)  STANDARDS APPLYING TO COMMERCIAL USES 

A. All commercial uses shall be subject to the following: 

1. A Neighborhood Center shall only be located at a Neighborhood 
Commons 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 23 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

Response: Areas of SAP North are located within the conceptual neighborhood area 
in the northern portion of Villebois Village. As shown on the Neighborhood Concept 
Diagram in the Master Plan, a Neighborhood Commons is located within Future Phases 
of SAP North. Therefore, Future Phases of SAP North will be required to address this 
standard and add information for the Neighborhood Commons.  

 
(.07)  GENERAL REGULATIONS – OFF-STREET PARKING, LOADING & BICYCLE PARKING 

Except as required by Subsections (A) through (D), below, the requirements of 
Section 4.155 shall apply within the village zone. 

A. General Provisions: 

1. The provision and maintenance of off-street parking spaces is a 
continuing obligation of the property owner.  The standards set 
forth herein shall be considered by the Development Review Board 
as minimum criteria. 

2. The Board shall have the authority to grant variances or 
refinements to these standards in keeping with the purposes and 
objectives set forth in this zone. 

Response: The applicant acknowledges that the provision and maintenance of off-
street parking is the continuing obligation of the property owner.  There are no 
variances or refinements to the standards of this section proposed with this 
application. 
 

B. Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements: 

1. Table V-2, Off-Street Parking Requirements, below, shall be used to 
determine the minimum and maximum parking standards for noted 
land uses.  The number of required parking spaces shown in Table 
V-2 shall be determined by rounding to the nearest whole parking 
space… 

Table V-2:  Off-Street Parking Requirements 

Category 
Min. Vehicle 

Spaces 
Max. 

Vehicle 
Spaces 

Bicycle 
Short Term 

Bicycle 
Long 
Term 

 

Single Family Detached Dwelling 
Units  

1.0 / DU NR NR NR 

 

Row Houses 
1.0 / DU NR NR NR 

 
Response:  Each of the proposed homes will provide a minimum of a two-car 
garage in compliance with this standard. 
 

C. Minimum Off-Street Loading Requirements: 

Response: SAP – North includes lots for development of single family homes; 
therefore no loading areas are required.   
 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 24 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

D. Bicycle Parking Requirements: 

Response: SAP – North includes single family detached dwelling units.  There is no 
bicycle parking requirement for these unit types, as noted in Table V-2 above, 
therefore these standards do not apply. 

 
(.08)  OPEN SPACE 

Open space shall be provided as follows: 

A.  In all residential developments and in mixed-use developments where the 
majority of the developed square footage is to be in residential use, at least 
twenty-five percent (25%) of the area shall be open space, excluding street 
pavement and surface parking. In multi-phased developments, individual 
phases are not required to meet the 25% standard as long as an approved 
Specific Area Plan demonstrates that the overall development shall provide 
a minimum of 25% open space. Required front yard areas shall not be 
counted towards the required open space area. Required rear yard areas 
and other landscaped areas that are not within required front or side yards 
may be counted as part of the required open space. 

B.  Open space area required by this Section may, at the discretion of the 
Development Review Board, be protected by a conservation easement or 
dedicated to the City, either rights in fee or easement, without altering the 
density or other development standards of the proposed development. 
Provided that, if the dedication is for public park purposes, the size and 
amount of the proposed dedication shall meet the criteria of the City of 
Wilsonville standards. The square footage of any land, whether dedicated 
or not, which is used for open space shall be deemed a part of the 
development site for the purpose of computing density or allowable lot 
coverage.  See SROZ provisions, Section 4.139.10. 

C.  The Development Review Board may specify the method of assuring the 
long-term protection and maintenance of open space and/or recreational 
areas. Where such protection or maintenance are the responsibility of a 
private party or homeowners’ association, the City Attorney shall review 
and approve any pertinent bylaws, covenants, or agreements prior to 
recordation. 

Response: Figure 5 – Parks & Open Space Plan of the Villebois Village Master Plan 
indicates that there are 58.42 acres of parks and 101.31 acres of open space for a total 
of 159.73 acres within Villebois, approximately 33%. Parks and open spaces in Phase 1 
and Phase 2 have already received approval. Phase 3 of SAP – North is generally 
consistent with the Villebois Village Master Plan when considering minor refinements 
proposed to the Master Plan. In fact, a pocket park, open space area, and various 
landscape greens are added to Phase 3, increasing the total area of parks and open 
spaces within Phase 3. Therefore, Phase 3 is consistent with the overall development 
and provides adequate parks and open spaces.  

 
(.09)  STREET & ACCESS IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS 

A. Except as noted below, the provisions of Section 4.177 apply within the 
Village zone: 

 1. General provisions: 

a) All street alignment and access improvements shall conform to Figures 
7, 8, 9A, and 9B of the Villebois Village Master Plan, or as refined in the 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 25 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

Specific Area Plan, Preliminary Development Plan, or Final 
Development Plan and the following standards: 

Response: Street alignments and access improvements within Phase 3 of SAP North 
are generally consistent with the Villebois Village Master Plan. Minor refinements are 
proposed to the alignment and location of SW Iceland Lane, location of access to/from 
Grahams Ferry Road, and to a portion of the continuous street (Amsterdam 
Avenue/Belfast Lane) with a general north-south orientation along the western portion 
of Phase 3, as further described in subsequent sections of this report.  Compliance 
with the standards of subsection (.09) is addressed below.  
 

i. All street improvements shall conform to the Public Works 
Standards and shall provide for the continuation of streets 
through proposed developments to adjoining properties or 
subdivisions, according to the Master Plan. 

Response: Phase 1 has already been constructed and Phase 2 is in the first phase 
of construction. Street improvements within Phase 3 of SAP North will comply with 
the applicable Public Works Standards. The street system within Phase 3 is designed 
to provide for the continuation of streets within Villebois and to adjoining streets 
according to the Master Plan.  The street system within Phase 3 is shown on the 
Circulation Plan (see Notebook Section IIB).   
 

ii. All streets shall be developed according to the Master Plan.  

Response: The street system of SAP North is illustrated on the Circulation Plan 
(see Notebook Section IIB). All streets in Phase 3 will be developed in accordance with 
the Master Plan, with the minor refinement described in subsequent sections of this 
report.  
 

2. Intersections of streets 

a) Angles: Streets shall intersect one another at angles not less than 90 
degrees, unless existing development or topography makes it impractical. 

b) Intersections:  If the intersection cannot be designed to form a right angle, 
then the right-of-way and paving within the acute angle shall have a 
minimum of thirty (30) foot centerline radius and said angle shall not be 
less than sixty (60) degrees.  Any angle less than ninety (90) degrees shall 
require approval by the City Engineer after consultation with the Fire 
District. 

Response: The attached drawings (see Notebook Section IIB) demonstrate that all 
proposed streets will intersect at angles consistent with the above standards. 
 

c) Offsets: Opposing intersections shall be designed so that no offset 
dangerous to the traveling public is created. Intersections shall be 
separated by at least: 

1) 1000 ft. for major arterials 
2) 600 ft. for minor arterials 
3) 100 ft. for major collector 
4) 50 ft. for minor collector 

Response: The attached drawings (see Notebook Section IIB) demonstrate that 
opposing intersections on public streets are offset, as appropriate, so that no danger 
to the traveling public is created.   



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 26 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

 
d) Curb Extensions: 

1) Curb extensions at intersections shall be shown on the Specific Area 
Plans required in subsection 4.125(.18)(C) through (F), below, and 
shall: 

 Not obstruct bicycle lanes on collector streets. 

 Provide a minimum 20 foot wide clear distance between 
curb extensions all local residential street intersections 
shall have, shall meet minimum turning radius requirements 
of the Public Works Standards, and shall facilitate fire truck 
turning movements as required by the Fire District. 

Response: Proposed curb extensions within Phase 3 are shown on the Circulation 
Plan (see Notebook Section IIB), none of which are located on collector streets.  The 
attached drawings illustrate that all street intersections will have a minimum 20 foot 
wide clear distance between curb extensions.  
 

3. Street grades shall be a maximum of 6% on arterials and 8% for collector and 
local streets. Where topographic conditions dictate, grades in excess of 8%, but 
not more than 12%, may be permitted for short distances, as approved by the 
City Engineer, where topographic conditions or existing improvements warrant 
modification of these standards. 

Response: Phase 1 has already been constructed and Phase 2 is in the first phase 
of construction. The Grading Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) demonstrates that 
proposed streets within Phase 3 can comply with this standard.  
 

4. Centerline Radius Street Curves: 

The minimum centerline radius street curves shall be as follows: 

a) Arterial streets: 600 feet, but may be reduced to 400 feet in commercial 
areas, as approved by City Engineer. 

b) Collector streets:  600 feet, but may be reduced to conform with the Public 
Works Standards, as approved by the City Engineer. 

c) Local streets:  75 feet 

Response: Phase 1 has already been constructed and Phase 2 is in the first phase 
of construction. The Circulation Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) demonstrates that all 
streets with Phase 3 will comply with the above standards.  
 

5. Rights-of-way: 

a) See (.09) (A), above. 

Response: Proposed rights-of-way within Phase 3 of SAP North are shown on the 
attached drawings (see Section IIB).  Rights-of-way will be dedicated and a waiver of 
remonstrance against the formation of a local improvement district will be recorded 
with recordation of final plat(s) in accordance with Section 4.177. 
 

6. Access drives. 

a) See (.09) (A), above. 

b) 16 feet for two-way traffic. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 27 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

Response: The attached drawings (see Notebook Section IIB) demonstrate that all 
proposed access drives within Phase 3 of SAP North will have a minimum improvement 
width of 16 feet and will provide two-way travel.  In accordance with Section 4.177, 
all access drives will be constructed with a hard surface capable of carrying a 23-ton 
load.  All access drives will include dedicated easements for fire access and will be 
designed to provide a clear travel lane free from any obstructions.  
 

7. Clear Vision Areas 

a) See (.09) (A), above. 

Response: The Circulation Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) illustrates that clear 
vision areas can be provided in compliance with the Section 4.177. 
 

8. Vertical clearance:   

a) See (.09) (A), above. 

Response: The Circulation Plan (See Notebook Section IIB) illustrates that vertical 
clearance can be provided in compliance with the Section 4.177. 
 

9. Interim Improvement Standard:  

a) See (.09) (A), above. 

Response: With Phase 3, an interim street section improvement will be provided 
on Grahams Ferry Road to create consistency with street improvements completed 
with earlier phases of SAP North and phased development of SAP South. Interim street 
section improvements are also planned on Tooze Road, to be provided by the City of 
Wilsonville.   

 
(.10)  SIDEWALK AND PATHWAY IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS 

A. The provisions of Section 4.178 shall apply within the Village zone. 

Response: As previously described, Phase 1 has been constructed and Phase 2 is in 
the first phase of construction. All sidewalks and pathways within Phase 3 of SAP North 
will be constructed in accordance with the standards of Section 4.178 and the Villebois 
Village Master Plan.  

 
(.11)  LANDSCAPING, SCREENING AND BUFFERING 

A. Except as noted below, the provisions of Section 4.176 shall apply in the Village 
zone: 

1. Streets in the Village zone shall be developed with street trees as described 
in the Community Elements Book. 

Response:  The Community Elements Book includes the Street Tree Master Plan for 
SAP – North. A copy of the approved SAP North Elements Book to be utilized with Phase 
3 of SAP North is provided in Notebook Section III. Phase 3 of SAP North will comply 
with the Street Tree Master Plan and the appropriate standards of Section 4.176. 

 
(.12)  MASTER SIGNAGE AND WAYFINDING 

A. All signage and wayfinding elements within the Village Zone shall be in 
compliance with the adopted Signage and Wayfinding Master Plan for the 
appropriate SAP.  



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 28 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

B. Provisions of Section 4.156.01 through 4.156.11 shall apply in the Village 
Zone except subsections 4.156.07 and 4.156.08. Portions of Section 
4.156.08 pertaining to Town Center may be used for comparison purposes 
to assess conceptually whether signage is allowed in an equitable manner 
throughout the City. Sections 4.156.01 through 4.156.11 are not to be used 
for direct comparison of sign standards. 

C. The Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan is the Master Sign Plan for the 
applicable SAP. 

D. In the event of conflict between applicable standards of Section 4.156.11 
and this subsection or the applicable Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan, 
this subsection and the Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan shall take 
precedence.  

E. The following signs may be permitted in the Village Zone, subject to the 
conditions of this Section.  

1. Site Signs 

a. Signs that capture attention establishing a sense of    arrival to 
Villebois and to areas within Villebois. 

2. Site Directional  

a. Permanent mounted signs informing and directing the public to 
major destinations within Villebois.  

3. Retail Signs 

a. Signs which identify the retail uses, including bulkhead signs, blade 
signs, temporary window signs   and permanent window signs 
designed to identify storefronts and provide information regarding 
the retail uses. 

4. Informational Signs 

a. Permanent mounted signs located along and adjacent to travel ways 
providing information to residents and visitors traveling within 
Villebois.  

5. Flags and Banners 

a. Permanent and temporary pole mounted signage intended to 
identify the graphic identity of Villebois and to identify seasonal 
events taking place within the Villebois Community.  

F. Dimensions and square footage of signs are defined in the Master Signage 
and Wayfinding Plan for the appropriate SAP.  

G. Signage locations are specified in the Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan 
for the appropriate SAP.  

H. The number of signs permitted is specified in the Master and Signage 
Wayfinding Plan for the appropriate SAP.  

Response:  A Secondary Site Identifier is located at the site entrance from Grahams 
Ferry Road. All signage within Phase 3 of SAP North will comply with the SAP – North 
Master Signage & Wayfinding Plan, a copy of which is provided in Notebook Section IIJ.   

 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 29 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

(.13)  DESIGN PRINCIPLES APPLYING TO THE VILLAGE ZONE 

A. The following design principles reflect the fundamental concepts, and 
support the objectives of the Villebois Village Master Plan, and guide the 
fundamental qualities of the built environment within the Village zone. 

1. The design of landscape, streets, public places and buildings shall 
create a place of distinct character. 

2. The landscape, streets, public places and buildings within individual 
development projects shall be considered related and connected 
components of the Villebois Village Master Plan. 

3. The design of buildings shall functionally relate to adjacent open 
space, gateways, street orientation, and other features as shown in 
the Villebois Village Master Plan. 

4. The design of buildings and landscape shall functionally relate to 
sunlight, climate, and topography in a way that acknowledges these 
conditions as particular to the Willamette Valley. 

5. The design of buildings shall incorporate regional architectural 
character and regional building practices. 

6. The design of buildings shall include architectural diversity and 
variety in its built form. 

7. The design of buildings shall contribute to the vitality of the street 
environment through incorporation of storefronts, windows, and 
entrances facing the sidewalk. 

8. The design of streets and public spaces shall provide for and 
promote pedestrian safety, connectivity and activity. 

9. The design of buildings and landscape shall minimize the visual 
impact of, and screen views of off-street parking from streets. 

10.  The design of exterior lighting shall minimize off-site impacts, yet 
enable functionality. 

Response: The SAP Drawings (see Notebook Section IIB), the Architectural Pattern 
Book (see Notebook Section IIH) and the Community Elements Book (see Notebook 
Section III) are intended to guide the Preliminary Development Plan and Final 
Development Plan applications to achieve a built environment that reflects the 
fundamental concepts and objectives of the Master Plan.  The Design Principles of 
Section (.13) have driven the development of the SAP Drawings. Phase 3 will work in 
concert with the Design Principles, the approved SAP North Architectural Pattern Book 
(see Notebook Section IIH), and the approved SAP North Community Elements Book 
(see Notebook Section III) to assure that the vision of Villebois is realized.  This report 
demonstrates that the components SAP North are consistent with the Goals, Policies 
and Implementation Measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan (see Section I of this 
report). 

 
(.14)  DESIGN STANDARDS APPLYING TO THE VILLAGE ZONE 

A. The following design standards implement the Design Principles found in 
(.13), above, and enumerate the architectural details and design 
requirements applicable to buildings and other features within the Village 
(V) zone.  The Design Standards are based primarily on the features, types, 
and details of the residential traditions in the Northwest, but are not 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 30 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

intended to mandate a particular style or fashion.  All development within 
the Village zone shall incorporate the following: 

1. Generally: 

a. Flag lots are not permitted. 

Response:  No flag lots are proposed.  Compliance with this standard will be 
assured during review of the PDP application. 
 

b. The minimum lot depth for a single-family dwelling with an 
accessory dwelling unit shall be 70 feet. 

Response:  The Architectural Standard Book standardizes lot depth of Medium, 
Standard, and Large Lots at lengths that exceed 70 feet (minimum of 71 ft. for Medium 
Lots, and 90 ft. for Standard Lots and Large Lots). Therefore, Medium, Standard, and 
Large Lots meet the minimum lot depth requirement for a single family dwelling with 
an accessory dwelling unit. However, no accessory dwelling units are proposed with 
this application.  
 

c. Village Center lots may have multiple front lines. 

Response:  SAP North is not located in the Village Center; therefore this standard 
does not apply. 
 

d. For Village Center lots facing two or more streets, two of the 
facades shall be subject to the minimum frontage width 
requirement. Where multiple buildings are located on one lot, the 
facades of all buildings shall be used to calculate the Minimum 
Building Frontage Width. 

Response:  SAP North is not located in the Village Center; therefore this standard 
does not apply. 
 

2. Building and site design shall include: 

a. Proportions and massing of architectural elements consistent with 
those established in an approved Architectural Pattern Book or 
Village Center Architectural Standards. 

b. Materials, colors and architectural details executed in a manner 
consistent with the methods included in an approved Pattern Book, 
Community Elements Book or approved Village Center Design. 

c. Protective overhangs or recesses at windows and doors. 

d. Raised stoops, terraces or porches at single-family dwellings. 

e. Exposed gutters, scuppers, and downspouts, or approved 
equivalent. 

f. The protection of existing significant trees as identified in an 
approved Community Elements Book. 

g. A landscape plan in compliance with Sections (.07) and  (.11), 
above. 

h. Building elevations of block complexes shall not repeat an elevation 
found on an adjacent block. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 31 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

i. Building elevations of detached buildings shall not repeat an 
elevation found on buildings on adjacent lots. 

j. A porch shall have no more than three walls. 

k. A garage shall provide enclosure for the storage of no more than 
three vehicles. 

Response: The above Design Standards are incorporated into the Architectural 
Pattern Book (see Notebook Section IIH), which is intended to identify architectural 
details and design features for use with SAP North. The above Design Standards are 
also incorporated into the Community Elements Book (see Notebook Section III), which 
is intended to identify important contributing elements that establish a coherent 
community identity.  Conformance with the Pattern Book and Community Elements 
Book will assure consistency with the Design Standards of subsection (.14).  Subsequent 
applications will review building and site design for consistency with the Pattern Book 
and Community Elements Book.   

The Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) conceptually depicts 
the landscape and program elements for the park/trail/open space areas of SAP North.  
The Tree Preservation Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) identifies and inventories 
existing trees, their condition, and whether they are proposed to be retained or 
removed. Phase 1 has been constructed and Phase 2 is in the first phase of 
construction. The concurrent Preliminary Development Plan and Final Development 
Plan applications for Phase 3 North advance these drawings with detailed analysis of 
site-specific development. 
 

3. Lighting and site furnishings shall be in compliance with the approved 
Architectural Pattern Book, Community Elements Book, or approved 
Village Center Architectural Standards. 

Response: A standardized design for lighting and site furnishings is included in the 
approved SAP North Community Elements Book (see Notebook Section III).  
Conformance with the Community Elements Book will assure consistency of lighting 
and site furnishings within Phase 3.  
 

4. Building systems, as noted in Tables V-3 and V-4 (Permitted Materials 
and Configurations), below, shall comply with the materials, 
applications and configurations required therein.  

Response: The criteria of Tables V-3 and V-4 (Permitted Materials & 
Configurations) are referenced in the SAP North Architectural Pattern Book (see 
Notebook Section IIH).  Subsequent building permit applications will review buildings 
for consistency with the criteria of Tables V-3 and V-4 and the Pattern Book.   
 
(.18)  VILLAGE ZONE DEVELOPMENT PERMIT PROCESS 

 C. Specific Area Plan (SAP) Application Procedures. 

1. Purpose – A SAP is intended to advance the design of the Villebois Village 
Master Plan.   

2. If not initiated by the City Council, Planning Commission or 
Development Review Board, an application for SAP approval shall be 
submitted by the Master Planner, and shall be accompanied by payment 
of a fee established in accordance with the City’s fee schedule. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 32 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

Response:  The proposed amendments to SAP North to add information for Phase 3, 
reflect approvals for Phase 1 and Phase 2, and identify future phase areas, is intended 
to advance the design of the Villebois Village Master Plan. The proposed SAP North 
amendment has been initiated by the Master Planner. The submittal of the SAP North 
amendment was accompanied by payment for a fee established by the City (see 
Notebook Section IC). 
 

D. SAP Application Submittal Requirements: 

1. Existing Conditions – An application for SAP approval shall specifically 
and clearly show the following features and information on maps, 
drawings, application form or attachments. The SAP shall be drawn at a 
scale of 1" = 100' (unless otherwise indicated) and may include multiple 
sheets depicting the entire SAP area, as follows: 

a) Date, north arrow and scale of drawing. 

b) The boundaries of the Specific Area Plan as may be refined and in 
keeping with the intent of the Villebois Village Master Plan’s 
conceptual location of SAPs. 

c) A vicinity map showing the location of the SAP sufficient to define 
its location and boundaries and Clackamas County Tax Assessor's 
map numbers of the tract boundaries. The vicinity map shall clearly 
identify the nearest cross streets. 

d) An aerial photograph (at 1" = 500') of the proposed site and 
properties within 50 feet of the SAP boundary. 

e) The size, dimensions, and zoning of each lot or parcel tax lot and 
Tax Assessor's map designations for the SAP and properties within 
50 feet of the SAP boundary. 

f) The location, dimensions and names, as appropriate, of existing and 
platted streets and alleys on and within 50 feet of the perimeter of 
the SAP, together with the location of existing and planned 
easements, sidewalks, bike routes and bikeways, trails, and the 
location of other important features such as section lines, section 
corners, and City boundary lines. The plan shall also identify all 
trees 6 inches and greater d.b.h. on the project site only. 

g) Contour lines 1shall relate to North American Vertical Datum of 
1988 and be at minimum intervals as follows: 

i) One (1) foot contours for slopes of up to five percent (5%); 
ii) Two (2) foot contours for slopes from six percent (6%) to twelve 

(12%); 
iii) Five (5) foot contours for slopes from twelve percent (12%) to 

twenty percent (20%).  These slopes shall be clearly identified, 
and 

iv) Ten (10) foot contours for slopes exceeding twenty percent 
(20%). 

h) The location of areas designated Significant Resource Overlay Zone 
(SROZ), and associated 25-foot Impact Areas, within the SAP and 
within 50 feet of the SAP boundary, as required by Section 4.139. 

Response: The attached drawings for SAP North (see Notebook Section IIB) provide 
the information required above, as applicable to this request. 
 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 33 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

2. SAP Development Information – The following information shall also be 
shown at a scale of 1" = 100' and may include multiple sheets depicting 
the entire SAP area. 

a) A site circulation plan showing the approximate location of 
proposed vehicular, bicycle and pedestrian access points and 
circulation patterns, and parking and loading areas. 

b) The approximate location of all proposed streets, alleys, other 
public ways, curb extensions, sidewalks, bicycle and pedestrian 
accessways, neighborhood commons, and easements on. The map 
shall identify existing subdivisions and development and un-
subdivided land ownerships adjacent to the proposed SAP site. 

c) The approximate projected location, acreage, type and density of 
the proposed development. For the residential portions of the SAP, 
the master developer shall identify: 1) the overall minimum and 
maximum number of housing units to be provided and 2) the overall 
minimum and maximum number of housing units to be provided, by 
housing type. 

d) The approximate locations of proposed parks, playgrounds or other 
outdoor play areas, outdoor common areas, usable open spaces, and 
natural resource areas or features proposed for preservation. This 
information shall include identification of areas proposed to be 
dedicated or otherwise preserved for public use and those open 
areas to be maintained and controlled by the owners of the 
property and their successors in interest for private use.  This 
information shall be provided in tabular form, and shall reconcile 
all such areas as may have been adjusted through prior approvals. 

e) A composite utility plan illustrating existing and proposed water, 
sanitary sewer, and storm drainage facilities necessary to serve the 
SAP. 

f) A grading plan illustrating existing and proposed contours as 
prescribed previously in this section. 

g) A development sequencing plan 

h) A utilities sequencing plan 

i) A bicycle and pedestrian circulation plan 

j) A tree removal and tree protection plan 

Response: The attached drawings (see Notebook Section IIB) provide the 
applicable information required above.   
 

k) A property owner list, as required by Section 4.035. 

Response: A mailing list for property owners within 250 feet of the subject site is 
provided with this application (see Notebook Section ID).   
 

l) At the applicant’s expense, the City shall have a Traffic Impact 
Analysis prepared, as required by Section 4.030(.02)(B), to review 
the anticipated traffic impacts of the proposed development.  This 
traffic report shall include an analysis of the impact of the SAP on 
the local street and road network, and shall specify the maximum 
projected average daily trips and maximum parking demand 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 34 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

associated with buildout of the entire SAP, and it shall meet 
Subsection 4.140(.09)(J)(2). 

Response: A copy of the Traffic Impact Analysis is provided in Notebook Section 
IID. 
 

m) A master signage and wayfinding plan 

Response: A copy of the approved SAP North Master Signage and Wayfinding is 
provided in Notebook Section IIJ. No amendments are proposed to the SAP North 
Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan.  
 

n)  A rainwater management program 

Response: See Notebook Section IIK for the Rainwater Management Book. No 
amendments are proposed to the Rainwater Management Book.   
 

3. Architectural Pattern Book – An Architectural Pattern Book shall be 
submitted to all development outside the Village Center Boundary, 
addressing the following: 

a) Illustrate areas within the Specific Area Plan covered by the 
Architectural Pattern Book.   

b) An explanation of how the Architectural Pattern Book is organized, 
and how it is to be used. 

c) Define specific standards for architecture, color, texture, 
materials, and other design elements. 

d) Include a measurement or checklist system to facilitate review of 
development conformity with the Architectural Pattern Book. 

e)  Include the following information for all row houses, duplexes, and 
single-family detached housing inside and outside of the Village 
Center, and for all other buildings outside of the Village Center, 
including Neighborhood Center(s) within the SAP: 

i.  Illustrate and describe the Regional and Climatic conditions 
affecting the SAP, and the proposed building types 
including: 

 Relationship of indoor and outdoor spaces. 

 Design for rainwater paths including roof forms, 
gutters, scuppers and downspouts. 

 Design for natural day-lighting. 

 Massing and materials 

f) Illustrate and describe examples of appropriate architectural styles 
and how they would be applied to specific land use types, including 
the definitions (i.e., specifications) of the elements, massing, and 
façade composition for each style including: 

i.  Architectural precedent and/or historic relevance of 
each style. 

ii.  Massing, proportions, and roof forms, including details. 
iii.  Doors, windows and entrances showing trim types and 

details. 
iv.  Porches, chimneys and unique features or details. 
v.  Materials, colors, light fixtures and accents. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 35 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

vi.  Downspouts and gutters. 

g) Illustrate and describe examples of appropriate exterior lighting 
types, and how their design: 

i.  Minimizes glare. 
ii. Minimizes emission of light beyond the boundaries of a 

development site. 
iii. Conserves energy. 
iv. Maintains nighttime safety, utility, security, and 

productivity. 
v. Minimizes the unnatural brightening of the night sky.  

h) A Master Fencing Program illustrating and describing the 
specifications and materials for fencing within the SAP.  

Response: The approved SAP - North Architectural Pattern Book (see Notebook 
Section IIH) includes information addressing all of the above items. No amendments 
to the Pattern Book are proposed. 

4. Community Elements Book – A Community Elements Book shall be 
submitted, including the following: 

a) Lighting Master Plan and Specifications, which address the 
requirements of Section 4.125(.18)(D)(3)(g) 

b) Lighting Master Plan and Specifications 
c) Site Furnishings Master Plan Specifications 
d) Curb Extensions Master Plan and Specifications 
e) Street Sign Master Plan and Specifications meeting Street Tree 

Master Plan and Specifications 
f) Post Box Specifications 
g) Bollard Specifications 
h) Trash Receptacle Specifications 
i) Recycling Receptacle Specifications 
j) Bench Specifications 
k) Bicycle Rack and Locker Specifications 
l) Playground Equipment Specifications 
m) Master Plan List and Specification 

Response: A standardized design for the above-listed elements is included in the 
approved SAP North Community Elements Book, a copy of which is provided in 
Notebook Section III. No amendments are proposed to the SAP North Community 
Elements Book. 

 
5. Rainwater Management Program – A Rainwater Management Program 

shall be submitted, addressing the following: 

a) Provision for opportunities to integrate water quality, detention, 
and infiltration into SAP’s natural features and proposed 
development areas; 

b) Provision of methods reducing the increase in runoff from the 90th 
percentile of all rain events and meet pre-development hydrology 
to the greatest extent practicable; 

c) Identification of guidelines and standards for the design of all 
Rainwater Management Systems within the SAP, that: 

i. Manage the ¼-inch, 24-hour rainfall event at pre-
development levels. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 36 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

ii. Mitigate 100% of impervious area from private areas 
within public areas and/or private areas (i.e. parks and 
open space areas, public street rights-of-way). 

iii. Mitigate 100% of impervious area from all public areas 
within public areas (i.e. parks and open space areas, 
public street rights-of-way). 

iv. Remove 70% of Total Suspended Solids (TSS) for ¼-inch, 
24-hour storm event for all development areas. 

v. Remove 65% of Phosphorus for ¼-inch, 24-hour storm 
event for all development areas. 

vi. Integrate compost-amended topsoil in all areas to be 
landscaped to help detain runoff, reduce irrigation and 
fertilizer needs, and create a sustainable, low-
maintenance landscape. 

vii. Treatment associated with stormwater runoff will be 
considered in meeting Total Suspended Solids (TSS) and 
Phosphorus removal requirements.   

Response: A standardized design for the above-listed elements is included in the 
approved Rainwater Management Book, a copy of which is provided in Notebook 
Section IIK. No amendments to the Rainwater Management Book are proposed.   

 
6. Master Signage and Wayfinding – A Master Signage and Wayfinding 

Plan shall be submitted with an SAP application and shall address 
the following: 

a) Illustrate the boundaries of the SAP covered by the Master Signage 
and Wayfinding Plan. 

b) An explanation of how the Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan is 
organized and how it will be used. 

c) Define specific standards for signage and wayfinding elements 
within the subject SAP. 

d) Define specifications for logo, typography, symbols and color 
palate.  

 
Response: A standardized design for the above-listed elements is included in the 
approved SAP North Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan, a copy of which is provided 
in Notebook Section IIJ. No amendments are proposed to the Master Signage and 
Wayfinding Plan.  

 
8. SAP Narrative Statement – A narrative statement shall be submitted 

addressing the following: 

a) A description, approximate location and timing of each 
proposed phase of development within the SAP. 

Response: The Introductory Narrative (see Section IA) includes a description and 
timing of the proposed development phasing for SAP North. This is further detailed in 
the concurrent PDP application for Phase 3. Additional phasing information will be 
required to be included with future PDP applications for subsequent phases.  

 
b) An explanation of how the proposed complies with the 

applicable standards of this section. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 37 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

Response: Section II of this report provides explanation of how the proposed 
development is consistent with the standards of the Village zone. 
 

c) A statement describing the impacts of the proposed 
development on natural resources within the SAP and how the 
proposed development complies with the applicable 
requirements of Chapter 4. 

Response: The Introductory Narrative (see Section IA) provides a description of the 
impacts of the proposed development on natural resources within Phase 3 of SAP 
North. Compliance with the applicable requirements of Chapter 4 is demonstrated in 
Section III of this report and within the attached SRIR Addendum (see Notebook Section 
IIF). 

d) Includes a description of the goals and objectives of the 
Villebois Village Master Plan and the Design Principles of the V 
Zone, and how they will be met for the specified land use area. 

Response: Section I of this report provides an explanation of how the proposed 
development is consistent with the Villebois Village Master Plan.  Section II of this 
report provides an explanation of how the proposed development will meet the Design 
Principles of the Village zone. 
 

e) Includes information demonstrating how the Pattern Book 
satisfies the goals and concepts of the Villebois Village Master 
Plan, the Design Principles and Design Standards of the Village 
zone. 

Response: Section I of this report provides an explanation of how the proposed 
Pattern Book amendments satisfy the goals and concepts of the Villebois Village 
Master Plan.  Section II of this report provides an explanation of how the proposed 
Pattern Book will meet the Design Principles and Design Standards of the Village zone. 
 

f) Where applicable, a written description of the proposal’s 
conformance with the Village Center Design Principles and 
Standards. 

Response: Specific Area Plan – North does not include areas within the Village 
Center.  Therefore, the above standard is not applicable to this application. 
 

E. SAP Approval Process and Review Criteria 

1. An application for SAP approval shall be reviewed using the following 
procedures: 

a) Notice of a public hearing before the Development Review Board 
regarding a proposed SAP shall be made in accordance with the 
procedures contained in Section 4.012. 

Response: In accordance with the procedures contained in Section 4.012, the City 
shall provide notice of a public hearing before the Development Review Board on the 
proposed amendment to SAP North.  
 

b) The Development Review Board may approve an application for SAP 
approval only upon finding the following approval criteria are met: 

1. That the proposed SAP: 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 38 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

a) Is consistent with the standards identified in this section. 

Response: Section II of this report provides an explanation of how the proposed 
amendment to SAP North is consistent with the standards of the Village zone. 
 

b) Complies with the applicable standards of the Planning and 
Land Development Ordinance, and 

Response: Section III of this report provides an explanation of how the proposed 
amendment is consistent with the applicable standards of the Planning and Land 
Development Ordinance. 
 

c) Is consistent with the Villebois Village Master Plan.  Those 
elements of the Village Master Plan with which the SAP must 
be consistent are the Plan’s Goals, Policies, and 
Implementation Measures, and, except as the text 
otherwise provides, Figures 1, 5, 6A, 7, 8, 9A and 9B. 

Response: Section I of this report provides an explanation of how the proposed SAP 
amendment with minor refinements is consistent with the Goals, Policies and 
Implementation Measures and Figures of the Villebois Village Master Plan, as 
applicable to this request. 
 

2. If the SAP is to be phased, as enabled by Section 
4.125(.18)(D)(2)(g) and (h), that the phasing schedule is 
reasonable. 

Response: The attached Phasing Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) depicts the 
phasing of SAP North. The Phasing Plan reflects the 2011 SAP North approval (DB11-
0024 et al) for Phase 1 and the PDP 2N (DB13-0020 et al) approval for Phase 2, and 
shows the proposed phasing for Phase 3. The subsequent phases of SAP North are 
identified as “Future Phases,” as additional information will be required for the Future 
Phases of SAP North.  
 

F. Refinements to Approved Villebois Village Master Plan 

1. In the process of reviewing a SAP for consistency with the Villebois 
Village Master Plan, the Development Review Board may approve 
refinements, but not amendments, to the Master Plan.  Refinements to 
the Villebois Village Master Plan may be approved by the Development 
Review Board as set forth in Section (.18)(F)(2), below.  Amendments 
to the Villebois Village Master Plan may be approved by the Planning 
Commission as set forth in Section 4.032(.01)(B). 

a) Refinements to the Master Plan are defined as: 

i. Changes to the street network or functional classification of 
streets that do not significantly reduce circulation system 
function or connectivity for vehicles, bicycles or pedestrians. 

Response: The proposed street system within SAP North is generally consistent 
with the Villebois Village Master Plan. The Master Plan shows SW Iceland Lane with a 
southwest to northeast orientation with alignment towards the child play feature in 
Open Space 2. With the proposed refinement, SW Iceland Lane is proposed to have a 
straight north-south orientation with alignment towards residential lots, with the 
location adjusted slightly to the east. Circulation towards the child play area is 
maintained with the provision of SW Rome Avenue to maintain an “eyes on the street” 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 39 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

effect for park safety. The purpose of the refinement to SW Iceland Lane allows for 
smaller residential blocks, which provides better pedestrian connectivity. This street 
refinement also allows lots to be oriented directly towards the west for greater sun 
exposure.  

Additionally, the Master Plan shows access from Grahams Ferry Road taken from SW 
Firenze Street (Palermo Street) and a continuous street with north-south alignment 
along the western portion of Phase 3 (Amsterdam Avenue/Belfast Lane). However, in 
order to retain the existing treed wetland in the southwest site corner, access to/from 
Grahams Ferry Road will occur with SW Oslo Street, and a portion of Amsterdam 
Avenue/Belfast Lane adjacent to the wetland is removed. With the proposed 
refinement, access from Grahams Ferry Road is taken from SW Oslo Street. Site 
circulation along the western portion of Phase 3 is maintained with the provision of 
SW Belfast Lane in the originally intended location, the continuation of SW Palermo 
Street along the northern edge of OS-2 in the planned location of Firenze Street, and 
a pedestrian path adjacent to the wetland to replace the removed portion of Belfast 
Lane, which connects SW Oslo Street and SW Palermo Street.   

These refinements do not affect the function of the circulation system or connectivity 
for vehicles, bicycles or pedestrians.   
 

ii. Changes to the nature or location of parks, trails or open space 
that to not significantly reduce function, usability, connectivity, 
or overall distribution or availability of these uses in the Specific 
Area Plan. 

Response: The Villebois Village Master Plan only shows a narrow portion of Open 
Space 2 along the southern edge of Phase 3, which is approximately 0.21 acres in size. 
The majority of OS-2 is located in Phase 2 of SAP North. The child play area shown on 
the north side of OS-2 is planned to be provided with Phase 3. The Master Plan does 
not show any additional parks and open spaces within Phase 3. The proposed additions 
to parks and open spaces in Phase 3, as depicted on the Master Plan, are described 
below. The areas of added parks and open spaces are underlined. 

 

 

Proposed Additions to Parks & Open Spaces 

With this amendment, a pocket park is added to the northwest corner of Phase 3. The 
pocket park added to Phase 3 provides a bicycle and pedestrian connection to adjacent 
streets, and recreational opportunities through the provision of a child play structure 
and a small lawn area. The size of the pocket park is approximately 0.14 acres. 

The Master Plan depicts the southwest corner as a portion of upland forest preserve, 
however this area is not identified as part of the City’s SROZ. An existing wetland not 
included in the City’s Natural Resource Inventory and not meeting the criteria for 
adding wetlands into the SROZ is also present in the southwestern site corner. An open 
space area has been added to the southwest site corner to retain the existing forested 
area and wetland. The additional open space area is approximately 0.98 acres in size. 

Linear greens/landscape tracts have been added throughout Phase 3, in areas 
between residential lots and the adjacent street or providing pedestrian connections. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 40 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

A total of 0.70 acres of linear greens/landscape tracts are provided with Phase 3 of 
SAP – North. 

The refinements described above add approximately 1.82 acres to the parks and open 
spaces in SAP North with the provision of landscape tracts/linear greens and an open 
space area not shown on the Master Plan. The total area of parks and open spaces 
proposed within Phase 3 is 2.03 acres. These refinements do not reduce function, 
usability, connectivity, or overall distribution or availability of these uses. 

iii. Changes to the nature or location of utilities or storm water 
facilities that do not significantly reduce the service or function 
of the utility or facility. 

Response: The utilities and storm water facilities within Phase 3 are generally 
consistent with the utilities and storm water facilities shown in the Villebois Village 
Master Plan.  The only refinements are in relation to the on-site water 
quality/rainwater facilities shown on the northern edge of Phase 3 along Tooze Road 
and on the western edge of Phase 3 along Grahams Ferry Road (except for the 
southwest site corner). In the southwest site corner, a bioretention cell is provided 
adjacent to the retained wetland and site entrance from Grahams Ferry Road. Due to 
site topography/elevation, it is not possible to provide stormwater/rainwater 
management facilities in the aforementioned locations. However, bioretention swales 
are added along SW Oslo Street and within the open space area along the southern 
site edge. The provision of bioretention cells within these areas of the site will ensure 
that this refinement does not cause reduction to the service or function of rainwater 
management.  
 

iv. Changes to the location or mix of land uses that do not 
significantly alter the overall distribution or availability of uses 
in the affected SAP. 

v. A change in density that does not exceed ten percent, provided 
such density change does not result in fewer than 2,300 
dwelling units in the Village. 

Response:   Figure 1 – Land Use Plan of the Master Plan shows a mix of smalls, 
standards and larges within Phase 3, with larger lots around the edges of the 
development and smaller lots concentrated in areas closer to the Village Center.   

Refinements to the mix and locations of land uses include fewer smalls and standards, 
and the addition of mediums, in the central portion of the site. Large lots are 
concentrated towards the edge of Phase 3, with more mediums and smalls approaching 
the Village Center, consistent with the land use pattern throughout Villebois.  

Residential land uses are shown on the Master Plan in the southwestern and 
northwestern site corners. A standard lot has been removed in the northwestern site 
corner in order to provide the pocket park. Additionally, residential lots are not 
provided in the southwestern site corner in order to retain the existing forested area 
and wetland. With this change to the location of land uses, the proposed refinement 
better integrates natural features into the site design and increases the overall area 
of parks and open spaces within Phase 3.  

Phase 3 of SAP North proposes a total of 84 residential units, including 32 smalls, 26 
mediums, 3 standards, and 23 larges.  As described above, the proposed refinements 
do not significantly alter the overall distribution or availability of uses within Phase 3 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 41 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

of SAP North. The table below compares the total number of units currently shown in 
the Master Plan - Figure 1 Land Use Table for SAP North and the total number of units 
with the proposed refinement, with comparison between the applicable land use 
categories.  

 

 
SAP North Unit 

Count within MP 
Proposed SAP 

North Unit Count 
% Change 

Medium/Standard/ 
Large/Estate 

162 174 +7.4% 

Small/Small 
Cottage/Row 

Houses/Neighborhood 
Apts. 

302 273 -9.6% 

TOTAL 464 447 -3.6% 

  

The proposed refinements do not exceed the 10% standard.  This proposal results in a 
total of 2,615 units within Villebois, which remains above the minimum density of 
2,300 units required to be obtained across Villebois. The proposed refinements comply 
with the quantifiable and qualitative standards set forth in this code section as they 
do not significantly alter the overall availability or distribution of uses.  

vi. Changes that are significant under the above definitions, but 
necessary to protect an important community resource or 
improve the function of collector or minor arterial roadways. 

b) As used herein, “significant” means: 

1) More than ten percent of any quantifiable matter, requirement, 
or performance measure, as specified in (.18)(F)(1)(a), above, 
or, 

2) That which negatively affects any important, qualitative feature 
of the subject, as specified in (.18) (F)(1)(a), above. 

Response:  The refinements described above are not “significant” according the 
to the above code definition.  The proposed refinements are not more than 10% of any 
quantifiable matter, requirement, or performance measure.  The proposed 
refinements do not negatively affect any important, qualitative feature of the project.    
 

2. Refinements meeting the above definition may be approved by the DRB 
upon the demonstration and finding that: 

a) The refinements will equally or better meet the Goals, Policies and 
Implementation Measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan. 

Response: As demonstrated with Section I of this report, SAP North, along with the 
proposed refinements for Phase 3, equally or better meets the Goals, Policies and 
Implementation Measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan. The refinements 
described above improve the overall aesthetic and functional use of the proposed plan 
by adding area and features to parks and open spaces system, better retaining on-site 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 42 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

natural features, integrating rainwater management systems into open space area, 
and continuing the land use pattern of Villebois.  

The proposed refinements will better meet the following Goals, Policies and 
Implementation Measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan. 

 Utilities - Storm Water Policy 3 - Villebois Village shall integrate rainwater 
management systems into parks and open space areas. 

The proposed refinements better integrate rainwater management systems into parks 
and open space areas through the provision of bioretention cells within the 
southwestern site corner adjacent to the retained wetland and within the OS-2 area 
along the southern edge of Phase 3.  

 Land Use, General Land Use Plan Goal – Villebois Village shall be a complete 
community that integrates land use, transportation, and natural resource 
elements to foster a unique sense of place and cohesiveness. 

Phase 3 plan better integrates transportation and natural resource elements with land 
uses and transportation through the addition of landscape tracts and the 
pedestrian/bicycle connection within the pocket park. Landscape areas contribute to 
a sense of place and green space throughout the development. The additional 
pedestrian/bicycle path provides connection from residential areas to the intersection 
of Grahams Ferry Road and Tooze Road through the pocket park area.  

 Land Use, Residential Neighborhood Housing Policy 1 – Each of the Villebois 
Village’s neighborhoods shall include a wide variety of housing options and 
shall provide home ownership options ranging from affordable housing to 
estate lots. 

Phase 3 adds to the variety of housing options within Villebois with the addition of 
medium lots. A greater proportion of lots in the smaller land use category, including 
affordable housing opportunities, is located within the Village Center. The proposed 
refinements are consistent with the land use pattern of Villebois, where larger lots 
are located around the edges of site development (e.g. along Grahams Ferry Road and 
Tooze Road), further from the higher density areas associated with the Village Center.  

 Land Use, Residential Neighborhood Housing Policy 10 - Natural features 
shall be incorporated into the design of each neighborhood to maximize their 
aesthetic character while minimizing impacts to said natural features. 

The proposed refinements retain the existing forested wetland in the southwest site 
corner through the addition of the open space tract. Retaining the treed wetland area 
adds to the aesthetic character of the neighborhood while protecting existing on-site 
natural features.   

In summary, the proposed refinements will better integrate green spaces throughout 
the PDP and add to the range of housing options in SAP North. As the proposed 
refinements will not compromise the project’s ability to comply with all other Goals, 
Policies and Implementation Measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan, they will 
equally meet all other Goals, Policies and Implementation Measures of the Villebois 
Village Master Plan. 
 

b) The refinement will not result in significant detrimental impacts to 
the environment or natural or scenic resources of the SAP and 
Village area, and 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 43 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

Response: As described throughout this report, and within the SRIR Addendum (see 
Section IIF), the proposed refinements will not result in significant detrimental 
impacts to the environment or natural or scenic resources within Phase 3 and the 
Village area. Furthermore, the addition of open space in the southwest corner will 
retain the existing forested wetland.  
 

c) The refinement will not preclude an adjoining or subsequent SAP 
area from development consistent with the Master Plan. 

Response: Phase 2 of SAP North is located immediately to the south of Phase 3 and 
was approved with PDP 2N (DB13-0020 et al). Future phases not yet approved are 
located to the east of Phase 3. This SAP amendment reflects the prior Phase 2 
approval, identifies future subsequent phasing, and is consistent with planned 
circulation patterns. Therefore, the proposed amendments will not preclude an 
adjoining or subsequent SAP area from development consistent with the Master Plan. 
  

3. Amendments are defined as changes to elements of the Master Plan not 
constituting a refinement.  Amendments to the Master Plan must follow 
the same procedures applicable to adoption of the Master Plan itself. 

Response: This application does not include any amendment to the Master Plan.  
All of the proposed changes fall within the definition of refinements and are addressed 
within this report. 

 

III. WILSONVILLE PLANNING & LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 

SECTION 4.139 SIGNIFICANT RESOURCE OVERLAY ZONE 

Section 4.139.01 Purpose 

The Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) is intended to be used with any underlying 
base zone as shown on the City of Wilsonville Zoning Map.  The purpose of the Significant 
Resource Overlay Zone is to implement the goals and policies of the Comprehensive Plan 
relating to natural resources, open space, environment, flood hazard, and the Willamette 
River Greenway.  In addition, the purposes of these regulations are to achieve compliance 
with the requirements of the Metro Urban Growth Management Functional Plan (UGMFP) 
relating to significant natural resources.  It is not the intent of this ordinance to prevent 
development where the impacts to significant resources can be minimized or mitigated. 

Section 4.139.02 Where These Regulations Apply 

The regulations of this Section apply to the portion of any lot or development site, which 
is within a Significant Resource Overlay Zone and its associated “Impact Areas.”  The text 
provisions of the Significant Resource Overlay Zone ordinance take precedence over the 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone maps.  The Significant Resource Overlay Zone is 
described by boundary lines shown on the City of Wilsonville Significant Resource Overlay 
Zone Map.  For the purpose of implementing the provisions of this Section, the Wilsonville 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map is used to determine whether a Significant Resource 
Impact Report (SRIR) is required.  Through the development of an SRIR, a more specific 
determination can be made of possible impacts on the significant resources. 

Unless otherwise exempted by these regulations, any development proposed to be located 
within the Significant Resource Overlay Zone and/or Impact Area must comply with these 
regulations.  Where the provisions of this Section conflict with other provisions of the City 
of Wilsonville Planning and Land Development Ordinance, the more restrictive shall apply. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 44 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

The SROZ represents the area within the outer boundary of all inventoried significant 
natural resources.  The Significant Resource Overlay Zone includes all land identified and 
protected under Metro’s UGMFP Title 3 Water Quality Resource Areas, as currently 
configured, significant wetlands, riparian corridors, and significant wildlife habitat that is 
inventoried and mapped on the Wilsonville Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map. 

Response: The Existing Conditions Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) shows that 
Phase 3 is predominately pasture land, with two (2) wetland areas not identified on 
the City’s Natural Resource Inventory, including a treed wetland in the southwest site 
corner, and a narrow portion of SROZ area along the southern edge of the site. 

The Park/Open Space/Pathways Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) shows how the design 
of Phase 3 incorporates natural features to maximize their aesthetic character and 
minimize impacts to natural features. The existing forested wetland in the southwest 
site corner and the SROZ area along the southern site edge are retained in separate 
open space tracts.   

The narrow portion of upland forest preserve along the southern edge of Phase 3 is 
designated as SROZ on the City of Wilsonville Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map. 
Impacts to the SROZ were submitted and approved with PDP 2N (DB13-0020 et al). An 
addendum to the SRIR report has been prepared to evaluate updated impacts to the 
SROZ (see Notebook Section IIF). The SRIR addendum also describes the previously 
approved mitigation plan, which includes a combination of enhancement and creation 
that more than exceeds requirements for mitigation. The SROZ Plan (see Notebook 
Section IIB) depicts updated SROZ impacts within Phase 3. This application includes a 
request for approval of Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) Addendum for Phase 
3.  

Section 4.139.04 Uses and Activities Exempt from These Regulations 

A request for exemption shall be consistent with the submittal requirements listed under 
Section 4.139.06(.01)(B – I), as applicable to the exempt use and activity. 

(.08) The construction of new roads, pedestrian or bike paths into the SROZ in order to 
provide access to the sensitive area or across the sensitive area, provided the 
location of the crossing is consistent with the intent of the Wilsonville 
Comprehensive Plan.  Roads and paths shall be constructed so as to minimize and 
repair disturbance to existing vegetation and slope stability. 

(.10) The removal of invasive vegetation such as Himalayan Blackberry, English Ivy, 
Poison Oak, Scots (Scotch) Broom or as defined as invasive in the Metro Native Plant 
List. 

(.11) The planting or propagation of any plant identified as native on the Metro Native 
Plant List.  See Wilsonville Planning Division to obtain a copy of this list. 

Response:  As noted above, Phase 3 includes a narrow portion of OS-2 designated 
as SROZ along the southern site edge. Phase 3 includes a soft surface nature trail 
connection to OS-2 to the south. The majority of OS-2 is located within Phase 2. Soft-
surface nature trails meandering through the forest and benches, located within OS-
2, will be developed with Phase 3.  Nature trails and benches at the north edge of OS-
2 will be established as previously identified with the approved SRIR (DB13-0020 et 
al). Mitigation for impacts to the SROZ was also previously approved, including removal 
of invasive vegetation and mitigation plantings as described in the SRIR Addendum 
(see Notebook Section IIF). These elements are exempt from the SROZ regulations as 
described by Section 4.139.04.  



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 45 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

 
Section 4.139.05 Significant Resource Overlay Zone Map Verification.  

The map verification requirements described in this Section shall be met at the time an 
applicant requests a building permit, grading permit, tree removal permit, land division 
approval, or other land use decision. Map verification shall not be used to dispute whether 
the mapped Significant Resource Overlay Zone Boundary is a significant natural resource. 
Map refinements are subject to the requirements of Section 4.139.10(.01)(D). 

Response:  Verification of SROZ Boundary was completed with PDP 2N approval. This 
SAP Amendment remains consistent with the approved SROZ Boundary Verification.  
 

Section 4.139.06 Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) and Review Criteria.  

(.02) Application requirements for a Standard SRIR.  The following requirements must be 
prepared and submitted as part of the SRIR evaluation for any development not 
included in paragraph A above: 

Response: A standard SRIR for was submitted with PDP 2N (DB13-0020 et al) in 
compliance with the applicable application requirements of Section 4.139.06 (.02). 
The approved SRIR report included impacts in Phase 2 and Phase 3, and reflected 
approved impacts in Phase 1. A SRIR addendum prepared by SWCA Environmental 
Consultants is provided in Notebook Section IIF, which reviews updated impacts for 
Phase 3. Future Phases will be required to address SROZ standards through a SAP 
Amendment. 

The impact area of 4,610 SF for the child play area and the impact area of 325 SF for 
site improvements in Phase 3 were approved with PDP 2N. This amendment, as 
described in the attached SRIR Addendum, adds two impact areas (1,988 SF and 113 
SF in size, respectively) for site improvements not previously accounted for in the 
approved SRIR Report. Impacts to the ALCU continue to be less than 5% and mitigation 
continues to exceed required amounts.  
 
(.03) SRIR Review Criteria.  In addition to the normal Site Development Permit 

Application requirements as stated in the Planning and Land Development 
Ordinance, the following standards shall apply to the issuance of permits requiring 
an SRIR.  The SRIR must demonstrate how these standards are met in a manner that 
meets the purposes of this Section. 

 
A. Except as specifically authorized by this code, development shall be 

permitted only within the Area of Limited Conflicting Use (see definition) 
found within the SROZ; 

Response: Proposed activities are only within the Area of Limited Conflicting Use 
within the SROZ. 
 

B. Except as specifically authorized by this code, no development is permitted 
within Metro’s Urban Growth Management Functional Plan Title 3 Water 
Quality Resource Areas, boundary; 

Response:  No wetland within Phase 3 is a Title 3 Water Quality Resource Area.   
 

C. No more than five (5) percent of the Area of Limited Conflicting Use (see 
definition) located on a property may be impacted by a development 
proposal.  On properties that are large enough to include Areas of Limited 
Conflicting Use on both sides of a waterway, no more than five (5) percent 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 46 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

of the Area of Limited Conflicting Use on each side of the riparian corridor 
may be impacted by a development proposal.  This condition is cumulative 
to any successive development proposals on the subject property such that 
the total impact on the property shall not exceed five (5) percent; 

Response: The Area of Limited Conflicting Use within the site totals 430,988 
square feet.  Proposed impacts within the Area of Limited Conflicting Use are 4.3%, 
which is less than the 5% allowed.  The proposal complies with the above standard.  
 

D. Mitigation of the area to be impacted shall be consistent with Section 
4.139.06 of this code and shall occur in accordance with the provisions of 
this Section; 

Response: As described within the attached SRIR addendum (see Section IIF), the 
proposed mitigation continues to comply with Section 4.139.06. 
 

E. The impact on the Significant Resource is minimized by limiting the degree 
or magnitude of the action, by using appropriate technology or by taking 
affirmative steps to avoid, reduce or mitigate impacts. 

Response: Proposed impacts have been limited to the extent feasible to allow 
development of Phase 3 while also protecting the portion of the upland forest preserve 
designated as SROZ along the southern site edge.  This is demonstrated with the 
attached plans (see Section IIB) and the attached SRIR addendum (see Section IIF). 
 

F. The impacts to the Significant Resources will be rectified by restoring, 
rehabilitating, or creating enhanced resource values within the 
“replacement area” (see definitions) on the site or, where mitigation is not 
practical on-site, mitigation may occur in another location approved by the 
City. 

Response:  The proposed impacts to the on-site significant resources will be rectified 
with the previously approved mitigation area, which exceeds required amounts.  The 
approved mitigation area is identified on the SROZ Plan in the attached drawings (see 
Section IIB) and described within the attached SRIR Addendum (see Section IIF). 

 
G. Non-structural fill used within the SROZ area shall primarily consist of 

natural materials similar to the soil types found on the site; 

Response:   Any non-structural fill within the SROZ area will consist primarily of 
natural materials similar to the soil types found on the site. 
 

H. The amount of fill used shall be the minimum required to practically 
achieve the project purpose. 

Response: Fill used within the SROZ area will be limited to the minimum amount 
necessary to achieve the intended purpose. 
 

I. Other than measures taken to minimize turbidity during construction, 
stream turbidity shall not be significantly increased by any proposed 
development or alteration of the site. 

Response:  Proposed encroachments within the SROZ area will have no impact on 
turbidity as they do not affect any streams. 
 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 47 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

J. Appropriate federal and state permits shall be obtained prior to the 
initiation of any activities regulated by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 
and the Oregon Division of State lands in any jurisdictional wetlands or 
water of the United States or State of Oregon, respectively. 

Response:   The appropriate federal and state permits will be obtained prior to start 
of site work. 
 
Section 4.139.07 Mitigation Standards 

Response: A mitigation plan was approved with PDP 2N, as described in the SRIR 
Addendum (see Notebook Section IIF).  Mitigation will continue to occur in compliance 
with the requirements of Section 4.139.06. 

 
Section 4.139.08 Activities Requiring a Class I Administrative Review Process 

Response: No Class I activities are proposed with this development proposal. 

 
Section 4.139.09 Activities Requiring a Class II Administrative Review Process 

(.01) The review of any action requiring an SRIR except: 
A. Activities and uses exempt under this Section; 
B. Adjustments permitted as a Class I Administrative Review; 
C. Adjustments permitted as part of a Development Review Board public hearing 

process. 

Response: Table 1 – Summary of Proposed SROZ Encroachments, within the 
attached SRIR addendum (see Notebook Section IIF), describes the proposed activities 
that require the SRIR, including a child play area and grading for a portion of a 
residential street (SW Palermo Street) and bioretention cell(s). The SROZ Plan (see 
Notebook Section IIB) shows the approved and updated impact areas.   
 

SECTION 4.156 SIGN REGULATIONS 

Response: A copy of the approved SAP North Master Signage & Wayfinding Plan, to 
be utilized with Phase 3, is provided in Notebook Section IIJ. No amendments are 
proposed to the SAP North Master Signage & Wayfinding Plan.  

 

SECTION 4.171 GENERAL REGULATIONS – PROTECTION OF NATURAL FEATURES & 

OTHER RESOURCES 

(.02) General Terrain Preparation 

A. All developments shall be planned designed, constructed and maintained with 
maximum regard to natural terrain features and topography, especially hillside 
areas, floodplains, and other significant land forms. 

B. All grading, filling and excavating done in connection with any development 
shall be in accordance with the Uniform Building Code. 

C. In addition to any permits required under the Uniform Building Code, all 
developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained so as to: 

1. Limit the extent of disturbance of soils and site by grading, excavation and 
other land alterations. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 48 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

2. Avoid substantial probabilities of:  (1) accelerated erosion; (2) pollution, 
contamination or siltation of lakes, rivers, streams and wetlands; (3) 
damage to vegetation; (4) injury to wildlife and fish habitats. 

3. Minimize the removal of trees and other native vegetation that stabilize 
hillsides, retain moisture, reduce erosion, siltation and nutrient runoff, and 
preserve the natural scenic character. 

Response: The SAP Drawings (see Notebook Section IIB) demonstrate that SAP 
North and Phase 3 has been designed with maximum regard to natural terrain features 
and topography. Phase 1 has been constructed and Phase 2 is in the first phase of 
construction. Future Phases will be required to submit additional information and 
demonstrate compliance with these standards through an SAP Amendment. No hillside 
areas or floodplains are located within Phase 3.  Phase 3 includes two (2) wetland 
areas that have not been identified on the City’s Natural Resource Inventory or that 
meet the criteria for inclusion in the SROZ, including a treed wetland in the southwest 
site corner. These areas are illustrated by the Existing Conditions plan sheet (see 
Notebook Section IIB). The treed wetland in the southwest site corner is retained 
within an open space area.  The Tree Preservation Plan shows proposed tree 
preservation and the Grading Plan conceptually shows proposed grading within the 
subject area.  All subsequent grading, filling, and excavating will be done in 
accordance with the Uniform Building Code.  Disturbance of soils and removal of trees 
and other native vegetation will be limited to the extent necessary to construct the 
proposed development.  Construction will occur in a manner that avoids substantial 
probabilities of accelerated erosion; pollution, contamination or siltation of lakes, 
rivers, streams and wetlands; damage to vegetation; and injury to wildlife and fish 
habitats.   
 
(.03) Hillsides:  All developments proposed on slopes greater than 25% shall be limited 

to the extent that: 

Response: Phase 3 of SAP – North does not include any areas of slopes in excess of 
25%.  Therefore, this standard does not apply to this application. 
 
(.04) Trees and Wooded Areas. 

A. All developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and maintained so 
that: 

1. Existing vegetation is not disturbed, injured, or removed prior to site 
development and prior to an approved plan for circulation, parking and 
structure location. 

2. Existing wooded areas, significant clumps/groves of trees and vegetation, 
and all trees with a diameter at breast height of six inches or greater shall 
be incorporated into the development plan and protected wherever 
feasible. 

3. Existing trees are preserved within any right-of-way when such trees are 
suitably located, healthy, and when approved grading allows. 

B. Trees and woodland areas to be retained shall be protected during site 
preparation and construction according to City Public Works design 
specifications, by: 

1. Avoiding disturbance of the roots by grading and/or compacting activity. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 49 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

2. Providing for drainage and water and air filtration to the roots of trees 
which will be covered with impermeable surfaces. 

3. Requiring, if necessary, the advisory expertise of a registered 
arborist/horticulturist both during and after site preparation. 

4. Requiring, if necessary, a special maintenance, management program to 
insure survival of specific woodland areas of specimen trees or individual 
heritage status trees. 

Response: The Tree Preservation Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) depicts existing 
trees and identifies and ranks trees to be retained or removed in SAP North. The Tree 
Preservation Plan reflects previous approvals for Phase 1 and Phase 2 and proposed 
tree preservation and removal for Phase 3. Additional information will be required for 
Future Phases through a SAP Amendment.  

A Tree Report (see Notebook Section IIG) has been prepared by Morgan Holen & 
Associates, LLC that inventories and evaluates the existing trees in Phase 3. The Tree 
Report includes a tree inventory indicating the common and species names, DBH, 
condition, and recommended treatment of on-site trees in Phase 3.  

The majority of Phase 3 is pasture with trees concentrated around existing residential 
dwellings, the northwestern site corner, and the retained wetland located in the 
southwestern site corner. Existing trees within these areas are preserved to the extent 
feasible. The locations of residential lots, street improvements, alleys, and utilities 
were generally planned within existing pasture areas. Trees located within the 
wetland area have not been inventoried and will be retained within an open space 
tract. No tree removal is proposed within the SROZ area. 

Trees and forested areas to be preserved will be protected during site preparation and 
construction in accordance with City Public Works Design specifications and Section 
4.171(.04). 

 

(.05) High Voltage Power line Easements and Rights of Way and Petroleum Pipeline 
Easements: 

A. Due to the restrictions placed on these lands, no residential structures shall be 
allowed within high voltage powerline easements and rights of way and 
petroleum pipeline easements, and any development, particularly residential, 
adjacent to high voltage powerline easements and rights of way and petroleum 
pipeline easement shall be carefully reviewed. 

B. Any proposed non-residential development within high voltage powerline 
easements and rights of way and petroleum pipeline easements shall be 
coordinated with and approved by the Bonneville Power Administration, 
Portland General Electric Company or other appropriate utility, depending on 
the easement or right of way ownership. 

Response: Phase 3 does not contain any high voltage powerline or petroleum 
pipeline easements or rights of way.   

 
(.06) Hazards to Safety:  Purpose: 

A. To protect lives and property from natural or human-induced geologic or 
hydrologic hazards and disasters. 

B. To protect lives and property from damage due to soil hazards. 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 50 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

C. To protect lives and property from forest and brush fires. 

D. To avoid financial loss resulting from development in hazard areas. 

Response: Development of the subject area will occur in a manner that minimizes 
potential hazards to safety. 

 
(.07) Standards for Earth Movement Hazard Areas: 

A. No development or grading shall be allowed in areas of land movement, slump 
or earth flow, and mud or debris flow, except under one of the following 
conditions. 

Response: Development of the subject area will occur in a manner that minimizes 
potential hazards to safety.  No earth movement hazard areas have been identified 
within the subject area. 
 
(.08) Standards for Soil Hazard Areas: 

A. Appropriate siting and design safeguards shall insure structural stability and 
proper drainage of foundation and crawl space areas for development on land 
with any of the following soil conditions:  wet or high water table; high shrink-
swell capability; compressible or organic; and shallow depth-to-bedrock. 

B. The principal source of information for determining soil hazards is the State 
DOGAMI Bulletin 99 and any subsequent bulleting and accompanying maps.  
Approved site-specific soil studies shall be used to identify the extent and 
severity of the hazardous conditions on the site, and to update the soil hazards 
database accordingly. 

Response: Development of the subject area will occur in a manner that minimizes 
potential hazards to safety.  No soil hazard areas have been identified within the 
subject area. 
 
(.09) Historic Protection:  Purpose: 

A. To preserve structures, sites, objects, and areas within the City of 
Wilsonville having historic, cultural, or archaeological significance. 

Response: A Historic and Cultural Resources Inventory for Phase 3 of SAP North is 
provided in Notebook Section IIE.  

 

SECTION 4.172 FLOOD PLAIN REGULATIONS 

Response: Phase 3 of SAP – North does not include any areas impacted by a 100-
year flood plain.  Therefore, the standards of Section 4.172 are not applicable. 

 

SECTION 4.176 LANDSCAPING, SCREENING & BUFFERING 

Response: The standards of Section 4.176 (Landscaping, Screening & Buffering) are 
not directly applicable to review of Phase 3 of SAP – North, since development is not 
proposed with the requested SAP amendment.  Compliance of a proposed development 
phase(s) with the applicable landscaping, screening and buffering standards is 
addressed the associated Preliminary Development Plan and Final Development Plan 
(Site Design Review), as applicable to the respective review stage.   

 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 51 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

SECTION 4.178 SIDEWALK & PATHWAY STANDARDS 

(.01) Sidewalks.  All sidewalks shall be concrete and a minimum of five (5) feet in width, 
except where the walk is adjacent to commercial storefronts.  In such cases, they 
shall be increased to a minimum of ten (10) feet in width. 

(.02) Pathways 

A. Bicycle facilities shall be provided using a bicycle lane as the preferred facility 
design.  The other facility designs described in the Public Works Standards shall 
only be used if the bike land standard cannot be constructed due to physical or 
financial constraints. The order of preference for bicycle facilities is: 

1. Bike lane. 

2. Shoulder bikeway. 

3. Shared roadway.  

(.03) Bicycle and pedestrian paths shall be located to provide a reasonably direct 
connection between likely destinations. A reasonable direct connection is a route 
which minimizes out-of-direction travel considering terrain, physical barriers, and 
safety. The objective of this standard is to achieve the equivalent of the ¼ mile 
grid of routes. 

 
(.04) Pathway Clearance.  

A. Vertical and horizontal clearance for bicycle and pedestrian paths is specified 
in the Public Works Standards. 

Response: The SAP Drawings (see Notebook Section IIB) depict proposed sidewalks 
and pathways as applicable to Phase 3 in compliance with Figures 9A and 9B – Street 
& Trail Sections of the Villebois Village Master Plan. 

 

SECTION 4.179 MIXED SOLID WASTE & RECYCLABLES STORAGE IN NEW MULTI-UNIT 

RESIDENTIAL & NON-RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS 

(.01) All site plans for multi-unit residential and non-residential buildings submitted to 
the Wilsonville Planning Commission for approval shall include adequate storage 
space for mixed solid waste and source separated recyclables. 

Response: Proposed uses identified within Phase 3 of SAP – North do not include 
multi-unit residential buildings.  This section is not applicable to this request. 

 

SECTION 4.600 TREE PRESERVATION AND PROTECTION 

Section 4.600.50. Application For Tree Removal Permit 

(.02) Time of Application.  Application for a Tree Removal Permit shall be made before 
removing or transplanting trees, except in emergency situations as provided in WC 
4.600.40 (1)(B) above.  Where the site is proposed for development necessitating 
site plan or plat review, application for a Tree Removal Permit shall be made as 
part of the site development application as specified in this subchapter. 

Section 4.160.00 Application Review Procedure 

(.03) Reviewing Authority. 

B. Type C.  Where the site is proposed for development necessitating site plan 
review or plat approval by the Development Review Board, the Development 
Review Board shall be responsible for granting or denying the application for a 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 52 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

Tree Removal Permit, and that decision may be subject to affirmance, reversal 
or modification by the City Council if subsequently reviewed by the Council. 

Response: This request is for amendment to SAP North. No construction activities 
or tree removal are proposed with this application. However, the application materials 
provided with this SAP Amendment include a Tree Preservation Plan (see Notebook 
Section IIB) and a Tree Report (See Notebook Section IIG), which together depict the 
proposed tree preservation and removal for Phase 3 and the approved tree 
preservation and removal for Phase 1 and Phase 2. Additional information will be 
required for Future Phases through a SAP Amendment.  An application for a Type C - 
Tree Preservation/Removal Plan is included in the concurrent Preliminary 
Development Plan application for Phase 3. Compliance with Sections 4.610.10 (.01) is 
described below, demonstrating the feasibility of the proposed Tree Preservation 
Plan.  
 
Section 4.610.10.  Standards for Tree Removal, Relocation or Replacement 

(.01) Except where an application is exempt, or where otherwise noted, the following 
standards shall govern the review of an application for a Type A, B, C or D Tree Removal 
Permit: 

A. Standard for the Significant Resource Overlay Zone.  The standard for tree 
removal in the Significant Resource Overlay Zone shall be that removal or 
transplanting of any tree is not inconsistent with the purposes of this chapter. 

B. Preservation and Conservation.  No development application shall be denied 
solely because trees grow on the site.  Nevertheless, tree preservation and 
conservation as a principle shall be equal in concern and importance as other 
design principles. 

C. Development Alternatives. Preservation and conservation of wooded areas and 
trees shall be given careful consideration when there are feasible and 
reasonable location alternatives and design options on-site for proposed 
buildings, structures or other site improvements. 

D. Land Clearing.  Where the proposed activity requires land clearing, the clearing 
shall be limited to designated street rights-of-way and areas necessary for the 
construction of buildings, structures or other site improvements. 

E. Residential Development.  Where the proposed activity involves residential 
development, residential units shall, to the extent reasonably feasible, be 
designed and constructed to blend into the natural setting of the landscape. 

F. Compliance with Statutes and Ordinances.  The proposed activity shall comply 
with all applicable statutes and ordinances. 

G. Relocation or Replacement.  The proposed activity shall include necessary 
provisions for tree relocation or replacement, in accordance with WC 4.620.00, 
and the protection of those trees that are not to be removed in accordance 
with WC 4.620.10. 

H. Limitation.  Tree removal or transplanting shall be limited to instances where 
the applicant has provided completed information as required by this chapter 
and the reviewing authority determines that removal or transplanting is 
necessary based on the criteria of this subsection. 

1. Necessary for Construction.  Where the applicant has shown to the 
satisfaction of the reviewing authority that removal or transplanting is 
necessary for the construction of a building, structure or other site 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 53 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

improvement and that there is no feasible and reasonable location 
alternative or design option on-site for a proposed building, structure or 
other site improvement; or a tree is located too close to an existing or 
proposed building or structures, or creates unsafe vision clearance. 

2. Disease, Damage, or Nuisance, or Hazard.  Where the tree is diseased, 
damaged, or in danger of falling, or presents a hazard as defined in WC 
6.208, or is a nuisance as defined in WC 6.200 it seq., or creates unsafe 
vision clearance as defined in this code. 

3. Interference.  Where the tree interferes with the healthy growth of other 
trees, existing utility service or drainage, or utility work in a previously 
dedicated right-of-way, and it is not feasible to preserve the tree on site. 

4. Other.  Where the applicant shows that tree removal or transplanting is 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

Response: The Tree Preservation Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) reflects the 
approved tree preservation and removal within Phase 1 and Phase 2. Additional 
information for tree preservation and removal will be required for Future Phases, to 
be included with a SAP Amendment.   

The Tree Preservation Plan (see Notebook Section IIB) depicts existing trees and 
identifies and ranks these trees to be retained or removed within Phase 3.  A Tree 
Report prepared by Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC inventories and evaluates the 
existing trees (see Notebook Section IIG) in Phase 3.  The Tree Report includes a tree 
inventory, which indicates the tree common name and species name, DBH, condition, 
and recommended treatment (i.e. recommendation to retain or remove). Specific 
Methodology used to determine DBH and tree ratings is described in the Tree Report 
(see Notebook Section IIG).   

The majority of Phase 3 of SAP North is pasture with trees concentrated around 
existing residential dwellings, the northwestern site corner, and the retained wetland 
located in the southwestern site corner. The locations of residential lots, street 
improvements, alleys, and utilities were generally planned within existing pasture 
areas to retain existing trees to the extent possible. The treed wetland in the 
southwest site corner is retained within an open space tract. Existing trees are 
retained within residential lots and landscape tracts where feasible. Furthermore, no 
tree removal is proposed within the SROZ area along the southern edge of Phase 3. 

No trees with an “Important” rating are present within the site. The majority of trees 
within Phase 3 have a rating of Poor (19.5%) or Moderate (36.6%), and approximately 
43.9% of trees have a “Good” rating. Efforts have been undertaken in the site layout 
to retain as many “Good” trees as practicable. Of the trees proposed for removal, 
trees are primarily proposed for removal because of poor or hazardous tree condition 
(65%) or construction (35%). Additional description of the proposed Tree Preservation 
Plan is provided in the Tree Report prepared by the project Arborist. 

The applicable standards for a Type C Tree Removal Permit/Plan for tree removal are 
addressed in detail with the concurrent Preliminary Development Plan application 
materials. Trees and forested areas that are preserved will be protected during site 
preparation and construction in accordance with City Public Works design 
specifications and Section 4.171(.04).   

 



 
AMENDMENT OF SPECIFIC AREA PLAN – NORTH  PAGE 54 
Supporting Compliance Report  March 31, 2014 

IV. CONCLUSION 

This Supporting Compliance Report demonstrates compliance with the applicable 
Goals, Policies and Implementation Measures of the Villebois Village Master Plan, the 
applicable requirements of the Village zone, and other applicable requirements of the 
City of Wilsonville Planning & Land Development Ordinance. Therefore, the Applicant 
requests approval of the SAP North Amendment and SRIR Addendum Review.   

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IIB 

Reduced Drawings 



Cover Sheet

CITY OF WILSONVILLE, OREGON

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14



PA
LE

RM
O

  S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP

SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

SW COLLINA LN

SW VALENCIA LN VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

DUNDEE
 L

N

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO  ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

Phasing
Plan

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14



SW DAVOS LN

SW ST. MORITZ LP

SW MONT BLANC ST

TAX LOT

2995

TAX LOT

2922

TAX LOT

2916

TAX LOT

1200

TAX LOT

1205

TAX LOT

1202

TAX LOT

1203

TAX LOT

1101

TAX LOT

1100

TAX LOT

900

TAX LOT

800

TAX LOT

700

TAX LOT

1600

TAX LOT

1500

TAX LOT

1300

TAX LOT

1591

TAX LOT

295

EXISTING WETLAND
PROPOSED TO BE FILLED

SROZ BOUNDARY

SROZ IMPACT LIMITS

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED

EXISTING WETLAND
PROPOSED TO BE FILLED

EXISTING EDGE
OF PAVEMENT

EXISTING BUILDING
TYP.

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Existing
Conditions



EXISTING WETLAND

SROZ BOUNDARY

SROZ IMPACT LIMITS

EXISTING WETLAND

EXISTING WETLAND

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Aerial
Photograph



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP

SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

SEE FIGURE 1

VILLEBOIS VILLAGE

MASTER PLAN FOR

LAND USE ON

FORMER SCHOOL

SITE.

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Land Use
Key



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

PALERMO ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

2STD

3SM, 4M

4SM, 2M

7S
M

7R
H

4S
M

, 
2M

10
RH

8RH

10RH

3SM, 2M

5SM, 6M

5SM, 6M

6SM, 4M

4SM, 2M

1S
M

, 
2M

8RH 9RH

4S
M

, 
1M

3S
M

, 
2M

3S
M

, 
1M

2S
M

, 
2M

10
ST

D

5S
M

5SM

5SM 6SM

6SM

5S
M

4M

7M 7M

5M

6M 4M

7L, 3STD

8L

3SM
, 1M

5SC

6SC
5SC

3S
M

, 
1M

6SC

5SC 18SM

11SC

1S
C

6SM

2S
M

5S
M

2E, 8L

4E
3E, 1L

5E

3E, 7L

3SM
, 1M

3SM
, 1M

3SM
, 1M

6L 3L

3S
M

, 
1M

4S
M

4S
M

LG

OS

OS

SEE FIGURE 1
VILLEBOIS VILLAGE
MASTER PLAN FOR

LAND USE ON FORMER
SCHOOL SITE.

LG
LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG
LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG LG

LG

LG
LG

LG

LG

PP
RP

RP

RP

RP

RP

RP

PP

LG

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Land Use
Plan



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP

SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

VERDUN LOOP

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Circulation
Plan



Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Street
Sections



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP

SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

OOOOO

O O O

OOOO

O

O

O

O

LG

OS

LG
LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG
LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG LG

LG

LG
LG

LG

LG PP

RP-3

PP

RP-4

RP-5

RP-6

LG

NP

PP

OS-2

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Park / Open Space /
Pathways Plan



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

SROZ BOUNDARY

3,535 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/PDP 2 NORTH
(PHASE 2)

25' IMPACT AREA

663 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT

DONE W/ PDP 1

325 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT

W/ PDP 3N
4,610 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N

7,122 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
DONE W/PDP 2N (PHASE 1)

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED

SROZ BOUNDARY

25' IMPACT AREA

19,209 SF
MIXED OAK/FIR

27,003 SF
OAK

MITIGATION
AREA

1,988 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N
ADDITIONAL IMPACTS

113 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N
ADDITIONAL IMPACTS

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE FILLED

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE FILLED

SROZ
Plan

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP

SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW
 P

A
R

IS
 A

VE

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Street Tree
Plan



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP

SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO ST

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N SW BARCELONA ST

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

(10463)(10464)

(10465)(10466)

(10467)

(10468)

(10469)
(10470)

(10471)(10472)
(10473)

(10474)

(10475)

(10476)

(10479)

(10480)

(10481)

(10482)

(10483)

(10484)

(10485)

(10486)

(10487)

(10488)

(10489)

(17838)

(10491)

(10492)

(10493)
(10494)

(10495) (10496)

(10497)

(10498)

(10499)

(10478)

(10477)

(10442)

(10443)

(10444) (10473.1)

(16950)
(16944) (16949)

(16959)

(16960)

(17352)

(16948)

(16947)

(16946)

(17351)
(1349X)

(17357)

(1315X)

(17461)

(17466)

(1316X)

(1310X)

(17467)

(921X)

(17469)
(17470)
(17473)

(17462)

(17482)
(17481)

(17483)

(961X)
(18021)

(18017)
(17479)

(1255X)
(1256X)

(17475)
(1257X)

(1258X)

(971X)
(18015)

(18020)
(18006)
(964X)
(965X)
(962X)

(959X)

(960X)

(1134X)

(1135X)

(1137X)

(23338)

(23337)

(4739)

(4501)
(500)

(4498)

(4497)

(4492)

(4491)

(4490)(4487)

(4483)
(4482)
(4478)

(4477)
(4474)
(4476)
(4475)
(4468)

(4471)
(4473)

(4738)

(4502)

(4503)

(4493)
(4494)
(4495)
(4489)
(4488)

(4485)
(4484)
(4481)
(4480)

(4479)
(______)

(_______)
(4467)

(_______)
(4470)

(3850)

(4496)

(4499)

(4486)

SROZ BOUNDARY

25' IMPACT AREA

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED
TREES WITHIN WETLAND
NOT EXAMINED

SROZ BOUNDARY
25' IMPACT AREA

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Tree Preservation
Plan



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N SW BARCELONA ST

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Grading
Plan

175

200

175
200



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

SD

SD

SD

SD
SS

SS

SS
SS

SS

SDSS

SS

SS SS

SD

W W W
W

W

W W W W

W

W

W
W

W W

W W

SDW SS

SD
SD

SS

SD

SS SS

SD
SS

W
W

W

W

W W

W

SD

W

W

SS

SD

SD

SS

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE FILLED

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE FILLED

EXISTING STORMWATER FACILITY

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Utility
Plan



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IIC 

Utility & Drainage Report 



SUMMARY OF SAP NORTH UTILITY & DRAINAGE REPORTS 

A copy of the 2007 Mill Creek Basin Storm Drainage Report, Coffee Lake Creek 
Drainage Basin Storm Drainage Report, and the Rainwater Management Plan are 
submitted for SAP North (attached in this Notebook Section). These reports in 
conjunction with the previously approved 2011 (Phase 1) and 2013 (Phase 2) Utility & 
Drainage Reports apply to SAP North, in addition to the Utility and Drainage Report 
provided in the Section IIIC of the PDP 3N notebook.  

  

 

 

Submitted with DB07-0054 (SAP North)2007
•Mill Creek Basin Storm Drainage Report

•Coffee Lake Creek Drainage Basin Storm Drainage Report

•Rainwater Management Plan

Approved for Phase 1 of PDP 1N (Tonquin Woods No. 2)2011
•Water Quality and Detention Analysis 

•Sanitary Sewer Capacity Memo

•Rainwater Management Plan

Approved for Phase 2 of PDP 1N (Tonquin Woods No. 4)2013
•Tonquin Woods No. 3 & Grahams Ferry Road Water Quality Detention Analysis

•Water Quality Analysis Report for Tonquin Meadows No. 3 (PDP 3E) included as attachment to Stormwater Detention and Water Quality Report

•Villebois PDP 1N B & PDP 4C Rainwater Management Plan for Coffee Lake Creek Basin

•Sanitary Sewer Capacity Memo







































































































































































































































































































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IID 

Traffic Analysis 





   

   

 

Villebois SAP North PDP 3 Transportation Review 

March 14, 2014 

Page 2 of 3 

Table 1: Master Plan Approved SAP North Trip Generation (based on assumed trip generation rates) 

 

In 2013, a phasing amendment proposed that SAP North would include 423 single family units, 31 

condo/townhouse units, and 10 apartment units for a total of 464 residential units. As shown in Table 2, the 

proposed land uses would generate 449 (284 in, 165 out) p.m. peak hour trips, which would only result in 2 

additional p.m. peak hour trips as compared with the prior Master Plan approval.  

Table 2: Proposed SAP North Trip Generation 

 

SAP North PDP 3 Trip Generation 

SAP North is broken into approximately seven PDPs, with the current phase being PDP 3 (i.e. the 3rd phase). Prior 

transportation studies determined that SAP North PDP 1 would generate 137 (87 in, 50 out) p.m. peak hour trips 

and that SAP North PDP2 would generate approximately 91 (57 in, 34 out) p.m. peak hour trips. 

It is currently proposed that PDP 3 consist of 84 single‐family residential units. This is 17 units less than the 101 

units that were proposed for PDP 3 in the 2013 phasing amendment. Table 3 shows the estimated trip 

generation for PDP 3 based on the revised unit count. As shown, the 84 proposed single family detached 

residential units planned for PDP 3 would generate approximately 85 (54 in, 31 out) p.m. peak hour trips. The 

Land Use (ITE Code)  Size  Average Trip Generation Rate 
Number of New Trips 

In  Out  Total 

Single Family Units (210)  252 units  1.01 trips/unit  161  94  255 

Condo/Townhome (230)  71 units  0.52 trips/unit  25  12  37 

Apartments (220)  30 units  0.62 trips/unit  12  7  19 

Shopping Center (820)  5 KSF  3.75 trips/KSF  9  10  19 

School  47 KSF  3 trips/KSF  73  68  141 

Total Trips  280  191  471 

Internal Tripsa    ‐9  ‐9  ‐18 

Pass‐By Tripsb    ‐3  ‐3  ‐6 

Net New Trips  268  179  447 
a Internal trip rates from ITE’s Trip Generation Manual, 9th Edition, 2012. 5% of school trips assumed to be internal.
b 34% of external shopping center trips 

Land Use (ITE Code)  Size  Average Trip Generation Rate 
Number of New Trips 

In  Out  Total 

Single Family Units (210)  423 units  1.01 trips/unit  269  158  427 

Condo/Townhome (230)  31 units  0.52 trips/unit  11  5  16 

Apartments (220)  10 units  0.62 trips/unit  4  2  6 

Total Trips  284  165  449 



   

   

 

Villebois SAP North PDP 3 Transportation Review 

March 14, 2014 

Page 3 of 3 

decrease in the proposed number of units would result in 17 p.m. peak hour trips less than what was estimated 

for the 2013 phase amendment (15 less than the Master Plan approval). 

Table 3: PDP 2 P.M. Peak Hour Trip Generation 

 

Site Plan Evaluation 

DKS reviewed the current site plan provided by the project sponsor, and the site plan comments are 

summarized below: 

 Roadway Alignment: SW Rome Avenue should be aligned with the alley to the north, which is 

currently shown offset to the east by approximately 50 feet. This may be accomplished by shifting 

two of the lots from the east to the west side of SW Rome Avenue. 

Summary 

A summary of key findings relating to the SAP East PDP 3E review include the following: 

 The proposed current phase for SAP North (PDP 3) consists of 84 single family detached units which 

are expected to generate 85 (54 in, 31 out) p.m. peak hour trips. This would result in 17 p.m. peak 

hour trips less than what was estimated for the 2013 phase amendment and 15 less than the Master 

Plan approval. Therefore, it is within approved levels. 

 SW Rome Avenue should be aligned with the alley to the north, which is currently shown offset to 

the east by approximately 50 feet. This may be accomplished by shifting two of the lots from the east 

to the west side of SW Rome Avenue. 

 

Please let us know if you have any questions or comments. 

Land Use (ITE Code)  Number of Units  Average Trip Generation Rate 
Number of New Trips 

In  Out  Total 

Single Family Units (210)  84  1.01 trips/unit  54  31  85 

TOTAL  84  ‐  54  31  85 



 

   

 

   

Villebois SAP North PDP 3 Transportation Review 

 
 

Appendix 
 

 

 



Villebois (updated 1/28/14)

Land Use Table
LAND USE   SAP NORTH SAP SOUTH SAP EAST SAP CENTRAL TOTAL

Estate 22 0 0 0 22

Large 41 104 0 0 145

Standard 22 68 49 0 139

Medium 89 127 112 0 328

subtotal 174 299 161 0 634

Small Detached 214 158 226 8 606

Small Attached / 

Cottage
49 0 147 9 205

Rowhouse 0 103 42 138 283

Nbhd Apartments 10 21 0 0 31

Village Apartments 0 0 0 411 411

Condos 0 0 0 124 124

Urban Apartments 0 0 0 90 90

Mixed Use Condos 0 0 0 104 104

Specialty Condos 0 0 0 127 127

subtotal 273 282 415 1,011 1,981

TOTAL UNITS 447 581 576 1,011 2,615

K:\07 Reference Documents\Villebois Tracking\Villebois Units Counts Tracking Sheets-2014 (PDP 3N ~ Rumpf).2014-01-28 printed 1/28/2014



SAP North (updated 1/28/14)

Existing (reflects proposed phasing amendment)

Product Type PDP 1N** PDP 2N*** 3N 3A N 4N 5N 6N* Total

Estate 0 0 0 0 2 15 5 22

Large 0 0 2 1 8 8 3 22

Standard 2 10 16 0 0 0 5 33

Medium 30 6 22 4 6 0 17 85

Small 98 37 30 4 7 0 36 212

Small Cottage 12 37 0 0 0 0 0 49

Row House 0 0 31 0 0 0 0 31
Nbhd Apartment 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 10

Total 142 90 101 9 23 23 76 464

* Includes PDP 6N units added back due to School relocation to SAP East.

**Includes PDP 1 North modifications approved in 2011 & 2013.

***Includes PDP 2 North approved in 2013.

Proposed

Product Type PDP 1N** PDP 2N*** 3N 3A N 4N 5N 6N* Total

Estate 0 0 0 0 2 15 5 22

Large 0 0 21 1 8 8 3 41

Standard 2 10 5 0 0 0 5 22

Medium 30 6 26 4 6 0 17 89

Small 98 37 32 4 7 0 36 214

Small Cottage 12 37 0 0 0 0 0 49

Row House 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nbhd Apartment 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 10

Total 142 90 84 9 23 23 76 447

K:\07 Reference Documents\Villebois Tracking\Villebois Units Counts Tracking Sheets-2014 (PDP 3N ~ Rumpf).2014-01-28 Printed 1/28/2014



SW
 G

R
AH

AM
'S

 F
ER

R
Y 

R
D

TOOZE RD

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 R
O

M
E

 A
V

E

S
W

 IC
E

LA
N

D
 L

N

S
W

 P
A

R
IS

 A
V

E

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG LG LG LG LG STD STD

STD STD STD

LG

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

MMMM

M

M

M

MMMMMM

M M M M M M

SMSM
SM

SM

SM

SM

SM SM

SM SM SM SM SM SM

SM SM SM SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

OS

LT

LT

FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

OPEN SPACE 2

LG

LG
LGLGLG

LG

LG

LG

SM SM

SM SM SM SM SM

SM SM SM

LG

LT

PP

LT

LT

OFFSITE
IMPROVEMENTS

77

26

5 55

76

78

79
80 81 82 83 84

28

29

30

31

32

37 36 35 34 3338

42 43 4439 40 41

20

25 2724

23

22

21

18

19

17

48

46

45
6965 66 67 6864

63 62 61 60 59

47

51

50

49
58

54

56

53

57

52

16
11 12 13 14 15

7

6

2

4

3

71 70

75

74 73 72

1

9 10

8

TRACT "L"

TRACT "M"

TRACT "N"

TRACT "F"

TRACT "E"
TRACT "J"

TRACT "C"

TRACT "B"

TRACT "A"

Preliminary
Development Pla

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/

Site/Land Use
Plan

FOR TYPICAL LOT PLANS
SEE SHEET 9.



SW
 G

R
AH

AM
'S

 F
ER

R
Y 

R
D

TOOZE RD

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 R
O

M
E

 A
V

E

S
W

 IC
E

LA
N

D
 L

N

S
W

 P
A

R
IS

 A
V

E

SW
 G

R
AH

AM
S 

FE
R

R
Y 

R
O

AD

TOOZE RD
(BY OTHERS)

MAILBOX KIOSK

MAILBOX KIOSK

SECONDARY
SITE IDENTIFIER

ENHANCED PARTIAL
VIEW FENCE

Preliminary
Development Pla

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/

Circulation
Plan &

Street Sections



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IIE 

Historical/Cultural 
Resource Inventory 



 

CULTURAL RESOURCES INVENTORY: SUMMARY OF WORK 
 
Stacy Connery, AICP 
Pacific Community Design 
12564 SW Main Street 
Tigard, Oregon 97223  
Tel: 503-828-5052  
 
March 26, 2014 
 
PROJECT: Cultural Resources Inventory for the Villebois Phase 3 SAP North Residential 

Development Project, Wilsonville, Clackamas County, Oregon 
 
SUMMARY OF CULTURAL RESOURCES WORK 

SWCA Environmental Consultants (SWCA) conducted a cultural resources inventory for the Villebois 
Phase 3 SAP North Residential Development project in Wilsonville, Oregon (Figure 1). The proposed 
project area of potential effects (APE) encompasses tax lots 1200, 1202, and 1205, and is approximately 
15 acres in size. The APE is bordered by SW Grahams Ferry Road to the west and Tooze Road to the 
north, and is primarily agricultural and grazing land. SWCA was contracted by Polygon Northwest 
Company to address the possible effects of the proposed project on cultural resources found eligible for 
listing in the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP). SWCA staff members who meet the 
professional qualifications standards of the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards and Guidelines in 
Archaeology performed the work. 

Prior to fieldwork, SWCA’s review of records at the Oregon State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) 
indicated that no previous cultural resources surveys had been conducted within the APE and that no 
cultural resources had been recorded or were known to be within the APE. The results of the SHPO 
records search and archival research indicated the APE was likely to contain cultural resources. The APE 
is located on a relatively flat terrace land form near a perennial stream, and an “Indian Trail” is depicted 
as running through the APE on the 1852 General Land Office (GLO) map.  

Between February 26 and March 13, 2014, SWCA archaeologists conducted a pedestrian survey and 
subsurface testing throughout the APE. The pedestrian survey was conducted by two archaeologists 
walking parallel transects spaced no more than 15 meters (49 feet) apart across the APE. The location of a 
contemporary horse grave was reported by a local resident and was observed/recorded during the survey 
as a depressed surface area. Twenty-five shovel probes (SP1–SP25) were excavated across the APE to 
test for subsurface archaeological deposits. The probes were hand-excavated as 30-centimeter (cm)-
diameter cylinders to a minimum depth of 50 cm below the surface and two consecutive sterile 10-cm 
levels. Excavated sediments were screened through ¼-inch mesh hardware cloth, and the probes were 
backfilled after excavation and mapped using a global positioning system (GPS) unit. One modern metal 
horse implement was found near the surface in SP6. No additional artifacts were identified during 
pedestrian survey and subsurface testing. 

Summary of Cultural Resources Inventory Work at Villebois Phase 3 SAP North 1 



 

One historic archaeological site was identified and recorded during the pedestrian survey. Site KBS1 is a 
historic-period foundation and well/trough feature found in the northwest portion of the APE (Figure 2). 
The foundation is 20 feet × 8 feet and is made of a mixture of river cobbles and mortar. The four sides are 
exposed, and the foundation floor was covered with sediment post-1974 to prevent injury to horses on the 
property (personal communication with the property owner). The foundation wall thickness measures 6 
inches, and it rises 12 inches above the surface at its maximum height. Near the northeast corner of the 
foundation wall, the thickness increases to 12 inches, which might indicate an entrance location. The well 
feature was identified approximately 84 meters (275 feet) north of the foundation. The well measures 74 
× 80 × 48 inches on the outside and has a 12-inch-thick wall. It is made with similar materials as the 
foundation and is capped by a concrete slab. The east side of the well has a concrete trough attached. The 
trough measures 22 × 56 × 18 inches on the outside, with 3-inch-thick walls. There is a fill valve at the 
bottom of the trough that looks like it regulated the water level. The well contained water near its base, 
but was in disrepair at the time of the survey. The well and foundation, though separated by 
approximately 84 meters (275 feet), are of similar construction and appear on aerial photographs of the 
area together. The well and foundation were recorded as two features within one site. 

Both the foundation and well recorded as site KBS1 appear on an aerial photograph taken in 1936, which 
indicates that they are at least 78 years old. Site KBS1 is not depicted on GLO, U.S. Geological Survey, 
Metsker, and Sanborn Insurance maps from before 1936. The ground surface was closely examined in the 
area of the foundation and well, and no artifacts were identified. Nine shovel probes (SP1, SP2, SP19, 
SP20, SP21, SP22, SP23, SP24, SP25) were excavated in the immediate vicinity of the foundation and 
well and between the two, and no artifacts were identified. 

Given the ubiquitous nature of historic-period foundations and wells across the landscape in this area, the 
lack of association with a significant person or event in the region’s history, and the absence of associated 
subsurface archaeological deposits, it is unlikely that site KBS1 has the potential to yield important 
information about the area’s history. SWCA recommends that site KBS1 is not eligible for listing in the 
NRHP and, should SHPO concur with this recommendation, construction activities in the APE may 
proceed as planned.  

A full and more detailed cultural resource inventory report will be prepared by SWCA that will include 
sections on the environmental and historic context of the APE as well as the results and 
recommendations.  

Prepared by: 

 
 
Zach Windler 
Cultural Resources Specialist 
zwindler@swca.com 
503.224.0333 x6346 

Summary of Cultural Resources Inventory Work at Villebois Phase 3 SAP North 2 

mailto:zwindler@swca.com


 

 
Figure 1. Topographic quadrangle map showing the Villebois Phase 3 SAP North project APE. 

Summary of Cultural Resources Inventory Work at Villebois Phase 3 SAP North 3 



 

 
Figure 2. Aerial map showing the foundation and well at site KBS1 and shovel probe locations. 

Summary of Cultural Resources Inventory Work at Villebois Phase 3 SAP North 4 

















































































































































 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IIF 

SRIR Addendum 



 
 

PHASE 3 SAP NORTH 
SIGNIFICANT RESOURCE IMPACT REPORT ADDENDUM 

WILSONVILLE, OREGON 
T3S, R1W, SECTION 15, TAX LOTS 1200, 1202 and 1205  

CLACKAMAS COUNTY, W.M. 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared for 
 

Polygon Northwest Company 
109 East 13th Street 

Vancouver, Washington 98660 

 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by 
 

 
 

SWCA Environmental Consultants 
1220 SW Morrison Street, Suite 700 

Portland, Oregon 97205-2235 
503.224.0333 

www.swca.com 

 
 
 

 
 

March 2014 
 

SWCA Project No. 21087.11 
  



This page intentionally left blank. 



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 i 

CONTENTS 
 

INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................. 1 

EXISTING CONDITIONS ..................................................................................................................... 1 
SROZ and Impact Area Boundary ................................................................................................... 1 
Wetlands ........................................................................................................................................... 1 

PROPOSED IMPACTS .......................................................................................................................... 3 

MITIGATION PLAN ............................................................................................................................. 4 
Functional Assessment ..................................................................................................................... 4 
Upland Wildlife Habitat Mitigation ................................................................................................. 6 

LIST OF PREPARERS ........................................................................................................................... 6 
 

Attachments 
A. PDP 3N Preliminary Development Plan 
B. Site Photographs 
C. Wetland Delineation Report & 2007 Concurrence Letter 
 

Tables 
Table 1. Summary of proposed impacts and mitigation ............................................................................... 3 
Table 2. Wildlife habitat assessment summary for years 2000 and 2013 .................................................... 5 
Table 3. Summary of adverse ecological impacts ........................................................................................ 5 
 
  



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 ii 

This page intentionally left blank. 



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 1 

INTRODUCTION 

A Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) was submitted to the City of Wilsonville in March 
2013 for SAP South Plan Area 2. The SRIR included an accounting of the proposed encroachments 
into the SROZ and the proposed SROZ mitigation for multiple phases of the Villebois development 
including SROZ encroachment and mitigation for the Phase 3 North development. The preliminary 
site development plan for Phase 3 North has been developed (Attachment A), and this addendum 
includes slight revisions to the proposed SROZ encroachment. 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 

SROZ and Impact Area Boundary 

The location of the existing mapped Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) boundary and the 
25-foot Impact Area boundary is shown on the preliminary site development plan. The SROZ upland 
forest unit as a whole consists of a closed canopy Douglas-fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii) forest with 
Oregon white oak (Quercus garryana) present in the southern and eastern edges of the forest. The 
shrub layer in the Douglas-fir community consists of beaked hazelnut (Corylus cornuta), ornamental 
hawthorn (Crataegus monogyna), oso berry (Oemleria cerasiformis), thimbleberry (Rubus 
parviflorus), snowberry (Symphoricarpos albus), and scattered big leaf maple (Acer macrophyllum) 
seedlings. Groundcover is nearly 100% English ivy (Hedera helix), which is also growing on many 
tree trunks. Occasional areas of sword fern (Polystichum munitum) and California dewberry (Rubus 
ursinus) are present. Himalayan blackberry (Rubus armeniacus) is dominant in the forest edges and 
in the southern Oregon white oak community. The southern finger of the forest consists of an Oregon 
white oak canopy with a few Oregon ash (Fraxinus latifolia) and black cottonwood (Populus 
balsamifera) trees at the southernmost edge. 

The SROZ encroachment area along the north forest edge on the PDP 3N site consists of the shrubby 
forest edge and is comprised of beaked hazelnut, red elderberry, serviceberry, cherry, and English 
holly shrubs with English ivy in the understory. Site photographs are included in Attachment B. 

Wetlands 

Wetlands on the PDP 3N site were delineated by Pacific Habitat Services in 2007 under Oregon 
Department of State Lands (DSL) file number WD #2007-0706. The concurrence letter is dated May 
5, 2008. SWCA’s wetland investigation was conducted using the new DSL process of requesting a 
reissuance of a jurisdictional determination, which is allowed by DSL for projects seeking 
development permits within 1 year of the 5-year expiration date of May 5, 2013.  
 
The northern wetland “wetland A” is a very subtle depression and is difficult to see on the landscape. 
The wetland is dominated by colonial bent grass (Agrostis capillaris). We found no change in the 
previously delineated boundary of wetland A (0.37 acre), and we requested concurrence with the 
previously delineated boundary.  
 
The southern wetland “wetland B” is a circular depressional feature dominated by an Oregon ash 
canopy with bare soils. It was determined to be smaller, approximately 0.45 acre instead of the 0.52 
acre previously delineated. The wetland boundary follows the forested Oregon ash (Fraxinus 



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 2 

latifolia) perimeter and the edge of pugged soils. The wetland boundary was revised slightly to 
exclude small higher elevation areas along the edges and to conform with the geomorphic land form 
depression that is characteristic of Oregon ash forested wetlands. 
 
The wetland delineation report was submitted to DSL and the Corps in November 2013 and is 
currently undergoing review and concurrence. The wetland delineation report is included in 
Attachment C. The 2007 concurrence letter is included in Appendix B of the wetland delineation 
report. 
 
The two wetlands delineated on the site were not included in the study area for the City’s Natural 
Resource Inventory (Fishman Environmental Services 2000). The two wetlands are each less than 0.5 
acre in size and were not determined to be locally significant. According to the City’s SROZ 
requirements, a 50-foot vegetated corridor is required adjacent to significant wetlands that are 
mapped in the City’s inventory or meet the definition of a Metro Title 3 wetland, for areas where the 
slope adjacent to the wetland is less than 25%.  
 
Title 3 wetlands are defined in Chapter 3.07 of Metro’s Urban Grown Management Functional Plan 
as “wetlands of metropolitan concern as shown on the Metro Water Quality and Flood Management 
Area Map and other wetlands added to city or county adopted Water Quality and Flood Management 
Area maps consistent with the criteria in Title 3, section 3.07.340 (E) (3)” (Metro 2012).  
 
The criteria in Metro Title 3, section 3.07.340 (E) (3) are contained in the City’s development code 
section 4.139.10 (.02) as follows: 
 

A. The wetland is fed by surface flows, sheet flows or precipitation, and has evidence of 
flooding during the growing season, and has 60 percent or greater vegetated cover, and is 
over one-half acre in size; or the wetland qualifies as having intact water quality function 
under the 1996 Oregon Freshwater Wetland Assessment Methodology; or 
 
B. The wetland is in the Metro Title 3 Flood Management Area as corrected by the most 
current FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps, and has evidence of flooding during the growing 
season, and is five acres or more in size, and has a restricted outlet or no outlet; or the 
wetland qualifies as having intact hydrologic control function under the 1996 Oregon 
Freshwater Wetland Assessment Methodology; or 
 
C. The wetland or a portion of the wetland is within a horizontal distance of less than one-
fourth mile from a water body which meets the Department of Environmental Quality 
definition of water quality limited water body in OAR Chapter 340, Division 41 (1996). 
 
D. Created or restored wetlands that meet the requirements of Section 4.139.10(.02) shall be 
added to the Significant Resource Overlay Zone. [Added by Ord. # 674 11/16/09]  

 
 
Wetland A does not meet the City’s criteria for adding wetlands to the SROZ per the City’s 
development code section 4.139.10 (.02) based on the following site conditions of Wetland A: 

A) The wetland is fed by precipitation, does not display evidence of flooding during the 
growing season, and it is less than 0.5 acre in size. 

B) The wetland is not in the Metro Title 3 Flood Management Area as corrected by the most 
current FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps, it does not display evidence of flooding 
during the growing season, and it is less than 0.5 acre in size.  



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 3 

C) The wetland is not within a horizontal distance of less than 0.25 mile from a DEQ water 
quality limited water body. 

D) The wetland is not a created or restored wetland meeting the requirements of section 
4.139.10 (.02). 

 
Wetland B does not meet the City’s criteria for adding wetlands to the SROZ per the City’s 
development code section 4.139.10 (.02) based on the following site conditions of Wetland B: 

A) The wetland is fed by precipitation and it is less than 0.5 acre in size. 
B) The wetland is not in the Metro Title 3 Flood Management Area as corrected by the most 

current FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps and it is less than 0.5 acre in size.  
C) The wetland is not within a horizontal distance of less than 0.25 mile from a DEQ water 

quality limited water body. 
D) The wetland is not a created or restored wetland meeting the requirements of section 

4.139.10 (.02). 
 
On-site wetlands are not included on the City’s Natural Resource inventory and do not meet the 
City’s criteria for adding wetlands to the SROZ, and a vegetated corridor is not required adjacent to 
these wetlands. 

PROPOSED IMPACTS 

The Area of Limited Conflicting Use (ALCU) on the project site totals 430,988 square feet (SF), or 
9.89 acres. Impacts will occur to small portions of the wildlife habitat area along the west, north, and 
east edges of the upland forest. The area to be impacted within the Area of Limited Conflicting Use is 
18,356 SF (0.42 acre), or 4.3% of the total ALCU. The proposed mitigation area is located along the 
southern edge of the upland forest. The proposed wildlife habitat impact and mitigation areas are 
shown on the preliminary development plan in Attachment A. Table 1 summarizes the proposed 
function and ratios for enhancement to mitigate for impacts to upland wildlife habitat. 

Table 1. Summary of proposed impacts and mitigation  

Impact Type 
Impact 
Area  

 Phase  Mitigation 

Wildlife habitat 663 SF PDP 1  

46,212 SF of 
enhancement in 
southern portion of 
SROZ 

Wildlife habitat 3,535 SF PDP 2N  
Wildlife habitat 325 SF PDP 3N  
Wildlife habitat 4,610 SF PDP 3N  
Wildlife habitat 1,988 SF PDP 3N  
Wildlife habitat 113 SF PDP 3N  
Wildlife habitat 7,122 SF PDP 2N  
TOTAL  18,356 SF   

 

 
A series of nature trails and a nature trail activity area are proposed in the SROZ as shown on the 
preliminary site development plan.  The construction of these trails is exempt from the SROZ 
regulations and will be constructed in accordance with section 4.139.04 (.08) of the City’s 
development code. According to the City’s code, the construction of new pedestrian paths into the 
SROZ in order to provide access to the sensitive area or across the sensitive area is an exempt use, 



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 4 

provided the location of the crossing is consistent with the intent of the Wilsonville Comprehensive 
Plan and that paths are constructed so as to minimize and repair disturbance to existing vegetation 
and slope stability. The nature trail activity area is also an exempt use because it will correspond with 
the trail system and will be providing educational nature play opportunities. Impacts to the SROZ due 
construction of trails and the nature trail activity area will be minimized by careful field-siting of 
these features to minimize impacts to the SROZ. Trail locations shown on the preliminary 
development plan are general locations, and exact locations will be field located to ensure they are 
located to best minimize impacts to vegetation. Additional information regarding the design of the 
nature trail activity area will be included in the Final Development Plan. An Impact Area of 4,610 SF 
has been accounted for in relation to the nature play activity area to allow for a potential climbing 
structure or a more structured type of equipment should this be identified through the FDP review. 
 
In summary, the nature trails and the nature trail activity area are exempt per Section 4.139.04(.08), 
and the following measures will be implemented to ensure minimal impact to the adjacent SROZ. 
 

 Trails and the nature trail activity area will be field located to ensure no tree removal and no 
grading will occur, and they will be constructed in a way that will not impact the natural 
environment. 

 The nature trail activity area will be sited next to trails to contain activities within close 
proximity to trails. 

 Trails will be soft surface, and natural materials will be utilized for nature trail activity areas 
that will blend with the surrounding natural environment. 

 For safety purposes, any nature trail activity area that children may climb on will not exceed 
30 inches in height and will have wood chips placed within the fall zone. 

 Coordination with the City’s Natural Resources Program Manager will occur during field 
location and placement of nature trails and the nature trail activity area. 

 
Impacts to the SROZ would be mitigated through natural resource enhancement at a ratio of 2 ½: 1 
(mitigation:impact) in accordance with the mitigation standards in section 4.139.07 of the City’s 
development code. An SROZ mitigation planting plan was previously submitted to the City in 
December 2013 which contained planting specifications for the Douglas-fir community and the 
Oregon white oak savanna community. Tree and shrub quantities were calculated based on the size of 
the disturbance in the SROZ according to the method described in Section 4.139.07(.02)(E)(1)(b) of 
the SROZ Ordinance. The mitigation planting plan also included information regarding performance 
standards, plant installation, invasive species control, maintenance, and annual monitoring and 
reporting. There is no change to the information contained in the previously submitted mitigation 
planting plan. 

MITIGATION PLAN 

Functional Assessment 

Natural resource function ratings for the upland forest (URA#41U1) on the project site were assessed 
in 2000 for the City of Wilsonville’s Natural Resource Inventory and are summarized in Table 2. 
Existing conditions of the upland forest are similar to conditions in 2000, although English ivy and 
Himalayan blackberry cover has increased in the outer edges of the forest. The current wildlife 
habitat assessment ratings are also summarized Table 2.  

  



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 5 

Table 2. Wildlife habitat assessment summary for years 2000 and 2013 

Upland Habitat 
Function 

City’s 
Inventory 
Rating 
(2000) 

Comments 
Current 
Rating 
(2013)  

Comments 

Wildlife habitat High 
Intact, diverse 
structure, large 
size 

Medium 

Limited native 
understory due to large 
areas of English ivy on 
ground and on trees 

Water quality 
protection 

Low 
No adjacent 
water 

Low No adjacent water 

Ecological 
integrity 

Medium 
Some ivy 
present 

Medium 
Increased invasive 
species in forest edges 

Connectivity Low 
Surrounded by 
agricultural 
lands 

Low 
Surrounded by 
agricultural lands and 
residential development 

Uniqueness Low -- Low -- 

 

Minimal adverse impacts to significant wildlife habitat resources and ecological integrity may result 
from minor encroachment by access roads along the forest edge and by inclusion of a trail system in 
the eastern edge of the forest interior. These impacts are summarized in Table 3.  

Table 3. Summary of adverse ecological impacts 

Upland 
Habitat 
Function 

Anticipated 
Adverse 
Impact? 

Comments 

Wildlife habitat 

No Minor impacts to the interior forest habitat will occur due to 
construction of a trail connection. The wildlife habitat function of 
forest interior habitat has been reduced since the 2000 inventory 
due to ongoing encroachment of invasive species. Invasive 
species will be removed and native shrubs will be planted to 
improve the quality of this function. 

Water quality 
protection 

No This function is currently low, and development is not anticipated 
to result in a change to this function. 

Ecological 
integrity 

No Minor impacts to the ecological integrity of interior forest habitat 
may occur due to the potential for introduction of invasive species 
along the edges of the trail. The ecological integrity of the forest 
has been affected due to encroachment of invasive species. 
Invasive species will be removed and native shrubs will be 
planted to improve the quality of this function. 

Connectivity 
No This function is currently low due to surrounding agricultural 

fields, roads, and residential development, and no change will 
occur due to site development.. 

Uniqueness 
No This function is currently low, and no change will occur due to site 

development. 



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 6 

Upland Wildlife Habitat Mitigation 

As previously stated, an SROZ mitigation planting plan was submitted to the City in December 2013 
which contained planting specifications and mitigation performance standards. There is no change to 
the information contained in the previously submitted mitigation planting plan. 

The current assessment of habitat functions on the site determined that the existing wildlife habitat 
and ecological integrity functions are medium due to invasive plants in the understory along the 
forest edges. The upland wildlife habitat mitigation goal is to improve these functions to a “high” 
rating. According to the ratios established in Table NR-4 in Section 4.139.07 of the City’s Significant 
Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) Ordinance, to improve a function from a medium rating to a high 
rating, it will require mitigation at a ratio of 2.5:1. Therefore, to compensate for impacts to 18,356 SF 
of wildlife habitat, a minimum of 45,890 SF would need to be enhanced. The applicant is proposing 
to conduct 46,212 square feet of enhancement. 

LIST OF PREPARERS 
 

 
Stacy Benjamin 
Senior Wetland Ecologist 
Fieldwork and Report Preparation 

 
C. Mirth Walker, PWS, CWD 
Senior Wetland Scientist 
Report Quality Assurance/Quality Control 
 
 
  



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

ATTACHMENT A 

PDP 3N Preliminary Development Plan 
 

 
  



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 



SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

SROZ BOUNDARY

3,535 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/PDP 2 NORTH
(PHASE 2)

25' IMPACT AREA

663 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT

DONE W/ PDP 1

325 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT

W/ PDP 3N

4,610 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N 7,122 SF

SROZ ENCROACHMENT
DONE W/PDP 2N (PHASE 1)

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED

SROZ BOUNDARY

25' IMPACT AREA 19,209 SF
MIXED OAK/FIR

27,003 SF
OAK

MITIGATION
AREA

1,988 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N
ADDITIONAL IMPACTS

113 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N
ADDITIONAL IMPACTS

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

SROZ
Plan



 Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.02 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 
  



 Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.02 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B 

Site Photographs 
  



 Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.02 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
Attachment B 

 
Photo 1. View east of the northern forest edge. 

 
Photo 2. View south into northern forest edge, dominated by invasive English ivy. 



 Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.02 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

 



 Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.02 

 

 

ATTACHMENT C 

Wetland Delineation Report & 2007 Concurrence Letter 
  



 Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.02 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 

RUMPF PROPERTY 
WETLAND DELINEATION REPORT 
28100 SW GRAHAMS FERRY ROAD 

WILSONVILLE, OREGON 
T3S, R1W, SECTION 15, TAX LOTS 1200, 1205, AND 1591, 

CLACKAMAS COUNTY, W.M. 
 
 
 
 

Prepared for 
 

Polygon Northwest Company 
109 East 13th Street 

Vancouver, Washington 98660 
 
 
 

Prepared by 
 

 
 

SWCA Environmental Consultants 
1220 SW Morrison Street, Suite 700 

Portland, Oregon 97205 
503-224-0333 

www.swca.com 
 
 
 
 
 

November 2013 
 

SWCA Project No. 21087.11 



This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

i 

CONTENTS 

INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................. 1 

A. LANDSCAPE SETTING AND LAND USE .................................................................................... 1 

B. SITE ALTERATIONS ....................................................................................................................... 1 

C. PRECIPITATION DATA AND ANALYSIS .................................................................................... 2 

D. METHODS ........................................................................................................................................ 2 

E. DESCRIPTION OF ALL WETLANDS AND OTHER NON-WETLAND WATERS .................... 3 
Wetlands ........................................................................................................................................... 3 

Wetland A (north wetland) ....................................................................................................... 3 
Wetland B (south wetland) ....................................................................................................... 3 

Non-Wetland Waters ........................................................................................................................ 4 

F. DEVIATION FROM LWI OR NWI .................................................................................................. 4 

G. MAPPING METHOD ........................................................................................................................ 4 

H. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ...................................................................................................... 4 

I. RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS ..................................................................................................... 4 

J. REQUIRED DISCLAIMER ............................................................................................................... 5 

K. LIST OF PREPARERS ...................................................................................................................... 5 
 

Appendices 
A. Figures 
B. WD #2007-0706 
C. Precipitation Data 
D. Wetland Determination Data Sheets 
E. Ground-Level Site Photographs 
F. Literature Cited and References Used 
 

Tables 
Table 1. Precipitation Data (inches) ............................................................................................................. 2 
Table 2. Summary of Potentially Jurisdictional Features in the Study Area ................................................ 5 
Table 3. Latitude and Longitude of Potentially Jurisdictional Features in the Study Area .......................... 5 
 
  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

ii 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

1 

INTRODUCTION 

SWCA Environmental Consultants (SWCA) was contracted by Polygon Northwest Company to 
conduct a wetland delineation update on the subject site located near the Villebois development, 
immediately east of Grahams Ferry Road and south of Tooze Road at 28100 SW Grahams Ferry 
Road, in Wilsonville, Oregon (Figure 1, Appendix A). The study area consists of tax lots 1200, 1205, 
and 1591 on tax map 3 1W 15, Clackamas County, Willamette Meridian (Figure 2, Appendix A), and 
is approximately 14.87 acres in size.  

The site was delineated by Pacific Habitat Services (PHS) in 2007 under Oregon Department of State 
Lands (DSL) file number WD #2007-0706 (PHS 2007). The concurrence letter is dated May 5, 2008, 
and is attached (Appendix B). SWCA’s reconnaissance was conducted with the new process of 
requesting a reissuance of a jurisdictional determination (JD) in mind, since we are within 1 year of 
the 5-year expiration date of May 5, 2013. While we found no change to the north wetland “A” (0.37 
acre), we found the south wetland “B” to be smaller, approximately 0.45 acre instead of 0.52 acre. 
The north Wetland A is emergent and is proposed to be filled for residential development. The south 
Wetland B is forested and will be protected under the proposed residential subdivision site 
development plan.  

Our study area did not include the tax lot to the south, which we delineated this past summer under 
WD #2013-0131 (SWCA 2013). Although it was stated in that report that wetlands extend off-site to 
the north, this is not true. The south wetland on the subject site is not connected to the wetland 
located to the south of the property line, and no wetlands are present south of the paved driveway 
entrance to the subject property, which is located near the southern property line.  

A. LANDSCAPE SETTING AND LAND USE 
OAR141-090-0035 (7)(a)  

The subject site has at least one residence and a large mixed-use building with barn and office space 
and several smaller barns and outbuildings. The wetlands are located in horse-grazed pasture, and 
much of the site contains unmowed fields. A small pump house is located in the north portion of the 
horse pasture, east of a large Oregon white oak (Quercus garryana) tree in the northwest corner of 
the site. The surrounding land use is rural residential and agriculture, with the rapidly developing 
Villebois area to the south. Two long, rectangular tax lots extending south from Tooze Road contain 
single-family residences and are also not included within our study area boundary. 

B. SITE ALTERATIONS 
OAR141-090-0035 (7)(c) 

Two entrance roads to the site are present: the southern road is paved and actively used, and the 
central road is not used. Fencing is present. A blocked small-diameter culvert is present under the 
south entrance road. Site residents report that the road floods in the winter. Aerial photographs 
reviewed on Google Earth do not reveal any patterns of seasonal saturation or ponding (Google Earth 
2013). 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

2 

C. PRECIPITATION DATA AND ANALYSIS 
OAR141-090-0035 (7)(i) 

The closest WETS (short for wetlands climate analysis) station to the project site is the North 
Willamette Experiment station. Average annual rainfall according to the WETS table for this station 
is 42.58 inches. Precipitation data were obtained from the Aurora weather station via the National 
Weather Service (NWS). Precipitation data are shown in Table 1, and raw data are included in 
Appendix C. Table 1 shows the average monthly precipitation averages according to the WETS 
station for the 3 months prior to SWCA’s October 1 and 8, 2013, site visits.  

Table 1. Precipitation Data (inches) 

Month Average 
30% Chance Will Have 

Less Than More Than 
Observed 

Precipitation 
Within Normal Range? 

July 0.73 0.22 0.88 0.01 Below normal 
August 0.83 0.21 0.98 0.61 Yes 
September 1.79 0.85 2.25 7.39 Record above normal 

 
According to the NWS Aurora weather station, record rainfall fell in the last few days of September, 
and rainfall received during the month was 5.66 inches above normal in Aurora (NWS 2013). 
Rainfall received on the October 1, 2013, site visit was 0.38 inch, and rainfall received 2 weeks prior 
to the site visit was 5.18 inches. Rainfall received on the October 8, 2013, site visit was 0.02 inch, 
with 0.65 inch received the prior week and 3.24 inches received the week prior to that. The Aurora 
station does not report water year-to-date precipitation; the water year starts October 1 and runs 
through September 30.  

The NWS Portland station reported that the precipitation for the water year-to-date, as of September 
30, was 6.80 inches above the normal value of 36.03 inches (climate normal period 1981 to 2010), 
and 4.15 inches above the normal value of 1.47 inches for the month of September. Record rainfall 
event reports for the major NWS stations are included in Appendix C. 

The extreme amount of rainfall that fell prior to our October 1 site reconnaissance allowed 
observation of primary hydrology indicators in the lowest and wettest portion of Wetland B, at Plot 1. 
The remaining wetlands’ hydrology did not appear to be fully recharged during our site visits, as only 
secondary indicators of hydrology were observed. This observation is consistent with PHS’s findings 
that the extent and duration of wetter conditions is not known, due to the dry season timing of 
fieldwork.  

According to the WETS table, the growing season for the area does not end until November 21. Our 
site visits occurred during the growing season.  

D. METHODS 
OAR141-090-0035 (7)(d-e), (g-h), (16)(a-b), (f), (d) or (g), (17), and (19-20) 

The methodology used for determining the presence of wetlands followed the U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers’ (Corps’) Wetlands Delineation Manual (Environmental Laboratory 1987) and the 
Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: Western Mountains, 
Valleys, and Coast Region (Version 2.0) (Corps 2010), used by both the Corps and the Oregon DSL. 
Fieldwork for documenting site conditions and delineating the wetland and water boundaries was 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

3 

conducted on October 1 and 8, 2013, by Mirth Walker, Stacey Reed, and Stacy Benjamin. Soils, 
vegetation, and indicators of hydrology were recorded at 17 sample plot locations to document site 
conditions (Appendix D). The previously delineated wetland boundaries were superimposed on a 
Google Earth aerial photograph for comparison.  

Changes to the Wetlands Delineation Manual have occurred since the 2008 wetland delineation. 
These changes include hydric soil indicators and the wetland indicator status of plants. Many plants 
on the site that were considered facultative minus (FAC−) and did not meet the hydrophytic 
vegetation criterion in 2008 are now considered FAC and do meet the hydrophytic vegetation 
criterion.  

According to the Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) Clackamas County Area soil 
survey map and the Clackamas County hydric soil list, the following soil units are mapped in the 
study area (Figure 3, Appendix A): 

• Aloha silt loam, 0% to 3% and 3% to 6% slopes (Units 1A and 1B) on terraces; non-hydric, 
with hydric Huberly and Dayton inclusions in depressions (NRCS 2013a,b,c). 

 
Representative ground-level site photographs are included in Appendix E. Literature cited and 
references used are included in Appendix F.  

E. DESCRIPTION OF ALL WETLANDS AND OTHER NON-WETLAND 
WATERS 
OAR141-090-0035 (2), (7)(b), and (17) 

Wetlands 

Wetland A (north wetland) 
The boundary of Wetland A was documented at Plots 9 through 15. This wetland was difficult to see 
on the landscape: it is a very subtle depression. There was no distinct vegetation change between 
wetland and upland; it lacked primary indicators of hydrology; it did not display drainage patterns; 
and only one plot (Plot 11) displayed two secondary indicators of hydrology; therefore, we relied on 
the prior PHS-delineated wetland boundary.  

The wetland is dominated by colonial bent grass (Agrostis capillaris, FAC). Soils displayed Depleted 
Matrix (F3) and/or Redox Dark Surface (F6) hydric soil indicators. Hydrology appears to be driven 
by direct precipitation. It is possible that this wetland does not display strong enough hydrology to be 
considered wetland during periods of normal precipitation in the spring. 

Wetland B (south wetland)  
Wetland B was evaluated at Plots 1 through 8 and 16. Similar to PHS findings, both upland and 
wetland soils commonly included redoximorphic concentrations, and upland plots had oxidized 
rhizospheres in the surface few inches, which were determined to likely be the result of compaction 
from active grazing. The wetland boundary hugged the forested Oregon ash (Fraxinus latifolia, 
FACW) perimeter and the edge of pugged soils, and we reduced the size of the wetland slightly along 
the western edge (Plot 2), in two small areas along the eastern edge that were obviously on higher 
land forms (Plot 8), and in the north, where soils were disturbed and dominated by creeping buttercup 
(Ranunculus repens, FAC; Plots 3 and 5).  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

4 

Soils displayed Redox Dark Surface (F6) or Depleted below Dark Surface (A11) hydric soil 
indicators. This wetland exhibits strong indicators of hydrology near its southern boundary, with 
water marks on trees and fence posts extending up to 18 inches in height.  

Soils have been disturbed in the vicinity of SWCA Plots 3 and 5 since the PHS delineation, based on 
the comparison of soil profiles of the closely placed SWCA Plot 5 and PHS Plot 3, and SWCA Plot 3 
and PHS Plot 4. We pulled the boundary in at this point to conform with the geomorphic land form 
depression that was characteristic of the Oregon ash forested wetland.  

Non-Wetland Waters 

There are no non-wetland waters on the site.  

F. DEVIATION FROM LWI OR NWI 
OAR141-090-0035 (16)(e) 

The site was not included in the City of Wilsonville’s Local Wetland Inventory (LWI). The 
Sherwood, Oregon, National Wetlands Inventory (NWI) shows no mapped wetlands on the site 
(Figure 4, Appendix A).  

G. MAPPING METHOD 
OAR141-090-0035 (7)(f), (11), (12), (13), (18), and (22) 

Sample plots and the wetland boundary of the south wetland were flagged in the field by SWCA and 
professionally land surveyed by Pacific Community Design. The surveyed delineation map is 
included as Figure 5 in Appendix A. Both the PHS wetland boundaries and the SWCA-revised south 
wetland boundary are shown for comparison purposes. Figure 6 shows just the SWCA delineation. 

H. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
OAR141-090-0035 (6)(c), (16)(c), and (21) 

The wetlands have no direct surface water connection to each other or to off-site wetlands or waters.  

I. RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS 
OAR141-090-0035 (7)(j) 

Wetland A was not changed from the previous delineation. Wetland B was found to be smaller (0.45 
acre) than the 0.52-acre wetland delineated by PHS in 2008. Table 2 below provides a summary of 
the size of each feature, the Cowardin and hydrogeomorphic (HGM) classifications, any hydrologic 
connection to other nearby waters, and our prediction of whether the feature would likely be 
determined jurisdictional by DSL and the Corps. Wetlands do not extend off-site. 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

5 

Table 2. Summary of Potentially Jurisdictional Features in the Study Area 

Feature Acres Cowardin 
Class1 

HGM 
Classification 

Connection to Other 
Waters 

Predicted 
Jurisdiction 

Wetland A 0.37 PEM Slope/Flats None DSL; Corps 
unknown 

Wetland B 0.45 PFO Slope/Flats None DSL; Corps 
unknown 

Total 
wetlands 

0.82 

1PEM = palustrine emergent; PFO = palustrine forested. 
 
The approximate centroid latitude and longitude of each feature are listed in Table 3. The 
approximate centroid latitude and longitude of the study area are 45.315883°N and −122.798791°W. 

Table 3. Latitude and Longitude of Potentially Jurisdictional Features in the Study Area 

Feature Latitude (°N) Longitude (°W) 
Wetland A 45.316211 −122.799604 
Wetland B 45.315106 −122.800255 
 

J. REQUIRED DISCLAIMER 
OAR141-0090-0035 (7)(k) 

This report documents the investigation, best professional judgment, and conclusions of the 
investigators. It is correct and complete to the best of my knowledge. It should be considered a 
Preliminary Jurisdictional Determination of wetlands and other waters and used at your own risk 
unless it has been reviewed and approved in writing by the Oregon DSL in accordance with Oregon 
Administrative Rules 141-090-0005 through 141-090-0055. 

K. LIST OF PREPARERS 

 
C. Mirth Walker, PWS, CWD 
Senior Wetland Scientist 
  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

6 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 
 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

APPENDIX A 

Figures 
  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-1 

 
Figure 1. Site location map.   



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-2 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-3 

 
Figure 2. Tax lot map 3 1W 15.   



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-4 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-5 

 
Figure 3. Soils map.   



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-6 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-7 

 
Figure 4. National Wetlands Inventory map.  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-8 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



N
:\

pr
oj

\3
95

-0
27

\0
9 

D
ra

w
in

gs
\0

6 
Su

rv
ey

\E
xh

ib
its

\3
95

02
7.

Ru
m

pf
 W

et
la

nd
s.d

w
g 

- S
HE

ET
: 1

1x
17

   
O

ct
 0

9,
 2

01
3 

- 5
:0

5p
m

 t2

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
A

cmwalker
Text Box
B

cmwalker
Text Box

cmwalker
Text Box
FIGURE 5

cmwalker
Text Box
B

cmwalker
Text Box
A



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-10 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



N
:\

pr
oj

\3
95

-0
27

\0
9 

D
ra

w
in

gs
\0

6 
Su

rv
ey

\E
xh

ib
its

\3
95

02
7.

Ru
m

pf
 W

et
la

nd
s.d

w
g 

- S
HE

ET
: 1

1x
17

   
O

ct
 0

9,
 2

01
3 

- 1
1:

38
am

 t2

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Text Box

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCAPLOT 16

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCAPLOT 17

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Text Box
PLOTS 16 AND 17 MAPPED BY HAND (PLUS OR MINUS 5 FEET ACCURACY); OTHER WETLAND A FEATURES FLAGGED IN THE FIELD BY SWCA ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS AND PROFESSIONALLY LAND SURVEYED BY PACIFIC COMMUNITY DESIGN.

cmwalker
Text Box
BY PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
A

cmwalker
Text Box
B

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Text Box
FIGURE 6



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-12 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

APPENDIX B 

WD #2007-0706 
  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Department of State Lands
775 Summer Street NE Suite 100

Salem OR 97301 1279

503 378 3805

FAX 503 378 4844

www oregonstatelands us

State Land Board

Terry Kinney
Theodore R Kulongoski

West Hills Development
Governor

735 SW
158th

Ave Bill Bradbury
Beaverton OR 97006 Secretary of State

Randall Edwards

Re Wetland Delineation Report for Villebois SAP North SE of Intersection SW
State Treasurer

Grahams Ferry Road and SW Tooze Road Wilsonville Clackamas County
T3S R1 Sec 15 Tax Lots 1200 1202 1203 1205 1591 and portion of 2990
WD 07 0706

Dear Mr Kinney

The Department of State Lands has reviewed the wetland delineation report prepared

by Pacific Habitat Services Inc for the site referenced above Based upon our review

we concur with their delineation and conclusions Within the study area 3 wetlands
totaling approximately 0 96 acres were identified The wetlands are subject to the
permit requirements of the state Removal Fill Law A state permit is required for

cumulative fill or annual excavation of 50 cubic yards or more in the wetlands

This concurrence is for purposes of the state Removal Fill Law only Federal or local

permit requirements may apply as well The Army Corps of Engineers will review the
report and make a determination of jurisdiction for purposes of the Clean Water Act at

the time that a permit application is submitted We recommend that you attach a copy
of this concurrence letter to both copies of any subsequent joint permit application to
speed application review

Please be advised that state law establishes a preference for avoidance of wetland

impacts Because measures to avoid and minimize wetland impacts may include
reconfiguring parcel layout and size or development design we recommend that you
work with Department staff on appropriate site design before completing the city or
county land use approval process

This concurrence is based on information provided to the agency The jurisdictional
determination is valid for five years from the date of this letter unless new information
necessitates a revision Circumstances under which the Department may change a
determination and procedures for renewal of an expired determination are found in
OAR 141 090 0045 available on our web site or upon request The applicant

landowner or agent may submit a request for reconsideration of this determination in
writing within 60 calendar days of the date of this letter

GAWRMWetlands Program WD Letters 2007 07 0706 doc 1



Thank you for having the site evaluated Please phone me at 503 986 5236 if you have

any questions

Sincerely

J c ko 6z
Jane C Morlan PWS
Wetlands Program Manager

Enclosures

cc Fred Small Pacific Habitat Services

City of Wilsonville Planning Department
James Holm Corps of Engineers

Mike McCabe DSL

G AIWC Wetlands Program WD Lefters 2007 07 0706 doc



POTENTIALLYJURISDICTIONALWETLAND

ISAMPLEPOINT

STUDYAREABOUNDARY

WT002ER

1

IF

d

rl

yi
11T

y
C

D

p
i

j7

11

4TAXILOTI102ilti

i

tTirT
1

I

It

ifAXLOT120

lie
r

d
TAXLO11200r

rfi
LTAXLOT205

tigym

I

1

TL4

1

Lj
emmmQ

m

16

m
y

icee

Cr
mmm

71

LN

mlap

i3Pm
a

m

m

Km
lj9tm

TAXLOT2990
URISDICTIONALl

WETLANDPER

VVFJ020408m1lAREACifr

lIIii r

iAXLOT2900
m

NOTEr

tiTAXLOFTS2900AND2990HAVEBEENPREVIOUSLYDELINEAITED
DM20408PERMITSFORPREVIOUSLYDELINEATEDWETLANDSr

r1
1

fEREISSUEDUNDERDSL30721FPANDCOE200300481

m

TAXLOT2900

SIINFM

FIGUREPotentiallyjurisdictionalwetlandsonaproposedresidentialsubdivisiononSWGrahamsFerry
RoadinWilsonvilleOregonAreasAandBprofessionallylandsurveyedbyAlphaEngineering3868

4Inc2003BoundaryofAreaCisbasedoncompassbearinganddistancefromsurveyed
102306

pointsEstimatedaccuracyofAreaCis2feet
exs

PacificHabitatServicesInc



1 T

if

A J L
lei

t r

3

r
b

r
r I e

1

t
t v j

s t Ravnr 1 J
I ll d

t v e 9
Yf1

p 1 a l
1 J 1

v
it

A
J C3 tY

i y t I 1

1tie
J Z t

t tt
C3i lti t

j 1

illti
t

SIT

STATE FPSPITA
i

4
rl

r

r

r

II C rL t

4 1jQy r r r t 1 j 11 j i AJ p n n t3 WI tom

t

j
J

r y i

Ir
C1 If I Pi i a M 1

VV 4 i tl Water kt

kii

u ti la 1 YO 1 BM 147

Ji

r
moo i r 11 t L I m

I t lr r lz x
k tu r lu zl

i
ii r

l i

ISIN
l

1 tit x 1
r t1 3

i lr tn IQf t

IJ

j u ii Iir i iI iiy 1 l n

r eJJfL ti it

H

eT f 1 It t u my

Fri

t u
rJq 1 vw offVv slt Ir

n r r t

rrtir
tt ri t i i

S iio t t 1 r
J It A V tr t

c rr r J f r t f I
1 i r

u l 1 r k3 f 10
I I i r0 1i mow

r

rft

1 fLjY t7 c en e r 1 s
r Jrgym

n c t

l

rJtl

1Jt
t

4VP
r

i i it

t

1
v t U

tt

10 30 06
3868

ZA x

Location and general topography in the vicinity of SW Grahams Ferry Road FIGURE

in Wilsonville Oregon USGS Sherwood Oregon quadrangle 1961 photorevised
1984 1

V if TTahitat CPrviPP4 Tne





Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

APPENDIX C 

Precipitation Data 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the 
National Climatic Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to 
revision. Final and certified climate data can be accessed at the NCDC - 
http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

Record Report

000 
SXUS76 KPQR 032342 CCA 
RERPQR 

RECORD EVENT REPORT 
NATIONAL WEATHER SERVICE PORTLAND OREGON 
1215 PM PDT THU OCT 4 2013 

...HISTORIC SEPTEMBER RAINFALL ACROSS THE REGION (CORRECTED)... 

WITH THE RECENT HEAVY RAINFALL MANY OBSERVATIONS STATIONS HAVE 
REPORTED RECORD AMOUNTS OF RAINFALL FOR THE MONTH OF SEPTEMBER. 

FOLLOWING ARE STATIONS WITH THE TOP 4 WETTEST SEPTEMBERS FOR 
EACH STATIONS (AND PERIOD OF RECORD). 

------------------------------------------------ 
ASTORIA (1890-2013)... 
   1. SEP 2013......... 10.70 INCHES   *** RECORD *** 
   2. SEP 1906.........  8.66 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1920.........  8.55 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1905.........  7.38 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 2.14 INCHES 

PORTLAND AIRPORT (1940-2013) 
   1. SEP 2013.........  5.62 INCHES   *** RECORD *** 
   2. SEP 1986.........  4.30 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1982.........  3.98 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1945.........  3.96 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 1.47 INCHES 

PORTLAND DOWNTOWN (1874-2013)... 
   1. SEP 2013.........  6.85 INCHES   *** RECORD *** CORRECTED 
   2. SEP 1927.........  5.52 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1911.........  5.19 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1969.........  4.87 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 1.54 INCHES 

HILLSBORO (1929-2013)... 
   1. SEP 2013.........  6.27 INCHES   *** RECORD *** 
   2. SEP 1945.........  3.68 INCHES 

Page 1 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/11/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



   3. SEP 1982.........  3.46 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1977.........  3.43 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 1.26 INCHES 

EUGENE (1892-2013) 
   1. SEP 2013.........  7.08 INCHES   *** RECORD *** 
   2. SEP 1927.........  5.21 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1911.........  4.91 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1986.........  4.65 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 1.29 INCHES 

SALEM (1892-2013)... 
   1. SEP 2013.........  7.05 INCHES   *** RECORD *** 
   2. SEP 1927.........  5.52 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1911.........  5.19 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1969.........  4.87 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 1.28 INCHES 

VANCOUVER, WA (1890-2013)... 
   1. SEP 2013.........  5.24 INCHES   *** RECORD *** 
   2. SEP 1911.........  4.88 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1969.........  4.82 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1925.........  4.46 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1986.........  4.44 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 1.56 INCHES 

MCMINNVILLE (1894-2013) 
   1. SEP 1996......... 7.58 INCHES 
   2. SEP 2013......... 6.19 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1901......... 4.83 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1914......... 4.28 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 1.31 INCHES 

CULLEN/ROCKEY 

Page 2 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/11/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the 
National Climatic Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to 
revision. Final and certified climate data can be accessed at the NCDC - 
http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

Climatological Report (Daily)

000 
CDUS46 KPQR 011142 
CLIUAO 

CLIMATE REPORT 
NATIONAL WEATHER SERVICE PORTLAND OREGON 
441 AM PDT TUE OCT 1 2013 

................................... 

...THE AURORA STATE OR CLIMATE SUMMARY FOR SEPTEMBER 30 2013... 

CLIMATE NORMAL PERIOD 1981 TO 2010 
CLIMATE RECORD PERIOD 9999 TO 9999 

WEATHER ITEM   OBSERVED TIME   RECORD YEAR     LAST 
                VALUE   (LST)  VALUE           YEAR 
.................................................... 
TEMPERATURE (F) 
 YESTERDAY 
  MAXIMUM         59   1242 PM  MM      MM 
  MINIMUM         50   1159 PM  MM      MM 

PRECIPITATION (IN) 
  YESTERDAY        0.38                        0.00 
  MONTH TO DATE    7.39                        0.12 
  SINCE OCT 1     43.72                       41.31 
  SINCE JAN 1     20.97                       29.97 

DEGREE DAYS 
 HEATING 
  YESTERDAY       10                           5 
  MONTH TO DATE  109                          77 
  SINCE SEP 1    109                          77 
  SINCE JUL 1    119                         117 

 COOLING 
  YESTERDAY        0                           0 

Page 1 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/11/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



  MONTH TO DATE   64                          43 
  SINCE SEP 1     64                          43 
  SINCE JAN 1    426                         294 
.................................................... 

WIND (MPH) 
  HIGHEST WIND SPEED    26   HIGHEST WIND DIRECTION     S (180) 
  HIGHEST GUST SPEED    32   HIGHEST GUST DIRECTION     S (180) 
  AVERAGE WIND SPEED    11.5 

SKY COVER 
  AVERAGE SKY COVER 0.9 

WEATHER CONDITIONS 
 THE FOLLOWING WEATHER WAS RECORDED YESTERDAY. 
  RAIN 
  LIGHT RAIN 
  FOG 

RELATIVE HUMIDITY (PERCENT) 
 HIGHEST    96           600 AM 
 LOWEST     80           100 PM 
 AVERAGE    88 

.......................................................... 

SUNRISE AND SUNSET 
OCTOBER  1 2013.......SUNRISE   710 AM PDT   SUNSET   651 PM PDT 
OCTOBER  2 2013.......SUNRISE   711 AM PDT   SUNSET   649 PM PDT 

-  INDICATES NEGATIVE NUMBERS. 
R  INDICATES RECORD WAS SET OR TIED. 
MM INDICATES DATA IS MISSING. 
T  INDICATES TRACE AMOUNT. 

Page 2 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/11/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



The U.S. Naval Observatory (USNO) computes astronomical data. Therefore, the NWS 
does not record, certify, or authenticate astronomical data. Computed times of sunrise, 
sunset, moonrise, moonset; and twilight, moon phases and other astronomical data are 
available from USNO's Astronomical Applications Department 
(http://www.usno.navy.mil). See http://www.usno.navy.mil/USNO/astronomical-
applications/astronomical-information-center/litigation for information on using these data 
for legal purposes.

Page 3 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/11/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the 
National Climatic Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to 
revision. Final and certified climate data can be accessed at the NCDC - 
http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

Climatological Report (Daily)

000 
CDUS46 KPQR 021141 
CLIUAO 

CLIMATE REPORT 
NATIONAL WEATHER SERVICE PORTLAND OREGON 
440 AM PDT WED OCT 2 2013 

................................... 

...THE AURORA STATE OR CLIMATE SUMMARY FOR OCTOBER 1 2013... 

CLIMATE NORMAL PERIOD 1981 TO 2010 
CLIMATE RECORD PERIOD 9999 TO 9999 

WEATHER ITEM   OBSERVED TIME   RECORD YEAR     LAST 
                VALUE   (LST)  VALUE           YEAR 
.................................................... 
TEMPERATURE (F) 
 YESTERDAY 
  MAXIMUM         58    146 PM  MM      MM 
  MINIMUM         42   1159 PM  MM      MM 

PRECIPITATION (IN) 
  YESTERDAY        0.38                        0.00 
  MONTH TO DATE    0.38                        0.00 
  SINCE OCT 1      0.38                        0.00 
  SINCE JAN 1     21.35                       29.97 

DEGREE DAYS 
 HEATING 
  YESTERDAY       15                           0 
  MONTH TO DATE   15                           0 
  SINCE SEP 1    124                          77 
  SINCE JUL 1    134                         117 

 COOLING 
  YESTERDAY        0                           1 

Page 1 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/2/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



  MONTH TO DATE    0                           1 
  SINCE SEP 1     64                          44 
  SINCE JAN 1    426                         295 
.................................................... 

WIND (MPH) 
  HIGHEST WIND SPEED    14   HIGHEST WIND DIRECTION     S (180) 
  HIGHEST GUST SPEED    18   HIGHEST GUST DIRECTION     S (180) 
  AVERAGE WIND SPEED     4.0 

SKY COVER 
  AVERAGE SKY COVER 0.6 

WEATHER CONDITIONS 
 THE FOLLOWING WEATHER WAS RECORDED YESTERDAY. 
  RAIN 
  LIGHT RAIN 
  FOG 

RELATIVE HUMIDITY (PERCENT) 
 HIGHEST    93           400 AM 
 LOWEST     62           200 PM 
 AVERAGE    78 

.......................................................... 

SUNRISE AND SUNSET 
OCTOBER  2 2013.......SUNRISE   711 AM PDT   SUNSET   649 PM PDT 
OCTOBER  3 2013.......SUNRISE   712 AM PDT   SUNSET   647 PM PDT 

-  INDICATES NEGATIVE NUMBERS. 
R  INDICATES RECORD WAS SET OR TIED. 
MM INDICATES DATA IS MISSING. 
T  INDICATES TRACE AMOUNT. 

Page 2 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/2/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the 
National Climatic Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to 
revision. Final and certified climate data can be accessed at the NCDC - 
http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

Climatological Report (Daily)

000 
CDUS46 KPQR 091147 
CLIUAO 

CLIMATE REPORT 
NATIONAL WEATHER SERVICE PORTLAND OREGON 
446 AM PDT WED OCT 9 2013 

................................... 

...THE AURORA STATE OR CLIMATE SUMMARY FOR OCTOBER 8 2013... 

CLIMATE NORMAL PERIOD 1981 TO 2010 
CLIMATE RECORD PERIOD 9999 TO 9999 

WEATHER ITEM   OBSERVED TIME   RECORD YEAR     LAST 
                VALUE   (LST)  VALUE           YEAR 
.................................................... 
TEMPERATURE (F) 
 YESTERDAY 
  MAXIMUM         57    412 PM  MM      MM 
  MINIMUM         41   1143 PM  MM      MM 

PRECIPITATION (IN) 
  YESTERDAY        0.02                        0.00 
  MONTH TO DATE    0.65                        0.00 
  SINCE OCT 1      0.65                        0.00 
  SINCE JAN 1     21.62                       29.97 

DEGREE DAYS 
 HEATING 
  YESTERDAY       16                          12 
  MONTH TO DATE  101                          42 
  SINCE SEP 1    210                         119 
  SINCE JUL 1    220                         159 

 COOLING 
  YESTERDAY        0                           0 

Page 1 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/9/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



  MONTH TO DATE    0                           1 
  SINCE SEP 1     64                          44 
  SINCE JAN 1    426                         295 
.................................................... 

WIND (MPH) 
  HIGHEST WIND SPEED    13   HIGHEST WIND DIRECTION     N (350) 
  HIGHEST GUST SPEED    18   HIGHEST GUST DIRECTION     S (180) 
  AVERAGE WIND SPEED     5.3 

SKY COVER 
  AVERAGE SKY COVER 0.8 

WEATHER CONDITIONS 
 THE FOLLOWING WEATHER WAS RECORDED YESTERDAY. 
  LIGHT RAIN 
  FOG 
  HAZE 

RELATIVE HUMIDITY (PERCENT) 
 HIGHEST   100          1100 PM 
 LOWEST     67           400 PM 
 AVERAGE    84 

.......................................................... 

SUNRISE AND SUNSET 
OCTOBER  9 2013.......SUNRISE   720 AM PDT   SUNSET   636 PM PDT 
OCTOBER 10 2013.......SUNRISE   721 AM PDT   SUNSET   634 PM PDT 

-  INDICATES NEGATIVE NUMBERS. 
R  INDICATES RECORD WAS SET OR TIED. 
MM INDICATES DATA IS MISSING. 
T  INDICATES TRACE AMOUNT. 

Page 2 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/9/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



Explanation of the Preliminary Monthly Climate Data (F6) Product

These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the National Climatic 
Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to revision. Final and certified climate data 
can be accessed at the NCDC - http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

WFO Monthly/Daily Climate Data

000 
CXUS55 KPQR 091230 
CF6UAO 
PRELIMINARY LOCAL CLIMATOLOGICAL DATA (WS FORM: F-6) 

                                          STATION:   AURORA STATE OR 
                                          MONTH:     OCTOBER 
                                          YEAR:      2013 
                                          LATITUDE:   45 15 N 
                                          LONGITUDE: 122 46 W 

  TEMPERATURE IN F:       :PCPN:    SNOW:  WIND      :SUNSHINE: SKY     :PK WND 
================================================================================ 
1   2   3   4   5  6A  6B    7    8   9   10  11  12  13   14  15   16   17  18 
                                     12Z  AVG MX 2MIN 
DY MAX MIN AVG DEP HDD CDD  WTR  SNW DPTH SPD SPD DIR MIN PSBL S-S WX    SPD DR 
================================================================================ 

 1  58  42  50  -9  15   0 0.38    M    0  4.0 14 180   M    M   6 1      18 180 
 2  53  41  47 -11  18   0 0.11    M    0  1.9  9 180   M    M   6 12     13 170 
 3  59  42  51  -7  14   0 0.00  0.0    0  0.6  8  80   M    M   7 12      9  60 
 4  65  39  52  -6  13   0 0.00  0.0    0  1.7  8  20   M    M   3 12      9  10 
 5  72  39  56  -1   9   0 0.00    M    0  0.7  7  20   M    M   0 1       9  20 
 6  73  40  57   0   8   0 0.00  0.0    0  2.8 12 180   M    M   4 12     15 180 
 7  62  51  57   1   8   0 0.14  0.0    0  5.4 15 260   M    M   9 1      22 250 
 8  57  41  49  -7  16   0 0.02    M    0  5.3 13 350   M    M   8 18     18 180 
================================================================================ 
SM  499  335       101   0  0.65     0.0  22.4          M       43 
================================================================================ 
AV 62.4 41.9                               2.8 FASTST   M    M   5    MAX(MPH) 
                                 MISC ---->  # 15 260               # 22  250 
================================================================================ 
NOTES: 
# LAST OF SEVERAL OCCURRENCES 

COLUMN 17 PEAK WIND IN M.P.H. 

PRELIMINARY LOCAL CLIMATOLOGICAL DATA (WS FORM: F-6) , PAGE 2 

                                          STATION:  AURORA STATE OR 
                                          MONTH:    OCTOBER 
                                          YEAR:     2013 
                                          LATITUDE:   45 15 N 
                                          LONGITUDE: 122 46 W 

[TEMPERATURE DATA]      [PRECIPITATION DATA]       SYMBOLS USED IN COLUMN 16 

AVERAGE MONTHLY: 52.1   TOTAL FOR MONTH:   0.65    1 = FOG OR MIST 

Page 1 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/9/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



DPTR FM NORMAL:  -5.2   DPTR FM NORMAL:   -0.02    2 = FOG REDUCING VISIBILITY 
HIGHEST:    73 ON  6    GRTST 24HR  0.47 ON 30- 1      TO 1/4 MILE OR LESS 
LOWEST:     39 ON  5, 4                            3 = THUNDER 
                        SNOW, ICE PELLETS, HAIL    4 = ICE PELLETS 
                        TOTAL MONTH:   0.0 INCH    5 = HAIL 
                        GRTST 24HR     0.0         6 = FREEZING RAIN OR DRIZZLE 
                        GRTST DEPTH:   0           7 = DUSTSTORM OR SANDSTORM: 
                                                       VSBY 1/2 MILE OR LESS 
                                                   8 = SMOKE OR HAZE 
[NO. OF DAYS WITH]      [WEATHER - DAYS WITH]      9 = BLOWING SNOW 
                                                   X = TORNADO 
MAX 32 OR BELOW:   0    0.01 INCH OR MORE:   4 
MAX 90 OR ABOVE:   0    0.10 INCH OR MORE:   3 
MIN 32 OR BELOW:   0    0.50 INCH OR MORE:   0 
MIN  0 OR BELOW:   0    1.00 INCH OR MORE:   0 

[HDD (BASE 65) ] 
TOTAL THIS MO.   101    CLEAR  (SCALE 0-3)   1 
DPTR FM NORMAL    38    PTCLDY (SCALE 4-7)   6 
TOTAL FM JUL 1   220    CLOUDY (SCALE 8-10)  1 
DPTR FM NORMAL    11 

[CDD (BASE 65) ] 
TOTAL THIS MO.     0 
DPTR FM NORMAL     0    [PRESSURE DATA] 
TOTAL FM JAN 1   426    HIGHEST SLP M ON M 
DPTR FM NORMAL    92    LOWEST  SLP 29.96 ON  6 

[REMARKS] 

Page 2 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/9/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



Explanation of the Preliminary Monthly Climate Data (F6) Product

These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the National Climatic 
Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to revision. Final and certified climate data 
can be accessed at the NCDC - http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

WFO Monthly/Daily Climate Data

000 
CXUS55 KPQR 011230 
CF6UAO 
PRELIMINARY LOCAL CLIMATOLOGICAL DATA (WS FORM: F-6) 

                                          STATION:   AURORA STATE OR 
                                          MONTH:     SEPTEMBER 
                                          YEAR:      2013 
                                          LATITUDE:   45 15 N 
                                          LONGITUDE: 122 46 W 

  TEMPERATURE IN F:       :PCPN:    SNOW:  WIND      :SUNSHINE: SKY     :PK WND 
================================================================================ 
1   2   3   4   5  6A  6B    7    8   9   10  11  12  13   14  15   16   17  18 
                                     12Z  AVG MX 2MIN 
DY MAX MIN AVG DEP HDD CDD  WTR  SNW DPTH SPD SPD DIR MIN PSBL S-S WX    SPD DR 
================================================================================ 

 1  83  57  70   4   0   5 0.00  0.0    0  2.8 10 180   M    M   1        15 190 
 2  79  61  70   4   0   5 0.02  0.0    0  2.7 12 230   M    M   7 3      17 240 
 3  79  59  69   3   0   4 0.08  0.0    0  1.2 10 350   M    M   3 13     14 340 
 4  76  59  68   2   0   3 0.10  0.0    0  2.3  8 340   M    M   7 13     10 350 
 5  66  58  62  -4   3   0 1.21  0.0    0  3.9 22 170   M    M   9 13     29 170 
 6  71  58  65  -1   0   0 0.78  0.0    0  7.3 15 190   M    M  10 1      22 200 
 7  81  55  68   3   0   3 0.00  0.0    0  4.1 10 360   M    M   4 12     14 360 
 8  86  57  72   7   0   7 0.00  0.0    0  5.0 15  20   M    M   0        18  10 
 9  85  58  72   7   0   7 0.00  0.0    0  3.8 10  30   M    M   2        14  30 
10  92  60  76  11   0  11 0.00  0.0    0  6.0 14 360   M    M   0        18 360 
11  93  59  76  11   0  11 0.00  0.0    0  2.9  9 250   M    M   0        12 230 
12  80  56  68   4   0   3 0.00  0.0    0  2.3  7 160   M    M   1         9 150 
13  76  57  67   3   0   2 0.00  0.0    0  1.6  9  20   M    M   4 1      12  20 
14  78  58  68   4   0   3 0.00  0.0    0  2.9  7 330   M    M   5 1      10 360 
15  69  59  64   0   1   0 0.02  0.0    0  5.3 12 190   M    M   9 13     15 190 
16  71  59  65   2   0   0 0.00  0.0    0  6.1 14 190   M    M  10 8      20 220 
17  68  54  61  -2   4   0 0.29  0.0    0  2.3 12  20   M    M   7 1      14  20 
18  72  51  62  -1   3   0 0.01  0.0    0  2.6  9  30   M    M   4        12  20 
19  78  45  62   0   3   0 0.00  0.0    0  0.7  7 230   M    M   0 8      10 240 
20  75  48  62   0   3   0 0.02    M    0  4.1 18 190   M    M   4        24 180 
21  66  54  60  -2   5   0 0.08  0.0    0  3.1 12 250   M    M   8 1      18 260 
22  61  54  58  -4   7   0 0.57  0.0    0 10.6 28 180   M    M   9 1      39 170 
23  62  53  58  -3   7   0 0.71    M    M  5.3 15 170   M    M   9 1      21 170 
24  60  50  55  -6  10   0 0.26    M    M  3.5 13 170   M    M  10 1      16 190 
25  60  47  54  -7  11   0 0.04    M    0  1.8  8  50   M    M   8 1       9  50 
26  64  46  55  -5  10   0 0.03    M    0  0.6 10 300   M    M   7 12     14 310 
27  57  43  50 -10  15   0 0.22    M    0 10.1 22 190   M    M   9 12     31 220 
28  65  52  59  -1   6   0 1.05  0.0    0 16.7 31 190   M    M  10 1      39 210 
29  57  51  54  -5  11   0 1.52  0.0    0 14.9 30 180   M    M   9 1      38 200 
30  59  50  55  -4  10   0 0.38  0.0    0 11.5 26 180   M    M   9 1      32 180 

Page 1 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/2/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



================================================================================ 
SM 2169 1628       109  64  7.39     0.0 148.0          M      175 
================================================================================ 
AV 72.3 54.3                               4.9 FASTST   M    M   6    MAX(MPH) 
                                 MISC ---->  # 31 190               # 39  170 
================================================================================ 
NOTES: 
# LAST OF SEVERAL OCCURRENCES 

COLUMN 17 PEAK WIND IN M.P.H. 

PRELIMINARY LOCAL CLIMATOLOGICAL DATA (WS FORM: F-6) , PAGE 2 

                                          STATION:  AURORA STATE OR 
                                          MONTH:    SEPTEMBER 
                                          YEAR:     2013 
                                          LATITUDE:   45 15 N 
                                          LONGITUDE: 122 46 W 

[TEMPERATURE DATA]      [PRECIPITATION DATA]       SYMBOLS USED IN COLUMN 16 

AVERAGE MONTHLY: 63.3   TOTAL FOR MONTH:   7.39    1 = FOG OR MIST 
DPTR FM NORMAL:   0.1   DPTR FM NORMAL:    5.66    2 = FOG REDUCING VISIBILITY 
HIGHEST:    93 ON 11    GRTST 24HR  1.97 ON  5- 6      TO 1/4 MILE OR LESS 
LOWEST:     43 ON 27                               3 = THUNDER 
                        SNOW, ICE PELLETS, HAIL    4 = ICE PELLETS 
                        TOTAL MONTH:   0.0 INCH    5 = HAIL 
                        GRTST 24HR     0.0         6 = FREEZING RAIN OR DRIZZLE 
                        GRTST DEPTH:   0           7 = DUSTSTORM OR SANDSTORM: 
                                                       VSBY 1/2 MILE OR LESS 
                                                   8 = SMOKE OR HAZE 
[NO. OF DAYS WITH]      [WEATHER - DAYS WITH]      9 = BLOWING SNOW 
                                                   X = TORNADO 
MAX 32 OR BELOW:   0    0.01 INCH OR MORE:  19 
MAX 90 OR ABOVE:   2    0.10 INCH OR MORE:  11 
MIN 32 OR BELOW:   0    0.50 INCH OR MORE:   6 
MIN  0 OR BELOW:   0    1.00 INCH OR MORE:   3 

[HDD (BASE 65) ] 
TOTAL THIS MO.   109    CLEAR  (SCALE 0-3)   7 
DPTR FM NORMAL    10    PTCLDY (SCALE 4-7)  10 
TOTAL FM JUL 1   119    CLOUDY (SCALE 8-10) 13 
DPTR FM NORMAL   -27 

[CDD (BASE 65) ] 
TOTAL THIS MO.    64 
DPTR FM NORMAL    20    [PRESSURE DATA] 
TOTAL FM JAN 1   426    HIGHEST SLP 30.19 ON 27 
DPTR FM NORMAL    92    LOWEST  SLP 29.39 ON 29 

[REMARKS] 
#FINAL-09-13# 

Page 2 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/2/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the 
National Climatic Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to revision. 
Final and certified climate data can be accessed at the NCDC - 
http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

Climatological Report (Monthly)

000 
CXUS56 KPQR 011525 
CLMUAO 

CLIMATE REPORT 
NATIONAL WEATHER SERVICE PORTLAND OREGON 
825 AM PDT SUN SEP 1 2013 

................................... 

...THE AURORA STATE OR CLIMATE SUMMARY FOR THE MONTH OF AUGUST 2013... 

CLIMATE NORMAL PERIOD 1981 TO 2010 
CLIMATE RECORD PERIOD 9999 TO 9999 

WEATHER         OBSERVED          NORMAL  DEPART  LAST YEAR`S 
                 VALUE   DATE(S)  VALUE   FROM    VALUE  DATE(S) 
                                          NORMAL 
................................................................ 
TEMPERATURE (F) 
HIGHEST            93                                101  08/04 
LOWEST             52                                 44  08/24 
AVG. MAXIMUM     81.7              81.8    -0.1     83.3 
AVG. MINIMUM     57.4              54.7     2.7     54.6 
MEAN             69.6              68.3     1.3     68.9 
DAYS MAX >= 90      4               5.1    -1.1        9 
DAYS MAX <= 32      0               0.0     0.0        0 
DAYS MIN <= 32      0               0.0     0.0        0 
DAYS MIN <= 0       0               0.0     0.0        0 

PRECIPITATION (INCHES) 
RECORD 
 MAXIMUM           MM   MM 
 MINIMUM           MM   MM 
TOTALS           0.61              0.66   -0.05        T 
DAYS >= .01         7                MM      MM        0 
DAYS >= .10         2                MM      MM        0 
DAYS >= .50         0                MM      MM        0 
DAYS >= 1.00        0                MM      MM        0 
GREATEST 
 24 HR. TOTAL    0.28   08/28 TO 08/29 

Page 1 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/14/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



DEGREE_DAYS 
HEATING TOTAL       5                22     -17       15 
 SINCE 7/1         10                47     -37       40 
COOLING TOTAL     154               123      31      147 
 SINCE 1/1        362               290      72      251 
................................................................. 

WIND (MPH) 
AVERAGE WIND SPEED              3.4 
RESULTANT WIND SPEED/DIRECTION   1/044 
HIGHEST WIND SPEED/DIRECTION    21/170    DATE  08/26 
HIGHEST GUST SPEED/DIRECTION    26/190    DATE  08/26 

SKY COVER 
POSSIBLE SUNSHINE (PERCENT)   MM 
AVERAGE SKY COVER           0.30 

AVERAGE RH (PERCENT)     66 

WEATHER CONDITIONS. NUMBER OF DAYS WITH 
THUNDERSTORM              0     MIXED PRECIP               0 
HEAVY RAIN                0     RAIN                       2 
LIGHT RAIN                7     FREEZING RAIN              0 
LT FREEZING RAIN          0     HAIL                       0 
HEAVY SNOW                0     SNOW                       0 
LIGHT SNOW                0     SLEET                      0 
FOG                       4     FOG W/VIS <= 1/4 MILE      0 
HAZE                      0 

-  INDICATES NEGATIVE NUMBERS. 
R  INDICATES RECORD WAS SET OR TIED. 
MM INDICATES DATA IS MISSING. 
T  INDICATES TRACE AMOUNT. 

Page 2 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/14/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the 
National Climatic Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to 
revision. Final and certified climate data can be accessed at the NCDC - 
http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

Climatological Report (Monthly)

000 
CXUS56 KPQR 011510 
CLMUAO 

CLIMATE REPORT 
NATIONAL WEATHER SERVICE PORTLAND OREGON 
810 AM PDT THU AUG 1 2013 

................................... 

...THE AURORA STATE OR CLIMATE SUMMARY FOR THE MONTH OF JULY 2013... 

CLIMATE NORMAL PERIOD 1981 TO 2010 
CLIMATE RECORD PERIOD 9999 TO 9999 

WEATHER         OBSERVED          NORMAL  DEPART  LAST YEAR`S 
                 VALUE   DATE(S)  VALUE   FROM    VALUE  DATE(S) 
                                          NORMAL 
................................................................ 
TEMPERATURE (F) 
HIGHEST            92                                 90  07/08 
LOWEST             48                                 45  07/04 
AVG. MAXIMUM     83.7              80.9     2.8     78.9 
AVG. MINIMUM     54.4              55.1    -0.7     54.5 
MEAN             69.1              68.0     1.1     66.7 
DAYS MAX >= 90      7               5.1     1.9        1 
DAYS MAX <= 32      0               0.0     0.0        0 
DAYS MIN <= 32      0               0.0     0.0        0 
DAYS MIN <= 0       0               0.0     0.0        0 

PRECIPITATION (INCHES) 
RECORD 
 MAXIMUM           MM   MM 
 MINIMUM           MM   MM 
TOTALS           0.01              0.68   -0.67     0.54 
DAYS >= .01         1                MM      MM        7 
DAYS >= .10         0                MM      MM        1 
DAYS >= .50         0                MM      MM        0 
DAYS >= 1.00        0                MM      MM        0 
GREATEST 

Page 1 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/14/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



 24 HR. TOTAL    0.01   07/16 TO 07/16 
                        07/15 TO 07/16 
                        07/16 TO 07/16 

DEGREE_DAYS 
HEATING TOTAL       5                25     -20       25 
 SINCE 7/1          5                25     -20       25 
COOLING TOTAL     139               118      21       84 
 SINCE 1/1        208               167      41      104 
................................................................. 

WIND (MPH) 
AVERAGE WIND SPEED              5.1 
RESULTANT WIND SPEED/DIRECTION   4/025 
HIGHEST WIND SPEED/DIRECTION    17/360    DATE  07/26 
HIGHEST GUST SPEED/DIRECTION    31/020    DATE  07/12 

SKY COVER 
POSSIBLE SUNSHINE (PERCENT)   MM 
AVERAGE SKY COVER           0.10 

AVERAGE RH (PERCENT)     60 

WEATHER CONDITIONS. NUMBER OF DAYS WITH 
THUNDERSTORM              0     MIXED PRECIP               0 
HEAVY RAIN                0     RAIN                       1 
LIGHT RAIN                0     FREEZING RAIN              0 
LT FREEZING RAIN          0     HAIL                       0 
HEAVY SNOW                0     SNOW                       0 
LIGHT SNOW                0     SLEET                      0 
FOG                       0     FOG W/VIS <= 1/4 MILE      0 
HAZE                      2 

-  INDICATES NEGATIVE NUMBERS. 
R  INDICATES RECORD WAS SET OR TIED. 
MM INDICATES DATA IS MISSING. 
T  INDICATES TRACE AMOUNT. 

Page 2 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/14/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



5121.13  7.57 11.67  2.96  4.78  0.46  1.21  0.75  4.38 12.54  9.33 M9.25 86.03 
52 8.20  7.33  9.89  2.86 M2.40  6.14  0.05  0.07  1.15  1.52  1.49M12.02 53.12 
5323.34  9.04  9.29  4.89  9.79  5.40  0.22  3.47  2.66  3.43 14.45 16.07 102.0 
5417.02  5.87 M4.41 M5.71 M5.38  8.80 M3.25  3.14  1.89 M5.47  9.24  9.69 79.87 
55 5.96 M5.30  9.19 11.00  3.90  3.40  2.38  0.00  4.97 12.73 16.75 16.70 92.28 
5617.27  8.64 10.88 M1.40  5.66  5.59  0.13  5.21  2.44 12.67  4.00  8.98 82.87 
57M6.15  6.98 14.85  5.52  4.50  3.71  0.50  0.87  1.05  6.36  7.19 16.28 73.96 
5813.88  9.69  4.57 10.58  1.73  7.12  0.00  0.65  4.52  4.19 16.35 12.48 85.76 
5915.56  8.57 10.96  4.73  6.67  4.26  1.05  0.73  9.36  9.74  5.34 M6.14 83.11 
60 7.44  8.23 11.35  7.90  9.66  2.41  0.02  3.14  2.73  7.84 17.87  6.67 85.26 
61 6.64 19.60 12.19  6.95  7.15  1.09  0.67  0.92  4.64  8.77  8.92 11.46 89.00 
62 5.15  6.69 12.17  8.35 M9.37  1.44  0.60  2.31  3.31  6.57 15.14  5.03 76.13 
63 4.52  8.83  9.73  8.52  6.46  4.87  3.07  1.97  3.82  5.37 11.55  8.24 76.95 
6418.08  4.95  7.92  6.57  4.21  6.80  2.08  3.45  3.08  3.24 11.66 17.89 89.93 
6517.50  7.66  2.54  5.50  2.92  1.23  0.77  3.98  0.85  4.65  7.86M11.56 67.02 
6613.40  5.59 10.14  4.37  2.30  2.42  3.75  0.77  2.85  7.36 11.65 11.79 76.39 
6715.51  6.75  7.89  4.57  2.88  2.54  0.00  0.03  2.10 11.63  5.77 12.26 71.93 
68 7.23 12.03  5.53  5.95  5.13  5.36  1.25  7.15  4.04 11.02 14.98M16.98 96.65 
6915.15  4.60  5.10  4.02  4.22  7.04  0.76  0.98  5.50  6.89  5.85 12.34 72.45 
7019.54  5.68  6.24 10.25  2.96  2.14  0.57  0.02  6.37  6.54 11.89 12.21 84.41 
7117.60  8.83 10.47  6.85  3.74  5.02  0.71  2.64  6.90  8.38 12.79 15.85 99.78 
7214.41 10.24 11.53 11.17  5.28  2.58  0.97  0.23  6.88  2.27  8.50 15.45 89.51 
73 8.08  3.36  7.08  4.38  3.60  4.31  0.05  2.05  7.72  7.79 18.26 17.67 84.35 
7415.19 11.29 11.99  7.93  6.62  2.11  3.80  1.31  0.45  2.87 10.60 14.07 88.23 
7514.67  8.32  9.43  5.47  4.58  3.59  0.56  4.97  0.00 11.49 10.89 15.10 89.07 
7612.54 10.43  7.22  7.27  4.74  2.02  1.78  4.55  1.80  3.30  2.13  4.12 61.90 
77 3.21  4.93 12.33  2.72  9.98  1.90  0.95  4.55  7.50  4.59 11.55 17.82 82.03 
78 8.54  5.45  2.97  8.50  5.93  3.91  2.78  5.55  4.75  0.91  7.64  8.76 65.69 
79 4.48 15.12  6.83  8.57  3.83  2.93  1.61  2.11  2.82  9.16  6.37 10.42 74.25 
8014.23  7.73  9.74  5.77  4.43  6.33  0.54  1.54  3.97  2.50 11.85 14.99 83.62 
81 3.23  8.23  5.44  6.66  6.48  9.13  0.92  0.13  5.41  6.20  6.15 15.89 73.87 
8214.28 14.34  6.22  5.66  1.95  2.33  1.33  2.68  7.66  8.30  7.96 12.63 85.34 
8312.53 13.61 11.62  4.59  5.58  6.76  6.56  2.45  2.25  4.17 12.65 10.29 93.06 
84 8.16  8.03  9.78  7.71  8.71  9.22  0.00  0.38  4.99  9.47 15.86  8.76 91.07 
85 0.39  7.94  6.86  4.60  3.86  4.13  0.58  2.64  6.39  7.36 11.91  2.86 59.52 
86 9.42 13.05  5.43  6.04  4.29  1.57  3.17  0.75  6.96  2.71 12.92  4.19 70.50 
87 9.62  5.81  9.07  5.54  4.24  0.81  1.65  0.88        0.31  6.01 14.10 58.04 
8811.00  6.73 10.01 10.71  5.76  3.33  1.98  0.28  2.75  1.03 16.90  6.87 77.35 
8912.16  6.17 12.75  6.28  4.63  1.97  1.24  2.18  2.83  4.54  8.22  6.72 69.69 
9014.68 10.15  4.68  8.72  5.47  5.50  1.41  1.99  1.36 13.30 10.38  8.27 85.91 
91 7.56  9.30  7.82  8.88  8.72  4.28 M0.74  1.63  0.99  3.64 16.27  9.68 79.51 
92 6.74  7.71  2.31  9.46  0.57  1.89  3.31  1.22 M4.32  6.53 11.33  9.88 65.27 
93 5.94  0.79 10.74 13.18  8.83  5.89  3.65  1.19  0.02  2.89  4.59  8.48 66.19 
9410.26 10.19  7.02  6.47  2.53  4.88  0.56  0.23  1.95 13.91 14.49 10.42 82.91 
9512.22  8.78  6.06  7.02  4.74  6.12  1.72  3.44  6.46  8.81 19.34 12.69 97.40 
9615.24 15.99  5.59  9.10  7.88  1.91  0.45  0.66  4.73 12.21 15.55 22.83 112.1 
9711.47  6.04 14.39  9.42  5.01        2.10  1.62  6.15  9.69  5.02  6.61 77.52 
9813.20  7.54  7.38  5.30 10.81  4.36  0.38  0.12  3.62  5.60 12.87M16.37 87.55 
9910.39 13.29  7.40  3.76  6.99  4.36  1.27  1.26  0.18  5.42 13.35 11.17 78.84 
 011.09 10.48  5.46  3.51  8.29  3.12  0.19  0.44  4.04  7.62  4.63  5.94 64.81 
 1 3.96  4.26  7.49  7.89  3.60  5.69  1.74  1.47  1.51  8.80 10.98 13.97 71.36 
 2                                                                              
---------- 
 
WETS Station : N WILLAMETTE EXP STN, OR6151       Creation Date: 09/09/2002 
Latitude:  4517      Longitude:  12245        Elevation:  00150  
State FIPS/County(FIPS):  41005     County Name: Clackamas  
Start yr. - 1971   End yr. - 2000 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------| 
          |       Temperature     |           Precipitation              | 

Page 8 of 16

7/8/2008Printed for ftp://ftp.wcc.nrcs.usda.gov/support/climate/wetlands/or/41005.txt

cmwalker
Text Box



          |       (Degrees F.)    |              (Inches)                | 
          |-----------------------|--------------------------------------| 
          |       |       |       |        |   30% chance    |avg |      | 
          |       |       |       |        |    will have    |# of| avg  | 
          |-------|-------|-------|        |-----------------|days| total| 
  Month   |  avg  |  avg  |  avg  |   avg  | less   | more   |w/.1| snow | 
          | daily | daily |       |        | than   | than   |  or| fall | 
          |  max  |  min  |       |        |        |        |more|      | 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------| 
January   |  47.0 |  33.5 |  40.2 |   6.04 |   4.05 |   7.23 | 13 |  0.5 | 
February  |  51.1 |  34.9 |  43.0 |   5.24 |   3.90 |   6.13 | 12 |  0.3 | 
March     |  56.1 |  37.3 |  46.7 |   4.28 |   3.30 |   4.96 | 12 |  0.0 | 
April     |  60.6 |  40.2 |  50.4 |   3.14 |   2.15 |   3.74 |  9 |  0.0 | 
May       |  67.0 |  45.1 |  56.0 |   2.50 |   1.64 |   3.00 |  7 |  0.0 | 
June      |  73.3 |  49.9 |  61.6 |   1.76 |   1.03 |   2.14 |  4 |  0.0 | 
July      |  80.3 |  53.3 |  66.8 |   0.73 |   0.22 |   0.88 |  1 |  0.0 | 
August    |  80.8 |  53.0 |  66.9 |   0.83 |   0.21 |   0.98 |  2 |  0.0 | 
September |  75.8 |  48.9 |  62.3 |   1.79 |   0.85 |   2.25 |  4 |  0.0 | 
October   |  64.4 |  41.9 |  53.2 |   3.36 |   1.77 |   4.10 |  7 |  0.0 | 
November  |  52.5 |  37.7 |  45.1 |   6.48 |   4.50 |   7.71 | 13 |  0.1 | 
December  |  45.8 |  32.8 |  39.3 |   6.44 |   4.09 |   7.76 | 12 |  0.6 | 
----------|-------|-------|-------|--------|--------|--------|----|------| 
----------|-------|-------|-------|--------|--------|--------|----|------| 
  Annual  | ----- | ----- | ----- | ------ |  37.11 |  46.19 | -- | ---- | 
----------|-------|-------|-------|--------|--------|--------|----|------| 
  Average |  62.9 |  42.4 |  52.6 | ------ | ------ | ------ | -- | ---- | 
----------|-------|-------|-------|--------|--------|--------|----|------| 
  Total   | ----- | ----- | ----- |  42.58 | ------ | ------ | 96 |  1.4 | 
----------|-------|-------|-------|--------|--------|--------|----|------| 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------| 
 
GROWING SEASON DATES  
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                     |                     Temperature 
---------------------|----------------------------------------------------- 
      Probability    | 24 F or higher  | 28 F or higher  | 32 F or higher  |  
---------------------|-----------------|-----------------|----------------- 
                     |              Beginning and Ending Dates 
                     |                Growing Season Length 
                     | 
       50 percent *  |   1/27 to ----- |   3/ 2 to 11/21 |   4/14 to 10/28   
                     |     340 days    |     264 days    |     197 days         
                     |                 |                 | 
       70 percent *  |    > 365 days   |   2/22 to 11/30 |   4/ 7 to 11/ 4   
                     |    > 365 days   |     282 days    |     212 days         
                     |                 |                 | 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 * Percent chance of the growing season occurring between the Beginning 
   and Ending dates.  
 
total  1963-2002  prcp 
 
Station : OR6151, N WILLAMETTE EXP STN 
-------   Unit = inches 
 
yr  jan   feb   mar   apr   may   jun   jul   aug   sep   oct   nov   dec  annl 
------- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- 
63M1.14  4.02  6.48        4.34  1.62  0.81  0.36  1.11  3.09  5.86  4.45 33.28 
6411.36  0.83  2.93  1.21  0.94  1.67  0.74  0.58  1.49  1.52  7.21 13.84 44.32 

Page 9 of 16

7/8/2008Printed for ftp://ftp.wcc.nrcs.usda.gov/support/climate/wetlands/or/41005.txt



65 8.51 M2.07  1.09  3.23  1.30  0.66  0.23  0.99  0.05  2.79  6.63  6.78 34.33 
66 7.84  1.92  5.96  1.22  0.93  1.18  1.16  0.31  1.41  2.97  5.62  6.57 37.09 
67 6.77  1.53  4.79  2.58  2.12  0.72  0.00  0.00  0.26  5.58  2.04  5.65 32.04 
68 4.68  8.20  3.06  2.04  2.99  2.34  0.98  4.17 M2.75 M6.88  7.02M12.46 57.57 
69 7.51 M3.03 M1.45  2.99  1.76 M3.20  0.11  0.08  3.42 M4.69  2.94 M8.53 39.71 
7011.72 M5.12 M2.30  2.36  1.30 M0.31  0.07  0.00  1.38  3.49  6.94  8.92 43.91 
71 7.59  3.49  5.59  3.71  1.77  2.92  0.08  0.43  3.51  3.69  6.49 M8.02 47.29 
72 6.59  4.78  5.77  3.61  2.65  0.60  0.47  0.65  3.50  0.87  5.07  8.81 43.37 
73 4.50  1.96 M2.67  1.28  1.56  1.47  0.01  0.82  2.58  2.94 13.04 10.02 42.85 
74 8.24  5.48  6.28  2.23  1.98  0.96  2.31  0.02  0.26  1.62  6.56  6.53 42.47 
75 6.84  4.24  2.22  2.46  1.86  1.27  0.65  2.53  0.00  5.61  4.37  6.66 38.71 
76 6.32  6.68  2.82  3.00  1.48  0.57  0.95  2.41  1.18  0.85 M1.67  1.48 29.41 
77 1.37 M2.80  4.26  0.64  3.82  1.54  0.83  2.69  3.23  2.45  6.61 10.52 40.76 
78 5.35  3.59  1.69  3.50  4.52  1.69  0.90  2.08  2.74  0.37  4.92 M3.54 34.89 
79 3.45  7.36  3.22  3.35  2.36  0.47  0.82  0.82  3.25  5.35  3.77  6.75 40.97 
80 9.99  4.68  3.59  4.07  1.23  2.52  0.14  0.49  1.69  1.67  6.87 11.90 48.84 
81 2.01  4.11  3.48  2.29  2.23  4.27  0.19  0.03  2.68  4.14 M5.39 10.27 41.09 
82 6.24  6.94  3.12  4.78  0.89  0.86  0.34  0.99  3.61  3.74  5.04  8.92 45.47 
83 7.57  9.54  7.18  2.77  2.13  2.60  2.68  2.52  0.86  2.25  9.04  6.33 55.47 
84 3.05  4.69  4.46  4.09  4.59  5.35  0.00  0.03  1.99  5.78 12.90  3.68 50.61 
85 0.45  3.49  4.54  1.42  0.97  2.48  0.45  0.79  1.93  3.17  5.00  2.46 27.15 
86 5.83  7.65  2.95  2.09  2.74  0.38  1.28  0.04  2.93  2.81  6.71  4.13 39.54 
87 6.75  4.94  5.55  2.19  1.66  0.30  2.00  0.10  0.53  0.23  2.40 10.55 37.20 
88 7.88  1.71  3.73  4.63  2.56  2.55  0.21  0.03  1.25  0.20  9.88  3.28 37.91 
89 4.24  3.16  7.02  1.24  2.27  0.91  0.52  1.37  1.34  2.15  3.72  4.15 32.09 
90 8.98  4.97  3.42  2.22  1.71  2.94  0.54  1.09  0.50 M6.18  5.00  3.39 40.94 
91 2.83  3.69  4.39  4.62  4.58        0.16  0.75  0.30  3.70  7.31  5.53 37.86 
92 5.34  5.23  1.46  4.28  0.19  0.63  1.31  0.48  1.88  4.83  5.15  6.71 37.49 
93M2.96 M0.26  5.32  6.30  4.25 M2.20  2.44  0.30  0.00  1.35  1.39  6.90 33.67 
94 4.78  6.93  3.58  1.88  1.63  1.57  0.06  0.02  1.12  6.94  8.32  7.70 44.53 
95 7.65 M4.45  4.42  5.14  1.84  2.07 M0.60  1.55  1.52  5.63 10.18  7.66 52.71 
96 9.09M12.04  3.91  6.76  4.63  1.05  0.80  0.14  3.06  5.51 11.39 15.72 74.10 
97 9.55  3.34  8.59  4.59  2.47  2.97  0.80  1.11 M3.38 M6.25  4.65  3.41 51.11 
98M8.98  5.73  4.91  1.42  5.57  1.27  0.22  0.25  0.90  4.69 10.96  0.54 45.44 
99 7.58  9.08  4.68  1.35  2.53  1.23  0.18  0.47  0.05  2.47  7.68  4.35 41.65 
 0 6.21  5.15  3.46  2.15  2.39  1.40  0.01  0.00        3.21  3.04  3.16 30.18 
 1 1.55  1.28  3.51 M0.69  1.05  1.67  0.73  1.19  0.69  3.80             16.16 
 2                                                                              
---------- 
 
WETS Station : OREGON CITY, OR6334                Creation Date: 09/09/2002 
Latitude:  4521      Longitude:  12236        Elevation:  00170  
State FIPS/County(FIPS):  41005     County Name: Clackamas  
Start yr. - 1971   End yr. - 2000 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------| 
          |       Temperature     |           Precipitation              | 
          |       (Degrees F.)    |              (Inches)                | 
          |-----------------------|--------------------------------------| 
          |       |       |       |        |   30% chance    |avg |      | 
          |       |       |       |        |    will have    |# of| avg  | 
          |-------|-------|-------|        |-----------------|days| total| 
  Month   |  avg  |  avg  |  avg  |   avg  | less   | more   |w/.1| snow | 
          | daily | daily |       |        | than   | than   |  or| fall | 
          |  max  |  min  |       |        |        |        |more|      | 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------| 
January   |  47.6 |  35.5 |  41.6 |   6.65 |   4.36 |   7.99 | 13 |  0.6 | 
February  |  52.4 |  37.2 |  44.8 |   5.51 |   3.86 |   6.54 | 12 |  0.8 | 
March     |  57.5 |  39.5 |  48.5 |   4.68 |   3.56 |   5.45 | 12 |  0.0 | 
April     |  63.0 |  42.4 |  52.7 |   3.46 |   2.49 |   4.08 |  9 |  0.0 | 
May       |  69.8 |  47.3 |  58.6 |   2.68 |   1.74 |   3.23 |  7 |  0.0 | 

Page 10 of 16

7/8/2008Printed for ftp://ftp.wcc.nrcs.usda.gov/support/climate/wetlands/or/41005.txt

cmwalker
Text Box



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

 
APPENDIX D 

Wetland Determination Data Sheets 
  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes X No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 90% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

90% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 5% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

5% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 5% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 1% No FAC to UPL Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 0 Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 0 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

6% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

15, 3S, 1W

0

Polygon Northwest Company

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed

X

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes

3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal
NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

0 X

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region

15
0

0

205

Poa palustris

<3

10/1/2013

P1OR

2.05

Wilsonville / Clackamas

None

0

Terrace

A, Northwest Forests and Coast

95

5
0

0

Fraxinus latifolia

0

Fraxinus latifolia

Wetter than usual. (0.38 inch rain day of site visit in Aurora.)   Lowest, wettest portion of Wetland B (south forested wetland).

3

3

0

190

94%

SAR
Vegetation is grazed by horses. Oregon ash trees range from 7-24" dbh.

100%

Rumpf Property in Villebois

Vicia species 100

concave

0



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P1
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

90 10 C

90 10 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

X Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

X High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

X Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)

X Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

X Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes X No Depth (inches): 8 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes X No Depth (inches): 6 Yes X No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0-11

  Depth

Color (moist)

Matrix

7.5YR 4/6 SiCL

7.5YR 3/4

Color (moist)

SiLM & PL

Redox Features

M

RemarksLoc2 Texture  (inches)

11-16

ORC 0-11

no ORC10YR 4/2

10YR 3/2

Dry above. Also have geomorphic position and FAC-Neutral test, and more than superficial ORC. Water marks at 14" on trees. Soils pugged from horses.

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR

X



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes 0 No X  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 40% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 30% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 10% No FACU Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 10% No FACU Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 5% No FACU 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 5% No FACU X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 2% No FACU 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 2% No FAC to UPL 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 1% No FAC      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

105% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P2

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W

Terrace sl. convex <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None
0 X

0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

2

2

100%

0 0

0 0

71 213
32 128

Festuca arundinacea 0 0

Agrostis capillaris 103 341

Hypochaeris radicata 3.31

Poa compressa

Taraxacum officinale

Plantago lanceolata

Prunella vulgaris

Vicia species

Ranunculus repens

0%

SAR



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P2
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

98 2 C

90 5 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >15 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >15 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks

0-11 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL few ORC 4-5"

11-15 10YR 4/2 10YR 3/3 M SiCL

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
No secondary indicators.

X

Redox too few in surface to meet F6; redox too faint in subsurface to meet A11.  Shovel refusal at 15" due to very dry compacted soils.



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 50% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 20% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 10% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 10% No FACU Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 5% No FAC 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 5% No FAC X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

100% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

Hypochaeris radicata

Ranunculus repens

Trifolium repens

10 40

Festuca arundinacea 0 0

Alopecurus pratensis 100 310

Holcus lanatus 3.10

0 0

0 0

90 270

2

2

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

Terrace concave <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P3



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P3
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

95 5 C

90 10 C

85 15 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

X Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) X Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >24 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >24 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

Many fine roots throughout profile, not oxidized. Surface ORC likely from compaction due to horses. 

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Dry, no seeps. No secondary indicators. 

13-24 10YR 5/1 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

0-6 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 PL SiL few ORC 0-3"

6-13 10YR 4/1 5YR 3/4 M SiL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes 0 No X  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 60% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 30% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 5% No FACU Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 3% No FAC Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

98% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

2%

SAR

Trifolium repens

5 20

Alopecurus pratensis 0 0

Festuca arundinacea 98 299

Hypochaeris radicata 3.05

0 0

0 0

93 279

2

2

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

Terrace convex <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P4

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P4
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

95 5 C

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >22 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >22 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

Redox is faint (hue 1 value 0 chroma 1) in surface layer.

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Dry. No secondary indicators. ORC in compacted surface layer. 

0-15 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/3 M & PL SiL 0-5 ORC

15-22 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M & PL SiCL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 50% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 20% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 20% Yes FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 10% No FAC Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

100% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

Festuca arundinacea

0 0

Ranunculus repens 0 0

Holcus lanatus 100 300

Alopecurus pratensis 3.00

0 0

0 0

100 300

3

3

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

Terrace convex <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P5

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P5
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

95 5 C

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >23 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >23 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Slightly moist 17-23" in probe. No secondary indicators. 

0-13 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL 0-5 ORC

13-23 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes X No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 90% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

90% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 40% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

40% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 40% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 20% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 15% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 5% No FAC Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

80% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

20%

SAR

Carex leptopoda

0 0

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Festuca arundinacea 210 500

Alopecurus pratensis 2.38

0 0

130 260

80 240

Fraxinus latifolia 4

4

Fraxinus latifolia 100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 
Wetland B.

Terrace concave <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P6

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P6
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

95 5 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)

X Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) X Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) X FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >15 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >15 Yes X No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

Compacted soils or roots

15 X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Water marks 2-4" on trees. No ORC in surface probably due to lack of grasses in soil pit area.

0-15 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes X No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 90% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

90% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 10% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 5% Yes FAC Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

15% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 5% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 1% No FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 0 Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 0 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

6% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

94%

SAR

0 0

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Carex leptopoda 111 233
2.10

0 0

100 200

11 33

Fraxinus latifolia 4

4

Fraxinus latifolia 100%

Crataegus douglasii

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 
Wetland B. 

Terrace concave <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P7

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P7
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

90 10 C

90 10 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

X Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) X Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA X Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) X Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) X FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >16 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >16 Yes X No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

compacted soils

16 X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR

0-6 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL few ORC 0-6

6-16 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 3% No FACU That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

3% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 40% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 30% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 20% Yes FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 10% No FAC Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 1% No FACU 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

101% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

Agrostis capillaris

Cirsium vulgare

4 16

Festuca arundinacea 0 0

Alopecurus pratensis 104 316

Holcus lanatus 3.04

0 0

0 0

100 300

3

3

Rubus armeniacus 100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 
6-12" higher than P7.

Terrace convex <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P8

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P8
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

98 2 C

90 10 C

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >23 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >23 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Dry. No secondary indicators. 

13-23 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

0-6 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 4/6 PL SiL

6-13 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes ? No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 98% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 1% No FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 1% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 0 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

100% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

0 0

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Parentucellia viscosa 100 300

Rumex crispus 3.00

0 0

0 0

100 300

1

1

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 
~15 feet north of fence in 5-foot wide very subtle linear depression (PHS Wetland A).

Terrace concave <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P9

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P9
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

80 15 C

5 C

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) X Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) X Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >20 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >20 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Slightly moist 8-20" bgs. Only one secondary indicator. PHS reports drainage patterrns in their Plot 10.

?

8-20 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

0-8 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL

10YR 3/3 M

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes ? No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 80% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 10% No FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 10% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 0 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

100% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

0 0

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Holcus lanatus 100 300

Alopecurus pratensis 3.00

0 0

0 0

100 300

1

1

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 
PHS Wetland A.

Terrace none 0

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P10

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P10
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

90 10 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >20 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >20 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
ORC not reliable indicator due to disturbed pasture and compaction from horses. Moist below 14". No secondary indicators. PHS wetland. 

?

0-20 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL ORC 0-5

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes X No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 68% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 1% No OBL Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 1% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 0 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

70% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

30%

SAR

0 0

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Rorippa curvisiliqua 70 208

Alopecurus pratensis 2.97

1 1

0 0

69 207

1

1

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 
PHS Wetland A. 

Terrace concave <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P11

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P11
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

90 10 C

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) X Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) X Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) X FAC-Neutral Test (D5) with subdominants

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >17 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >17 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Small area of surface saturation from recent rain. PHS wetland. 

X

0-10 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL

10-17 10YR 4/1 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes 0 No X  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 80% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 10% No FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 5% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 5% No FACU Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 1% No FACU 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 1% No FAC X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 1% No FAC to UPL 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

103% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

Hypochaeris radicata

Plantago lanceolata

Rumex crispus

Vicia species

6 24

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Festuca arundinacea 102 312

Holcus lanatus 3.06

0 0

0 0

96 288

1

1

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

Terrace none 0

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P12

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P12
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

95 5 C

98 2 C

90 10 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >24 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >24 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

Redox too faint in 0-6 and too few in 6-15.

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Dry throughout. Does not meet FAC-Neutral test with subdominants.

15-24 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

0-6 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/3 PL SiL

6-15 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes ? No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 50% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 30% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 15% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 5% No FACW Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

100% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

Phalaris arundinacea

0 0

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Holcus lanatus 100 295

Alopecurus pratensis 2.95

0 0

5 10

95 285

2

2

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 
PHS Wetland A.

Terrace none 0

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P13

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P13
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

90 10 C

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

X Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) X Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) X FAC-Neutral Test (D5) with subdominants

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >24 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >24 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Moist starting at 19" bgs.

?

0-9 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL ORC 0-5

9-24 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 65% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 10% No FACU Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 10% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 5% No FAC Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 5% No FAC 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 5% No FACU X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 1% No FACU 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 1% No NOL 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

102% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

Festuca arundinacea

Trifolium repens

Taraxacum officinale

Plantago lanceolata

Convolvulus arvensis

16 64

Agrostis capillaris 1 5

Hypochaeris radicata 102 324

Alopecurus pratensis 3.18

0 0

0 0

85 255

1

1

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

Terrace none 0

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P14

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P14
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

100

80 15 C

5 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

X Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >20 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >20 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

Pieces of charcoal 12-20" bgs.

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Dry throughout. 

7.5YR 3/4 M

0-12 10YR 3/2 SiL

12-20 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes 0 No X  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 60% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 20% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 10% No FACU Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 5% No FACU Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 5% No FAC 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

100% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

Plantago lanceolata

Trifolium repens

15 60

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Alopecurus pratensis 100 315

Hypochaeris radicata 3.15

0 0

0 0

85 255

2

2

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

Terrace none 0

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1A Aloha silt loam, 0-3% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P15

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P15
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

100

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >22 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >22 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Dry throughout. 

0-16 10YR 3/2 SiL

16-22 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes X No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 90% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

90% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 20% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 1% No FAC Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

21% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 5% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 5% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 5% Yes FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 0 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

15% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: cmw QC by:

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region

Terrace

A, Northwest Forests and Coast

concave

0

Festuca rubra

0

X 0

85%

0

268

Poa palustris

Agrostis capillaris 126

0

2.13

Wilsonville / Clackamas

None

48
0

110

16
0

Fraxinus latifolia

Crataegus monogyna

0

Fraxinus latifolia

Paired plot to P2 (rechecked P1 and plot was dry to 23 inches bgs).

5

5

0

220

sar
Grass grazed, trampled. 

100%

Rumpf Property in Villebois

<3

10/8/2013

P16OR

15, 3S, 1W

0

Polygon Northwest Company

C. Mirth Walker and Stacey Reed

X

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes

Portland 0.84" prior week (3.61" previous week); Aurora 0.65" prior week (3.24" previous week) 0.15 / 0.02 day of
NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P16
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

80 20 C

80 10 C

10 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

X Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)

X Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) X Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) X FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >17 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >17 Yes X No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: cmw QC by:

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

sar

Water marks at 4" on fencepost.

X

7.5YR 3/4

Color (moist)

SiL

M

10YR 4/2

10YR 3/2

SiL+

M

Redox Features

M

RemarksLoc2 Texture  (inches)

  Depth

Color (moist)

Matrix

7.5YR 3/4

7.5YR 4/6

0-12

12-17

no ORC



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes 0 No X
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 60% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 20% Yes FAC
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

80% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 60% Yes FACU That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 10% No FAC Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

70% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 20% Yes NOL UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 5% Yes FACU Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 0 Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 0 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

25% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: cmw QC by:

X
75%

sar

65 260

Hedera helix 20 100

Rubus ursinus 175 570
3.26

0 0

60 120

30 90

Fraxinus latifolia 2

Salix scouleriana

5

Rubus armeniacus 40%

Rosa pisocarpa

X 0
0
0

X

Triangle tax lot south of entrance driveway.

Portland 0.84" prior week (3.61" previous week); Aurora 0.65" prior week (3.24" previous week) 0.15 / 0.02 day of
NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

Terrace None <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/8/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P17

C. Mirth Walker and Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P17
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

100

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >21 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >21 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: cmw QC by:

X

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

sar
Dry throughout, no secondary indicators. Wetland to south does not extend north onto subject parcels. 

0-5 10YR 3/2 SiL

5-21 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

APPENDIX E 

Ground-Level Site Photographs 
  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



N
:\

pr
oj

\3
95

-0
27

\0
9 

D
ra

w
in

gs
\0

6 
Su

rv
ey

\E
xh

ib
its

\3
95

02
7.

Ru
m

pf
 W

et
la

nd
s.d

w
g

 - 
SH

EE
T:

 L
et

te
r  

  O
ct

. 7
, 1

3 
- 9

:2
6 

A
M

  t
2

PACIFIC COMMUNITY DESIGN
PLANNING - ENGINEERING - SURVEYING 

(503) 941-9484

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA Environmental Consultants Photo Location Map               Photo location and direction of view.               October 1 and 8, 2013.

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
A

cmwalker
Text Box
A

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
B

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
C

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
D

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
E

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
G

cmwalker
Text Box
F

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
H

cmwalker
Text Box
I

cmwalker
Text Box
J

cmwalker
Text Box
K

cmwalker
Text Box
L

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
A

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Callout
SWCA delineated Wetland B boundary

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA PLOT 17

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA PLOT 16

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Line



R
um

pf
 P

ro
pe

rty
 W

et
la

nd
 D

el
in

ea
tio

n 
SW

C
A

 P
ro

je
ct

 N
o.

 2
10

87
.1

1 
A

pp
en

di
x 

E 

E-
1 

 
P

h
o

to
 A

. V
ie

w
 s

ou
th

w
es

t i
n 

vi
ci

ni
ty

 o
f w

et
la

nd
 P

lo
t 1

 in
 th

e 
so

ut
h 

W
et

la
nd

 B
, w

ith
 h

ig
h 

w
at

er
 m

ar
ks

 o
n 

tre
es

 a
nd

 fe
nc

e 
po

st
s.

 

 
P

h
o

to
 B

. V
ie

w
 s

ou
th

 o
f b

ur
ie

d 
cu

lv
er

t u
nd

er
 e

nt
ra

nc
e 

dr
iv

ew
ay

. 

 
P

h
o

to
 C

. V
ie

w
 w

es
t o

f w
at

er
 m

ar
ks

 o
n 

fe
nc

e 
po

st
s 

gr
ad

ua
lly

 d
ec

re
as

in
g;

 v
er

tic
al

 a
rr

ow
s 

po
in

t t
o 

w
et

la
nd

 P
lo

t 
16

 in
 fo

re
gr

ou
nd

 a
nd

 u
pl

an
d 

P
lo

t 2
 in

 b
ac

kg
ro

un
d.

 

 
P

h
o

to
 D

. V
ie

w
 w

es
t o

f u
pl

an
d 

P
lo

t 8
 in

 fo
re

gr
ou

nd
 (h

ig
he

r 
el

ev
at

io
n 

w
/ b

la
ck

be
rr

y)
 a

nd
 w

et
la

nd
 P

lo
t 7

in
 b

ac
kg

ro
un

d.
 



R
um

pf
 P

ro
pe

rty
 W

et
la

nd
 D

el
in

ea
tio

n 
SW

C
A

 P
ro

je
ct

 N
o.

 2
10

87
.1

1 
A

pp
en

di
x 

E 

E-
2 

 
P

h
o

to
 E

. V
ie

w
 w

es
t o

f u
pl

an
d 

P
lo

t 5
 a

nd
 w

et
la

nd
 b

ou
nd

ar
y.

  
P

h
o

to
 F

. V
ie

w
 n

or
th

 o
f u

pl
an

d 
Pl

ot
 5

, P
lo

t 3
, a

nd
 P

lo
t 4

, 
re

sp
ec

tiv
el

y.
 

 
P

h
o

to
 G

. V
ie

w
 s

ou
th

 in
to

 W
et

la
nd

 B
 n

ea
r P

lo
t 6

. 

 
P

h
o

to
 H

. V
ie

w
 s

ou
th

 in
 W

et
la

nd
 A

 to
w

ar
ds

 w
et

la
nd

 P
lo

t 1
0 

in
 fo

re
gr

ou
nd

 a
nd

 P
lo

t 9
 in

 b
ac

kg
ro

un
d.

  



R
um

pf
 P

ro
pe

rty
 W

et
la

nd
 D

el
in

ea
tio

n 
SW

C
A

 P
ro

je
ct

 N
o.

 2
10

87
.1

1 
A

pp
en

di
x 

E 

E-
3 

 
P

h
o

to
 I.

 V
ie

w
 o

f W
et

la
nd

 P
lo

t 1
1 

in
 W

et
la

nd
 A

.  

 
P

h
o

to
 J

. V
ie

w
 s

ou
th

 o
f l

ar
ge

 O
re

go
n 

as
h 

tre
e 

in
 u

pl
an

d,
 

so
ut

h 
of

 d
riv

ew
ay

.  

 
P

h
o

to
 K

. V
ie

w
 w

es
t o

f u
pl

an
d 

P
lo

t 1
7,

 s
ou

th
 o

f d
riv

ew
ay

. 

 
P

h
o

to
 L

. V
ie

w
 e

as
t i

nt
o 

ho
rs

e 
pa

st
ur

e 
fro

m
 e

nt
ra

nc
e 

dr
iv

ew
ay

. 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

APPENDIX F 

Literature Cited and References Used 
  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

F-1 

Adamus, P.R. 2001. Guidebook for Hydrogeomorphic (HGM)-based Assessment of Oregon Wetland and 
Riparian Sites: Statewide Classification and Profiles. Salem, Oregon: Oregon Division of State 
Lands.  

Cowardin, L.M., V. Carter, F.C. Golet, and E.T. LaRoe. 1979. Classification of Wetlands and Deepwater 
Habitats of the United States. FWS/OBS-79/31. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service. Available at: http://www.npwrc.usgs.gov/resource/wetlands/classwet/index.htm. 

Department of State Lands (DSL). 2013. Administrative Rules for Wetland Delineation Report 
Requirements. Adopted January 1, 2013. Available at 
http://www.oregon.gov/dsl/pages/rules_activity.aspx. Accessed January 2013. 

Environmental Laboratory. 1987. Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual. Technical Report Y-
87-1. Online edition. Vicksburg, Mississippi: U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment 
Station. Available at: http://el.erdc.usace.army.mil/wetlands/pdfs/wlman87.pdf. 

Google Earth. 2013. Aerial photographs of 28100 SW Grahams Ferry Road. Available at: 
http://earth.google.com. Accessed September 10, 2013. 

Lichvar, R.W. 2013. The National Wetland Plant List: 2013 Wetland Ratings. Phytoneuron 2013-49: 1-
241. Available at: http://rsgisias.crrel.usace.army.mil/NWPL/. Accessed July 12, 2013. 

National Weather Service (NWS). 2013. Aurora, OR. Available at: 
http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/index.php?wfo=pqr. Accessed October 2013. 

Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS). 2013a. Hydric soils in Clackamas County area, 
Oregon (survey version 6 dated March 20, 2007). Available at: 
http://www.or.nrcs.usda.gov/technical/soil/hydric.html. Accessed January 2013. 

———. 2013b. Official soil series descriptions. Available at: 
http://soils.usda.gov/technical/classification/osd/index.html. Accessed January 2013. 

———. 2013c. Online soil survey. Available at: http://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/. Accessed 
September 2013. 

Oregon Map. 2013. Available at: www.ormap.org. Accessed September 9, 2013. 

Pacific Habitat Services (PHS). 2007. Wetland Determination and Delineation for Villebois SAP North 
Planning Area (in part) on SW Grahams Ferry Road in Wilsonville, Oregon (Township 3 South, 
Range 1 West, Section 15, W.M.; Tax Lots 1200, 1202, 1203, 1205, 1591, and a portion of 2990). 
WD#2007-0706 dated May 5, 2008. Prepared for West Hills Development. Wilsonville, Oregon: 
Pacific Habitat Services, Inc.  

SWCA Environmental Consultants (SWCA). 2013. Villebois North (Zion Property) Wetland Delineation 
Report, Wilsonville, Oregon. T3S, R1W, Section 15, Tax Lots 2915 and 2995 (portion), 
Clackamas County, W.M. WD #2013-0131. Prepared for Polygon Northwest Company. Portland, 
Oregon: SWCA Environmental Consultants. 

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). No date. Sherwood, Oregon. 7.5-minute National Wetlands 
Inventory map. Color infrared aerial photography flown 8/81 at 1:58,000. Washington, D.C.: U.S. 
Fish and Wildlife Service. 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

F-2 

U.S. Geological Survey (USGS). 1986. Sherwood, Oregon. 7.5-minute topographic quadrangle. 1:24,000. 
Reston, Virginia: U.S. Geological Survey.  

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 2010. Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland 
Delineation Manual: Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region (Version 2.0), ed. J.S. 
Wakeley, R.W. Lichvar, and C.V. Noble. ERDC/EL TR-10-3. Vicksburg, Mississippi: U.S. 
Army Engineer Research and Development Center. 

X-Rite. 2000. Year 2000 revised washable edition, Munsell soil color charts. Grand Rapids, Michigan: X-
Rite. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IIG 

Tree Report 



 
 
 

 

Villebois PDP 3 North – Wilsonville, Oregon 
Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 

January 30, 2014 
MHA1405 

 
Purpose 
This Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan for the Villebois Preliminary Development Plan (PDP) 3 
North project located in Wilsonville, Oregon, is provided pursuant to City of Wilsonville Development 
Code, Section 4.610.40. This arborist report describes the existing trees located on the project site, as 
well as recommendations for tree removal, retention, mitigation, and protection. This report is based on 
observations made by International Society of Arboriculture (ISA) Certified Arborist and Qualified Tree 
Risk Assessor Morgan Holen (PN‐6145A) during a site visit conducted on January 28, 2014.  

 
Scope of Work and Limitations 
Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC, was contracted by Polygon Northwest Company to visually assess 
existing trees measuring six inches in diameter and larger in terms of general condition and suitability 
for preservation with development, and to develop a tree maintenance and protection plan for the 
project. The site is planned for residential development. A site plan was provided by Pacific Community 
Design illustrating the location of trees and tree survey point numbers, and potential construction 
impacts.  
 
Visual Tree Assessment (VTA1) was performed on individual trees located across the site, except for a 
group of approximately 113 Oregon ash (Fraxinus latifolia) trees located with the wetland boundaries 
that are planned for preservation during construction. Trees were evaluated in terms species, size, 
general condition, and potential construction impacts, and treatment recommendations include retain, 
remove for construction or because of poor or hazardous condition, or likely to be removed due to 
construction impacts. Following the inventory fieldwork, we coordinated with Pacific Community Design 
to discuss and finalize treatment recommendations based on the proposed site plan. 
 
The client may choose to accept or disregard the recommendations contained herein, or seek additional 
advice. Neither this author nor Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC, have assumed any responsibility for 
liability associated with the trees on or adjacent to this site. 
 
General Description 
The Villebois PDP 3 North project site includes the Rumpf and Taber properties located east of Graham’s 
Ferry Road and south of Tooze Road. Both properties have existing homes and open pastures. The 
existing trees are scattered across the site, but numerous trees are found around the Taber’s home and 
in the wetland on the Rumpf property.  
 
In all, 41 trees measuring 6‐inches and larger in diameter were inventoried including 18 tree species. 
Table 1 provides a summary of the count of trees by species. A complete description of individual trees 
is provided in the enclosed tree data.  

 

 

                                                 
1 Visual Tree Assessment (VTA): The standard process of visual tree inspection whereby the inspector visually assesses the tree 
from a distance and up close, looking for defect symptoms and evaluating overall condition and vitality. 

9 7 1 . 4 0 9 . 9 3 5 4
3 Monroe Parkway, Suite P 220  

Lake Oswego, Oregon  97035 
morgan.holen@comcast.netConsulting Arborists and Urban Forest Management 

 



Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, Oregon 

January 30, 2014 
Page 2 

 

 

 

Table 1. Count of Trees by Species – Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, OR. 

Common Name  Species Name  Total  % 

Atlas cedar  Cedrus atlantica  1 2.44% 
black locust  Robinia Pseudoacacia  1 2.44% 
blue spruce  Populus trichocarpa  1 2.44% 
dogwood  Cornus spp.  1 2.44% 
Douglas‐fir  Pseudotsuga menziesii  9 21.95% 
English hawthorn  Crataegus monogyna  1 2.44% 
European white birch  Betula pendula  2 4.88% 
fruit  unknown  11 26.83% 
giant sequoia  Sequoiadendron giganteum  1 2.44% 
ginkgo  Ginkgo biloba  1 2.44% 
lodgepole pine  Pinus contorta  3 7.32% 
mimosa  Albizia julibrissin  1 2.44% 
Norway maple  Acer platanoides  1 2.44% 
Oregon white oak  Quercus garryana  1 2.44% 
ponderosa pine  Pinus ponderosa  3 7.32% 
Port‐Orford‐cedar  Chamaecyparis lawsoniana  1 2.44% 
red maple  Acer rubrum  1 2.44% 
western redcedar  Thuja plicata  1 2.44% 
Total  41  100% 

 
The tree inventory includes one (2.44%) Oregon white oak, but no native yews (Taxus spp.) or any 
species listed by either the state or federal government as rare or endangered were found on the site. 
The Oregon white oak, tree # 17236, is located in the northwest corner of the project site. This tree has 
codominant stems that are actively separating from one another; there is an obvious seam running from 
the open cavity to the ground and advanced stem and basal decay (photo 1).  
 

 
Photo 1. Tree #17239, an Oregon white oak, has codominant stems actively 

separating from one another and a hollow with advanced decay. 



Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, Oregon 

January 30, 2014 
Page 3 

 

 

 

Using the International Society of Arboriculture Best Management Practices for Tree Risk Assessment 
(2011), this tree has an imminent likelihood of failure and high likelihood of impacting a target, which 
means that the likelihood of failure and impact is very likely; considering that the consequences would 
be significant, this tree has high risk potential. Removal of this Oregon white oak is recommended 
because of hazardous condition and no reasonable risk abatement options are feasible. However, it is 
the property owner’s responsibility to determine the threshold level of risk they are willing to accept 
and Polygon is planning to retain this tree.  
 
Tree Plan Recommendations 
As described in the enclosed tree inventory data, individual trees were assigned a general condition 
rating as defined by the Villebois Specific Area Plan North Community Elements Book: 

P: Poor Condition 

M: Moderate Condition 

G: Good Condition 

I: Important Condition 
 
Note that none of the trees were classified as “Important”, however trees #10478, a 61‐inch diameter 
giant sequoia (Sequoiadendron giganteum), and #10499, a 27‐inch diameter Douglas‐fir, both classified 
in “Good” condition, were noted as being in excellent condition with long live crowns and no major 
defects. 
 
In addition to the 113 non‐inventoried Oregon ash trees located within the wetland boundaries that are 
planned for preservation, seven (17.1%) of the 41 inventoried trees are planned for preservation, 26 
(63.4%) are planned for removal, and eight (19.5%) trees in good condition are likely to be removed. 
Table 2 provides a summary of the count of trees by general condition rating and treatment 
recommendation. 

Table 2. Count of Trees by Treatment Recommendation and General Condition Rating. 

Treatment Recommendation 

General Condition Rating 

Total P  M  G 

Retain    2  5  7 (17.1%) 

Remove  8  13  5  26 (63.4%) 

Likely to be Removed      8  8 (19.5%) 

Total 
8 

(19.5%) 
15 

(36.6%) 
18

(43.9%) 
41 (100%) 

 
Of the 26 trees planned for removal, 17 (65%) are recommended for removal because of condition and 
nine (35%) are recommended for removal for the purposes of construction, including five trees in good 
condition. 
  
The eight trees classified as likely to be removed shall be accounted for as removed for the purposes of 
mitigation, but re‐evaluated during construction in terms of long‐term sustainability, and retained or 
removed at that time. These trees will be protected during construction, but if the arborist determines 
that a tree is not sustainable with construction impacts, the arborist shall submit a brief memorandum 
to the City documenting the change in treatment recommendation to seek written authorization to 



Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, Oregon 

January 30, 2014 
Page 4 

 

 

 

proceed with removal and mitigation. If a tree likely to be removed is successfully protected throughout 
construction, no mitigation will be required for the tree.  
 
Mitigation Requirements 
All 41 inventoried trees are 6‐inches or larger in diameter, including seven trees planned for retention 
with protection throughout construction and 34 trees planned for removal because of condition and/or 
construction or are likely to be removed because of construction. Removal of these 34 trees requires 
mitigation per Section 4.620.00; removed trees shall be replaced on a basis of one tree planted for each 
tree removed. Therefore, 34 trees measuring at least 2‐inch in diameter shall be planted as mitigation 
for tree removal.    

 
Tree Protection Standards  
Trees designated for retention will need special consideration to assure their protection during 
construction. We highly recommend a preconstruction meeting with the owner, contractors, and project 
arborist to review tree protection measures and address questions or concerns on site. Tree protection 
measures include:  

 Fencing. Trees to remain on site shall be protected by installation of tree protection fencing to 
prevent injury to tree trunks or roots, or soil compaction within the root protection area, which 
generally coincides with tree driplines. Fences shall be 6‐foot high steel on concrete blocks or 
orange plastic construction fencing on metal stakes. The project arborist shall determine the 
exact location and type of tree protection fencing. Trees located more than 30‐feet from 
construction activity shall not require fencing.  

 Tree Protection Zone. Without authorization from the Project Arborist, none of the following 
shall occur beneath the dripline of any protected tree: 

1. Grade change or cut and fill; 

2. New impervious surfaces; 

3. Utility or drainage field placement; 

4. Staging or storage of materials and equipment; or 

5. Vehicle maneuvering. 

Root protection zones may be entered for tasks like surveying, measuring, and, sampling. Fences 
must be closed upon completion of these tasks.   

 Pruning. Pruning may be needed to provide for overhead clearance and to remove dead and 
defective branches for safety. The project arborist can help identify where pruning is necessary 
once trees recommended for removal have been removed and the site is staked and prepared 
for construction. Tree removal and pruning shall be performed by a Qualified Tree Service.  

 Excavation. Excavation beneath the dripline of protected trees shall be avoided if alternatives 
are feasible. Otherwise, the project arborist shall provide on‐site consultation during all 
excavation activities beneath the dripline of protected trees. Excavation immediately adjacent 
to roots larger than 2‐inches in diameter within the root protection zone of retained trees shall 
be by hand or other non‐invasive techniques to ensure that roots are not damaged. Where 
feasible, major roots shall be protected by tunneling or other means to avoid destruction or 
damage. Exceptions can be made if, in the opinion of the project arborist, unacceptable damage 
will not occur to the tree. Where soil grade changes affect the root protection area, the grade 



Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, Oregon 

January 30, 2014 
Page 5 

 

 

 

line should be meandered wherever practicable. This will require on‐site coordination to ensure 
a reasonable balance between engineering, construction, and the need for tree protection. 

 Surfacing. If surfacing is proposed beneath the dripline of protected trees, coordinate with the 
project arborist to provide recommendations for adjustments to protection fencing and to 
monitor construction in the tree protection zone. Avoid excavation and use a modified profile to 
build up from existing grade (Figure 1). The profile includes a layer of permeable geotextile 
fabric on the ground surface and crushed rock to raise the grade as needed. Surfacing may 
include asphalt, concrete, or other materials. If excavation is necessary, work shall be performed 
under arborist supervision. 

   

 Landscaping. Following construction and where landscaping is desired, apply approximately 3‐
inches of mulch beneath the dripline of protected trees, but not directly against tree trunks. 
Shrubs and ground covers may be planted within tree protection areas. If irrigation is used, use 
drip irrigation only beneath the driplines of protected trees.   

 Quality Assurance. The project arborist should supervise proper execution of this plan during 
construction activities that could encroach on retained trees. Tree protection site inspection 
monitoring reports should be provided to the Client and City on a regular basis throughout 
construction.    

 
Summary 
In summary, seven trees are planned for retention with construction (in addition to the approximately 
113 Oregon ash trees located within the wetland boundaries), an additional eight trees will be protected 
but are likely to be removed during construction, and 26 trees are recommended for removal either 
because of condition or for the purposes of construction. The 26 trees planned for removal will require 
mitigation on a one‐for‐one basis and the eight trees likely to be removed will require mitigation if 
removed.  

 
Thank you for choosing Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC, to provide consulting arborist services for the 
Villebois PDP 3 North project. Please contact us if you have questions or need any additional information. 

Thank you, 
Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC 
 
 
 

Morgan E. Holen, Owner   
ISA Certified Arborist, PN‐6145A 
ISA Tree Risk Assessment Qualified 
Forest Biologist 

Enclosures:  Villebois PDP 3 North – Tree Data 1‐28‐14 



MHA1405 Villebois PDP 3 North ‐ Tree Data 1‐28‐14

Page 1 of 2

Tree 

No.

Point 

No. Common Name Species Name DBH* C‐Rad^ Cond# Condition & Comments Treatment

10442 17236 Oregon white oak Quercus garryana 60 M

codominant stems at 6' coming apart; 

advanced decay; high risk; remove for 

hazardous condition retain

10443 17237 English hawthorn Crataegus monogyna 16 M invasive species, poor structure remove ‐ construction

10444 17238 black locust Robinia pseudoacacia 18 G invasive species, dead branches remove ‐ construction

10463 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 45 M

poor crown structure, dead and broken 

branches remove ‐ construction

10464 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 26 24 G

codom branches, some included bark, 

appears stable retain

10465 ponderosa pine Pinus ponderosa 19 12 M

poor crown structure; retain with 

adjacent trees only retain

10466 Atlas cedar Cedrus atlantica 27 20 G numerous leaders retain

10467 lodgepole pine Pinus contorta 10 M small crown, sequoia pitch moth remove ‐ condition

10468 lodgepole pine Pinus contorta 9 P

poor crown structure, sequoia pitch 

moth remove ‐ condition

10469 lodgepole pine Pinus contorta 9 P

dead branches, poor crown structure, 

sequoia pitch moth remove ‐ condition

10470 ginkgo Ginkgo biloba 8 8 G no major defects retain

10471 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 32 16 G few broken branches likely to be removed

10472 blue spruce Picea pungens 15 M twig dieback, suspect adelgid remove ‐ condition

10473 Port‐Orford‐cedar Chamaecyparis lawsoniana 12 11 G no major defects remove ‐ construction

10473.1 dogwood Cornus  spp. 6 14 G

prune dominant trees for crown 

clearance if retained likely to be removed

10474 ponderosa pine Pinus ponderosa 21 12 G multiple leaders, sequoia pitch moth likely to be removed

10475 western redcedar Thuja plicata 28 16 G no major defects likely to be removed

10476 ponderosa pine Pinus ponderosa 21 10 M

multiple leaders, sequoia pitch moth, 

prune if retained remove ‐ construction

10477 Norway maple Acer platanoides 20 22 G invasive species remove ‐ construction

Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC
 Consulting Arborists and Urban Forest Management

3 Monroe Parkway, Suite P220, Lake Oswego, Oregon  97035
morgan.holen@comcast.net  |  971-409-9354



MHA1405 Villebois PDP 3 North ‐ Tree Data 1‐28‐14

Page 2 of 2

Tree 

No.

Point 

No. Common Name Species Name DBH* C‐Rad^ Cond# Condition & Comments Treatment

10478 giant sequoia Sequoiadendron giganteum 61 16 G

excellent condition, long live crown, no 

major defects remove ‐ construction

10479 mimosa Albizia julibrissin 20 P

codom stems at 1' coming apart, 

advanced basal and stem decay remove ‐ hazardous

10480 red maple Acer rubrum 15 18 G scaffold branch with included bark likely to be removed

10481 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 25 22 G broken top likely to be removed

10482 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 27 18 G few dead twigs likely to be removed

10483 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 22 16 G no major defects likely to be removed

10484 fruit unknown 20 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition

10485 fruit unknown 10 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition

10486 fruit unknown 5,6,8,9 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition

10487 fruit unknown 10,14 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition

10488 fruit unknown 13 G no major defects remove ‐ construction

10489 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 33 M codom stems, included bark, seam remove ‐ hazardous

10490 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 2*32 24 G

codom at 4', some included bark, 

appears stable retain

10491 European white birch Betula pendula 2*12 P invasive species, poor structure remove ‐ condition

10492 European white birch Betula pendula 8,2*12 P invasive species, poor structure remove ‐ condition

10493 fruit unknown 8 P branch and stem decay remove ‐ condition

10494 fruit unknown 10 P branch and stem decay remove ‐ condition

10495 fruit unknown 8 P stem decay, small live crown remove ‐ condition

10496 fruit unknown 12 M no major defects remove ‐ construction

10497 fruit unknown 8 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition

10498 fruit unknown 7 M no major defects remove ‐ condition

10499 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 27 20 G

excellent condition, long live crown, no 

major defects retain

^C‐Rad: Crown Radius, the distance from the center of the tree to the edge of the dripline (measured in feet)
#Condition Codes: I‐Important; G‐Good; M‐Moderate; P‐Poor

*DBH: Diameter at Breast Height (measured 4.5‐feet above ground level in inches); trees with multiple trunks splitting below DBH are measured separately and individual trunk measurements are separated 

Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC
 Consulting Arborists and Urban Forest Management

3 Monroe Parkway, Suite P220, Lake Oswego, Oregon  97035
morgan.holen@comcast.net  |  971-409-9354



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IIH 

Architectural Pattern Book 
(No Amendments) 



A R C H I T E C T U R A L  P A T T E R N  B O O K          SAP NORTH - VOLUME III 

V I L L E B O I S

ORIGINAL APPROVED 2007 

AMENDED JANUARY 28, 2013, CITY CASE FILE DB12-0067 

amber
Typewriter

amber
Typewriter

amber
Typewriter



 Introduction A1© 2004 Iverson Architects 

PATTERN BOOK ORGANIZATION INTRODUCTIONINTRODUCTION

INTRODUCTION

BASIC ELEMENTS OF  
ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

Pattern Book Organization 

LAND USE PATTERNS 
& LOT DIAGRAMS

Standard Detached
Medium & Small Detached

APPROPRIATE 
ARCHITECTURAL STYLES

French Revival & American Classic

Guiding Principles of the Villebois Village Master Plan

French Revival
American Classic
English Revival
American Modern

Diversity & Rules of Adjacencies

C 1

C 3-6
C 7-10
C 11-14
C 15-20

B 4
B 3

A 1

Standard & Large Detached
Small Cottages, Small, & Medium Detached

English Revival & American Modern C 2

APPENDICES References & Definitions F 1
Compliance Checklist F 2

D 1
D 2
D 3

ARCHITECTURE SCALE    
AND PROPORTIONS

& Location of Specific Area Plan South A 4

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Prologue A 3
How to Use This Architectural Pattern Book A 2

Lot Types & Sustainability in Specific Area Plan North A 5

Row Houses B 6

Row Houses D 4

Building Placement at Typical Slope Condition B 7

Estate & Large Detached B 2
Lot Diagram Notes B 1

Notes on Fencing

Community Fencing

Constraints - Height Transitions

E 1

E 3-12

E 21

MASTER FENCING 
PROGRAM

Fence Lot Diagrams

Residential Fencing 

E 13-20

E 22-27

Materials & Colors for Fencing E 2

Small Cottages B 5









pre
Polygon

pre
Polygon











LOT DIAGRAMS
© 2005 Iverson Architects 

SMALL COTTAGE - DEATTACHED
25’-36’ x 64’-89’+/- + 10’

The Small Cottage Detached is the smallest of the single family deattached Villebois 
neighborhood lot types.  The residential buildings are on lots ranging from 1,850 to 
about 3,000 square feet.  The houses may be attached in pairs just at the garages or 
along the entire side of the dwellings. (See note below)  Off-street parking is located 
at the rear of the house, off of an alley, in attached or detached garages.  The houses 
typically face the street but may also front onto a public park or greenbelt or be 
arranged in clusters.  When located on a greenbelt, the sidewalk is placed in a public 
access easement.  Use easements to maximize the usable yard space for each 
house are allowed but not required.  Accessory buildings are allowed, and they may 
be detached or attached; they must be of the same exterior design as the primary 
dwelling unit on the property.  
 

 

YARDS, ETC.

GARAGE

 PARKING APRON

SEMI-PRIVATE 
OUTDOOR SPACE

AUTO PARKING

AT ACCESSORY 
DWELLING WITH NO 
APRON PARKING

PRIVATE OUTDOOR 
SPACE

YARDS

PATIOS

PORCHES, 
STOOPS

COURTYARDS, 
TERRACES

SEMI-PUBLIC 
OUTDOOR SPACE

LEGEND

WHERE SETBACKS ARE MEASURED TO:

A  FRONT YARD BUILDING SETBACK
B    SETBACK TO PORCHES, STOOPS,   
 DECKS, CANOPIES, BALCONIES, BAY   
 WINDOWS, CHIMNEYS, AWNINGS,  AND   
 ARCHITECTURAL PROJECTIONS 

C    NOT USED
D    SIDEYARD BUILDING SETBACK
E    REAR YARD BUILDING SETBACK
F    ALLEY-LOADED GARAGE SETBACK

YARD

S
TR

E
E

T

P
U

B
LI

C
A

C
C

E
S

S
E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T

A
L L

E
Y

STREET

STREET

TRANSPARENT
2' MIN. IF NON-

A

B

B

A

B
2' MIN. IF NON-
TRANSPARENT

WALL OR FENCE

A
LL

E
Y

F

F+
7'

D

MIN. 8'
TYP. 10'

E
A

10'-0"
64'-89' MIN. 8'

TYP. 10'

SCREENED BY FENCES
PARKING MUST BE

OR WALLS AT ALLEYS
AND SIDE STREETS

DRIVEWAY APRONS AT INTER-
SECTION OF ALLEY TO
STREET TO BE 3' MIN., 5' MAX.

2'-5'

YARD

YARD

YARD

YARD

YARDYARD

YARD

YARD

YARDYARD

YARD

YARD

YARD

YARD

WALL OR FENCE

ACTIVE SIDE OF HOUSE 
WITH USE OF ADJACENT 
LOT SIDEYARD

PASSIVE SIDE OF HOUSE WITH 
HIGH OR OBSCURE GLAZING 
ONLY, FOR PRIVACY OF AD-
JACENT YARD (USE MINIMUM 
SETBACK WHEN PASSIVE IS 
ADJACENT TO PASSIVE) 

SMALL Cottage detaCHED

25
'-3

6'
25

'-3
6'

25
'-3

6'
25

'-3
6'

25
'-3

6'

Land  Use Patterns         B5

pre
Rectangle

pre
Rectangle

pre
Rectangle

pre
Typewriter
SMALL COTTAGE - DETACHED

pre
Line

pre
Typewriter
25'-36' x 64'-89' +/- 10'

pre
Typewriter

pre
Typewriter

pre
Typewriter



pre
Rectangle

pre
Typewriter
B6

pre
Typewriter

pre
Typewriter



pre
Typewriter
B7

pre
Rectangle

pre
Typewriter
B7

pre
Typewriter















































amber
Typewriter























































 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
III 

Community Elements Book 
(No Amendments) 













































 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IIJ 

Master Signage & Wayfinding 
(No Amendments) 









































 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IIK 

Rainwater Management Book 
(No Amendments) 























































 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IIL 

Compliance with SAP North 
Conditions of Approval 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 1 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

NARRATIVE OF COMPLIANCE  

WITH CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

Specific Area Plan - North (SAP North) 
 

Compliance with Conditions of Approval  
for Case File DB07-0054 

Specific Area Plan - North 
 

PLANNING DIVISION CONDITIONS 

 
Request A: DB07-0054 Specific Area Plan – North 

 
PDA 1.  A SAP amendment to the Architectural Pattern Book and Community Elements 

Book must be made prior to approval of the preliminary development plan for 
the school site. See Finding A28. 

 
Response: This condition is no longer applicable because the school site has been moved 

to SAP East. 
 
PDA 1.  The applicant/owner must demonstrate coordination with the City and West 

Linn/Wilsonville School District and supply a more refined conceptual site 
plan for the school site at the time of application for Area 2 of SAP-North. 
The site plan must include at a minimum Community Park 1 as identified in 
the Villebois Village Technical Appendix or a refinement as necessary. See 
Finding A35. 

 
Response: This condition is no longer applicable because the school site has been moved 

to SAP East. 
 
PDA3. The applicant/owner shall submit a more detailed site plan of Neighborhood 

Park 5, Fir Park, with the submission of SAP-North, Area 2.  The plan must 
demonstrate the relationship of those areas of the park within SAP-North and 
those areas of the park with SAP-East.  See FindingA29. 

 
Response: This condition was addressed in the application for PDP 3 East (Case File Nos. 

DB12-0042, DB12-0043) and FDP 3E (Case File No. DB12-0048). 
 
PDA4. The applicant/owner shall submit a more detailed site plan of Pocket Park 9, 

and linear greens 15 and 16, with the submittal for SAP-North, Area 2.  The 
plan shall include proposed uses and community elements.  Pursuant to the 
Villebois Village Technical Appendix, Fir Park and the Villebois Greenway 
shall preserve an existing oak tree as well as provide creative play, benches 
and a pathway.  See Finding A31. 

 
Response: This condition was addressed in the application for PDP 3 East, approved 

11/19/12 (Case File Nos. DB12-0042, DB12-0043) and FDP 3E (Case File No. DB12-
0048). 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 2 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

 
PDA5. The Pocket Park within the block defined by Monte Carlo Avenue, Barber 

Street, Surrey Street in PDP5-S and Lausanne Street must include a creative 
play structure, such as large boulders, consistent with the Villebois Village 
Technical Appendix.  See Finding A33.   

 
Response: This condition was addressed in the application for PDP 1N, approved 8/25/11. 

(Case File No. DB11-0024). 
 
PDA6. As a part of the Area 2 submittal package, and pursuant to Figure 7 of the 

Villebois Village Master Plan, the applicant must provide a minor pathway that 
bisects Regional Park 4 creating a walkway from Grimaldi Street to Ravenna 
Loop.  See Finding A42.  
 

Response: This condition was addressed in the application for PDP 2N (Case File No. DB13-
0020). 

 
PDA7. The applicant/owner must submit a more detailed Tree Preservation Plan and 

Tree Removal Permit, as necessary, with Preliminary Development Plan-1 
(PDP-1N).  In addition, the applicant must provide an arborist report 
consistent with Section 4.610.30(.02)C.  See Finding A44. 

 
Response: This condition was addressed in the application for PDP 1N, approved 8/25/11 

(Case File No. DB11-0024) and FDP 1N (Case File No. DB11-0027). 
 
PDA8. The applicant/owner must submit a Landscape Plan with the Preliminary 

Development Plan-1 (PDP-1N).  Consistent with the policies and objectives of 
the Villebois Village Master Plan, the plan must place emphasis on large shade 
trees within Regional Park 3 and the pocket park such as oaks, elms and ash.  
See Finding A64.   
 

Response: This condition was addressed in the application for PDP 1N, approved 8/25/11 
(Case File No. DB11-0024) and FDP 1N (Case File No. DB11-0027). 

 
PDA9. Prior to Development Review Board approval of Preliminary Development 

Plan 1 of Area 1, SAP-North, the applicant/owner shall submit a parks plan to 
the Parks Board for review and approval.  Parks Plan must be consistent with 
the Villebois Village Technical Appendix or the appropriate refinement 
requested.   See Finding A61. 
 

Response: This condition was addressed in the application for PDP 1N, approved 8/25/11 
(Case File No. DB11-0024) and FDP 1N (Case File No. DB11-0027). 

 
PDA10. The applicant/owner must provide an Arborist Report and more detailed tree 

inventory with the submittal of Area 2.  See Finding A63. 
 

Response: This condition was met for the PDP 2N area with the PDP 2N application, 
approved 6/10/13 (Case File No. DB13-0020). A Tree Preservation Plan and 
Arborist Report is included with the SAP North Amendment for Phase 3. This 
condition will also be addressed with future phases as they are proposed. 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 3 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

 
PDA11. The applicant/owner must submit a lighting plan for PDP1-N.  The lighting 

plan must be consistent with Appendix H of the Villebois Village Master Plan.  
See Finding A68. 

 
Response: This condition was addressed in the application for PDP 1N, approved 8/22/11. 

(Case File No. DB11-0024). 
 
PDA12. The applicant/owner must submit a revised lighting plan for PDP1-N.  Lighting 

on Grimaldi Street shall be moved from the north to the south side of the 
street to reduce impact on the Upland Forest.  See Finding A68. 

 
Response: This condition was addressed in the application for PDP 1N, approved 8/25/11. 

(Case File No. DB11-0024). Grimaldi Street is now called Palermo Street. 
 
PDA13. Area 2 of SAP-North shall include provisions, i.e. a structure, for storage of 

seasonal activity equipment in Regional Park 5. See Finding A70. 
 

Response: This condition will be addressed in a future Regional Park 5 development 
application, which will be included in a future phase. 

 
PDA14. Proposed street tree plantings for Salzburg and San Remo are not consistent 

with the approved plantings for a primary residential street, but rather a 
Secondary Residential Street.  Street trees for Salzburg and San Remo shall 
be amended in the subsequent PDP1-N application to include street trees 
consistent with Primary Residential Streets.  See Finding A133. 

 
Response: This condition was addressed in the application for PDP 1N, approved 8/25/11. 

(Case File No. DB11-0024). 
 
PDA15. Page G7.0 of the Master Signage and Wayfinding Plan includes a reference to 

Site Plan G3.0.  Site Plan G3.0 shall be labeled or inserted accordingly. See 
Finding A142. 

 
Response: The site plan referenced in PDA 15 is included on page G7.0 in the Master Signage 

and Wayfinding Plan. 
 

PDA16. The submitted Community Elements Book shall be revised to include street 
lighting on those portions of the right-of-way opposite the Upland Forest.  See 
Finding A152. 

 
Response: This condition was addressed in the plans for PDP 2N for the south and west 

sides of the forest, approved 6/10/13 (Case File No. BD13-0020), and is further 
addressed in the plans for PDP 3N for the north side of the forest.  
 

PDA17. The Land use Patterns, Lot Diagram, Small Lot Subsection of the Architectural 
Pattern Book shall be amended to require that lots be a minimum of 70 feet 
in depth for single-family dwellings with an accessory dwelling unit.  See 
Finding A154. 
 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 4 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

Response: This condition is reflected in the City’s Development Code under V-Village Zone, 
section 4.125(.14)(1)(b). 

 
PDA18. An application for Area 2 of SAP-North is required, to proceed with the 

furtherance and platting of subsequent Preliminary Development 
Plans/phases in Area 2.  See Finding A168.   
 

Response: PDP 2N for SAP Phase 2 was approved on 6/10/13 (Case File No. DB13-0020). A 
SAP North Amendment has been submitted to add information for Phase 3, 
reflect Phase 1 and Phase 2 approvals, and identify future Phase areas. 

 
PDA19. Upon submittal of Area 2 of SAP-North, the applicant shall provide a revised 

total unit count for Villebois and a request for a refinement to density, if 
applicable. See Finding A183. 

 
Response: PDP 2N was approved on 6/10/13 (Case File No. DB13-0020) and included a 

refinement for density as needed. The SAP North Amendment (see page 8 of the 
Intro Narrative in Notebook Section IA) provides a current total unit count table 
for Villebois reflecting approved counts for Phase 1 and Phase 2, proposed 
counts for Phase 3, and unit counts for the Future Phases of SAP North, as 
anticipated by Master Plan Figure 1. 
 

PDA20. An application for a comprehensive plan map amendment and zone change 
to Village (V) zone shall be submitted prior to development within Area 1 and 
concurrent with an application for PDP1-N.  See Finding A188. 

 
Response: A comprehensive plan map amendment was approved 6/2/03 (Case File No. 

02PC07C) resulting in Ordinance No. 555 designating a zone change to 
‘Residential-Village’ for all of Villebois. Each subsequent PDP will include a 
request for zone change to Village (V) zone. PDP 1N, approved 8/25/11, included 
a zone change to Village (V) zone. PDP 2N also included a zone change to Village 
(V) zone (Case File No. DB13-0023, adopted as Ordinance No. 720). A concurrent 
application for PDP 3N includes an annexation application and a zone change 
application to apply the V zone to Phase 3.  

 
PDA21. The Architectural Pattern Book shall be revised to include requirements for 

site plans submitted for building permit review.  All site plans shall include at 
a minimum site coverage calculations, easements, utilities and street trees.   

 
Response: The Architectural Pattern Book was amended on 1/28/13 to include small 

cottages (Case File No. DB12-0067). 
 
 

BUILDING DIVISION CONDITIONS 

 
Request A: DB07-0054 Specific Area Plan – North 

 
BDA1. CONDITION.  LOTS SHALL BE GRADED so that all sheet drainage drains to the 

street and/or alley unless the City approves an alternate drainage design. 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 5 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

 
Response: Compliance with this condition is demonstrated for each construction phase. 
 
BDA2. ADVISORY.  TREE SELECTION.  The Fire Code requires that required fire 

apparatus access roads have an unobstructed vertical clearance of 13’6”.  
(Oregon Fire Code 503.2.1) This should be taken into account when choosing 
street trees that may encroach into this space as they mature. 

 
Response: Compliance with this condition is demonstrated for each construction phase. 
 
BDA3. ADVISORY.  FIRE HYDRANT CLEARANCES.  Hydrants shall be placed at least 

two feet from the driving surface unless specific approval is otherwise given 
by the City.  A three-foot radius circle measured from the circumference of 
the hydrant shall constitute a clear working area.  Streetlights, transformers, 
pole signs, mailboxes, trees or other plantings, and all other similar items 
shall not encroach into this area.  (Grass or other low growing ground cover 
that does not constitute an inherent trip hazard is excepted) When placing 
landscaping, the mature size of plant material shall be taken into account. 

 
Response: Compliance with this condition is demonstrated for each construction phase. 
 
BDA4. ADVISORY.  STRUCTURE IDENTIFICATION.  New and existing buildings shall 

have approved address numbers, building numbers or approved building 
identification placed in a position that is plainly legible and visible from the 
street or road fronting the property.  (505.1) Where buildings are not readily 
visible from the fire department access roadway marquee or other signage 
acceptable to the fire marshal shall be located as required for building 
location. 

 
Response: This condition is not applicable to SAP or PDP applications and will be addressed 

during a later construction phase. 
 
 

ENGINEERING DIVISION CONDITIONS 

 
Request A: DB07-0054 SAP-North (Area 1 of SAP-North) 

 
Note: PFA 1 through PFA 30 have been addressed with the construction plans for each Phase  
of PDP 1N. Both Phases have already been built. Compliance with these conditions is addressed  
as applicable to the subject site. 
 
PFA1. All construction or improvements to public works facilities shall be in 

conformance to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards, except as 
noted herein. 

 
PFA2. To lessen the impact of the proposed project on the downstream storm drain 

system, and adjacent properties, project run-off from the site shall be 
detained and limited to the difference between a developed 25-year storm 
and an undeveloped 25-year storm. The detention and outfall facilities shall 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 6 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

be designed and constructed in conformance with the Public Works 
Standards. 

 
PFA3. A storm water analysis prepared by a Registered Professional Engineer shall 

be submitted for review and approval by the City to address appropriate pipe 
and detention facility sizing as well as pond locations and temporary routing 
strategy.  The analysis shall be prepared utilizing the appropriate values in 
the Storm Water Master Plan.  For example, in the application materials, the 
predeveloped time of concentration calculation for all basins uses a Mannings 
"n" value of 0.13 (used for Range in natural condition).  This is not applicable 
for the existing condition for calculating the time of concentration.  
Therefore, the analysis shall be prepared using an "n" value of 0.15, in 
accordance with the Stormwater Master Plan.  Also, all curve numbers shall 
comply with Table 2-2a, SCS Technical Release #55: 
 
A)   SCS Curve #80 for open space and landscape areas 
B)   SCS Curve #94 for commercial areas  
C)   SCS Curve #98 for impervious surface areas (roadways) 
D)   SCS Curve #90 for residential development, 1/8 acre or less (townhouses) 
E)   SCS Curve #83 for residential development, 1/4 acre. 

 
See Finding A85. 

 
PFA4. The applicant shall be in conformance with all water quality requirements for 

the proposed development per the Public Works Standards.  If a mechanical 
water quality system is used, prior to City acceptance of the project the 
applicant shall provide a letter from the system manufacturer stating that the 
system was installed per specifications and is functioning as designed. 

 
PFA5. Sidewalks, pedestrian linkages, and street crossings shall be in compliance 

with the ADA Accessibility Guidelines (ADAAG), as amended in 2002, or the 
2005 Draft Public Rights-of-Way Accessibility Guidelines for areas not fully 
addressed in the ADAAG standards, as determined by the City Engineer. 

 
PFA6. Applicant shall design interior streets and alleys to meet specifications of 

Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue and Allied Waste Management (United Disposal) 
for access and use of their vehicles. 

 
PFA7. Applicant shall provide a minimum 6-foot Public Utility Easement on lot and 

tract frontages to all public right-of-ways. 
 
PFA8. The properties are subject to a Development Agreement between the City of 

Wilsonville, the Urban Renewal Agency, Villebois LLC, and State of Oregon 
Department of Administration Services, signed and executed on the 24th day 
of May 2004.  The applicant shall work in cooperation with the City and other 
Villebois developers to establish a fair and equitable manner of project 
phasing, as required in this Development Agreement, and alignment of 
infrastructure between SAP North and SAP Central. See Finding A5 and A9. 
 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 7 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

PFA9. If eligible, the City will provide System Development Charge credits and/or 
funding in conformance with the Development Agreement and associated 
finance plan. 

 
PFA10. Access to Grahams Ferry Road shall be limited to the proposed Barber Street 

access point.  Applicant shall provide a left turn pocket on Barber Street at 
this intersection.  Eliminate on-street parking along this area with the left 
turn lane. 

   
PFA11. Applicant shall be responsible for design and construction of half street 

improvements for streets split between SAP North and SAP Central. 
 
PFA12. City policy is to not rename streets having a continuing characteristic.  The 

name Grimaldi Street shall be eliminated in favor of Palermo Street; Salzburg 
Lane shall be eliminated in favor of San Remo Street. 

 
PFA13. Amalfi Lane is not on the approved Villebois Street Name list dated 07/19/05.  

This street will need to be renamed using the approved list or applicant shall 
receive approval of the name from Costa Pacific Communities. 

 
PFA14. Street cross sections shall be in conformance to the Villebois Master Plan 

(adopted May 15, 2006).  From material submitted, it appears that street type 
K2 is a new submittal showing a 10-ft left turn lane, City Standards are for 
14-foot turn lanes.  From material submitted, it appears that street type L1 
is a new submittal showing a 10-foot swale on one side; street shall be 
constructed with a standard curb and gutter and not a vertical curb.  From 
material submitted, it appears that street type M has eliminated the planting 
strip; approved design shows a 6-foot planting strip between curb and 
sidewalk.  From material submitted, it appears that street type P is misnamed 
and incorrect; this section corresponds to street type A, travel lanes shall be 
12-feet wide, median shall be 14-feet wide. 

 
PFA15. Pathway cross sections shall be in conformance to the Villebois Master Plan 

(adopted May 15, 2006).  From material submitted, it appears that pathway 
type R in misnamed and incorrect; this section corresponds to Minor Pathway 
type Q and shall be 8 feet wide, paved.  From material submitted, it appears 
that pathway types Q and S are misnamed; the Major Pathway corresponds to 
type P and the Nature Trail to type R. 

 
PFA16. All new franchise utility lines shall be installed underground, any existing 

overhead franchise utility lines within the project area or immediately 
adjacent to roadways (i.e. along SW Grahams Ferry Road) shall also be 
relocated underground.  The applicant shall be responsible for and make all 
necessary arrangements with the serving utility to provide underground 
service(s). 

 
PFA17. Water main lines shall be installed on the south and east sides of the streets 

and/or alleys; sanitary sewer lines shall be installed on the north and west 
sides of the streets and/or alleys; storm sewer lines shall be installed near 
street center lines. 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 8 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

 
PFA18. All storm, sanitary, and water main lines shall be extended to future phases 

located north and east of the project as per the Villebois Village Master Plan. 
 
PFA19. Install waterline improvements in conformance with the City's Water Master 

Plan and as necessary to supply adequate fire flows during phased 
construction.  The applicant shall also “loop” proposed waterlines by 
connecting to the existing City waterlines where applicable. 

 
Currently, city staff is verifying capacity needs for the area.  Results are not 
yet available.  Should the analysis indicate the need to adjust the following 
waterline sizing and/or alignment, modified conditions will be provided.  At 
a minimum, the applicant shall provide an 18” ductile iron pipe (DIP) 
waterline within the SW Barber Street right-of-way from SW Costa Circle West 
to SW Grahams Ferry Road; a 12” DIP waterline within the SW Grahams Ferry 
Road right-of-way south from SW Barber Street and connecting to the planned 
waterline as shown in the SAP South PDP 4 approved plans; an 18” DIP 
waterline within the SW Grahams Ferry Road right-of-way north from SW 
Barber Street.  All interior public streets shall have looped minimum 8” DIP 
waterline improvements with connections to the 18” main in SW Barber, as 
shown on material submitted. 

 
PFA20. The proposed water system shall be designed by a Registered Professional 

Engineer to provide, at a minimum, 1,500 gpm flow with 20 psi residual 
pressure with the City’s Water Treatment Plant off-line.  Water modeling 
information to be provided to the City showing that adequate fire flows are 
being met shall take into account water demands from the previously 
approved housing units in Villebois SAP South PDP 1, PDP 2, PDP 3, PDP 4, 
and PDP 5, SAP Central PDP 1 and PDP 2, and SAP East PDP 1. 

 
PFA21. Install waste water collection system improvements in conformance with the 

availability of capacity within the existing system and the City's Waste Water 
Collection System Master Plan. Sanitary sewer capacity analysis shall be based 
on the appropriate values as reflected in the Waste Water Collection System 
Master Plan. 

 
PFA22. Applicant shall provide a sanitary sewer system that will provide sanitary 

service (gravity system) to land located up to 500 feet west of Grahams Ferry 
Road, or as approved by City Engineer. 

 
PFA23. Applicant shall obtain a Stormwater easement from property owners west of 

Grahams Ferry Road for the land impacted by storm pipeline construction 
and/or release of stormwater from the on-site storm detention pond(s). 

 
PFA24. Storm water analysis reports for just SAP North Area 1 for the Mill Creek and 

Arrowhead Creek basins shall be required to be submitted for approval with 
the PDP submittal for this site. 

 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 9 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

PFA25. The City of Wilsonville TSP states that minor collector roads (Barber Street) 
operate at 25 - 35 miles per hour.  Therefore, the design characteristics of 
the proposed minor collectors shall reflect a minimum 30 mph design speed. 

 
PFA26. Intersecting roadway and intersecting alley centerlines shall match. 
 
PFA27. The applicant shall provide two perpendicular directional pedestrian ramps 

at intersection curb returns. 
 
PFA28. Major trail crossings shall coincide with intersections, as mid-block crossings 

are not encouraged. 
 
PFA29. Sidewalks shall be located so that minimal impact occurs to existing trees 

planned to be preserved. 
 
PFA30. If public or franchise services are to be located in alleyways, a minimum 27-

foot 26-foot wide easement shall be provided.  Where utility clusters are 
located, additional easement area may be required. 

 
PFA31. Advisory: a transportation review update memo will be required with the SAP 

North Area 2 submittal.  See Issue #2. 
 
Response: This condition was addressed for Phase 2 of SAP North with PDP 2N approval. A 

Traffic Analysis is included in Notebook Section IID of the SAP North Amendment. 
Additional traffic studies will be provided with future phases of SAP North. 

 
PFA32. Advisory: The Villebois Master Plan shows a single residential street 

connection between Firenze Street and Barcelona Street.  From material 
submitted this connection has been split by the offset streets Iceland Avenue 
and Bond Avenue.  These two streets shall be aligned as one street. 

 
Response: The subject streets are included within the Phase 3 area and are addressed as a 

Master Plan refinement in the Supporting Compliance Report for SAP North (see 
page 39 of the Supporting Compliance Report). 

 
PFA33. Advisory: from material submitted, it appears that many public utility 

connections are to non-existent lines in SAP South PDP 5 and SAP Central PDP 
2; this infrastructure shall need to be constructed prior to or concurrently 
with construction of SAP North PDP 1. 

 
Response: PDP 1N has been built and the utility connections referenced in PFA 33 have 

been installed. 
 
PFA34. Advisory: Crete Street, Bond Avenue and Nouveau Avenue are not on the 

approved Villebois Street Name list dated 07/19/05.  These streets will need 
to be renamed using the approved list or applicant shall receive approval of 
the names from Costa Pacific Communities. 

 
Response: The street previously identified as ‘Bond Avenue’ is proposed to be named 

‘Rome Avenue’ in Phase 3. The SAP Drawings submitted for the SAP North 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 10 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

Amendment (see Notebook Section IIB) reflect the street alignment within 
future phases approved with 2013 SAP refinements (DB13-0020 et al). The names 
‘Crete Street’ and ‘Nouveau Avenue’ are not included.  

 
PFA35. Advisory: in future SAP North submittals, Firenze Street shall be terminated 

at Capri Street, eliminating the intersection with Tooze/Boeckman Road. 
 
Response: The PDP 2N plan refinements included the change noted in this condition. 
 
PFA36. Advisory: in future SAP North submittals, Firenze Street shall be extended to 

intersect with Grahams Ferry Road, per the Villebois Master Plan and DKS 
Associates traffic analysis.  Oslo Lane shall be terminated at Belfast Lane, 
eliminating the intersection with Grahams Ferry Road. 

 
Response: The subject area is included in Phase 3 of SAP North and is addressed as a Master 

Plan refinement in the SAP North Amendment. 
 

Depending on property acquisition east of the school site, Firenze Street, 
east from Ravenna Loop, may need to align with Geneva Loop.  That section 
of Geneva Loop located between Ravenna Loop and Orleans Avenue may need 
to be redesigned.  Orleans Avenue may need to shift to the west. 

 
Firenze Street east of Orleans may need to be renamed and the street would 
start at a T-intersection with Orleans Avenue. 

 
Response: The areas referenced above will be addressed with submittals for future phases. 
 
PFA37. Community Elements Book (Vol. V) Page 3:  The proposed street light 

luminaire listed in the Community Elements Book (Hadco S8867C) is not a 
fixture that will be maintained by Portland General Electric.  A street light 
luminaire that is similar in type and style that will be maintained by PGE is 
the Hadco S8867E.  Please modify the street light luminaire in the Community 
Elements Book to the Hadco S8867E. 

 
Response: Street light plans for each construction Phase will be in compliance with the 

latest City standards. 
 
PFA38. Community Elements Book (Vol. V) Page 11:  Location of mail box kiosks shall 

be coordinated between applicant, Wilsonville Postmaster, and the City of 
Wilsonville and agreed upon.  Proposed locations of kiosk may need to be 
adjusted to meet vision clearance requirements at street and/or alley 
intersections.  In previous discussions between the developers, the City, and 
the U.S. Postal Service, it was agreed to use a standard sized 48-unit mail 
kiosk structure and to provide two designated parking stalls (one handicap 
accessible and one limited time) at each proposed mail kiosk 

 
Response: Each construction Phase will be coordinated with the Postmaster for final 

placement of mail boxes. 
 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 11 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

PFA39. Rainwater components shall be in compliance with the State of Oregon 
Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ).  

 
Response: Compliance with this condition is demonstrated with each construction phase. 
 
PFA40. Rainwater facilities may be located within the public right-of-way upon 

approval of the City Engineer.  The Stormwater Maintenance Covenant & 
Access Easement shall specify that the rainwater and stormwater facilities 
shall be privately maintained by the developer; maintenance shall transfer to 
the respective homeowners association when it is formed. 

 
Response: Compliance with this condition is demonstrated with each construction phase. 
 
PFA41. That the combined water depth from storm water detention, rainwater 

detention and water features (if used) shall not exceed four feet for the 25-
year storm in all detention/retention basins. 

 
Response: Compliance with this condition is demonstrated with each construction phase. 
 
PFA42. The applicant shall submit a stormwater/rainwater management plan that 

complies with the Villebois Village Master Plan as revised on May 15, 2006. 
 
Response: This condition was addressed for PDP 1N (2011 approval) and PDP 2N (2013 

approval). It has been included with the SAP North Amendment (see Notebook 
Section IIC) to add information for Phase 3 and will be addressed with each 
future phase. 

 
 

NATURAL RESOURCES CONDITIONS 

 
REQUEST A: DB07-0054 SAP-North (Area 1 of SAP-North), Rainwater Management Program 

 
NRA 1 through NRA 17 have been addressed in the application for PDP 1N, approved 8/25/11.  
(Case File No. DB11-0024). 
 
NRA1. The applicant shall submit a detailed operations and maintenance manual for 

the rainwater management components that has been reviewed and 
approved by city staff before 50% of the units are occupied in Phase 1 (Area 
1), SAP North. 

 
NRA2. For Rainwater Management Component No. 1 (Bioretention Cell and Pond) 

revise the wording in Design Criteria No. 7 to state: “Safe bypass path or 
overflow to public storm drainage system.” 

 
NRA3. For Rainwater Management Component No. 6 and 7 (Grassy and Vegetative 

Swales) revise the wording in Design Criteria No. 7 to state: “Side slope to be 
2.5 4:1 maximum, or flatter in treatment area. 

 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 12 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

NRA4. For Rainwater Management Component No. 10 (Permeable Pavers/Turf) add 
the following requirement to the “Limitations” section: “Permeable pavers 
proposed for public streets or publicly maintained areas shall be subject to 
approval by the City Engineer”. 

 
NRA5. For Rainwater Management Component No. 10 (Permeable Pavers/Turf) add 

the following requirement to the “Maintenance” section: “Do not pressure 
wash. Remove loose debris with blower, vacuum, rake or similar tool.” 

 
NRA6. For Rainwater Management Component No. 11 (Porous Concrete) add the 

following requirement to the “Maintenance” section: “Do not pressure wash. 
Remove loose debris with blower, vacuum, rake or similar tool.” 

 
 
NRA7. For Rainwater Management Component No. 12 (Soil Amendments) revise the 

wording in Design Criteria No. 8 to state: Fertilizer to Amended soil areas and 
planting beds in public areas if any, to be applied in lawn/turf areas shall be 
fertilized according to the Oregon Association of Nurserymen’s Integrated 
Pest Management Program. 

 
NRA8. Provide a setback from buildings at 1:1 slope from bottom of building footing 

to bottom of Rainwater Management Component. This requirement applies to 
Rainwater Management Components 1, 2, 3, 6 and 7. 

 
NRA9. Provide 18” of compost-amended topsoil for the Rainwater Management 

Components. This requirement applies to Rainwater Management 
Components 2, 3, 6 and 7. 

 
NRA10. Pursuant to the City of Wilsonville Public Works Standards, access should be 

provided for the entire perimeter of the rainwater management components. 
At a minimum, at least one access shall be provided for maintenance and 
inspection. 

 
NRA11. All Rainwater Management Components and associated infrastructure located 

in public areas shall be designed to the Public Works Standards. Rainwater 
Management Components in private areas shall comply with the plumbing 
code. 

 
NRA12. Plantings in Rainwater Management Components located in public areas shall 

comply with the Public Works Standards. Plantings in Rainwater Management 
Components located in private areas shall comply with the Plant List in the 
Rainwater Management Program or Community Elements Plan. 

 
NRA13. The rainwater management components shall comply with the requirements 

of the Oregon DEQ UIC (Underground Injection Control) Program. 
 
NRA14. A vegetative swale shall be substituted for the proposed grassy swale along 

Grimaldi Street. The vegetative swale will provide a more compatible mix of 
plant species adjacent to the Significant Resource Overlay Zone. 

 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 13 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

NRA15. Profiles and plan views of the proposed water quality treatment facilities 
shall be submitted. These profiles and plan views shall include, if applicable, 
plant species and placement, elevations, slopes, outlet, and other 
information consistent with requirements of the Public Works Standards, 
including but not limited to: 

 
   a. Policy 9.3.4 (Shading of Waterbodies); and 
 b. Policy 9.4.1 (Landscaping in conjunction with stormwater facilities). 
 
NRA16. Pursuant to the Public Works Standards, access should be provided for the 

entire perimeter of the water quality treatment and quantity control 
facilities. At a minimum, at least one access shall be provided for 
maintenance and inspection. 

 
NRA17. The applicant shall comply with all applicable state and federal requirements 

for the proposed construction activities and proposed facilities (e.g. DEQ 
NPDES #1200–C permit). 

 
 
 

 

Compliance with Conditions of Approval  
for Case File SI07-0001 

SRIR Class III, Area I 
 

 
REQUEST B: SI07-0001 SRIR Class III, Area I 

 

PLANNING DIVISION CONDITIONS 

 
PDB 1. Future application for Area 2 of SAP-North shall include an updated 

Significant Resource Impact Report specific to Area 2. Calculation and 
mitigation of the encroachment within Area 1 shall be included in that 
request. See Finding B2. 

 
Response: A Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) for OS-2 was approved with PDP 2N. 

An addendum to the Significant Resource Impact Report for updated impacts in 
Phase 3 is provided with the SAP North Amendment (see Notebook Section IIF of 
the SAP North Amendment). 

 
 
 

NATURAL RESOURCES CONDITIONS 

 
NRB1. The applicant shall provide an updated SRIR that addresses any relevant 

changes associated with the revisions to Area 2. The review and approval of 
the SRIR shall be completed with the land use approval of Area 2. 

 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 14 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

Response: A Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) for OS-2 was approved with PDP 2N. 
An addendum to the Significant Resource Impact Report for updated impacts in 
Phase 3 is provided with the SAP North Amendment (see Notebook Section IIF of 
the SAP North Amendment). 

 
NRB2. Pursuant to Section 4.139.04, the applicant shall demonstrate proposed 

exempt development (i.e. Grimaldi Street ROW and swale impacts) within the 
25-foot Impact Area and the Significant Resource Overlay Zone has been 
designed to avoid, minimize and mitigate impact to the significant natural 
resources. 

 
Response: A Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) for impacts and mitigation within 

OS-2 was approved with PDP 2N. An addendum to the Significant Resource 
Impact Report for updated impacts in Phase 3 is provided with the SAP North 
Amendment (see Notebook Section IIF of the SAP North Amendment). The SRIR 
Addendum also demonstrates conformance with mitigation approved with PDP 
2N. 

 
NRB3. All landscaping, including herbicides used to eradicate noxious weeds and 

existing vegetation, in the SROZ shall be reviewed and approved by the 
Natural Resources Program Manager. Native plants are required for 
landscaping in the SROZ. 

 
Response: Landscaping has been approved for PDP 1N and PDP 2N. For Phase 3, native 

plants will be used for any landscaping within the SROZ and all landscaping will 
be approved by the Natural Resources Program Manager. Future phases will be 
required to demonstrate compliance with this standard. 

 
NRB4. Prior to any site grading or ground disturbance, the applicant is required to 

delineate the boundary of the SROZ.  Six-foot (6’) tall cyclone fences with 
metal posts pounded into the ground at 6’-8’ centers shall be used to protect 
the significant natural resource area where development encroaches into the 
25-foot Impact Area and Significant Resource Overlay Zone. 

 
Response: Verification of the SROZ boundary was completed with PDP 2N. No changes to 

the SROZ boundary are proposed with the SAP North Amendment. Significant 
natural resource areas where development encroaches into the 25-ft. impact 
area and SROZ will be protected in compliance with NRB4.  

 
NRB5. The following shall be addressed with the land use submittal for Area 2: the 

Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) depicted for the upland forest 
wildlife habitat shall be identified in a conservation easement. The applicant 
shall record the conservation easement with Clackamas Court Clerk’s office. 
The conservation easement shall include language prohibiting any 
disturbance of natural vegetation without first obtaining approval from the 
City Planning Division and the Natural Resources Program Manager. The 
conservation easement shall be reviewed by the City Attorney prior to 
recording. 

 



Final Plat Narrative for DB07-0054 and SI07-0001 Page 15 of 15 
“Villebois Village” 
March 31, 2014 
 

Response: The majority of Open Space 2 (upland forest preserve) is within Phase 2. The 
upland forest preserve is retained within open space tracts. A Conservation 
Easement for open space tracts that include the upland forest preserve area 
within Phase 2 was recorded in Clackamas County Records Document No. 2014-
006795.   

 



Cover Sheet

CITY OF WILSONVILLE, OREGON

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

swhite
Stamp



PA
LE

RM
O

  S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP

SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

SW COLLINA LN

SW VALENCIA LN VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

DUNDEE
 L

N

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO  ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

OCK
OCK
OCK

Phasing
Plan

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14



SW DAVOS LN

SW ST. MORITZ LP

SW MONT BLANC ST

TAX LOT
2995

TAX LOT
2922

TAX LOT
2916

TAX LOT
1200

TAX LOT
1205

TAX LOT
1202

TAX LOT
1203

TAX LOT
1101

TAX LOT
1100

TAX LOT
900

TAX LOT
800

TAX LOT
700

TAX LOT
1600

TAX LOT
1500

TAX LOT
1300

TAX LOT
1591

TAX LOT
295

EXISTING WETLAND
PROPOSED TO BE FILLED

SROZ BOUNDARY

SROZ IMPACT LIMITS

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED

EXISTING WETLAND
PROPOSED TO BE FILLED

EXISTING EDGE
OF PAVEMENT

EXISTING BUILDING
TYP.

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Existing
Conditions



EXISTING WETLAND

SROZ BOUNDARY

SROZ IMPACT LIMITS

EXISTING WETLAND

EXISTING WETLAND

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Aerial
Photograph



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP

SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

SEE FIGURE 1
VILLEBOIS VILLAGE
MASTER PLAN FOR

LAND USE ON
FORMER SCHOOL

SITE.

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Land Use
Key



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

PALERMO ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

2STD

3SM, 4M

4SM, 2M

7S
M

7R
H

4S
M

, 
2M

10
RH

8RH

10RH

3SM, 2M

5SM, 6M

5SM, 6M

6SM, 4M

4SM, 2M

1S
M

, 
2M

8RH 9RH

4S
M

, 
1M

3S
M

, 
2M

3S
M

, 
1M

2S
M

, 
2M

10
ST

D

5S
M

5SM

5SM 6SM

6SM

5S
M

4M

7M 7M

5M

6M 4M

7L, 3STD

8L

3SM
, 1M

5SC

6SC
5SC

3S
M

, 
1M

6SC

5SC 18SM

11SC

1S
C

6SM

2S
M

5S
M

2E, 8L

4E
3E, 1L

5E

3E, 7L

3SM
, 1M

3SM
, 1M

3SM
, 1M

6L 3L

3S
M

, 
1M

4S
M

4S
M

LG

OS

OS

SEE FIGURE 1
VILLEBOIS VILLAGE
MASTER PLAN FOR

LAND USE ON FORMER
SCHOOL SITE.

LG
LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG
LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG LG

LG

LG
LG

LG

LG

PP
RP

RP

RP

RP

RP

RP

PP

LG

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Land Use
Plan



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP

SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

SS

VERDUN LOOP

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Circulation
Plan



Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Street
Sections



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP

SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

O

OOOOO

O O O

OOOO

O

O

O

O

LG

OS

LG
LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG
LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG LG

LG

LG
LG

LG

LG PP

RP-3

PP

RP-4

RP-5

RP-6

LG

NP

PP

OS-2

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Park / Open Space /
Pathways Plan



SW
 G

R
AH

AM
'S

 F
ER

R
Y 

R
D

TOOZE RD

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 R
O

M
E

 A
V

E

S
W

 IC
E

LA
N

D
 L

N

S
W

 P
A

R
IS

 A
V

E

SROZ BOUNDARY

3,535 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/PDP 2 NORTH
(PHASE 2)

25' IMPACT AREA

663 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT

DONE W/ PDP 1

325 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT

W/ PDP 3N
4,610 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N

7,122 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
DONE W/PDP 2N (PHASE 1)

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED

SROZ BOUNDARY

25' IMPACT AREA

19,209 SF
MIXED OAK/FIR

27,003 SF
OAK

MITIGATION
AREA

1,988 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N
ADDITIONAL IMPACTS

113 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N
ADDITIONAL IMPACTS

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE FILLED

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE FILLED

SROZ
Plan

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP

SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW
 P

A
R

IS
 A

VE

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Street Tree
Plan



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP

SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO ST

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N SW BARCELONA ST

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

(10463)(10464)

(10465)(10466)

(10467)

(10468)

(10469)
(10470)

(10471)(10472)
(10473)

(10474)

(10475)

(10476)

(10479)

(10480)

(10481)

(10482)

(10483)

(10484)

(10485)

(10486)

(10487)

(10488)

(10489)

(17838)

(10491)

(10492)

(10493)
(10494)

(10495) (10496)

(10497)

(10498)

(10499)

(10478)

(10477)

(10442)

(10443)

(10444) (10473.1)

(16950)
(16944) (16949)

(16959)

(16960)

(17352)

(16948)

(16947)

(16946)

(17351)
(1349X)

(17357)

(1315X)

(17461)

(17466)

(1316X)

(1310X)

(17467)

(921X)

(17469)
(17470)
(17473)

(17462)

(17482)
(17481)

(17483)

(961X)
(18021)

(18017)
(17479)

(1255X)
(1256X)

(17475)
(1257X)

(1258X)

(971X)
(18015)

(18020)
(18006)
(964X)
(965X)
(962X)

(959X)

(960X)

(1134X)

(1135X)

(1137X)

(23338)

(23337)

(4739)

(4501)
(500)

(4498)

(4497)

(4492)

(4491)

(4490)(4487)

(4483)
(4482)
(4478)

(4477)
(4474)
(4476)
(4475)
(4468)

(4471)
(4473)

(4738)

(4502)

(4503)

(4493)
(4494)
(4495)
(4489)
(4488)

(4485)
(4484)
(4481)
(4480)

(4479)
(______)

(_______)
(4467)

(_______)
(4470)

(3850)

(4496)

(4499)

(4486)

SROZ BOUNDARY

25' IMPACT AREA

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED
TREES WITHIN WETLAND
NOT EXAMINED

SROZ BOUNDARY
25' IMPACT AREA

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Tree Preservation
Plan



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE

SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N SW BARCELONA ST

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Grading
Plan

175

200

175
200



PA
LE

RM
O

 S
T

SW
 RAVENNA LP SW COSTA CIRCLE

BERLIN AVE SW
 O

R
LEA

N
S LP

VILLEBOIS DRIVE

SW
 O

RLEANS LP

C
H

ER
B

O
U

R
G

 L
N

STOCKHOLM AVE

SW MONT BLANC ST

PALERMO ST

PA
LE

R
M

O
 S

T

BARBER ST

SW
 G

RA
HA

M
S 

FE
RR

Y 
RD

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST SW
 R

O
M

E 
A

VE

SW DUBLIN ST

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

 TOOZE RD

SW
 O

R
LE

A
N

S 
LP

CAPRI ST

R
O

M
E 

A
VE

FI
RE

NZ
E 

ST

SW
 CO

STA CIRCLE

SW
 IC

EL
A

N
D

 L
N

SD

SD

SD

SD
SS

SS

SS
SS

SS

SDSS

SS

SS SS

SD

SS

W W W
W

W

W W W W

W

W

W
W

W W

W W

SDW SS

SD
SD

SS

SD

S

RLRLRLRLRL
OOOOO

SSSSSSSSSS

SS SS

SD
SS

W
W

W

W

W W

W

SD

W

W

SS

SD

SD

SS

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE FILLED

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE FILLED

EXISTING STORMWATER FACILITY

Specific
Area Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

SAP NORTH
VILLEBOIS

3/25/14

Utility
Plan



swhite
Stamp





Section I

General Information



IA
Introductory Narrative



PDP 3N PAGE 1 
Introductory Narrative January 31, 2014 

INTRODUCTORY NARRATIVE

PDP 3 NORTH 

INCLUDING: ANNEXATION, PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN, TENTATIVE PLAT,
ZONE CHANGE AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

SECTION IA 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. GENERAL INFORMATION .................................................................... 2 
II. REQUEST  ................................................................................. 4 
III. PROPOSED ANNEXATION & ZONE CHANGE ........................................... 4

IV. PDP 3N & PROPOSED REFINEMENTS .................................................. 4
LAND USES ............................................................................................................ 4 
PARKS & OPEN SPACE .............................................................................................. 5 
UTILITIES  ............................................................................................................ 5 
CIRCULATION .......................................................................................................... 6 
FDP (INCLUDES CHILD PLAY AREA IN PDP 2N) ............................................................ 6 

V. PROPOSAL SUMMARY & CONCLUSION .................................................. 7 



PAGE 2 PDP 3N 
January 31, 2014 Introductory Narrative 

I. GENERAL INFORMATION 

Applicant: Polygon Northwest Company 
109 E. 13th Avenue 
Vancouver, WA 98660 
Tel: 503.221.1920 
Fax: 360.693.4442 
Contact: Fred Gast 

Property Owners: Villebois, LLC  
1022 SW Salmon Street, Ste 450 
Portland, Oregon 97205 
Contact: Wayne Rembold 
(Tax Lots 1200 & 1205) 

Charles & Carolyn Taber 
11800 SW Tooze Road 
Wilsonville, Oregon 97070 
(Tax Lots 1202) 

Design Team: 

Primary Contact: Stacy Connery  
Pacific Community Design, Inc. 
Tel: 503.941.9484 
Fax:  503.941.9485 
Email:  stacy@pacific-community.com 

Process Planner/Civil Pacific Community Design, Inc. 
Engineer/Surveyor: 12564 SW Main Street 

Tigard, Oregon 97223 
Tel: 503.941.9484 
Fax: 503.941.9485 
Contact: Stacy Connery, AICP 

Jim Lange, PE 

Patrick Espinosa, PE 
Travis Jansen, PLS/PE 

Landscape Architect: Otten Landscape Architects, Inc. 
3933 SW Kelly Ave., Suite B 
Portland, Oregon 97239 
Tel: 503.972.0311 
Contact: Janet Otten, ASLA 

Kristina Durant 



PDP 3N PAGE 3 
Introductory Narrative January 31, 2014 

Arborist: Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC 
3 Monroe Parkway, Suite P 220 
Lake Oswego, Oregon 97035 
Tel: 971.409.9354 
Contact: Morgan Holen 

Environmental Consultant: SWCA 
1220 SW Morrison Street, Ste. 700 
Portland, OR  97205 
Tel: (503) 224-0333 
Contact: Stacy Benjamin 

Site and Proposal Information: 

Site: TL 1200, 1202 & 1205, Map 3 1W 15 

(Note: Additional area within Tax Lot 2995 is 
included with FPD) 

Size: 15.16 acres 

Comprehensive Plan 
Designation: Residential – Village (R-V) 

Existing Zoning: Clackamas County Rural Residential Farm Forest 5-
Acre (RRFF-5) 

Proposed Zoning: Village (V) 

Specific Area Plan: SAP - North 

Proposal: Annexation 

Preliminary Development Plan  

Tentative Plat  

Zone Change to Village (V) 

Tree Removal Plan  

Final Development Plan (includes Child Play area 
deferred with PDP 2N) 

Unit Count: 84 dwelling units 

Net Residential Density: 9.72 units/net acre 

Project Name: “Calais at Villebois” 



PAGE 4 PDP 3N 
January 31, 2014 Introductory Narrative 

II. REQUEST

This is an application for PDP 3 North. A concurrent amendment to SAP North has been 
submitted, which addresses phasing and the addition of information for Phase 3. This 
PDP application is submitted in conformance with SAP North, as amended to include 
Phase 3.   

This request includes six (6) applications for Phase 3 of Specific Area Plan - North as 
follows: 

 Annexation – Notebook Section II

 Preliminary Development Plan (PDP 3N) - Notebook Section III

 Tentative Plat (PDP 3N) - Notebook Section IV

 Zone Change to Village (V) for PDP 3N area - Notebook Section V

 Tree Removal Plan for PDP 3N area - Notebook Section VI

 Final Development Plan for PDP 3N area - Notebook Section VII

The applications are arranged in the order that approval should be granted based upon 
provisions in the development code.  Each application is placed in a separate section 
within the Notebook labeled Sections II through VII respectively, with all supporting 
documentation needed for that application placed in the appropriate subsection.   

The attached Supporting Compliance Reports (see Sections IIA, IIIA, IVA, VA, VIA, and 
VIIA), in conjunction with the attached plan sheets and other exhibits, demonstrate 
compliance with the applicable review criteria. 

III. PROPOSED ANNEXATION & ZONE CHANGE

The subject site is a part of Villebois Village and is intended to be developed under 
the guidance of the Villebois Village Master Plan and the Village zone. The site must 
be annexed in order for that to occur. The site is currently within Clackamas County 
and has a zoning designation of Rural Residential Farm Forest 5-Acre (RRFF-5). The 
Applicant proposes annexation of the subject site to the City of Wilsonville, 
recognizing that approvals requested with this application are contingent upon 
approval of city annexation.  

The site has a comprehensive plan designation of Residential-Village. The Village (V) 
zone is the intended district for Residential-Village areas. Therefore, a concurrent 
Zone Change application to apply the Village zone to the subject site is provided in 
Notebook Section V.  

IV. PDP 3N

Phase 3 of Specific Area Plan North (also known as PDP 3N) is approximately 15.16 
gross acres in size.  PDP 3N proposes 84 single family homes, 2.03 acres of open space 
areas, and associated infrastructure improvements.  

LAND USES 

PDP 3N proposes 84 lots, including 32 Small lots, 26 Mediums, 3 Standard lots, and 23 
Large lots. The proposed distribution in units provides for a mix of unit types within 



PDP 3N PAGE 5 
Introductory Narrative January 31, 2014 

blocks that is compatible with adjacent land uses.  Table A below lists the residential 
units broken down by development phase for all of SAP North.  PDP 1 North and PDP 2 
North have each been approved. PDP 1N has been constructed and PDP 2N is in the 
first phase of construction.   

Table A: Unit Counts, Specific Area Plan - North 

Product Type PDP 1N PDP 2N PDP 3N 
Future 
Phases Total 

Estate 0 0 0 22 22 

Large 0 0 23 20 43 

Standard 2 10 3 5 20 

Medium 30 6 26 27 89 

Small 98 37 32 47 214 

Small Cottage 12 37 0 0 49 

Row House 0 0 0 0 0 

Nbhd 
Apartment 0 0 0 10 10 

Total 142 90 84 131 447 

As previously mentioned, a concurrent application has been submitted to amend SAP 
North, which amends the boundary of Phase 3 and adds information for Phase 3. PDP 
3N is submitted in conformance with the concurrent amendment to SAP North.  

PARKS & OPEN SPACE 

The Villebois Village Master Plan and SAP North show a narrow portion of OS-2 and 
associated SROZ area along the southern property line. OS-2 is intended to preserve a 
large forested area while providing soft surface nature trails meandering through the 
forest and linking adjacent neighborhoods, benches for wildlife viewing and quiet 
contemplation, and a child play structure as site amenities. PDP 3N provides the 
portion of OS-2 within an open space tract along the southern site edge. In addition, 
the child play area, nature trails, and benches within OS-2 will be provided with PDP 
3N. Phase 3 of SAP North, per the concurrent SAP North Amendment, shows a pocket 
park in the northwest site corner, including a play structure, lawn area, and pathway 
to the intersection of Grahams Ferry Road and Tooze Road; an open space area in the 
southwestern site corner that retains an existing treed wetland; and various linear 
greens/landscape tracts throughout the site. PDP 3N is submitted in conformance with 
the proposed SAP North Amendment; therefore, PDP 3N is consistent with the parks 
and open spaces within SAP North.  

UTILITIES 

Sanitary Sewer 

The sanitary sewer system for Phase 3N is shown on Sheet 6 - Composite Utility Plan 
in Section IIIB of this Notebook.  The sanitary sewer will be a gravity system that will 
discharge to the existing sanitary sewer line within SW Berlin Avenue in Tonquin Woods 



 

 
PAGE 6  PDP 3N 
January 31, 2014  Introductory Narrative 

No. 4 and Tonquin Woods No. 5, located to the south, and ultimately discharge to the 
main within SW 110th Avenue to the east. Sanitary sewer service can be adequately 
provided to this area in compliance with the Villebois Village Master Plan, as 
demonstrated in the attached Sanitary Sewer Capacity Memorandum (see Notebook 
Section IIIC).  
 
Water 

The proposed water system for Phase 3N is shown on Sheet 6 - Composite Utility Plan 
(see Notebook Section IIIB).  The proposed public water system will consist of 8” 
diameter pipes and will connect to existing water lines within Grahams Ferry Road and 
Tooze Road. The system will be looped throughout the development to maximize 
flows. Water service can adequately be provided to this area in compliance with the 
Villebois Village Master Plan and the City’s Water System Master Plan. 
 
Stormwater 

Stormwater runoff will be collected by a series of catch basins leading to an 
underground piping system. The system will connect to two locations. The majority of 
the proposed site drains to existing storm lines within SW Tooze Road to a regional 
stormwater facility, within the Coffee Creek Basin. The southwest portion of the site 
is within the Mill Creek Basin and will drain to a rainwater management facility and 
then to a regional stormwater facility. A Water Quality and Detention Analysis (see 
Notebook Section IIIC), demonstrates that the proposed system will provide adequate 
sizing and treatment. Water quality and detention areas are shown on Sheet 5 – 
Grading Plan (see Notebook Section IIIB).  Stormwater pipes area shown on Sheet 6 – 
Composite Utility Plan (see Notebook Section IIIB).   
 
Rainwater 

A Rainwater Management Plan is included with the Supporting Utility Reports in 
Notebook Section IIIC.  Rainwater management within PDP 3N will be provided through 
street trees and bio-retention cells located in landscape tracts, planter strips in rights-
of-way, and around the retained wetland, as shown within the attached plans (see 
Notebook Section IIIB) and described in the PDP Compliance Report (see Notebook 
Section IIIA).  
 

CIRCULATION 

The transportation infrastructure proposed for PDP 3N will provide convenient 
neighborhood circulation.  Sheet 7 - Circulation Plan & Street Sections (see Notebook 
Section IIIB) illustrates the circulation system within this Preliminary Development 
Plan area.   
 
 

FDP (INCLUDES OS-2 CHILD PLAY AREA IN PDP 2N) 

A Final Development Plan (FDP) for parks and landscaping in PDP 3N is included with this 
submittal in Notebook Section VII.  PDP 3N includes a narrow portion of OS-2 along the 
southern site edge, a retained wetland within an open space tract in the southwestern 
site corner, a pocket park in the northwestern site corner, and various linear 
greens/landscape tracts along the site entrance and throughout the development. 



 

 
PDP 3N  PAGE 7 
Introductory Narrative  January 31, 2014 

Native shrub and groundcover, medium ornamental shrubs, lawn area, and conifer trees 
are included within the open space tract in the southwestern site corner, outside of the 
retained wetland. The pocket park includes a small lawn area and ornamental plantings.    

PDP 2N included the majority of OS-2 in a large open space tract. However, amenities 
along the northern edge of the property, including the child play area and seating were 
deferred until such a time when public access and visibility are created through 
development of the subject property. Therefore, the FDP for PDP 3N also includes 
detailed plans for the portion of OS-2 within PDP 2N, illustrating the provision of seating 
and a child play area.  
 
 

V. PROPOSAL SUMMARY & CONCLUSION 

This Introductory Narrative, in conjunction with the referenced sections, describes the 
proposed Annexation, Preliminary Development Plan including SAP North refinements 
and phasing amendment, Tentative Plat, Zone Change, Tree Removal Plan, and Final 
Development Plan.  The Supporting Compliance Reports located in Sections II through 
VI, respectively, support these requests for approval of the subject applications and 
demonstrate compliance with the applicable standards of the Wilsonville Planning and 
Land Development Ordinance. 



Form/Ownership
Documentation

IB

















IC
Fee Calculation







ID
Mailing List























Section II

Annexation



IIA  
Supporting Compliance Report



PAGE 1 PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014 Supporting Compliance Report 

SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  
ANNEXATION TO CITY OF WILSONVILLE 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. CITY OF WILSONVILLE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ....................................... 2 
IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 2.2.1.A. .................................................................... 2 
IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 2.2.1.E ...................................................................... 2 
IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 4.1.6.A ...................................................................... 3 
IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 4.1.6.C ...................................................................... 3 

II. CITY OF WILSONVILLE LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE ......................... 4
SECTION 4.008  APPLICATION PROCEDURES – IN GENERAL ...................................... 4 
SECTION 4.030  JURISDICTION AND POWERS OF PLANNING DIRECTOR AND COMMUNITY

DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR .......................................................................... 4 
SECTION 4.031  AUTHORITY OF THE DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD ......................... 4 
SECTION 4.033  AUTHORITY OF CITY COUNCIL ..................................................... 5 
SECTION 4.700  PROCEDURES RELATING TO THE PROCESSING OF REQUESTS FOR

ANNEXATION AND URBAN GROWTH BOUNDARY AMENDMENTS ......................... 5 
III. METRO CODE ................................................................................. 7

CHAPTER 3.09 LOCAL GOVERNMENT BOUNDARY CHANGES ........................................ 7 
IV. OREGON REVISED STATUTES ........................................................... 10

V. OREGON STATEWIDE PLANNING GOALS ............................................. 13 
VI. PROPOSAL SUMMARY & CONCLUSION ................................................ 17



PAGE 2 PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014 Supporting Compliance Report 

I. CITY OF WILSONVILLE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

URBAN GROWTH MANAGEMENT – IMPLEMENTATION MEASURES 

IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 2.2.1.A.    

Allow annexation when it is consistent with future planned public services and 
when a need is clearly demonstrated for immediate urban growth. 

Response:  The Comprehensive Plan states: 

 Figures provided by Metro in 1996 indicated that Wilsonville had more
than three jobs for each housing unit within the City.

 Based on Metro’s (1981) regional growth allocation statistics,
Wilsonville’s population was projected to grow to 15,600 by the year
2000. In the same time period, the City’s economic growth was expected
to generate a total of 14,400 jobs. Those projections proved to be
surprisingly accurate. In fact, Wilsonville’s population in 2000
approached the 15,600 figure, and the number of jobs exceeded the
14,400 figure.

The Villebois Village Master Plan was created and approved to address the jobs-
housing imbalance and population growth within the City of Wilsonville. The Master 
Plan shows single family residential land uses within the subject site. Therefore, as a 
portion of Villebois Village, the subject site addresses a demonstrated need for urban 
growth.  

The Villebois Parks & Open Space Plan ensures adequate parks and open space 
opportunities, which include a range of experiences for residents and visitors. Chapter 
4 of the Villebois Village Master Plan evaluates compliance of the planned sanitary 
sewer, storm drainage, and water systems with the City’s Wastewater Collections 
System Master Plan, Stormwater Master Plan, and Water System Master Plan. Chapter 
5 of the Master Plan analyzes compliance of the Villebois circulation system with the 
City’s Transportation Systems Plan. The Master Plan includes implementation 
measures to ensure compliance with the City’s public facility master plans and 
Transportation Systems Plan. Concurrent applications for a SAP North Amendment and 
for PDP 3N have been submitted. PDP 3N (see Notebook Section III) includes a 
Preliminary Utility Plan and Circulation Plan. PDP 3 North is consistent with the 
concurrent SAP North Amendment, as further described in the PDP 3N Compliance 
Report (see Notebook Section IIIB), and is therefore, generally consistent with the 
Master Plan. Therefore, the proposed annexation is generally consistent with future 
planned public services and the capacity of public facilities.  

IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 2.2.1.E 

Changes in the City boundary will require adherence to the annexation procedures 
prescribed by State law and Metro standards.   Amendments to the  
City limits shall be based on consideration of:  

1. Orderly, economic provision of public facilities and services, i.e.,
primary urban services are available and adequate to serve additional



PAGE 3 PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014 Supporting Compliance Report 

development or improvements are scheduled through the City's 
approved Capital Improvements Plan.   

Response: The Villebois Village Master Plan set forth implementation measures to 
ensure the orderly and economic provision of public facilities and services for this 
area. Site development is proposed with a concurrent application for Preliminary 
Development Plan for Phase 3 of SAP – North (see Notebook Section III). Public facilities 
and services proposed with PDP 3 North are generally consistent with the Villebois 
Village Master Plan and the City’s Finance Plan and Capital Improvements Plan. 
Therefore, adequate public facilities and services will be available within the subject 
area.    

2. Availability of sufficient land for the various uses to insure choices in
the marketplace for a 3 to 5 year period.

Response: The availability of sufficient land was demonstrated by the adoption of 
the Villebois Village Master Plan, which plans for the development of the 480-acre 
Villebois Village area. At the time of Master Plan approval, Villebois Village was found 
to have a wide range of residential choices. Annexation of the subject area to the City 
will allow development to occur that is consistent with the Master Plan and that 
provides the anticipated housing choices. 

3. Statewide Planning Goals.

Response: Compliance with Statewide Planning Goals is addressed in Section V of 
this report. 

4. Applicable Metro Plans;

Response: Compliance with Metro Code 3.09 is addressed in Section III of this 
report. 

5. Encouragement of development within the City limits before conversion
of urbanizable (UGB) areas. 

Response: The site is located within the UGB, but is not currently within city 
limits. Annexation of the site is necessary to allow build out consistent with the 
Villebois Village Master Plan.  

COMPACT URBAN DEVELOPMENT – IMPLEMENTATION MEASURES 

IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 4.1.6.A 

Development in the “Residential-Village” Map area shall be directed by the 
Villebois Village Concept Plan (depicting the general character of proposed land 
uses, transportation, natural resources, public facilities, and infrastructure 
strategies), and subject to relevant Policies and Implementation Measures in the 
Comprehensive Plan; and implemented in accordance with the Villebois Village 
Master Plan, the “Village” Zone District, and any other provisions of the Wilsonville 
Planning and Land Development Ordinance that may be applicable.  

IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 4.1.6.C 

The “Village” Zone District shall be applied in all areas that carry the Residential 
– Village Plan Map Designation.



 
PAGE 4  PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014  Supporting Compliance Report 

Response: The subject site is included in the “Residential-Village” Comprehensive 
Plan Map Designation (Area B). This Implementation Measure establishes precedence 
for the “Village” Zone to be applied to the subject property area. An application for 
a Zone Map Amendment to apply the V Zone to the site has been included with a 
concurrent Preliminary Development Plan application for Phase 3 of SAP – North. The 
site must be brought into City limits before the V zone can be applied. 
 
 

II. CITY OF WILSONVILLE LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 

SECTION 4.008  APPLICATION PROCEDURES – IN GENERAL  

(.01) The general application procedures listed in Section 4.008 through 4.024 
apply to all land use and development applications governed by Chapter 4 
of the Wilsonville Code. These include applications for all of the following 
types of land use or development approvals: 

K. Annexations, pursuant to Section 4.700 

Response: The proposed land use action is an annexation. Compliance with Section 
4.700 and other applicable sections of the City of Wilsonville Land Development 
Ordinance are addressed below. 

 
SECTION 4.030 JURISDICTION AND POWERS OF PLANNING DIRECTOR AND COMMUNITY       

DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR 

(.01) Authority of Planning Director. The Planning Director shall have authority 
over the daily administration and enforcement of the provisions of this 
Chapter, including dealing with non-discretionary matters, and shall have 
specific authority as follows: 

11. Determination, based upon consultation with the City Attorney, 
whether a given development application is quasi-judicial or 
legislative.  Except, however, that the Planning Director may, in 
cases where there is any uncertainty as to the nature of the 
application, choose to process such determinations through the Class 
II procedures below. 

Response: Daniel Pauly, Associate Planner, indicated during a phone conversation 
on September 26, 2013 that the proposed annexation is subject to a quasi-judicial 
process. 

 
SECTION 4.031  AUTHORITY OF THE DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 

(.01) As specified in Chapter 2 of the Wilsonville Code and except as specified 
herein, the Board shall have authority to act on the following types of 
applications: 

K. Initial review of requests for quasi-judicial annexations to the City 
of Wilsonville. 

(.02) Once an application is determined or deemed to be complete pursuant to 
Section 4.011, it shall be scheduled for public hearing before the 
Development Review Board. The City shall provide public notice of the 
hearing as specified in Section 4.012.  



 
PAGE 5  PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014  Supporting Compliance Report 
   

Response:  The proposed annexation is subject to a quasi-judicial process. Therefore, 
it is subject to initial review before the Development Review Board. 
 
SECTION 4.033  AUTHORITY OF CITY COUNCIL 

(.01) Upon appeal, the City Council shall have final authority to act on all 
applications filed pursuant to Chapter 4 of the Wilsonville Code, with the 
exception of applications for expedited land divisions, as specified in 
Section 4.232.  Additionally, the Council shall have final authority to 
interpret and enforce the procedures and standards set forth in this 
Chapter and shall have final decision-making authority on the following: 

F.  Review of requests for annexations to the City of Wilsonville. 

Response: The Applicant understands that the City Council has the final authority 
to act on this request for annexation to the City of Wilsonville.  
 
SECTION 4.700  PROCEDURES RELATING TO THE PROCESSING OF REQUESTS FOR 

ANNEXATION AND URBAN GROWTH BOUNDARY AMENDMENTS 

(.01) The City of Wilsonville is located within the Portland Metropolitan Area, and 
is therefore subject to regional government requirements affecting changes 
to the city limits and changes to the Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) around 
Wilsonville.  The City has the authority to annex properties as prescribed 
in State law, but the City’s role in determining the UGB is primarily advisory 
to Metro, as provided in Oregon Revised Statutes.  The following procedures 
will be used to aid the City Council in formulating recommendations to those 
regional entities.  [Amended by Ordinance No. 538, 2/21/02.] 

A. Proponents of such changes shall provide the Planning Director with 
all necessary maps and written information to allow for review by 
city decision-makers.  The Planning Director, after consultation with 
the City Attorney, will determine whether each given request is 
quasi-judicial or legislative in nature and will make the necessary 
arrangements for review based upon that determination. 

B. Written information submitted with each request shall include an 
analysis of the relationship between the proposal and the City's 
Comprehensive Plan, applicable statutes, as well as the Statewide 
Planning Goals and any officially adopted regional plan that may be 
applicable. 

C. The Planning Director shall review the information submitted by the 
proponents and will prepare a written report for the review of the 
City Council and the Planning Commission or Development Review 
Board. If the Director determines that the information submitted by 
the proponents does not adequately support the request, this shall 
be stated in the Director’s staff report. 

D. If the Development Review Board, Planning Commission, or City 
Council determine that the information submitted by the proponents 
does not adequately support the request, the City Council may 
oppose the request to the regional entity having the final decision 
making authority.  



PAGE 6 PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014 Supporting Compliance Report 

(.02) Each quasi-judicial request shall be reviewed by the Development Review 
Board, which shall make a recommendation to the City Council after 
concluding a public hearing on the proposal. 

(.03) Each legislative request shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission, 
which shall make a recommendation to the City Council after concluding a 
public hearing on the proposal.  

(.04) The City Council shall consider the information in the record of the 
Development Review Board or Planning Commission and shall, after 
concluding a public hearing on the request, determine the appropriate 
course of action. This course of action may be: 

A. In the case of a proposed annexation to the City, select from the following 
as allowed by State law (ORS 222): 

1. Take no action;

2. Declare the subject property, or some portion thereof, to be
annexed;

3. Set the matter for election of the voters residing within the affected
territory; or

4. Set the matter for election of City voters.

(.05) The City Council may adopt a development agreement with owners of 
property that is proposed for annexation to the City, and such agreement 
may include an agreement to annex at a future date. A development 
agreement with an agreement to annex shall be subject to the same 
procedural requirement as other annexations in terms of staff report 
preparation, public review, and public hearings.  

RESPONSE: The Applicant requests annexation of areas within the City’s UGB. 
Annexation of contiguous property within the UGB is within the authority of the City 
of Wilsonville as prescribed by State Law. The proposed annexation is consistent with 
the Comprehensive Plan as the subject site has a Comprehensive Plan designation of 
Residential – Village and as demonstrated in Section I of this report. Additionally, the 
site is included in the Villebois Village Master Plan.  

This report provides a written description of the request and demonstrates compliance 
with applicable criteria. The attached exhibits include a legal description and sketch, 
which depict the proposed annexation area. This report includes analysis 
demonstrating compliance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan (Section I), City of 
Wilsonville Development Code (Section II), Metro Code Chapter 3.09 (Section III), ORS 
222 (Section IV), and Statewide Planning Goals (Section V), as applicable to this 
request. City staff has determined that the proposed annexation is subject to a quasi-
judicial review process. Therefore, it is subject to a public hearing before the DRB and 
City Council.  



 
PAGE 7  PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014  Supporting Compliance Report 
   

III. METRO CODE 

CHAPTER 3.09 LOCAL GOVERNMENT BOUNDARY CHANGES 

3.09.020 DEFINITIONS 

I. “Minor boundary change” means an annexation or withdrawal of 
territory to or from a city or district or from a county to a city. 
“Minor boundary change” also means an extra-territorial extension 
of water or sewer service by a city or a district. “Minor boundary 
change” does not mean withdrawal of territory from a district under 
ORS 222.520. 

Response:  Annexation is requested from territory within Clackamas County to the 
City of Wilsonville. Therefore, the proposed annexation is defined as a “minor 
boundary change” and Metro Code Chapter 3.09 applies to this request.  

3.09.040 REQUIREMENTS FOR PETITIONS 

A. A petition for a boundary change must contain the following 
information: 

 1. The jurisdiction of the reviewing entity to act on the petition; 

 2. A map and legal description of the affected territory in the form 
prescribed by the reviewing entity; 

 3. For minor boundary changes, the names and mailing addresses of 
all persons owning property and all electors within the affected 
territory as shown in the records of the tax assessor and county 
clerk; and 

 4. For boundary changes under ORS 198.855(3), 198.857, 222.125 
or 222.170, statements of consent to the annexation signed by the 
requisite number of owners or electors.  

B. A city, county and Metro may charge a fee to recover its reasonable 
costs to carry out its duties and responsibilities under this chapter. 

Response: This application serves as the petition for a boundary change of city 
limits and requests approval by the City of Wilsonville. A legal description and sketch 
is attached in Notebook Section IIC. Notebook Section IIB includes property ownership 
and elector information, including names and mailing addresses. A copy of the signed 
petition (see Notebook Section IIB) demonstrates that all property owners and all of 
the electors within the territory proposed to be annexed have provided their consent 
in writing. Compliance with ORS 222.125 is addressed in Section IV of this report. In 
addition, a copy of the check for City annexation fee plus the Metro annexation fee is 
provided in Notebook Section IC.  

3.09.050 HEARING AND DECISION REQUIREMENTS FOR DECISIONS OTHER THAN EXPEDITED 

DECISIONS 

A. The following requirements for hearings on petitions operate in 
addition to requirements for boundary changes in ORS Chapters 198, 
221 and 222 and the reviewing entity's charter, ordinances or 
resolutions.  



 
PAGE 8  PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014  Supporting Compliance Report 

B. Not later than 15 days prior to the date set for a hearing the 
reviewing entity shall make available to the public a report that 
addresses the criteria identified in subsection (D) and includes the 
following information:  

1. The extent to which urban services are available to serve the 
affected territory, including any extra territorial extensions 
of service; 

2. Whether the proposed boundary change will result from the 
withdrawal of the affected territory from the legal boundary 
of any necessary party; 

3. The proposed effective date of the boundary change. 

B. The person or entity proposing the boundary change has the burden 
to demonstrate that the proposed boundary change meets the 
applicable criteria. 

C. To approve a boundary change, the reviewing entity shall apply the 
criteria and consider the factors set forth in subsections (D) and (E) 
of Section 3.09.045. 

Response: This report includes analysis demonstrating compliance with the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan (Section I), City of Wilsonville Development Code (Section II), 
Metro Code Chapter 3.09 (Section III), ORS 222 (Section IV), and Statewide Planning 
Goals (Section V), as applicable to this request. Compliance with subsections (D) and 
(E) of Section 3.09.045 is addressed below.  
 
3.09.045 EXPEDITED DECISIONS 

A. The governing body of a city or Metro may use the process set forth 
in this section for minor boundary changes for which the petition is 
accompanied by the written consents of one hundred percent of 
property owners and at least fifty percent of the electors, if any, 
within the affected territory. No public hearing is required.  

Response: The proposed annexation is subject to a quasi-judicial process, per 
phone conversation with Daniel Pauly on September 26, 2013. Quasi-judicial 
annexation applications are subject to public hearing before the Development Review 
Board and City Council. Therefore, an expedited decision is not applicable to this 
request. However, in accordance with Metro Code 3.09.050(C), the criteria and factors 
set forth in subsections (D) and (E) are applicable. Pursuant to Section 3.09.050(C), 
compliance with subsections (D) and (E) of Section 3.09.045 is addressed below. 

D. To approve a boundary change through an expedited process, the 
city shall:  

1. Find that the change is consistent with expressly applicable 
provisions in: 

a. Any applicable urban service agreement adopted pursuant to 
ORS 195.065;  

b. Any applicable annexation plan adopted pursuant to ORS 
195.205; 



 
PAGE 9  PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014  Supporting Compliance Report 
   

c. Any applicable cooperative planning agreement adopted 
pursuant to ORS 195.020(2) between the affected entity and 
a necessary party;  

Response: There is not an applicable urban service agreement adopted pursuant 
to ORS 195.065, annexation plan adopted pursuant to ORS 195.205, or cooperative 
planning agreement adopted pursuant to 195.020(2).  

d. Any applicable public facility plan adopted pursuant to a 
statewide planning goal on public facilities and services; 

Response: The Villebois Village Master Plan includes implementation measures to 
ensure compliance with the City’s public facility master plans and the Transportation 
Systems Plan. Site development is proposed with a concurrent application for 
Preliminary Development Plan for Phase 3 of SAP – North (see Notebook Section III). 
Therefore, future development of the subject site will comply with public facility 
plans as applicable. 

e. Any applicable comprehensive plan; 

Response: Compliance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan is addressed in Section 
I of this report. 

f. Any applicable concept plan; and 

The Villebois Village plan area, including the subject site, is designated as “Residential 
- Village” on the Comprehensive Plan Map. The V Zone District is applied to Residential 
- Village areas in implementation of the Villebois Village Master Plan. The proposed 
annexation is required before the V Zone can be applied to the site and prior to site 
development. A Zone Change application is submitted concurrently in Notebook 
Section V. An application for PDP 3 North is submitted concurrently (see Notebook 
Section III) and is consistent with the concurrent SAP North Amendment. Therefore, 
the proposed annexation is consistent with the Master Plan.  

2. Consider whether a boundary change would: 

a. Promote the timely, orderly and economic provision of public 
facilities and services;  

b. Affect the quality and quantity of urban services; and 

c. Eliminate or avoid unnecessary duplication of facilities or 
services.  

Response: The Villebois Village Master Plan includes implementation measures 
that require the provision of public facilities and services to be adequate, timely, 
orderly, economic, and not be unnecessarily duplicated. Currently, Specific Area Plan 
- North provides public services, including:  transportation, rainwater management; 
water; sanitary sewer; fire and police services; recreation, parks and open spaces; 
education; and transit. Site development is proposed with a concurrent application 
for Preliminary Development Plan for Phase 3 of SAP – North (see Notebook Section 
III). Public facilities and services proposed with PDP 3 North are generally consistent 
with the Villebois Village Master Plan, the concurrent SAP – North Amendment, and 
the City’s Finance Plan and Capital Improvements Plan. Therefore, the boundary 
change will comply with these standards.    

 



PAGE 10 PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014 Supporting Compliance Report 

E. A city may not annex territory that lies outside the UGB, except it may 
annex a lot or parcel that lies partially within and partially outside the UGB. 

Response: The subject site is territory located within the UGB. Therefore, the city 
may annex the territory in accordance with this Section. 

IV. OREGON REVISED STATUTES

ORS 222.111 AUTHORITY AND PROCEDURE FOR ANNEXATION 

(1) When a proposal containing the terms of annexation is approved in the 
manner provided by the charter of the annexing city or by ORS 222.111 
(Authority and procedure for annexation) to 222.180 (Effective date of 
annexation) or 222.840 (Short title) to 222.915 (Application of ORS 
222.840 to 222.915), the boundaries of any city may be extended by 
the annexation of territory that is not within a city and that is contiguous 
to the city or separated from it only by a public right of way or a stream, 
bay, lake or other body of water. Such territory may lie either wholly or 
partially within or without the same county in which the city lies. 

Response: The area of proposed annexation is within the UGB and is contiguous to 
the city. The subject property is entirely within Clackamas County. Therefore, the 
proposed city boundary includes territories that may be annexed per ORS 222.111. 

(2) A proposal for annexation of territory to a city may be initiated by the 
legislative body of the city, on its own motion, or by a petition to the 
legislative body of the city by owners of real property in the territory to 
be annexed. 

Response: This proposal for annexation of territory to the City of Wilsonville has 
been initiated by owners of real property within the territory to be annexed. A copy 
of the application signed by property owners is provided in Notebook Section IB.  

(3) The proposal for annexation may provide that, during each of not more 
than 10 full fiscal years beginning with the first fiscal year after the 
annexation takes effect, the rate of taxation for city purposes on 
property in the annexed territory shall be at a specified ratio of the 
highest rate of taxation applicable that year for city purposes to other 
property in the city. The proposal may provide for the ratio to increase 
from fiscal year to fiscal year according to a schedule of increase 
specified in the proposal; but in no case shall the proposal provide for a 
rate of taxation for city purposes in the annexed territory which will 
exceed the highest rate of taxation applicable that year for city 
purposes to other property in the city. If the annexation takes place on 
the basis of a proposal providing for taxation at a ratio, the city may not 
tax property in the annexed territory at a rate other than the ratio 
which the proposal authorizes for that fiscal year. 

Response: This standard is not applicable. During the pre-application conference 
or subsequent correspondence regarding this application, City staff has not indicated 
whether the provisions of this section apply to the proposed annexation. 



PAGE 11 PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014 Supporting Compliance Report 

(4) When the territory to be annexed includes a part less than the entire 
area of a district named in ORS 222.510 (Annexation of entire district), 
the proposal for annexation may provide that if annexation of the 
territory occurs the part of the district annexed into the city is 
withdrawn from the district as of the effective date of the annexation. 
However, if the affected district is a district named in ORS 222.465 
(Effective date of withdrawal from domestic water supply district, water 
control district or sanitary district), the effective date of the withdrawal 
of territory shall be determined as provided in ORS 222.465 (Effective 
date of withdrawal from domestic water supply district, water control 
district or sanitary district). 

Response: The subject properties are not located within a domestic water supply 
district, water control district, or sanitary district, as named in ORS 222.510. 
Therefore, this Section does not apply. 

(5) The legislative body of the city shall submit, except when not required 
under ORS 222.120 (Procedure without election by city electors), 
222.170 (Effect of consent to annexation by territory) and 222.840 
(Short title) to 222.915 (Application of ORS 222.840 to 222.915) to do 
so, the proposal for annexation to the electors of the territory proposed 
for annexation and, except when permitted under ORS 222.120 
(Procedure without election by city electors) or 222.840 (Short title) to 
222.915 (Application of ORS 222.840 to 222.915) to dispense with 
submitting the proposal for annexation to the electors of the city, the 
legislative body of the city shall submit such proposal to the electors of 
the city. The proposal for annexation may be voted upon at a general 
election or at a special election to be held for that purpose. 

Response: The proposed annexation is not subject to an election by electors as all 
owners of land and 100% of the electors within the territory proposed to be annexed 
have provided their consent in writing. A copy of the signed petition is provided in 
Notebook Section IIB. A copy of the application, signed by property owners, is provided 
in Notebook Section IB. Compliance with ORS 222.120 is addressed below. 

ORS 222.120 PROCEDURE WITHOUT ELECTION BY CITY ELECTORS 

(1) Except when expressly required to do so by the city charter, the 
legislative body of a city is not required to submit a proposal for 
annexation of territory to the electors of the city for their approval or 
rejection. 

(2) When the legislative body of the city elects to dispense with submitting 
the question of the proposed annexation to the electors of the city, the 
legislative body of the city shall fix a day for a public hearing before the 
legislative body at which time the electors of the city may appear and 
be heard on the question of annexation. 

(3) The city legislative body shall cause notice of the hearing to be 
published once each week for two successive weeks prior to the day of 
hearing, in a newspaper of general circulation in the city, and shall 



PAGE 12 PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014 Supporting Compliance Report 

cause notices of the hearing to be posted in four public places in the 
city for a like period. 

(4) After the hearing, the city legislative body may, by an ordinance 
containing a legal description of the territory in question: 

a. Declare that the territory is annexed to the city upon the condition
that the majority of the votes cast in the territory is in favor of
annexation;

b. Declare that the territory is annexed to the city where electors or
landowners in the contiguous territory consented in writing to such
annexation, as provided in ORS 222.125 (Annexation by consent of
all owners of land and majority of electors) or 222.170 (Effect of
consent to annexation by territory), prior to the public hearing held
under subsection (2) of this section; or

c. Declare that the territory is annexed to the city where the Oregon
Health Authority, prior to the public hearing held under subsection
(1) of this section, has issued a finding that a danger to public health
exists because of conditions within the territory as provided by
ORS 222.840 (Short title) to 222.915 (Application of ORS 222.840 to
222.915). 

(5) If the territory described in the ordinance issued under subsection (4) 
of this section is a part less than the entire area of a district named in 
ORS 222.510 (Annexation of entire district), the ordinance may also 
declare that the territory is withdrawn from the district on the effective 
date of the annexation or on any subsequent date specified in the 
ordinance. However, if the affected district is a district named in 
ORS 222.465 (Effective date of withdrawal from domestic water supply 
district, water control district or sanitary district), the effective date of 
the withdrawal of territory shall be determined as provided in ORS 
222.465 (Effective date of withdrawal from domestic water supply 
district, water control district or sanitary district). 

(6) The ordinance referred to in subsection (4) of this section is subject to 
referendum. 

(7) For the purpose of this section, ORS 222.125 (Annexation by consent of 
all owners of land and majority of electors) and 222.170 (Effect of 
consent to annexation by territory), owner or landowner means the 
legal owner of record or, where there is a recorded land contract which 
is in force, the purchaser thereunder. If there is a multiple ownership 
in a parcel of land each consenting owner shall be counted as a fraction 
to the same extent as the interest of the owner in the land bears in 
relation to the interest of the other owners and the same fraction shall 
be applied to the parcels land mass and assessed value for purposes of 
the consent petition. If a corporation owns land in territory proposed to 
be annexed, the corporation shall be considered the individual owner 
of that land. 

Response: City Charter does not require an election for this request. Per Section 
4.700 and correspondence with Planning Staff, the proposed annexation is subject to 

http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.125
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.125
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.170
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.170
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.840
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.915
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.915
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.510
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.465
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.465
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.465
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.465
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.125
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.125
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.170
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.170


 
PAGE 13  PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014  Supporting Compliance Report 
   

a Class III quasi-judicial review process, which requires a public hearing before the 
DRB and public hearing(s) before the City Council. 

As demonstrated below, this annexation request is submitted in compliance with 
ORS 222.125 (Annexation by consent of all owners of land and majority of electors). 
All owners of the land as well as 100% of the electors within the subject area have 
provided their consent in writing, as demonstrated by the attached petition (see 
Notebook Section IIB). 

A legal description and sketch of the proposed annexation area is provided in Notebook 
Section IIC.  

The territory proposed to be annexed to the City is not located within a sanitary 
district or water control or water supply district as named in ORS 222.465. 
Additionally, the site is not located within a part less than the entire area of a district 
named in ORS 222.510 (Annexation of entire district). Future development of the site 
will have access to City water, storm, sewer, and parks services. Therefore, ORS 
222.465 and ORS 222.510 are not applicable. 
 
ORS 222.125 ANNEXATION BY CONSENT OF ALL OWNERS OF LAND AND MAJORITY OF ELECTORS 

The legislative body of a city need not call or hold an election in the city or in any 
contiguous territory proposed to be annexed or hold the hearing otherwise 
required under ORS 222.120 (Procedure without election by city electors) when 
all of the owners of land in that territory and not less than 50 percent of the 
electors, if any, residing in the territory consent in writing to the annexation of 
the land in the territory and file a statement of their consent with the legislative 
body. Upon receiving written consent to annexation by owners and electors under 
this section, the legislative body of the city, by resolution or ordinance, may set 
the final boundaries of the area to be annexed by a legal description and proclaim 
the annexation.  

Response: All owners of the land, who are also 100% of the electors within the 
subject area, have provided their consent in writing, as demonstrated by the attached 
petition (see Notebook Section IIB). A copy of a legal description and sketch for the 
proposed annexation is provided in Notebook Section IIC. 
 
 

V. OREGON STATEWIDE PLANNING GOALS 

 Goal 1: Citizen Involvement 

To develop a citizen involvement program that insures the opportunity for 
citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning process. 

Response:  The City of Wilsonville has an established public notice and hearing process 
for quasi-judicial applications. Once this annexation request is accepted as complete, 
the City will begin this public notification and citizen involvement process. Therefore, 
this request is consistent with Goal 1.  

 

 

Goal 2: Land Use Planning 

http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.125
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.510
http://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/222.120


 
PAGE 14  PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014  Supporting Compliance Report 

To establish a land use planning process and policy framework as a basis 
for all decision and actions related to use of land and to assure an 
adequate factual basis for such decisions and actions. 

Response:  The City of Wilsonville is currently in compliance with Goal 2 because it 
has an acknowledged Comprehensive Plan and regulations implementing that plan. 
Section III of this report demonstrates that the proposed amendment is in compliance 
with the goals and policies of the City of Wilsonville Comprehensive Plan, as applicable 
to the proposed annexation.  

Goal 3: Agricultural Lands 

 To preserve and maintain agricultural lands. 

Response:  Agricultural land is defined in Goal 3 to exclude all land within an 
acknowledged urban growth boundary. The site is within an acknowledged urban 
growth boundary. Therefore, Goal 3 is not applicable to this request.  

Goal 4: Forest Lands 

To conserve forest lands by maintaining the forest land base and to 
protect the state's forest economy by making possible economically 
efficient forest practices that assure the continuous growing and 
harvesting of forest tree species as the leading use on forest land 
consistent with sound management of soil, air, water, and fish and wildlife 
resources and to provide for recreational opportunities and agriculture. 

Response:  The subject site does not include any lands acknowledged as forest lands. 
Therefore, Goal 4 is not applicable to this request.  

Goal 5: Natural Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open Spaces 

To protect natural resources and conserve scenic and historic areas and 
open spaces. 

Response:  The City of Wilsonville is already in compliance with Goal 5 as the required 
inventories and policy implementation occurred with adoption of the Significant 
Resource Overlay Zone. Villebois Village preserves SROZ areas with the provision of 
open space areas. In addition, development within Villebois Village is required to 
comply with SROZ standards. The concurrent application for PDP 3N (see Notebook 
Section III) demonstrates general compliance with the Master Plan and compliance 
with SROZ standards. Therefore, the proposed annexation is consistent with Goal 5.    

Goal 6: Air, Water and Land Resources Quality 

To maintain and improve the quality of the air, water and land resources 
of the state. 

Response:  The City’s Comprehensive Plan has been acknowledged as being in 
compliance with Goal 6. Development within Villebois protects water and land 
resources by providing protection for areas of steep slopes and natural resources and 
by not encroaching into these areas. The concurrent application for PDP 3N (see 
Notebook Section III) demonstrates general compliance with the Master Plan. 
Therefore, the proposed annexation is consistent with Goal 6.    



 
PAGE 15  PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014  Supporting Compliance Report 
   

Goal 7: Areas Subject to Natural Hazards 

To protect people and property from natural hazards. 

Response:  The City’s Comprehensive Plan has been acknowledged as being in 
compliance with Goal 7. No development is located in areas identified as natural 
hazards within the subject site. Goal 7 is not applicable as no areas subject to natural 
hazards are included in the proposed annexation area.   

Goal 8: Recreational Needs 

To satisfy the recreational needs of the citizens of the state and visitors 
and, where appropriate, to provide for the siting of necessary 
recreational facilities including destination resorts.  

Response:  The City’s Comprehensive Plan has been acknowledged to be in compliance 
with Goal 8. The Destination Resort provisions of this Goal are not applicable to this 
request or to the City of Wilsonville. The Villebois Village Master Plan provides park 
and open spaces that total approximately 25% of the gross area of Villebois. The 
concurrent application for PDP 3N (see Notebook Section III) demonstrates general 
compliance with the Master Plan. Therefore, the proposed annexation is consistent 
with Goal 8.  

Goal 9: Economic Development 

To provide adequate opportunities throughout the state for a variety of 
economic activities vital to the health, welfare, and prosperity of 
Oregon's citizens. 

Response:  The City’s Comprehensive Plan has been acknowledged as being in 
compliance with Goal 9. Villebois Village was planned with land uses to be a complete 
community, including a mixed-use Village Center with residential, office, retail and/or 
employment uses, surrounded by at least 2,300 residential units. The concurrent 
application for PDP 3N (see Notebook Section III) demonstrates the provision of a mix 
of single-family residential dwellings within the subject site, which is generally 
consistent with the Master Plan. Therefore, the proposed annexation is consistent with 
Goal 5.   

Goal 10: Housing 

To provide for the housing needs of citizens of the state. 

Response:  The City’s Comprehensive Plan has been acknowledged as being in 
compliance with Goal 10. The City is currently conducting a Housing Needs Analysis to 
meet Goal 10 Periodic Review requirements and to project housing needs over the 
next 20 years.  

The Villebois Village Master Plan was created and approved to address the jobs-
housing imbalance and growth within the City of Wilsonville. The Master Plan shows 
single family residential land uses within the site. The concurrent application for PDP 
3N (see Notebook Section III) demonstrates the provision of a mix of single-family 
residential dwellings within the subject site that is generally consistent with the 
Master Plan. The proposed annexation will allow the site to develop with residential 
land uses, as directed by this Comprehensive Plan and land use policies. Therefore, 
this petition for annexation is consistent with Goal 10.  



 
PAGE 16  PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014  Supporting Compliance Report 

Goal 11: Public Facilities and Services 

To plan and develop a timely, orderly, and efficient arrangement of public 
facilities and services to serve as a framework for urban and rural 
development. 

Response:  The City’s Comprehensive Plan has been acknowledged as being in 
compliance with Goal 11.  The Villebois Village Master Plan includes implementation 
measures to ensure site development complies with the City’s Wastewater Collections 
System Master Plan, Stormwater Master Plan, Water System Master Plan, and 
Transportation Systems Plan. The concurrent application for PDP 3N (see Notebook 
Section III) demonstrates general compliance with the Master Plan. Therefore, the 
proposed annexation is consistent with Goal 11.      

Goal 12: Transportation 

To provide and encourage a safe, convenient and economic transportation 
system.  

Response:  The City’s Comprehensive Plan has been acknowledged as being in 
compliance with Goal 12. The Villebois Village Master Plan includes implementation 
measures related to transportation to ensure compliance with the City’s 
Transportation Systems Plan. The concurrent application for PDP 3N (see Notebook 
Section III) demonstrates general compliance with the Master Plan. Therefore, the 
proposed annexation is consistent with Goal 12.      

Goal 13: Energy Conservation 

Land and uses developed on the land shall be managed and controlled so 
as to maximize the conservation of all forms of energy, based upon sound 
economic principles.  

Response:  The City’s Comprehensive Plan has been acknowledged as being in 
compliance with Goal 13. The concurrent application for PDP 3N (see Notebook Section 
III) demonstrates general compliance with the Master Plan and development standards 
as applicable to energy conservation. Therefore, the proposed annexation is consistent 
with Goal 13.      

Goal 14: Urbanization 

To provide for an orderly and efficient transition from rural to urban land 
use, to accommodate urban population and urban employment inside 
urban growth boundaries, to ensure efficient use of land, and to provide 
for livable communities.  

Response:  The City’s Comprehensive Plan has been acknowledged as being in 
compliance with Goal 14. Section III of this report demonstrates that the proposed 
amendments are consistent with the applicable urbanization policies of the City of 
Wilsonville Comprehensive Plan. Therefore, the proposed annexation is consistent 
with Goal 14. 

Goal 15 (Willamette River Greenway) is not applicable to this request as the site is not 
near the Willamette River. Goal 16 (Estuarine Resources, Goal 17 (Coastal Shorelands), 
and Goal 18 (Beaches and Dunes) are not applicable to this request as the site is not 
located near the coast or any of these coastal resource areas. 



PAGE 17 PETITION FOR ANNEXATION 
January 31, 2014 Supporting Compliance Report 

VI. PROPOSAL SUMMARY & CONCLUSION

This Supporting Compliance Report demonstrates compliance with the applicable 
requirements of the City of Wilsonville Comprehensive Plan and Planning & Land 
Development Ordinance, Metro Code, ORS 222, and Statewide Planning Goals for the 
requested annexation.  Therefore, the applicant requests approval of this petition. 



IIB
Petition & Ownership/

Elector Info





Owners

Tax Lot Name Site Address Mailing Address

1200 Villebois LLC NA
1022 SW Salmon St #450, Portland, 
OR 97205

1202 Charles E. Taber & Carolyn J. Taber
11800 SW Tooze Rd, Wilsonville, 
Oregon 97070

11800 SW Tooze Rd, Wilsonville, 
Oregon 97070

1205 Villebois LLC
28100 SW Grahams Ferry Rd, 
Wilsonville, Oregon 97070

1022 SW Salmon St #450, Portland, 
OR 97205

Electors

Tax Lot Name Site Address Mailing Address

1200 no voters NA
1022 SW Salmon St #450, Portland, 
OR 97205

1202 Charles E. Taber & Carolyn J. Taber
11800 SW Tooze Rd, Wilsonville, 
Oregon 97070

11800 SW Tooze Rd, Wilsonville, 
Oregon 97070

1205 no active voters
28100 SW Grahams Ferry Rd, 
Wilsonville, Oregon 97070

1022 SW Salmon St #450, Portland, 
OR 97205

List of Owners & Electors within Proposed Annexation Area











1

Amber Shasky-Bell

From: Thomas, Floyd [FloydT@co.clackamas.or.us]
Sent: Wednesday, January 15, 2014 2:15 PM
To: Amber Shasky-Bell
Subject: FW: Elector Information Request
Attachments: Wilsonville voters.pdf

Attached are the voters at the addresses below.  Only the 2 Tabers are actually valid registered voters 

Floyd Thomas 
Clackamas County Elections 
1710 Red Soils Ct. Ste 100 
Oregon City  OR  97045 

ph 503-655-8510 
Fax 503-655-8461 

From: Elections  
Sent: Wednesday, January 15, 2014 12:46 PM 
To: Hanes, Paul; Thomas, Floyd 
Subject: FW: Elector Information Request 

I’m guessing it’s one of you guys she talked to? 

From: Amber Shasky-Bell [mailto:amber@pacific-community.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, January 15, 2014 12:37 PM 
To: Elections 
Subject: Elector Information Request 

Hello, 

I spoke earlier with someone regarding elector information for Tax Lots 1200, 1202, 1205 on Map 3 1W 15. The address 
for 1202 is 11800 SW Tooze Road and address for 1205 is 28100 SW Grahams Ferry Road. There is no address for Tax Lot 
1200. 

Would it be possible to get a PDF list of electors for these lots via email, so that we can include it with a petition for 
annexation to the City of Wilsonville? 

Thank you for your assistance with this. 

Amber 

Amber Shasky-Bell 
12564 SW Main Street 
Tigard, OR  97223 
Pacific Community Design 
office: 503-941-9484 
amber@pacific-community.com 

amber
Typewriter
1

amber
Typewriter



amber
Typewriter
2



IIC
Legal Description 

& Sketch







Section III

Preliminary Development Plan



IIIA
Supporting Compliance Report



PDP  3 - NORTH PAGE 1 
Supporting Compliance Report January 31, 2014 

SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  
PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 3 - NORTH 

SECTION IIIA 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. WILSONVILLE PLANNING & LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE ................... 2 
SECTION 4.125  VILLAGE (V) ZONE ............................................................................... 2 
(.02) PERMITTED USES ............................................................................................... 2 
(.05)  DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS APPLYING TO ALL DEVELOPMENTS IN THE VILLAGE ZONE 

 .......................................................................................................... 2 
(.07)  GENERAL REGULATIONS – OFF-STREET PARKING, LOADING & BICYCLE PARKING .... 5 
(.08)  OPEN SPACE ..................................................................................................... 6 
(.09)  STREET & ACCESS IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS ...................................................... 6 
(.10)  SIDEWALK AND PATHWAY IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS ............................................ 9 
(.11)  LANDSCAPING, SCREENING AND BUFFERING ....................................................... 10 
(.12)  MASTER SIGNAGE AND WAYFINDING .................................................................. 10 
(.14)  DESIGN STANDARDS APPLYING TO THE VILLAGE ZONE ........................................ 10 
(.18)  VILLAGE ZONE DEVELOPMENT PERMIT PROCESS ................................................. 12 
COMMUNITY ELEMENTS BOOK ........................................................................................ 21 
MASTER SIGNAGE AND WAYFINDING PLAN ...................................................................... 22 
RAINWATER PROGRAM .................................................................................................. 22 
SECTION 4.139  SIGNIFICANT RESOURCE OVERLAY ZONE (SROZ) ORDINANCE ................ 23 
SECTION 4.140  PLANNED DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS ................................................ 23 
SECTION 4.171 GENERAL REGULATIONS – PROTECTION OF NATURAL FEATURES & OTHER

RESOURCES .................................................................................................. 25 
SECTION 4.172  FLOOD PLAIN REGULATIONS ................................................................ 28 
SECTION 4.176  LANDSCAPING, SCREENING & BUFFERING ............................................. 28 
SECTION 4.177 STREET IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS ........................................................ 29 
SECTION 4.178  SIDEWALK & PATHWAY STANDARDS ..................................................... 29 
SECTION 4.610.40 TYPE C PERMIT .......................................................................... 29 

II. PROPOSAL SUMMARY & CONCLUSION ................................................ 29



PDP  3 - NORTH PAGE 2 
Supporting Compliance Report January 31, 2014 

I. WILSONVILLE PLANNING & LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 

SECTION 4.125 VILLAGE (V) ZONE 

(.02) PERMITTED USES 

Examples of principle uses that are typically permitted: 

A. Single Family Dwellings 

H. Non-commercial parks, plazas, playgrounds, recreational facilities, 
community buildings and grounds, tennis courts, and other similar 
recreational and community uses owned and operated either 
publicly or by an owners association. 

Response: This Preliminary Development Plan (PDP) application proposes to create 
84 lots for development of detached single family dwellings, as well as numerous tracts 
for landscaping, parks, and open space areas.  All proposed uses within the subject 
PDP are permitted pursuant to this section.  

(.05)  DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS APPLYING TO ALL DEVELOPMENTS IN THE VILLAGE ZONE 

All development in this zone shall be subject to the V Zone and the 
applicable provisions of the Wilsonville Planning and Land Development 
Ordinance.  If there is a conflict, then the standards of this section shall 
apply.  The following standards shall apply to all development in the V zone: 

A. Block, Alley, Pedestrian and Bicycle Standards: 

1. Maximum Block Perimeter: 1,800 feet, unless the 
Development Review Board makes a finding that barriers such 
as existing buildings, topographic variations, or designated 
Significant Resource Overlay Zone areas will prevent a block 
perimeter from meeting this standard. 

2. Maximum spacing between streets for local access:  530 feet,
unless the Development Review Board makes a finding that
barriers such as existing buildings, topographic variations, or
designated Significant Resource Overlay Zone areas will
prevent street extensions from meeting this standard.

3. If the maximum spacing for streets for local access exceeds
530 feet, intervening pedestrian and bicycle access shall be
provided, with a maximum spacing of 330 feet from those
local streets, unless the Development Review Board makes a
finding that barriers such as existing buildings, topographic
variations, or designated Significant Resource Overlay Zone
areas will prevent pedestrian and bicycle facility extensions
from meeting this standard.

Response: Compliance with these standards has been demonstrated by the 
concurrent SAP North Amendment. PDP 3N is consistent with the information 
submitted for the concurrent SAP North Amendment.  

B. Access:  All lots with access to a public street, and an alley, shall 
take vehicular access from the alley to a garage or parking area, 
except as determined by the City Engineer. 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 3 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
   

Response:   All of the lots within the proposed PDP that have frontage on a public 
street and an alley will take vehicular access from an alley to a garage or parking area.   
 

C.  Trailers, travel trailers, mobile coaches, or any altered variation 
thereof shall not be used for the purpose of conducting a trade or 
calling, or for storage of material, unless approved for such purpose 
as a temporary use. 

Response: No trailers, travel trailers, mobile coaches, or such vehicles will be used 
for the purpose of conducting a trade or calling or for the storage of material unless 
approved as a temporary use. 
 

D.  Fences: 

1. General Provisions: 

a. Fencing within the Village Zone shall be in compliance with 
the Master Fencing Program in the adopted Architectural 
Pattern Book for the appropriate SAP. 

b. When two or more properties with different setbacks abut, 
the property with the largest front yard setback requirement 
shall be used to determine the length and height of the shard 
side yard fence, as required by section 4.125 above. 

c. The development Review Board may, in their discretion, 
require such fencing as deemed necessary to promote and 
provide traffic safety, noise mitigation, and nuisance 
abatement, and the compatibility of different uses permitted 
on adjacent lots of the same zone and on adjacent lots of 
different zones.  

2. Residential: 

a. The maximum height of any fence located in the required 
front yard of a residential development shall not exceed 
three (3) feet. 

b. Fences on residential lots shall not include chain link, barbed 
wire, razor wire, electrically charged wire, or be constructed 
of sheathing material such as plywood or flake board.  Fences 
in residential areas that protect wetlands, or other sensitive 
areas, may be chain link. 

Response: The SAP North Master Fencing Plan shows Enhanced Full View or Partial 
View Fence w/ Landscaping along Grahams Ferry Road and Tooze Road and a 
secondary site identifier at the site entrance on Grahams Ferry Road (at SW Oslo 
Street). Residential lot fencing will occur in compliance with the fencing specified for 
the specific lot type and style in accordance with the SAP North Master Fencing Plan. 
Residential lot fencing occurs when each home is constructed, details of which are 
provided with Building Permit review.   
 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 4 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

E.  Recreational Area in Multi-Family Residential and Mixed Use 
Developments 

Response: The proposed PDP includes lots for the development of single family 
residential homes; therefore this standard does not apply. 

 
F.  Fire Protection: 

1. All structures shall include a rated fire suppression system (i.e., 
sprinklers), as approved by the Fire Marshal 

Response: All of the homes within the proposed PDP area will include appropriate 
fire suppression systems.  This will be verified with review of future building permit 
applications. 
 

Table V-1 Development Standards 

Response: The Tentative Plat (see Section IIIB in this Notebook) depicts proposed 
lot sizes and dimensions.  All of the lots will be developed with single family detached 
dwelling units.  All of the lots meet applicable requirements, as addressed below.  No 
buildings are proposed with this application.  Final compliance with these standards 
will be reviewed at building permit submittal.  

Single-Family Dwellings 

Minimum lot size:  2,250 square feet 

Minimum lot width:  35 feet 

Minimum lot depth:  50 feet 

Response: All lots within the proposed tentative plat meet the minimum lot size 
requirement and meet the minimum lot width and depth specified for Small, Medium, 
Standard, and Large lots in the approved SAP North Architectural Pattern Book, with 
allowed variations for site features, such as road alignment or site topography. 

Allowed variations are requested for Lots 8, 9, and 54, where road curvatures limit 
the width of lot frontage. Lot 8 has 58 feet of street frontage and Lot 9 has 44.3 feet 
of street frontage, resulting from the street corner knuckle effect on the front of these 
lots. However, lot width at the front building elevation will be at least 60 feet as 
future dwellings on these lots will be 50 feet in width with 5-foot minimum side yard 
setbacks. In addition, at the rear lot line, the width of these lots exceeds 60 feet. Lot 
54 has approximately 56 of street frontage, as it is a corner lot located at the 
intersection of an angled street; SW Belfast Avenue is angled with a southwestern to 
northeastern orientation and intersects with SW Barcelona that has a west to east 
orientation. As a result, Lot 54 has a narrower lot width at the front lot line than the 
rear lot line (lot width at the rear is 91.6 feet wide). However, Lot 54 will have 
approximately 64 feet of distance between side lot lines at the front building 
elevation.  

In addition, Small lots utilize the +/-32-40’ typical lot width specified in the SAP North 
Pattern Book. Lots 38 and 39 are approximately 46 feet in width as they utilize the 
typical 10-foot street side yard in addition to the +/-32-40’ typical lot width standard 
for Smalls, as shown in the SAP North Pattern Book.  

 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 5 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
   

(.07)  GENERAL REGULATIONS – OFF-STREET PARKING, LOADING & BICYCLE PARKING 

Except as required by Subsections (A) through (D), below, the requirements 
of Section 4.155 shall apply within the village zone. 

A. General Provisions: 

1. The provision and maintenance of off-street parking spaces is 
a continuing obligation of the property owner.  The standards 
set forth herein shall be considered by the Development 
Review Board as minimum criteria. 

2. The Board shall have the authority to grant variances or 
refinements to these standards in keeping with the purposes 
and objectives set forth in this zone. 

Response: The applicant acknowledges that the provision and maintenance of off-
street parking is the continuing obligation of the property owner.  There are no 
variances or refinements to the standards of this section proposed with this 
application. 

B. Minimum and Maximum Off-Street Parking Requirements: 

1. Table V-2, Off-Street Parking Requirements, below, shall be 
used to determine the minimum and maximum parking 
standards for noted land uses.  The number of required 
parking spaces shown in Table V-2 shall be determined by 
rounding to the nearest whole parking space… 

Table V-2:  Off-Street Parking Requirements 

Category 
Min. Vehicle 

Spaces 
Max. 

Vehicle 
Spaces 

Bicycle 
Short Term 

Bicycle 
Long 
Term 

 

Single Family Detached Dwelling 
Units  

1.0 / DU NR NR NR 

Response:  Each of the homes will provide a minimum of a two-car garage in 
compliance with this standard. 

 
C. Minimum Off-Street Loading Requirements: 

Response: The proposed PDP includes lots for development of single family homes; 
therefore no loading areas are required.   

 

D. Bicycle Parking Requirements: 

Response: The proposed PDP includes single family detached residential units.  
There is no bicycle parking requirement for these unit types, as noted in Table V-2 
above, therefore these standards do not apply. 

 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 6 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

(.08)  OPEN SPACE 

Open space shall be provided as follows: 

A.  In all residential developments and in mixed-use developments 
where the majority of the developed square footage is to be in 
residential use, at least twenty-five percent (25%) of the area shall 
be open space, excluding street pavement and surface parking. In 
multi-phased developments, individual phases are not required to 
meet the 25% standard as long as an approved Specific Area Plan 
demonstrates that the overall development shall provide a minimum 
of 25% open space. Required front yard areas shall not be counted 
towards the required open space area. Required rear yard areas and 
other landscaped areas that are not within required front or side 
yards may be counted as part of the required open space. 

B.  Open space area required by this Section may, at the discretion of 
the Development Review Board, be protected by a conservation 
easement or dedicated to the City, either rights in fee or easement, 
without altering the density or other development standards of the 
proposed development. Provided that, if the dedication is for public 
park purposes, the size and amount of the proposed dedication shall 
meet the criteria of the City of Wilsonville standards. The square 
footage of any land, whether dedicated or not, which is used for 
open space shall be deemed a part of the development site for the 
purpose of computing density or allowable lot coverage.  See SROZ 
provisions, Section 4.139.10. 

C.  The Development Review Board may specify the method of assuring 
the long-term protection and maintenance of open space and/or 
recreational areas. Where such protection or maintenance are the 
responsibility of a private party or homeowners’ association, the City 
Attorney shall review and approve any pertinent bylaws, covenants, 
or agreements prior to recordation. 

Response: The Parks Master Plan for Villebois states that there are 58.42 acres of 
parks and 101.31 acres of open space for a total of 159.73 acres within Villebois, 
approximately 33%. An amendment to SAP North to add information for Phase 3 has 
been submitted concurrently, which added a pocket park, open space area, and linear 
greens/landscape tracts, and increased the overall area of parks and open spaces as 
refinements to the Master Plan. The proposed PDP includes the same parks and open 
space areas shown in SAP North amendment for this area.  
 
(.09)  STREET & ACCESS IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS 

A. Except as noted below, the provisions of Section 4.177 apply within 
the Village zone: 

1. Generally: 

a) All street alignment and access improvements shall 
conform to the Villebois Village Master Plan, or as 
refined in the Specific Area Plan, Preliminary 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 7 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
   

Development Plan, or Final Development Plan and the 
following standards: 

Response: An amendment to SAP North to add information for Phase 3 has been 
submitted concurrently, which included minor refinements to the alignment and 
location of Iceland Lane, the location of planned access to/from SW Grahams Ferry 
Road, and the portion of Belfast Lane (Amsterdam Avenue) adjacent to the treed 
wetland in the southwestern site corner. The street alignments and access 
improvements within this PDP are consistent with the proposed refinements to the 
Villebois Village Master Plan submitted with the concurrent SAP North Amendment.  
 

i. All street improvements shall conform to the 
Public Works Standards and shall provide for 
the continuation of streets through proposed 
developments to adjoining properties or 
subdivisions, according to the Master Plan. 

Response: All street improvements within this PDP will comply with the applicable 
Public Works Standards.  The street system within this PDP is designed to provide for 
the continuation of streets within Villebois and to adjoining properties or subdivisions 
according to the Master Plan.  The street system is illustrated on the Circulation Plan 
(see Section IIIB of this Notebook). 
 

ii. All streets shall be developed with curbs, 
landscape strips, bikeways or pedestrian 
pathways, according to the Master Plan.  

Response: All streets within this PDP will be developed with curbs, landscape 
strips, sidewalks, and bikeways or pedestrian pathways as depicted on the Circulation 
Plan (Section IIIB of this Notebook) and in accordance with the Master Plan. 
 

2. Intersections of streets 

a) Angles: Streets shall intersect one another at angles 
not less than 90 degrees, unless existing development 
or topography makes it impractical. 

b) Intersections:  If the intersection cannot be designed 
to form a right angle, then the right-of-way and paving 
within the acute angle shall have a minimum of thirty 
(30) foot centerline radius and said angle shall not be 
less than sixty (60) degrees.  Any angle less than ninety 
(90) degrees shall require approval by the City 
Engineer after consultation with the Fire District. 

Response: The plan sheets located in Section IIIB of this Notebook demonstrate 
that all proposed streets will intersect at angles consistent with the above standards. 
 

c) Offsets: Opposing intersections shall be designed so 
that no offset dangerous to the traveling public is 
created. Intersections shall be separated by at least: 

i. 1000 ft. for major arterials 
ii. 600 ft. for minor arterials 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 8 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

iii. 100 ft. for major collector 
iv. 50 ft. for minor collector 

Response: The plan sheets located in Section IIIB of this Notebook demonstrate 
that opposing intersections on public streets are offset, as appropriate, so that no 
danger to the traveling public is created.   
 

d) Curb Extensions: 

i. Curb extensions at intersections shall be shown 
on the Specific Area Plans required in 
subsection 4.125(.18)(C) through (F) below, 
and shall: 

 Not obstruct bicycle lanes on collector 
streets. 

 Provide a minimum 20 foot wide clear 
distance between curb extensions all local 
residential street intersections shall have, 
shall meet minimum turning radius 
requirements of the Public Works 
Standards, and shall facilitate fire truck 
turning movements as required by the Fire 
District. 

Response: Curb extensions are shown on the Circulation Plan (see Section IIIB).  
The attached drawings illustrate that all street intersections will have a minimum 20 
foot wide clear distance between curb extensions on all local residential street 
intersections. No collector streets are located within PDP 3N   
 

3. Street grades shall be a maximum of 6% on arterials and 8% 
for collector and local streets. Where topographic conditions 
dictate, grades in excess of 8%, but not more than 12%, may 
be permitted for short distances, as approved by the City 
Engineer, where topographic conditions or existing 
improvements warrant modification of these standards. 

Response: The Grading & Erosion Control Plan located in Section IIIB, 
demonstrates that proposed streets can comply with this standard. 
 

4. Centerline Radius Street Curves: 

The minimum centerline radius street curves shall be as 
follows: 

a) Arterial streets: 600 feet, but may be reduced to 400 
feet in commercial areas, as approved by City 
Engineer. 

b) Collector streets:  600 feet, but may be reduced to 
conform with the Public Works Standards, as approved 
by the City Engineer. 

c) Local streets:  75 feet 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 9 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
   

Response: The plan sheets in Notebook Section IIIB demonstrate that all streets 
will comply with the above standards. 
 

5. Rights-of-way: 

a) See (.09) (A), above. 

Response: Proposed rights-of-way are shown on the plan sheets located in Section 
IIIB of this Notebook.  Rights-of-way will be dedicated and a waiver of remonstrance 
against the formation of a local improvement district will be recorded with recordation 
of a final plat in accordance with Section 4.177. 
 

6. Access drives. 

a) See (.09) (A), above. 

b) 16 feet for two-way traffic. 

Response: Access drives (alleys) will be paved at least 16-feet in width within a 
20-foot tract, as shown on the Circulation Plan.   In accordance with Section 4.177, 
all access drives will be constructed with a hard surface capable of carrying a 23-ton 
load.  Easements for fire access will be dedicated as required by the fire department.  
All access drives will be designed to provide a clear travel lane free from any 
obstructions 
 

7. Clear Vision Areas 

a) See (.09) (A), above. 

Response: Clear vision areas will be provided and maintained in compliance with 
the Section 4.177. 
 

8. Vertical clearance:   

a) See (.09) (A), above. 

Response: Vertical clearance will be provided and maintained in compliance with 
the Section 4.177. 
 

9. Interim Improvement Standard:  

a) See (.09) (A), above. 

Response:  An interim street section improvement will be provided on Grahams 
Ferry Road to create consistency with street improvements completed previously with 
phased development of SAP North and SAP South. Interim street section improvements 
are also planned on Tooze Road, to be provided by the City of Wilsonville.   

 
(.10)  SIDEWALK AND PATHWAY IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS 

A. The provisions of Section 4.178 shall apply within the Village zone. 

Response: All sidewalks and pathways within SAP North will be constructed in 
accordance with the standards of Section 4.178 and the Villebois Village Master Plan.  
Sidewalks and pathways are shown in the street cross-sections on the Circulation Plan 
(see Section IIIB of this notebook). 

 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 10 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

(.11)  LANDSCAPING, SCREENING AND BUFFERING 

A. Except as noted below, the provisions of Section 4.176 shall apply in 
the Village zone: 

1. Streets in the Village zone shall be developed with street 
trees as described in the Community Elements Book. 

Response:   The Street Tree/Lighting Plan shows the street trees proposed within 
this PDP.   The trees are in conformance with the Community Elements Book. 

 
(.12)  MASTER SIGNAGE AND WAYFINDING 

Response:   The site includes a ‘secondary site identifier’ at the site entrance (at 
SW Oslo Street) on Grahams Ferry Road. Signage within the subject area will comply 
with the SAP North Signage & Wayfinding Plan. 

 
(.14)  DESIGN STANDARDS APPLYING TO THE VILLAGE ZONE 

A. The following design standards implement the Design Principles 
found in (.13), above, and enumerate the architectural details and 
design requirements applicable to buildings and other features 
within the Village (V) zone.  The Design Standards are based 
primarily on the features, types, and details of the residential 
traditions in the Northwest, but are not intended to mandate a 
particular style or fashion.  All development within the Village zone 
shall incorporate the following: 

1. Generally: 

a. Flag lots are not permitted. 

Response:  No flag lots are proposed (see the Tentative Plat in Notebook Section 
IIIB).   
 

b. Dwellings on lots without alley access shall be at least 
36 feet wide. 

Response:  As demonstrated by the Tentative Plat (see Notebook Section IIIB), all 
lots without alley access will have a lot width exceeding 36 feet. 
 

c. The minimum lot depth for a single-family dwelling 
with an accessory dwelling unit shall be 70 feet. 

Response:  None of the lots include accessory dwellings; therefore this standard 
does not apply. 
 

d. For Village Center lots facing two or more streets, two 
of the facades shall be subject to the minimum 
frontage width requirement. Where multiple buildings 
are located on one lot, the facades of all buildings shall 
be used to calculate the Minimum Building Frontage 
Width. 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 11 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
   

Response:  The proposed PDP is not located in the Village Center; therefore this 
standard does not apply. 
 

2. Building and site design shall include: 

a. Proportions and massing of architectural elements 
consistent with those established in an approved 
Pattern Book or Village Center Design. 

b. Materials, colors and architectural details executed in 
a manner consistent with the methods included in an 
approved Pattern Book, Community Elements Book or 
approved Village Center Architectural Standards. 

c. Protective overhangs or recesses at windows and 
doors. 

d. Raised stoops, terraces or porches at single-family 
dwellings. 

e. Exposed gutters, scuppers, and downspouts. 
f. The protection of existing significant trees as 

identified in an approved Community Elements Book. 
g. A landscape plan in compliance with Section (.11), 

above. 
h. Building elevations of block complexes shall not repeat 

an elevation found on an adjacent block. 
i. Building elevations of detached buildings shall not 

repeat an elevation found on buildings on adjacent 
lots. 

j. A porch shall have no more than three walls. 
k. A garage shall provide enclosure for the storage of no 

more than three vehicles. 

Response: This application requests PDP approval for single family detached lots.  
No buildings are proposed at this time.  Conformance with the Pattern Book and 
Community Elements Book will assure consistency with the Design Standards of 
subsection (.14).  Subsequent Building Permit applications will review building and site 
design for consistency with the Pattern Book.   

The Street Tree/Lighting Plan (see Notebook Section IIIB) shows the street trees 
proposed within this PDP in compliance with Section (.11), above.  The trees have 
been selected in conformance with the Community Elements Book.   

Protection of existing trees is shown on the Tree Preservation Plan, in accordance 
with the Community Elements Book.  The Street Tree/Lighting Plan (see Section IIIB) 
depicts street trees along rights-of-way within the subject Preliminary Development 
Plan area. The Street Tree/Lighting Plan has been developed in conformance with the 
Community Elements Book and the applicable standards of Section 4.176.   
  

3. Lighting and site furnishings shall be in compliance with the 
approved Community Elements Book. 

Response: The FDP application in Section VII of the Notebook shows site furnishings 
within the parks.  The Street Tree/Lighting Plan (see Section IIIB) shows proposed 
street trees and lighting for this Preliminary Development Plan.  These plans illustrate 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 12 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

that lighting and site furnishings will be provided in compliance with the Community 
Elements Book.   
 

4. Building systems, as noted in Tables V-3 and V-4 (Permitted 
Materials and Configurations), below, shall comply with the 
materials, applications and configurations required therein. 

Response:  The PDP does not propose any buildings.  Subsequent Building Permit 
applications will review proposed buildings for consistency with the criteria of Table 
V-3 and the Architectural Pattern Book.   

 
(.18)  VILLAGE ZONE DEVELOPMENT PERMIT PROCESS 

B. Unique Features and Processes of the Village (V) Zone.  To be 
developed, there are three (3) phases of project approval.  Some of 
these phases may be combined, but generally the approvals move 
from the conceptual stage through to detailed architectural, 
landscape and site plan review in stages.  All development within the 
Village zone shall be subject to the following processes: 

2. Preliminary Development Plan (PDP) approval by the 
Development Review Board, as set forth in Section 
4.125(.18)(G) through (K) (Stage II equivalent), below.  
Following SAP approval, an applicant may file applications for 
Preliminary Development Plan approval (Stage II equivalent) 
for an approved phase in accordance with the approved SAP, 
and any conditions attached thereto.  Land divisions may also 
be preliminarily approved at this stage.  Except for land 
within the Central SAP or multi-family dwellings outside the 
Central SAP, application for a zone change and Final 
Development Plan (FDP) shall be made concurrently with an 
application for PDP approval.  The SAP and PDP/FDP may be 
reviewed simultaneously when a common ownership exists. 

Final Development (FDP) approval by the Development 
Review Board or the Planning Director, as set forth in Sections 
4.125(.18)(L) through (P) (Site Design Review equivalent), 
below, may occur as a separate phase for lands in the Central 
SAP or multi-family dwellings outside the Central SAP. 

Response: The Applicant is requesting approval of a Preliminary Development Plan 
(PDP). Compliance with Sections 4.125(.18)(G) through (K) is demonstrated in the 
following sections of this report.  This PDP addresses Phase 3 of SAP North, as depicted 
in the concurrent SAP North Amendment. 

A request for preliminary approval of a tentative subdivision plat is submitted 
concurrent with this PDP application (see Notebook Section IV).  A request for a zone 
change to Village (V) zone is submitted concurrent with this PDP application (see 
Section V of this Notebook).  In addition, a Final Development Plan is submitted 
concurrent with this PDP (see Section VII of this Notebook).   
 
 
 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 13 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
   

G. Preliminary Development Plan Approval Process: 

1. An application for approval of a Preliminary Development 
Plan for a development in an approved SAP shall:   

a) Be filed with the City Planning Division for the entire 
SAP, or when submission of the SAP in phases has been 
authorized by the Development Review Board, for a 
phase in the approved sequence. 

Response:  This PDP addresses Phase 3 of SAP North, as depicted by the concurrent 
SAP North Amendment. 

b) Be made by the owner of all affected property or the 
owner’s authorized agent; and. 

Response:  This application is made by Polygon Northwest Company, LLC.  The 
application form, which has been signed by the property owners, can be found in 
Exhibit IB along with a copy of the vesting deeds. 
 

c) Be filed on a form prescribed by the City Planning 
Division and filed with said division and accompanied 
by such fee as the City Council may prescribe by 
resolution; and. 

Response:  The appropriate application form and fee have been filed with this 
submittal.  A copy of the form and fee are included in Sections IB and IC, respectively. 

d) Set forth the professional coordinator and professional 
design team for the project; and. 

Response:  The professional coordinator and professional design team are set forth 
in the Introductory Narrative, located in Section IA of this Notebook. 
 

e) State whether the development will include mixed 
land uses, and if so, what uses and in what proportions 
and locations. 

Response:  This PDP does not include mixed land uses.  The proposed land uses are 
shown on the Site/Land Use Plan, in Section IIIB of this Notebook. 
 

f) Include a preliminary land division (concurrently) per 
Section 4.400, as applicable. 

Response:  This application includes a request for preliminary land division 
approval.  This request for approval of a Tentative Plat can be seen in Section IV of 
this Notebook.  This section includes a Supporting Compliance Report, the proposed 
Tentative Plat, draft CC&R’s, a copy of the certification of liens & assessments form, 
and the subdivision name approval from the County Surveyor’s Office. 
 

g) Include a concurrent application for a Zone Map 
Amendment (i.e., Zone Change) for the subject phase. 

Response:  This application includes a request for a zone map amendment to zone 
the subject Preliminary Development Plan area Village (V).  This zone change request 
can be seen in Section V of this Notebook.  This section includes a Supporting 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 14 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

Compliance Report, a Zone Change Map, and a legal description & sketch of the 
proposed zone change area.  
 

2. The application for Preliminary Development Plan approval 
shall include conceptual and quantitatively accurate 
representations of the entire development sufficient to 
demonstrate conformance with the approved SAP and to 
judge the scope, size and impact of the development on the 
community and shall be accompanied by the following 
information: 

a) A boundary survey or a certified boundary description 
by a surveyor licensed in the State of Oregon. 

b) Topographic information sufficient to determine 
direction and percentage of slopes, drainage patterns, 
and in environmentally sensitive areas, (e.g., flood 
plain, wetlands, forested areas, steep slopes or 
adjacent to stream banks).  Contour lines shall relate 
to North American Vertical Datum of 1988 and be at 
minimum intervals as follows: 

i) One (1) foot contours for slopes of up to five 
percent (5%); 

ii) Two (2) foot contours for slopes from six 
percent (6%) to twelve (12%); 

iii) Five (5) foot contours for slopes from twelve 
percent (12%) to twenty percent (20%).  These 
slopes shall be clearly identified, and 

iv) Ten (10) foot contours for slopes exceeding 
twenty percent (20%). 

c) The location of areas designated Significant Resource 
Overlay Zone (SROZ), and associated 25-foot Impact 
Areas, within the PDP and within 50 feet of the PDP 
boundary, as required by Section 4.139. 

Response:  A certified boundary description by a surveyor licensed in the State of 
Oregon is provided as the legal description and sketch for the zone map amendment 
(see Section VC of this Notebook).  Topographic information and SROZ information in 
accordance with Sections 4.125(.18)G.2.b. & c. is shown on the Existing Conditions, 
located in Section IIB of this Notebook.  
 

d) A tabulation of the land area to be devoted to various 
uses, and a calculation of the average residential 
density per net acre. 

Response:  Following is a tabulation of land area devoted to the various uses and a 
calculation of net residential density: 
 
 
 
 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 15 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
   

Gross Acreage 15.16 Acres 

Parks & Open Space 2.03 Acres 

Public Streets 4.49 Acres 

Lots and Alleys 8.64 Acres 

   
Net Residential Density:  84 lots / 8.64 Acres = 9.72 units per net acre 
 

e) The location, dimensions and names, as appropriate, 
of existing and platted streets and alleys on and within 
50 feet of the perimeter of the PDP, together with the 
location of existing and planned easements, sidewalks, 
bike routes and bikeways, trails, and the location of 
other important features such as section lines, section 
corners, and City boundary lines. The plan shall also 
identify all trees 6 inches and greater d.b.h. on the 
project site only. 

Response:  The above information is shown on the Existing Conditions, the 
Tentative Plat, and the Circulation Plan.  The Tree Preservation Plan identifies all 
trees 6 inches and greater diameter at breast height (d.b.h.) within or adjacent to 
developed areas on the project site. Trees within the retained wetland have not been 
inventoried as they each will be preserved within an open space tract. Tree numbers 
are identified on the Tree Preservation Plan Sheets which correspond with the Tree 
Inventory in the Tree Report (see Section VIB).  The plan sheets mentioned above can 
be found in Section IIIB of this Notebook. 
 

f) Conceptual drawings, illustrations and building 
elevations for each of the listed housing products and 
typical non-residential and mixed-use buildings to be 
constructed within the Preliminary Development Plan 
boundary, as identified in the approved SAP, and 
where required, the approved Village Center Design. 

Response:  The proposed PDP includes Small, Medium, Standard, and Large lot 
types, which are all detached single-family homes.  Conceptual elevations for the 
homes are included in Section IIIF of this Notebook.   
 

g) A composite utility plan illustrating existing and 
proposed water, sanitary sewer, and storm drainage 
facilities necessary to serve the SAP. 

Response:  Proposed storm drainage facilities, and water and sanitary lines are 
shown on the Composite Utility Plan (see Section IIIB in this Notebook). 
 

h) If it is proposed that the Preliminary Development Plan 
will be executed in Phases, the sequence thereof shall 
be provided. 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 16 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

Response:   The PDP is proposed to be executed in one phase.   
 

i) A commitment by the applicant to provide a 
performance bond or other acceptable security for the 
capital improvements required by the project. 

Response:  The applicant will provide a performance bond or other acceptable 
security for the capital improvements required by the project. 
 

j) At the applicant’s expense, the City shall have a 
Traffic Impact Analysis prepared, as required by 
Section 4.030(.02)(B), to review the anticipated 
traffic impacts of the proposed development.  This 
traffic report shall include an analysis of the impact of 
the SAP on the local street and road network, and shall 
specify the maximum projected average daily trips and 
maximum parking demand associated with buildout of 
the entire SAP, and it shall meet Subsection 
4.140(.09)(J)(2). 

Response: A copy of the Traffic Impact Analysis is provided in Section IIID of this 
Notebook. 
 

H. PDP Application Submittal Requirements: 

1. The Preliminary Development Plan shall conform with the 
approved Specific Area Plan, and shall include all information 
required by (.18)(D)(1) and (2), plus the following: 

a) The location of water, sewerage and drainage 
facilities; 

b) Conceptual building and landscape plans and 
elevations, sufficient to indicate the general character 
of the development; 

c) The general type and location of signs; 
d) Topographic information as set forth in Section 4.035; 
e) A map indicating the types and locations of all 

proposed uses; and 
f) A grading and erosion control plan illustrating existing 

and proposed contours as prescribed previously in this 
section. 

Response: A concurrent SAP North Amendment has been submitted to add 
information for Phase 3. The proposed PDP 3N conforms to the concurrent SAP North 
Amendment. As demonstrated above, the PDP application includes all information 
required by 4.125(.18)(D)(1) and (2), as applicable to a PDP.   

The Existing Conditions shows the existing site features, including topographic 
features.  Proposed lots to be created for development are shown on the Tentative 
Plat. The Grading and Erosion Control Plan shows the location of drainage facilities, 
topographic information, and a grading and erosion control facilities.  The Composite 
Utility Plan indicates the proposed location of water and sanitary sewer lines and 
drainage facilities.  The Site/Land Use Plan indicates the types and locations of all 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 17 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
   

proposed uses in the Preliminary Development Plan.  The plan sheets mentioned above 
can be found in Section IIIB of this Notebook.   

Landscape plans for the park areas are located with the FDP application materials in 
Section VII of the Notebook.  No signage is proposed or required within the subject 
area.   

The proposed PDP includes Small, Medium, Standard, and Large lot types, which are 
all detached single-family homes.  Conceptual elevations for the homes within the PDP 
will be provided for review by the City’s Architectural consultant prior to building 
permit submittal and will be available prior to DRB hearing on this request.  Future 
proposed homes will be designed to be consistent with the conceptual elevations in 
the Architectural Pattern Book.   

2. In addition to this information, and unless waived by the 
City’s Community Development Director as enabled by 
Section 4.008(.02))B), at the applicant’s expense, the City 
shall have a Traffic Impact Analysis prepared, as required by 
Section 4.030(.02)(B), to review the anticipated traffic 
impacts of the proposed development.  This traffic report 
shall include an analysis of the impact of the PDP on the local 
street and road network, and shall specify the maximum 
projected average daily trips and maximum parking demand 
associated with buildout of the entire PDP, and it shall meet 
Subsection 4.140(.09)(J)(2) for the full development of all 
five SAPs. 

Response: A copy of the Traffic Impact Analysis is provided in Section IIID. 
 

3. The Preliminary Development Plan shall be sufficiently 
detailed to indicate fully the ultimate operation and 
appearance of the phase of development.  However, approval 
of a Final Development Plan is a separate and more detailed 
review of proposed design features, subject to the standards 
of Section 4.125(.18)(L) through (P), and Section 4.400 
through Section 4.450. 

Response: The plan sheets for the proposed Preliminary Development Plan provide 
sufficient detail to show the ultimate operation and appearance of the subject phase 
of development. The FDP application for design of the included park areas within the 
PDP area is submitted concurrent with this application (see Notebook Section VII). 
 

4. Copies of legal documents required by the Development 
Review Board for dedication or reservation of public 
facilities, or for the creation of a non-profit homeowner’s 
association, shall also be submitted. 

Response: Copies of legal documents will be provided as appropriate and required 
by the Development Review Board. 
 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 18 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

I. PDP Approval Procedures 

1. An application for PDP approval shall be reviewed using the 
following procedures: 

a) Notice of a public hearing before the Development 
Review Board regarding a proposed PDP shall be made 
in accordance with the procedures contained in 
Section 4.012. 

b) A public hearing shall be held on each such application 
as provided in Section 4.013. 

c) After such hearing, the Development Review Board 
shall determine whether the proposal conforms to the 
permit criteria set forth in this Code, and shall 
approve, conditionally approve, or disapprove the 
application. 

Response: In accordance with the procedures contained in Section 4.012, the City 
shall provide notice of a public hearing before the Development Review Board on the 
proposed Preliminary Development Plan.  This report, in conjunction with all 
submitted information, demonstrates that the proposal conforms to the applicable 
permit criteria set forth in the City’s Code. 
 

J. PDP Refinements to Approved Specific Area Plan 

1. In the process of reviewing a PDP for consistency with the 
approved Specific Area Plan, the Development Review Board 
may approve refinements, but not amendments, to the SAP.  
Refinements to the SAP may be approved by the Development 
Review Board as set forth in Section (.18)(J)(2), below.   

a) Refinements to the SAP are defined as: 

i. Changes to the street network or functional 
classification of streets that do not significantly 
reduce circulation system function or 
connectivity for vehicles, bicycles or 
pedestrians. 

Response: An amendment to SAP North to add information for Phase 3 has been 
submitted concurrently. The proposed street network and the functional classification 
of streets is consistent with the concurrent SAP North Amendment.  

 
ii. Changes to the nature or location of parks 

types, trails or open space that to not 
significantly reduce function, usability, 
connectivity, or overall distribution or 
availability of these uses in the Preliminary 
Development Plan. 

Response: An amendment to SAP North to add information for Phase 3 has been 
submitted concurrently. PDP 3N depicts parks, trails, and open space consistent with 
the concurrent SAP North Amendment.  



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 19 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
   

 

 
iii. Changes to the nature or location of utilities or 

storm water facilities that do not significantly 
reduce the service or function of the utility or 
facility. 

Response: An amendment to SAP North to add information for Phase 3 has been 
submitted concurrently. PDP 3N shows utilities and stormwater facilities consistent 
with the concurrent SAP North Amendment. 

 
iv. Changes to the location or mix of land uses that 

do not significantly alter the overall 
distribution or availability of uses in the 
Preliminary Development Plan.  For the 
purposes of this subsection, “land uses” or 
“uses” are defined in the aggregate, with 
specialty condos, mixed use condos, urban 
apartments, condos, village apartments, 
neighborhood apartments, row houses and 
small detached uses comprising a land use 
group and medium detached, standard 
detached, large and estate uses comprising 
another. 

v. A change in density that does not exceed ten 
percent, provided such density change has not 
already been approved as a refinement to the 
underlying SAP or PDP, and does not result in 
fewer than 2,300 dwelling units in the Village. 

Response: An amendment to SAP North to add information for Phase 3 has been 
submitted concurrently. PDP 3N proposes land uses and density consistent with the 
concurrent SAP North Amendment. 

 

vi. Changes that are significant under the above 
definitions, but necessary to protect an 
important community resource or improve the 
function of collector or minor arterial 
roadways. 

Response:  This PDP does not include changes that meet the above definitions.  

2. Refinements meeting the above definition may be approved by 
the DRB upon the demonstration and finding that: 

a) The refinements will equally or better meet the 
conditions of the approved SAP, and the Goals, Policies 
and Implementation Measures of the Villebois Village 
Master Plan. 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 20 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

b) The refinement will not result in significant detrimental 
impacts to the environment or natural or scenic resources 
of the PDP and Village area, and 

c) The refinement will not preclude an adjoining or 
subsequent PDP or SAP from development consistent with 
the approved SAP or Master Plan. 

Response: As previously described in this report, a SAP Amendment has been 
submitted to add information for Phase 3. PDP 3N is consistent with the concurrent 
amendments to SAP North for Phase 3.  

3. Amendments to the SAP, not including SAP amendments for 
phasing, must follow the same procedures applicable to adoption 
of the SAP itself.  Amendments are defined as changes to 
elements of the SAP not constituting a refinement. 

4. Amendments to the SAP for phasing will be processed as a Class 
II administrative review proposal. 

Response:  As previously described in this report, a SAP Amendment has been 
submitted to add information for Phase 3. PDP 3N is consistent with the concurrent 
amendments to SAP North for Phase 3.  

K. PDP Approval Criteria 

 The Development Review Board may approve an application for a 
PDP only upon finding that the following approval criteria are met: 

1. That the proposed PDP: 

a. Is consistent with the standards identified in this 
section. 

Response: This Supporting Compliance Report provides an explanation of how the 
proposed development is consistent with the standards of the Village zone. 
 

b. Complies with the applicable standards of the Planning 
and Land Development Ordinance, including Section 
4.140(.09)(J)(1)-(3). 

Response: This Supporting Compliance Report provides an explanation of how the 
proposed development is consistent with the applicable standards of the Planning and 
Land Development Ordinance.  A description of how the proposed development 
complies with Section 4.140(.09)J.1-3 is included in the subsequent pages of this 
report. 
 

c. Is consistent with the approved Specific Area Plan in 
which it is located. 

Response: A SAP North Amendment has been submitted concurrent with PDP 3N. 
The proposed Preliminary Development Plan is consistent with Specific Area Plan – 
North Amendment, as demonstrated by the plan sheets located in Section IIIB and as 
described in this report. 
 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 21 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
   

d. Is consistent with the approved Pattern Book and, 
where required, the approved Village Center 
Architectural Standards 

Response: No buildings are proposed with this Preliminary Development Plan.  
Subsequent Building Permit applications for residential buildings in this Preliminary 
Development Plan will document compliance with the Architectural Pattern Book.  
However, proposed lots are sized to accommodate proposed uses in a manner 
consistent with Table V-1 and the Architectural Pattern Book. 
 

COMMUNITY ELEMENTS BOOK 

Lighting Master Plan 

Response: This PDP application includes plans for street lighting within PDP 3 
North as illustrated on the Street Tree/Lighting Plan (see Notebook Section IIIB).  The 
proposed lighting is consistent with the Community Elements Book. 
 
Curb Extensions 

Response: As shown on the Tentative Plat (see Notebook Section IIIB), curb 
extensions are proposed at a number of intersections in the PDP area.  The location 
of these curb extensions is consistent with the Curb Extension Concept Plan Diagram 
in the Community Elements Book. 
 
Street Tree Master Plan 

Response: As shown on the Street Tree/Lighting Plan (see Notebook Section IIIB), 
street trees proposed along the streets in the PDP area are consistent with the 
respective designated street tree lists. 
 
Site Furnishings 

Response: No site furnishings are proposed with this PDP application; however, the 
concurrent FDP application for the proposed park and linear greens includes details 
regarding site furnishings in these areas (see Section VII of this Notebook). 
 
Play Structures 

Response: No play structures are proposed with this PDP application; however, the 
concurrent FDP application (see Section VII of this Notebook) includes details regarding 
the parks and open space areas within PDP 3N.  
 

Tree Protection 

Response: The Tree Protection component of the Community Elements Book for 
SAP – North (page 18) describes the goal, policies, and implementation measures that 
were used to promote the protection of existing trees in the design of the PDP area. 
A Tree Preservation Plan has been prepared for this PDP, consistent with 
Implementation Measures 1 and 2 of the Tree Protection component of the Community 
Elements Book. The Tree Preservation Plan shows the trees that are proposed for 
preservation. The Tree Preservation Plan was based on a Tree Report prepared by 
Morgan E. Holen, a certified arborist (see Section VI of this notebook).   
 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 22 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

Plant List 

Response: The Community Elements Book approved with SAP – North contains a 
Plant List (pages 19-21) of non-native and native trees, shrubs, and groundcovers, 
ferns, herbs, vines, perennials, grasses, and bulbs for species to plant throughout 
Villebois.  Within the rights-of-way in this PDP, only street trees and rainwater 
components are proposed.  Additional landscaping details are provided with the FDP 
application which is submitted concurrent with this PDP (see Section VII of this 
Notebook). 
 

MASTER SIGNAGE AND WAYFINDING PLAN 

Response: The SAP North Signage & Wayfinding Plan shows a Secondary Site 
Identifier at the street entrance from Grahams Ferry Road (at SW Oslo Street). The 
Secondary Site Identifier is provided with PDP 3N, as shown on the attached plans (see 
Notebook Section IIIB). 
 

RAINWATER PROGRAM 

Response: A Rainwater Management Plan is included with the supporting utility 
reports located in Section IIIC of this Notebook.  Rainwater will be treated as shown 
on the Composite Utility Plan (see Notebook Section IIIB).  The rainwater components 
will be detailed within subsequent construction drawings. Proposed rainwater 
management is consistent with the rainwater program for SAP North, as described in 
this report and as demonstrated in the attached Rainwater Management Plan (see 
Notebook Section IIIC). 
 

3. If the PDP is to be phased, that the phasing schedule is reasonable 
and does not exceed two years between commencement of 
development of the first, and completion of the last phase, unless 
otherwise authorized by the Development Review Board. 

Response: The PDP is proposed to be executed in one phase.   
 

4. Parks within each PDP or PDP phase shall be constructed prior to 
occupancy of 50% of the dwelling units in the PDP or PDP phase, 
unless weather or special circumstances prohibit completion, in 
which case bonding for the improvements shall be permitted. 

   
Response: The parks within PDP 3 North will be completed prior to occupancy of 
50% of the housing units, as required.  Bonding will be provided if special 
circumstances prohibit completion.   
 

5. In the Central SAP, parks shall be constructed within each PDP as 
provided above, and that pro-rata portion of the estimated cost 
of Central SAP parks not within the PDP, calculated on a dwelling 
unit basis, shall be bonded or otherwise secured to the 
satisfaction of the city. 
 

Response: The proposed PDP is within SAP North and is not within the Central SAP 
Area, therefore this standard does not apply. 

 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 23 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
   

6. The Development Review Board may require modifications to the 
PDP, or otherwise impose such conditions as it may deem 
necessary to ensure conformance with the approved SAP, the 
Villebois Village Master Plan, and compliance with applicable 
requirements and standards of the Planning and Land 
Development Ordinance, and the standards of this section. 

Response: This report demonstrates that the proposed Preliminary Development 
Plan is in conformance with the Specific Area Plan – North Amendment, and thus, the 
Villebois Village Master Plan as well as the applicable requirements and standards of 
the Planning and Land Development Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 4.139  SIGNIFICANT RESOURCE OVERLAY ZONE (SROZ) ORDINANCE 

Response: A SRIR was submitted and approved with PDP 2N for the proposed SROZ 
impacts. This application includes a SRIR Addendum (see Notebook Section IIIG), which 
verifies previously approved areas and includes information for two (2) additional 
impact areas. As demonstrated in the SRIR Addendum, the total amount of SROZ 
impacts remains in compliance with the SROZ standards and approved mitigation 
areas. The SRIR Addendum has been provided with the concurrent SAP North 
Amendment. PDP 3N remains consistent with the SROZ Plan in the SAP North 
Amendment.  
 

SECTION 4.140  PLANNED DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

(.09) FINAL APPROVAL (STAGE TWO) 

J. A planned development permit may be granted by the Development 
Review Board only if it is found that the development conforms to 
all the following criteria, as well as to the Planned Development 
Regulations in Section 4.140: 

1. The location, design, size and uses, both separately and as a 
whole, are consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, and with 
any other applicable plan, development map or Ordinance 
adopted by the City Council. 

Response: This Supporting Compliance Report demonstrates that the location, 
design, size, and uses proposed with the PDP are both separately and as a whole 
consistent with SAP North, and thus the Villebois Village Master Plan, the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan designation of Residential – Village for the area, and the City’s 
Planning and Land Development Ordinance.   
 

2. That the location, design, size and uses are such that traffic 
generated by the development at the most probable used 
intersection(s) can be accommodated safely and without 
congestion in excess of Level of Service D, as defined in the 
Highway Capacity manual published by the National Highway 
Research Board, on existing or immediately planned arterial 
or collector streets and will, in the case of commercial or 
industrial developments, avoid traversing local streets. 
Immediately planned arterial and collector streets are those 
listed in the City’s adopted Capital Improvement Program, for 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 24 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

which funding has been approved or committed, and that are 
scheduled for completion within two years of occupancy of 
the development or four year if they are an associated 
crossing, interchange, or approach street improvement to 
Interstate 5. 

Response: A copy of the Traffic Impact Analysis is attached in Section IIID of this 
Notebook.   
 

a. In determining levels of Service D, the City shall hire a 
traffic engineer at the applicant’s expense who shall 
prepare a written report containing the following 
minimum information for consideration by the 
Development Review Board: 

i. An estimate of the amount of traffic generated 
by the proposed development, the likely routes 
of travel of the estimated generated traffic, 
and the source(s) of information of the 
estimate of the traffic generated and the likely 
routes of travel; (Amended by Ord 561, 
adopted 12/15/03.) 

ii. What impact the estimate generated traffic will 
have on existing level of service including 
traffic generated by (1) the development itself, 
(2) all existing developments, (3) Stage II 
developments approved but not yet built, and 
(4) all developments that have vested traffic 
generation rights under section 4.140(.10), 
through the most probable used 
intersection(s), including state and county 
intersections, at the time of peak level of 
traffic. This analysis shall be conducted for 
each direction of travel if backup from other 
intersections will interfere with intersection 
operations. (Amended by Ord 561, adopted 
12/15/03.). 

Response: A copy of the Traffic Impact Analysis is attached in Section IIID of this 
Notebook.   

b. The following are exempt from meeting the Level of 
Service D criteria standard: 

i. A planned development or expansion 
thereof which generates three (3) new 
p.m. peak hour traffic trips or less; 

ii. A planned development or expansion 
thereof which provides an essential 
governmental service. 

Response: This PDP does not request an exemption from meeting the Level of 
Service D; therefore this criterion does not apply to this project. 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 25 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
   

 
c. Traffic generated by development exempted under 

this subsection on or after Ordinance No. 463 was 
enacted shall not be counted in determining levels of 
service for any future applicant. (Added by Ord 561, 
adopted 12/15/03.) 

Response: A copy of the Traffic Impact Analysis is attached in Section IIID of this 
Notebook.   

d. Exemptions under ‘b’ of this subsection shall not 
exempt the development or expansion from payment 
of system development charges or other applicable 
regulations. (Added by Ord 561, adopted 12/15/03.) 

Response: The subject PDP is not exempt from subsection ‘b’ and the system 
development charges will be provided as required. 
 

e. In no case will development be permitted that creates 
an aggregate level of traffic at LOS “F”. (Added by Ord 
561, adopted 12/15/03.) 

Response: A copy of the Traffic Impact Analysis is attached in Section IIID of this 
Notebook.   
 

3. That the location, design, size and uses are such that the 
residents or establishments to be accommodated will be 
adequately served by existing or immediately planned 
facilities and services. 

Response: This Supporting Compliance Report, the Utility and Drainage Reports 
(see Section IIIC of this notebook) and the plan sheets (see Composite Utility Plan in 
Section IIIB) show that the future residents of PDP 3 North will be adequately served 
by the planned facilities and services. 

 
SECTION 4.171 GENERAL REGULATIONS – PROTECTION OF NATURAL FEATURES & OTHER 

RESOURCES 

(.02) General Terrain Preparation 

A. All developments shall be planned designed, constructed and 
maintained with maximum regard to natural terrain features and 
topography, especially hillside areas, floodplains, and other 
significant  land forms. 

B. All grading, filling and excavating done in connection with any 
development shall be in accordance with the Uniform Building Code, 
all development shall be planned, designed, constructed and 
maintained so as to: 

1. Limit the extent of disturbance of soils and site by grading, 
excavation and other land alterations. 

2. Avoid substantial probabilities of:  (1) accelerated erosion; 
(2) pollution, contamination or siltation of lakes, rivers, 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 26 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

streams and wetlands; (3) damage to vegetation; (4) injury to 
wildlife and fish habitats. 

3. Minimize the removal of trees and other native vegetation 
that stabilize hillsides, retain moisture, reduce erosion, 
siltation and nutrient runoff, and preserve the natural scenic 
character. 

Response: The plan sheets located in Section IIIB demonstrate that the subject 
Preliminary Development Plan is designed with maximum regard to natural terrain 
features and topography.  The subject PDP does not contain hillside or flood plain 
areas.  The Grading and Erosion Control Plan shows proposed grading within the 
subject area and the Tree Preservation Plan shows proposed tree preservation.   

All subsequent grading, filling and excavating will be done in accordance with the 
Uniform Building Code.  Disturbance of soils and removal of trees and other native 
vegetation will be limited to the extent necessary to construct the proposed 
development.  Construction will occur in a manner that avoids substantial probabilities 
of accelerated erosion; pollution, contamination or siltation of lakes, rivers, streams 
and wetlands; damage to vegetation; and injury to wildlife and fish habitats.   
 
(.03) Hillsides:  All developments proposed on slopes greater than 25% shall be 

limited to the extent that: 

Response: The subject Preliminary Development Plan does not include any areas 
of slopes in excess of 25%.  Therefore, this standard does not apply to this application. 

 
(.04) Trees and Wooded Areas. 

A. All developments shall be planned, designed, constructed and 
maintained so that: 

1. Existing vegetation is not disturbed, injured, or removed 
prior to site development and prior to an approved plan for 
circulation, parking and structure location. 

2. Existing wooded areas, significant clumps/groves of trees and 
vegetation, and all trees with a diameter at breast height of 
six inches or greater shall be incorporated into the 
development plan and protected wherever feasible. 

3. Existing trees are preserved within any right-of-way when 
such trees are suitably located, healthy, and when approved 
grading allows. 

B. Trees and woodland areas to be retained shall be protected during 
site preparation and construction according to City Public Works 
design specifications, by: 

1. Avoiding disturbance of the roots by grading and/or 
compacting activity. 

2. Providing for drainage and water and air filtration to the roots 
of trees which will be covered with impermeable surfaces. 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 27 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
   

3. Requiring, if necessary, the advisory expertise of a registered 
arborist/horticulturist both during and after site preparation. 

4. Requiring, if necessary, a special maintenance, management 
program to insure survival of specific woodland areas of 
specimen trees or individual heritage status trees. 

Response: The Tree Preservation Plan, located in Section IIIB, depicts existing 
trees within the subject area and identifies trees to be retained and to be removed.  
This application includes a request for approval of a Type “C” Tree Removal Plan, 
which can be found in Section VI of this Notebook.   

Section VI includes the Tree Report prepared by Morgan Holen addressing existing 
trees and development impacts within the subject area, a tree inventory and tree 
mitigation details. Trees within the retained wetland have not been inventoried and 
are preserved. The information contained in Section VI demonstrates that the subject 
Preliminary Development Plan is designed to incorporate trees with a diameter at 
breast height of six inches or greater into the plan where feasible. In addition, existing 
trees rated “Good” have been retained to the extent feasible within the area 
addressed by this PDP. No trees rated “Important” are located on site. Trees that are 
retained, as identified in the Tree Preservation Plan, will be protected during site 
preparation and construction in accordance with City Public Works design 
specifications and Section 4.171(.04). 

 
(.05) High Voltage Power line Easements and Rights of Way and Petroleum 

Pipeline Easements: 

A. Due to the restrictions placed on these lands, no residential 
structures shall be allowed within high voltage powerline easements 
and rights of way and petroleum pipeline easements, and any 
development, particularly residential, adjacent to high voltage 
powerline easements and rights of way and petroleum pipeline 
easement shall be carefully reviewed. 

B. Any proposed non-residential development within high voltage 
powerline easements and rights of way and petroleum pipeline 
easements shall be coordinated with and approved by the Bonneville 
Power Administration, Portland General Electric Company or other 
appropriate utility, depending on the easement or right of way 
ownership. 

Response: This Preliminary Development Plan does not contain any high voltage 
powerline or petroleum pipeline easements or rights of way.   

 
(.06) Hazards to Safety: Purpose: 

A. To protect lives and property from natural or human-induced 
geologic or hydrologic hazards and disasters. 

B. To protect lives and property from damage due to soil hazards. 

C. To protect lives and property from forest and brush fires. 

D. To avoid financial loss resulting from development in hazard areas. 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 28 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

Response: Development of the subject area will occur in a manner that minimizes 
potential hazards to safety. 

 
(.07) Standards for Earth Movement Hazard Areas: 

A. No development or grading shall be allowed in areas of land 
movement, slump or earth flow, and mud or debris flow, except 
under one of the following conditions. 

Response: Development of the subject area will occur in a manner that minimizes 
potential hazards to safety.  No earth movement hazard areas have been identified 
within the subject PDP area. 
 
(.08) Standards for Soil Hazard Areas: 

A. Appropriate siting and design safeguards shall insure structural 
stability and proper drainage of foundation and crawl space areas for 
development on land with any of the following soil conditions:  wet 
or high water table; high shrink-swell capability; compressible or 
organic; and shallow depth-to-bedrock. 

B. The principal source of information for determining soil hazards is 
the State DOGAMI Bulletin 99 and any subsequent bulleting and 
accompanying maps.  Approved site-specific soil studies shall be used 
to identify the extent and severity of the hazardous conditions on 
the site, and to update the soil hazards database accordingly. 

Response: Development of the subject area will occur in a manner that minimizes 
potential hazards to safety.  No soil hazard areas have been identified within the 
subject area. 

 
(.09) Historic Protection: Purpose: 

A. To preserve structures, sites, objects, and areas within the City of 
Wilsonville having historic, cultural, or archaeological significance. 

Response: A Historic/ Cultural Resource Inventory has been provided with the 
concurrent SAP North amendment.  
 
SECTION 4.172  FLOOD PLAIN REGULATIONS 

Response: The subject PDP does not include any flood plain areas. 
 
SECTION 4.176  LANDSCAPING, SCREENING & BUFFERING 

Response: Landscaping will be provided in accordance with the standards in 
Section 4.176.  The Street Tree/Lighting Plan depicts street trees along rights-of-way 
within the subject Preliminary Development Plan area. The plan has been developed 
in conformance with the Community Elements Book and the applicable standards of 
Section 4.176.  Landscaping in the park areas will be reviewed with the concurrent 
FDP application in Section VII of this Notebook. 
 



 
PDP  3 - NORTH  PAGE 29 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
   

SECTION 4.177 STREET IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS  

Response: The rights-of-way proposed within the subject PDP are shown on the 

plan sheets in Section IIIB.  Rights-of-way will be dedicated and a waiver of 
remonstrance against the formation of a local improvement district will be recorded 
with the final plat.   

The plan sheets located in Section IIIB demonstrate that all proposed access drives 
(alleys) within the PDP area will have a minimum improvement width of 16 feet and 
will provide two-way travel.  All access drives will be constructed with a hard surface 
capable of carrying a 23-ton load.  Easements for fire access will be dedicated as 
required by the fire department.  All access drives will be designed to provide a clear 
travel lane free from any obstructions.   

Clear vision areas will be maintained in accordance with the standards of Subsection 
4.177(.01)(I).  Vertical clearance will be maintained over all streets and access drives 
in accordance with Subsection 4.177(.01)(J).   
 
SECTION 4.178  SIDEWALK & PATHWAY STANDARDS 

(.01) Sidewalks.  All sidewalks shall be concrete and a minimum of five (5) feet 
in width, except where the walk is adjacent to commercial storefronts.  In 
such cases, they shall be increased to a minimum of ten (10) feet in width. 

(.02) Pathways 

A. Bicycle facilities shall be provided using a bicycle lane as the 
preferred facility design.  The other facility designs listed will only 
be used if the bike lane standard cannot be constructed due to 
physical or financial constraints.  The alternative standards are listed 
in order of preference. 

1. Bike lane.  This design includes 12-foot minimum travel lanes 
for autos and paved shoulders, 5-6 feet wide for bikes, that 
are striped and marked as bicycle lanes.  This shall be the 
basic standard applied to bike lanes on all arterial and 
collector streets in the City, with the exception of minor 
residential collectors with less than 1,500 (existing or 
anticipated) vehicle trips per day. 

Response: The PDP plan sheets located in Section IIIB (see the Circulation Plan) 
depict cross-sections of the proposed sidewalks and pathways in compliance with the 
above standards and the concurrent Specific Area Plan – North Amendment. 
 
SECTION 4.610.40 TYPE C PERMIT 

A request for approval of the Tree Removal Plan for PDP 3 North can be found in 
Section VI of this Notebook. 
 
 

II. PROPOSAL SUMMARY & CONCLUSION 

This Supporting Compliance Report demonstrates compliance with the applicable 
requirements of the Village Zone and other applicable requirements of the City of 
Wilsonville Planning & Land Development Ordinance for the requested Preliminary 



PDP  3 - NORTH PAGE 30 
Supporting Compliance Report January 31, 2014 

Development Plan.  Therefore, the applicant requests approval of this application.  
Concurrent applications for Annexation, Tentative Plat, Zone Change, Tree Removal 
Plan, and Final Development Plan are included in this notebook as Sections II, IV, V, 
VI, and VII, respectively, pursuant to City requirements.   



IIIB
Reduced Drawings



Cover Sheet

TL 1200, 1202 & 1205, TOWNSHIP 3 SOUTH, RANGE 1 WEST, SECTION 15 W.M.
CITY OF WILSONVILLE, OREGON

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

EXISTING STRUCTURE
TYP.

EXISTING EDGE
OF PAVEMENT

SROZ 25'
IMPACT AREA

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE FILLED

SROZ

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Existing
Conditions

EX AIR RELEASE VALVE

EX BLOW-OFF
EX WATER VALVE

EX WATER METER
EX FIRE HYDRANT

EX STORM CLEANOUT

EX AREA DRAIN

EX SANITARY CLEANOUT
EX STORM MANHOLE

EX SANITARY MANHOLE

EX BURIED POWER LINE
EX GAS LINE
EX WATER LINE
EX STORM DRAIN
EX SANITARY SEWER

EASEMENT LINES

EX OVERHEAD POWER LINE

EX TELEPHONE LINE
EX CABLE TV LINE

EX GAS VALVE
EX CABLE RISER
EX TELEPHONE RISER

EX 1-FOOT CONTOURS
EX 5-FOOT CONTOURS

EXISTING FENCEX

EX TREES

EX LIGHT POLE

EXISTING RIGHT-OF-WAY

EXISTING SIDEWALK

EXISTING CENTERLINE
EXISTING PROPERTY LINE
EXISTING BOUNDARY LINE

S

D

EX CURB INLET

C

T



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

(
F

U
T

U
R

E
 
D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
)

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

5

16
11 12 13 14 15

7

6

2

4

3

1

9 10

8

55

51

50

49
58

54

56

53

57

52

20

23

22

21

18

19

17

2625 2724

28

29

30

31

32

37 36 35 34 3338

42 43 4439 40 41

77

76

78

79
80 81 82 83 84

71 70

75

74 73 72

6965 66 67 6864

48

46

45

63 62 61 60 59

47

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Aerial
Photograph



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

15.00'
EASEMENT

6.00'
PUE

3.00'
PUE

55.00'

55.00'

55.00'

55.00'

55.00'

40.50'

55.00'

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

(
F

U
T

U
R

E
 
D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
)

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG LG

LG

LG

STD

STD STD

LG

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M
M

M

M

M

M

M
M

M

M

M

M M

M

M

M M

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM
SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

OS

L/G

L/G

FUTURE

DEVELOPMENT

OPEN SPACE 2

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM
SM

LG

L/G

PP

L/G

10
5,747 SF

8
6,171 SF

77
2,400 SF

26
3,358 SF

5
6,000 SF

55
7,856 SF

76
2,400 SF

78
2,400 SF

79
2,791 SF

80
2,539 SF

81
3,075 SF

82
2,400 SF

83
3,075 SF

84
2,736 SF

28
3,186 SF

29
2,934 SF

30
3,102 SF

31
3,085 SF

32
3,158 SF

37
2,400 SF

36
3,075 SF

35
2,400 SF

34
3,075 SF

33
2,539 SF

38
3,411 SF

42
2,400 SF

43
3,075 SF

44
2,539 SF

39
3,411 SF

40
2,400 SF

41
3,075 SF

20
3,321 SF

25
3,358 SF

27
3,635 SF

24
3,675 SF

23
3,609 SF

22
3,268 SF

21
3,294 SF

18
3,373 SF

19
3,347 SF

17
3,837 SF

48
3,921 SF

46
3,690 SF

45
3,921 SF

69
3,589 SF

65
3,675 SF

66
3,675 SF

67
3,675 SF

68
3,675 SF

64
3,583 SF

63
3,702 SF

62
3,675 SF

61
3,675 SF

60
3,675 SF

59
3,589 SF

47
3,690 SF

51
6,261 SF

50
5,400 SF

49
6,261 SF

58
5,000 SF

54
7,366 SF

56
5,000 SF

53
6,000 SF

57
5,000 SF

52
6,000 SF

16
6,071 SF

11
6,000 SF

12
6,000 SF

13
6,000 SF

14
6,000 SF

7
6,000 SF

6
6,000 SF

2
6,000 SF

4
6,000 SF

3
6,000 SF

71
3,075 SF

70
2,736 SF

75
2,775 SF

74
2,539 SF

73
3,075 SF

72
2,400 SF

1
6,481 SF

TRACT "H"
9,111 SF

TRACT "L"
9,133 SF

TRACT "G"
8,112 SFTRACT "M"

42,711 SF

TRACT "N"
3,559 SF

TRACT "F"
3,091 SF

TRACT "E"
1,177 SF

TRACT "D"
11,123 SF

TRACT "J"
1,126 SF

TRACT "B"
6,018 SF

TRACT "K"
7,292 SF

TRACT "A"
21,194 SF

108.7'

10
5.

1'

45
.8

'
15

.7
'

15
.9

'

75
3.

5'

558.8'

17
.5

'
12

.5
'

10
0.

0'
55

.0
'

29
8.

8'

0.9'

88.9'

13
.9

'
20

.0
'

75
.0

'
3.

7'
82

.0
'

21
.3

'
32

.0
'

34
.0

'
34

.0
'

34
.6

'
40

.9
'

13
.4

'

695.0'

58.4'

29
.7

'

83
.7

'

21.2' 11.5'

16
6.

4'

77.2'

60.7' 21.2' 75.0' 20.0' 35.0' 41.0' 32.0' 41.0' 23.5' 21.2'

61
.5

'
20

.0
'

61
.5

'

21
.2'

23.5'41.0'32.0'41.0'20.0'51.9'23.2'

82.8'

15
.7

' 48.4'

39
.1

'
32

.0
'

32
.0

'
32

.0
'

37
.0

'

75.0'

75.0'

75.0'

75.0'

37
.0

'
32

.0
'

32
.0

'
32

.0
'

37
.0

'

55
.0

'

31.4'

15.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

32.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

37.0'

37.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

32.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

15.0'

31
.4'

55
.0

'

86.7'20.0'35.0'41.0'32.0'41.0'32.0'32.5'

21.2'

61
.5

'
20

.0
'

61
.5

'
21

.2'
32.5' 32.0' 41.0' 32.0' 41.0' 35.0' 20.0' 78.7' 21.4'

35
.0

'

90.5'

34
.0

'

91.0'

34
.0

'

91.5'

32
.0

'

91.9'

35
.0

'

55
.0

'

31
.4

'

15.0'

75
.0

'

55
.0

'

31.4'

15.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

46.0'

32.0' 41.0'

32.0' 41.0'

41.0'32.0'

41.0'32.0'

46.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

649.3'

527.4'

52.2'

54
1.

5'

21.2'

11.5'

87.5'

22.4'

15
.5

'
2.

8'

32
.1

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

17
.7

'
7.

4'
41

.9
'

37
.2'

37.2' 33.8' 7.4' 20.7' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0'

10
0.

0'

L/G

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

90
.1

'75
.7

'

39.1'

91.3'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

65
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

65
.0

'

90
.6

'

38.7' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 61.4'

21
.2

'

72
.0

'

7.
5'1

0.2' 11.9'

15.5'

12.1' 49.0' 49.0' 49.0' 49.0' 20.0' 76.5'

21.2'

30
.5

'
41

.0
'

41
.0

'
30

.5
'

21
.2

'

76.5'20.0'49.0'49.0'49.0'49.0'49.0'43.1'

25.8'

60
.5

'

35.5'

28.4'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0' 49.0'

49.0'

29.0'

29.0'
31.4'

55
.0

'

44
.0

'
41

.0
'

41
.0

'

31
.4

'
55

.0
'

44
.0

'

90.0'

90.0'

90.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'
73

.8
'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

25.8'

87
.0

'

96
.6

'

16.6' 46.5' 60.0' 60.0' 76.5'

21.2'

56
.5

'
60

.0
'

56
.5

'

21
.2'

76.5'50.0'50.0'50.0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

70
.0

'

90.0'

30
.0

'
30

.0
'

90.0'

70
.0

'

50.0'10.0'

10
0.

0'

40.0'20.0'

10
0.

0'

30.0'61.6'

23.0'66.0'

21
.2

'

35
.5

'
43

.0
'

43
.0

'
43

.0
'

43
.0

'
43

.0
'

49
.0

'
20

.0
'

75
.0

'
3.

5'

21.2'

159.4' 21
.0

'

47.9'44.8'44.8'49.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

49.0'44.8'44.8'49.0'

69.5'25.6'

55.3' 31
.1

'
29

.3
'

75.7'

76.3'

43
.0

'
43

.0
'

76.9'

43
.0

'

77.5'

43
.0

'

78.1'

43
.0

'

78.8'

49
.0

'

TRACT "C"
1,500 SF

15
6,000 SF

9
5,571 SF

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Preliminary
Plat



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

SROZ 25'
IMPACT AREA

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE FILLED

BIO-RETENTION
CELL, TYP.

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Grading
Plan



SD
SD

SD

SD
SD

SD

SD SD SD

SD

SD

SD

SS

SS

SD
SS SS

SS SS
SD SD

SD
SD

SS

SD

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SD
SD

SD
SD

SD SD
SD

SS SS SS SS
SD

SD
SS

SS
SD SD SD

SS SS SS SS
SD

SS
SS

SS

SS SS
SS SS

SS

SD SD SD

W

W

W W W W W W W W W W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W W W W W W W W W W W

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W W W W W

W W W W W W

SD
W

SS

SD
SS

SS SSSD

SD SD SD SD
SD

SD

SD
SD

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SD
SD

SD

S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

15.00'
EASEMENT

CONNECT TO
EXISTING 18" WATER

CONNECT TO
EXISTING 12" STORM

SEWER

EXISTING 48" WATER

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

BIORETENTION CELL
BIORETENTION CELL

TYP.

EXISTING WETLAND

OFF SITE
IMPROVEMENTS

CONNECT SANITARY TO
EXISTING 8" SANITARY IN
BERLIN AVE

CONNECT UTILITIES TO
EXISTING UTILITIES IN
PALERMO ST CONSTRUCTED WITH
TONQUIN WOODS NO. 3

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Composite
Utility
Plan



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

O

A

D

TOOZE RD

(BY OTHERS)

MAILBOX KIOSK

MAILBOX KIOSK

SECONDARY
SITE IDENTIFIER

ENHANCED PARTIAL
VIEW FENCE

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Circulation
Plan &

Street Sections



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG LG

LG

LG

STD

STD STD

LG

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M
M

M

M

M

M

M
M

M

M

M

M M

M

M

M M

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM
SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

OS

L/G

L/G

FUTURE

DEVELOPMENT

OPEN SPACE 2

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM
SM

LG

L/G

PP

L/G

L/G

OFFSITE

IMPROVEMENTS

77

26

5 55

76

78

79
80 81 82 83 84

28

29

30

31

32

37 36 35 34 3338

42 43 4439 40 41

20

25 2724

23

22

21

18

19

17

48

46

45
6965 66 67 6864

63 62 61 60 59

47

51

50

49
58

54

56

53

57

52

16
11 12 13 14

7

6

2

4

3

71 70

75

74 73 72

1

10

8

TRACT "L"

TRACT "M"

TRACT "N"

TRACT "F"

TRACT "E"
TRACT "J"

TRACT "B"

TRACT "A"

TRACT "C"

15
9

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Site/Land Use
Plan

FOR TYPICAL LOT PLANS

SEE SHEET 9.



64'-89'

32'-40'

3' PUE

6' PUE
12'

8'

5'
5'

3'-5'

71'-90'

41'-49'

3' PUE

6' PUE8'
12'

8' MIN
STREET SIDE

5'

3'-5'

90'-110'

5' MIN

5' 5'

6' PUE8'
12'

50'-59'

20'

5'

90'-120'

60'-80'

5' MIN

6' PUE
8'

12'

5'

5'

20'

5'

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Typical
Lot Plans

ASTERISK DENOTES
ACTIVE SIDE OF HOUSE
TYP.



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

TREES WITHIN
EXISTING WETLAND
NOT EXAMINED AND
TO BE RETAINED

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

M

M

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Tree
Preservation

Plan

CLASSIFICATION METHOD:

TREES WERE RATED BASED ON THE FOLLOWING

CONSIDERATIONS:

1. HEALTH

2. SPECIES (NATIVES WITH HABITAT AND ECOSYSTEM

VALUE)

3. COMPATIBILITY WITH DEVELOPMENT

4. FORM / VISUAL INTEREST / MATURE SIZE

TREES RANKED AS IMPORTANT WERE RATED HIGH IN

ALL FOUR AREAS.

TREES IN THE GOOD CATEGORY HAD GOOD HEALTH

AND WERE A DESIRABLE SPECIES, BUT HAD

IRREGULAR FORM OR LESS COMPATIBILITY WITH

DEVELOPMENT.

TREES IN THE MODERATE CATEGORY HAD GOOD TO

MODERATE HEALTH AND FORM, BUT WERE A LESS

DESIRABLE SPECIES OR MAY BE LESS COMPATIBLE

WITH DEVELOPMENT.

TREES IN THE POOR CATEGORY HAD POOR HEALTH

AND/OR SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE.

THE INTENT OF THE PLAN IS TO RETAIN AND

INCORPORATE THE MAXIMUM QUANTITY OF TREES

WITH IMPORTANT, GOOD, AND MODERATE

CLASSIFICATIONS.  THE FOLLOWING CLASSIFICATION

SYSTEM WAS USED:

NOTES

ALL CONSTRUCTION AND GRADING WITHIN TREE

PROTECTION ZONE IS TO BE COMPLETED UNDER

DIRECT SUPERVISION OF PROJECT ARBORIST.

CONTACT: MORGAN HOLEN

PHONE: 503-646-4349

NOTES:

1.  THE INFORMATION PROVIDED WITHIN THE

PROJECT BOUNDARY IS BASED ON AN ON-SITE

EVALUATION OF THE EXISTING TREES BY

ARBORIST MORGAN HOLAN AND WAS PROVIDED IN

A TREE REPORT DATE JANUARY 28, 2014 INCLUDED

WITH THE APPLICATION MATERIALS.

2. RETAINED TREES WITHIN THE WETLAND HAVE NOT

BEEN EXAMINED.



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Street Tree
Plan



SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

SROZ BOUNDARY

3,535 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/PDP 2 NORTH
(PHASE 2)

25' IMPACT AREA

663 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT

DONE W/ PDP 1

325 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT

W/ PDP 3N

4,610 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N 7,122 SF

SROZ ENCROACHMENT
DONE W/PDP 2N (PHASE 1)

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED

SROZ BOUNDARY

25' IMPACT AREA 19,209 SF
MIXED OAK/FIR

27,003 SF
OAK

MITIGATION
AREA

1,988 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N
ADDITIONAL IMPACTS

113 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N
ADDITIONAL IMPACTS

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

SROZ
Plan



IIIC  
Utility and Drainage Reports 











































































































































































































































































































































































IIID
Traffic Analysis





   
   
 

Villebois SAP North PDP 3 Transportation Review 
March 14, 2014 
Page 2 of 3 

Table 1: Master Plan Approved SAP North Trip Generation (based on assumed trip generation rates) 

 

In 2013, a phasing amendment proposed that SAP North would include 423 single family units, 31 
condo/townhouse units, and 10 apartment units for a total of 464 residential units. As shown in Table 2, the 
proposed land uses would generate 449 (284 in, 165 out) p.m. peak hour trips, which would only result in 2 
additional p.m. peak hour trips as compared with the prior Master Plan approval.  

Table 2: Proposed SAP North Trip Generation 

 

SAP North PDP 3 Trip Generation 

SAP North is broken into approximately seven PDPs, with the current phase being PDP 3 (i.e. the 3rd phase). Prior 
transportation studies determined that SAP North PDP 1 would generate 137 (87 in, 50 out) p.m. peak hour trips 
and that SAP North PDP2 would generate approximately 91 (57 in, 34 out) p.m. peak hour trips. 

It is currently proposed that PDP 3 consist of 84 single‐family residential units. This is 17 units less than the 101 
units that were proposed for PDP 3 in the 2013 phasing amendment. Table 3 shows the estimated trip 
generation for PDP 3 based on the revised unit count. As shown, the 84 proposed single family detached 
residential units planned for PDP 3 would generate approximately 85 (54 in, 31 out) p.m. peak hour trips. The 

Land Use (ITE Code)  Size  Average Trip Generation Rate 
Number of New Trips 

In  Out  Total 

Single Family Units (210)  252 units  1.01 trips/unit  161  94  255 

Condo/Townhome (230)  71 units  0.52 trips/unit  25  12  37 

Apartments (220)  30 units  0.62 trips/unit  12  7  19 

Shopping Center (820)  5 KSF  3.75 trips/KSF  9  10  19 

School  47 KSF  3 trips/KSF  73  68  141 

Total Trips  280  191  471 

Internal Tripsa    ‐9  ‐9  ‐18 

Pass‐By Tripsb    ‐3  ‐3  ‐6 

Net New Trips  268  179  447 
a Internal trip rates from ITE’s Trip Generation Manual, 9th Edition, 2012. 5% of school trips assumed to be internal.
b 34% of external shopping center trips 

Land Use (ITE Code)  Size  Average Trip Generation Rate 
Number of New Trips 

In  Out  Total 

Single Family Units (210)  423 units  1.01 trips/unit  269  158  427 

Condo/Townhome (230)  31 units  0.52 trips/unit  11  5  16 

Apartments (220)  10 units  0.62 trips/unit  4  2  6 

Total Trips  284  165  449 



   
   
 

Villebois SAP North PDP 3 Transportation Review 
March 14, 2014 
Page 3 of 3 

decrease in the proposed number of units would result in 17 p.m. peak hour trips less than what was estimated 
for the 2013 phase amendment (15 less than the Master Plan approval). 

Table 3: PDP 2 P.M. Peak Hour Trip Generation 

 

Site Plan Evaluation 

DKS reviewed the current site plan provided by the project sponsor, and the site plan comments are 
summarized below: 

 Roadway Alignment: SW Rome Avenue should be aligned with the alley to the north, which is 
currently shown offset to the east by approximately 50 feet. This may be accomplished by shifting 
two of the lots from the east to the west side of SW Rome Avenue. 

Summary 

A summary of key findings relating to the SAP East PDP 3E review include the following: 

 The proposed current phase for SAP North (PDP 3) consists of 84 single family detached units which 
are expected to generate 85 (54 in, 31 out) p.m. peak hour trips. This would result in 17 p.m. peak 
hour trips less than what was estimated for the 2013 phase amendment and 15 less than the Master 

Plan approval. Therefore, it is within approved levels. 

 SW Rome Avenue should be aligned with the alley to the north, which is currently shown offset to 
the east by approximately 50 feet. This may be accomplished by shifting two of the lots from the east 
to the west side of SW Rome Avenue. 

 

Please let us know if you have any questions or comments. 

Land Use (ITE Code)  Number of Units  Average Trip Generation Rate 
Number of New Trips 

In  Out  Total 

Single Family Units (210)  84  1.01 trips/unit  54  31  85 

TOTAL  84  ‐  54  31  85 



Villebois SAP North PDP 3 Transportation Review 

Appendix 



Villebois (updated 1/28/14)

Land Use Table
LAND USE SAP NORTH SAP SOUTH SAP EAST SAP CENTRAL TOTAL

Estate 22 0 0 0 22

Large 41 104 0 0 145

Standard 22 68 49 0 139

Medium 89 127 112 0 328

subtotal 174 299 161 0 634

Small Detached 214 158 226 8 606

Small Attached / 

Cottage
49 0 147 9 205

Rowhouse 0 103 42 138 283

Nbhd Apartments 10 21 0 0 31

Village Apartments 0 0 0 411 411

Condos 0 0 0 124 124

Urban Apartments 0 0 0 90 90

Mixed Use Condos 0 0 0 104 104

Specialty Condos 0 0 0 127 127

subtotal 273 282 415 1,011 1,981

TOTAL UNITS 447 581 576 1,011 2,615

K:\07 Reference Documents\Villebois Tracking\Villebois Units Counts Tracking Sheets-2014 (PDP 3N ~ Rumpf).2014-01-28 printed 1/28/2014



SAP North (updated 1/28/14)

Existing (reflects proposed phasing amendment)

Product Type PDP 1N** PDP 2N*** 3N 3A N 4N 5N 6N* Total

Estate 0 0 0 0 2 15 5 22

Large 0 0 2 1 8 8 3 22

Standard 2 10 16 0 0 0 5 33

Medium 30 6 22 4 6 0 17 85

Small 98 37 30 4 7 0 36 212

Small Cottage 12 37 0 0 0 0 0 49

Row House 0 0 31 0 0 0 0 31
Nbhd Apartment 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 10

Total 142 90 101 9 23 23 76 464

* Includes PDP 6N units added back due to School relocation to SAP East.

**Includes PDP 1 North modifications approved in 2011 & 2013.

***Includes PDP 2 North approved in 2013.

Proposed

Product Type PDP 1N** PDP 2N*** 3N 3A N 4N 5N 6N* Total

Estate 0 0 0 0 2 15 5 22

Large 0 0 21 1 8 8 3 41

Standard 2 10 5 0 0 0 5 22

Medium 30 6 26 4 6 0 17 89

Small 98 37 32 4 7 0 36 214

Small Cottage 12 37 0 0 0 0 0 49

Row House 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Nbhd Apartment 0 0 0 0 0 0 10 10

Total 142 90 84 9 23 23 76 447

K:\07 Reference Documents\Villebois Tracking\Villebois Units Counts Tracking Sheets-2014 (PDP 3N ~ Rumpf).2014-01-28 Printed 1/28/2014



SW
 G

R
AH

AM
'S

 F
ER

R
Y 

R
D

TOOZE RD

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 R
O

M
E

 A
V

E

S
W

 IC
E

LA
N

D
 L

N

S
W

 P
A

R
IS

 A
V

E

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG LG LG LG LG STD STD

STD STD STD

LG

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

MMMM

M

M

M

MMMMMM

M M M M M M

SMSM
SM

SM

SM

SM

SM SM

SM SM SM SM SM SM

SM SM SM SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

OS

LT

LT

FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

OPEN SPACE 2

LG

LG
LGLGLG

LG

LG

LG

SM SM

SM SM SM SM SM

SM SM SM

LG

LT

PP

LT

LT

OFFSITE
IMPROVEMENTS

77

26

5 55

76

78

79
80 81 82 83 84

28

29

30

31

32

37 36 35 34 3338

42 43 4439 40 41

20

25 2724

23

22

21

18

19

17

48

46

45
6965 66 67 6864

63 62 61 60 59

47

51

50

49
58

54

56

53

57

52

16
11 12 13 14 15

7

6

2

4

3

71 70

75

74 73 72

1

9 10

8

TRACT "L"

TRACT "M"

TRACT "N"

TRACT "F"

TRACT "E"
TRACT "J"

TRACT "C"

TRACT "B"

TRACT "A"

Preliminary
Development Pla

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/

Site/Land Use
Plan

FOR TYPICAL LOT PLANS
SEE SHEET 9.



SW
 G

R
AH

AM
'S

 F
ER

R
Y 

R
D

TOOZE RD

SW
 B

EL
FA

ST
 L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 R
O

M
E

 A
V

E

S
W

 IC
E

LA
N

D
 L

N

S
W

 P
A

R
IS

 A
V

E

SW
 G

R
AH

AM
S 

FE
R

R
Y 

R
O

AD

TOOZE RD
(BY OTHERS)

MAILBOX KIOSK

MAILBOX KIOSK

SECONDARY
SITE IDENTIFIER

ENHANCED PARTIAL
VIEW FENCE

Preliminary
Development Pla

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/

Circulation
Plan &

Street Sections



IIIE  
Tree Report 



Villebois PDP 3 North – Wilsonville, Oregon 
Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 

January 30, 2014 
MHA1405 

Purpose 
This Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan for the Villebois Preliminary Development Plan (PDP) 3 
North project located in Wilsonville, Oregon, is provided pursuant to City of Wilsonville Development 
Code, Section 4.610.40. This arborist report describes the existing trees located on the project site, as 
well as recommendations for tree removal, retention, mitigation, and protection. This report is based on 
observations made by International Society of Arboriculture (ISA) Certified Arborist and Qualified Tree 
Risk Assessor Morgan Holen (PN‐6145A) during a site visit conducted on January 28, 2014.  

Scope of Work and Limitations 
Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC, was contracted by Polygon Northwest Company to visually assess 
existing trees measuring six inches in diameter and larger in terms of general condition and suitability 
for preservation with development, and to develop a tree maintenance and protection plan for the 
project. The site is planned for residential development. A site plan was provided by Pacific Community 
Design illustrating the location of trees and tree survey point numbers, and potential construction 
impacts.  

Visual Tree Assessment (VTA1) was performed on individual trees located across the site, except for a 
group of approximately 113 Oregon ash (Fraxinus latifolia) trees located with the wetland boundaries 
that are planned for preservation during construction. Trees were evaluated in terms species, size, 
general condition, and potential construction impacts, and treatment recommendations include retain, 
remove for construction or because of poor or hazardous condition, or likely to be removed due to 
construction impacts. Following the inventory fieldwork, we coordinated with Pacific Community Design 
to discuss and finalize treatment recommendations based on the proposed site plan. 

The client may choose to accept or disregard the recommendations contained herein, or seek additional 
advice. Neither this author nor Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC, have assumed any responsibility for 
liability associated with the trees on or adjacent to this site. 

General Description 
The Villebois PDP 3 North project site includes the Rumpf and Taber properties located east of Graham’s 
Ferry Road and south of Tooze Road. Both properties have existing homes and open pastures. The 
existing trees are scattered across the site, but numerous trees are found around the Taber’s home and 
in the wetland on the Rumpf property.  

In all, 41 trees measuring 6‐inches and larger in diameter were inventoried including 18 tree species. 
Table 1 provides a summary of the count of trees by species. A complete description of individual trees 
is provided in the enclosed tree data.  

1 Visual Tree Assessment (VTA): The standard process of visual tree inspection whereby the inspector visually assesses the tree 
from a distance and up close, looking for defect symptoms and evaluating overall condition and vitality. 

9 7 1 . 4 0 9 . 9 3 5 4
3 Monroe Parkway, Suite P 220 

Lake Oswego, Oregon  97035 
morgan.holen@comcast.netConsulting Arborists and Urban Forest Management 



Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, Oregon 

January 30, 2014 
Page 2 

 

 

 

Table 1. Count of Trees by Species – Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, OR. 

Common Name  Species Name  Total  % 

Atlas cedar  Cedrus atlantica  1 2.44% 
black locust  Robinia Pseudoacacia  1 2.44% 
blue spruce  Populus trichocarpa  1 2.44% 
dogwood  Cornus spp.  1 2.44% 
Douglas‐fir  Pseudotsuga menziesii  9 21.95% 
English hawthorn  Crataegus monogyna  1 2.44% 
European white birch  Betula pendula  2 4.88% 
fruit  unknown  11 26.83% 
giant sequoia  Sequoiadendron giganteum  1 2.44% 
ginkgo  Ginkgo biloba  1 2.44% 
lodgepole pine  Pinus contorta  3 7.32% 
mimosa  Albizia julibrissin  1 2.44% 
Norway maple  Acer platanoides  1 2.44% 
Oregon white oak  Quercus garryana  1 2.44% 
ponderosa pine  Pinus ponderosa  3 7.32% 
Port‐Orford‐cedar  Chamaecyparis lawsoniana  1 2.44% 
red maple  Acer rubrum  1 2.44% 
western redcedar  Thuja plicata  1 2.44% 
Total  41  100% 

 
The tree inventory includes one (2.44%) Oregon white oak, but no native yews (Taxus spp.) or any 
species listed by either the state or federal government as rare or endangered were found on the site. 
The Oregon white oak, tree # 17236, is located in the northwest corner of the project site. This tree has 
codominant stems that are actively separating from one another; there is an obvious seam running from 
the open cavity to the ground and advanced stem and basal decay (photo 1).  
 

 
Photo 1. Tree #17239, an Oregon white oak, has codominant stems actively 

separating from one another and a hollow with advanced decay. 



Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, Oregon 

January 30, 2014 
Page 3 

Using the International Society of Arboriculture Best Management Practices for Tree Risk Assessment 
(2011), this tree has an imminent likelihood of failure and high likelihood of impacting a target, which 
means that the likelihood of failure and impact is very likely; considering that the consequences would 
be significant, this tree has high risk potential. Removal of this Oregon white oak is recommended 
because of hazardous condition and no reasonable risk abatement options are feasible. However, it is 
the property owner’s responsibility to determine the threshold level of risk they are willing to accept 
and Polygon is planning to retain this tree.  

Tree Plan Recommendations 
As described in the enclosed tree inventory data, individual trees were assigned a general condition 
rating as defined by the Villebois Specific Area Plan North Community Elements Book: 

P: Poor Condition 

M: Moderate Condition 

G: Good Condition 

I: Important Condition 

Note that none of the trees were classified as “Important”, however trees #10478, a 61‐inch diameter 
giant sequoia (Sequoiadendron giganteum), and #10499, a 27‐inch diameter Douglas‐fir, both classified 
in “Good” condition, were noted as being in excellent condition with long live crowns and no major 
defects. 

In addition to the 113 non‐inventoried Oregon ash trees located within the wetland boundaries that are 
planned for preservation, seven (17.1%) of the 41 inventoried trees are planned for preservation, 26 
(63.4%) are planned for removal, and eight (19.5%) trees in good condition are likely to be removed. 
Table 2 provides a summary of the count of trees by general condition rating and treatment 
recommendation. 

Table 2. Count of Trees by Treatment Recommendation and General Condition Rating. 

Treatment Recommendation 

General Condition Rating 

Total P  M  G 

Retain  2  5  7 (17.1%) 
Remove  8  13  5  26 (63.4%) 
Likely to be Removed  8  8 (19.5%) 

Total 
8 

(19.5%) 
15 

(36.6%) 
18

(43.9%)  41 (100%) 

Of the 26 trees planned for removal, 17 (65%) are recommended for removal because of condition and 
nine (35%) are recommended for removal for the purposes of construction, including five trees in good 
condition. 

The eight trees classified as likely to be removed shall be accounted for as removed for the purposes of 
mitigation, but re‐evaluated during construction in terms of long‐term sustainability, and retained or 
removed at that time. These trees will be protected during construction, but if the arborist determines 
that a tree is not sustainable with construction impacts, the arborist shall submit a brief memorandum 
to the City documenting the change in treatment recommendation to seek written authorization to 



Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, Oregon 

January 30, 2014 
Page 4 

 

 

 

proceed with removal and mitigation. If a tree likely to be removed is successfully protected throughout 
construction, no mitigation will be required for the tree.  
 
Mitigation Requirements 
All 41 inventoried trees are 6‐inches or larger in diameter, including seven trees planned for retention 
with protection throughout construction and 34 trees planned for removal because of condition and/or 
construction or are likely to be removed because of construction. Removal of these 34 trees requires 
mitigation per Section 4.620.00; removed trees shall be replaced on a basis of one tree planted for each 
tree removed. Therefore, 34 trees measuring at least 2‐inch in diameter shall be planted as mitigation 
for tree removal.    
 
Tree Protection Standards  
Trees designated for retention will need special consideration to assure their protection during 
construction. We highly recommend a preconstruction meeting with the owner, contractors, and project 
arborist to review tree protection measures and address questions or concerns on site. Tree protection 
measures include:  

 Fencing. Trees to remain on site shall be protected by installation of tree protection fencing to 
prevent injury to tree trunks or roots, or soil compaction within the root protection area, which 
generally coincides with tree driplines. Fences shall be 6‐foot high steel on concrete blocks or 
orange plastic construction fencing on metal stakes. The project arborist shall determine the 
exact location and type of tree protection fencing. Trees located more than 30‐feet from 
construction activity shall not require fencing.  

 Tree Protection Zone. Without authorization from the Project Arborist, none of the following 
shall occur beneath the dripline of any protected tree: 

1. Grade change or cut and fill; 
2. New impervious surfaces; 
3. Utility or drainage field placement; 
4. Staging or storage of materials and equipment; or 
5. Vehicle maneuvering. 

Root protection zones may be entered for tasks like surveying, measuring, and, sampling. Fences 
must be closed upon completion of these tasks.   

 Pruning. Pruning may be needed to provide for overhead clearance and to remove dead and 
defective branches for safety. The project arborist can help identify where pruning is necessary 
once trees recommended for removal have been removed and the site is staked and prepared 
for construction. Tree removal and pruning shall be performed by a Qualified Tree Service.  

 Excavation. Excavation beneath the dripline of protected trees shall be avoided if alternatives 
are feasible. Otherwise, the project arborist shall provide on‐site consultation during all 
excavation activities beneath the dripline of protected trees. Excavation immediately adjacent 
to roots larger than 2‐inches in diameter within the root protection zone of retained trees shall 
be by hand or other non‐invasive techniques to ensure that roots are not damaged. Where 
feasible, major roots shall be protected by tunneling or other means to avoid destruction or 
damage. Exceptions can be made if, in the opinion of the project arborist, unacceptable damage 
will not occur to the tree. Where soil grade changes affect the root protection area, the grade 



Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, Oregon 

January 30, 2014 
Page 5 

line should be meandered wherever practicable. This will require on‐site coordination to ensure 
a reasonable balance between engineering, construction, and the need for tree protection. 

 Surfacing. If surfacing is proposed beneath the dripline of protected trees, coordinate with the
project arborist to provide recommendations for adjustments to protection fencing and to
monitor construction in the tree protection zone. Avoid excavation and use a modified profile to
build up from existing grade (Figure 1). The profile includes a layer of permeable geotextile
fabric on the ground surface and crushed rock to raise the grade as needed. Surfacing may
include asphalt, concrete, or other materials. If excavation is necessary, work shall be performed
under arborist supervision.

 Landscaping. Following construction and where landscaping is desired, apply approximately 3‐
inches of mulch beneath the dripline of protected trees, but not directly against tree trunks.
Shrubs and ground covers may be planted within tree protection areas. If irrigation is used, use
drip irrigation only beneath the driplines of protected trees.

 Quality Assurance. The project arborist should supervise proper execution of this plan during
construction activities that could encroach on retained trees. Tree protection site inspection
monitoring reports should be provided to the Client and City on a regular basis throughout
construction.

Summary 
In summary, seven trees are planned for retention with construction (in addition to the approximately 
113 Oregon ash trees located within the wetland boundaries), an additional eight trees will be protected 
but are likely to be removed during construction, and 26 trees are recommended for removal either 
because of condition or for the purposes of construction. The 26 trees planned for removal will require 
mitigation on a one‐for‐one basis and the eight trees likely to be removed will require mitigation if 
removed.  

Thank you for choosing Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC, to provide consulting arborist services for the 
Villebois PDP 3 North project. Please contact us if you have questions or need any additional information. 
Thank you, 
Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC 

Morgan E. Holen, Owner
ISA Certified Arborist, PN‐6145A 
ISA Tree Risk Assessment Qualified 
Forest Biologist 

Enclosures:  Villebois PDP 3 North – Tree Data 1‐28‐14 



MHA1405 Villebois PDP 3 North ‐ Tree Data 1‐28‐14
Page 1 of 2

Tree 
No.

Point 
No. Common Name Species Name DBH* C‐Rad^ Cond# Condition & Comments Treatment

10442 17236 Oregon white oak Quercus garryana 60 M

codominant stems at 6' coming apart; 
advanced decay; high risk; remove for 

hazardous condition retain
10443 17237 English hawthorn Crataegus monogyna 16 M invasive species, poor structure remove ‐ construction
10444 17238 black locust Robinia pseudoacacia 18 G invasive species, dead branches remove ‐ construction

10463 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 45 M
poor crown structure, dead and broken 
branches remove ‐ construction

10464 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 26 24 G
codom branches, some included bark, 
appears stable retain

10465 ponderosa pine Pinus ponderosa 19 12 M
poor crown structure; retain with 
adjacent trees only retain

10466 Atlas cedar Cedrus atlantica 27 20 G numerous leaders retain
10467 lodgepole pine Pinus contorta 10 M small crown, sequoia pitch moth remove ‐ condition

10468 lodgepole pine Pinus contorta 9 P
poor crown structure, sequoia pitch 
moth remove ‐ condition

10469 lodgepole pine Pinus contorta 9 P
dead branches, poor crown structure, 
sequoia pitch moth remove ‐ condition

10470 ginkgo Ginkgo biloba 8 8 G no major defects retain
10471 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 32 16 G few broken branches likely to be removed
10472 blue spruce Picea pungens 15 M twig dieback, suspect adelgid remove ‐ condition
10473 Port‐Orford‐cedar Chamaecyparis lawsoniana 12 11 G no major defects remove ‐ construction

10473.1 dogwood Cornus  spp. 6 14 G
prune dominant trees for crown 
clearance if retained likely to be removed

10474 ponderosa pine Pinus ponderosa 21 12 G multiple leaders, sequoia pitch moth likely to be removed
10475 western redcedar Thuja plicata 28 16 G no major defects likely to be removed

10476 ponderosa pine Pinus ponderosa 21 10 M
multiple leaders, sequoia pitch moth, 
prune if retained remove ‐ construction

10477 Norway maple Acer platanoides 20 22 G invasive species remove ‐ construction

Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC
 Consulting Arborists and Urban Forest Management

3 Monroe Parkway, Suite P220, Lake Oswego, Oregon  97035
morgan.holen@comcast.net  |  971-409-9354



MHA1405 Villebois PDP 3 North ‐ Tree Data 1‐28‐14
Page 2 of 2

Tree 
No.

Point 
No. Common Name Species Name DBH* C‐Rad^ Cond# Condition & Comments Treatment

10478 giant sequoia Sequoiadendron giganteum 61 16 G
excellent condition, long live crown, no 
major defects remove ‐ construction

10479 mimosa Albizia julibrissin 20 P
codom stems at 1' coming apart, 
advanced basal and stem decay remove ‐ hazardous

10480 red maple Acer rubrum 15 18 G scaffold branch with included bark likely to be removed
10481 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 25 22 G broken top likely to be removed
10482 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 27 18 G few dead twigs likely to be removed
10483 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 22 16 G no major defects likely to be removed
10484 fruit unknown 20 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition
10485 fruit unknown 10 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition
10486 fruit unknown 5,6,8,9 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition
10487 fruit unknown 10,14 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition
10488 fruit unknown 13 G no major defects remove ‐ construction
10489 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 33 M codom stems, included bark, seam remove ‐ hazardous

10490 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 2*32 24 G
codom at 4', some included bark, 
appears stable retain

10491 European white birch Betula pendula 2*12 P invasive species, poor structure remove ‐ condition
10492 European white birch Betula pendula 8,2*12 P invasive species, poor structure remove ‐ condition
10493 fruit unknown 8 P branch and stem decay remove ‐ condition
10494 fruit unknown 10 P branch and stem decay remove ‐ condition
10495 fruit unknown 8 P stem decay, small live crown remove ‐ condition
10496 fruit unknown 12 M no major defects remove ‐ construction
10497 fruit unknown 8 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition
10498 fruit unknown 7 M no major defects remove ‐ condition

10499 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 27 20 G
excellent condition, long live crown, no 
major defects retain

^C‐Rad: Crown Radius, the distance from the center of the tree to the edge of the dripline (measured in feet)
#Condition Codes: I‐Important; G‐Good; M‐Moderate; P‐Poor

*DBH: Diameter at Breast Height (measured 4.5‐feet above ground level in inches); trees with multiple trunks splitting below DBH are measured separately and individual trunk measurements are separated

Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC
 Consulting Arborists and Urban Forest Management

3 Monroe Parkway, Suite P220, Lake Oswego, Oregon  97035
morgan.holen@comcast.net  |  971-409-9354



IIIF  
Conceptual Elevations 

































 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IIIG  

SRIR Addendum & 
Wetland Delineation Report 



 
 

PHASE 3 SAP NORTH 
SIGNIFICANT RESOURCE IMPACT REPORT ADDENDUM 

WILSONVILLE, OREGON 
T3S, R1W, SECTION 15, TAX LOTS 1200, 1202 and 1205  

CLACKAMAS COUNTY, W.M. 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared for 
 

Polygon Northwest Company 
109 East 13th Street 

Vancouver, Washington 98660 

 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by 
 

 
 

SWCA Environmental Consultants 
1220 SW Morrison Street, Suite 700 

Portland, Oregon 97205-2235 
503.224.0333 

www.swca.com 

 
 
 

 
 

March 2014 
 

SWCA Project No. 21087.11 
  



This page intentionally left blank. 



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 i 

CONTENTS 
 

INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................. 1 

EXISTING CONDITIONS ..................................................................................................................... 1 
SROZ and Impact Area Boundary ................................................................................................... 1 
Wetlands ........................................................................................................................................... 1 

PROPOSED IMPACTS .......................................................................................................................... 3 

MITIGATION PLAN ............................................................................................................................. 4 
Functional Assessment ..................................................................................................................... 4 
Upland Wildlife Habitat Mitigation ................................................................................................. 6 

LIST OF PREPARERS ........................................................................................................................... 6 
 

Attachments 
A. PDP 3N Preliminary Development Plan 
B. Site Photographs 
C. Wetland Delineation Report & 2007 Concurrence Letter 
 

Tables 
Table 1. Summary of proposed impacts and mitigation ............................................................................... 3 
Table 2. Wildlife habitat assessment summary for years 2000 and 2013 .................................................... 5 
Table 3. Summary of adverse ecological impacts ........................................................................................ 5 
 
  



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 ii 

This page intentionally left blank. 



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 1 

INTRODUCTION 

A Significant Resource Impact Report (SRIR) was submitted to the City of Wilsonville in March 
2013 for SAP South Plan Area 2. The SRIR included an accounting of the proposed encroachments 
into the SROZ and the proposed SROZ mitigation for multiple phases of the Villebois development 
including SROZ encroachment and mitigation for the Phase 3 North development. The preliminary 
site development plan for Phase 3 North has been developed (Attachment A), and this addendum 
includes slight revisions to the proposed SROZ encroachment. 

EXISTING CONDITIONS 

SROZ and Impact Area Boundary 

The location of the existing mapped Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) boundary and the 
25-foot Impact Area boundary is shown on the preliminary site development plan. The SROZ upland 
forest unit as a whole consists of a closed canopy Douglas-fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii) forest with 
Oregon white oak (Quercus garryana) present in the southern and eastern edges of the forest. The 
shrub layer in the Douglas-fir community consists of beaked hazelnut (Corylus cornuta), ornamental 
hawthorn (Crataegus monogyna), oso berry (Oemleria cerasiformis), thimbleberry (Rubus 
parviflorus), snowberry (Symphoricarpos albus), and scattered big leaf maple (Acer macrophyllum) 
seedlings. Groundcover is nearly 100% English ivy (Hedera helix), which is also growing on many 
tree trunks. Occasional areas of sword fern (Polystichum munitum) and California dewberry (Rubus 
ursinus) are present. Himalayan blackberry (Rubus armeniacus) is dominant in the forest edges and 
in the southern Oregon white oak community. The southern finger of the forest consists of an Oregon 
white oak canopy with a few Oregon ash (Fraxinus latifolia) and black cottonwood (Populus 
balsamifera) trees at the southernmost edge. 

The SROZ encroachment area along the north forest edge on the PDP 3N site consists of the shrubby 
forest edge and is comprised of beaked hazelnut, red elderberry, serviceberry, cherry, and English 
holly shrubs with English ivy in the understory. Site photographs are included in Attachment B. 

Wetlands 

Wetlands on the PDP 3N site were delineated by Pacific Habitat Services in 2007 under Oregon 
Department of State Lands (DSL) file number WD #2007-0706. The concurrence letter is dated May 
5, 2008. SWCA’s wetland investigation was conducted using the new DSL process of requesting a 
reissuance of a jurisdictional determination, which is allowed by DSL for projects seeking 
development permits within 1 year of the 5-year expiration date of May 5, 2013.  
 
The northern wetland “wetland A” is a very subtle depression and is difficult to see on the landscape. 
The wetland is dominated by colonial bent grass (Agrostis capillaris). We found no change in the 
previously delineated boundary of wetland A (0.37 acre), and we requested concurrence with the 
previously delineated boundary.  
 
The southern wetland “wetland B” is a circular depressional feature dominated by an Oregon ash 
canopy with bare soils. It was determined to be smaller, approximately 0.45 acre instead of the 0.52 
acre previously delineated. The wetland boundary follows the forested Oregon ash (Fraxinus 



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 2 

latifolia) perimeter and the edge of pugged soils. The wetland boundary was revised slightly to 
exclude small higher elevation areas along the edges and to conform with the geomorphic land form 
depression that is characteristic of Oregon ash forested wetlands. 
 
The wetland delineation report was submitted to DSL and the Corps in November 2013 and is 
currently undergoing review and concurrence. The wetland delineation report is included in 
Attachment C. The 2007 concurrence letter is included in Appendix B of the wetland delineation 
report. 
 
The two wetlands delineated on the site were not included in the study area for the City’s Natural 
Resource Inventory (Fishman Environmental Services 2000). The two wetlands are each less than 0.5 
acre in size and were not determined to be locally significant. According to the City’s SROZ 
requirements, a 50-foot vegetated corridor is required adjacent to significant wetlands that are 
mapped in the City’s inventory or meet the definition of a Metro Title 3 wetland, for areas where the 
slope adjacent to the wetland is less than 25%.  
 
Title 3 wetlands are defined in Chapter 3.07 of Metro’s Urban Grown Management Functional Plan 
as “wetlands of metropolitan concern as shown on the Metro Water Quality and Flood Management 
Area Map and other wetlands added to city or county adopted Water Quality and Flood Management 
Area maps consistent with the criteria in Title 3, section 3.07.340 (E) (3)” (Metro 2012).  
 
The criteria in Metro Title 3, section 3.07.340 (E) (3) are contained in the City’s development code 
section 4.139.10 (.02) as follows: 
 

A. The wetland is fed by surface flows, sheet flows or precipitation, and has evidence of 
flooding during the growing season, and has 60 percent or greater vegetated cover, and is 
over one-half acre in size; or the wetland qualifies as having intact water quality function 
under the 1996 Oregon Freshwater Wetland Assessment Methodology; or 
 
B. The wetland is in the Metro Title 3 Flood Management Area as corrected by the most 
current FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps, and has evidence of flooding during the growing 
season, and is five acres or more in size, and has a restricted outlet or no outlet; or the 
wetland qualifies as having intact hydrologic control function under the 1996 Oregon 
Freshwater Wetland Assessment Methodology; or 
 
C. The wetland or a portion of the wetland is within a horizontal distance of less than one-
fourth mile from a water body which meets the Department of Environmental Quality 
definition of water quality limited water body in OAR Chapter 340, Division 41 (1996). 
 
D. Created or restored wetlands that meet the requirements of Section 4.139.10(.02) shall be 
added to the Significant Resource Overlay Zone. [Added by Ord. # 674 11/16/09]  

 
 
Wetland A does not meet the City’s criteria for adding wetlands to the SROZ per the City’s 
development code section 4.139.10 (.02) based on the following site conditions of Wetland A: 

A) The wetland is fed by precipitation, does not display evidence of flooding during the 
growing season, and it is less than 0.5 acre in size. 

B) The wetland is not in the Metro Title 3 Flood Management Area as corrected by the most 
current FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps, it does not display evidence of flooding 
during the growing season, and it is less than 0.5 acre in size.  



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 3 

C) The wetland is not within a horizontal distance of less than 0.25 mile from a DEQ water 
quality limited water body. 

D) The wetland is not a created or restored wetland meeting the requirements of section 
4.139.10 (.02). 

 
Wetland B does not meet the City’s criteria for adding wetlands to the SROZ per the City’s 
development code section 4.139.10 (.02) based on the following site conditions of Wetland B: 

A) The wetland is fed by precipitation and it is less than 0.5 acre in size. 
B) The wetland is not in the Metro Title 3 Flood Management Area as corrected by the most 

current FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps and it is less than 0.5 acre in size.  
C) The wetland is not within a horizontal distance of less than 0.25 mile from a DEQ water 

quality limited water body. 
D) The wetland is not a created or restored wetland meeting the requirements of section 

4.139.10 (.02). 
 
On-site wetlands are not included on the City’s Natural Resource inventory and do not meet the 
City’s criteria for adding wetlands to the SROZ, and a vegetated corridor is not required adjacent to 
these wetlands. 

PROPOSED IMPACTS 

The Area of Limited Conflicting Use (ALCU) on the project site totals 430,988 square feet (SF), or 
9.89 acres. Impacts will occur to small portions of the wildlife habitat area along the west, north, and 
east edges of the upland forest. The area to be impacted within the Area of Limited Conflicting Use is 
18,356 SF (0.42 acre), or 4.3% of the total ALCU. The proposed mitigation area is located along the 
southern edge of the upland forest. The proposed wildlife habitat impact and mitigation areas are 
shown on the preliminary development plan in Attachment A. Table 1 summarizes the proposed 
function and ratios for enhancement to mitigate for impacts to upland wildlife habitat. 

Table 1. Summary of proposed impacts and mitigation  

Impact Type 
Impact 
Area  

 Phase  Mitigation 

Wildlife habitat 663 SF PDP 1  

46,212 SF of 
enhancement in 
southern portion of 
SROZ 

Wildlife habitat 3,535 SF PDP 2N  
Wildlife habitat 325 SF PDP 3N  
Wildlife habitat 4,610 SF PDP 3N  
Wildlife habitat 1,988 SF PDP 3N  
Wildlife habitat 113 SF PDP 3N  
Wildlife habitat 7,122 SF PDP 2N  
TOTAL  18,356 SF   

 

 
A series of nature trails and a nature trail activity area are proposed in the SROZ as shown on the 
preliminary site development plan.  The construction of these trails is exempt from the SROZ 
regulations and will be constructed in accordance with section 4.139.04 (.08) of the City’s 
development code. According to the City’s code, the construction of new pedestrian paths into the 
SROZ in order to provide access to the sensitive area or across the sensitive area is an exempt use, 



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 4 

provided the location of the crossing is consistent with the intent of the Wilsonville Comprehensive 
Plan and that paths are constructed so as to minimize and repair disturbance to existing vegetation 
and slope stability. The nature trail activity area is also an exempt use because it will correspond with 
the trail system and will be providing educational nature play opportunities. Impacts to the SROZ due 
construction of trails and the nature trail activity area will be minimized by careful field-siting of 
these features to minimize impacts to the SROZ. Trail locations shown on the preliminary 
development plan are general locations, and exact locations will be field located to ensure they are 
located to best minimize impacts to vegetation. Additional information regarding the design of the 
nature trail activity area will be included in the Final Development Plan. An Impact Area of 4,610 SF 
has been accounted for in relation to the nature play activity area to allow for a potential climbing 
structure or a more structured type of equipment should this be identified through the FDP review. 
 
In summary, the nature trails and the nature trail activity area are exempt per Section 4.139.04(.08), 
and the following measures will be implemented to ensure minimal impact to the adjacent SROZ. 
 

 Trails and the nature trail activity area will be field located to ensure no tree removal and no 
grading will occur, and they will be constructed in a way that will not impact the natural 
environment. 

 The nature trail activity area will be sited next to trails to contain activities within close 
proximity to trails. 

 Trails will be soft surface, and natural materials will be utilized for nature trail activity areas 
that will blend with the surrounding natural environment. 

 For safety purposes, any nature trail activity area that children may climb on will not exceed 
30 inches in height and will have wood chips placed within the fall zone. 

 Coordination with the City’s Natural Resources Program Manager will occur during field 
location and placement of nature trails and the nature trail activity area. 

 
Impacts to the SROZ would be mitigated through natural resource enhancement at a ratio of 2 ½: 1 
(mitigation:impact) in accordance with the mitigation standards in section 4.139.07 of the City’s 
development code. An SROZ mitigation planting plan was previously submitted to the City in 
December 2013 which contained planting specifications for the Douglas-fir community and the 
Oregon white oak savanna community. Tree and shrub quantities were calculated based on the size of 
the disturbance in the SROZ according to the method described in Section 4.139.07(.02)(E)(1)(b) of 
the SROZ Ordinance. The mitigation planting plan also included information regarding performance 
standards, plant installation, invasive species control, maintenance, and annual monitoring and 
reporting. There is no change to the information contained in the previously submitted mitigation 
planting plan. 

MITIGATION PLAN 

Functional Assessment 

Natural resource function ratings for the upland forest (URA#41U1) on the project site were assessed 
in 2000 for the City of Wilsonville’s Natural Resource Inventory and are summarized in Table 2. 
Existing conditions of the upland forest are similar to conditions in 2000, although English ivy and 
Himalayan blackberry cover has increased in the outer edges of the forest. The current wildlife 
habitat assessment ratings are also summarized Table 2.  

  



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 5 

Table 2. Wildlife habitat assessment summary for years 2000 and 2013 

Upland Habitat 
Function 

City’s 
Inventory 
Rating 
(2000) 

Comments 
Current 
Rating 
(2013)  

Comments 

Wildlife habitat High 
Intact, diverse 
structure, large 
size 

Medium 

Limited native 
understory due to large 
areas of English ivy on 
ground and on trees 

Water quality 
protection 

Low 
No adjacent 
water 

Low No adjacent water 

Ecological 
integrity 

Medium 
Some ivy 
present 

Medium 
Increased invasive 
species in forest edges 

Connectivity Low 
Surrounded by 
agricultural 
lands 

Low 
Surrounded by 
agricultural lands and 
residential development 

Uniqueness Low -- Low -- 

 

Minimal adverse impacts to significant wildlife habitat resources and ecological integrity may result 
from minor encroachment by access roads along the forest edge and by inclusion of a trail system in 
the eastern edge of the forest interior. These impacts are summarized in Table 3.  

Table 3. Summary of adverse ecological impacts 

Upland 
Habitat 
Function 

Anticipated 
Adverse 
Impact? 

Comments 

Wildlife habitat 

No Minor impacts to the interior forest habitat will occur due to 
construction of a trail connection. The wildlife habitat function of 
forest interior habitat has been reduced since the 2000 inventory 
due to ongoing encroachment of invasive species. Invasive 
species will be removed and native shrubs will be planted to 
improve the quality of this function. 

Water quality 
protection 

No This function is currently low, and development is not anticipated 
to result in a change to this function. 

Ecological 
integrity 

No Minor impacts to the ecological integrity of interior forest habitat 
may occur due to the potential for introduction of invasive species 
along the edges of the trail. The ecological integrity of the forest 
has been affected due to encroachment of invasive species. 
Invasive species will be removed and native shrubs will be 
planted to improve the quality of this function. 

Connectivity 
No This function is currently low due to surrounding agricultural 

fields, roads, and residential development, and no change will 
occur due to site development.. 

Uniqueness 
No This function is currently low, and no change will occur due to site 

development. 



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 6 

Upland Wildlife Habitat Mitigation 

As previously stated, an SROZ mitigation planting plan was submitted to the City in December 2013 
which contained planting specifications and mitigation performance standards. There is no change to 
the information contained in the previously submitted mitigation planting plan. 

The current assessment of habitat functions on the site determined that the existing wildlife habitat 
and ecological integrity functions are medium due to invasive plants in the understory along the 
forest edges. The upland wildlife habitat mitigation goal is to improve these functions to a “high” 
rating. According to the ratios established in Table NR-4 in Section 4.139.07 of the City’s Significant 
Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) Ordinance, to improve a function from a medium rating to a high 
rating, it will require mitigation at a ratio of 2.5:1. Therefore, to compensate for impacts to 18,356 SF 
of wildlife habitat, a minimum of 45,890 SF would need to be enhanced. The applicant is proposing 
to conduct 46,212 square feet of enhancement. 

LIST OF PREPARERS 
 

 
Stacy Benjamin 
Senior Wetland Ecologist 
Fieldwork and Report Preparation 

 
C. Mirth Walker, PWS, CWD 
Senior Wetland Scientist 
Report Quality Assurance/Quality Control 
 
 
  



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

ATTACHMENT A 

PDP 3N Preliminary Development Plan 
 

 
  



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 



SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

SROZ BOUNDARY

3,535 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/PDP 2 NORTH
(PHASE 2)

25' IMPACT AREA

663 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT

DONE W/ PDP 1

325 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT

W/ PDP 3N

4,610 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N 7,122 SF

SROZ ENCROACHMENT
DONE W/PDP 2N (PHASE 1)

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED

SROZ BOUNDARY

25' IMPACT AREA 19,209 SF
MIXED OAK/FIR

27,003 SF
OAK

MITIGATION
AREA

1,988 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N
ADDITIONAL IMPACTS

113 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N
ADDITIONAL IMPACTS

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

SROZ
Plan



 Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.02 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 
  



 Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.02 

 

 

ATTACHMENT B 

Site Photographs 
  



 Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.02 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
Attachment B 

 
Photo 1. View east of the northern forest edge. 

 
Photo 2. View south into northern forest edge, dominated by invasive English ivy. 



 Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.02 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

 



 Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.02 

 

 

ATTACHMENT C 

Wetland Delineation Report & 2007 Concurrence Letter 
  



 Phase 3 North Villebois SRIR Addendum 
SWCA Project No. 21087.02 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 

RUMPF PROPERTY 
WETLAND DELINEATION REPORT 
28100 SW GRAHAMS FERRY ROAD 

WILSONVILLE, OREGON 
T3S, R1W, SECTION 15, TAX LOTS 1200, 1205, AND 1591, 

CLACKAMAS COUNTY, W.M. 
 
 
 
 

Prepared for 
 

Polygon Northwest Company 
109 East 13th Street 

Vancouver, Washington 98660 
 
 
 

Prepared by 
 

 
 

SWCA Environmental Consultants 
1220 SW Morrison Street, Suite 700 

Portland, Oregon 97205 
503-224-0333 

www.swca.com 
 
 
 
 
 

November 2013 
 

SWCA Project No. 21087.11 



This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

i 

CONTENTS 

INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................. 1 

A. LANDSCAPE SETTING AND LAND USE .................................................................................... 1 

B. SITE ALTERATIONS ....................................................................................................................... 1 

C. PRECIPITATION DATA AND ANALYSIS .................................................................................... 2 

D. METHODS ........................................................................................................................................ 2 

E. DESCRIPTION OF ALL WETLANDS AND OTHER NON-WETLAND WATERS .................... 3 
Wetlands ........................................................................................................................................... 3 

Wetland A (north wetland) ....................................................................................................... 3 
Wetland B (south wetland) ....................................................................................................... 3 

Non-Wetland Waters ........................................................................................................................ 4 

F. DEVIATION FROM LWI OR NWI .................................................................................................. 4 

G. MAPPING METHOD ........................................................................................................................ 4 

H. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ...................................................................................................... 4 

I. RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS ..................................................................................................... 4 

J. REQUIRED DISCLAIMER ............................................................................................................... 5 

K. LIST OF PREPARERS ...................................................................................................................... 5 
 

Appendices 
A. Figures 
B. WD #2007-0706 
C. Precipitation Data 
D. Wetland Determination Data Sheets 
E. Ground-Level Site Photographs 
F. Literature Cited and References Used 
 

Tables 
Table 1. Precipitation Data (inches) ............................................................................................................. 2 
Table 2. Summary of Potentially Jurisdictional Features in the Study Area ................................................ 5 
Table 3. Latitude and Longitude of Potentially Jurisdictional Features in the Study Area .......................... 5 
 
  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

ii 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

1 

INTRODUCTION 

SWCA Environmental Consultants (SWCA) was contracted by Polygon Northwest Company to 
conduct a wetland delineation update on the subject site located near the Villebois development, 
immediately east of Grahams Ferry Road and south of Tooze Road at 28100 SW Grahams Ferry 
Road, in Wilsonville, Oregon (Figure 1, Appendix A). The study area consists of tax lots 1200, 1205, 
and 1591 on tax map 3 1W 15, Clackamas County, Willamette Meridian (Figure 2, Appendix A), and 
is approximately 14.87 acres in size.  

The site was delineated by Pacific Habitat Services (PHS) in 2007 under Oregon Department of State 
Lands (DSL) file number WD #2007-0706 (PHS 2007). The concurrence letter is dated May 5, 2008, 
and is attached (Appendix B). SWCA’s reconnaissance was conducted with the new process of 
requesting a reissuance of a jurisdictional determination (JD) in mind, since we are within 1 year of 
the 5-year expiration date of May 5, 2013. While we found no change to the north wetland “A” (0.37 
acre), we found the south wetland “B” to be smaller, approximately 0.45 acre instead of 0.52 acre. 
The north Wetland A is emergent and is proposed to be filled for residential development. The south 
Wetland B is forested and will be protected under the proposed residential subdivision site 
development plan.  

Our study area did not include the tax lot to the south, which we delineated this past summer under 
WD #2013-0131 (SWCA 2013). Although it was stated in that report that wetlands extend off-site to 
the north, this is not true. The south wetland on the subject site is not connected to the wetland 
located to the south of the property line, and no wetlands are present south of the paved driveway 
entrance to the subject property, which is located near the southern property line.  

A. LANDSCAPE SETTING AND LAND USE 
OAR141-090-0035 (7)(a)  

The subject site has at least one residence and a large mixed-use building with barn and office space 
and several smaller barns and outbuildings. The wetlands are located in horse-grazed pasture, and 
much of the site contains unmowed fields. A small pump house is located in the north portion of the 
horse pasture, east of a large Oregon white oak (Quercus garryana) tree in the northwest corner of 
the site. The surrounding land use is rural residential and agriculture, with the rapidly developing 
Villebois area to the south. Two long, rectangular tax lots extending south from Tooze Road contain 
single-family residences and are also not included within our study area boundary. 

B. SITE ALTERATIONS 
OAR141-090-0035 (7)(c) 

Two entrance roads to the site are present: the southern road is paved and actively used, and the 
central road is not used. Fencing is present. A blocked small-diameter culvert is present under the 
south entrance road. Site residents report that the road floods in the winter. Aerial photographs 
reviewed on Google Earth do not reveal any patterns of seasonal saturation or ponding (Google Earth 
2013). 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

2 

C. PRECIPITATION DATA AND ANALYSIS 
OAR141-090-0035 (7)(i) 

The closest WETS (short for wetlands climate analysis) station to the project site is the North 
Willamette Experiment station. Average annual rainfall according to the WETS table for this station 
is 42.58 inches. Precipitation data were obtained from the Aurora weather station via the National 
Weather Service (NWS). Precipitation data are shown in Table 1, and raw data are included in 
Appendix C. Table 1 shows the average monthly precipitation averages according to the WETS 
station for the 3 months prior to SWCA’s October 1 and 8, 2013, site visits.  

Table 1. Precipitation Data (inches) 

Month Average 
30% Chance Will Have 

Less Than More Than 
Observed 

Precipitation 
Within Normal Range? 

July 0.73 0.22 0.88 0.01 Below normal 
August 0.83 0.21 0.98 0.61 Yes 
September 1.79 0.85 2.25 7.39 Record above normal 

 
According to the NWS Aurora weather station, record rainfall fell in the last few days of September, 
and rainfall received during the month was 5.66 inches above normal in Aurora (NWS 2013). 
Rainfall received on the October 1, 2013, site visit was 0.38 inch, and rainfall received 2 weeks prior 
to the site visit was 5.18 inches. Rainfall received on the October 8, 2013, site visit was 0.02 inch, 
with 0.65 inch received the prior week and 3.24 inches received the week prior to that. The Aurora 
station does not report water year-to-date precipitation; the water year starts October 1 and runs 
through September 30.  

The NWS Portland station reported that the precipitation for the water year-to-date, as of September 
30, was 6.80 inches above the normal value of 36.03 inches (climate normal period 1981 to 2010), 
and 4.15 inches above the normal value of 1.47 inches for the month of September. Record rainfall 
event reports for the major NWS stations are included in Appendix C. 

The extreme amount of rainfall that fell prior to our October 1 site reconnaissance allowed 
observation of primary hydrology indicators in the lowest and wettest portion of Wetland B, at Plot 1. 
The remaining wetlands’ hydrology did not appear to be fully recharged during our site visits, as only 
secondary indicators of hydrology were observed. This observation is consistent with PHS’s findings 
that the extent and duration of wetter conditions is not known, due to the dry season timing of 
fieldwork.  

According to the WETS table, the growing season for the area does not end until November 21. Our 
site visits occurred during the growing season.  

D. METHODS 
OAR141-090-0035 (7)(d-e), (g-h), (16)(a-b), (f), (d) or (g), (17), and (19-20) 

The methodology used for determining the presence of wetlands followed the U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers’ (Corps’) Wetlands Delineation Manual (Environmental Laboratory 1987) and the 
Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: Western Mountains, 
Valleys, and Coast Region (Version 2.0) (Corps 2010), used by both the Corps and the Oregon DSL. 
Fieldwork for documenting site conditions and delineating the wetland and water boundaries was 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

3 

conducted on October 1 and 8, 2013, by Mirth Walker, Stacey Reed, and Stacy Benjamin. Soils, 
vegetation, and indicators of hydrology were recorded at 17 sample plot locations to document site 
conditions (Appendix D). The previously delineated wetland boundaries were superimposed on a 
Google Earth aerial photograph for comparison.  

Changes to the Wetlands Delineation Manual have occurred since the 2008 wetland delineation. 
These changes include hydric soil indicators and the wetland indicator status of plants. Many plants 
on the site that were considered facultative minus (FAC−) and did not meet the hydrophytic 
vegetation criterion in 2008 are now considered FAC and do meet the hydrophytic vegetation 
criterion.  

According to the Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS) Clackamas County Area soil 
survey map and the Clackamas County hydric soil list, the following soil units are mapped in the 
study area (Figure 3, Appendix A): 

• Aloha silt loam, 0% to 3% and 3% to 6% slopes (Units 1A and 1B) on terraces; non-hydric, 
with hydric Huberly and Dayton inclusions in depressions (NRCS 2013a,b,c). 

 
Representative ground-level site photographs are included in Appendix E. Literature cited and 
references used are included in Appendix F.  

E. DESCRIPTION OF ALL WETLANDS AND OTHER NON-WETLAND 
WATERS 
OAR141-090-0035 (2), (7)(b), and (17) 

Wetlands 

Wetland A (north wetland) 
The boundary of Wetland A was documented at Plots 9 through 15. This wetland was difficult to see 
on the landscape: it is a very subtle depression. There was no distinct vegetation change between 
wetland and upland; it lacked primary indicators of hydrology; it did not display drainage patterns; 
and only one plot (Plot 11) displayed two secondary indicators of hydrology; therefore, we relied on 
the prior PHS-delineated wetland boundary.  

The wetland is dominated by colonial bent grass (Agrostis capillaris, FAC). Soils displayed Depleted 
Matrix (F3) and/or Redox Dark Surface (F6) hydric soil indicators. Hydrology appears to be driven 
by direct precipitation. It is possible that this wetland does not display strong enough hydrology to be 
considered wetland during periods of normal precipitation in the spring. 

Wetland B (south wetland)  
Wetland B was evaluated at Plots 1 through 8 and 16. Similar to PHS findings, both upland and 
wetland soils commonly included redoximorphic concentrations, and upland plots had oxidized 
rhizospheres in the surface few inches, which were determined to likely be the result of compaction 
from active grazing. The wetland boundary hugged the forested Oregon ash (Fraxinus latifolia, 
FACW) perimeter and the edge of pugged soils, and we reduced the size of the wetland slightly along 
the western edge (Plot 2), in two small areas along the eastern edge that were obviously on higher 
land forms (Plot 8), and in the north, where soils were disturbed and dominated by creeping buttercup 
(Ranunculus repens, FAC; Plots 3 and 5).  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

4 

Soils displayed Redox Dark Surface (F6) or Depleted below Dark Surface (A11) hydric soil 
indicators. This wetland exhibits strong indicators of hydrology near its southern boundary, with 
water marks on trees and fence posts extending up to 18 inches in height.  

Soils have been disturbed in the vicinity of SWCA Plots 3 and 5 since the PHS delineation, based on 
the comparison of soil profiles of the closely placed SWCA Plot 5 and PHS Plot 3, and SWCA Plot 3 
and PHS Plot 4. We pulled the boundary in at this point to conform with the geomorphic land form 
depression that was characteristic of the Oregon ash forested wetland.  

Non-Wetland Waters 

There are no non-wetland waters on the site.  

F. DEVIATION FROM LWI OR NWI 
OAR141-090-0035 (16)(e) 

The site was not included in the City of Wilsonville’s Local Wetland Inventory (LWI). The 
Sherwood, Oregon, National Wetlands Inventory (NWI) shows no mapped wetlands on the site 
(Figure 4, Appendix A).  

G. MAPPING METHOD 
OAR141-090-0035 (7)(f), (11), (12), (13), (18), and (22) 

Sample plots and the wetland boundary of the south wetland were flagged in the field by SWCA and 
professionally land surveyed by Pacific Community Design. The surveyed delineation map is 
included as Figure 5 in Appendix A. Both the PHS wetland boundaries and the SWCA-revised south 
wetland boundary are shown for comparison purposes. Figure 6 shows just the SWCA delineation. 

H. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
OAR141-090-0035 (6)(c), (16)(c), and (21) 

The wetlands have no direct surface water connection to each other or to off-site wetlands or waters.  

I. RESULTS AND CONCLUSIONS 
OAR141-090-0035 (7)(j) 

Wetland A was not changed from the previous delineation. Wetland B was found to be smaller (0.45 
acre) than the 0.52-acre wetland delineated by PHS in 2008. Table 2 below provides a summary of 
the size of each feature, the Cowardin and hydrogeomorphic (HGM) classifications, any hydrologic 
connection to other nearby waters, and our prediction of whether the feature would likely be 
determined jurisdictional by DSL and the Corps. Wetlands do not extend off-site. 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

5 

Table 2. Summary of Potentially Jurisdictional Features in the Study Area 

Feature Acres Cowardin 
Class1 

HGM 
Classification 

Connection to Other 
Waters 

Predicted 
Jurisdiction 

Wetland A 0.37 PEM Slope/Flats None DSL; Corps 
unknown 

Wetland B 0.45 PFO Slope/Flats None DSL; Corps 
unknown 

Total 
wetlands 

0.82 

1PEM = palustrine emergent; PFO = palustrine forested. 
 
The approximate centroid latitude and longitude of each feature are listed in Table 3. The 
approximate centroid latitude and longitude of the study area are 45.315883°N and −122.798791°W. 

Table 3. Latitude and Longitude of Potentially Jurisdictional Features in the Study Area 

Feature Latitude (°N) Longitude (°W) 
Wetland A 45.316211 −122.799604 
Wetland B 45.315106 −122.800255 
 

J. REQUIRED DISCLAIMER 
OAR141-0090-0035 (7)(k) 

This report documents the investigation, best professional judgment, and conclusions of the 
investigators. It is correct and complete to the best of my knowledge. It should be considered a 
Preliminary Jurisdictional Determination of wetlands and other waters and used at your own risk 
unless it has been reviewed and approved in writing by the Oregon DSL in accordance with Oregon 
Administrative Rules 141-090-0005 through 141-090-0055. 

K. LIST OF PREPARERS 

 
C. Mirth Walker, PWS, CWD 
Senior Wetland Scientist 
  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

6 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 
 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

APPENDIX A 

Figures 
  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-1 

 
Figure 1. Site location map.   



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-2 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-3 

 
Figure 2. Tax lot map 3 1W 15.   



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-4 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-5 

 
Figure 3. Soils map.   



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-6 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-7 

 
Figure 4. National Wetlands Inventory map.  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-8 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



N
:\

pr
oj

\3
95

-0
27

\0
9 

D
ra

w
in

gs
\0

6 
Su

rv
ey

\E
xh

ib
its

\3
95

02
7.

Ru
m

pf
 W

et
la

nd
s.d

w
g 

- S
HE

ET
: 1

1x
17

   
O

ct
 0

9,
 2

01
3 

- 5
:0

5p
m

 t2

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
A

cmwalker
Text Box
B

cmwalker
Text Box

cmwalker
Text Box
FIGURE 5

cmwalker
Text Box
B

cmwalker
Text Box
A



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-10 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



N
:\

pr
oj

\3
95

-0
27

\0
9 

D
ra

w
in

gs
\0

6 
Su

rv
ey

\E
xh

ib
its

\3
95

02
7.

Ru
m

pf
 W

et
la

nd
s.d

w
g 

- S
HE

ET
: 1

1x
17

   
O

ct
 0

9,
 2

01
3 

- 1
1:

38
am

 t2

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Text Box

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCAPLOT 16

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCAPLOT 17

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Text Box
PLOTS 16 AND 17 MAPPED BY HAND (PLUS OR MINUS 5 FEET ACCURACY); OTHER WETLAND A FEATURES FLAGGED IN THE FIELD BY SWCA ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS AND PROFESSIONALLY LAND SURVEYED BY PACIFIC COMMUNITY DESIGN.

cmwalker
Text Box
BY PHS

cmwalker
Text Box
A

cmwalker
Text Box
B

cmwalker
Oval

cmwalker
Text Box
FIGURE 6



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

A-12 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

APPENDIX B 

WD #2007-0706 
  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Department of State Lands
775 Summer Street NE Suite 100

Salem OR 97301 1279

503 378 3805

FAX 503 378 4844

www oregonstatelands us

State Land Board

Terry Kinney
Theodore R Kulongoski

West Hills Development
Governor

735 SW
158th

Ave Bill Bradbury
Beaverton OR 97006 Secretary of State

Randall Edwards

Re Wetland Delineation Report for Villebois SAP North SE of Intersection SW
State Treasurer

Grahams Ferry Road and SW Tooze Road Wilsonville Clackamas County
T3S R1 Sec 15 Tax Lots 1200 1202 1203 1205 1591 and portion of 2990
WD 07 0706

Dear Mr Kinney

The Department of State Lands has reviewed the wetland delineation report prepared

by Pacific Habitat Services Inc for the site referenced above Based upon our review

we concur with their delineation and conclusions Within the study area 3 wetlands
totaling approximately 0 96 acres were identified The wetlands are subject to the
permit requirements of the state Removal Fill Law A state permit is required for

cumulative fill or annual excavation of 50 cubic yards or more in the wetlands

This concurrence is for purposes of the state Removal Fill Law only Federal or local

permit requirements may apply as well The Army Corps of Engineers will review the
report and make a determination of jurisdiction for purposes of the Clean Water Act at

the time that a permit application is submitted We recommend that you attach a copy
of this concurrence letter to both copies of any subsequent joint permit application to
speed application review

Please be advised that state law establishes a preference for avoidance of wetland

impacts Because measures to avoid and minimize wetland impacts may include
reconfiguring parcel layout and size or development design we recommend that you
work with Department staff on appropriate site design before completing the city or
county land use approval process

This concurrence is based on information provided to the agency The jurisdictional
determination is valid for five years from the date of this letter unless new information
necessitates a revision Circumstances under which the Department may change a
determination and procedures for renewal of an expired determination are found in
OAR 141 090 0045 available on our web site or upon request The applicant

landowner or agent may submit a request for reconsideration of this determination in
writing within 60 calendar days of the date of this letter

GAWRMWetlands Program WD Letters 2007 07 0706 doc 1



Thank you for having the site evaluated Please phone me at 503 986 5236 if you have

any questions

Sincerely

J c ko 6z
Jane C Morlan PWS
Wetlands Program Manager

Enclosures

cc Fred Small Pacific Habitat Services

City of Wilsonville Planning Department
James Holm Corps of Engineers

Mike McCabe DSL

G AIWC Wetlands Program WD Lefters 2007 07 0706 doc



POTENTIALLYJURISDICTIONALWETLAND

ISAMPLEPOINT

STUDYAREABOUNDARY

WT002ER

1

IF

d

rl

yi
11T

y
C

D

p
i

j7

11

4TAXILOTI102ilti

i

tTirT
1

I

It

ifAXLOT120

lie
r

d
TAXLO11200r

rfi
LTAXLOT205

tigym

I

1

TL4

1

Lj
emmmQ

m

16

m
y

icee

Cr
mmm

71

LN

mlap

i3Pm
a

m

m

Km
lj9tm

TAXLOT2990
URISDICTIONALl

WETLANDPER

VVFJ020408m1lAREACifr

lIIii r

iAXLOT2900
m

NOTEr

tiTAXLOFTS2900AND2990HAVEBEENPREVIOUSLYDELINEAITED
DM20408PERMITSFORPREVIOUSLYDELINEATEDWETLANDSr

r1
1

fEREISSUEDUNDERDSL30721FPANDCOE200300481

m

TAXLOT2900

SIINFM

FIGUREPotentiallyjurisdictionalwetlandsonaproposedresidentialsubdivisiononSWGrahamsFerry
RoadinWilsonvilleOregonAreasAandBprofessionallylandsurveyedbyAlphaEngineering3868

4Inc2003BoundaryofAreaCisbasedoncompassbearinganddistancefromsurveyed
102306

pointsEstimatedaccuracyofAreaCis2feet
exs

PacificHabitatServicesInc



1 T

if

A J L
lei

t r

3

r
b

r
r I e

1

t
t v j

s t Ravnr 1 J
I ll d

t v e 9
Yf1

p 1 a l
1 J 1

v
it

A
J C3 tY

i y t I 1

1tie
J Z t

t tt
C3i lti t

j 1

illti
t

SIT

STATE FPSPITA
i

4
rl

r

r

r

II C rL t

4 1jQy r r r t 1 j 11 j i AJ p n n t3 WI tom

t

j
J

r y i

Ir
C1 If I Pi i a M 1

VV 4 i tl Water kt

kii

u ti la 1 YO 1 BM 147

Ji

r
moo i r 11 t L I m

I t lr r lz x
k tu r lu zl

i
ii r

l i

ISIN
l

1 tit x 1
r t1 3

i lr tn IQf t

IJ

j u ii Iir i iI iiy 1 l n

r eJJfL ti it

H

eT f 1 It t u my

Fri

t u
rJq 1 vw offVv slt Ir

n r r t

rrtir
tt ri t i i

S iio t t 1 r
J It A V tr t

c rr r J f r t f I
1 i r

u l 1 r k3 f 10
I I i r0 1i mow

r

rft

1 fLjY t7 c en e r 1 s
r Jrgym

n c t

l

rJtl

1Jt
t

4VP
r

i i it

t

1
v t U

tt

10 30 06
3868

ZA x

Location and general topography in the vicinity of SW Grahams Ferry Road FIGURE

in Wilsonville Oregon USGS Sherwood Oregon quadrangle 1961 photorevised
1984 1

V if TTahitat CPrviPP4 Tne





Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

APPENDIX C 

Precipitation Data 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the 
National Climatic Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to 
revision. Final and certified climate data can be accessed at the NCDC - 
http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

Record Report

000 
SXUS76 KPQR 032342 CCA 
RERPQR 

RECORD EVENT REPORT 
NATIONAL WEATHER SERVICE PORTLAND OREGON 
1215 PM PDT THU OCT 4 2013 

...HISTORIC SEPTEMBER RAINFALL ACROSS THE REGION (CORRECTED)... 

WITH THE RECENT HEAVY RAINFALL MANY OBSERVATIONS STATIONS HAVE 
REPORTED RECORD AMOUNTS OF RAINFALL FOR THE MONTH OF SEPTEMBER. 

FOLLOWING ARE STATIONS WITH THE TOP 4 WETTEST SEPTEMBERS FOR 
EACH STATIONS (AND PERIOD OF RECORD). 

------------------------------------------------ 
ASTORIA (1890-2013)... 
   1. SEP 2013......... 10.70 INCHES   *** RECORD *** 
   2. SEP 1906.........  8.66 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1920.........  8.55 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1905.........  7.38 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 2.14 INCHES 

PORTLAND AIRPORT (1940-2013) 
   1. SEP 2013.........  5.62 INCHES   *** RECORD *** 
   2. SEP 1986.........  4.30 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1982.........  3.98 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1945.........  3.96 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 1.47 INCHES 

PORTLAND DOWNTOWN (1874-2013)... 
   1. SEP 2013.........  6.85 INCHES   *** RECORD *** CORRECTED 
   2. SEP 1927.........  5.52 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1911.........  5.19 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1969.........  4.87 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 1.54 INCHES 

HILLSBORO (1929-2013)... 
   1. SEP 2013.........  6.27 INCHES   *** RECORD *** 
   2. SEP 1945.........  3.68 INCHES 

Page 1 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/11/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



   3. SEP 1982.........  3.46 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1977.........  3.43 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 1.26 INCHES 

EUGENE (1892-2013) 
   1. SEP 2013.........  7.08 INCHES   *** RECORD *** 
   2. SEP 1927.........  5.21 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1911.........  4.91 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1986.........  4.65 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 1.29 INCHES 

SALEM (1892-2013)... 
   1. SEP 2013.........  7.05 INCHES   *** RECORD *** 
   2. SEP 1927.........  5.52 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1911.........  5.19 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1969.........  4.87 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 1.28 INCHES 

VANCOUVER, WA (1890-2013)... 
   1. SEP 2013.........  5.24 INCHES   *** RECORD *** 
   2. SEP 1911.........  4.88 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1969.........  4.82 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1925.........  4.46 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1986.........  4.44 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 1.56 INCHES 

MCMINNVILLE (1894-2013) 
   1. SEP 1996......... 7.58 INCHES 
   2. SEP 2013......... 6.19 INCHES 
   3. SEP 1901......... 4.83 INCHES 
   4. SEP 1914......... 4.28 INCHES 
      CLIMATOLOGICAL NORMAL: 1.31 INCHES 

CULLEN/ROCKEY 

Page 2 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/11/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the 
National Climatic Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to 
revision. Final and certified climate data can be accessed at the NCDC - 
http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

Climatological Report (Daily)

000 
CDUS46 KPQR 011142 
CLIUAO 

CLIMATE REPORT 
NATIONAL WEATHER SERVICE PORTLAND OREGON 
441 AM PDT TUE OCT 1 2013 

................................... 

...THE AURORA STATE OR CLIMATE SUMMARY FOR SEPTEMBER 30 2013... 

CLIMATE NORMAL PERIOD 1981 TO 2010 
CLIMATE RECORD PERIOD 9999 TO 9999 

WEATHER ITEM   OBSERVED TIME   RECORD YEAR     LAST 
                VALUE   (LST)  VALUE           YEAR 
.................................................... 
TEMPERATURE (F) 
 YESTERDAY 
  MAXIMUM         59   1242 PM  MM      MM 
  MINIMUM         50   1159 PM  MM      MM 

PRECIPITATION (IN) 
  YESTERDAY        0.38                        0.00 
  MONTH TO DATE    7.39                        0.12 
  SINCE OCT 1     43.72                       41.31 
  SINCE JAN 1     20.97                       29.97 

DEGREE DAYS 
 HEATING 
  YESTERDAY       10                           5 
  MONTH TO DATE  109                          77 
  SINCE SEP 1    109                          77 
  SINCE JUL 1    119                         117 

 COOLING 
  YESTERDAY        0                           0 

Page 1 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/11/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



  MONTH TO DATE   64                          43 
  SINCE SEP 1     64                          43 
  SINCE JAN 1    426                         294 
.................................................... 

WIND (MPH) 
  HIGHEST WIND SPEED    26   HIGHEST WIND DIRECTION     S (180) 
  HIGHEST GUST SPEED    32   HIGHEST GUST DIRECTION     S (180) 
  AVERAGE WIND SPEED    11.5 

SKY COVER 
  AVERAGE SKY COVER 0.9 

WEATHER CONDITIONS 
 THE FOLLOWING WEATHER WAS RECORDED YESTERDAY. 
  RAIN 
  LIGHT RAIN 
  FOG 

RELATIVE HUMIDITY (PERCENT) 
 HIGHEST    96           600 AM 
 LOWEST     80           100 PM 
 AVERAGE    88 

.......................................................... 

SUNRISE AND SUNSET 
OCTOBER  1 2013.......SUNRISE   710 AM PDT   SUNSET   651 PM PDT 
OCTOBER  2 2013.......SUNRISE   711 AM PDT   SUNSET   649 PM PDT 

-  INDICATES NEGATIVE NUMBERS. 
R  INDICATES RECORD WAS SET OR TIED. 
MM INDICATES DATA IS MISSING. 
T  INDICATES TRACE AMOUNT. 

Page 2 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/11/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



The U.S. Naval Observatory (USNO) computes astronomical data. Therefore, the NWS 
does not record, certify, or authenticate astronomical data. Computed times of sunrise, 
sunset, moonrise, moonset; and twilight, moon phases and other astronomical data are 
available from USNO's Astronomical Applications Department 
(http://www.usno.navy.mil). See http://www.usno.navy.mil/USNO/astronomical-
applications/astronomical-information-center/litigation for information on using these data 
for legal purposes.

Page 3 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/11/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the 
National Climatic Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to 
revision. Final and certified climate data can be accessed at the NCDC - 
http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

Climatological Report (Daily)

000 
CDUS46 KPQR 021141 
CLIUAO 

CLIMATE REPORT 
NATIONAL WEATHER SERVICE PORTLAND OREGON 
440 AM PDT WED OCT 2 2013 

................................... 

...THE AURORA STATE OR CLIMATE SUMMARY FOR OCTOBER 1 2013... 

CLIMATE NORMAL PERIOD 1981 TO 2010 
CLIMATE RECORD PERIOD 9999 TO 9999 

WEATHER ITEM   OBSERVED TIME   RECORD YEAR     LAST 
                VALUE   (LST)  VALUE           YEAR 
.................................................... 
TEMPERATURE (F) 
 YESTERDAY 
  MAXIMUM         58    146 PM  MM      MM 
  MINIMUM         42   1159 PM  MM      MM 

PRECIPITATION (IN) 
  YESTERDAY        0.38                        0.00 
  MONTH TO DATE    0.38                        0.00 
  SINCE OCT 1      0.38                        0.00 
  SINCE JAN 1     21.35                       29.97 

DEGREE DAYS 
 HEATING 
  YESTERDAY       15                           0 
  MONTH TO DATE   15                           0 
  SINCE SEP 1    124                          77 
  SINCE JUL 1    134                         117 

 COOLING 
  YESTERDAY        0                           1 

Page 1 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/2/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



  MONTH TO DATE    0                           1 
  SINCE SEP 1     64                          44 
  SINCE JAN 1    426                         295 
.................................................... 

WIND (MPH) 
  HIGHEST WIND SPEED    14   HIGHEST WIND DIRECTION     S (180) 
  HIGHEST GUST SPEED    18   HIGHEST GUST DIRECTION     S (180) 
  AVERAGE WIND SPEED     4.0 

SKY COVER 
  AVERAGE SKY COVER 0.6 

WEATHER CONDITIONS 
 THE FOLLOWING WEATHER WAS RECORDED YESTERDAY. 
  RAIN 
  LIGHT RAIN 
  FOG 

RELATIVE HUMIDITY (PERCENT) 
 HIGHEST    93           400 AM 
 LOWEST     62           200 PM 
 AVERAGE    78 

.......................................................... 

SUNRISE AND SUNSET 
OCTOBER  2 2013.......SUNRISE   711 AM PDT   SUNSET   649 PM PDT 
OCTOBER  3 2013.......SUNRISE   712 AM PDT   SUNSET   647 PM PDT 

-  INDICATES NEGATIVE NUMBERS. 
R  INDICATES RECORD WAS SET OR TIED. 
MM INDICATES DATA IS MISSING. 
T  INDICATES TRACE AMOUNT. 

Page 2 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/2/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the 
National Climatic Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to 
revision. Final and certified climate data can be accessed at the NCDC - 
http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

Climatological Report (Daily)

000 
CDUS46 KPQR 091147 
CLIUAO 

CLIMATE REPORT 
NATIONAL WEATHER SERVICE PORTLAND OREGON 
446 AM PDT WED OCT 9 2013 

................................... 

...THE AURORA STATE OR CLIMATE SUMMARY FOR OCTOBER 8 2013... 

CLIMATE NORMAL PERIOD 1981 TO 2010 
CLIMATE RECORD PERIOD 9999 TO 9999 

WEATHER ITEM   OBSERVED TIME   RECORD YEAR     LAST 
                VALUE   (LST)  VALUE           YEAR 
.................................................... 
TEMPERATURE (F) 
 YESTERDAY 
  MAXIMUM         57    412 PM  MM      MM 
  MINIMUM         41   1143 PM  MM      MM 

PRECIPITATION (IN) 
  YESTERDAY        0.02                        0.00 
  MONTH TO DATE    0.65                        0.00 
  SINCE OCT 1      0.65                        0.00 
  SINCE JAN 1     21.62                       29.97 

DEGREE DAYS 
 HEATING 
  YESTERDAY       16                          12 
  MONTH TO DATE  101                          42 
  SINCE SEP 1    210                         119 
  SINCE JUL 1    220                         159 

 COOLING 
  YESTERDAY        0                           0 

Page 1 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/9/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



  MONTH TO DATE    0                           1 
  SINCE SEP 1     64                          44 
  SINCE JAN 1    426                         295 
.................................................... 

WIND (MPH) 
  HIGHEST WIND SPEED    13   HIGHEST WIND DIRECTION     N (350) 
  HIGHEST GUST SPEED    18   HIGHEST GUST DIRECTION     S (180) 
  AVERAGE WIND SPEED     5.3 

SKY COVER 
  AVERAGE SKY COVER 0.8 

WEATHER CONDITIONS 
 THE FOLLOWING WEATHER WAS RECORDED YESTERDAY. 
  LIGHT RAIN 
  FOG 
  HAZE 

RELATIVE HUMIDITY (PERCENT) 
 HIGHEST   100          1100 PM 
 LOWEST     67           400 PM 
 AVERAGE    84 

.......................................................... 

SUNRISE AND SUNSET 
OCTOBER  9 2013.......SUNRISE   720 AM PDT   SUNSET   636 PM PDT 
OCTOBER 10 2013.......SUNRISE   721 AM PDT   SUNSET   634 PM PDT 

-  INDICATES NEGATIVE NUMBERS. 
R  INDICATES RECORD WAS SET OR TIED. 
MM INDICATES DATA IS MISSING. 
T  INDICATES TRACE AMOUNT. 

Page 2 of 3National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/9/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



Explanation of the Preliminary Monthly Climate Data (F6) Product

These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the National Climatic 
Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to revision. Final and certified climate data 
can be accessed at the NCDC - http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

WFO Monthly/Daily Climate Data

000 
CXUS55 KPQR 091230 
CF6UAO 
PRELIMINARY LOCAL CLIMATOLOGICAL DATA (WS FORM: F-6) 

                                          STATION:   AURORA STATE OR 
                                          MONTH:     OCTOBER 
                                          YEAR:      2013 
                                          LATITUDE:   45 15 N 
                                          LONGITUDE: 122 46 W 

  TEMPERATURE IN F:       :PCPN:    SNOW:  WIND      :SUNSHINE: SKY     :PK WND 
================================================================================ 
1   2   3   4   5  6A  6B    7    8   9   10  11  12  13   14  15   16   17  18 
                                     12Z  AVG MX 2MIN 
DY MAX MIN AVG DEP HDD CDD  WTR  SNW DPTH SPD SPD DIR MIN PSBL S-S WX    SPD DR 
================================================================================ 

 1  58  42  50  -9  15   0 0.38    M    0  4.0 14 180   M    M   6 1      18 180 
 2  53  41  47 -11  18   0 0.11    M    0  1.9  9 180   M    M   6 12     13 170 
 3  59  42  51  -7  14   0 0.00  0.0    0  0.6  8  80   M    M   7 12      9  60 
 4  65  39  52  -6  13   0 0.00  0.0    0  1.7  8  20   M    M   3 12      9  10 
 5  72  39  56  -1   9   0 0.00    M    0  0.7  7  20   M    M   0 1       9  20 
 6  73  40  57   0   8   0 0.00  0.0    0  2.8 12 180   M    M   4 12     15 180 
 7  62  51  57   1   8   0 0.14  0.0    0  5.4 15 260   M    M   9 1      22 250 
 8  57  41  49  -7  16   0 0.02    M    0  5.3 13 350   M    M   8 18     18 180 
================================================================================ 
SM  499  335       101   0  0.65     0.0  22.4          M       43 
================================================================================ 
AV 62.4 41.9                               2.8 FASTST   M    M   5    MAX(MPH) 
                                 MISC ---->  # 15 260               # 22  250 
================================================================================ 
NOTES: 
# LAST OF SEVERAL OCCURRENCES 

COLUMN 17 PEAK WIND IN M.P.H. 

PRELIMINARY LOCAL CLIMATOLOGICAL DATA (WS FORM: F-6) , PAGE 2 

                                          STATION:  AURORA STATE OR 
                                          MONTH:    OCTOBER 
                                          YEAR:     2013 
                                          LATITUDE:   45 15 N 
                                          LONGITUDE: 122 46 W 

[TEMPERATURE DATA]      [PRECIPITATION DATA]       SYMBOLS USED IN COLUMN 16 

AVERAGE MONTHLY: 52.1   TOTAL FOR MONTH:   0.65    1 = FOG OR MIST 

Page 1 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/9/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



DPTR FM NORMAL:  -5.2   DPTR FM NORMAL:   -0.02    2 = FOG REDUCING VISIBILITY 
HIGHEST:    73 ON  6    GRTST 24HR  0.47 ON 30- 1      TO 1/4 MILE OR LESS 
LOWEST:     39 ON  5, 4                            3 = THUNDER 
                        SNOW, ICE PELLETS, HAIL    4 = ICE PELLETS 
                        TOTAL MONTH:   0.0 INCH    5 = HAIL 
                        GRTST 24HR     0.0         6 = FREEZING RAIN OR DRIZZLE 
                        GRTST DEPTH:   0           7 = DUSTSTORM OR SANDSTORM: 
                                                       VSBY 1/2 MILE OR LESS 
                                                   8 = SMOKE OR HAZE 
[NO. OF DAYS WITH]      [WEATHER - DAYS WITH]      9 = BLOWING SNOW 
                                                   X = TORNADO 
MAX 32 OR BELOW:   0    0.01 INCH OR MORE:   4 
MAX 90 OR ABOVE:   0    0.10 INCH OR MORE:   3 
MIN 32 OR BELOW:   0    0.50 INCH OR MORE:   0 
MIN  0 OR BELOW:   0    1.00 INCH OR MORE:   0 

[HDD (BASE 65) ] 
TOTAL THIS MO.   101    CLEAR  (SCALE 0-3)   1 
DPTR FM NORMAL    38    PTCLDY (SCALE 4-7)   6 
TOTAL FM JUL 1   220    CLOUDY (SCALE 8-10)  1 
DPTR FM NORMAL    11 

[CDD (BASE 65) ] 
TOTAL THIS MO.     0 
DPTR FM NORMAL     0    [PRESSURE DATA] 
TOTAL FM JAN 1   426    HIGHEST SLP M ON M 
DPTR FM NORMAL    92    LOWEST  SLP 29.96 ON  6 

[REMARKS] 

Page 2 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/9/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



Explanation of the Preliminary Monthly Climate Data (F6) Product

These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the National Climatic 
Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to revision. Final and certified climate data 
can be accessed at the NCDC - http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

WFO Monthly/Daily Climate Data

000 
CXUS55 KPQR 011230 
CF6UAO 
PRELIMINARY LOCAL CLIMATOLOGICAL DATA (WS FORM: F-6) 

                                          STATION:   AURORA STATE OR 
                                          MONTH:     SEPTEMBER 
                                          YEAR:      2013 
                                          LATITUDE:   45 15 N 
                                          LONGITUDE: 122 46 W 

  TEMPERATURE IN F:       :PCPN:    SNOW:  WIND      :SUNSHINE: SKY     :PK WND 
================================================================================ 
1   2   3   4   5  6A  6B    7    8   9   10  11  12  13   14  15   16   17  18 
                                     12Z  AVG MX 2MIN 
DY MAX MIN AVG DEP HDD CDD  WTR  SNW DPTH SPD SPD DIR MIN PSBL S-S WX    SPD DR 
================================================================================ 

 1  83  57  70   4   0   5 0.00  0.0    0  2.8 10 180   M    M   1        15 190 
 2  79  61  70   4   0   5 0.02  0.0    0  2.7 12 230   M    M   7 3      17 240 
 3  79  59  69   3   0   4 0.08  0.0    0  1.2 10 350   M    M   3 13     14 340 
 4  76  59  68   2   0   3 0.10  0.0    0  2.3  8 340   M    M   7 13     10 350 
 5  66  58  62  -4   3   0 1.21  0.0    0  3.9 22 170   M    M   9 13     29 170 
 6  71  58  65  -1   0   0 0.78  0.0    0  7.3 15 190   M    M  10 1      22 200 
 7  81  55  68   3   0   3 0.00  0.0    0  4.1 10 360   M    M   4 12     14 360 
 8  86  57  72   7   0   7 0.00  0.0    0  5.0 15  20   M    M   0        18  10 
 9  85  58  72   7   0   7 0.00  0.0    0  3.8 10  30   M    M   2        14  30 
10  92  60  76  11   0  11 0.00  0.0    0  6.0 14 360   M    M   0        18 360 
11  93  59  76  11   0  11 0.00  0.0    0  2.9  9 250   M    M   0        12 230 
12  80  56  68   4   0   3 0.00  0.0    0  2.3  7 160   M    M   1         9 150 
13  76  57  67   3   0   2 0.00  0.0    0  1.6  9  20   M    M   4 1      12  20 
14  78  58  68   4   0   3 0.00  0.0    0  2.9  7 330   M    M   5 1      10 360 
15  69  59  64   0   1   0 0.02  0.0    0  5.3 12 190   M    M   9 13     15 190 
16  71  59  65   2   0   0 0.00  0.0    0  6.1 14 190   M    M  10 8      20 220 
17  68  54  61  -2   4   0 0.29  0.0    0  2.3 12  20   M    M   7 1      14  20 
18  72  51  62  -1   3   0 0.01  0.0    0  2.6  9  30   M    M   4        12  20 
19  78  45  62   0   3   0 0.00  0.0    0  0.7  7 230   M    M   0 8      10 240 
20  75  48  62   0   3   0 0.02    M    0  4.1 18 190   M    M   4        24 180 
21  66  54  60  -2   5   0 0.08  0.0    0  3.1 12 250   M    M   8 1      18 260 
22  61  54  58  -4   7   0 0.57  0.0    0 10.6 28 180   M    M   9 1      39 170 
23  62  53  58  -3   7   0 0.71    M    M  5.3 15 170   M    M   9 1      21 170 
24  60  50  55  -6  10   0 0.26    M    M  3.5 13 170   M    M  10 1      16 190 
25  60  47  54  -7  11   0 0.04    M    0  1.8  8  50   M    M   8 1       9  50 
26  64  46  55  -5  10   0 0.03    M    0  0.6 10 300   M    M   7 12     14 310 
27  57  43  50 -10  15   0 0.22    M    0 10.1 22 190   M    M   9 12     31 220 
28  65  52  59  -1   6   0 1.05  0.0    0 16.7 31 190   M    M  10 1      39 210 
29  57  51  54  -5  11   0 1.52  0.0    0 14.9 30 180   M    M   9 1      38 200 
30  59  50  55  -4  10   0 0.38  0.0    0 11.5 26 180   M    M   9 1      32 180 

Page 1 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/2/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



================================================================================ 
SM 2169 1628       109  64  7.39     0.0 148.0          M      175 
================================================================================ 
AV 72.3 54.3                               4.9 FASTST   M    M   6    MAX(MPH) 
                                 MISC ---->  # 31 190               # 39  170 
================================================================================ 
NOTES: 
# LAST OF SEVERAL OCCURRENCES 

COLUMN 17 PEAK WIND IN M.P.H. 

PRELIMINARY LOCAL CLIMATOLOGICAL DATA (WS FORM: F-6) , PAGE 2 

                                          STATION:  AURORA STATE OR 
                                          MONTH:    SEPTEMBER 
                                          YEAR:     2013 
                                          LATITUDE:   45 15 N 
                                          LONGITUDE: 122 46 W 

[TEMPERATURE DATA]      [PRECIPITATION DATA]       SYMBOLS USED IN COLUMN 16 

AVERAGE MONTHLY: 63.3   TOTAL FOR MONTH:   7.39    1 = FOG OR MIST 
DPTR FM NORMAL:   0.1   DPTR FM NORMAL:    5.66    2 = FOG REDUCING VISIBILITY 
HIGHEST:    93 ON 11    GRTST 24HR  1.97 ON  5- 6      TO 1/4 MILE OR LESS 
LOWEST:     43 ON 27                               3 = THUNDER 
                        SNOW, ICE PELLETS, HAIL    4 = ICE PELLETS 
                        TOTAL MONTH:   0.0 INCH    5 = HAIL 
                        GRTST 24HR     0.0         6 = FREEZING RAIN OR DRIZZLE 
                        GRTST DEPTH:   0           7 = DUSTSTORM OR SANDSTORM: 
                                                       VSBY 1/2 MILE OR LESS 
                                                   8 = SMOKE OR HAZE 
[NO. OF DAYS WITH]      [WEATHER - DAYS WITH]      9 = BLOWING SNOW 
                                                   X = TORNADO 
MAX 32 OR BELOW:   0    0.01 INCH OR MORE:  19 
MAX 90 OR ABOVE:   2    0.10 INCH OR MORE:  11 
MIN 32 OR BELOW:   0    0.50 INCH OR MORE:   6 
MIN  0 OR BELOW:   0    1.00 INCH OR MORE:   3 

[HDD (BASE 65) ] 
TOTAL THIS MO.   109    CLEAR  (SCALE 0-3)   7 
DPTR FM NORMAL    10    PTCLDY (SCALE 4-7)  10 
TOTAL FM JUL 1   119    CLOUDY (SCALE 8-10) 13 
DPTR FM NORMAL   -27 

[CDD (BASE 65) ] 
TOTAL THIS MO.    64 
DPTR FM NORMAL    20    [PRESSURE DATA] 
TOTAL FM JAN 1   426    HIGHEST SLP 30.19 ON 27 
DPTR FM NORMAL    92    LOWEST  SLP 29.39 ON 29 

[REMARKS] 
#FINAL-09-13# 

Page 2 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

10/2/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the 
National Climatic Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to revision. 
Final and certified climate data can be accessed at the NCDC - 
http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

Climatological Report (Monthly)

000 
CXUS56 KPQR 011525 
CLMUAO 

CLIMATE REPORT 
NATIONAL WEATHER SERVICE PORTLAND OREGON 
825 AM PDT SUN SEP 1 2013 

................................... 

...THE AURORA STATE OR CLIMATE SUMMARY FOR THE MONTH OF AUGUST 2013... 

CLIMATE NORMAL PERIOD 1981 TO 2010 
CLIMATE RECORD PERIOD 9999 TO 9999 

WEATHER         OBSERVED          NORMAL  DEPART  LAST YEAR`S 
                 VALUE   DATE(S)  VALUE   FROM    VALUE  DATE(S) 
                                          NORMAL 
................................................................ 
TEMPERATURE (F) 
HIGHEST            93                                101  08/04 
LOWEST             52                                 44  08/24 
AVG. MAXIMUM     81.7              81.8    -0.1     83.3 
AVG. MINIMUM     57.4              54.7     2.7     54.6 
MEAN             69.6              68.3     1.3     68.9 
DAYS MAX >= 90      4               5.1    -1.1        9 
DAYS MAX <= 32      0               0.0     0.0        0 
DAYS MIN <= 32      0               0.0     0.0        0 
DAYS MIN <= 0       0               0.0     0.0        0 

PRECIPITATION (INCHES) 
RECORD 
 MAXIMUM           MM   MM 
 MINIMUM           MM   MM 
TOTALS           0.61              0.66   -0.05        T 
DAYS >= .01         7                MM      MM        0 
DAYS >= .10         2                MM      MM        0 
DAYS >= .50         0                MM      MM        0 
DAYS >= 1.00        0                MM      MM        0 
GREATEST 
 24 HR. TOTAL    0.28   08/28 TO 08/29 

Page 1 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/14/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



DEGREE_DAYS 
HEATING TOTAL       5                22     -17       15 
 SINCE 7/1         10                47     -37       40 
COOLING TOTAL     154               123      31      147 
 SINCE 1/1        362               290      72      251 
................................................................. 

WIND (MPH) 
AVERAGE WIND SPEED              3.4 
RESULTANT WIND SPEED/DIRECTION   1/044 
HIGHEST WIND SPEED/DIRECTION    21/170    DATE  08/26 
HIGHEST GUST SPEED/DIRECTION    26/190    DATE  08/26 

SKY COVER 
POSSIBLE SUNSHINE (PERCENT)   MM 
AVERAGE SKY COVER           0.30 

AVERAGE RH (PERCENT)     66 

WEATHER CONDITIONS. NUMBER OF DAYS WITH 
THUNDERSTORM              0     MIXED PRECIP               0 
HEAVY RAIN                0     RAIN                       2 
LIGHT RAIN                7     FREEZING RAIN              0 
LT FREEZING RAIN          0     HAIL                       0 
HEAVY SNOW                0     SNOW                       0 
LIGHT SNOW                0     SLEET                      0 
FOG                       4     FOG W/VIS <= 1/4 MILE      0 
HAZE                      0 

-  INDICATES NEGATIVE NUMBERS. 
R  INDICATES RECORD WAS SET OR TIED. 
MM INDICATES DATA IS MISSING. 
T  INDICATES TRACE AMOUNT. 

Page 2 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/14/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



These data are preliminary and have not undergone final quality control by the 
National Climatic Data Center (NCDC). Therefore, these data are subject to 
revision. Final and certified climate data can be accessed at the NCDC - 
http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov. 

Climatological Report (Monthly)

000 
CXUS56 KPQR 011510 
CLMUAO 

CLIMATE REPORT 
NATIONAL WEATHER SERVICE PORTLAND OREGON 
810 AM PDT THU AUG 1 2013 

................................... 

...THE AURORA STATE OR CLIMATE SUMMARY FOR THE MONTH OF JULY 2013... 

CLIMATE NORMAL PERIOD 1981 TO 2010 
CLIMATE RECORD PERIOD 9999 TO 9999 

WEATHER         OBSERVED          NORMAL  DEPART  LAST YEAR`S 
                 VALUE   DATE(S)  VALUE   FROM    VALUE  DATE(S) 
                                          NORMAL 
................................................................ 
TEMPERATURE (F) 
HIGHEST            92                                 90  07/08 
LOWEST             48                                 45  07/04 
AVG. MAXIMUM     83.7              80.9     2.8     78.9 
AVG. MINIMUM     54.4              55.1    -0.7     54.5 
MEAN             69.1              68.0     1.1     66.7 
DAYS MAX >= 90      7               5.1     1.9        1 
DAYS MAX <= 32      0               0.0     0.0        0 
DAYS MIN <= 32      0               0.0     0.0        0 
DAYS MIN <= 0       0               0.0     0.0        0 

PRECIPITATION (INCHES) 
RECORD 
 MAXIMUM           MM   MM 
 MINIMUM           MM   MM 
TOTALS           0.01              0.68   -0.67     0.54 
DAYS >= .01         1                MM      MM        7 
DAYS >= .10         0                MM      MM        1 
DAYS >= .50         0                MM      MM        0 
DAYS >= 1.00        0                MM      MM        0 
GREATEST 

Page 1 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/14/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



 24 HR. TOTAL    0.01   07/16 TO 07/16 
                        07/15 TO 07/16 
                        07/16 TO 07/16 

DEGREE_DAYS 
HEATING TOTAL       5                25     -20       25 
 SINCE 7/1          5                25     -20       25 
COOLING TOTAL     139               118      21       84 
 SINCE 1/1        208               167      41      104 
................................................................. 

WIND (MPH) 
AVERAGE WIND SPEED              5.1 
RESULTANT WIND SPEED/DIRECTION   4/025 
HIGHEST WIND SPEED/DIRECTION    17/360    DATE  07/26 
HIGHEST GUST SPEED/DIRECTION    31/020    DATE  07/12 

SKY COVER 
POSSIBLE SUNSHINE (PERCENT)   MM 
AVERAGE SKY COVER           0.10 

AVERAGE RH (PERCENT)     60 

WEATHER CONDITIONS. NUMBER OF DAYS WITH 
THUNDERSTORM              0     MIXED PRECIP               0 
HEAVY RAIN                0     RAIN                       1 
LIGHT RAIN                0     FREEZING RAIN              0 
LT FREEZING RAIN          0     HAIL                       0 
HEAVY SNOW                0     SNOW                       0 
LIGHT SNOW                0     SLEET                      0 
FOG                       0     FOG W/VIS <= 1/4 MILE      0 
HAZE                      2 

-  INDICATES NEGATIVE NUMBERS. 
R  INDICATES RECORD WAS SET OR TIED. 
MM INDICATES DATA IS MISSING. 
T  INDICATES TRACE AMOUNT. 

Page 2 of 2National Weather Service - Climate Data

11/14/2013http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/getclimate.php?wfo=pqr



5121.13  7.57 11.67  2.96  4.78  0.46  1.21  0.75  4.38 12.54  9.33 M9.25 86.03 
52 8.20  7.33  9.89  2.86 M2.40  6.14  0.05  0.07  1.15  1.52  1.49M12.02 53.12 
5323.34  9.04  9.29  4.89  9.79  5.40  0.22  3.47  2.66  3.43 14.45 16.07 102.0 
5417.02  5.87 M4.41 M5.71 M5.38  8.80 M3.25  3.14  1.89 M5.47  9.24  9.69 79.87 
55 5.96 M5.30  9.19 11.00  3.90  3.40  2.38  0.00  4.97 12.73 16.75 16.70 92.28 
5617.27  8.64 10.88 M1.40  5.66  5.59  0.13  5.21  2.44 12.67  4.00  8.98 82.87 
57M6.15  6.98 14.85  5.52  4.50  3.71  0.50  0.87  1.05  6.36  7.19 16.28 73.96 
5813.88  9.69  4.57 10.58  1.73  7.12  0.00  0.65  4.52  4.19 16.35 12.48 85.76 
5915.56  8.57 10.96  4.73  6.67  4.26  1.05  0.73  9.36  9.74  5.34 M6.14 83.11 
60 7.44  8.23 11.35  7.90  9.66  2.41  0.02  3.14  2.73  7.84 17.87  6.67 85.26 
61 6.64 19.60 12.19  6.95  7.15  1.09  0.67  0.92  4.64  8.77  8.92 11.46 89.00 
62 5.15  6.69 12.17  8.35 M9.37  1.44  0.60  2.31  3.31  6.57 15.14  5.03 76.13 
63 4.52  8.83  9.73  8.52  6.46  4.87  3.07  1.97  3.82  5.37 11.55  8.24 76.95 
6418.08  4.95  7.92  6.57  4.21  6.80  2.08  3.45  3.08  3.24 11.66 17.89 89.93 
6517.50  7.66  2.54  5.50  2.92  1.23  0.77  3.98  0.85  4.65  7.86M11.56 67.02 
6613.40  5.59 10.14  4.37  2.30  2.42  3.75  0.77  2.85  7.36 11.65 11.79 76.39 
6715.51  6.75  7.89  4.57  2.88  2.54  0.00  0.03  2.10 11.63  5.77 12.26 71.93 
68 7.23 12.03  5.53  5.95  5.13  5.36  1.25  7.15  4.04 11.02 14.98M16.98 96.65 
6915.15  4.60  5.10  4.02  4.22  7.04  0.76  0.98  5.50  6.89  5.85 12.34 72.45 
7019.54  5.68  6.24 10.25  2.96  2.14  0.57  0.02  6.37  6.54 11.89 12.21 84.41 
7117.60  8.83 10.47  6.85  3.74  5.02  0.71  2.64  6.90  8.38 12.79 15.85 99.78 
7214.41 10.24 11.53 11.17  5.28  2.58  0.97  0.23  6.88  2.27  8.50 15.45 89.51 
73 8.08  3.36  7.08  4.38  3.60  4.31  0.05  2.05  7.72  7.79 18.26 17.67 84.35 
7415.19 11.29 11.99  7.93  6.62  2.11  3.80  1.31  0.45  2.87 10.60 14.07 88.23 
7514.67  8.32  9.43  5.47  4.58  3.59  0.56  4.97  0.00 11.49 10.89 15.10 89.07 
7612.54 10.43  7.22  7.27  4.74  2.02  1.78  4.55  1.80  3.30  2.13  4.12 61.90 
77 3.21  4.93 12.33  2.72  9.98  1.90  0.95  4.55  7.50  4.59 11.55 17.82 82.03 
78 8.54  5.45  2.97  8.50  5.93  3.91  2.78  5.55  4.75  0.91  7.64  8.76 65.69 
79 4.48 15.12  6.83  8.57  3.83  2.93  1.61  2.11  2.82  9.16  6.37 10.42 74.25 
8014.23  7.73  9.74  5.77  4.43  6.33  0.54  1.54  3.97  2.50 11.85 14.99 83.62 
81 3.23  8.23  5.44  6.66  6.48  9.13  0.92  0.13  5.41  6.20  6.15 15.89 73.87 
8214.28 14.34  6.22  5.66  1.95  2.33  1.33  2.68  7.66  8.30  7.96 12.63 85.34 
8312.53 13.61 11.62  4.59  5.58  6.76  6.56  2.45  2.25  4.17 12.65 10.29 93.06 
84 8.16  8.03  9.78  7.71  8.71  9.22  0.00  0.38  4.99  9.47 15.86  8.76 91.07 
85 0.39  7.94  6.86  4.60  3.86  4.13  0.58  2.64  6.39  7.36 11.91  2.86 59.52 
86 9.42 13.05  5.43  6.04  4.29  1.57  3.17  0.75  6.96  2.71 12.92  4.19 70.50 
87 9.62  5.81  9.07  5.54  4.24  0.81  1.65  0.88        0.31  6.01 14.10 58.04 
8811.00  6.73 10.01 10.71  5.76  3.33  1.98  0.28  2.75  1.03 16.90  6.87 77.35 
8912.16  6.17 12.75  6.28  4.63  1.97  1.24  2.18  2.83  4.54  8.22  6.72 69.69 
9014.68 10.15  4.68  8.72  5.47  5.50  1.41  1.99  1.36 13.30 10.38  8.27 85.91 
91 7.56  9.30  7.82  8.88  8.72  4.28 M0.74  1.63  0.99  3.64 16.27  9.68 79.51 
92 6.74  7.71  2.31  9.46  0.57  1.89  3.31  1.22 M4.32  6.53 11.33  9.88 65.27 
93 5.94  0.79 10.74 13.18  8.83  5.89  3.65  1.19  0.02  2.89  4.59  8.48 66.19 
9410.26 10.19  7.02  6.47  2.53  4.88  0.56  0.23  1.95 13.91 14.49 10.42 82.91 
9512.22  8.78  6.06  7.02  4.74  6.12  1.72  3.44  6.46  8.81 19.34 12.69 97.40 
9615.24 15.99  5.59  9.10  7.88  1.91  0.45  0.66  4.73 12.21 15.55 22.83 112.1 
9711.47  6.04 14.39  9.42  5.01        2.10  1.62  6.15  9.69  5.02  6.61 77.52 
9813.20  7.54  7.38  5.30 10.81  4.36  0.38  0.12  3.62  5.60 12.87M16.37 87.55 
9910.39 13.29  7.40  3.76  6.99  4.36  1.27  1.26  0.18  5.42 13.35 11.17 78.84 
 011.09 10.48  5.46  3.51  8.29  3.12  0.19  0.44  4.04  7.62  4.63  5.94 64.81 
 1 3.96  4.26  7.49  7.89  3.60  5.69  1.74  1.47  1.51  8.80 10.98 13.97 71.36 
 2                                                                              
---------- 
 
WETS Station : N WILLAMETTE EXP STN, OR6151       Creation Date: 09/09/2002 
Latitude:  4517      Longitude:  12245        Elevation:  00150  
State FIPS/County(FIPS):  41005     County Name: Clackamas  
Start yr. - 1971   End yr. - 2000 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------| 
          |       Temperature     |           Precipitation              | 

Page 8 of 16

7/8/2008Printed for ftp://ftp.wcc.nrcs.usda.gov/support/climate/wetlands/or/41005.txt

cmwalker
Text Box



          |       (Degrees F.)    |              (Inches)                | 
          |-----------------------|--------------------------------------| 
          |       |       |       |        |   30% chance    |avg |      | 
          |       |       |       |        |    will have    |# of| avg  | 
          |-------|-------|-------|        |-----------------|days| total| 
  Month   |  avg  |  avg  |  avg  |   avg  | less   | more   |w/.1| snow | 
          | daily | daily |       |        | than   | than   |  or| fall | 
          |  max  |  min  |       |        |        |        |more|      | 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------| 
January   |  47.0 |  33.5 |  40.2 |   6.04 |   4.05 |   7.23 | 13 |  0.5 | 
February  |  51.1 |  34.9 |  43.0 |   5.24 |   3.90 |   6.13 | 12 |  0.3 | 
March     |  56.1 |  37.3 |  46.7 |   4.28 |   3.30 |   4.96 | 12 |  0.0 | 
April     |  60.6 |  40.2 |  50.4 |   3.14 |   2.15 |   3.74 |  9 |  0.0 | 
May       |  67.0 |  45.1 |  56.0 |   2.50 |   1.64 |   3.00 |  7 |  0.0 | 
June      |  73.3 |  49.9 |  61.6 |   1.76 |   1.03 |   2.14 |  4 |  0.0 | 
July      |  80.3 |  53.3 |  66.8 |   0.73 |   0.22 |   0.88 |  1 |  0.0 | 
August    |  80.8 |  53.0 |  66.9 |   0.83 |   0.21 |   0.98 |  2 |  0.0 | 
September |  75.8 |  48.9 |  62.3 |   1.79 |   0.85 |   2.25 |  4 |  0.0 | 
October   |  64.4 |  41.9 |  53.2 |   3.36 |   1.77 |   4.10 |  7 |  0.0 | 
November  |  52.5 |  37.7 |  45.1 |   6.48 |   4.50 |   7.71 | 13 |  0.1 | 
December  |  45.8 |  32.8 |  39.3 |   6.44 |   4.09 |   7.76 | 12 |  0.6 | 
----------|-------|-------|-------|--------|--------|--------|----|------| 
----------|-------|-------|-------|--------|--------|--------|----|------| 
  Annual  | ----- | ----- | ----- | ------ |  37.11 |  46.19 | -- | ---- | 
----------|-------|-------|-------|--------|--------|--------|----|------| 
  Average |  62.9 |  42.4 |  52.6 | ------ | ------ | ------ | -- | ---- | 
----------|-------|-------|-------|--------|--------|--------|----|------| 
  Total   | ----- | ----- | ----- |  42.58 | ------ | ------ | 96 |  1.4 | 
----------|-------|-------|-------|--------|--------|--------|----|------| 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------| 
 
GROWING SEASON DATES  
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                     |                     Temperature 
---------------------|----------------------------------------------------- 
      Probability    | 24 F or higher  | 28 F or higher  | 32 F or higher  |  
---------------------|-----------------|-----------------|----------------- 
                     |              Beginning and Ending Dates 
                     |                Growing Season Length 
                     | 
       50 percent *  |   1/27 to ----- |   3/ 2 to 11/21 |   4/14 to 10/28   
                     |     340 days    |     264 days    |     197 days         
                     |                 |                 | 
       70 percent *  |    > 365 days   |   2/22 to 11/30 |   4/ 7 to 11/ 4   
                     |    > 365 days   |     282 days    |     212 days         
                     |                 |                 | 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 * Percent chance of the growing season occurring between the Beginning 
   and Ending dates.  
 
total  1963-2002  prcp 
 
Station : OR6151, N WILLAMETTE EXP STN 
-------   Unit = inches 
 
yr  jan   feb   mar   apr   may   jun   jul   aug   sep   oct   nov   dec  annl 
------- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- ----- 
63M1.14  4.02  6.48        4.34  1.62  0.81  0.36  1.11  3.09  5.86  4.45 33.28 
6411.36  0.83  2.93  1.21  0.94  1.67  0.74  0.58  1.49  1.52  7.21 13.84 44.32 

Page 9 of 16

7/8/2008Printed for ftp://ftp.wcc.nrcs.usda.gov/support/climate/wetlands/or/41005.txt



65 8.51 M2.07  1.09  3.23  1.30  0.66  0.23  0.99  0.05  2.79  6.63  6.78 34.33 
66 7.84  1.92  5.96  1.22  0.93  1.18  1.16  0.31  1.41  2.97  5.62  6.57 37.09 
67 6.77  1.53  4.79  2.58  2.12  0.72  0.00  0.00  0.26  5.58  2.04  5.65 32.04 
68 4.68  8.20  3.06  2.04  2.99  2.34  0.98  4.17 M2.75 M6.88  7.02M12.46 57.57 
69 7.51 M3.03 M1.45  2.99  1.76 M3.20  0.11  0.08  3.42 M4.69  2.94 M8.53 39.71 
7011.72 M5.12 M2.30  2.36  1.30 M0.31  0.07  0.00  1.38  3.49  6.94  8.92 43.91 
71 7.59  3.49  5.59  3.71  1.77  2.92  0.08  0.43  3.51  3.69  6.49 M8.02 47.29 
72 6.59  4.78  5.77  3.61  2.65  0.60  0.47  0.65  3.50  0.87  5.07  8.81 43.37 
73 4.50  1.96 M2.67  1.28  1.56  1.47  0.01  0.82  2.58  2.94 13.04 10.02 42.85 
74 8.24  5.48  6.28  2.23  1.98  0.96  2.31  0.02  0.26  1.62  6.56  6.53 42.47 
75 6.84  4.24  2.22  2.46  1.86  1.27  0.65  2.53  0.00  5.61  4.37  6.66 38.71 
76 6.32  6.68  2.82  3.00  1.48  0.57  0.95  2.41  1.18  0.85 M1.67  1.48 29.41 
77 1.37 M2.80  4.26  0.64  3.82  1.54  0.83  2.69  3.23  2.45  6.61 10.52 40.76 
78 5.35  3.59  1.69  3.50  4.52  1.69  0.90  2.08  2.74  0.37  4.92 M3.54 34.89 
79 3.45  7.36  3.22  3.35  2.36  0.47  0.82  0.82  3.25  5.35  3.77  6.75 40.97 
80 9.99  4.68  3.59  4.07  1.23  2.52  0.14  0.49  1.69  1.67  6.87 11.90 48.84 
81 2.01  4.11  3.48  2.29  2.23  4.27  0.19  0.03  2.68  4.14 M5.39 10.27 41.09 
82 6.24  6.94  3.12  4.78  0.89  0.86  0.34  0.99  3.61  3.74  5.04  8.92 45.47 
83 7.57  9.54  7.18  2.77  2.13  2.60  2.68  2.52  0.86  2.25  9.04  6.33 55.47 
84 3.05  4.69  4.46  4.09  4.59  5.35  0.00  0.03  1.99  5.78 12.90  3.68 50.61 
85 0.45  3.49  4.54  1.42  0.97  2.48  0.45  0.79  1.93  3.17  5.00  2.46 27.15 
86 5.83  7.65  2.95  2.09  2.74  0.38  1.28  0.04  2.93  2.81  6.71  4.13 39.54 
87 6.75  4.94  5.55  2.19  1.66  0.30  2.00  0.10  0.53  0.23  2.40 10.55 37.20 
88 7.88  1.71  3.73  4.63  2.56  2.55  0.21  0.03  1.25  0.20  9.88  3.28 37.91 
89 4.24  3.16  7.02  1.24  2.27  0.91  0.52  1.37  1.34  2.15  3.72  4.15 32.09 
90 8.98  4.97  3.42  2.22  1.71  2.94  0.54  1.09  0.50 M6.18  5.00  3.39 40.94 
91 2.83  3.69  4.39  4.62  4.58        0.16  0.75  0.30  3.70  7.31  5.53 37.86 
92 5.34  5.23  1.46  4.28  0.19  0.63  1.31  0.48  1.88  4.83  5.15  6.71 37.49 
93M2.96 M0.26  5.32  6.30  4.25 M2.20  2.44  0.30  0.00  1.35  1.39  6.90 33.67 
94 4.78  6.93  3.58  1.88  1.63  1.57  0.06  0.02  1.12  6.94  8.32  7.70 44.53 
95 7.65 M4.45  4.42  5.14  1.84  2.07 M0.60  1.55  1.52  5.63 10.18  7.66 52.71 
96 9.09M12.04  3.91  6.76  4.63  1.05  0.80  0.14  3.06  5.51 11.39 15.72 74.10 
97 9.55  3.34  8.59  4.59  2.47  2.97  0.80  1.11 M3.38 M6.25  4.65  3.41 51.11 
98M8.98  5.73  4.91  1.42  5.57  1.27  0.22  0.25  0.90  4.69 10.96  0.54 45.44 
99 7.58  9.08  4.68  1.35  2.53  1.23  0.18  0.47  0.05  2.47  7.68  4.35 41.65 
 0 6.21  5.15  3.46  2.15  2.39  1.40  0.01  0.00        3.21  3.04  3.16 30.18 
 1 1.55  1.28  3.51 M0.69  1.05  1.67  0.73  1.19  0.69  3.80             16.16 
 2                                                                              
---------- 
 
WETS Station : OREGON CITY, OR6334                Creation Date: 09/09/2002 
Latitude:  4521      Longitude:  12236        Elevation:  00170  
State FIPS/County(FIPS):  41005     County Name: Clackamas  
Start yr. - 1971   End yr. - 2000 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------| 
          |       Temperature     |           Precipitation              | 
          |       (Degrees F.)    |              (Inches)                | 
          |-----------------------|--------------------------------------| 
          |       |       |       |        |   30% chance    |avg |      | 
          |       |       |       |        |    will have    |# of| avg  | 
          |-------|-------|-------|        |-----------------|days| total| 
  Month   |  avg  |  avg  |  avg  |   avg  | less   | more   |w/.1| snow | 
          | daily | daily |       |        | than   | than   |  or| fall | 
          |  max  |  min  |       |        |        |        |more|      | 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------| 
January   |  47.6 |  35.5 |  41.6 |   6.65 |   4.36 |   7.99 | 13 |  0.6 | 
February  |  52.4 |  37.2 |  44.8 |   5.51 |   3.86 |   6.54 | 12 |  0.8 | 
March     |  57.5 |  39.5 |  48.5 |   4.68 |   3.56 |   5.45 | 12 |  0.0 | 
April     |  63.0 |  42.4 |  52.7 |   3.46 |   2.49 |   4.08 |  9 |  0.0 | 
May       |  69.8 |  47.3 |  58.6 |   2.68 |   1.74 |   3.23 |  7 |  0.0 | 

Page 10 of 16

7/8/2008Printed for ftp://ftp.wcc.nrcs.usda.gov/support/climate/wetlands/or/41005.txt

cmwalker
Text Box



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

 
APPENDIX D 

Wetland Determination Data Sheets 
  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes X No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 90% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

90% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 5% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

5% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 5% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 1% No FAC to UPL Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 0 Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 0 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

6% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

15, 3S, 1W

0

Polygon Northwest Company

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed

X

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes

3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal
NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

0 X

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region

15
0

0

205

Poa palustris

<3

10/1/2013

P1OR

2.05

Wilsonville / Clackamas

None

0

Terrace

A, Northwest Forests and Coast

95

5
0

0

Fraxinus latifolia

0

Fraxinus latifolia

Wetter than usual. (0.38 inch rain day of site visit in Aurora.)   Lowest, wettest portion of Wetland B (south forested wetland).

3

3

0

190

94%

SAR
Vegetation is grazed by horses. Oregon ash trees range from 7-24" dbh.

100%

Rumpf Property in Villebois

Vicia species 100

concave

0



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P1
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

90 10 C

90 10 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

X Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

X High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

X Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)

X Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

X Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes X No Depth (inches): 8 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes X No Depth (inches): 6 Yes X No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0-11

  Depth

Color (moist)

Matrix

7.5YR 4/6 SiCL

7.5YR 3/4

Color (moist)

SiLM & PL

Redox Features

M

RemarksLoc2 Texture  (inches)

11-16

ORC 0-11

no ORC10YR 4/2

10YR 3/2

Dry above. Also have geomorphic position and FAC-Neutral test, and more than superficial ORC. Water marks at 14" on trees. Soils pugged from horses.

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR

X



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes 0 No X  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 40% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 30% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 10% No FACU Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 10% No FACU Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 5% No FACU 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 5% No FACU X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 2% No FACU 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 2% No FAC to UPL 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 1% No FAC      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

105% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P2

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W

Terrace sl. convex <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None
0 X

0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

2

2

100%

0 0

0 0

71 213
32 128

Festuca arundinacea 0 0

Agrostis capillaris 103 341

Hypochaeris radicata 3.31

Poa compressa

Taraxacum officinale

Plantago lanceolata

Prunella vulgaris

Vicia species

Ranunculus repens

0%

SAR



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P2
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

98 2 C

90 5 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >15 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >15 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks

0-11 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL few ORC 4-5"

11-15 10YR 4/2 10YR 3/3 M SiCL

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
No secondary indicators.

X

Redox too few in surface to meet F6; redox too faint in subsurface to meet A11.  Shovel refusal at 15" due to very dry compacted soils.



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 50% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 20% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 10% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 10% No FACU Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 5% No FAC 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 5% No FAC X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

100% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

Hypochaeris radicata

Ranunculus repens

Trifolium repens

10 40

Festuca arundinacea 0 0

Alopecurus pratensis 100 310

Holcus lanatus 3.10

0 0

0 0

90 270

2

2

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

Terrace concave <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P3



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P3
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

95 5 C

90 10 C

85 15 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

X Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) X Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >24 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >24 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

Many fine roots throughout profile, not oxidized. Surface ORC likely from compaction due to horses. 

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Dry, no seeps. No secondary indicators. 

13-24 10YR 5/1 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

0-6 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 PL SiL few ORC 0-3"

6-13 10YR 4/1 5YR 3/4 M SiL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes 0 No X  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 60% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 30% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 5% No FACU Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 3% No FAC Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

98% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

2%

SAR

Trifolium repens

5 20

Alopecurus pratensis 0 0

Festuca arundinacea 98 299

Hypochaeris radicata 3.05

0 0

0 0

93 279

2

2

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

Terrace convex <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P4

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P4
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

95 5 C

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >22 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >22 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

Redox is faint (hue 1 value 0 chroma 1) in surface layer.

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Dry. No secondary indicators. ORC in compacted surface layer. 

0-15 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/3 M & PL SiL 0-5 ORC

15-22 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M & PL SiCL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 50% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 20% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 20% Yes FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 10% No FAC Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

100% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

Festuca arundinacea

0 0

Ranunculus repens 0 0

Holcus lanatus 100 300

Alopecurus pratensis 3.00

0 0

0 0

100 300

3

3

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

Terrace convex <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P5

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P5
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

95 5 C

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >23 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >23 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Slightly moist 17-23" in probe. No secondary indicators. 

0-13 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL 0-5 ORC

13-23 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes X No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 90% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

90% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 40% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

40% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 40% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 20% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 15% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 5% No FAC Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

80% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

20%

SAR

Carex leptopoda

0 0

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Festuca arundinacea 210 500

Alopecurus pratensis 2.38

0 0

130 260

80 240

Fraxinus latifolia 4

4

Fraxinus latifolia 100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 
Wetland B.

Terrace concave <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P6

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P6
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

95 5 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)

X Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) X Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) X FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >15 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >15 Yes X No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

Compacted soils or roots

15 X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Water marks 2-4" on trees. No ORC in surface probably due to lack of grasses in soil pit area.

0-15 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes X No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 90% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

90% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 10% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 5% Yes FAC Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

15% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 5% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 1% No FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 0 Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 0 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

6% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

94%

SAR

0 0

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Carex leptopoda 111 233
2.10

0 0

100 200

11 33

Fraxinus latifolia 4

4

Fraxinus latifolia 100%

Crataegus douglasii

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 
Wetland B. 

Terrace concave <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P7

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P7
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

90 10 C

90 10 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

X Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) X Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA X Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) X Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) X FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >16 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >16 Yes X No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

compacted soils

16 X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR

0-6 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL few ORC 0-6

6-16 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 3% No FACU That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

3% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 40% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 30% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 20% Yes FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 10% No FAC Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 1% No FACU 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

101% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

Agrostis capillaris

Cirsium vulgare

4 16

Festuca arundinacea 0 0

Alopecurus pratensis 104 316

Holcus lanatus 3.04

0 0

0 0

100 300

3

3

Rubus armeniacus 100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 
6-12" higher than P7.

Terrace convex <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P8

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P8
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

98 2 C

90 10 C

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >23 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >23 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Dry. No secondary indicators. 

13-23 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

0-6 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 4/6 PL SiL

6-13 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes ? No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 98% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 1% No FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 1% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 0 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

100% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

0 0

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Parentucellia viscosa 100 300

Rumex crispus 3.00

0 0

0 0

100 300

1

1

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 
~15 feet north of fence in 5-foot wide very subtle linear depression (PHS Wetland A).

Terrace concave <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P9

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P9
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

80 15 C

5 C

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) X Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) X Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >20 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >20 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Slightly moist 8-20" bgs. Only one secondary indicator. PHS reports drainage patterrns in their Plot 10.

?

8-20 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

0-8 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL

10YR 3/3 M

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes ? No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 80% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 10% No FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 10% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 0 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

100% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

0 0

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Holcus lanatus 100 300

Alopecurus pratensis 3.00

0 0

0 0

100 300

1

1

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 
PHS Wetland A.

Terrace none 0

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P10

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P10
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

90 10 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >20 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >20 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
ORC not reliable indicator due to disturbed pasture and compaction from horses. Moist below 14". No secondary indicators. PHS wetland. 

?

0-20 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL ORC 0-5

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes X No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 68% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 1% No OBL Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 1% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 0 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

70% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

30%

SAR

0 0

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Rorippa curvisiliqua 70 208

Alopecurus pratensis 2.97

1 1

0 0

69 207

1

1

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 
PHS Wetland A. 

Terrace concave <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P11

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P11
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

90 10 C

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) X Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) X Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) X FAC-Neutral Test (D5) with subdominants

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >17 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >17 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Small area of surface saturation from recent rain. PHS wetland. 

X

0-10 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL

10-17 10YR 4/1 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes 0 No X  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 80% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 10% No FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 5% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 5% No FACU Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 1% No FACU 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 1% No FAC X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 1% No FAC to UPL 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

103% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

Hypochaeris radicata

Plantago lanceolata

Rumex crispus

Vicia species

6 24

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Festuca arundinacea 102 312

Holcus lanatus 3.06

0 0

0 0

96 288

1

1

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

Terrace none 0

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P12

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P12
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

95 5 C

98 2 C

90 10 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >24 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >24 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

Redox too faint in 0-6 and too few in 6-15.

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Dry throughout. Does not meet FAC-Neutral test with subdominants.

15-24 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

0-6 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/3 PL SiL

6-15 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes ? No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 50% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 30% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 15% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 5% No FACW Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

100% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

Phalaris arundinacea

0 0

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Holcus lanatus 100 295

Alopecurus pratensis 2.95

0 0

5 10

95 285

2

2

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 
PHS Wetland A.

Terrace none 0

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P13

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P13
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

90 10 C

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

X Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) X Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) X FAC-Neutral Test (D5) with subdominants

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >24 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >24 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Moist starting at 19" bgs.

?

0-9 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL ORC 0-5

9-24 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiCL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 65% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 10% No FACU Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 10% No FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 5% No FAC Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 5% No FAC 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 5% No FACU X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 1% No FACU 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 1% No NOL 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

102% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

Festuca arundinacea

Trifolium repens

Taraxacum officinale

Plantago lanceolata

Convolvulus arvensis

16 64

Agrostis capillaris 1 5

Hypochaeris radicata 102 324

Alopecurus pratensis 3.18

0 0

0 0

85 255

1

1

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

Terrace none 0

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P14

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P14
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

100

80 15 C

5 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

X Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >20 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >20 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

Pieces of charcoal 12-20" bgs.

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Dry throughout. 

7.5YR 3/4 M

0-12 10YR 3/2 SiL

12-20 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes 0 No X  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

0% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 0 That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 0 Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

0% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 60% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 20% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 10% No FACU Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 5% No FACU Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 5% No FAC 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

100% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

0%

SAR

Plantago lanceolata

Trifolium repens

15 60

Agrostis capillaris 0 0

Alopecurus pratensis 100 315

Hypochaeris radicata 3.15

0 0

0 0

85 255

2

2

100%

0 X
0
0

X
3.61" last 2 weeks (Portland); 4.15" above normal for month. 5.18" last 2 weeks (Aurora); 5.66" above normal

NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

Terrace none 0

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1A Aloha silt loam, 0-3% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/1/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P15

C. Mirth Walker, Stacy Benjamin, Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P15
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

100

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >22 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >22 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: CMW QC by:

X

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

SAR
Dry throughout. 

0-16 10YR 3/2 SiL

16-22 10YR 4/2 7.5YR 4/6 M SiL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes X No 0
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes X No 0  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 90% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 0
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

90% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 20% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 1% No FAC Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

21% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 5% Yes FAC UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 5% Yes FAC Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 5% Yes FAC Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 0 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 X 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

15% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes X No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: cmw QC by:

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region

Terrace

A, Northwest Forests and Coast

concave

0

Festuca rubra

0

X 0

85%

0

268

Poa palustris

Agrostis capillaris 126

0

2.13

Wilsonville / Clackamas

None

48
0

110

16
0

Fraxinus latifolia

Crataegus monogyna

0

Fraxinus latifolia

Paired plot to P2 (rechecked P1 and plot was dry to 23 inches bgs).

5

5

0

220

sar
Grass grazed, trampled. 

100%

Rumpf Property in Villebois

<3

10/8/2013

P16OR

15, 3S, 1W

0

Polygon Northwest Company

C. Mirth Walker and Stacey Reed

X

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes

Portland 0.84" prior week (3.61" previous week); Aurora 0.65" prior week (3.24" previous week) 0.15 / 0.02 day of
NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P16
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

80 20 C

80 10 C

10 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

X Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)

X Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) X Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) X FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >17 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >17 Yes X No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: cmw QC by:

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

sar

Water marks at 4" on fencepost.

X

7.5YR 3/4

Color (moist)

SiL

M

10YR 4/2

10YR 3/2

SiL+

M

Redox Features

M

RemarksLoc2 Texture  (inches)

  Depth

Color (moist)

Matrix

7.5YR 3/4

7.5YR 4/6

0-12

12-17

no ORC



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

Project/Site: City/County: Sampling Date:

Applicant/Owner:            State: Sampling Point:

Investigator(s):                                                             Section, Township, Range:
Landform (hillslope, terrace, etc.):           Local relief (concave, convex, none): Slope (%):

Subregion (LRR): Lat: Long: Datum:

Soil Map Unit Name: NWI classification:
Are climatic / hydrologic conditions on the site typical for this time of year?  Yes No (If no, explain in Remarks)
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology significantly disturbed? Are “Normal Circumstances” present? Yes X No 0
Are Vegetation 0 ,Soil 0 , or Hydrology naturally problematic? (If needed, explain any answers in Remarks.)

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS –  Attach site map showing sampling point locations, transects, important features, etc.
 Hydrophytic Vegetation Present? Yes 0 No X
 Hydric Soil Present? Yes X No 0  Is the Sampled Area

 Wetland Hydrology Present? Yes 0 No X  within a Wetland? Yes No

Precipitation prior to fieldwork:  
Remarks: 

VEGETATION
Absolute Dominant Indicator Dominance Test worksheet:

Tree Stratum (Plot size:__30' r__) % Cover Species? Status Number of Dominant Species  
1. 60% Yes FACW That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A)
2. 20% Yes FAC
3. 0 Total Number of Dominant   
4. 0 Species Across All Strata: (B)

80% = Total Cover
Sapling/Shrub Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__) Percent of Dominant Species
1. 60% Yes FACU That Are OBL, FACW, or FAC: (A/B)
2. 10% No FAC Prevalence Index worksheet:
3. 0         Total % Cover of:         Multiply by:                    

4. 0 OBL species x 1 =                      

5. 0 FACW species x 2 =                      

70% = Total Cover FAC species x 3 =                      

Herb Stratum (Plot size:__5' r__) FACU species x 4 =                      

1. 20% Yes NOL UPL species x 5 =                      

2. 5% Yes FACU Column Totals: (A) (B)

3. 0 Prevalence Index  = B/A =     

4. 0 Hydrophytic Vegetation Indicators: 

5. 0 1 - Rapid Test for Hydrophytic Vegetation

6. 0 2 - Dominance Test is >50%

7. 0 3 - Prevalence Index is ≤3.01

8. 0 4 - Morphological Adaptations1 (Provide supporting
9. 0      data in Remarks or on a separate sheet)

10. 0 5 - Wetland Non-Vascular Plants1

11. 0 Problematic Hydrophytic Vegetation1 (Explain)

25% = Total Cover 1Indicators of hydric soil and wetland hydrology must
Woody Vine Stratum (Plot size:__10' r__)  be present.
1. 0
2. 0 Hydrophytic 

0% = Total Cover Vegetation Yes No

% Bare Ground in Herb Stratum Present?

Remarks: Entered by: cmw QC by:

X
75%

sar

65 260

Hedera helix 20 100

Rubus ursinus 175 570
3.26

0 0

60 120

30 90

Fraxinus latifolia 2

Salix scouleriana

5

Rubus armeniacus 40%

Rosa pisocarpa

X 0
0
0

X

Triangle tax lot south of entrance driveway.

Portland 0.84" prior week (3.61" previous week); Aurora 0.65" prior week (3.24" previous week) 0.15 / 0.02 day of
NA means Not Applicable (used on plowed and planted agricultural crop sites in reference to the vegetation). 

Terrace None <3

A, Northwest Forests and Coast 0

1B Aloha silt loam, 3-6% slopes None

WETLAND DETERMINATION DATA FORM – Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast Region
Rumpf Property in Villebois Wilsonville / Clackamas 10/8/2013

Polygon Northwest Company OR P17

C. Mirth Walker and Stacey Reed 15, 3S, 1W



US Army Corps of Engineers
SWCA Environmental Consultants       

Western Mountains, Valleys and Coast - Version 2.0
SWCA Project No. 21087.11         Printed 11/13/2013 

SOIL Sampling Point: P17
 Profile Description:  (Describe to the depth needed to document the indicator or confirm the absence of indicators.)

% % Type1

100

80 20 C

1Type:  C=Concentration, D=Depletion, RM=Reduced Matrix CS=Covered or Coated Sand Grains.      2Location:  PL=Pore Lining, M=Matrix.
Hydric Soil Indicators: (Applicable to all LRRs, unless otherwise noted.) Indicators for Problematic Hydric Soils3:

Histosol (A1) Sandy Redox (S5) 2 cm Muck (A10)

Histic Epipedon (A2) Stripped Matrix (S6) Red Parent Material (TF2)

Black Histic (A3) Loamy Mucky Mineral (F1) (except MLRA 1) Very Shallow Dark Surface (TF12)

Hydrogen Sulfide (A4)  Loamy Gleyed Matrix (F2) Other (Explain in Remarks)

Depleted Below Dark Surface (A11) Depleted Matrix (F3)   

Thick Dark Surface (A12) X Redox Dark Surface (F6)
3Indicators of hydrophytic vegetation and 

Sandy Mucky Mineral (S1) Depleted Dark Surface (F7)    wetland hydrology must be present,

Sandy Gleyed Matrix (S4)  Redox Depressions (F8)    unless disturbed or problematic.

Restrictive Layer (if present):

Type:

   Depth (inches): Hydric Soil Present? Yes No

Remarks: s = sand; si = silt; c = clay; l = loam or loamy; co = coarse; f = fine; vf = very fine; + = heavy (more clay); - = light (less clay)

HYDROLOGY
Wetland Hydrology Indicators: 

Primary Indicators (minimum of one required; check all that apply)                                                       Secondary Indicators (2 or more required)

Surface Water (A1) Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (except MLRA Water-Stained Leaves (B9) (MLRA 1, 2,

High Water Table (A2)      1, 2, 4A, and 4B)     4A, and 4B)

Saturation (A3)  Salt Crust (B11) Drainage Patterns (B10)
Water Marks (B1) Aquatic Invertebrates (B13) Dry-Season Water Table (C2)

Sediment Deposits (B2) Hydrogen Sulfide Odor (C1)  Saturation Visible on Aerial Imagery (C9)

Drift Deposits (B3) Oxidized Rhizospheres along Living Roots (C3) Geomorphic Position (D2)

Algal Mat or Crust (B4) Presence of Reduced Iron (C4) Shallow Aquitard (D3)

Iron Deposits (B5) Recent Iron Reduction in Tilled Soils (C6) FAC-Neutral Test (D5)

Surface Soil Cracks (B6)    Stunted or Stressed Plants (D1) (LRR A) Raised Ant Mounds (D6) (LRR A)

Inundation Visible on Aerial Imagery (B7) Other (Explain in Remarks) Frost-Heave Hummocks (D7)

Sparsely Vegetated Concave Surface (B8)

Field Observations:

 Surface Water Present?                        Yes No X Depth (inches):
 Water Table Present?    Yes No X Depth (inches): >21 Wetland Hydrology Present?     

 Saturation Present?  Yes No X Depth (inches): >21 Yes No
 (includes capillary fringe)

 Remarks: Entered by: cmw QC by:

X

X

 Describe Recorded Data (stream gauge, monitoring well, aerial photos, previous inspections), if available:

sar
Dry throughout, no secondary indicators. Wetland to south does not extend north onto subject parcels. 

0-5 10YR 3/2 SiL

5-21 10YR 3/2 7.5YR 3/4 M SiL

  Depth Matrix Redox Features

  (inches) Color (moist) Color (moist) Loc2 Texture Remarks



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

APPENDIX E 

Ground-Level Site Photographs 
  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

  



N
:\

pr
oj

\3
95

-0
27

\0
9 

D
ra

w
in

gs
\0

6 
Su

rv
ey

\E
xh

ib
its

\3
95

02
7.

Ru
m

pf
 W

et
la

nd
s.d

w
g

 - 
SH

EE
T:

 L
et

te
r  

  O
ct

. 7
, 1

3 
- 9

:2
6 

A
M

  t
2

PACIFIC COMMUNITY DESIGN
PLANNING - ENGINEERING - SURVEYING 

(503) 941-9484

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Polygon

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA Environmental Consultants Photo Location Map               Photo location and direction of view.               October 1 and 8, 2013.

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Polygonal Line

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
A

cmwalker
Text Box
A

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
B

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
C

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
D

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
E

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
G

cmwalker
Text Box
F

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
H

cmwalker
Text Box
I

cmwalker
Text Box
J

cmwalker
Text Box
K

cmwalker
Text Box
L

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Text Box
A

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Callout
SWCA delineated Wetland B boundary

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA PLOT 17

cmwalker
Text Box
SWCA PLOT 16

cmwalker
Line

cmwalker
Line



R
um

pf
 P

ro
pe

rty
 W

et
la

nd
 D

el
in

ea
tio

n 
SW

C
A

 P
ro

je
ct

 N
o.

 2
10

87
.1

1 
A

pp
en

di
x 

E 

E-
1 

 
P

h
o

to
 A

. V
ie

w
 s

ou
th

w
es

t i
n 

vi
ci

ni
ty

 o
f w

et
la

nd
 P

lo
t 1

 in
 th

e 
so

ut
h 

W
et

la
nd

 B
, w

ith
 h

ig
h 

w
at

er
 m

ar
ks

 o
n 

tre
es

 a
nd

 fe
nc

e 
po

st
s.

 

 
P

h
o

to
 B

. V
ie

w
 s

ou
th

 o
f b

ur
ie

d 
cu

lv
er

t u
nd

er
 e

nt
ra

nc
e 

dr
iv

ew
ay

. 

 
P

h
o

to
 C

. V
ie

w
 w

es
t o

f w
at

er
 m

ar
ks

 o
n 

fe
nc

e 
po

st
s 

gr
ad

ua
lly

 d
ec

re
as

in
g;

 v
er

tic
al

 a
rr

ow
s 

po
in

t t
o 

w
et

la
nd

 P
lo

t 
16

 in
 fo

re
gr

ou
nd

 a
nd

 u
pl

an
d 

P
lo

t 2
 in

 b
ac

kg
ro

un
d.

 

 
P

h
o

to
 D

. V
ie

w
 w

es
t o

f u
pl

an
d 

P
lo

t 8
 in

 fo
re

gr
ou

nd
 (h

ig
he

r 
el

ev
at

io
n 

w
/ b

la
ck

be
rr

y)
 a

nd
 w

et
la

nd
 P

lo
t 7

in
 b

ac
kg

ro
un

d.
 



R
um

pf
 P

ro
pe

rty
 W

et
la

nd
 D

el
in

ea
tio

n 
SW

C
A

 P
ro

je
ct

 N
o.

 2
10

87
.1

1 
A

pp
en

di
x 

E 

E-
2 

 
P

h
o

to
 E

. V
ie

w
 w

es
t o

f u
pl

an
d 

P
lo

t 5
 a

nd
 w

et
la

nd
 b

ou
nd

ar
y.

  
P

h
o

to
 F

. V
ie

w
 n

or
th

 o
f u

pl
an

d 
Pl

ot
 5

, P
lo

t 3
, a

nd
 P

lo
t 4

, 
re

sp
ec

tiv
el

y.
 

 
P

h
o

to
 G

. V
ie

w
 s

ou
th

 in
to

 W
et

la
nd

 B
 n

ea
r P

lo
t 6

. 

 
P

h
o

to
 H

. V
ie

w
 s

ou
th

 in
 W

et
la

nd
 A

 to
w

ar
ds

 w
et

la
nd

 P
lo

t 1
0 

in
 fo

re
gr

ou
nd

 a
nd

 P
lo

t 9
 in

 b
ac

kg
ro

un
d.

  



R
um

pf
 P

ro
pe

rty
 W

et
la

nd
 D

el
in

ea
tio

n 
SW

C
A

 P
ro

je
ct

 N
o.

 2
10

87
.1

1 
A

pp
en

di
x 

E 

E-
3 

 
P

h
o

to
 I.

 V
ie

w
 o

f W
et

la
nd

 P
lo

t 1
1 

in
 W

et
la

nd
 A

.  

 
P

h
o

to
 J

. V
ie

w
 s

ou
th

 o
f l

ar
ge

 O
re

go
n 

as
h 

tre
e 

in
 u

pl
an

d,
 

so
ut

h 
of

 d
riv

ew
ay

.  

 
P

h
o

to
 K

. V
ie

w
 w

es
t o

f u
pl

an
d 

P
lo

t 1
7,

 s
ou

th
 o

f d
riv

ew
ay

. 

 
P

h
o

to
 L

. V
ie

w
 e

as
t i

nt
o 

ho
rs

e 
pa

st
ur

e 
fro

m
 e

nt
ra

nc
e 

dr
iv

ew
ay

. 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

APPENDIX F 

Literature Cited and References Used 
  



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

 

This page intentionally left blank. 

 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

F-1 

Adamus, P.R. 2001. Guidebook for Hydrogeomorphic (HGM)-based Assessment of Oregon Wetland and 
Riparian Sites: Statewide Classification and Profiles. Salem, Oregon: Oregon Division of State 
Lands.  

Cowardin, L.M., V. Carter, F.C. Golet, and E.T. LaRoe. 1979. Classification of Wetlands and Deepwater 
Habitats of the United States. FWS/OBS-79/31. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service. Available at: http://www.npwrc.usgs.gov/resource/wetlands/classwet/index.htm. 

Department of State Lands (DSL). 2013. Administrative Rules for Wetland Delineation Report 
Requirements. Adopted January 1, 2013. Available at 
http://www.oregon.gov/dsl/pages/rules_activity.aspx. Accessed January 2013. 

Environmental Laboratory. 1987. Corps of Engineers Wetlands Delineation Manual. Technical Report Y-
87-1. Online edition. Vicksburg, Mississippi: U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment 
Station. Available at: http://el.erdc.usace.army.mil/wetlands/pdfs/wlman87.pdf. 

Google Earth. 2013. Aerial photographs of 28100 SW Grahams Ferry Road. Available at: 
http://earth.google.com. Accessed September 10, 2013. 

Lichvar, R.W. 2013. The National Wetland Plant List: 2013 Wetland Ratings. Phytoneuron 2013-49: 1-
241. Available at: http://rsgisias.crrel.usace.army.mil/NWPL/. Accessed July 12, 2013. 

National Weather Service (NWS). 2013. Aurora, OR. Available at: 
http://www.nws.noaa.gov/climate/index.php?wfo=pqr. Accessed October 2013. 

Natural Resources Conservation Service (NRCS). 2013a. Hydric soils in Clackamas County area, 
Oregon (survey version 6 dated March 20, 2007). Available at: 
http://www.or.nrcs.usda.gov/technical/soil/hydric.html. Accessed January 2013. 

———. 2013b. Official soil series descriptions. Available at: 
http://soils.usda.gov/technical/classification/osd/index.html. Accessed January 2013. 

———. 2013c. Online soil survey. Available at: http://websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/. Accessed 
September 2013. 

Oregon Map. 2013. Available at: www.ormap.org. Accessed September 9, 2013. 

Pacific Habitat Services (PHS). 2007. Wetland Determination and Delineation for Villebois SAP North 
Planning Area (in part) on SW Grahams Ferry Road in Wilsonville, Oregon (Township 3 South, 
Range 1 West, Section 15, W.M.; Tax Lots 1200, 1202, 1203, 1205, 1591, and a portion of 2990). 
WD#2007-0706 dated May 5, 2008. Prepared for West Hills Development. Wilsonville, Oregon: 
Pacific Habitat Services, Inc.  

SWCA Environmental Consultants (SWCA). 2013. Villebois North (Zion Property) Wetland Delineation 
Report, Wilsonville, Oregon. T3S, R1W, Section 15, Tax Lots 2915 and 2995 (portion), 
Clackamas County, W.M. WD #2013-0131. Prepared for Polygon Northwest Company. Portland, 
Oregon: SWCA Environmental Consultants. 

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). No date. Sherwood, Oregon. 7.5-minute National Wetlands 
Inventory map. Color infrared aerial photography flown 8/81 at 1:58,000. Washington, D.C.: U.S. 
Fish and Wildlife Service. 



Rumpf Property Wetland Delineation 
SWCA Project No. 21087.11 

F-2 

U.S. Geological Survey (USGS). 1986. Sherwood, Oregon. 7.5-minute topographic quadrangle. 1:24,000. 
Reston, Virginia: U.S. Geological Survey.  

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 2010. Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland 
Delineation Manual: Western Mountains, Valleys, and Coast Region (Version 2.0), ed. J.S. 
Wakeley, R.W. Lichvar, and C.V. Noble. ERDC/EL TR-10-3. Vicksburg, Mississippi: U.S. 
Army Engineer Research and Development Center. 

X-Rite. 2000. Year 2000 revised washable edition, Munsell soil color charts. Grand Rapids, Michigan: X-
Rite. 



Section IV
Tentative Plat



IVA
Supporting Compliance Report



SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT PAGE 1 

SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT 

TENTATIVE PLAT 

PDP 3 NORTH 

SECTION IVA 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. WILSONVILLE PLANNING & LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE ................... 2 

SECTION 4.125.  VILLAGE (V) ZONE ........................................................................... 2 

(.02)  PERMITTED USES.............................................................................................. 2 

(.05)  DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS APPLYING TO ALL DEVELOPMENTS IN THE VILLAGE ZONE

........................................................................................................................ 2 
(.07)  GENERAL REGULATIONS – OFF-STREET PARKING, LOADING & BICYCLE PARKING .. 4 

(.08)  OPEN SPACE .................................................................................................... 4 

(.09)  STREET & ACCESS IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS .................................................... 5 

(.18)  VILLAGE ZONE DEVELOPMENT PERMIT PROCESS ................................................. 8 

SECTION 4.177.  STREET IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS .................................................... 8 

SECTION 4.210.  APPLICATION PROCEDURE ................................................................. 8 

SECTION 4.236.  GENERAL REQUIREMENTS – STREETS. .............................................. 14 

SECTION 4.237.  GENERAL REQUIREMENTS – OTHER. ................................................. 16 

SECTION 4.262.  IMPROVEMENTS - REQUIREMENTS. ................................................... 19 

II. CONCLUSION ................................................................................ 21



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 2 
 
 
   

I. WILSONVILLE PLANNING & LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 

SECTION 4.125.  VILLAGE (V) ZONE 

(.02)  PERMITTED USES 

Examples of principle uses that are typically permitted: 

A. Single Family Detached Dwellings 

H. Non-commercial parks, plazas, playgrounds, recreational facilities, 
community buildings and grounds, tennis courts, and other similar 
recreational and community uses owned and operated either 
publicly or by an owners association. 

Response: The Tentative Plat (see Notebook Section IVB) shows that the proposed 
Tentative Plat will create lots for development of single family dwellings and tracts 
for parks and open space. All proposed uses within the subject area are permitted 
pursuant to this section. 

 
(.05)  DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS APPLYING TO ALL DEVELOPMENTS IN THE VILLAGE ZONE 

All development in this zone shall be subject to the V Zone and the 
applicable provisions of the Wilsonville Planning and Land Development 
Ordinance.  If there is a conflict, then the standards of this section shall 
apply.  The following standards shall apply to all development in the V zone: 

A. Block, Alley, Pedestrian and Bicycle Standards: 

1. Maximums Block Perimeter:  1,800 feet, unless the Development 
Review Board makes a finding that barriers such as existing 
buildings, topographic variations, or designated Significant Resource 
Overlay Zone areas will prevent a block perimeter from meeting this 
standard. 

Response: These standards are addressed within the PDP Compliance Report (see 
Notebook Section IIIA). 
 

2. Maximum spacing between streets for local access:  530 feet, unless 
the Development Review Board makes a finding that barriers such as 
existing buildings, topographic variations, or designated Significant 
Resource Overlay Zone areas will prevent street extensions from 
meeting this standard. 

Response: These standards are addressed within the PDP Compliance Report (see 
Notebook Section IIIA). 
 

3. If the maximum spacing for streets for local access exceeds 530 feet, 
intervening pedestrian and bicycle access shall be provided, with a 
maximum spacing of 330 feet from those local streets, unless the 
Development Review Board makes a finding that barriers such as existing 
buildings, topographic variations, or designated Significant Resource 
Overlay Zone areas will prevent pedestrian and bicycle facility extensions 
from meeting this standard. 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 3 
 
 
   

Response: These standards are addressed within the PDP Compliance Report (see 
Notebook Section IIIA). 

B. Access:  All lots with access to a public street, and an alley, shall 
take vehicular access from the alley to a garage or parking area, 
except as determined by the City Engineer. 

Response: All of the lots within the proposed PDP that have frontage on a public 
street and an alley will take vehicular access from an alley to a garage or parking area.   
 

Table V-1 Development Standards 

 

Response: The attached Tentative Plat (see Notebook Section IIIB) depicts 
proposed lot sizes and dimensions.  All of the lots will be developed with single family 
dwelling units.  All of the lots meet applicable requirements, as addressed below.  No 
buildings are proposed with this application.  Final compliance with these standards 
will be reviewed at building permit submittal.  

 

 Single-Family Dwellings 

Minimum lot size:  2,250 square feet 

Minimum lot width:  35 feet 

Minimum lot depth:  50 feet 

Response: All lots within the proposed tentative plat meet the minimum lot size 
requirement and meet the minimum lot width and depth specified for Small, Medium, 
Standard, and Large lots in the approved SAP North Architectural Pattern Book, with 
allowed variations for site features, such as road alignment or site topography. 

Allowed variations are requested for Lots 8, 9, and 54, where road curvatures limit 
the width of lot frontage. Lot 8 has 58 feet of street frontage and Lot 9 has 44.3 feet 
of street frontage, resulting from the street corner knuckle effect on the front of these 
lots. However, lot width at the front building elevation will be at least 60 feet as 
future dwellings on these lots will be 50 feet in width with 5-foot minimum side yard 
setbacks. In addition, at the rear lot line, the width of these lots exceeds 60 feet. Lot 
54 has approximately 56 of street frontage, as it is a corner lot located at the 
intersection of an angled street; SW Belfast Avenue is angled with a southwestern to 
northeastern orientation and intersects with SW Barcelona that has a west to east 
orientation. As a result, Lot 54 has a narrower lot width at the front lot line than the 
rear lot line (lot width at the rear is 91.6 feet wide). However, Lot 54 will have 
approximately 64 feet of distance between side lot lines at the front building 
elevation.  

In addition, Small lots utilize the +/-32-40’ typical lot width specified in the SAP North 
Pattern Book. Lots 38 and 39 are approximately 46 feet in width as they utilize the 
typical 10-foot street side yard in addition to the +/-32-40’ typical lot width standard 
for Smalls, as shown in the SAP North Pattern Book.  

 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 4 
 
 
   

 
(.07)  GENERAL REGULATIONS – OFF-STREET PARKING, LOADING & BICYCLE PARKING 

 
Table V-2:  Off-Street Parking Requirements 

Category 
Min. 

Vehicle 
Spaces 

Max. 
Vehicle 
Spaces 

Bicycle 
Short Term 

Bicycle 
Long 
Term 

Single Family Detached Dwelling 
Units 

1.0 / DU 

 

NR 

 

NR 

 

NR 

 

 
Response: Each of the homes will provide a minimum of a two-car garage in 
compliance with this standard. 
 
 
(.08)  OPEN SPACE 

Open space shall be provided as follows: 

A.  In all residential developments and in mixed-use developments 
where the majority of the developed square footage is to be in 
residential use, at least twenty-five percent (25%) of the area shall 
be open space, excluding street pavement and surface parking. In 
multi-phased developments, individual phases are not required to 
meet the 25% standard as long as an approved Specific Area Plan 
demonstrates that the overall development shall provide a minimum 
of 25% open space. Required front yard areas shall not be counted 
towards the required open space area. Required rear yard areas and 
other landscaped areas that are not within required front or side 
yards may be counted as part of the required open space. 

B.  Open space area required by this Section may, at the discretion of 
the Development Review Board, be protected by a conservation 
easement or dedicated to the City, either rights in fee or easement, 
without altering the density or other development standards of the 
proposed development. Provided that, if the dedication is for public 
park purposes, the size and amount of the proposed dedication shall 
meet the criteria of the City of Wilsonville standards. The square 
footage of any land, whether dedicated or not, which is used for 
open space shall be deemed a part of the development site for the 
purpose of computing density or allowable lot coverage.  See SROZ 
provisions, Section 4.139.10. 

C. The Development Review Board may specify the method of assuring 
the long-term protection and maintenance of open space and/or 
recreational areas. Where such protection or maintenance are the 
responsibility of a private party or homeowners’ association, the City 
Attorney shall review and approve any pertinent bylaws, covenants, 
or agreements prior to recordation. 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 5 
 
 
   

Response: The Parks Master Plan for Villebois states that there are 58.42 acres of 
parks and 101.31 acres of open space for a total of 159.73 acres within Villebois, 
approximately 33%.  SAP North includes parks and open space areas consistent with 
Master Plan.  PDP 3N includes parks and open space areas consistent with the Master 
Plan and the SAP North Amendment, as described in more detail in the PDP compliance 
report (see Section IIIA). 
 
 
(.09)  STREET & ACCESS IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS 

A. Except as noted below, the provisions of Section 4.177 apply within 
the Village zone: 

1. General Provisions: 

a. All street alignment and access improvements shall conform to 
the Villebois Village Master Plan, or as refined in the Specific Area 
Plan, Preliminary Development Plan, or Final Development Plan 
and the following standards: 

Response: The street alignment and access improvements are consistent with the 
Villebois Village Master Plan and the concurrent SAP North Amendment.  
 

i. All street improvements shall conform to the Public Works 
Standards and shall provide for the continuation of streets 
through proposed developments to adjoining properties or 
subdivisions, according to the Master Plan. 

Response: All street improvements within this Preliminary Development Plan will 
comply with the applicable Public Works Standards. The street system within this 
Preliminary Development Plan is designed to provide for the continuation of streets 
within Villebois and to adjoining development according to the Master Plan.  The 
street system is illustrated on Sheet 7 - Circulation Plan in Notebook Section IIIB. 
 

ii. All streets shall be developed with curbs, landscape strips, 
bikeways or pedestrian pathways, according to the Master 
Plan.  

Response: All streets within this Preliminary Development Plan will be developed 
with curbs, landscape strips, sidewalks, and bikeways or pedestrian pathways as 
depicted on Sheet 7 - Circulation Plan in Notebook Section IIIB and in accordance with 
the Master Plan. 
 

2. Intersections of streets 

a. Angles: Streets shall intersect one another at angles not less than 90 
degrees, unless existing development or topography makes it 
impractical. 

b. Intersections:  If the intersection cannot be designed to form a right 
angle, then the right-of-way and paving within the acute angle shall 
have a minimum of thirty (30) foot centerline radius and said angle 
shall not be less than sixty (60) degrees.  Any angle less than ninety 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 6 
 
 
   

(90) degrees shall require approval by the City Engineer after 
consultation with the Fire District. 

Response: The Tentative Plat located in Section IVB of this Notebook demonstrates 
that all proposed streets will intersect at angles consistent with the above standards. 
See also Notebook Section IIIB - Reduced Drawings. 
 

c. Offsets: Opposing intersections shall be designed so that no offset 
dangerous to the traveling public is created. Intersections shall be 
separated by at least: 

i. 1000 ft. for major arterials 

ii. 600 ft. for minor arterials 

iii. 100 ft. for major collector 

iv. 50 ft. for minor collector 

Response: The Tentative Plat located in Notebook Section IIIB demonstrates that 
opposing intersections on public streets are offset, as appropriate, so that no danger 
to the traveling public is created.    
 

d. Curb Extensions: 

i. Curb extensions at intersections shall be shown on the Specific 
Area Plans required in subsection 4.125(.18)(C) through (F), 
below, and shall: 

ii. Not obstruct bicycle lanes on collector streets. 

iii. Provide a minimum 20 foot wide clear distance between curb 
extensions all local residential street intersections shall have, 
shall meet minimum turning radius requirements of the Public 
Works Standards, and shall facilitate fire truck turning 
movements as required by the Fire District. 

Response: Curb extensions are shown on Sheet 7 - Circulation Plan in Notebook 
Section IIIB. PDP 3N does not include any collector streets or bike lanes.  The attached 
drawings illustrate that all street intersections will have a minimum 20 foot wide clear 
distance between curb extensions on all local residential street intersections. 
 

3. Street grades shall be a maximum of 6% on arterials and 8% for collector 
and local streets. Where topographic conditions dictate, grades in 
excess of 8%, but not more than 12%, may be permitted for short 
distances, as approved by the City Engineer, where topographic 
conditions or existing improvements warrant modification of these 
standards. 

Response: Sheet 5 - Grading Plan in Notebook Section IIIB demonstrates that 
proposed streets can comply with this standard. 
 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 7 
 
 
   

4. Centerline Radius Street Curves: 

The minimum centerline radius street curves shall be as follows: 

a. Arterial streets: 600 feet, but may be reduced to 400 feet in 
commercial areas, as approved by City Engineer. 

b. Collector streets:  600 feet, but may be reduced to conform with the 
Public Works Standards, as approved by the City Engineer. 

c. Local streets:  75 feet 

Response: The Tentative Plat (see Notebook Section IVB) demonstrates that all 
streets will comply with the above standards. 
 

5. Rights-of-way: 

a. See (.09) (A), above. 

Response: Proposed rights-of-way are shown on the Tentative Plat, located in 
Section IVB of this Notebook.  Rights-of-way will be dedicated and a waiver of 
remonstrance against the formation of a local improvement district will be recorded 
with recordation of a final plat in accordance with Section 4.177. 
 

6. Access drives. 

a. See (.09) (A), above. 

b. 16 feet for two-way traffic. 

Response: Access drives (alleys) will be paved at least 16-feet within a 20-foot 
tract, as shown on Sheet 7 - Circulation Plan in Notebook Section IIIB.   In accordance 
with Section 4.177, all access drives will be constructed with a hard surface capable 
of carrying a 23-ton load.  Easements for fire access will be dedicated as required by 
the fire department.  All access drives will be designed to provide a clear travel lane 
free from any obstructions. 
 

7. Clear Vision Areas 

a. See (.09) (A), above. 

Response: Clear vision areas will be provided and maintained in compliance with 
the Section 4.177. 
 

8. Vertical clearance:   

a. See (.09) (A), above. 

Response: Vertical clearance will be provided and maintained in compliance with 
the Section 4.177. 
 

9. Interim Improvement Standard:  

a. See (.09) (A), above. 

Response:  An interim street section improvement will be provided on Grahams 
Ferry Road to create consistency with the street improvements previously completed 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 8 
 
 
   

with phased development of SAP North and SAP South. Additionally, improvements on 
SW Tooze Road are planned to be provided by the City. No other interim street 
improvements are proposed. 
 
(.18)  VILLAGE ZONE DEVELOPMENT PERMIT PROCESS 

 G. Preliminary Development Plan Approval Process: 

1. An application for approval of a Preliminary Development Plan 
for a development in an approved SAP shall:   

f) Include a preliminary land division (concurrently) per Section 
4.400, as applicable. 

Response:  This request is for a Tentative Subdivision Plat.  This section includes a 
Supporting Compliance Report, the proposed Tentative Plat, draft CC&R’s, a copy of 
the certification of liens & assessments form, and the subdivision name approval from 
the County Surveyor’s Office. 
 
 
SECTION 4.177.  STREET IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS 

Response: Proposed rights-of-way are shown on the Tentative Plat in Notebook 
Section IIIB.  Rights-of-way will be dedicated and a waiver of remonstrance against 
the formation of a local improvement district will be recorded with the final plat.   

Reduced drawings located in Notebook Section IIIB demonstrate that all proposed 
access drives (alleys) within the Preliminary Development Plan area will have a 
minimum improvement width of 16 feet and will provide two-way travel.  All access 
drives (alleys) will be constructed with a hard surface capable of carrying a 23-ton 
load.  Easements for fire access will be dedicated as required by the fire department.  
All access drives will be designed to provide a clear travel lane free from any 
obstructions.   

Clear vision areas will be maintained in accordance with the standards of Subsection 
4.177(.01)(I).  Vertical clearance will be maintained over all streets and access drives 
in accordance with Subsection 4.177(.01)(J).   
 
 
LAND DIVISIONS 

SECTION 4.210.  APPLICATION PROCEDURE 

A. Preparation of Tentative Plat.  The Planning Staff shall provide 
information regarding procedures and general information having a 
direct influence on the proposed development, such as elements of the 
Comprehensive Plan, existing and proposed streets, road and public 
utilities.  The applicant shall cause to be prepared a tentative plat, 
together with improvement plans and other supplementary material as 
specified in this Section.  The Tentative Plat shall be prepared by an 
Oregon licensed professional land surveyor or engineer.  An affidavit of 
the services of each surveyor or engineer shall be furnished as part of 
the submittal. 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 9 
 
 
   

Response: A Tentative Plat has been prepared by an Oregon licensed professional 
engineer as required.  The Tentative Plat can be seen in Section IVB of this Notebook.  
Improvement plans can be seen in Notebook Section IIIB.  The Introductory Narrative 
located in Section IA includes a listing of the services provided by each design team 
member. 

B. Tentative Plat Submission.  The purpose of the Tentative Plat is to 
present a study of the proposed subdivision to the Planning Department 
and Development Review Board and to receive approval 
recommendations for revisions before preparation of a final Plat.  The 
design and layout of this plan plat shall meet the guidelines and 
requirements set forth in this Code.  The Tentative Plat shall be 
submitted to the Planning Department with the following information: 

1. Site development application form completed and signed by the 
owner of the land or a letter of authorization signed by the 
owner.  A preliminary title report or other proof of ownership is 
to be included with the application form. 

2. Application fees as established by resolution of the City Council. 

Response: Copies of the application form and the application fee are included in 
Notebook Sections IB and IC, respectively. 
 

3. Ten (10) copies and one (1) sepia or suitable reproducible tracing 
of the Tentative Plat shall be submitted with the application.  
Paper size shall be eighteen inch (18”) by twenty-four inch (24”), 
or such other size as may be specified by the City Engineer. 

Response: The balance of the 10 copies of the Tentative Plat (see Notebook 
Section IIIB) will be provided when the application is determined complete; three (3) 
of which have been provided with initial submittal.  
 

4. Name of the subdivision.  No subdivision shall duplicate or 
resemble the name of any other subdivision in Clackamas or 
Washington County.  Names may be checked through the county 
offices. 

Response: The name of the proposed subdivision of PDP 3N is “Calais at Villebois” 
(see Notebook Section IVE for documentation of subdivision name approval from the 
Clackamas County Surveyor’s Office). 
 

5. Names, address, and telephone numbers of the owners and 
applicants, and engineer or surveyor. 

Response: The names, addresses and telephone numbers of the owner, applicant, 
engineer and surveyor are listed in the Introductory Narrative, which can be seen in 
Notebook Section IA, and are listed on the Cover Sheet in Notebook Section IIIB. 
 

6. Date, north point and scale drawing. 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 10 
 
 
   

7. Location of the subject property by Section, Township, and 
Range. 

8. Legal road access to subject property shall be indicated as City, 
County, or other public roads. 

9. Vicinity map showing the relationship to the nearest major 
highway or street. 

10. Lots:  Dimensions of all lots, minimum lot size, average lot size, 
and proposed lot and block numbers. 

11. Gross acreage in proposed plat. 

Response: The above information is provided on the plan sheets located in 
Notebook Section IIIB.  The location of the subject property by Section, Township and 
Range and the gross acreage of the proposed plat are also listed in the Introductory 
Narrative, located in Notebook Section IA, and are listed on the Cover Sheet in 
Notebook Section IIIB. 
 

12. Proposed uses of the property, including sits, if any, for multi-
family dwellings, shopping centers, churches, industries, parks, 
and playgrounds or other public or semi-public uses. 

Response: The proposed plat does not include any multi-family dwelling sites, 
shopping centers, churches, or industries.  Park and open space areas are indicated 
on the plan sheets located in Notebook Section IIIB.  Proposed uses within the subject 
park and open space areas are detailed on the FDP Plans included in Notebook Section 
VIIB. 
 

13. Improvements:  Statement of the improvements to be made or 
installed including streets, sidewalks, lighting, tree planting, and 
times such improvements are to be made or completed. 

Response: Proposed improvements are shown on the plan sheets in Notebook 
Section IIIB.  Sheet 7 - Circulation Plan & Street Sections shows proposed streets and 
sidewalks.  Sheet 11 - Street Tree/Lighting Plan shows proposed street trees and 
proposed street lights.   
 

14. Trees. Locations, types, sizes, and general conditions of all 
existing trees, as required in Section 4.600. 

Response: The requirements of Section 4.600 can be seen in Section VI of this 
Notebook.  Additionally, Sheet 10 - Tree Preservation Plan in Notebook Section IIIB 
shows existing tree locations, types, sizes and general conditions, pursuant to the 
requirements of Section 4.600. 
 

15. Utilities such as electrical, gas, telephone, on and abutting the 
tract. 

Response: Sheet 6 - Composite Utility Plan in Notebook Section IIIB shows existing 
and proposed utilities.   
 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 11 
 
 
   

16. Easements:  Approximate width, location, and purpose of all 
existing and proposed easements on, and known easements 
abutting the tract. 

17. Deed Restrictions:  Outline of proposed deed restrictions, if any. 

18. Written Statement:  Information which is not practical to be 
shown on the maps may be shown in separate statements 
accompanying the Tentative Plat. 

19. If the subdivision is to be a “Planned Development,” a copy of 
the proposed Home Owners Association By-Laws must be 
submitted at the time of submission of the application.  The 
Tentative Plat shall be considered as the Stage I Preliminary Plan.  
The proposed By-Laws must address the maintenance of any 
parks, common areas, or facilities. 

Response: Sheet 2 - Existing Conditions (see Notebook Section IIIB) shows the 
approximate width, location, and purpose of all existing easements. The attached 
Tentative Plat (see Notebook Section IVB) shows proposed easements as applicable to 
the subject site.  No deed restrictions are proposed at this time.  A draft of the CC&R’s 
are attached as Notebook Section IVC. 
 

20. Any plat bordering a stream or river shall indicate areas subject 
to flooding and shall comply with the provisions of Section 4.172. 

Response: The proposed plat areas do not border a stream or river. 
 

21. Proposed use or treatment of any property designated as open 
space by the City of Wilsonville. 

Response: The proposed plat includes a portion of Open Space 2 and a separate 
open space area in the southwestern site corner.  These areas will be retained in tracts 
that will be owned and maintained by the homeowners association.  Proposed use of 
the open space tracts is shown in the FDP plans included in Section VIIB of this 
Notebook.   
 

22. A list of the names and addresses of the owners of all properties 
within 250 feet of the subject property, printed on self-adhesive 
mailing labels.  The list shall be taken from the latest available 
property ownership records of the Assessor’s Office of the 
affected county. 

Response: The required mailing list has been submitted with this application.  A 
copy is provided in Notebook Section ID. 
 

23. A completed “liens and assessments” form, provided by the City 
Finance Department. 

Response: A copy of this form is provided in Notebook Section IVD. 
 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 12 
 
 
   

24. Locations of all areas designated as a Significant Resource 
Overlay Zone by the City, as well as any wetlands shall be shown 
on the tentative plat. 

Response: Sheet 2 - Existing Conditions in Notebook Section IIIB shows the location 
of the SROZ and Impact Area boundaries. The SROZ will be retained with Open Space 
2 in a tract as shown on the attached Tentative Plat (see Notebook Section IVB), which 
will be owned and maintained by the homeowners association. 
 

25. Locations of all existing and proposed utilities, including but not 
limited to domestic water, sanitary sewer, storm drainage, 
streets, and any private utilities crossing or intended to serve the 
site.  Any plans to phase the construction or use of utilities shall 
be indicated. 

Response: Sheet 2 - Existing Conditions shows all existing utilities.  Sheet 6 - 
Composite Utility Plan shows all proposed utilities.  Sheet 5 - Grading Plan shows 
proposed streets and storm drainage facilities.  These plan sheets can be seen in 
Notebook Section IIIB. 
 

26. A traffic study, prepared under contract with the City, shall be 
submitted as part of the tentative plat application process, unless 
specifically waived by the Community Development Director. 

Response: A copy of the Traffic Impact Analysis is attached in Notebook Section 
IIID.   
 

C. Action on proposed tentative plat: 

1. Consideration of tentative subdivision plat.  The Development 
Review Board shall consider the tentative plat and the reports of 
City staff and other agencies at a regular Board meeting no more 
than ninety (90) days after tentative plat application has been 
accepted as complete by the City.  Final action on the proposed 
tentative plat shall occur within the time limits specified in 
Section 4.013.  The tentative plat shall be approved if the 
Development Review Board determines that the tentative plat 
conforms in all respects to the requirements of this Code. 

Response: The Tentative Plat (see Notebook Section IVB) is included with this 
application for review by the Development Review Board. 

2. Consideration of tentative partition plat.  The Planning Director 
shall review and consider any proposed land partition plat 
through the procedures for Administrative Reviews specified in 
Section 4.030 and 4.035. 

Response: This request is for a Tentative Subdivision Plat.  This code section does 
not apply. 
 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 13 
 
 
   

3. The Board shall, by resolution, adopt its decision, together with 
findings and a list of all Conditions of Approval or required 
changes to be reflected on the Final Plat 

Response: Any Conditions of Approval adopted by the Board shall be reflected on 
the Final Plat. 
 

4. Board may limit content of deed restrictions.  In order to promote 
local, regional and state interests in affordable housing, the 
Board may limit the content that will be accepted within 
proposed deed restrictions or covenants.  In adopting conditions 
of approval for a residential subdivision or condominium 
development, the Board may prohibit such things as mandatory 
minimum construction costs, minimum unit sizes, prohibitions or 
manufactures housing, etc. 

Response: The applicant recognizes the authority of the Board to limit the content 
of the deed restrictions or covenants. 
 

5. Effect of Approval.  After approval of a tentative plat, the 
applicant may proceed with final surveying, improvement 
construction and preparation of the final plat.  Approval shall be 
effective for a period of two (2) years, and if the final plat is not 
submitted to the Planning Department within such time, the 
tentative plat shall be submitted again and the entire procedure 
shall be repeated for consideration of any changes conditions 
which may exist.  Except, however, that the Development 
Review Board may grant a time extension as provided in Section 
4.023. 

Response: After approval of the Tentative Plat, a final plat will be prepared and 
submitted to the Planning Department within two years if an extension is not provided. 
 

D. Land division phases to be shown.  Where the applicant intends to 
develop the land in phases, the schedule for such phasing shall be 
presented for review at the time of the tentative plat.  In acting on an 
application for tentative plat approval, the Planning Director or 
Development Review Board may set time limits for the completion of 
the phasing schedule which, if not met, shall result in an expiration of 
the tentative plat approval. 

Response: The PDP is proposed to be executed in one (1) phase. 
 

E. Remainder tracts to be shown as lots or parcels.  Tentative plats shall 
clearly show all effected property as part of the application for land 
division.  All remainder tracts, regardless of size, shall be shown and 
counted among the parcels or lots of the division. 

Response: The Tentative Plat (see Notebook Section IVB) illustrates the entirety 
of effected property is included in lots and tracts.   
 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 14 
 
 
   

 
SECTION 4.236.  GENERAL REQUIREMENTS – STREETS. 

(.01) Conformity to the Master Plan Map:  Land divisions shall conform to and be 
in harmony with the Transportation Master Plan (Transportation Systems 
Plan), the bicycle and Pedestrian Master Plan, the Parks and Recreation 
Master Plan, the Official Plan or Map and especially to the Master Street 
Plan. 

Response: The proposed land division complies with the concurrent Specific Area 
Plan – North Amendment and generally complies with the Villebois Village Master Plan, 
as demonstrated in the PDP Compliance Report (see Notebook Section IIIA), and 
thereby conforms to the applicable Master Plans. 
 
(.02) Relation to Adjoining Street System. 

A. A land division shall provide for the continuation of the principal 
streets existing in the adjoining area, or of their proper projection 
when adjoining property is not developed, and shall be of a width 
not less than the minimum requirements for streets set forth in 
these regulations.  Where, in the opinion of the Planning Director or 
Development Review Board, topographic conditions make such 
continuation or conformity impractical, an exception may be made.  
In cases where the Board or Planning Commission has adopted a plan 
or plat of a neighborhood or area of which the proposed land division 
is a part, the subdivision shall conform to such adopted 
neighborhood or area plan. 

B. Where the plat submitted covers only a part of the applicant’s tract, 
a sketch of the prospective future street system of the unsubmitted 
part shall be furnished and the street system of the part submitted 
shall be considered in the light of adjustments and connections with 
the street system of the part not submitted. 

C. At any time when an applicant proposes a land division and the 
Comprehensive Plan would allow for the proposed lots to be further 
divided, the city may require an arrangement of lots and streets such 
as to permit a later resubdivision in conformity to the street plans 
and other requirements specified in these regulations.  

Response: Plan sheets in Notebook Section IIIB illustrate street design will meet 
the minimum requirements set forth by this Section. The street system within PDP 3 
North will provide connections to principle streets of adjoining areas. The Tentative 
Plat covers the entirety of PDP 3 North. 
 
(.03) All streets shall conform to the standards set forth in Section 4.177 and the 

block size requirements of the zone. 

Response: Previous sections of this report have demonstrated compliance with the 
standards of Section 4.177 and the applicable block size requirements. 
 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 15 
 
 
   

(.04) Creation of Easements:  The Planning Director or Development Review 
Board may approve an easement to be established without full compliance 
with these regulations, provided such an easement is the only reasonable 
method by which a  portion of a lot large enough to allow partitioning into 
two (2) parcels may be provided with vehicular access and adequate 
utilities. If the proposed lot is large enough to divide into more than two (2) 
parcels, a street dedication may be required.  Also, within a Planned 
Development, cluster settlements may have easement driveways for any 
number of dwelling units when approved by the Planning Director or 
Development Review Board. 

Response: Any necessary easements will be identified on the final plat. 
 
(.05) Topography:  The layout of streets shall give suitable recognition to 

surrounding topographical conditions in accordance with the purpose of 
these regulations. 

Response: Sheet 5 - Grading Plan in Notebook Section IIIB demonstrates that the 
layout of streets has given recognition to surrounding topographic conditions. 
 
(.06) Reserve Strips:  The Planning Director or Development Review Board may 

require the applicant to create a reserve strip controlling the access to a 
street.  Said strip is to be placed under the jurisdiction of the City Council, 
when the Director or Board determine that a strip is necessary: 

A. To prevent access to abutting land at the end of a street in order to 
assure the proper extension of the street pattern and the orderly 
development of land lying beyond the street; or 

B. To prevent access to the side of a street on the side where additional 
width is required to meet the right-of-way standards established by the 
City; or 

C. To prevent access to land abutting a street of the land division but not 
within the tract or parcel of land being divided; or 

D. To prevent access to land unsuitable for building development.  

Response: Reserve strips will be provided as appropriate. 
 
(.07) Future Expansion of Street:  When necessary to give access to, or permit a 

satisfactory future division of, adjoining land, streets shall be extended to 
the boundary of the land division and the resulting dead-end street may be 
approved without a turn-around.  Reserve strips and street plugs shall be 
required to preserve the objective of street extension. 

Response: Streets that will be expanded in the future will occur in compliance 
with this standard. 
 
(.08) Existing Streets:  Whenever existing streets adjacent to or within a tract 

are of inadequate width, additional right-of-way shall conform to the 
designated width in this Code or in the Transportation Systems Plan. 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 16 
 
 
   

Response: Rights-of-way will be dedicated in accordance with the Villebois Village 
Master Plan and the Transportation System Plan. 
 
(.09) Street Names:  No street names will be used which will duplicate or be 

confused with the names of existing streets, except for extensions of 
existing streets.  Street names and numbers shall conform to the 
established name system in the City, and shall be subject to the approval of 
the City Engineer. 

Response: No street names will be used that duplicate or could be confused with 
the names of existing streets.  Street names and numbers will conform to the 
established name system in the City, as approved by the City Engineer. 
 
 
SECTION 4.237.  GENERAL REQUIREMENTS – OTHER. 

(.01) Blocks: 

A. The length, width, and shape of blocks shall be designed with due 
regard to providing adequate building sites for the use 
contemplated, consideration of needs for convenient access, 
circulation, control, and safety of pedestrian, bicycle, and motor 
vehicle traffic, and recognition of limitations and opportunities of 
topography. 

B. Sizes:  Blocks shall not exceed the sizes and length specified for the 
zone in which they are located unless topographical conditions or 
other physical constraints necessitate larger blocks.  Larger blocks 
shall only be approved where specific findings are made justifying 
the size, shape, and configuration.  

Response: The PDP Compliance Report (see Notebook Section IIIA) demonstrates 
compliance with the applicable block requirements.  The street system proposed in 
this land division conforms to the street system in the concurrent SAP North 
Amendment.  
     
(.02) Easements: 

A. Utility lines.  Easements for sewers, drainage, water mains, 
electrical lines or other public utilities shall be dedicated wherever 
necessary.  Easements shall be provided consistent with the City’s 
Public Works Standards, as specified by the City Engineer or Planning 
Director.  All the utility lines within and adjacent to the site shall be 
installed with underground services within the street and to any 
structures.  All utilities shall have appropriate easements for 
construction and maintenance purposes. 

B. Water Courses.  Where a land division is traversed by a water course, 
drainage way, channel or stream, there shall be provided a storm 
water easement or drainage right-of-way conforming substantially 
with the lines of the water course, and such further width as will be 
adequate for the purposes of conveying storm water and allowing for 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 17 
 
 
   

maintenance of the facility or channel.  Streets or parkways parallel 
to water courses may be required. 

Response: The final plat will include the appropriate easements. 
 
(.03) Pedestrian and bicycle pathways.  An improved public pathway shall be 

required to transverse the block near its middle if that block exceeds the 
length standards of the zone in which it is located.  

A. Pathways shall be required to connect to cul-de-sacs to pass through 
unusually shaped blocks. 

B. Pathways required by this subsection shall have a minimum width of 
ten (10) feet unless they are found to be unnecessary for bicycle 
traffic, in which case they are to have a minimum width of six (6) 
feet.  

Response: Any mid-block pathways required due to block size will be provided in 
conformance with this standard.   
 
(.04) Tree planting.  Tree planting plans for a land division must be submitted to 

the Planning Director and receive the approval of the Director or 
Development Review Board before the planning is begun.  Easements or 
other documents shall be provided, guaranteeing the City the right to enter 
the site and plant, remove, or maintain approved street trees that are 
located on private property. 

Response: Sheet 10 - Street Tree/Lighting Plan in Notebook Section IIIB shows 
proposed street tree planting.   
 
(.05) Lot Size and shape.   The lot size, width, shape and orientation shall be 

appropriate for the location of the land division and for the type of 
development and use contemplated.  Lots shall meet the requirements of 
the zone where they are located. 

A. In areas that are not served by public sewer, an on-site sewage 
disposal permit is required from the City.  If the soil structure is 
adverse to on-site sewage disposal, no development shall be 
permitted until sewer service can be provided. 

B. Where property is zoned or deeded for business or industrial use, 
other lot widths and areas may be permitted at the discretion of the 
Development Review Board.  Depth and width of properties reserved 
or laid out for commercial and industrial purposes shall be adequate 
to provide for the off-street service and parking facilities required 
by the type of use and development contemplated. 

C. In approving an application for a Planned Development, the 
Development Review Board may waive the requirements of this 
section and lot size, shape, and density shall conform to the Planned 
Development conditions of approval. 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 18 
 
 
   

Response: Proposed lot sizes, widths, shapes and orientations are appropriate for 
the proposed development and are in conformance with the Village Zone requirements 
as demonstrated by this report.   
 
(.06) Access.  The division of land shall be such that each lot shall have a 

minimum frontage on a public street, as specified in the standards of the 
relative zoning districts.  This minimum frontage requirement shall apply 
with the following exceptions: 

A. A lot on the outer radius of a curved street or facing the circular end 
of a cul-de-sac shall have frontage of not less than twenty-five (25) 
feet upon a street, measured on the arc. 

B. The Development Review Board may waive lot frontage 
requirements where in its judgment the waiver of frontage 
requirements will not have the effect of nullifying the intent and 
purpose of this regulation or if the Board determines that another 
standard is appropriate because of the characteristics of the overall 
development. 

Response: The proposed lots comply with the applicable access requirements of 
the Village Zone as demonstrated in previous sections of this report. 
 
(.07) Through lots.  Through lots shall be avoided except where essential to 

provide separation of residential development from major traffic arteries 
or adjacent non-residential activity or to overcome specific disadvantages 
of topography and orientation.  A planting screen easement of at least ten 
(10) feet, across which there shall be no access, may be required along the 
line of lots abutting such a traffic artery or other disadvantageous use.  
Through lots with planting screens shall have a minimum average depth of 
one hundred (100) feet.  The Development Review Board may require 
assurance that such screened areas be maintained as specified in Section 
4.176. 

Response: No through lots are proposed by this application. 
 
(.08) Lot side lines.  The side lines of lots, as far as practicable for the purpose 

of the proposed development, shall run at right angles to the street upon 
which the lots face. 

Response: All side lines of lots will run at right angles to the street upon which the 
lots face. 
 
(.09) Large lot land divisions.  In dividing tracts which at some future time are 

likely to be re-divided, the location of lot lines and other details of the 
layout shall be such that re-division may readily take place without violating 
the requirements of these regulations and without interfering with the 
orderly development of streets.  Restriction of buildings within future 
street locations shall be made a matter of record if the Development Review 
Board considers it necessary. 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 19 
 
 
   

Response: This request does not include any tracts which may be divided at a 
future time. 
 
(.10) Building line.  The Planning Director or Development Review Board may 

establish special building setbacks to allow for the future redivision or other 
development of the property or for other reasons specified in the findings 
supporting the decision.  If special building setbacks lines are established 
for the land division, they shall be shown on the final plat. 

Response: No building lines are proposed by this application. 
 
(.11) Build-to line.  The Planning Director or Development Review Board may 

establish special build-to lines for the development, as specified in the 
findings and conditions of approval for the decision.  If special build-to lines 
are established for the land division, they shall be shown on the final plat. 

Response: No build-to lines are proposed by this application. 
 
(.12) Land for public purposes.  The Planning Director or Development Review 

Board may require property to be reserved for public acquisition, or 
irrevocably offered for dedication, for a specified period of time. 

Response: This land division does not include land to be dedicated for public 
purposes except for the dedication of street right-of-way. 
 
(.13) Corner lots.  Lots on street intersections shall have a corner radius of not 

less than ten (10) feet. 

Response: All lots on street intersections will have a corner radius of not less than 
ten (10) feet.  This is demonstrated on the Tentative Plat in Notebook Section IVB. 
 
 
SECTION 4.262.  IMPROVEMENTS - REQUIREMENTS. 

(.01) Streets.  Streets within or partially within the development shall be graded 
for the entire right-of-way width, constructed and surfaced in accordance 
with the Transportation Systems Plan and City Public Works Standards.  
Existing streets which abut the development shall be graded, constructed, 
reconstructed, surfaced or repaired as determined by the City Engineer. 

Response: Sheet 5 - Grading Plan in Notebook Section IIIB of this Notebook, shows 
compliance with this standard. 
 
(.02) Curbs.  Curbs shall be constructed in accordance with standards adopted by 

the City. 

Response: Curbs will be constructed in accordance with City standards. 
 
(.03) Sidewalks.  Sidewalks shall be constructed in accordance with standards 

adopted by the City. 

Response: Sidewalks will be constructed in accordance with City standards. 
 



 
SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT  PAGE 20 
 
 
   

(.04)   Sanitary sewers.  When the development is within two hundred (200) feet 
of an existing public sewer main, sanitary sewers shall be installed to serve 
each lot or parcel in accordance with standards adopted by the City.  When 
the development is more than two hundred (200) feet from an existing 
public sewer main, the City Engineer may approve an alternate sewage 
disposal system. 

Response: Sheet 6 - Composite Utility Plan in Notebook Section IIIB illustrates 
proposed sanitary sewer lines. 
 
(.05) Drainage.  Storm drainage, including detention or retention systems, shall 

be provided as determined by the City Engineer. 

Response: Sheet 5 - Grading Plan (see Notebook Section IIIB) illustrates the 
proposed storm drainage facilities.  A supporting utility report is provided (see 
Notebook Section IIIC) that demonstrates that the proposed storm drainage facilities 
will meet City standards. 
 
(.06) Underground utility and service facilities.  All new utilities shall be subject 

to the standards of Section 4.300 (Underground Utilities).  The developer 
shall make all necessary arrangements with the serving utility to provide 
the underground services in conformance with the City’s Public Works 
Standards. 

Response: Proposed utilities will be placed underground pursuant to Section 4.300 
and City Public Works Standards. 
 
(.07) Streetlight standards.  Streetlight standards shall be installed in accordance 

with regulations adopted by the City. 

Response: Proposed streetlights are shown on Sheet 10 - Street Tree/Lighting Plan 
in Notebook Section IIIB.  Streetlights will be installed in accordance with City 
standards. 
 
(.08) Street signs.  Street name signs shall be installed at all street intersections 

and dead-end signs at the entrance to all dead-end streets and cul-de-sacs 
in accordance with standards adopted by the City.  Other signs may be 
required by the City Engineer. 

Response: Street name and dead-end signs will be installed in accordance with 
City standards.   
 
(.09) Monuments.  Monuments shall be placed at all lot and block corners, angle 

points, points of curves in streets, at intermediate points and shall be of 
such material, size, and length as required by State Law.  Any monuments 
that are disturbed before all improvements are completed by the developer 
and accepted by the City shall be replaced to conform to the requirements 
of State Law. 

Response: Monuments will be placed at all lot and block corners, angle points, 
points of curves in streets, at intermediate points and will be of such material, size, 
and length as required by State Law.   



SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT JANUARY 31, 2014 
PDP 3 NORTH – TENTATIVE PLAT PAGE 21 

(.10) Water.  Water mains and fire hydrants shall be installed to serve each lot in 
accordance with City standards. 

Response: Sheet 6 – Composite Utility Plan in Notebook Section IIIB illustrates that 
water mains and fire hydrants will be installed to serve each lot in accordance with 
City standards. 

II. CONCLUSION

This Supporting Compliance Report demonstrates compliance with the applicable 
requirements of the City of Wilsonville Planning & Land Development Ordinance for 
the requested Tentative Subdivision Plat.  Therefore, the applicant respectfully 
requests approval of this application. 



IVB
Tentative Plat



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

15.00'
EASEMENT

6.00'
PUE

3.00'
PUE

55.00'

55.00'

55.00'

55.00'

55.00'

40.50'

55.00'

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

(
F

U
T

U
R

E
 
D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
)

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG LG

LG

LG

STD

STD STD

LG

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M
M

M

M

M

M

M
M

M

M

M

M M

M

M

M M

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM
SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

OS

L/G

L/G

FUTURE

DEVELOPMENT

OPEN SPACE 2

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM
SM

LG

L/G

PP

L/G

10
5,747 SF

8
6,171 SF

77
2,400 SF

26
3,358 SF

5
6,000 SF

55
7,856 SF

76
2,400 SF

78
2,400 SF

79
2,791 SF

80
2,539 SF

81
3,075 SF

82
2,400 SF

83
3,075 SF

84
2,736 SF

28
3,186 SF

29
2,934 SF

30
3,102 SF

31
3,085 SF

32
3,158 SF

37
2,400 SF

36
3,075 SF

35
2,400 SF

34
3,075 SF

33
2,539 SF

38
3,411 SF

42
2,400 SF

43
3,075 SF

44
2,539 SF

39
3,411 SF

40
2,400 SF

41
3,075 SF

20
3,321 SF

25
3,358 SF

27
3,635 SF

24
3,675 SF

23
3,609 SF

22
3,268 SF

21
3,294 SF

18
3,373 SF

19
3,347 SF

17
3,837 SF

48
3,921 SF

46
3,690 SF

45
3,921 SF

69
3,589 SF

65
3,675 SF

66
3,675 SF

67
3,675 SF

68
3,675 SF

64
3,583 SF

63
3,702 SF

62
3,675 SF

61
3,675 SF

60
3,675 SF

59
3,589 SF

47
3,690 SF

51
6,261 SF

50
5,400 SF

49
6,261 SF

58
5,000 SF

54
7,366 SF

56
5,000 SF

53
6,000 SF

57
5,000 SF

52
6,000 SF

16
6,071 SF

11
6,000 SF

12
6,000 SF

13
6,000 SF

14
6,000 SF

7
6,000 SF

6
6,000 SF

2
6,000 SF

4
6,000 SF

3
6,000 SF

71
3,075 SF

70
2,736 SF

75
2,775 SF

74
2,539 SF

73
3,075 SF

72
2,400 SF

1
6,481 SF

TRACT "H"
9,111 SF

TRACT "L"
9,133 SF

TRACT "G"
8,112 SFTRACT "M"

42,711 SF

TRACT "N"
3,559 SF

TRACT "F"
3,091 SF

TRACT "E"
1,177 SF

TRACT "D"
11,123 SF

TRACT "J"
1,126 SF

TRACT "B"
6,018 SF

TRACT "K"
7,292 SF

TRACT "A"
21,194 SF

108.7'

10
5.

1'

45
.8

'
15

.7
'

15
.9

'

75
3.

5'

558.8'

17
.5

'
12

.5
'

10
0.

0'
55

.0
'

29
8.

8'

0.9'

88.9'

13
.9

'
20

.0
'

75
.0

'
3.

7'
82

.0
'

21
.3

'
32

.0
'

34
.0

'
34

.0
'

34
.6

'
40

.9
'

13
.4

'

695.0'

58.4'

29
.7

'

83
.7

'

21.2' 11.5'

16
6.

4'

77.2'

60.7' 21.2' 75.0' 20.0' 35.0' 41.0' 32.0' 41.0' 23.5' 21.2'

61
.5

'
20

.0
'

61
.5

'

21
.2'

23.5'41.0'32.0'41.0'20.0'51.9'23.2'

82.8'

15
.7

' 48.4'

39
.1

'
32

.0
'

32
.0

'
32

.0
'

37
.0

'

75.0'

75.0'

75.0'

75.0'

37
.0

'
32

.0
'

32
.0

'
32

.0
'

37
.0

'

55
.0

'

31.4'

15.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

32.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

37.0'

37.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

32.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

15.0'

31
.4'

55
.0

'

86.7'20.0'35.0'41.0'32.0'41.0'32.0'32.5'

21.2'

61
.5

'
20

.0
'

61
.5

'
21

.2'
32.5' 32.0' 41.0' 32.0' 41.0' 35.0' 20.0' 78.7' 21.4'

35
.0

'

90.5'

34
.0

'

91.0'

34
.0

'

91.5'

32
.0

'

91.9'

35
.0

'

55
.0

'

31
.4

'

15.0'

75
.0

'

55
.0

'

31.4'

15.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

46.0'

32.0' 41.0'

32.0' 41.0'

41.0'32.0'

41.0'32.0'

46.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

649.3'

527.4'

52.2'

54
1.

5'

21.2'

11.5'

87.5'

22.4'

15
.5

'
2.

8'

32
.1

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

17
.7

'
7.

4'
41

.9
'

37
.2'

37.2' 33.8' 7.4' 20.7' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0'

10
0.

0'

L/G

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

90
.1

'75
.7

'

39.1'

91.3'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

65
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

65
.0

'

90
.6

'

38.7' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 61.4'

21
.2

'

72
.0

'

7.
5'1

0.2' 11.9'

15.5'

12.1' 49.0' 49.0' 49.0' 49.0' 20.0' 76.5'

21.2'

30
.5

'
41

.0
'

41
.0

'
30

.5
'

21
.2

'

76.5'20.0'49.0'49.0'49.0'49.0'49.0'43.1'

25.8'

60
.5

'

35.5'

28.4'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0' 49.0'

49.0'

29.0'

29.0'
31.4'

55
.0

'

44
.0

'
41

.0
'

41
.0

'

31
.4

'
55

.0
'

44
.0

'

90.0'

90.0'

90.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'
73

.8
'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

25.8'

87
.0

'

96
.6

'

16.6' 46.5' 60.0' 60.0' 76.5'

21.2'

56
.5

'
60

.0
'

56
.5

'

21
.2'

76.5'50.0'50.0'50.0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

70
.0

'

90.0'

30
.0

'
30

.0
'

90.0'

70
.0

'

50.0'10.0'

10
0.

0'

40.0'20.0'

10
0.

0'

30.0'61.6'

23.0'66.0'

21
.2

'

35
.5

'
43

.0
'

43
.0

'
43

.0
'

43
.0

'
43

.0
'

49
.0

'
20

.0
'

75
.0

'
3.

5'

21.2'

159.4' 21
.0

'

47.9'44.8'44.8'49.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

49.0'44.8'44.8'49.0'

69.5'25.6'

55.3' 31
.1

'
29

.3
'

75.7'

76.3'

43
.0

'
43

.0
'

76.9'

43
.0

'

77.5'

43
.0

'

78.1'

43
.0

'

78.8'

49
.0

'

TRACT "C"
1,500 SF

15
6,000 SF

9
5,571 SF

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Preliminary
Plat



IVC  
DRAFT CC&R’s 































































IVD  
Copy of Certification of 

Assessments & Liens 







IVE  
Subdivision Name Approval 





Section V
Zone Change



VA
Supporting Compliance Report



PAGE 1 PDP 3N, ZONE CHANGE 
January 31, 2014 Supporting Compliance Report 

SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT

ZONE CHANGE 
PDP 3 NORTH 

SECTION VIA 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. CITY OF WILSONVILLE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN .............................. 2 

IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 4.1.6.A ................................................... 2 
IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 4.1.6.C ................................................... 2 
IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 4.1.6.D ................................................... 2 

II. CITY OF WILSONVILLE LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE ................... 3
SECTION 4.029 ZONING CONSISTENT WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN .............. 3 
SECTION 4.110 ZONING – ZONES ................................................... 3 
SECTION 4.125 VILLAGE (V) ZONE ................................................. 3 
SECTION 4.197 ZONE CHANGES AND AMENDMENTS TO THIS CODE – PROCEDURES. ... 4 

III. PROPOSAL SUMMARY & CONCLUSION ...................................... 6



 
PAGE 2  PDP 3N, ZONE CHANGE 
January 31, 2014  Supporting Compliance Report 

I. CITY OF WILSONVILLE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  

RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT – IMPLEMENTATION MEASURES 

IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 4.1.4 

Response:  The subject site is part of the Villebois Village Master Plan, which is 
comprised of a variety of housing opportunities of varying densities. There are 13 
different housing types within Villebois Village, ranging from apartments to estate 
lots. Villebois Village includes opportunities for affordable, senior and community 
housing. Compliance with this Implementation Measures was addressed with the 
Villebois Village Master Plan. The land use plan for the subject area was determined 
to be consistent with the Villebois Village Master Plan.  

 

COMPACT URBAN DEVELOPMENT – IMPLEMENTATION MEASURES 

IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 4.1.6.A 

Development in the “Residential – Village” Map area shall be directed by the 
Villebois Village Concept Plan (depicting the general character of proposed land 
uses, transportation, natural resources, public facilities, and infrastructure 
strategies), and subject to relevant Policies and Implementation Measures in the 
Comprehensive Plan; and implemented in accordance with the Villebois Village 
Master Plan, the “Village” Zone District, and any other provisions of the Wilsonville 
Planning and Land Development Ordinance that may be applicable. 

Response:  This application is submitted along with a Preliminary Development Plan 
for PDP 3N. PDP 3N (see Notebook Section III) demonstrates compliance with SAP 
North, which was determined to be generally consistent with the Villebois Village 
Master Plan. Section I of this report demonstrates compliance with the City of 
Wilsonville’s Comprehensive Plan and Section II demonstrates compliance with 
Wilsonville’s Land Development Code.  

 
IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 4.1.6.C 

The “Village” Zone District shall be applied in all areas that carry the Residential 
– Village Plan Map Designation. 

Response:  This application proposes a zone change to “Village” for the subject 
property area, which is included in the “Residential-Village” Comprehensive Plan Map 
Designation (Area B). 
 
IMPLEMENTATION MEASURE 4.1.6.D 

The “Village” Zone District shall allow a wide range of uses that benefit and 
support an “urban village”, including conversion of existing structures in the core 
area to provide flexibility for changing needs of service, institutional, 
governmental and employment uses. 

Response:  The subject property is an area that is approximately 15.16 acres within 
Villebois Village. The plan for subject property includes single family residential lots 
and park and open space areas.  The ‘Introductory Narrative’ (see Notebook Section 
IA) lists the proposed range of residential units which are interspersed to provide a 
mix of housing. The proposed residential land use and housing types in this area are 



 
PAGE 3  PDP 3N, ZONE CHANGE 
January 31, 2014  Supporting Compliance Report 
 

consistent with those portrayed in the Villebois Village Master Plan, which this 
regulation is intended to implement. 
 
 

II. CITY OF WILSONVILLE LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 

SECTION 4.029  ZONING CONSISTENT WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

If a development, other than a short-term temporary use, is proposed on a parcel 
or lot which is not zoned in accordance with the comprehensive plan, the applicant 
must receive approval of a zone change prior to, or concurrently with the approval 

of an application for a Planned Development. 

Response:  This application is being requested concurrent with a PDP application and 
Tentative Plat for the site in conformance with the code.  The PDP application 
materials are provided in Section III of this Notebook and the Tentative Plat 
application materials are provided in Section IV. 
 
SECTION 4.110  ZONING – ZONES  

(.01) The following Base Zones are established by this Code: 

H. Village, which shall be designated “V” [per Section 4.125 enabling 
amendments (File No. 02PC08)] 

Response:  A concurrent application has been submitted for annexation of the subject 
property from Clackamas County to the City.  The area has a City of Wilsonville 
Comprehensive Plan designation of “Residential – Village.”  The site is currently zoned 
Rural Residential Farm Forest 5-Acre.  This request is for a zone change to “Village,” 
which is permitted within the area designated “Residential – Village” on the 
Comprehensive Plan Map. 

 
SECTION 4.125  VILLAGE (V) ZONE 

(.01)   The Village (V) zone is applied to lands within the Residential Village 
Comprehensive Plan Map designation.  The Village zone is the principal 
implementing tool for the Residential Village Comprehensive Plan 
designation.  It is applied in accordance with the Villebois Village Master 
Plan and the Residential Village Comprehensive Plan designation as 
described in the Comprehensive Plan. 

Response:  The subject property lies within the area designated “Residential – Village” 
on the Comprehensive Plan Map. The property is a portion of Villebois Village. This 
request is for a zone change to V – Village to guide the development of PDP 3N.  
 
(.02) Permitted Uses 

Response: The Preliminary Development Plan (see Notebook Section III) proposes 
uses that are consistent with the permitted land uses within the Village zone.  The 
PDP (see Notebook Section III) states that the proposed development will create lots 
for single family residential homes as well as parks and open spaces.  These uses are 
permitted under the Village zone. 
 



 
PAGE 4  PDP 3N, ZONE CHANGE 
January 31, 2014  Supporting Compliance Report 

(.18)  Village Zone Development Permit Process 

B. Unique Features and Processes of the Village (V) Zone 

2. …Application for a zone change shall be made concurrently 
with an application for PDP approval… 

 
Response:  The application for a zone change is being made concurrent with an 
application for PDP approval (see Notebook Section III). 
 
SECTION 4.197  ZONE CHANGES AND AMENDMENTS TO THIS CODE – PROCEDURES. 

(.02) In recommending approval or denial of a proposed zone map amendment, 
the Planning Commission or Development Review Board shall at a minimum, 
adopt findings addressing the following criteria: 

A. That the application before the Commission or Board was submitted 
in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 4.008 or, in 
the case of a Planned Development, Section 4.140; and  

Response: This application has been submitted in accordance with the procedures 
set forth in Section 4.140, which requires that: 

 All parcels of land exceeding two (2) acres in size that are to be 
used for residential, commercial or industrial development, 
shall, prior to the issuance of building permit: 1. Be zoned for 
planned development; and 

 Zone change and amendment to the zoning map are governed 
by the applicable provisions of the Zoning Sections, inclusive of 
Section 4.197. 

This zone change application will establish the appropriate zone for this development 
and will be governed by the appropriate Zoning Sections. 
 

B. That the proposed amendment is consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan map designation and substantially complies with the applicable 
goals, policies and objectives, set forth in the Comprehensive Plan 
Text; and 

Response: The subject area is designated Residential Village on the 
Comprehensive Plan Map. Therefore, application of the Village Zone is consistent with 
the Comprehensive Plan. Compliance with the Comprehensive Plan is addressed in 
Section I of this Report.  
 

C. In the event that the subject property, or any portion thereof, is 
designated as “Residential” on the City’s Comprehensive Plan Map; 
specific findings shall be made addressing substantial compliance 
with Implementation Measure 4.1.4.b, d, e, q, and x of Wilsonville’s 
Comprehensive Plan text; and 

Response: Compliance with Implementation Measure 4.1.4 is addressed in Section 
I of this Report. 
 



 
PAGE 5  PDP 3N, ZONE CHANGE 
January 31, 2014  Supporting Compliance Report 
 

D. That the existing primary public facilities, i.e., roads and sidewalks, 
water, sewer and storm sewer are available and are of adequate size 
to serve the proposed development; or, that adequate facilities can 
be provided in conjunction with project development.  The Planning 
Commission and Development Review Board shall utilize any and all 
means to insure that all primary facilities are available and are 
adequately sized; and 

Response: The Preliminary Development Plan compliance report and the plan 
sheets (see Notebook Section III) demonstrate that the existing primary public 
facilities are available and can be provided in conjunction with the project.  Section 
IIIC of this Notebook includes supporting utility and drainage reports.  A Traffic Impact 
Analysis is attached in Notebook Section IIID. 
 

E. That the proposed development does not have a significant adverse 
effect upon Significant Resource Overlay Zone areas, an identified 
natural hazard, or an identified geologic hazard.  When Significant 
Resource Overlay Zone areas or natural hazard, and/ or geologic 
hazard are located on or about the proposed development, the 
Planning Commission or Development Review Board shall use 
appropriate measures to mitigate and significantly reduce conflicts 
between the development and identified hazard or Significant 
Resource Overlay Zone; and 

Response: A SRIR was submitted and approved with PDP 2N for the proposed SROZ 
impacts. This application includes a SRIR Addendum (see Notebook Section IIIG), which 
verifies previously approved areas and includes information for two (2) additional 
impact areas. As demonstrated in the SRIR Addendum, the total amount of SROZ 
impacts remains in compliance with the SROZ standards and approved mitigation 
areas. Additionally, the PDP Supporting Compliance Report (see Notebook Section IIIA) 
addressed Section 4.139, indicating the proposed development does not have a 
significant adverse effect on the SROZ area. The site does not contain natural or 
geologic hazard areas. 
 

F. That the applicant is committed to a development schedule 
demonstrating that the development of the property is reasonably 
expected to commence within two (2) years of the initial approval 
of the zone change; and 

Response: The applicant is committed to a schedule demonstrating that the 
development of the subject property is reasonably expected to commence within two 
(2) years of the initial approval of the zone change. 
 

G. That the proposed development and use(s) can be developed in 
compliance with the applicable development standards or 
appropriate conditions are attached to insure that the project 
development substantially conforms to the applicable development 
standards. 

Response: The proposed development can be developed in compliance with the 
applicable development standards, as demonstrated by this report and the Preliminary 



PAGE 6 PDP 3N, ZONE CHANGE 
January 31, 2014 Supporting Compliance Report 

Development Plan (Notebook Section III) and Tentative Plat (Notebook Section IV) 
applications. 

III. PROPOSAL SUMMARY & CONCLUSION

This Supporting Compliance Report demonstrates compliance with the applicable 
requirements of the City of Wilsonville Planning & Land Development Ordinance for 
the requested Zone Change.  Therefore, the applicant requests approval of this 
application. 



VB
Zone Change Map



I
-
5



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
VC 

Legal Description & Sketch 







Section VI 

Tree Removal Plan



VIA
Supporting Compliance Report



PDP 3N, TYPE “C” TREE REMOVAL PLAN/PERMIT PAGE 1 
Supporting Compliance Report January 31, 2014 

SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  
TYPE “C” TREE REMOVAL PLAN/PERMIT

PDP 3N 

SECTION VIA 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. WILSONVILLE PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE ............ 2 

SECTION 4.610.10. STANDARDS FOR TREE REMOVAL, RELOCATION OR REPLACEMENT... 2 
SECTION 4.610.40. TYPE C PERMIT ................................................... 5 
SECTION 4.620.00. TREE RELOCATION, MITIGATION, OR REPLACEMENT ................ 7 
SECTION 4.620.10. TREE PROTECTION DURING CONSTRUCTION ....................... 9 
SECTION 4.620.20. MAINTENANCE AND PROTECTION STANDARDS .................... 10 
SECTION 4.640.00. APPLICATION REVIEW PROCEDURES .............................. 10 

II. CONCLUSION  ............................................................ 10



 
PDP 3N, TYPE “C” TREE REMOVAL PLAN/PERMIT  PAGE 2 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

I. WILSONVILLE PLANNING AND LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 

 
SECTION 4.610.10. STANDARDS FOR TREE REMOVAL, RELOCATION OR REPLACEMENT 

(.01) Except where an application is exempt, or where otherwise noted, the 
following standards shall govern the review of an application for a Type A, B, C or 
D Tree Removal Permit: 

A. Standard for the Significant Resource Overlay Zone.  The standard for 
tree removal in the Significant Resource Overlay Zone shall be that 
removal or transplanting of any tree is not inconsistent with the 
purposes of this chapter. 

Response: Proposed tree removal is shown on the Tree Preservation Plan (see 
Notebook Section VIC) and described in the Tree Report (see Notebook Section VIB). 
The subject site includes Significant Resource Overlay Zone (SROZ) area along the 
southern property line.  This report addresses compliance with the standards of WC 
4.610 for trees inventoried within and outside of the SROZ areas within the subject 
site.  
 

B. Preservation and Conservation.  No development application shall be 
denied solely because trees grow on the site.  Nevertheless, tree 
preservation and conservation as a principle shall be equal in concern 
and importance as other design principles. 

Response: The attached Tree Report (see Notebook Section VIB), prepared by 
Morgan Holen of Morgan Holen & Associates LLC, includes a tree inventory indicating 
the common and species names, DBH, condition, and recommended treatment of on-
site trees. Trees within the retained wetland were not included in the inventory as 
they are not impacted by the proposed development.  
 
As shown on the Existing Conditions Plan (see Notebook Exhibit IIIB), the majority of 
the site is pasture with trees concentrated around existing residential dwellings, the 
northwestern site corner, and the retained wetland located in the southwestern site 
corner. Existing trees within these areas are preserved to the extent feasible while 
the locations of residential lots, street improvements, alleys, and utilities were 
generally planned within existing pasture areas. Trees located within the wetland area 
to be retained and within the SROZ area will be preserved within open space tracts. 
The majority of trees proposed for removal are in “Poor” condition or “Moderate” 
condition. Trees with a “Good” rating are retained to the extent feasible. No trees 
with a rating of “Important” are present within the subject site.  
 
Proposed tree removal is shown on the Tree Preservation Plan (see Notebook Section 
VIC). The Tree Preservation Plan depicts the ranking of existing trees and whether 
they will be retained, removed, or likely removed. The determination to remove trees 
was based upon an assessment of which trees were necessary to remove due to the 
poor or hazardous health of the tree, whether or not they interfered with the health 
of other trees, and whether removal is necessary for utility work or the construction 
of residential dwellings. Trees proposed for removal are located in areas planned for 
residential lots, utilities, streets, and alleys. 

 



 
PDP 3N, TYPE “C” TREE REMOVAL PLAN/PERMIT  PAGE 3 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

C. Development Alternatives. Preservation and conservation of wooded 
areas and trees shall be given careful consideration when there are 
feasible and reasonable location alternatives and design options on-site 
for proposed buildings, structures or other site improvements. 

Response: The preservation of existing on-site trees was carefully considered in 
the planning of site improvements. The Tree Preservation Plan (see Section VIC) 
depicts the trees that are to be retained, to be removed, and likely to be removed 
during construction. As described above, the majority of the site is pasture with trees 
located around existing residential dwellings, within the retained wetland in the 
southwestern site corner, and the northwestern site corner. Existing trees within these 
areas are preserved to the extent feasible while the locations of residential lots, street 
improvements, alleys, and utilities were generally planned within existing pasture 
areas.   
 

D. Land Clearing.  Where the proposed activity requires land clearing, the 
clearing shall be limited to designated street rights-of-way and areas 
necessary for the construction of buildings, structures or other site 
improvements. 

Response: The clearing of land will be limited to areas designated as dedicated 
right-of-way and areas necessary for the construction of streets, utilities, and 
residential buildings. Sheet 5 - Grading Plan in Notebook Section IIIB depicts the extent 
of grading activities proposed on the site. 
 

E. Residential Development.  Where the proposed activity involves 
residential development, residential units shall, to the extent 
reasonably feasible, be designed and constructed to blend into the 
natural setting of the landscape. 

Response:  A Pattern Book was developed for the general design of residential 
structures within SAP – North. As guided by the Pattern Book, homes are designed to 
blend into the landscape as much as feasible.  The design of homes within this phase 
will be developed in accordance with the Pattern Book for SAP – North.  This is assured 
through review of compliance with the Pattern Book at the time of Building Permit 
application. 

 
F. Compliance with Statutes and Ordinances.  The proposed activity shall 

comply with all applicable statutes and ordinances. 

Response: The development in PDP 3N will comply with all applicable statutes and 
ordinances. 

 
G. Relocation or Replacement.  The proposed activity shall include 

necessary provisions for tree relocation or replacement, in accordance 
with WC 4.620.00, and the protection of those trees that are not 
removed, in accordance with WC 4.620.10. 

Response: No relocation of trees is proposed.  Tree replacement will occur in 
accordance with the necessary provisions from WC 4.620.00 and WC 4.620.10, as 
addressed below.  As shown in the Tree Report prepared by Morgan Holen of Morgan 
Holen & Associates LLC (see Section VIB), the tree mitigation proposed with the 
planting of street trees and trees within park and open space areas exceeds the 
required amount of mitigation of one (1) tree replanted per each tree removed.  



 
PDP 3N, TYPE “C” TREE REMOVAL PLAN/PERMIT  PAGE 4 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

 
H. Limitation.  Tree removal or transplanting shall be limited to instances 

where the applicant has provided completed information as required by 
this chapter and the reviewing authority determines that removal or 
transplanting is necessary based on the criteria of this subsection. 

1. Necessary for Construction.  Where the applicant has shown to the 
satisfaction of the reviewing authority that removal or transplanting 
is necessary for the construction of a building, structure or other 
site improvement and that there is no feasible and reasonable 
location alternative or design option on-site for a proposed building, 
structure or other site improvement; or a tree is located too close 
to an existing or proposed building or structures, or creates unsafe 
vision clearance. 

2. Disease, Damage, or Nuisance, or Hazard.  Where the tree is 
diseased, damaged, or in danger of falling, or presents a hazard as 
defined in WC 6.208, or is a nuisance as defined in WC 6.200 it seq., 
or creates unsafe vision clearance as defined in this code. 

3. Interference.  Where the tree interferes with the healthy growth of 
other trees, existing utility service or drainage, or utility work in a 
previously dedicated right-of-way, and it is not feasible to preserve 
the tree on site. 

4. Other.  Where the applicant shows that tree removal or 
transplanting is reasonable under the circumstances. 

Response:  Morgan Holen of Morgan Holen & Associates LLC has prepared a Tree 
Report (see Notebook Section VIB) for PDP 3N.  The attached Tree Report includes a 
tree inventory, which indicates the tree common name and species name, DBH, 
condition, and recommended treatment (i.e. retain or remove). The determination to 
remove trees was based upon an assessment of what trees were necessary to remove 
due to the poor or hazardous health of the tree, whether or not they interfered with 
the health of other tree, and whether removal is necessary for utility work or the 
construction of residential dwellings.  
 
The attached Tree Preservation Plan (see Notebook Section VIC) illustrates trees 
proposed to be removed, likely to be removed, and to be retained, and their 
respective rating of important, good, moderate, or poor condition. Where tree 
removal is “necessary for construction,” tree removal is needed for site grading in 
areas where public utilities, street and sidewalk improvements, alleys, or residential 
lots are planned (see Sheet 5 - Grading and Erosion Plan in Notebook Section IIIB).  
 

I. Additional Standards for Type C Permits.     

1. Tree Survey.  For all site development applications reviewed under 
the provisions of Chapter 4 Planning and Zoning, the developer shall 
provide a Tree Survey before site development as required by WC 
4.610.40 , and provide a Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan, 
unless specifically exempted by the Planning Director or DRB, prior 
to initiating site development. 



 
PDP 3N, TYPE “C” TREE REMOVAL PLAN/PERMIT  PAGE 5 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

Response:   The Tree Preservation Plan (see Notebook Section VIC) and the Tree 
Report (see Notebook Section VIB) provide a tree survey with the location, species and 
health of each tree in the PDP area. 
 

2. Platted Subdivisions.  The recording of a final subdivision plat whose 
preliminary plat has been reviewed and approved after the effective 
date of Ordinance 464 by the City and that conforms with this 
subchapter shall include a Tree Survey and Maintenance and 
Protection Plan, as required by this subchapter, along with all other 
conditions of approval. 

Response: The final subdivision plat will include this information, as necessary. 
 
3. Utilities.  The City Engineer shall cause utilities to be located and 

placed wherever reasonably possible to avoid adverse 
environmental consequences given the circumstances of existing 
locations, costs of placement and extensions, the public welfare, 
terrain, and preservation of natural resources.  Mitigation and/or 
replacement of any removed trees shall be in accordance with the 
standards of this subchapter. 

Response: Sheet 6 - Composite Utility Plan (see Notebook Section IIIB) for the site 
has been designed to minimize the impact upon the environment to the extent feasible 
given existing conditions.  Any trees to be removed due to the placement of utilities 
will be replaced and/or mitigated in accordance with the provisions in this subchapter.   

 
J. Exemption.  Type D permit applications shall be exempt from review 

under standards D, E, H and I of this subsection.  

Response: This application requests a Type C Tree Removal Permit; therefore this 
standard is not applicable. 

 
SECTION 4.610.40. TYPE C PERMIT 

(.01) Approval to remove any trees on property as part of a site development 
application may be granted in a Type C permit.  A Type C permit application 
shall be reviewed by the standards of the subchapter and all applicable 
review criteria of Chapter 4.  Application of the standards of this section 
shall not result in a reduction of square footage or loss of density, but may 
require an applicant to modify plans to allow for buildings of greater height.  
If an applicant proposes to remove trees and submits a landscaping plan as 
part of a site development application, an application for a Tree Removal 
Permit shall be included.  The Tree Removal Permit application will be 
reviewed in the Stage II development review process, and any changes 
made that affect trees after Stage II review of a development application 
shall be subject to review by DRB.  Where mitigation is required for tree 
removal, such mitigation may be considered as part of the landscaping 
requirements as set forth in this Chapter.  Tree removal shall not 
commence until approval of the required Stage II application and the 
expiration of the appeal period following that decision.  If a decision 
approving a Type C permit is appealed, no trees shall be removed until the 
appeal has been settled. 



 
PDP 3N, TYPE “C” TREE REMOVAL PLAN/PERMIT  PAGE 6 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

Response: This application includes a request for approval of a Type “C” Tree 
Removal Plan for approval by the Development Review Board so that a Tree Removal 
Permit may be issued.  Proposed tree removal is identified on the Tree Preservation 
Plan (see Notebook Section VIC). 
 
(.02) The applicant must provide ten copies of a Tree Maintenance and 

Protection Plan completed by an arborist that contains the following 
information:     

A. A plan, including a topographical survey bearing the stamp and 
signature of a qualified, registered professional containing all the 
following information: 

1. Property Dimensions.  The shape and dimensions of the property, 
and the location of any existing and proposed structure or 
improvement. 

2. Tree Survey.  The survey must include: 

a) An accurate drawing of the site based on accurate survey 
techniques at a minimum scale of one inch (1”) equals one 
hundred feet (100’) and which provides a) the location of all 
trees having six inches (6”) or greater d.b.h. likely to be 
impacted, b) the spread of canopy of those trees, c) the 
common and botanical name of those trees, and d) the 
approximate location and name of any other trees on the 
property. 

b) A description of the health and condition of all trees likely to 
be impacted on the site property.  In addition, for trees in a 
present or proposed public street or road right-of-way that 
are described as unhealthy, the description shall include 
recommended actions to restore such trees to full health.  
Trees proposed to remain, to be transplanted or to be 
removed shall be so designated.  All trees to remain on the 
site are to be designated with metal tags that are to remain 
in place throughout the development.  Those tags shall be 
numbered, with the numbers keyed to the tree survey map 
that is provided with the application. 

c) Where a stand of twenty (20) or more contiguous trees exist 
on a site and the applicant does not propose to remove any 
of those trees, the required tree survey may be simplified to 
accurately show only the perimeter area of that stand of 
trees, including its drip line.  Only those trees on the 
perimeter of the stand shall be tagged, as provided in “b”, 
above. 

d) All Oregon white oaks, native yews, and any species listed by 
either the state or federal government as rare or endangered 
shall be shown in the tree survey. 

3. Tree Protection.  A statement describing how trees intended to 
remain will be protected during development, and where 



 
PDP 3N, TYPE “C” TREE REMOVAL PLAN/PERMIT  PAGE 7 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

protective barriers are necessary, that they will be erected 
before work starts.  Barriers shall be sufficiently substantial to 
withstand nearby construction activities.  Plastic tape or similar 
forms of markers do not constitute “barriers”. 

4. Easements and Setbacks.  Location and dimension of existing and 
proposed easements, as well as all setback required by existing 
zoning requirements. 

5. Grade Changes.  Designation of grade proposed for the property 
that may impact trees. 

6. Cost of Replacement.  A cost estimate for the proposed tree 
replacement program with a detailed explanation including the 
number, size, and species. 

7. Tree Identification.  A statement that all trees being retained will 
be identified by numbered metal tags, as specified in subsection 
“A,” above in addition to clear identification on construction 
documents. 

Response: The Tree Preservation Plan (see Notebook Section VIC) identifies trees 
proposed for removal.  The Tree Preservation Plan provides information required by 
WC 4.610.40(.02).  In addition, Morgan Holen of Morgan Holen & Associates LLC has 
prepared a Tree Report (see Notebook Section VIB) that provides information required 
by WC 4.610.40(.02). 
 
SECTION 4.620.00. TREE RELOCATION, MITIGATION, OR REPLACEMENT 

(.01) Requirement Established.  A Type B or C Tree Removal Permit grantee shall 
replace or relocate each removed tree having six (6) inches or greater 
d.b.h. within one year of removal. 

Response: No relocation of trees is proposed.  Tree replacement will occur in 
accordance with the necessary provisions from WC 4.620.00 and WC 4.620.10.  The 
tree mitigation proposed with the planting of street trees and trees within park and 
open space areas complies with the required amount of mitigation.  
 
 (.02) Basis For Determining Replacement.  The permit grantee shall replace 

removed trees on a basis of one (1) tree replaced for each tree removed.  
All replacement trees must measure two inches (2”) or more in diameter.  
Alternatively, the Planning Director or Development Review board may 
require the permit grantee to replace removed trees on a per caliper inch 
basis, based on a finding that the large size of the trees being removed 
justifies an increase in the replacement trees required.  Except, however, 
that the Planning Director or Development Review Board may allow the use 
of replacement Oregon white oaks and other uniquely valuable trees with 
a smaller diameter. 

Response: The attached Tree Report (see Notebook Section VIB), prepared by 
Morgan Holen of Morgan Holen & Associates LLC, includes mitigation analysis for 
planting replacement trees. Trees to be removed will be replaced in accordance with 
this criterion.  
 



 
PDP 3N, TYPE “C” TREE REMOVAL PLAN/PERMIT  PAGE 8 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 
 

(.03) Replacement Tree Requirements.  A mitigation or replacement tree plan 
shall be reviewed by the City prior to planting and according to the 
standards of this subsection. 

A. Replacement trees shall have shade potential or other characteristics 
comparable to the removed trees, shall be appropriately chosen for the 
site from an approved tree species list supplied by the City, and shall be 
state Department of Agriculture nursery Grade No. 1 or better. 

B. Replacement trees must be staked, fertilized and mulched, and shall be 
guaranteed by the permit grantee or the grantee’s successors-in-
interest for two (2) years after the planting date. 

C. A “guaranteed” tree that dies or becomes diseased during that time 
shall be replaced. 

D. Diversity of tree species shall be encouraged where trees will be 
replaced, and diversity of species shall also be maintained where 
essential to preserving a wooded area or habitat. 

Response: The attached Tree Report (see Notebook Section VIB), prepared by 
Morgan Holen of Morgan Holen & Associates LLC, includes mitigation analysis for 
planting replacement trees. All trees to be planted will meet the requirements of this 
standard. 
 
(.04) All trees to be planted shall consist of nursery stock that meets 

requirements of the American Association of Nurserymen (AAN) American 
Standards for Nursery Stock (ANSI Z60.1) for top grade. 

Response: All trees to be planted will meet the requirements of this standard. 
 
(.05) Replacement Tree Location. 

A. City Review Required.  The City shall review tree relocation or 
replacement plans in order to provide optimum enhancement, 
preservation, and protection of wooded areas.  To the extent feasible 
and desirable, trees shall be relocated or replaced on-site and within 
the same general area as trees removed 

B. Relocation or Replacement Off-Site.  When it is not feasible or desirable 
to relocate or replace trees on-site, relocation or replacement may be 
made at another location – approved by the city. 

Response: Trees will be replaced on-site within the same general area as the trees 
removed.  Tree replacement areas are shown on the Street Tree / Lighting Plan (see 
Notebook Section IIIB). 
  
(.06) City Tree Fund.  Where it is not feasible to relocate or replace trees on site 

or at another approved location in the City, the Tree Removal Permit 
grantee shall pay into the City Tree Fund, which fund is hereby created, an 
amount of money approximately the value as defined by this subchapter, 
of the replacement trees that would otherwise be required by this 
subchapter.  The City shall use the City Tree Fund for the purpose of 
producing, maintaining and preserving wooded areas and heritage trees, 
and for planting trees within the City. 



 
PDP 3N, TYPE “C” TREE REMOVAL PLAN/PERMIT  PAGE 9 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

Response: All trees removed will be replaced within PDP 3 North on a one-for-one 
basis. Therefore, payment to the City Tree Fund is not necessary.   
 
(.07) Exception.  Tree replacement may not be required for applicants in 

circumstances where the Director determines that there is good cause to 
not so require.  Good cause shall be based on a consideration of 
preservation of natural resources, including preservation of mature trees 
and diversity of ages of trees.  Other criteria shall include consideration of 
terrain, difficulty of replacement and impact on adjacent property. 

Response: No exception to the tree replacement requirements is requested with 
this application. 
 
SECTION 4.620.10. TREE PROTECTION DURING CONSTRUCTION 

(.01) Where tree protection is required by a condition of development under 
Chapter 4 or by a Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan approved under 
this subchapter, the following standards apply: 

A. All trees required to be protected must be clearly labeled as such. 

B. Placing Construction Materials Near Tree.  No person may conduct 
any construction activity likely to be injurious to a tree designated 
to remain, including, but not limited to, placing solvents, building 
material, construction equipment, or depositing soil, or placing 
irrigated landscaping, within the drip line, unless a plan for such 
construction activity has been approved by the Planning Director or 
Development Review Board based upon the recommendations of an 
arborist. 

C. Attachments to Trees During Construction.  Notwithstanding the 
requirement of WC 4.620.10(1)(A), no person shall attach any device 
or wire to any protected tree unless needed for tree protection. 

D. Protective Barrier.  Before development, land clearing, filling or any 
land alteration for which a Tree Removal Permit is required, the 
developer shall erect and maintain suitable barriers as identified by 
an arborist to protect remaining trees.  Protective barriers shall 
remain in place until the City authorizes their removal or issues a 
final certificate of occupancy, whichever occurs first.  Barriers shall 
be sufficiently substantial to withstand nearby construction 
activities.  Plastic Tape or similar forms of markers do not constitute 
“barriers”.  The most appropriate and protective barrier shall be 
utilized.  Barriers are required for all trees designated to remain, 
except in the following cases. 

1. Rights-of-ways and Easements. 

2. Any property area separate from the construction or land 
clearing area onto which no equipment may venture. 

Response: Trees to be retained will be protected to the greatest extent possible 
during construction as described in the attached Tree Report (see Notebook Section 
VIB).  Additional details about tree protection during construction will be provided 
with the construction drawings. 
 



PDP 3N, TYPE “C” TREE REMOVAL PLAN/PERMIT PAGE 10 
Supporting Compliance Report January 31, 2014 

SECTION 4.620.20. MAINTENANCE AND PROTECTION STANDARDS 

(.01) The following standards apply to all activities affecting trees, including, but 
not limited to, tree protection as required by a condition of approval on a 
site development application brought under this chapter or as required by 
an approved Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan. 

A. Pruning activities shall be guided by the most recent version of the ANSI 
300 Standards for Tree, Shrub and Other Woody Plant Maintenance.   

B. Topping is prohibited 

1. Exception from this section may be granted under a Tree
Removal Permit if necessary for utility work or public safety.

Response: The attached Tree Report (see Notebook Section VIB) addresses tree 
protection standards. If pruning or topping is determined to be necessary in the future, 
it will occur in accordance with WC 4.620.20.  

SECTION 4.640.00. APPLICATION REVIEW PROCEDURES 

(.03) Reviewing Authority 

B. Type C.  Where the site is proposed for development necessitating site 
plan review or plat approval by the Development Review Board, the 
Development Review Board shall be responsible for granting or denying 
the application for a Tree Removal Permit, and that decision may be 
subject to affirmance, reversal or modification by the City Council, if 
subsequently reviewed by the Council. 

Response: This application includes Tree Preservation Plans, located in Notebook 
Section VIC for review by the Development Review Board.  The Applicant is requesting 
that the Development Review Board approve this plan so that a Tree Removal Permit 
may be issued. 

II. CONCLUSION

This Supporting Compliance Report demonstrates compliance with the applicable 
criteria of the City of Wilsonville Land Development Ordinance for the requested 
review of the Type “C” Tree Removal Plan and Permit.  Therefore, the applicant 
respectfully requests approval of this application. 



VIB
Tree Report



Villebois PDP 3 North – Wilsonville, Oregon 
Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 

January 30, 2014 
MHA1405 

Purpose 
This Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan for the Villebois Preliminary Development Plan (PDP) 3 
North project located in Wilsonville, Oregon, is provided pursuant to City of Wilsonville Development 
Code, Section 4.610.40. This arborist report describes the existing trees located on the project site, as 
well as recommendations for tree removal, retention, mitigation, and protection. This report is based on 
observations made by International Society of Arboriculture (ISA) Certified Arborist and Qualified Tree 
Risk Assessor Morgan Holen (PN‐6145A) during a site visit conducted on January 28, 2014.  

Scope of Work and Limitations 
Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC, was contracted by Polygon Northwest Company to visually assess 
existing trees measuring six inches in diameter and larger in terms of general condition and suitability 
for preservation with development, and to develop a tree maintenance and protection plan for the 
project. The site is planned for residential development. A site plan was provided by Pacific Community 
Design illustrating the location of trees and tree survey point numbers, and potential construction 
impacts.  

Visual Tree Assessment (VTA1) was performed on individual trees located across the site, except for a 
group of approximately 113 Oregon ash (Fraxinus latifolia) trees located with the wetland boundaries 
that are planned for preservation during construction. Trees were evaluated in terms species, size, 
general condition, and potential construction impacts, and treatment recommendations include retain, 
remove for construction or because of poor or hazardous condition, or likely to be removed due to 
construction impacts. Following the inventory fieldwork, we coordinated with Pacific Community Design 
to discuss and finalize treatment recommendations based on the proposed site plan. 

The client may choose to accept or disregard the recommendations contained herein, or seek additional 
advice. Neither this author nor Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC, have assumed any responsibility for 
liability associated with the trees on or adjacent to this site. 

General Description 
The Villebois PDP 3 North project site includes the Rumpf and Taber properties located east of Graham’s 
Ferry Road and south of Tooze Road. Both properties have existing homes and open pastures. The 
existing trees are scattered across the site, but numerous trees are found around the Taber’s home and 
in the wetland on the Rumpf property.  

In all, 41 trees measuring 6‐inches and larger in diameter were inventoried including 18 tree species. 
Table 1 provides a summary of the count of trees by species. A complete description of individual trees 
is provided in the enclosed tree data.  

1 Visual Tree Assessment (VTA): The standard process of visual tree inspection whereby the inspector visually assesses the tree 
from a distance and up close, looking for defect symptoms and evaluating overall condition and vitality. 

9 7 1 . 4 0 9 . 9 3 5 4
3 Monroe Parkway, Suite P 220 

Lake Oswego, Oregon  97035 
morgan.holen@comcast.netConsulting Arborists and Urban Forest Management 



Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, Oregon 

January 30, 2014 
Page 2 

 

 

 

Table 1. Count of Trees by Species – Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, OR. 

Common Name  Species Name  Total  % 

Atlas cedar  Cedrus atlantica  1 2.44% 
black locust  Robinia Pseudoacacia  1 2.44% 
blue spruce  Populus trichocarpa  1 2.44% 
dogwood  Cornus spp.  1 2.44% 
Douglas‐fir  Pseudotsuga menziesii  9 21.95% 
English hawthorn  Crataegus monogyna  1 2.44% 
European white birch  Betula pendula  2 4.88% 
fruit  unknown  11 26.83% 
giant sequoia  Sequoiadendron giganteum  1 2.44% 
ginkgo  Ginkgo biloba  1 2.44% 
lodgepole pine  Pinus contorta  3 7.32% 
mimosa  Albizia julibrissin  1 2.44% 
Norway maple  Acer platanoides  1 2.44% 
Oregon white oak  Quercus garryana  1 2.44% 
ponderosa pine  Pinus ponderosa  3 7.32% 
Port‐Orford‐cedar  Chamaecyparis lawsoniana  1 2.44% 
red maple  Acer rubrum  1 2.44% 
western redcedar  Thuja plicata  1 2.44% 
Total  41  100% 

 
The tree inventory includes one (2.44%) Oregon white oak, but no native yews (Taxus spp.) or any 
species listed by either the state or federal government as rare or endangered were found on the site. 
The Oregon white oak, tree # 17236, is located in the northwest corner of the project site. This tree has 
codominant stems that are actively separating from one another; there is an obvious seam running from 
the open cavity to the ground and advanced stem and basal decay (photo 1).  
 

 
Photo 1. Tree #17239, an Oregon white oak, has codominant stems actively 

separating from one another and a hollow with advanced decay. 



Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, Oregon 

January 30, 2014 
Page 3 

 

 

 

Using the International Society of Arboriculture Best Management Practices for Tree Risk Assessment 
(2011), this tree has an imminent likelihood of failure and high likelihood of impacting a target, which 
means that the likelihood of failure and impact is very likely; considering that the consequences would 
be significant, this tree has high risk potential. Removal of this Oregon white oak is recommended 
because of hazardous condition and no reasonable risk abatement options are feasible. However, it is 
the property owner’s responsibility to determine the threshold level of risk they are willing to accept 
and Polygon is planning to retain this tree.  
 
Tree Plan Recommendations 
As described in the enclosed tree inventory data, individual trees were assigned a general condition 
rating as defined by the Villebois Specific Area Plan North Community Elements Book: 

P: Poor Condition 

M: Moderate Condition 

G: Good Condition 

I: Important Condition 
 
Note that none of the trees were classified as “Important”, however trees #10478, a 61‐inch diameter 
giant sequoia (Sequoiadendron giganteum), and #10499, a 27‐inch diameter Douglas‐fir, both classified 
in “Good” condition, were noted as being in excellent condition with long live crowns and no major 
defects. 
 
In addition to the 113 non‐inventoried Oregon ash trees located within the wetland boundaries that are 
planned for preservation, seven (17.1%) of the 41 inventoried trees are planned for preservation, 26 
(63.4%) are planned for removal, and eight (19.5%) trees in good condition are likely to be removed. 
Table 2 provides a summary of the count of trees by general condition rating and treatment 
recommendation. 

Table 2. Count of Trees by Treatment Recommendation and General Condition Rating. 

Treatment Recommendation 

General Condition Rating 

Total P  M  G 

Retain    2  5  7 (17.1%) 

Remove  8  13  5  26 (63.4%) 

Likely to be Removed      8  8 (19.5%) 

Total 
8 

(19.5%) 
15 

(36.6%) 
18

(43.9%) 
41 (100%) 

 
Of the 26 trees planned for removal, 17 (65%) are recommended for removal because of condition and 
nine (35%) are recommended for removal for the purposes of construction, including five trees in good 
condition. 
  
The eight trees classified as likely to be removed shall be accounted for as removed for the purposes of 
mitigation, but re‐evaluated during construction in terms of long‐term sustainability, and retained or 
removed at that time. These trees will be protected during construction, but if the arborist determines 
that a tree is not sustainable with construction impacts, the arborist shall submit a brief memorandum 
to the City documenting the change in treatment recommendation to seek written authorization to 



Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, Oregon 

January 30, 2014 
Page 4 

 

 

 

proceed with removal and mitigation. If a tree likely to be removed is successfully protected throughout 
construction, no mitigation will be required for the tree.  
 
Mitigation Requirements 
All 41 inventoried trees are 6‐inches or larger in diameter, including seven trees planned for retention 
with protection throughout construction and 34 trees planned for removal because of condition and/or 
construction or are likely to be removed because of construction. Removal of these 34 trees requires 
mitigation per Section 4.620.00; removed trees shall be replaced on a basis of one tree planted for each 
tree removed. Therefore, 34 trees measuring at least 2‐inch in diameter shall be planted as mitigation 
for tree removal.    

 
Tree Protection Standards  
Trees designated for retention will need special consideration to assure their protection during 
construction. We highly recommend a preconstruction meeting with the owner, contractors, and project 
arborist to review tree protection measures and address questions or concerns on site. Tree protection 
measures include:  

 Fencing. Trees to remain on site shall be protected by installation of tree protection fencing to 
prevent injury to tree trunks or roots, or soil compaction within the root protection area, which 
generally coincides with tree driplines. Fences shall be 6‐foot high steel on concrete blocks or 
orange plastic construction fencing on metal stakes. The project arborist shall determine the 
exact location and type of tree protection fencing. Trees located more than 30‐feet from 
construction activity shall not require fencing.  

 Tree Protection Zone. Without authorization from the Project Arborist, none of the following 
shall occur beneath the dripline of any protected tree: 

1. Grade change or cut and fill; 

2. New impervious surfaces; 

3. Utility or drainage field placement; 

4. Staging or storage of materials and equipment; or 

5. Vehicle maneuvering. 

Root protection zones may be entered for tasks like surveying, measuring, and, sampling. Fences 
must be closed upon completion of these tasks.   

 Pruning. Pruning may be needed to provide for overhead clearance and to remove dead and 
defective branches for safety. The project arborist can help identify where pruning is necessary 
once trees recommended for removal have been removed and the site is staked and prepared 
for construction. Tree removal and pruning shall be performed by a Qualified Tree Service.  

 Excavation. Excavation beneath the dripline of protected trees shall be avoided if alternatives 
are feasible. Otherwise, the project arborist shall provide on‐site consultation during all 
excavation activities beneath the dripline of protected trees. Excavation immediately adjacent 
to roots larger than 2‐inches in diameter within the root protection zone of retained trees shall 
be by hand or other non‐invasive techniques to ensure that roots are not damaged. Where 
feasible, major roots shall be protected by tunneling or other means to avoid destruction or 
damage. Exceptions can be made if, in the opinion of the project arborist, unacceptable damage 
will not occur to the tree. Where soil grade changes affect the root protection area, the grade 



Tree Maintenance and Protection Plan 
Villebois PDP 3 North, Wilsonville, Oregon 

January 30, 2014 
Page 5 

 

 

 

line should be meandered wherever practicable. This will require on‐site coordination to ensure 
a reasonable balance between engineering, construction, and the need for tree protection. 

 Surfacing. If surfacing is proposed beneath the dripline of protected trees, coordinate with the 
project arborist to provide recommendations for adjustments to protection fencing and to 
monitor construction in the tree protection zone. Avoid excavation and use a modified profile to 
build up from existing grade (Figure 1). The profile includes a layer of permeable geotextile 
fabric on the ground surface and crushed rock to raise the grade as needed. Surfacing may 
include asphalt, concrete, or other materials. If excavation is necessary, work shall be performed 
under arborist supervision. 

   

 Landscaping. Following construction and where landscaping is desired, apply approximately 3‐
inches of mulch beneath the dripline of protected trees, but not directly against tree trunks. 
Shrubs and ground covers may be planted within tree protection areas. If irrigation is used, use 
drip irrigation only beneath the driplines of protected trees.   

 Quality Assurance. The project arborist should supervise proper execution of this plan during 
construction activities that could encroach on retained trees. Tree protection site inspection 
monitoring reports should be provided to the Client and City on a regular basis throughout 
construction.    

 
Summary 
In summary, seven trees are planned for retention with construction (in addition to the approximately 
113 Oregon ash trees located within the wetland boundaries), an additional eight trees will be protected 
but are likely to be removed during construction, and 26 trees are recommended for removal either 
because of condition or for the purposes of construction. The 26 trees planned for removal will require 
mitigation on a one‐for‐one basis and the eight trees likely to be removed will require mitigation if 
removed.  

 
Thank you for choosing Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC, to provide consulting arborist services for the 
Villebois PDP 3 North project. Please contact us if you have questions or need any additional information. 

Thank you, 
Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC 
 
 
 

Morgan E. Holen, Owner   
ISA Certified Arborist, PN‐6145A 
ISA Tree Risk Assessment Qualified 
Forest Biologist 

Enclosures:  Villebois PDP 3 North – Tree Data 1‐28‐14 



MHA1405 Villebois PDP 3 North ‐ Tree Data 1‐28‐14

Page 1 of 2

Tree 

No.

Point 

No. Common Name Species Name DBH* C‐Rad^ Cond# Condition & Comments Treatment

10442 17236 Oregon white oak Quercus garryana 60 M

codominant stems at 6' coming apart; 

advanced decay; high risk; remove for 
hazardous condition retain

10443 17237 English hawthorn Crataegus monogyna 16 M invasive species, poor structure remove ‐ construction

10444 17238 black locust Robinia pseudoacacia 18 G invasive species, dead branches remove ‐ construction

10463 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 45 M

poor crown structure, dead and broken 

branches remove ‐ construction

10464 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 26 24 G

codom branches, some included bark, 

appears stable retain

10465 ponderosa pine Pinus ponderosa 19 12 M

poor crown structure; retain with 

adjacent trees only retain

10466 Atlas cedar Cedrus atlantica 27 20 G numerous leaders retain

10467 lodgepole pine Pinus contorta 10 M small crown, sequoia pitch moth remove ‐ condition

10468 lodgepole pine Pinus contorta 9 P

poor crown structure, sequoia pitch 

moth remove ‐ condition

10469 lodgepole pine Pinus contorta 9 P

dead branches, poor crown structure, 

sequoia pitch moth remove ‐ condition

10470 ginkgo Ginkgo biloba 8 8 G no major defects retain

10471 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 32 16 G few broken branches likely to be removed

10472 blue spruce Picea pungens 15 M twig dieback, suspect adelgid remove ‐ condition

10473 Port‐Orford‐cedar Chamaecyparis lawsoniana 12 11 G no major defects remove ‐ construction

10473.1 dogwood Cornus  spp. 6 14 G

prune dominant trees for crown 

clearance if retained likely to be removed

10474 ponderosa pine Pinus ponderosa 21 12 G multiple leaders, sequoia pitch moth likely to be removed

10475 western redcedar Thuja plicata 28 16 G no major defects likely to be removed

10476 ponderosa pine Pinus ponderosa 21 10 M

multiple leaders, sequoia pitch moth, 

prune if retained remove ‐ construction

10477 Norway maple Acer platanoides 20 22 G invasive species remove ‐ construction

Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC
 Consulting Arborists and Urban Forest Management

3 Monroe Parkway, Suite P220, Lake Oswego, Oregon  97035
morgan.holen@comcast.net  |  971-409-9354



MHA1405 Villebois PDP 3 North ‐ Tree Data 1‐28‐14

Page 2 of 2

Tree 

No.

Point 

No. Common Name Species Name DBH* C‐Rad^ Cond# Condition & Comments Treatment

10478 giant sequoia Sequoiadendron giganteum 61 16 G

excellent condition, long live crown, no 

major defects remove ‐ construction

10479 mimosa Albizia julibrissin 20 P

codom stems at 1' coming apart, 

advanced basal and stem decay remove ‐ hazardous

10480 red maple Acer rubrum 15 18 G scaffold branch with included bark likely to be removed

10481 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 25 22 G broken top likely to be removed

10482 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 27 18 G few dead twigs likely to be removed

10483 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 22 16 G no major defects likely to be removed

10484 fruit unknown 20 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition

10485 fruit unknown 10 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition

10486 fruit unknown 5,6,8,9 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition

10487 fruit unknown 10,14 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition

10488 fruit unknown 13 G no major defects remove ‐ construction

10489 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 33 M codom stems, included bark, seam remove ‐ hazardous

10490 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 2*32 24 G

codom at 4', some included bark, 

appears stable retain

10491 European white birch Betula pendula 2*12 P invasive species, poor structure remove ‐ condition

10492 European white birch Betula pendula 8,2*12 P invasive species, poor structure remove ‐ condition

10493 fruit unknown 8 P branch and stem decay remove ‐ condition

10494 fruit unknown 10 P branch and stem decay remove ‐ condition

10495 fruit unknown 8 P stem decay, small live crown remove ‐ condition

10496 fruit unknown 12 M no major defects remove ‐ construction

10497 fruit unknown 8 M poor crown structure remove ‐ condition

10498 fruit unknown 7 M no major defects remove ‐ condition

10499 Douglas‐fir Pseudotsuga menziesii 27 20 G

excellent condition, long live crown, no 

major defects retain

^C‐Rad: Crown Radius, the distance from the center of the tree to the edge of the dripline (measured in feet)
#Condition Codes: I‐Important; G‐Good; M‐Moderate; P‐Poor

*DBH: Diameter at Breast Height (measured 4.5‐feet above ground level in inches); trees with multiple trunks splitting below DBH are measured separately and individual trunk measurements are separated

Morgan Holen & Associates, LLC
 Consulting Arborists and Urban Forest Management

3 Monroe Parkway, Suite P220, Lake Oswego, Oregon  97035
morgan.holen@comcast.net  |  971-409-9354



VIC 
Tree Preservation Plan 



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

TREES WITHIN
EXISTING WETLAND
NOT EXAMINED AND
TO BE RETAINED

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

M

M

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Tree
Preservation

Plan

CLASSIFICATION METHOD:

TREES WERE RATED BASED ON THE FOLLOWING

CONSIDERATIONS:

1. HEALTH

2. SPECIES (NATIVES WITH HABITAT AND ECOSYSTEM

VALUE)

3. COMPATIBILITY WITH DEVELOPMENT

4. FORM / VISUAL INTEREST / MATURE SIZE

TREES RANKED AS IMPORTANT WERE RATED HIGH IN

ALL FOUR AREAS.

TREES IN THE GOOD CATEGORY HAD GOOD HEALTH

AND WERE A DESIRABLE SPECIES, BUT HAD

IRREGULAR FORM OR LESS COMPATIBILITY WITH

DEVELOPMENT.

TREES IN THE MODERATE CATEGORY HAD GOOD TO

MODERATE HEALTH AND FORM, BUT WERE A LESS

DESIRABLE SPECIES OR MAY BE LESS COMPATIBLE

WITH DEVELOPMENT.

TREES IN THE POOR CATEGORY HAD POOR HEALTH

AND/OR SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE.

THE INTENT OF THE PLAN IS TO RETAIN AND

INCORPORATE THE MAXIMUM QUANTITY OF TREES

WITH IMPORTANT, GOOD, AND MODERATE

CLASSIFICATIONS.  THE FOLLOWING CLASSIFICATION

SYSTEM WAS USED:

NOTES

ALL CONSTRUCTION AND GRADING WITHIN TREE

PROTECTION ZONE IS TO BE COMPLETED UNDER

DIRECT SUPERVISION OF PROJECT ARBORIST.

CONTACT: MORGAN HOLEN

PHONE: 503-646-4349

NOTES:

1. THE INFORMATION PROVIDED WITHIN THE

PROJECT BOUNDARY IS BASED ON AN ON-SITE

EVALUATION OF THE EXISTING TREES BY

ARBORIST MORGAN HOLAN AND WAS PROVIDED IN

A TREE REPORT DATE JANUARY 28, 2014 INCLUDED

WITH THE APPLICATION MATERIALS.

2. RETAINED TREES WITHIN THE WETLAND HAVE NOT

BEEN EXAMINED.



Section VII 

Final Development Plan



VIIA
Supporting Compliance Report



FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH PAGE 1 
Supporting Compliance Report January 31, 2014 

SUPPORTING COMPLIANCE REPORT  

FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN - 3 NORTH 

(INCLUDES CHILD PLAY AREA DEFERRED WITH PDP 2N) 

SECTION VIIA 

Table of Contents 

I. WILSONVILLE PLANNING & LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE ................... 2 

SECTION 4.125.  VILLAGE (V) ZONE .............................................................................. 2 

Lighting Master Plan ............................................................................................ 5 

Curb Extensions .................................................................................................... 5 

Street Tree Master Plan ...................................................................................... 5 

Site Furnishings ..................................................................................................... 6 

Play Structures ..................................................................................................... 6 

Tree Protection .................................................................................................... 6 

Plant List ................................................................................................................ 6 

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS ........................................................................... 7 

SECTION 4.156.  SIGN REGULATIONS ............................................................................. 7 

SECTION 4.176.  LANDSCAPING, SCREENING & BUFFERING ............................................. 7 

SECTION 4.177.  STREET IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS ..................................................... 14 

SECTION 4.178.  SIDEWALK & PATHWAY STANDARDS .................................................... 14 

SITE DESIGN REVIEW ................................................................................................... 15 

SECTION 4.400.  PURPOSE. ........................................................................................ 15 

SECTION 4.421. CRITERIA AND APPLICATION OF DESIGN STANDARDS. ........................... 18 

SECTION 4.440. PROCEDURE. .................................................................................... 21 

SECTION 4.450. INSTALLATION OF LANDSCAPING. ....................................................... 22 

II. CONCLUSION ................................................................................ 23



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 2 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

I. WILSONVILLE PLANNING & LAND DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 

SECTION 4.125.  VILLAGE (V) ZONE 

(.02) Permitted Uses 

Examples of principle uses that typically permitted: 

H. Non-commercial parks, plazas, playgrounds, recreational facilities, 
community buildings and grounds, tennis courts, and other similar 
recreational and community uses owned and operated either 
publicly or by an owners association. 

Response: The parks and open space areas include non-commercial parks to be 
owned and operated by a homeowners association. Therefore, proposed park and 
open space uses within PDP 3N are permitted.  
 
(.07)  General Regulations – Off-Street Parking, Loading & Bicycle Parking 

Response: Amenities planned within PDP 3N park and open areas do not require 
off-street parking.  Therefore, this section does not apply.   
 
(.08) Open Space.  

Response: The PDP Compliance Report (see Notebook Section IIIA) demonstrates 
parks and open space areas comprise approximately 33% of Villebois and that PDP 3N 
is consistent with SAP North. This FDP is submitted concurrently with PDP 3N, and is 
therefore consistent with the parks and open space area in PDP 3N.  

 
(.09) Street and Access Improvement Standards.  

Response: The Supporting Compliance Report for the PDP (see Notebook Section 
IIIA) demonstrates that streets and access improvement standards are met.  This 
code section does not apply to the proposed parks and open space areas, except to 
assure that vision clearance standards are met in proposed planting schemes for 
these areas.  Proposed landscaping is sited to meet vision clearance standards (see 
Notebook Section VIIB).  

 
(.10) Sidewalk and Pathway Improvement Standards.  

Response: This code section refers directly to code Section 4.176, which is 
addressed in subsequent sections of this report. 

 
(.11)  Landscaping, Screening and Buffering 

A. Except as noted below, the provisions of Section 4.176 shall apply 
in the Village zone: 

1. Streets in the Village zone shall be developed with street 
trees as described in the Community Elements Book. 

Response:   The applicable provisions of Section 4.176 are addressed in the 
subsequent sections of this report.  The PDP provides information regarding street 
trees for the proposed streets (see Notebook Section IIIB).  This FDP application 
reflects the provision of street trees consistent with that shown in the PDP 
application. 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 3 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

 
(.12)  Master Signage and Wayfinding 

Response: The SAP North Signage & Wayfinding Plan indicates the provision of 
Secondary Site Identifier at the site entrance from Grahams Ferry Road.  The 
attached PDP plans (see Notebook Section IIIB) and FDP plans (see Notebook Section 
VIIB) show provision of the ‘Secondary Site Identifier’ with the future construction of 
the site entrance.   
 
(.14)  Design Standards Applying to the Village Zone 

A. The following design standards implement the Design Principles 
found in (.13), above, and enumerate the architectural details and 
design requirements applicable to buildings and other features 
within the Village (V) zone.  The Design Standards are based 
primarily on the features, types, and details of the residential 
traditions in the Northwest, but are not intended to mandate a 
particular style or fashion.  All development within the Village zone 
shall incorporate the following: 

 
2. Building and site design shall include: 

b. Materials, colors and architectural details executed in 
a manner consistent with the methods included in an 
approved Architectural Pattern Book, Community 
Elements Book or approved Village Center Design. 

Response: The materials proposed for the parks of the subject PDP are consistent 
with the approved SAP North Community Elements Book as shown in the FDP 
Approval Criteria section of this report.  The SAP – North Architectural Pattern Book 
is not applicable to the proposed park uses.  The FDP plans (see Notebook Section 
VIIB) and PDP plans include the locations of mailbox kiosks. The design and location 
of mailbox kiosks will be consistent with the Community Elements Book. An 
alternate mailbox kiosk elevation is provided in Notebook Section VIIC. 

 
f. The protection of existing significant trees as 

identified in an approved Community Elements Book. 

Response: The design of the parks will protect existing significant trees 
consistent with the Tree Protection component of the Community Elements Book 
and Sheet 10 - Tree Preservation Plan (see Notebook Section IIIB).  The FDP plans 
(Notebook Section VIIB) show retention of existing significant trees.   
 

g. A landscape plan in compliance with Sections 
4.125(.07) and (.11), above. 

Response: A detailed landscape plan is provided with this FDP application in 
accordance with the requirements of Section 4.125 (.07) and (.11), 4.176(.09), and 
4.440(.01)B (see attached plans in Notebook Section VIIB).   
 

3. Lighting and site furnishings shall be in compliance with the 
approved Community Elements Book. 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 4 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

Response: Lighting and site furnishings as identified in the approved Community 
Elements Book for SAP – North are addressed in the FDP Approval Criteria section of 
this report.  The FDP plans include the locations of mailbox kiosks (see Exhibit VIIB). 
Mailbox kiosks will be located and designed consistent with the SAP North 
Community Elements Book. An alternate mailbox kiosk elevation is provided in 
Notebook Section VIIC. 
 
(.18)  Village Zone Development Permit Process 

L. Final Development Plan Approval Procedures (Equivalent to Site 
Design Review): 

1. Unless an extension has been granted by the Development 
Review Board as enabled by Section 4.023, within two (2) 
years after the approval of a PDP, an application for 
approval of a FDP shall: 

a. Be filed with the City Planning Division for the entire 
FDP, or when submission of the PDP in phases has 
been authorized by the development Review Board, 
for a phase in the approved sequence. 

b. Be made by the owner of all affected property or the 
owner’s authorized agent. 

c. Be filed on a form prescribed by the City Planning 
Division and filed with said division and accompanied 
by such fee as the City Council may prescribe by 
resolution. 

d. Set forth the professional coordinator and 
professional design team for the project. 

Response: This application has been made by the owner and applicant of the 
affected property and has been filed on the prescribed form and accompanied by the 
prescribed fee (copies of the application form and fee payment are included in 
Notebook Sections IB and IC). The professional coordinator and professional design 
team for the project are listed in the Introductory Narrative (see Notebook Section 
IA). 

 
M. FDP Application Submittal Requirements: 

1. An application for approval of a FDP shall be subject to the 
provisions of Section 4.034. 

Response: Section 4.034(.08), states that “Applications for development 
approvals within the Village zone shall be reviewed in accordance with the standards 
and procedures set forth in Section 4.125.” The proposed FDP is reviewed in 
accordance with the standards and procedures set forth in Section 4.125, as 
demonstrated by this report. 
 

N. FDP Approval Procedures 

1. An application for approval of a FDP shall be subject to the 
provisions of Section 4.421. 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 5 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

Response: The provisions of Section 4.421 are addressed in the following sections 
of this report. 
 

O. FDP Refinements to an Approved Preliminary Development Plan 

Response: This FDP is submitted for review and approval concurrent with the 
PDP.  Thus, the FDP is consistent with the PDP and does not propose any refinements 
or amendments to the PDP. 

 
P. FDP Approval Criteria 

1. An application for approval of a FDP shall be subject to the 
provisions of Section 4.421. 

Response: The provisions of Section 4.421 are addressed in the following sections 
of this report. 
 

2. An application for an FDP shall demonstrate that the proposal 
conforms to the applicable Architectural Pattern Book, Community 
Elements Book, Village Center Design and any other conditions of a 
previously approved PDP. 

Response: This FDP addresses parks and landscaping within PDP 3N.  The 
Architectural Pattern Book is not applicable to this FDP because no architecture is 
proposed.   The Village Center Design is not applicable as the FDP is outside the 
Village Center.  The FDP is submitted for review and approval concurrent with the 
PDP; therefore, there are no conditions of a previously approved PDP that apply to 
this request.  Conformance of the proposed FDP with the Community Elements Book 
for SAP – North Phase 3 is demonstrated as follows. 

 
LIGHTING MASTER PLAN 

Response: The lighting shown on the attached plans (see Notebook Section VIIB) 
is consistent with the Lighting Master Plan Diagram shown on page 4 of the 
Community Elements Book for SAP North. The FDP is submitted for review and 
approval concurrent with the PDP; therefore, there are no conditions of a previously 
approved PDP that apply to this request. 
 
CURB EXTENSIONS 

Response: PDP 3N will be developed with curb extensions shown on the Curb 
Extension Concept Plan Diagram located on page 5 of the Community Elements Book 
for SAP – North.  The FDP is submitted for review and approval concurrent with the 
PDP; therefore, there are no conditions of a previously approved PDP that apply to 
this request  
 
STREET TREE MASTER PLAN 

Response: The location and species of street trees shown on the attached plans 
(see Notebook Section VIIB) is consistent with the Street Tree Master Plan Diagram 
and List shown on pages 7-10 of the Community Elements Book. These tree species 
will be planted along the perimeter of the parks in the FDP where streets are 
located. The FDP is submitted for review and approval concurrent with the PDP; 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 6 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

therefore, there are no conditions of a previously approved PDP that apply to this 
request  
 
SITE FURNISHINGS 

Response: The furnishings shown on the attached plans (see Notebook Section 
VIIB) were selected to maintain the identity and continuity of Villebois.  The site 
furnishings shown in the parks are consistent with those described in the Site 
Furnishings Concept shown on pages 13-15 of the Community Elements Book. 

The FDP plans include the locations of mailbox kiosks (see Notebook Section VIIB). 
Mailbox kiosks will be located and designed consistent with the SAP – North 
Community Elements Book and other areas of SAP – North. An alternate mailbox 
kiosk elevation is provided in Notebook Section VIIC. 
 
The FDP is submitted for review and approval concurrent with the PDP; therefore, 
there are no conditions of a previously approved PDP that apply to this request. 
 
PLAY STRUCTURES 

Response: The FDP plans include the location of the play structure within the 
proposed pocket park (see Notebook Section VIIB), which will be consistent with the 
design shown in the Community Elements Book on Page 17. The FDP is submitted for 
review and approval concurrent with the PDP; therefore, there are no conditions of 
a previously approved PDP that apply to this request.    
 
TREE PROTECTION 

Response: The Tree Protection component shown on page 18 of the Community 
Elements Book for SAP – North describes the goal, policies, and implementation 
measures that were used to promote the protection of existing trees in the design of 
the PDP area.  Tree preservation and removal is shown in conjunction with the 
concurrent PDP and Tree Removal Plan applications (see Notebook Sections III and 
Section VI, respectively).  The proposed FDP, which includes numerous landscape 
tracts, is consistent with the tree protection shown in PDP and Tree Removal Plan. 
The FDP is submitted for review and approval concurrent with the PDP; therefore, 
there are no conditions of a previously approved PDP that apply to this request.  
 
PLANT LIST 

Response: The Community Elements Book for SAP – North contains a Plant List 
(pages 19-21) of non-native and native trees, shrubs, and herbs/grasses for species 
to be used within Villebois.  The attached plans (see Notebook Section VIIB) list the 
plants that will be planted in the proposed parks.  The proposed plantings are 
consistent with the Plant List in the SAP – North Community Elements Book.  
Additionally, the FDP is submitted for review and approval concurrent with the PDP; 
therefore, there are no conditions of a previously approved PDP that apply to this 
request. 
 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 7 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

GENERAL DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 

SECTION 4.156.  SIGN REGULATIONS 

Response: The amended SAP North Signage & Wayfinding Plan indicates the 
provision of ‘Secondary Site Identifier’ with the site entrance on Grahams Ferry 
Road.  The attached PDP plans (see Notebook Section IIIB) and FDP plans (see 
Notebook Section VIIB) show the provision of the ‘Secondary Site Identifier’ with the 
future entrance construction. 

SECTION 4.176.  LANDSCAPING, SCREENING & BUFFERING 

(.02) Landscaping and Screening Standards. 

Response: Parks will be landscaped as illustrated on the FDP plans (see Notebook 
Section VIIB).  Streets and public right-of-way improvements, including street trees, 
are reviewed with the PDP (see Notebook Section III).  This FDP consistently reflects 
street trees shown in the PDP.   
 
(.03) Landscape Area.   

Not less than fifteen percent (15%) of the total lot area, shall be 
landscaped with vegetative plant materials.  The ten percent (10%) 
parking area landscaping required by section 4.155.03(B)(1) is included in 
the fifteen percent (15%) total lot landscaping requirement.  Landscaping 
shall be located in at least three separate and distinct areas of the lot, 
one of which must be in the contiguous frontage area.  Planting areas shall 
be encouraged adjacent to structures.  Landscaping shall be used to 
define, soften or screen the appearance of buildings and off-street parking 
areas.  Materials to be installed shall achieve a balance between various 
plant forms, textures, and heights. The installation of native plant 
materials shall be used whenever practicable. 

Response: FDP plans (see Notebook Section VIIB) illustrate compliance with this 
standard with landscaping provided in parks and open spaces and along streets and 
lot frontages.  

 
(.04) Buffering and Screening.   

Additional to the standards of this subsection, the requirements of the 
Section 4.137.5 (Screening and Buffering Overlay Zone) shall also be 
applied, where applicable.   

A. All intensive or higher density developments shall be screened and 
buffered from less intense or lower density developments. 

B. Activity areas on commercial and industrial sites shall be buffered 
and screened from adjacent residential areas.  Multi-family 
developments shall be screened and buffered from single-family 
areas. 

C. All exterior, roof and ground mounted, mechanical and utility 
equipment shall be screened from ground level off-site view from 
adjacent streets or properties. 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 8 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

D. All outdoor storage areas shall be screened from public view, 
unless visible storage has been approved for the site by the 
Development Review Board or Planning Director acting on a 
development permit. 

E. In all cases other than for industrial uses in industrial zones, 
landscaping shall be designed to screen loading areas and docks, 
and truck parking. 

F. In any zone any fence over six (6) feet high measured from soil 
surface at the outside of fenceline shall require Development 
Review Board approval. 

Response: None of the above-listed areas or uses exist within the proposed 
parks.  Therefore, no buffering or screening is required in relation to the FDP. 
 
(.05) Sight-Obscuring Fence or Planting.   

The use for which a sight-obscuring fence or planting is required shall 
not begin operation until the fence or planting is erected or in place 
and approved by the City.  A temporary occupancy permit may be 
issued upon a posting of a bond or other security equal to one hundred 
ten percent (110%) of the cost of such fence or planting and its 
installation.  (See Sections 4.400 to 4.470 for additional 
requirements.) 

Response: No sight-obscuring fence or planting is required in this FDP area.  

 
(.06) Plant Materials. 

A. Shrubs and Ground Cover. All required ground cover plants and 
shrubs must be of sufficient size and number to meet these 
standards within three (3) years of planting.  Non-horticultural 
plastic sheeting or other impermeable surface shall not be placed 
under mulch.  Surface mulch or bark dust are to be fully raked into 
soil of appropriate depth, sufficient to control erosion, and are 
confined to areas around plantings.  Areas exhibiting only surface 
mulch, compost or barkdust are not to be used as substitutes for 
plants areas. 

1. Shrubs.  All shrubs shall be well branched and typical of 
their type as described in current AAN Standards and shall 
be equal to or better than 2-gallon containers and 10” to 
12” spread. 

Response: As shown on the attached plans (see Notebook Section VIIB) all shrubs 
will be equal to or better than 2-gallon size with a 10 to 12 inch spread.  All shrubs 
will be well branched and typical of their type as described in current AAN 
standards. 

 
2. Ground cover.  Shall be equal to or better than the following 

depending on the type of plant materials used:  Gallon 
containers  spaced at 4 feet on center minimum, 4" pot 
spaced 2 feet on center minimum, 2-1/4" pots spaced at 18 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 9 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

inch on center minimum.  No bare root planting shall be 
permitted.  Ground cover shall be sufficient to cover at least 
80% of the bare soil in required landscape areas within 
three (3) years of planting.  Where wildflower seeds are 
designated for use as a ground cover, the City may require 
annual re-seeding as necessary. 

Response: As shown on the attached plans (see Notebook Section VIIB) all ground 
covers will be at least 4” pots and spaced appropriately.  These plants will be 
installed as required. 

 
3. Turf or lawn in non-residential developments.  Shall not be 

used to cover more than ten percent (10%) of the 
landscaped area, unless specifically approved based on a 
finding that, due to site conditions and availability of water, 
a larger percentage of turf or lawn area is appropriate. Use 
of lawn fertilizer shall be discouraged.  Irrigation drainage 
runoff from lawns shall be retained within lawn areas.  

Response: The subject FDP area is within a residential development; therefore 
this criterion does not apply. 

 
4. Plant materials under trees or large shrubs.  Appropriate 

plant materials shall be installed beneath the canopies of 
trees and large shrubs to avoid the appearance of bare 
ground in those locations. 

Response: FDP plans (see Notebook Section VIIB) show the provision of 
appropriate plant materials beneath canopies of trees and/or large shrubs, only 
within parks that are not SROZ areas in OS-2 or the retained wetland. 

 
B. Trees.  All trees shall be well-branched and typical of their type as 

described in current American Association of Nurserymen (AAN) 
Standards and shall be balled and burlapped.  The trees shall be 
grouped as follows:   

1. Primary trees which define, outline or enclose major 
spaces, such as Oak, Maple, Linden, and Seedless Ash, shall 
be a minimum of 2" caliper.   

2. Secondary trees which define, outline or enclose interior 
areas, such as Columnar Red Maple, Flowering Pear, Flame 
Ash, and Honeylocust, shall be a minimum of 1-3/4" to 2" 
caliper. 

3.  Accent trees which, are used to add color, variation and 
accent to architectural features, such as Flowering Pear and 
Kousa Dogwood, shall be 1-3/4” minimum caliper.   

4. Large conifer trees such as Douglas Fir or Deodar Cedar shall 
be installed at a minimum height of eight (8) feet.   



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 10 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

5. Medium-sized conifers such as Shore Pine, Western Red 
Cedar or Mountain Hemlock shall be installed at a minimum 
height of five to six (5 to 6) feet.   

Response: As shown on the attached plans (see Notebook Section VIIB), proposed 
tree species have been selected from the Villebois Plant List in the Community 
Elements Book.  All proposed trees meet the minimum 2” caliper code requirement 
or the minimum height requirement for conifers as appropriate.  All proposed trees 
will be well-branched, typical of their type as described in current AAN, and balled 
and burlapped. 

 
C. Where a proposed development includes buildings larger than 

twenty-four (24) feet in height or greater than 50,000 square feet 
in footprint area, the Development Review Board may require 
larger or more mature plant materials: 

Response: This standard does not apply to the subject FDP as no buildings are 
proposed in the parks. 
 

D. Street Trees.   

Response: Notebook Section III is the Preliminary Development Plan. Review of 
streets and rights-of-way, including street trees, occurs with the PDP. Street trees 
shown in the plans for this FDP are consistent with those shown in the PDP 
application.  Additionally, compliance with the Street Tree Master Plan is 
demonstrated in the PDP Supporting Compliance Report (see Notebook Section IIIA). 

 
E. Types of Plant Species. 

1. Existing landscaping or native vegetation may be used to 
meet these standards, if protected and maintained during 
the construction phase of the development and if the plant 
species do not include any that have been listed by the City 
as prohibited.  The existing native and non-native 
vegetation to be incorporated into the landscaping shall be 
identified. 

Response: As shown on the attached plans (see Notebook Section VIIB), there are 
existing trees in the FDP area to be retained.  The existing trees will be protected 
and maintained during the construction phase and are incorporated into the 
landscaping as appropriate. 

 
2. Selection of plant materials.  Landscape materials shall be 

selected and sited to produce hardy and drought-tolerant 
landscaping.  Selection shall be based on soil characteristics, 
maintenance requirements, exposure to sun and wind, slope 
and contours of the site, and compatibility with other 
vegetation that will remain on the site. Suggested species 
lists for street trees, shrubs and groundcovers shall be 
provided by the City of Wilsonville. 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 11 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

Response: All proposed landscaping materials are selected from the Villebois 
Plant List in the Community Elements Book. Specific materials were selected to best 
meet the site characteristics of the subject property.  
 

3. Prohibited plant materials.  The City may establish a list of 
plants that are prohibited in landscaped areas.  Plants may 
be prohibited because they are potentially damaging to 
sidewalks, roads, underground utilities, drainage 
improvements, or foundations, or because they are known 
to be invasive to native vegetation. 

Response: No plant materials listed as “Prohibited Plant Species” on the Villebois 
Plant List are included in the proposed landscaping. 
 

F. Tree Credit. 

Response: Tree credits are not applicable to this FDP application. 
 

G. Exceeding Standards.  Landscape materials that exceed the 
minimum standards of this Section are encouraged, provided that 
height and vision clearance requirements are met.  

H. Compliance with Standards.  The burden of proof is on the 
applicant to show that proposed landscaping materials will comply 
with the purposes and standards of this Section. 

Response: The attached plans (see Notebook Section VIIB) and this report 
demonstrate that the proposed landscaping complies with the standards of the 
Wilsonville Development Code and the Community Elements Book. 

 
(.07) Installation and Maintenance. 

A. Installation.  Plant materials shall be installed to current industry 
standards and shall be properly staked to assure survival.  Support 
devices (guy wires, etc.) shall not be allowed to interfere with 
normal pedestrian or vehicular movement. 

B. Maintenance.  Maintenance of landscaped areas is the on-going 
responsibility of the property owner.  Any landscaping installed to 
meet the requirements of this Code, or any condition of approval 
established by a City decision-making body acting on an 
application, shall be continuously maintained in a healthy, vital and 
acceptable manner.  Plants that die are to be replaced in kind, 
within one growing season, unless appropriate substitute species 
are approved by the City.  Failure to maintain landscaping as 
required in this Section shall constitute a violation of this Code for 
which appropriate legal remedies, including the revocation of any 
applicable land development permits, may result. 

C. Irrigation.  The intent of this standard is to assure that plants will 
survive the critical establishment period when they are most 
vulnerable due to a lack of watering and also to assure that water 
is not wasted through unnecessary or inefficient irrigation.  
Approved irrigation system plans shall specify one of the following: 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 12 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

1. A permanent, built-in, irrigation system with an automatic 
controller.  Either a spray or drip irrigation system, or a 
combination of the two, may be specified. 

2. A permanent or temporary system designed by a landscape 
architect licensed to practice in the State of Oregon, 
sufficient to assure that the plants will become established 
and drought-tolerant. 

3. Other irrigation system specified by a licensed professional 
in the field of landscape architecture or irrigation system 
design. 

4. A temporary permit issued for a period of one year, after 
which an inspection shall be conducted to assure that the 
plants have become established.  Any plants that have died, 
or that appear to the Planning Director to not be thriving, 
shall be appropriately replaced within one growing season.  
An inspection fee and a maintenance bond or other security 
sufficient to cover all costs of replacing the plant materials 
shall be provided, to the satisfaction of the Community 
Development Director.  Additionally, the applicant shall 
provide the City with a written license or easement to enter 
the property and cause any failing plant materials to be 
replaced. 

Response: Plants will be installed and maintained properly.  A permanent-built-
in irrigation system with an automatic controller will be installed underground to 
irrigate the proposed landscaping areas.  Additional details about the irrigation 
system will be provided with construction plans. 

 
D. Protection.  All required landscape areas, including all trees and 

shrubs, shall be protected from potential damage by conflicting 
uses or activities including vehicle parking and the storage of 
materials.   

Response: The attached planting plans demonstrate that all landscape areas will 
be protected from potential damage by vehicle travel along streets and alleys. 

 
(.08) Landscaping on Corner Lots.   

All landscaping on corner lots shall meet the vision clearance standards of 
Section 4.177.  If high screening would ordinarily be required by this 
Code, low screening shall be substituted within vision clearance areas.  
Taller screening may be required outside of the vision clearance area to 
mitigate for the reduced height within it. 

Response: All landscaping at corners will meet the vision clearance standards of 
Section 4.177. 
 
(.09) Landscape Plans.   

Landscape plans shall be submitted showing all existing and proposed 
landscape areas.  Plans must be drawn to scale and show the type, 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 13 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

installation size, number and placement of materials.  Plans shall include 
a plant material list. Plants are to be identified by both their scientific and 
common names.  The condition of any existing plants and the proposed 
method of irrigation are also to be indicated.  Landscape plans shall divide 
all landscape areas into the following categories based on projected water 
consumption for irrigation: 

A. High water usage areas (+/- two (2) inches per week):  small 
convoluted lawns, lawns under existing trees, annual and perennial 
flower beds, and temperamental shrubs; 

B. Moderate water usage areas (+/- one (1) inch per week):  large 
lawn areas, average water-using shrubs, and trees; 

C. Low water usage areas (Less than one (1) inch per week, or gallons 
per hour):  seeded field grass, swales, native plantings, drought-
tolerant shrubs, and ornamental grasses or drip irrigated areas. 

D. Interim or unique water usage areas:  areas with temporary 
seeding, aquatic plants, erosion control areas, areas with 
temporary irrigation systems, and areas with special water–saving 
features or water harvesting irrigation capabilities. 
These categories shall be noted in general on the plan and on the 
plant material list. 

Response: The attached plans (see Notebook Section VIIB) include the required 
information listed in Section 4.176(.09).  

 
(.10) Completion of Landscaping.   

The installation of plant materials may be deferred for a period of time 
specified by the Board or Planning Director acting on an application, in 
order to avoid hot summer or cold winter periods, or in response to water 
shortages.  In these cases, a temporary permit shall be issued, following 
the same procedures specified in subsection (.07)(C)(3), above, regarding 
temporary irrigation systems.  No final Certificate of Occupancy shall be 
granted until an adequate bond or other security is posted for the 
completion of the landscaping, and the City is given written authorization 
to enter the property and install the required landscaping, in the event 
that the required landscaping has not been installed.  The form of such 
written authorization shall be submitted to the City Attorney for review. 

Response: The applicant does not anticipate deferring the installation of plant 
materials.  Should it be necessary to defer installation of plant materials, the 
applicant will apply for a temporary permit.   

 
(.11) Street Trees Not Typically Part of Site Landscaping.   

Street trees are not subject to the requirements of this Section and are 
not counted toward the required standards of this Section.  Except, 
however, that the Development Review Board may, by granting a waiver 
or variance, allow for special landscaping within the right-of-way to 
compensate for a lack of appropriate on-site locations for landscaping.  
See subsection (.06), above, regarding street trees.   



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 14 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

Response: Street trees are not counted toward the required standards of this 
Section. 

 
(.12) Mitigation and Restoration Plantings.   

Response: No additional tree removal is proposed with the FDP.  The PDP 
includes a concurrent Tree Removal Plan (see Notebook Section VI), which addresses 
required tree mitigation.   
 
 
SECTION 4.177.  STREET IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS 

(.01) Except as specifically approved by the Development Review Board, all 
street and access improvements shall conform to the Street System Master 
Plan, together with the following standards: 

H. Access drives and lanes. 

Response: The proposed parks are accessible from the adjacent street rights-of 
way and/or pathways as shown on the attached plans.  All streets and alleys 
accommodate 2-way traffic. 
 

I. Corner or clear vision area. 

1.   A clear vision area shall be maintained on each corner of 
property at the intersection of any two streets, a street and 
a railroad or a street and a driveway.  No structures, 
plantings, or other obstructions that would impede visibility 
between the height of 3- inches and 10 feet shall be allowed 
within said area.  Measurements shall be made from the top 
of the curb, or, when there is no curb, from the established 
street center line grade.  However, the following items shall 
be exempt: 

a. Light and utility poles with a diameter less than 12 
inches. 

b.  An existing tree, trimmed to the trunk, 10 feet above 
the curb. 

c.  Official warning or street sign. 

d.  Natural contours where the natural elevations are such 
that there can be no cross-visibility at the intersection 
and necessary excavation would result in an 
unreasonable hardship on the property owner or 
deteriorate the quality of the site. 

Response: Landscaping at the corners of the parks will be less than 30 inches in 
height to assure that visibility is not blocked. 
 
 
SECTION 4.178.  SIDEWALK & PATHWAY STANDARDS 

(.01)  Sidewalks. All sidewalks shall be concrete and a minimum of five (5) feet 
in width, except where the walk is adjacent to commercial storefronts. In 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 15 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

such cases, they shall be increased to a minimum of ten (10) feet in 
width. 

Response: All sidewalks and pathways in the subject FDP area are at least 5 feet 
in width and concrete.   
 
(.03)  Pavement surface. 

A.  All bike paths shall be paved with asphalt to provide a smooth 
riding surface. Where pathways are adjacent to and accessible from 
improved public streets, the Public Works Director may require a 
concrete surface. At a minimum the current AASHTO “Guide for 
the Development of Bicycle Facilities” and the State “Oregon 
Bicycle Plan” shall be used to design all bicycle facilities within the 
City of Wilsonville. Any deviation from the AASHTO, ODOT, and City 
standards will require approval from the City Engineer prior to 
implementation of the design. 

B.  To increase safety, all street crossings shall be marked and should 
be designed with a change of pavement such as brick or exposed 
aggregate. All arterial crossings should be signalized. 

C.  All pathways shall be clearly posted with standard bikeway signs. 

D.  Pedestrian and equestrian trails may have a gravel or sawdust 
surface if not intended for all weather use. 

Response: There are no bicycle pathways in this FDP area.  Details about 
sidewalks in the public right-of-way were addressed in the PDP application (see 
Notebook Section III).  No Major or Minor pathways are identified on the subject 
property. Nature trails in OS-2 will be consistent with this Section.   
 
(.06)  Pathway Clearance. 

A.  Vertical clearance of at least 8 feet 6 inches shall be maintained 
above the surface of all pathways. The clearance above equestrian 
trails shall be a minimum of ten feet. 

B.  All landscaping, signs and other potential obstructions shall be set 
back at least (1) foot from the edge of the pathway surface. No 
exposed rock should be permitted within two (2) feet of the path 
pavement and all exposed earth within two (2) feet of the 
pavement shall be planted with grass, sod or covered with 2" of 
barkdust. 

Response: As shown on the attached plans, all potential obstructions are at least 
one foot from the edge of the pathway surfaces, and vertical clearance will be 
maintained. 
 

 
SITE DESIGN REVIEW 

SECTION 4.400.  PURPOSE. 

(.01) Excessive uniformity, inappropriateness or poor design of the exterior 
appearance of structures and signs and the lack of proper attention to site 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 16 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

development and landscaping in the business, commercial, industrial and 
certain residential areas of the City hinders the harmonious development 
of the City, impairs the desirability of residence, investment or 
occupation in the City, limits the opportunity to attain the optimum use in 
value and improvements, adversely affects the stability and value of 
property, produces degeneration of property in such areas and with 
attendant deterioration of conditions affecting the peace, health and 
welfare, and destroys a proper relationship between the taxable value of 
property and the cost of municipal services therefore. 

Response: No buildings are proposed within park areas.  The SAP North Signage & 
Wayfinding Plan indicates the provision of ‘Secondary Site Identifier’ with the site 
entrance from Grahams Ferry Road, as well as the continuation of Enhanced Full 
View or Partial View Fence with Landscaping along Grahams Ferry Road.  The 
attached PDP plans (see Notebook Section IIIB) and FDP plans (see Notebook Section 
VIIB) show provision of the ‘Secondary Site Identifier’ with the future entrance 
construction.  The FDP plans include the locations of mailbox kiosks (see Exhibit 
VIIB). Mailbox kiosks will be located and designed consistent with the SAP – North 
Community Elements Book and other areas of SAP – North. An alternate mailbox 
kiosk elevation is provided in Notebook Section VIIC. 

The proposed landscaping within the parks is designed in compliance with the 
standards for the rest of Villebois, so the entire development will have a cohesive, 
harmonious appearance, creating a desirable place of residence and adding to the 
overall quality of life in the City.   

 
(.02) The City Council declares that the purposes and objectives of site 

development requirements and the site design review procedure are to: 

A. Assure that Site Development Plans are designed in a manner that 
insures proper functioning of the site and maintains a high quality 
visual environment. 

Response: The parks in the FDP area have been designed to assure proper 
functioning of the site and to maintain an aesthetically pleasing environment.  The 
proposed landscaping and park design will add to the quality of the environment as 
well as the functioning of the site.    
 

B. Encourage originality, flexibility and innovation in site planning and 
development, including the architecture, landscaping and graphic 
design of said development; 

Response: The FDP includes landscaping as shown on the attached plans (see 
Notebook Section VIIB), which will enhance the visual environment of the site.  
Pedestrian connections to sidewalks, trails, and adjacent residences will be provided 
to enhance the site’s connectivity to surrounding uses. 
 

C. Discourage monotonous, drab, unsightly, dreary and inharmonious 
developments; 

Response: The FDP area will include landscaping as shown on the attached plans 
(see Notebook Section VIIB).  Landscaping will consist of an appropriate mixture of 
ground cover, shrubs, and trees selected from the Villebois Plant List to create a 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 17 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

harmonious appearance throughout the larger Villebois development.  The proposed 
landscaping will contribute to an interesting and aesthetically appealing 
development. 
 

D. Conserve the City's natural beauty and visual character and charm 
by assuring that structures, signs and other improvements are 
properly related to their sites, and to surrounding sites and 
structures, with due regard to the aesthetic qualities of the natural 
terrain and landscaping, and that proper attention is given to 
exterior appearances of structures, signs and other improvements; 

Response: The parks will incorporate landscaping that makes sense for a Pacific 
Northwest community, while matching the City’s natural beauty and visual 
character.   
 

E. Protect and enhance the City's appeal and thus support and 
stimulate business and industry and promote the desirability of 
investment and occupancy in business, commercial and industrial 
purposes; 

Response: The parks, along with their pedestrian connections to adjacent 
residences and streets, will help to maintain the appeal of Villebois as a unique and 
attractive community in which to live, work, and recreate.  Residents of Villebois 
will stimulate the local economy by opening new businesses and thus creating jobs 
and by spending money in existing businesses. 
 

F. Stabilize and improve property values and prevent blighted areas 
and, thus, increase tax revenues; 

Response: The proposed parks will create neighborhood amenities that will help 
to maintain property values in this new community.  A Home Owners Association will 
ensure that these areas are properly maintained over time. 
 

G. Insure that adequate public facilities are available to serve 
development as it occurs and that proper attention is given to site 
planning and development so as to not adversely impact the 
orderly, efficient and economic provision of public facilities and 
services. 

Response: The process used to plan for Villebois incorporates a tiered system 
that originates at the Villebois Village Master Plan.  The Master Plan shows how 
facilities, including parks and open space, are distributed and available to residents 
throughout Villebois.  Figure 5 – Parks & Open Space Plan of the Master Plan shows 
that approximately 33% of Villebois will be in parks and open space.  Phase 3 North is 
consistent with the amount of parks and open space originally shown for the subject 
site on SAP North, as demonstrated in the PDP (see Notebook Section III).  This FDP is 
consistent with the PDP and SAP – North, and therefore, complies with this criterion. 
 

H. Achieve the beneficial influence of pleasant environments for living 
and working on behavioral patterns and, thus, decrease the cost of 
governmental services and reduce opportunities for crime through 
careful consideration of physical design and site layout under 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 18 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

defensible space guidelines that clearly define all areas as either 
public, semi-private, or private, provide clear identity of structures 
and opportunities for easy surveillance of the site that maximize 
resident control of behavior -- particularly crime; 

Response: The Villebois Village Master Plan shows that the community will 
include a variety of housing options (living) and the Village Center will contain 
places for employment (working).  This FDP shows a living environment in Phase 3 
North that is enhanced by proximity to park and open space areas.  Residents who 
will surround the parks and open spaces will provide on-going surveillance and 
control. 
 

I. Foster civic pride and community spirit so as to improve the quality 
and quantity of citizen participation in local government and in 
community growth, change and improvements; 

Response: The design of the Villebois Village has been created to develop a 
community that is truly unique.  The City, as well as the Applicant, has been working 
in partnership with nearby residents, property owners, and local and regional 
governments to create a complete, livable, pedestrian-oriented community that will 
be an asset to the City of Wilsonville and Portland region.  This partnership has 
generated citizen participation in the project and the unique design shall foster civic 
pride and community spirit amongst the residents of Villebois. 
 

J. Sustain the comfort, health, tranquillity and contentment of 
residents and attract new residents by reason of the City's 
favorable environment and, thus, to promote and protect the 
peace, health and welfare of the City. 

Response: The design of the Villebois Village revolves around three guiding 
principles: connectivity, diversity, and sustainability.  These principles are intended 
to sustain the comfort, health, tranquility, and contentment of Villebois residents, 
while also promoting and protecting the peace, health and welfare of the City.  
Connectivity refers to creating connections between Villebois neighborhoods and 
between Villebois and other parts of the City and region for multiple modes of 
transportation.  Diversity includes multiple choices of housing styles, housing 
affordability, recreation, employment, goods and services, and infrastructure for 
transportation.  Sustainability involves the protection of natural resources and open 
space, energy conservation, and storm and rainwater management. 
 
 
SECTION 4.421. CRITERIA AND APPLICATION OF DESIGN STANDARDS.   

(.01) The following standards shall be utilized by the Board in reviewing the 
plans, drawings, sketches and other documents required for Site Design 
Review.  These standards are intended to provide a frame of reference for 
the applicant in the development of site and building plans as well as a 
method of review for the Board.  These standards shall not be regarded as 
inflexible requirements.  They are not intended to discourage creativity, 
invention and innovation.  The specifications of one or more particular 
architectural styles is not included in these standards.  (Even in the 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 19 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

Boones Ferry Overlay Zone, a range of architectural styles will be 
encouraged.) 

A. Preservation of Landscape.  The landscape shall be preserved in its 
natural state, insofar as practicable, by minimizing tree and soils 
removal, and any grade changes shall be in keeping with the 
general appearance of neighboring developed areas. 

Response: As shown in the attached plans (see Notebook Section VIIB), proposed 
plant materials are drawn from the Villebois Plant List, which includes native 
species, to ensure consistency of general appearance within the Villebois 
community.   
 

B. Relation of Proposed Buildings to Environment.  Proposed 
structures shall be located and designed to assure  harmony with 
the natural environment, including protection of steep slopes, 
vegetation and other naturally sensitive areas for wildlife habitat 
and shall provide proper buffering from less intensive uses in 
accordance with Sections 4.171 and 4.139 and 4.139.5.  The 
achievement of such relationship may include the enclosure of 
space in conjunction with other existing buildings or other 
proposed buildings and the creation of focal points with respect to 
avenues of approach, street access or relationships to natural 
features such as vegetation or topography. 

Response: Chapter 3 of the Villebois Village Master Plan takes into account 
scenic views, topography, existing vegetation, and other natural features in the 
design and location of parks and open spaces in the Villebois development. The FDP 
conforms to the Villebois Village Master Plan with respect to the natural 
environment. The FDP area does not include any steep slopes or flood plains. A 
Significant Resource Impact Report was submitted with PDP 2N that included 
encroachments and mitigation within OS-2. A SRIR Addendum (see Notebook Section 
IIIG) is provided that verifies the FDP is consistent with the impacts previously 
reviewed and approved. Existing trees within the parks are largely retained, as 
reviewed in the concurrent PDP and Tree Removal Plan applications (see Notebook 
Sections III and VI, respectively). 
 

C. Drives, Parking and Circulation.  With respect to vehicular and 
pedestrian circulation, including walkways, interior drives and 
parking, special attention shall be given to location and number of 
access points, general interior circulation, separation of pedestrian 
and vehicular traffic, and arrangement of parking areas that are 
safe and convenient and, insofar as practicable, do not detract 
from the design of proposed buildings and structures and the 
neighboring properties. 

Response: No driveways or parking areas are proposed or required with this FDP.  
The parks included in the FDP are all accessible from adjacent streets and pathways, 
as shown on the FDP plans (see Notebook Section VIIB).  

 
D. Surface Water Drainage.  Special attention shall be given to proper 

site surface drainage so that removal of surface waters will not 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 20 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

adversely affect neighboring properties of the public storm 
drainage system. 

Response: Surface water drainage is addressed in the PDP application (see 
Notebook Section III).  The FDP is consistent with grading and drainage shown in the 
PDP.  This system has been carefully designed so as not to adversely affect 
neighboring properties. 
 

E. Utility Service.  Any utility installations above ground shall be 
located so as to have an harmonious relation to neighboring 
properties and site.  The proposed method of sanitary and storm 
sewage disposal from all buildings shall be indicated. 

Response: The PDP application addresses utility installation (see Notebook 
Section III).  The FDP is consistent with the PDP.  
 

F. Advertising Features.  In addition to the requirements of the City's 
sign regulations, the following criteria should be included:  the 
size, location, design, color, texture, lighting and materials of all 
exterior signs and outdoor advertising structures or features shall 
not detract from the design of proposed buildings and structures 
and the surrounding properties. 

Response: No advertising features are proposed in this FDP.   
 

G. Special Features.  Exposed storage areas, exposed machinery 
installations, surface areas, truck loading areas, utility buildings 
and structures and similar accessory areas and structures shall be 
subject to such setbacks, screen plantings or other screening 
methods as shall be required to prevent their being incongruous 
with the existing or contemplated environment and its surrounding 
properties.  Standards for screening and buffering are contained in 
Section 4.176. 

Response: This FDP does not propose any exposed storage areas, exposed 
machinery installations, surface areas, truck loading areas, utility buildings and 
structures or other accessory areas and structures.  Compliance with Section 4.176 is 
addressed earlier in this report.   

 
(.02) The standards of review outlined in Sections (a) through (g) above shall 

also apply to all accessory buildings, structures, exterior signs and other 
site features, however related to the major buildings or structures. 

Response: No accessory buildings or structures are proposed.   
 
(.03) The Board shall also be guided by the purpose of Section 4.400, and such 

objectives shall serve as additional criteria and standards. 

Response: Compliance with the purpose of Section 4.400 has been addressed 
earlier in this report. 
 
 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 21 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

SECTION 4.440. PROCEDURE. 

(.01) Submission of Documents.   

A prospective applicant for a building or other permit who is subject to 
site design review shall submit to the Planning Department, in addition to 
the requirements of Section 4.035, the following: 

A. A site plan, drawn to scale, showing the proposed layout of all 
structures and other improvements including, where appropriate, 
driveways, pedestrian walks, landscaped areas, fences, walls, off-
street parking and loading areas, and railroad tracks.  The site plan 
shall indicate the location of entrances and exits and direction of 
traffic flow into and out of off-street parking and loading areas, the 
location of each parking space and each loading berth and areas of 
turning and maneuvering vehicles.  The site plan shall indicate how 
utility service and drainage are to be provided. 

B. A Landscape Plan, drawn to scale, showing the location and design 
of landscaped areas, the variety and sizes of trees and plant 
materials to be planted on the site, the location and design of 
landscaped areas, the varieties, by scientific and common name, 
and sizes of trees and plant materials to be retained or planted on 
the site, other pertinent landscape features, and irrigation systems 
required to maintain trees and plant materials.  An inventory, 
drawn at the same scale as the Site Plan, of existing trees of 4" 
caliper or more is required.  However, when large areas of trees 
are proposed to be retained undisturbed, only a survey identifying 
the location and size of all perimeter trees in the mass in 
necessary. 

C. Architectural drawings or sketches, drawn to scale, including floor 
plans, in sufficient detail to permit computation of yard 
requirements and showing all elevations of the proposed structures 
and other improvements as they will appear on completion of 
construction.  Floor plans shall also be provided in sufficient detail 
to permit computation of yard requirements based on the 
relationship of indoor versus outdoor living area, and to evaluate 
the floor plan's effect on the exterior design of the building 
through the placement and configuration of windows and doors. 

D. A Color Board displaying specifications as to type, color, and 
texture of exterior surfaces of proposed structures.  Also, a phased 
development schedule if the development is constructed in stages. 

E. A sign plan, drawn to scale, showing the location, size, design, 
material, color and methods of illumination of all exterior signs. 

F. The required application fee. 

Response: Notebook Section VIIB includes FDP plans that meet the requirements 
of Section 4.440 (.01).  A copy of the application fee submitted is included in 
Notebook Section IC.  Architectural drawings, etc., and a color board are not 
required as no buildings are proposed with this FDP.   

 



  

 
FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH  PAGE 22 
Supporting Compliance Report  January 31, 2014 

 
SECTION 4.450. INSTALLATION OF LANDSCAPING. 

(.01) All landscaping required by this section and approved by the Board shall 
be installed prior to issuance of occupancy permits, unless security equal 
to one hundred and ten percent (110%) of the cost of the landscaping as 
determined by the Planning Director is filed with the City assuring such 
installation within six (6) months of occupancy.  "Security" is cash, 
certified check, time certificates of deposit, assignment of a savings 
account or such other assurance of completion as shall meet with the 
approval of the City Attorney.  In such cases the developer shall also 
provide written authorization, to the satisfaction of the City Attorney, for 
the City or its designees to enter the property and complete the 
landscaping as approved.  If the installation of the landscaping is not 
completed within the six-month period, or within an extension of time 
authorized by the Board, the security may be used by the City to complete 
the installation.  Upon completion of the installation, any portion of the 
remaining security deposited with the City shall be returned to the 
applicant. 

Response: The applicant understands that they must provide a security to 
guarantee installation of the proposed landscaping. 
 
(.02) Action by the City approving a proposed landscape plan shall be binding 

upon the applicant.  Substitution of plant materials, irrigation systems, or 
other aspects of an approved landscape plan shall not be made without 
official action of the Planning Director or Development Review Board, as 
specified in this Code. 

Response: The applicant understands that changes to the landscape plan 
included in this application cannot be made without official action of the Planning 
Director or the Development Review Board. 
 
(.03) All landscaping shall be continually maintained, including necessary 

watering, weeding, pruning, and replacing, in a substantially similar 
manner as originally approved by the Board, unless altered with Board 
approval. 

Response: The applicant understands that they are responsible for the ongoing 
maintenance of the proposed landscaping.   
 
(.04) If a property owner wishes to add landscaping for an existing 

development, in an effort to beautify the property, the Landscape 
Standards set forth in Section 4.176 shall not apply and no Plan approval 
or permit shall be required.  If the owner wishes to modify or remove 
landscaping that has been accepted or approved through the City’s 
development review process, that removal or modification must first be 
approved through the procedures of Section 4.010. 

Response: This FDP does not include the addition of landscaping for any existing 
development; therefore this criterion does not apply. 
 



FDP PHASE 3 - NORTH PAGE 23 
Supporting Compliance Report January 31, 2014 

II. CONCLUSION

This Supporting Compliance Report demonstrates compliance with the applicable 
requirements of the City of Wilsonville Planning & Land Development Ordinance for 
the requested Final Development Plan.  Therefore, the applicant requests approval 
of this application.  



VIIB
Reduced Drawings



Cover Sheet

TL 1200, 1202, 1205, & A PORTION OF 2995, TOWNSHIP 3 SOUTH, RANGE 1 WEST, SECTION 15 W.M.

CITY OF WILSONVILLE, OREGON

Final
Development

Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14



Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PHASE 3
NORTH

VILLEBOIS

1/20/13

Landscape
Plan



Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PHASE 3
NORTH

VILLEBOIS

1/20/13

Landscape
Plan



Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PHASE 3
NORTH

VILLEBOIS

1/20/13

Landscape
Plan



Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PHASE 3
NORTH

VILLEBOIS

1/20/13

Landscape
Plan



Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PHASE 3
NORTH

VILLEBOIS

1/20/13

Landscape
Details &

Specifications

: 



VIIC 
Sample Mailbox Elevations 







Cover Sheet

TL 1200, 1202 & 1205, TOWNSHIP 3 SOUTH, RANGE 1 WEST, SECTION 15 W.M.

CITY OF WILSONVILLE, OREGON

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

swhite
Stamp



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

EXISTING STRUCTURE
TYP.

EXISTING EDGE
OF PAVEMENT

SROZ 25'
IMPACT AREA

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE FILLED

SROZ

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Existing
Conditions

EX AIR RELEASE VALVE

EX BLOW-OFF
EX WATER VALVE

EX WATER METER
EX FIRE HYDRANT

EX STORM CLEANOUT

EX AREA DRAIN

EX SANITARY CLEANOUT
EX STORM MANHOLE

EX SANITARY MANHOLE

EX BURIED POWER LINE
EX GAS LINE
EX WATER LINE
EX STORM DRAIN
EX SANITARY SEWER

EASEMENT LINES

EX OVERHEAD POWER LINE

EX TELEPHONE LINE
EX CABLE TV LINE

EX GAS VALVE
EX CABLE RISER
EX TELEPHONE RISER

EX 1-FOOT CONTOURS
EX 5-FOOT CONTOURS

EXISTING FENCEX

EX TREES

EX LIGHT POLE

EXISTING RIGHT-OF-WAY

EXISTING SIDEWALK

EXISTING CENTERLINE
EXISTING PROPERTY LINE
EXISTING BOUNDARY LINE

S

D

EX CURB INLET

C

T



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

(
F

U
T

U
R

E
 
D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
)

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

5

16
11 12 13 14 15

7

6

2

4

3

1

9 10

8

55

51

50

49
58

54

56

53

57

52

20

23

22

21

18

19

17

2625 2724

28

29

30

31

32

37 36 35 34 3338

42 43 4439 40 41

77

76

78

79
80 81 82 83 84

71 70

75

74 73 72

6965 66 67 6864

48

46

45

63 62 61 60 59

47

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Aerial
Photograph



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

15.00'
EASEMENT

6.00'
PUE

3.00'
PUE

55.00'

55.00'

55.00'

55.00'

55.00'

40.50'

55.00'

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

(
F

U
T

U
R

E
 
D

E
V

E
L
O

P
M

E
N

T
)

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG LG

LG

LG

STD

STD STD

LG

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M
M

M

M

M

M

M
M

M

M

M

M M

M

M

M M

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM
SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

OS

L/G

L/G

FUTURE

DEVELOPMENT

OPEN SPACE 2

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM
SM

LG

L/G

PP

L/G

10
5,747 SF

8
6,171 SF

77
2,400 SF

26
3,358 SF

5
6,000 SF

55
7,856 SF

76
2,400 SF

78
2,400 SF

79
2,791 SF

80
2,539 SF

81
3,075 SF

82
2,400 SF

83
3,075 SF

84
2,736 SF

28
3,186 SF

29
2,934 SF

30
3,102 SF

31
3,085 SF

32
3,158 SF

37
2,400 SF

36
3,075 SF

35
2,400 SF

34
3,075 SF

33
2,539 SF

38
3,411 SF

42
2,400 SF

43
3,075 SF

44
2,539 SF

39
3,411 SF

40
2,400 SF

41
3,075 SF

20
3,321 SF

25
3,358 SF

27
3,635 SF

24
3,675 SF

23
3,609 SF

22
3,268 SF

21
3,294 SF

18
3,373 SF

19
3,347 SF

17
3,837 SF

48
3,921 SF

46
3,690 SF

45
3,921 SF

69
3,589 SF

65
3,675 SF

66
3,675 SF

67
3,675 SF

68
3,675 SF

64
3,583 SF

63
3,702 SF

62
3,675 SF

61
3,675 SF

60
3,675 SF

59
3,589 SF

47
3,690 SF

51
6,261 SF

50
5,400 SF

49
6,261 SF

58
5,000 SF

54
7,366 SF

56
5,000 SF

53
6,000 SF

57
5,000 SF

52
6,000 SF

16
6,071 SF

11
6,000 SF

12
6,000 SF

13
6,000 SF

14
6,000 SF

7
6,000 SF

6
6,000 SF

2
6,000 SF

4
6,000 SF

3
6,000 SF

71
3,075 SF

70
2,736 SF

75
2,775 SF

74
2,539 SF

73
3,075 SF

72
2,400 SF

1
6,481 SF

TRACT "H"
9,111 SF

TRACT "L"
9,133 SF

TRACT "G"
8,112 SFTRACT "M"

42,711 SF

TRACT "N"
3,559 SF

TRACT "F"
3,091 SF

TRACT "E"
1,177 SF

TRACT "D"
11,123 SF

TRACT "J"
1,126 SF

TRACT "B"
6,018 SF

TRACT "K"
7,292 SF

TRACT "A"
21,194 SF

108.7'

10
5.

1'

45
.8

'
15

.7
'

15
.9

'

75
3.

5'

558.8'

17
.5

'
12

.5
'

10
0.

0'
55

.0
'

29
8.

8'

0.9'

88.9'

13
.9

'
20

.0
'

75
.0

'
3.

7'
82

.0
'

21
.3

'
32

.0
'

34
.0

'
34

.0
'

34
.6

'
40

.9
'

13
.4

'

695.0'

58.4'

29
.7

'

83
.7

'

21.2' 11.5'

16
6.

4'

77.2'

60.7' 21.2' 75.0' 20.0' 35.0' 41.0' 32.0' 41.0' 23.5' 21.2'

61
.5

'
20

.0
'

61
.5

'

21
.2'

23.5'41.0'32.0'41.0'20.0'51.9'23.2'

82.8'

15
.7

' 48.4'

39
.1

'
32

.0
'

32
.0

'
32

.0
'

37
.0

'

75.0'

75.0'

75.0'

75.0'

37
.0

'
32

.0
'

32
.0

'
32

.0
'

37
.0

'

55
.0

'

31.4'

15.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

32.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

37.0'

37.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

32.0'

75
.0

'

41.0'

75
.0

'

15.0'

31
.4'

55
.0

'

86.7'20.0'35.0'41.0'32.0'41.0'32.0'32.5'

21.2'

61
.5

'
20

.0
'

61
.5

'
21

.2'
32.5' 32.0' 41.0' 32.0' 41.0' 35.0' 20.0' 78.7' 21.4'

35
.0

'

90.5'

34
.0

'

91.0'

34
.0

'

91.5'

32
.0

'

91.9'

35
.0

'

55
.0

'

31
.4

'

15.0'

75
.0

'

55
.0

'

31.4'

15.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

46.0'

32.0' 41.0'

32.0' 41.0'

41.0'32.0'

41.0'32.0'

46.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

649.3'

527.4'

52.2'

54
1.

5'

21.2'

11.5'

87.5'

22.4'

15
.5

'
2.

8'

32
.1

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

17
.7

'
7.

4'
41

.9
'

37
.2'

37.2' 33.8' 7.4' 20.7' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0'

10
0.

0'

L/G

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

90
.1

'75
.7

'

39.1'

91.3'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

100.0'

65
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

60
.0

'

65
.0

'

90
.6

'

38.7' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 60.0' 61.4'

21
.2

'

72
.0

'

7.
5'1

0.2' 11.9'

15.5'

12.1' 49.0' 49.0' 49.0' 49.0' 20.0' 76.5'

21.2'

30
.5

'
41

.0
'

41
.0

'
30

.5
'

21
.2

'

76.5'20.0'49.0'49.0'49.0'49.0'49.0'43.1'

25.8'

60
.5

'

35.5'

28.4'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0'

49.0' 49.0'

49.0'

29.0'

29.0'
31.4'

55
.0

'

44
.0

'
41

.0
'

41
.0

'

31
.4

'
55

.0
'

44
.0

'

90.0'

90.0'

90.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'
73

.8
'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

25.8'

87
.0

'

96
.6

'

16.6' 46.5' 60.0' 60.0' 76.5'

21.2'

56
.5

'
60

.0
'

56
.5

'

21
.2'

76.5'50.0'50.0'50.0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

10
0.

0'

70
.0

'

90.0'

30
.0

'
30

.0
'

90.0'

70
.0

'

50.0'10.0'

10
0.

0'

40.0'20.0'

10
0.

0'

30.0'61.6'

23.0'66.0'

21
.2

'

35
.5

'
43

.0
'

43
.0

'
43

.0
'

43
.0

'
43

.0
'

49
.0

'
20

.0
'

75
.0

'
3.

5'

21.2'

159.4' 21
.0

'

47.9'44.8'44.8'49.0'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

75
.0

'

49.0'44.8'44.8'49.0'

69.5'25.6'

55.3' 31
.1

'
29

.3
'

75.7'

76.3'

43
.0

'
43

.0
'

76.9'

43
.0

'

77.5'

43
.0

'

78.1'

43
.0

'

78.8'

49
.0

'

TRACT "C"
1,500 SF

15
6,000 SF

9
5,571 SF

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Preliminary
Plat



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

SROZ 25'
IMPACT AREA

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE FILLED

BIO-RETENTION
CELL, TYP.

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Grading
Plan



SD
SD

SD

SD
SD

SD

SD SD SD

SD

SD

SD

SS

SS

SD
SS SS

SS SS
SD SD

SD
SD

SS

SD

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SD
SD

SD
SD

SD SD
SD

SS SS SS SS
SD

SD
SS

SS
SD SD SD

SS SS SS SS
SD

SS
SS

SS

SS SS
SS SS

SS

SD SD SD

W

W

W W W W W W W W W W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W W W W W W W W W W W

W
W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W W W W W

W W W W W W

SD
W

SS

SD
SS

SS SSSD

SD SD SD SD
SD

SD

SD
SD

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SD
SD

SD

S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

15.00'
EASEMENT

CONNECT TO
EXISTING 18" WATER

CONNECT TO
EXISTING 12" STORM

SEWER

EXISTING 48" WATER

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

BIORETENTION CELL
BIORETENTION CELL

TYP.

EXISTING WETLAND

OFF SITE
IMPROVEMENTS

CONNECT SANITARY TO
EXISTING 8" SANITARY IN
BERLIN AVE

CONNECT UTILITIES TO
EXISTING UTILITIES IN
PALERMO ST CONSTRUCTED WITH
TONQUIN WOODS NO. 3

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Composite
Utility
Plan



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

O

A

D

TOOZE RD

(BY OTHERS)

MAILBOX KIOSK

MAILBOX KIOSK

SECONDARY
SITE IDENTIFIER

ENHANCED PARTIAL
VIEW FENCE

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Circulation
Plan &

Street Sections



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG LG

LG

LG

STD

STD STD

LG

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M

M
M

M

M

M

M

M
M

M

M

M

M M

M

M

M M

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM
SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

OS

L/G

L/G

FUTURE

DEVELOPMENT

OPEN SPACE 2

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

LG

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM

SM
SM

LG

L/G

PP

L/G

L/G

OFFSITE

IMPROVEMENTS

77

26

5 55

76

78

79
80 81 82 83 84

28

29

30

31

32

37 36 35 34 3338

42 43 4439 40 41

20

25 2724

23

22

21

18

19

17

48

46

45
6965 66 67 6864

63 62 61 60 59

47

51

50

49
58

54

56

53

57

52

16
11 12 13 14

7

6

2

4

3

71 70

75

74 73 72

1

10

8

TRACT "L"

TRACT "M"

TRACT "N"

TRACT "F"

TRACT "E"
TRACT "J"

TRACT "B"

TRACT "A"

TRACT "C"

15
9

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Site/Land Use
Plan

FOR TYPICAL LOT PLANS

SEE SHEET 9.



64'-89'

32'-40'

3' PUE

6' PUE
12'

8'

5'
5'

3'-5'

71'-90'

41'-49'

3' PUE

6' PUE8'
12'

8' MIN
STREET SIDE

5'

3'-5'

90'-110'

5' MIN

5' 5'

6' PUE8'
12'

50'-59'

20'

5'

90'-120'

60'-80'

5' MIN

6' PUE
8'

12'

5'

5'

20'

5'

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Typical
Lot Plans

ASTERISK DENOTES
ACTIVE SIDE OF HOUSE
TYP.



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

TREES WITHIN
EXISTING WETLAND
NOT EXAMINED AND
TO BE RETAINED

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

M

M

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Tree
Preservation

Plan

CLASSIFICATION METHOD:

TREES WERE RATED BASED ON THE FOLLOWING

CONSIDERATIONS:

1. HEALTH

2. SPECIES (NATIVES WITH HABITAT AND ECOSYSTEM

VALUE)

3. COMPATIBILITY WITH DEVELOPMENT

4. FORM / VISUAL INTEREST / MATURE SIZE

TREES RANKED AS IMPORTANT WERE RATED HIGH IN

ALL FOUR AREAS.

TREES IN THE GOOD CATEGORY HAD GOOD HEALTH

AND WERE A DESIRABLE SPECIES, BUT HAD

IRREGULAR FORM OR LESS COMPATIBILITY WITH

DEVELOPMENT.

TREES IN THE MODERATE CATEGORY HAD GOOD TO

MODERATE HEALTH AND FORM, BUT WERE A LESS

DESIRABLE SPECIES OR MAY BE LESS COMPATIBLE

WITH DEVELOPMENT.

TREES IN THE POOR CATEGORY HAD POOR HEALTH

AND/OR SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGE.

THE INTENT OF THE PLAN IS TO RETAIN AND

INCORPORATE THE MAXIMUM QUANTITY OF TREES

WITH IMPORTANT, GOOD, AND MODERATE

CLASSIFICATIONS.  THE FOLLOWING CLASSIFICATION

SYSTEM WAS USED:

NOTES

ALL CONSTRUCTION AND GRADING WITHIN TREE

PROTECTION ZONE IS TO BE COMPLETED UNDER

DIRECT SUPERVISION OF PROJECT ARBORIST.

CONTACT: MORGAN HOLEN

PHONE: 503-646-4349

NOTES:

1.  THE INFORMATION PROVIDED WITHIN THE

PROJECT BOUNDARY IS BASED ON AN ON-SITE

EVALUATION OF THE EXISTING TREES BY

ARBORIST MORGAN HOLAN AND WAS PROVIDED IN

A TREE REPORT DATE JANUARY 28, 2014 INCLUDED

WITH THE APPLICATION MATERIALS.

2. RETAINED TREES WITHIN THE WETLAND HAVE NOT

BEEN EXAMINED.



S

W

 

G

R

A

H

A

M

'
S

 

F

E

R

R

Y

 

R

D

TOOZE RD

S

W

 

B

E

L

F

A

S

T

 

L

N

SW BARCELONA ST

SW DUBLIN ST

SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
I
C

E
L
A

N
D

 
L
N

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

Street Tree
Plan



SW OSLO ST

SW PALERMO ST

S
W

 
R

O
M

E
 
A

V
E

S
W

 
P

A
R

I
S

 
A

V
E

SROZ BOUNDARY

3,535 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/PDP 2 NORTH
(PHASE 2)

25' IMPACT AREA

663 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT

DONE W/ PDP 1

325 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT

W/ PDP 3N

4,610 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N 7,122 SF

SROZ ENCROACHMENT
DONE W/PDP 2N (PHASE 1)

EXISTING WETLAND
TO BE RETAINED

SROZ BOUNDARY

25' IMPACT AREA 19,209 SF
MIXED OAK/FIR

27,003 SF
OAK

MITIGATION
AREA

1,988 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N
ADDITIONAL IMPACTS

113 SF
SROZ ENCROACHMENT
W/ PDP 3N
ADDITIONAL IMPACTS

Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

SROZ
Plan



Cover Sheet

TL 1200, 1202, 1205, & A PORTION OF 2995, TOWNSHIP 3 SOUTH, RANGE 1 WEST, SECTION 15 W.M.

CITY OF WILSONVILLE, OREGON

Final
Development

Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PDP 3N
VILLEBOIS

1/31/14

swhite
Stamp



Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PHASE 3
NORTH

VILLEBOIS

1/20/13

Landscape
Plan



Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PHASE 3
NORTH

VILLEBOIS

1/20/13

Landscape
Plan



Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PHASE 3
NORTH

VILLEBOIS

1/20/13

Landscape
Plan



Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PHASE 3
NORTH

VILLEBOIS

1/20/13

Landscape
Plan



Preliminary
Development Plan

POLYGON NW COMPANY

OTTEN LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS, INC

GEODESIGN, INC

DATE

PHASE 3
NORTH

VILLEBOIS

1/20/13

Landscape
Details &

Specifications

  

 

: 

 

 

 

  

 



DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
 

MONDAY, MAY 12, 2014 
6:30 PM 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 
 
 

VIII. Board Member Communications:    
A.  Agenda Results from the April 28, 2014 DRB 

Panel B meeting 
 

 



City of Wilsonville 

Development Review Board Panel B Meeting 
Meeting Results 

DATE:    APRIL 28, 2014 
LOCATION:  29799 SW TOWN CENTER LOOP EAST, WILSONVILLE, OR 
TIME START:      6:30 P.M. TIME END: 7:17 P.M.  

ATTENDANCE LOG 

BOARD MEMBERS STAFF 
Andrew Karr, Chair Blaise Edmonds 
Dianne Knight Barbara Jacobson 
Aaron Woods Daniel Pauly 
Jhuma Chaudhuri  
Cheryl Dorman was absent.  

 
AGENDA RESULTS 

AGENDA ACTIONS 
CITIZENS’ INPUT None 
  
ELECTION OF 2014 CHAIR AND VICE-CHAIR  

Chair Andrew Karr unanimously elected 
2014 DRB-B Chair 

Vice-Chair Aaron Woods unanimously elected 
2014 DRB-B Vice-Chair 

CONSENT AGENDA  
A. Approval of March 24, 2014 Minutes  

PUBLIC HEARING  
A. Resolution 276.   World of Speed Museum Signs: Siteworks 

Design|Build – representative for DSRA LLC –owner.  The 
applicant is requesting a Master Sign Plan modification and Sign 
Waivers for the World of Speed Museum.  The site is located on Tax 
Lots 400 and 500, Section 11D; T3S-R1W; Clackamas County; 
Wilsonville, Oregon.  Staff:  Daniel Pauly 
 
Case File:   DB14-0026 – Master Sign Plan modification and Sign 
Waivers  
 

A. Resolution 276 unanimously 
approved as amended and with 
the addition of Exhibits B5 and B6 

BOARD MEMBER COMUNICATIONS  
A. Results of the April 14, 2014 DRB Panel A meeting  

STAFF COMMUNICATIONS Training session for all boards and 
commission with City Council on May 
17, 2014 

 


	Exhibit B6 Revised Plans.pdf
	Exhibit B6 Sheet 4
	Exhibit B6 Sheet 11 Street Trees

	Exhibit C2 Natural Resources Comments, Findings, and Conditions.pdf
	Villebois PDP3-North - SRIR Review
	Conditions of Approval (DB14-0011 - Villebois PDP3-N)
	COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT MEMORANDUM
	To: Daniel Pauly, Associate Planner



	Exhibit C5 Northwest Natural Comments.pdf
	Exhibit C5 NW Natural
	Exhibit C5a NW Natural Drawings

	Historic & Cultural Resource Inventory_SummaryOfWorkLetter.pdf
	SUMMARY OF CULTURAL RESOURCES WORK

	SRIR_Addendum_PDP3N_20140324_complete.pdf
	WetReport_Rumpf_w_figures_sm.pdf
	Introduction
	A. Landscape Setting and Land Use
	B. Site Alterations
	C. Precipitation Data and Analysis
	D. Methods
	E. Description of All Wetlands and Other Non-wetland Waters
	Wetlands
	Wetland A (north wetland)
	Wetland B (south wetland)

	Non-Wetland Waters

	F. Deviation from LWI or NWI
	G. Mapping Method
	H. Additional Information
	I. Results and Conclusions
	J. REQUIRED DISCLAIMER
	K. List of Preparers
	WetData_2013_1001_P1-P15.pdf
	Data Sheet

	WetData_2013_1008_P16-P17.pdf
	Data Sheet

	Blank Page


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	WetReport_Rumpf_w_figures_sm.pdf
	Introduction
	A. Landscape Setting and Land Use
	B. Site Alterations
	C. Precipitation Data and Analysis
	D. Methods
	E. Description of All Wetlands and Other Non-wetland Waters
	Wetlands
	Wetland A (north wetland)
	Wetland B (south wetland)

	Non-Wetland Waters

	F. Deviation from LWI or NWI
	G. Mapping Method
	H. Additional Information
	I. Results and Conclusions
	J. REQUIRED DISCLAIMER
	K. List of Preparers
	WetData_2013_1001_P1-P15.pdf
	Data Sheet

	WetData_2013_1008_P16-P17.pdf
	Data Sheet


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Exhibit      4.  PDP-3 North Zone Change.pdf
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	Exhibit      4.  PDP-3 North Tree Removal Plan.pdf
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	Exhibit      4.  PDP-3 North FDP.pdf
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	Untitled



